Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice

Douglas R. Spitz Kenneth J. Dornfeld Koyamangalath Krishnan David Gius *Editors*

Oxidative Stress in Cancer Biology and Therapy



Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice

Editor-in-Chief Donald Armstrong

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/8145

Note from the Editor-in-Chief

All books in this series illustrate point-of-care testing and critically evaluate the potential of antioxidant supplementation in various medical disorders associated with oxidative stress. Future volumes will be updated as warranted by emerging new technology, or from studies reporting clinical trials.

Donald Armstrong Editor-in-Chief Douglas R. Spitz • Kenneth J. Dornfeld Koyamangalath Krishnan • David Gius Editors

Oxidative Stress in Cancer Biology and Therapy

🔆 Humana Press

Editors Douglas R. Spitz, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa Iowa City, IA, USA douglas-spitz@uiowa.edu

Koyamangalath Krishnan, MD Department of Internal Medicine East Tennessee State University Johnson City, TN, USA krishnak@etsu.edu Kenneth J. Dornfeld, MD, PhD Duluth Clinic Radiation Oncology and Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology University of Minnesota Duluth, MN, USA kdornfeld@smdc.org

David Gius, MD, PhD Departments of Cancer Biology and Pediatrics and Radiation Oncology Vanderbilt Medical School Nashville, TN, USA david.gius@vanderbilt.edu

ISBN 978-1-61779-396-7 e-ISBN 978-1-61779-397-4 DOI 10.1007/978-1-61779-397-4 Springer New York Dordrecht Heidelberg London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2011940693

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2012

All rights reserved. This work may not be translated or copied in whole or in part without the written permission of the publisher (Humana Press, c/o Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, 233 Spring Street, New York, NY 10013, USA), except for brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis. Use in connection with any form of information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed is forbidden.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks, and similar terms, even if they are not identified as such, is not to be taken as an expression of opinion as to whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

Printed on acid-free paper

Humana Press is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

Oxidative Stress and Cancer Biology: A Historical Perspective

Driven by Warburg's observation of increased glucose metabolism in cancer cells [1] as well as decades of research in the first three quarters of the twentieth century by Weber and many other investigators (reviewed in [2, 3]), cancer was thought to have at its origins fundamental defects in glycolytic and respiratory metabolism. This theoretical construct was based on the proposal that cancer cells had fundamental defects in their respiratory processes (O_2 metabolism) that were believed to be compensated for by increases in glycolytic metabolism. This dependence on glycolysis was thought to keep cancer cells from being able to properly regulate the switching between glycolysis and respiration which was thought to inhibit the cancer cell's ability to engage in normal higher order differentiated cellular functions.

With the discovery of oncogenes [4, 5] and tumor suppressor genes [6] in the last quarter of the twentieth century the critical importance of the accumulation of genetic alterations in the process of carcinogenesis and maintenance of the malignant phenotype became clearly evident. In this theoretical construct, cancer is believed to be a multistep genetic disease in which mutations resulting in the aberrant expression of cellular homologues of oncogenes (i.e., Ras, c-Fos, c-Jun, and c-Myc, etc.) associated with growth and development as well as tumor suppressor genes (i.e., p53) gradually accumulated over time, eventually resulting in immortalization, the loss of control of cell proliferation, and progression to the malignant phenotype.

During the same era that the genetic theory of cancer was blossoming, Oberley et al. [7–10], formally proposed the Free Radical Theory of Cancer which incorporated critical aspects of both metabolic and genetic theories of cancer. In this theoretical construct, cancer cells were proposed to have aberrant mitochondrial respiration leading to increased steady-state levels of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide that caused damage (both genetic and epigenetic) leading to the activation of oncogenes that governed signaling pathways controlling the malignant phenotype. This proposal was then followed by the recognition that free radicals and reactive oxygen species produced by O_2 metabolism could act as both initiators and promoters of carcinogenesis as well as contribute to the process of cancer progression [11–13]. Also it was confirmed that cancer cells appeared to exist in a chronic condition of metabolic oxidative stress characterized by increased steady-state levels of mitochondrial respiratory chain-dependent superoxide and hydrogen production [14–16] that stimulated signaling pathways affecting the malignant phenotype that were compensated for by increased levels of glucose and hydroperoxide metabolism [16–19]. At the end of the twentieth and the beginning of the twenty-first centuries, these and similar findings from other investigators have led to the realization that free radical biology and cancer biology are two integrally related fields of investigation that can greatly benefit from cross-fertilization of theoretical constructs.

The current volume of scientific reports was assembled under the heading of "Oxidative Stress in Clinical Practice: Cancer" in order to stimulate discussion of how the well-established role of oxidative stress in cancer biology as well as in mechanisms by which radiation therapy and chemotherapy kills cancer cells can be utilized to design interventions to enhance therapeutic responses while causing fewer treatment limiting complications. The data gathered in the last 30 years which is summarized in the chapters contained in this volume, supports the hypothesis that selective enhancement of oxidative stress in cancer vs. normal cells can be used as a target for enhancing therapeutic outcomes as well as sparing damage to normal tissues. In addition, since oxidative stress is believed to be causally involved with initiation, promotion, and progression of carcinogenesis, interventions designed to limit oxidative stress may also hold promise for limiting the numbers of cancers that are induced as well as delaying the progression of cancers once they are formed.

Finally, we would also like to dedicate this volume of work to the memory of Dr. Larry W. Oberley (1946–2008) who was the originator of the Free Radical Theory of Cancer [7–10]. Dr. Oberley diligently championed this theoretical construct during the difficult early phases of development when the field of study was being established. He also involved his students, colleagues, and junior faculty collaborators at every step of the way in his academic journey, which resulted in Dr. Oberley being integrally involved with training and mentoring of a generation of Free Radical Cancer Biologists. Dr. Oberley was an exceptional theoretician, scientist, and educator whose many contributions to the study of oxidative stress in cancer biology are clearly evident in the excellent chapters contained in this volume.

Iowa City, IA, USA Iowa City, IA, USA Madison, WI, USA Douglas R. Spitz Michael L. McCormick Terry D. Oberley

References

- 1. Warburg O (1956) On the origin of cancer cells. Science 132:309-314
- 2. Weber G (1977) Enzymology of cancer cells (first of two parts). N Engl J Med 296:486-492
- 3. Weber G (1977) Enzymology of cancer cells (second of two parts). N Engl J Med 296: 541–551
- 4. Stehelin D, Varmus HE, Bishop JM, Vogt PK (1976) DNA related to the transforming gene(s) of avian sarcoma viruses is present in normal avian DNA. Nature 260(5547):170–173
- 5. Schwab M, Varmus HE, Bishop JM (1985) Human N-myc gene contributes to neoplastic transformation of mammalian cells in culture. Nature 316(6024):160–162
- Murphree AL, Benedict WF (1984) Retinoblastoma: clues to human oncogenesis. Science 223(4640):1028–1033
- 7. Oberley LW, Buettner GR (1979) Role of superoxide dismutase in cancer: a review. Cancer Res 39(4):1141–1149
- Bize IB, Oberley LW, Morris HP (1980) Superoxide dismutase and superoxide radical in Morris hepatomas. Cancer Res 40(10):3686–3693
- 9. Oberley LW, Oberley TD, Buettner GR (1980) Cell differentiation, aging and cancer: the possible roles of superoxide and superoxide dismutases. Med Hypotheses 6(3):249–268
- 10. Oberley LW, Oberley TD, Buettner GR (1981) Cell division in normal and transformed cells: the possible role of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. Med Hypotheses 7(1):21–42
- Ames BN (1983) Dietary carcinogens and anticarcinogens. Oxygen radicals and degenerative diseases. Science 221(4617):1256–1264
- 12. Cerutti PA (1985) Prooxidant states and tumor promotion. Science 227(4685):375-381
- Rotstein JB, Slaga TJ (1988) Effect of exogenous glutathione on tumor progression in the murine skin multistage carcinogenesis model. Carcinogenesis 9(9):1547–1551
- Szatrowski TP, Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res 51(3):794–798
- 15. Ahmad IM, Aykin-Burns N, Sim JE, Walsh SA, Higashikubo R, Buettner GR, Venkataraman S, Mackey MA, Flanagan SW, Oberley LW, Spitz DR (2005) Mitochondrial O₂⁻ and H₂O₂ mediate glucose deprivation-induced stress in human cancer cells. J Biol Chem 280(6):4254–4263
- Aykin-Burns N, Ahmad IM, Zhu Y, Oberley LW, Spitz DR (2009) Increased levels of superoxide and H₂O₂ mediate the differential susceptibility of cancer cells versus normal cells to glucose deprivation. Biochem J 418(1):29–37
- Lee YJ, Galoforo SS, Berns CM, Chen JC, Davis BH, Sim JE, Corry PM, Spitz DR (1998) Glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and alterations in mitogen-activated protein kinase activation are mediated by oxidative stress in multidrug-resistant human breast carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 273(9):5294–5299
- Blackburn RV, Spitz DR, Liu X, Galoforo SS, Sim JE, Ridnour LA, Chen JC, Davis BH, Corry PM, Lee YJ (1999) Metabolic oxidative stress activates signal transduction and gene expression during glucose deprivation in human tumor cells. Free Radic Biol Med 26(3–4):419–430
- Spitz DR, Sim JE, Ridnour LA, Galoforo SS, Lee YJ (2000) Glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress in human tumor cells. A fundamental defect in metabolism? Ann N Y Acad Sci 899:349–362

Contents

Part I Oxidative Stress and Tumor Response (Preclinical)

1	Mitochondria-Mediated Oxidative Stress and Cancer Therapy Iman M. Ahmad and Maher Y. Abdalla	3
2	The Role of Akt Pathway Signaling in Glucose Metabolism and Metabolic Oxidative Stress Andrean L. Simons, Kevin P. Orcutt, Joshua M. Madsen, Peter M. Scarbrough, and Douglas R. Spitz	21
3	Enhancement of Cancer Therapy Using Ketogenic Diet Melissa A. Fath, Andrean L. Simons, Jeffrey Erickson, Mark E. Anderson, and Douglas R. Spitz	47
4	Superoxide Dismutase and Cancer Therapy Melissa L. Teoh-Fitzgerald and Frederick E. Domann	59
5	Radiosensitization and Chemosensitization of MulticellularTumor Spheroids by 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose is Stimulatedby a Combination of TNFα and Glucose Deprivation-InducedOxidative StressDivya Khaitan and Bilikere S. Dwarakanath	85
Par	t II Oxidative Stress in Normal Tissue Response (Preclinical)	
6	Chemotherapy-Induced Oxidative Stress in Nontargeted Normal Tissues Paiboon Jungsuwadee, Mary Vore, and Daret K. St. Clair	97

,	Tetrahydrobiopterin and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase: Implications for Radiation-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction and Normal Tissue Radiation Injury Maaike Berbée, Qiang Fu, K. Sree Kumar, and Martin Hauer-Jensen	131		
8	Amifostine and the Endogenous Cellular Antioxidant Enzyme Manganese Superoxide Dismutase in Radioprotection Jeffrey S. Murley, Yasushi Kataoka, and David J. Grdina	149		
9	Redox Regulation of Stem Cell Compartments: The Convergence of Radiation-Induced Normal Tissue Damage and Oxidative Stress Ruth K. Globus, Vincent Caiozzo, Munjal Acharya, John R. Fike, and Charles Limoli	169		
Par	t III Imaging Redox Changes and Therapeutic Response (Preclinical and Clinical)			
10	Functional Imaging in the Assessment of Normal Tissue Injury Following Radiotherapy Kenneth J. Dornfeld and Yusuf Menda	195		
Part IV Oxidative Stress in Tumor Response (Clinical)				
11	Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors, Oxidative Stress, and Multiple Myeloma Therapy Rentian Feng and Suzanne Lentzsch	219		
12	Curcumin, Oxidative Stress, and Cancer Therapy	222		
	Heather C. Hatcher, Frank M. Torti, and Suzy V. Torti	233		
13	Heather C. Hatcher, Frank M. Torti, and Suzy V. Torti Oxidative Stress and Pancreatic Cancer Joseph J. Cullen	255		
13 14	Heather C. Hatcher, Frank M. Torti, and Suzy V. Torti Oxidative Stress and Pancreatic Cancer	257 277		
13 14 15	Heather C. Hatcher, Frank M. Torti, and Suzy V. Torti Oxidative Stress and Pancreatic Cancer	257 257 277 301		

Contents

Part	V Oxidative Stress in Normal Tissue Response (Clinical)	
17	Pentoxifylline, Vitamin E, and Modification of Radiation-Induced Fibrosis Geraldine Jacobson	357
18	Antioxidants, Anorexia/Cachexia, and Oxidative Stress in Patients with Advanced-Stage Cancer Giovanni Mantovani, Clelia Madeddu, and Antonio Macciò	373
19	Radiation Protection by MnSOD-Plasmid Liposome Gene Therapy Joel S. Greenberger, Valerian E. Cagan, James Peterson, and Michael W. Epperly	387
20	Antioxidants and Inhibition of Cisplatin-Induced Kidney Injury: Role of Mitochondria Neife Ap. Guinaim dos Santos and Antonio Cardozo dos Santos	407
21	Carrier-Mediated and Targeted Cancer Drug Delivery William C. Zamboni and Ninh M. La-Beck	427
Inde	PX	453

Contributors

Maher Y. Abdalla, PhD Department of Biology and Biotechnology, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan

Munjal Acharya, PhD Department of Radiation Oncology, University of California, Irvine, CA, USA

Iman M. Ahmad, PhD Department of Medical Imaging, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan

Mark E. Anderson, MD, PhD Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Maaike Berbée, MD Department of Radiation Oncology (Maastro), Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, The Netherlands

Theresa M. Busch, PhD Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Vincent Caiozzo, PhD Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, University of California, Irvine, CA, USA

Valerian E. Cagan, PhD Center for Free Radical and Antioxidant Health, Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Sharon E. Campbell, PhD Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

Daret K. St. Clair, PhD Graduate Center for Toxicology and Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Joseph J. Cullen, MD Department of Surgery, University of Iowa College of Medicine, Iowa City, IA, USA

Frederick E. Domann, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, Carver College of Medicine, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Kenneth J. Dornfeld, MD, PhD Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Minnesota, Duluth, MN, USA Duluth Clinic Radiation Oncology, Duluth, MN, USA

Neife Ap. Guinaim dos Santos, PhD Departamento de Análises Clínicas, Toxicológicas e Bromatológicas, Faculdade de Ciências Farmacêuticas de Ribeirão Preto, USP, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil

Antonio Cardozo dos Santos, PhD Departamento de Análises Clínicas, Toxicológicas e Bromatológicas, Faculdade de Ciências Farmacêuticas de Ribeirão Preto, USP, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil

Kevin L. Du, MD, PhD Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Bilikere S. Dwarakanath, PhD Division of Biocybernetics, Institute of Nuclear Medicine and Allied Sciences, Delhi, India

Michael W. Epperly, PhD Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Jeffrey Erickson, PhD Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Melissa A. Fath, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Rentian Feng, PhD Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Drug Discovery Institute, University of Pittsburgh School of Pharmacy, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Division of Hematology/Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

John R. Fike, PhD Departments of Neurological Surgery and Radiation Oncology, Brain and Spinal Injury Center, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA

Jarod C. Finlay, PhD Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Qiang Fu, MD, PhD Division of Radiation Health, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, USA

David Gius, MD, PhD Departments of Cancer Biology and Pediatrics and Radiation Oncology, Vanderbilt Medical School, Nashville, TN, USA

Ruth K. Globus, PhD Space Biosciences Division, NASA Ames Research Center, Moffett Field, CA, USA

David J. Grdina, PhD, MBA Department of Radiation and Cellular Oncology, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

Joel S. Greenberger, M.D Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Heather C. Hatcher, MD Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

Martin Hauer-Jensen, MD, PhD Division of Radiation Health, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, USA

Geraldine Jacobson, MD, MPh, MBA Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Paiboon Jungsuwadee, PhD Graduate Center for Toxicology and Markey Caner Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Yasushi Kataoka, PhD Department of Radiation and Cellular Oncology, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

Divya Khaitan, PhD Division of Biocybernetics, Institute of Nuclear Medicine and Allied Sciences, Delhi, India

Koyamangalath Krishnan, MD Department of Internal Medicine, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

K. Sree Kumar, PhD Armed Forces Radiobiology Research Institute, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, USA

Ninh M. La-Beck, Pharm D Division of Pharmacotherapy and Experimental Therapeutics, School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Suzanne Lentzsch, MD, PhD Division of Hematology/Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Charles Limoli, PhD Department of Radiation Oncology, University of California, Irvine, CA, USA

Antonio Macciò, MD Department of Medical Oncology, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy

Clelia Madeddu, MD Department of Medical Oncology, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy

Joshua M. Madsen, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA **Giovanni Mantovani, MD** Department of Medical Oncology, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy

Michael L. McCormick, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Yusuf Menda, MD Department of Radiology, Carver College of Medicine, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Jeffrey S. Murley, PhD Department of Radiation and Cellular Oncology, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

Terry D. Oberley, MD, PhD Molecular and Environmental Toxicology Center, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI, USA

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health , Madison, WI USA

Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Service, William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital, Madison, WI, USA

Kevin P. Orcutt, MD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

James Peterson, PhD Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Peter M. Scarbrough, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Weihua Shan, PhD Molecular and Environmental Toxicology Center, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI, USA

Andrean L. Simons, PhD Department of Pathology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Cente, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Douglas R. Spitz, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

William L. Stone, PhD Department of Pediatrics, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

Jamie M. Swanlund, BS Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Service, William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital, Madison, WI, USA **Melissa L. Teoh-Fitzgerald, PhD** Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, Carver College of Medicine, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, USA

Frank M. Torti, MD, MPH Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

Comprehensive Cancer Center, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

Suzy V. Torti, PhD Comprehensive Cancer Center, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

Department of Biochemistry, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

Mary Vore, PhD Graduate Center for Toxicology and Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

William C. Zamboni, Pharm D, PhD Division of Pharmacotherapy and Experimental Therapeutics, School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Weixiong Zhong, MD, PhD Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI, USA

Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Service, William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital, Madison, WI, USA

Timothy C. Zhu, PhD Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USAMolecular and Environmental Toxicology Center, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI USA

Part I Oxidative Stress and Tumor Response (Preclinical)

Chapter 1 Mitochondria-Mediated Oxidative Stress and Cancer Therapy

Iman M. Ahmad and Maher Y. Abdalla

Abstract Most cancer cells demonstrate increased rates of glucose metabolism when compared to normal cells. Glucose metabolism leads to the formation of pyruvate and NADPH both of which function in the cellular detoxification of hydroperoxides. Therefore, tumor cells may increase their metabolism of glucose as a compensatory mechanism to protect against hydroperoxides generated as byproducts of mitochondrial metabolism. Recent studies have shown that glucose deprivation preferentially induces cytotoxicity and oxidative stress in human cancer cells, relative to normal cells. Mitochondria have been hypothesized to be the site of prooxidant production during glucose deprivation. The preferential cytotoxicity and oxidative stress seen during glucose deprivation in cancer cells, relative to normal cells, has been hypothesized to have implications in designing more effective combined modality cancer therapies involving inhibitors of glycolytic metabolism and agents that enhance ROS production. Many drugs currently used to treat cancer cells (i.e., ionizing radiation, Cisplatin, Doxorubison, and azidothymidine, etc.) have been proposed to increase superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production and could also be combined with inhibitors of glucose metabolism and peroxide detoxification. The application of these findings to developing new combined modality cancer therapy protocols will be discussed as well as the clinical implications of using glucose metabolism and FDG-PET imaging to predict tumor responses to therapy.

M.Y. Abdalla, PhD Department of Biology and Biotechnology, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan

I.M. Ahmad, PhD (🖂)

Department of Medical Imaging, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan e-mail: iman_maher@yahoo.com

1.1 ROS Production by Cancer Cell Mitochondria

1.1.1 ROS and Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain Proteins

The mitochondrial respiratory chain consists of a series of redox catalysts (pyridine nucleotide, flavoproteins, iron sulfur proteins, ubiquinone, and cytochromes) that are assembled at the mitochondrial inner membrane. The components of mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) can be viewed as if they are arranged in thermodynamic chain according to their reduction potential. As electrons are passed from one complex to another, energy can be extracted to drive the central processes of life by producing a proton gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane. Mitochondria have long been known to be one of the major cellular sources of O₂⁻⁻ [1-6]. It has been estimated during normal respiration that 1-2% of the electrons traversing the respiratory chain contribute to the formation of O₂⁻⁻ ions [6]. Much of the original research into ROS production from mitochondria suggested that the majority of O⁻ originates from Complex III [7, 8]. However, recent work clearly demonstrates that Complex I also play a major role in the production of O₂⁻⁻ in mitochondria [9]. In addition, Ishii et al. [10] have suggested, based on their work with nematodes, that O⁻ may also arise from Complex II. Clearly, there are a number of potential sources of ROS within the mitochondrial respiratory enzyme chain. Normal mitochondria produce O⁻ when exposed to different ETC blockers, such as antimycin A (AntA), which is known to inhibit the transfer of electrons from cytochrome b to coenzyme Q (CoQ), myxothiazole (Myx), which prevents the transfer of electrons from the reduced CoQ to FeS (III) protein and then to cytochrome c [11], and rotenone (Rot) which is a specific blocker of NADHdehydrogenase activity at Complex I of the mitochondrial ETC [12].

Few studies have been done on the production of O_2^{-} in tumor cells. Tumor cells also produce O_2^{-} when exposed to ETC inhibitors or uncouplers [13, 14]. However, Docampo et al. [15] have studied O_2^{-} production in intact mitochondria from mouse sarcoma 180 cells in the presence of NADH without respiratory chain inhibitors, and they found that the tumor mitochondria produced O_2^{-} . Dinescu-Romalo and Mihai [16] performed a study of O_2^{-} production in several tissues from normal and Guerin T_8 ascites tumor-bearing rats without inhibitors as well. They found that the tissues from tumor-bearing animals produced O_2^{-} at a much higher rate than the same tissues from nontumor-bearing animals. These results suggest that tumor cell mitochondria produce more O_2^{-} than normal cells. Moreover, the mitochondria of malignant human tumor cells have been shown to exhibit histological pleomorphism when compared to the mitochondria from normal human cells [17]. This pleomorphism is manifested in the abnormal arrangements of the mitochondrial cristae, mitochondrial hypertrophy, and the fragmentation of mitochondria.

1.1.2 Mitochondrial ETC Proteins Mutations and Cancer

Growing evidence exists that cancer cells are under increased intrinsic metabolic oxidative stress due in part to mitochondrial malfunction [18, 19]. Since the mitochondrial ETC complexes are major sources of ROS in cells, it is logical that ROSmediated damage to mtDNA may be a mechanism for increased oxidative stress in cancer cells. MtDNA is a highly vulnerable target due to its proximity to the ETC complexes. SDH (Complex II) is made of four subunits A, B, C, and D and is involved in the Krebs cycle. Recently, Ishii et al. suggested mutations in SDH might increase O, - production substantially, contributing to increased sensitivity to oxidative stress as well as accelerated aging in nematodes [10]. In addition, mutations in three of the four subunits (B, C, and D) have been linked to familial forms of two human cancers (paraganglioma and pheochromocytoma) [20-23]. Furthermore, many tumors, including epithelial cancers (i.e., colon, breast, as well as head and neck), have been shown to have high rates of mtDNA mutations (relative to normal human tissues) and this has been suggested to contribute to increased O₂⁻ and H₂O₂ production [24, 25]. As more mutations in genes coding for ETC proteins accumulate, complexes in the ETCs are thought to become less efficient at passing electrons due to stoichiometric mismatches between the proteins in each complex and changes in accessibility of electrons to form O₂⁻⁻ [26]. These disruptions in electron flow would be expected to increase residence times of electrons on sites capable of mediating one-electron reductions of O_2 to yield O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 [26]. The resulting increased fluxes of ROS could then contribute to genomic instability and the progressive accumulation of mutations that are the hallmark of malignancy [27, 28].

1.2 Glucose Metabolism and Cancer

It has been found that cancer cells demonstrate altered metabolism when compared to normal cells [29–32]. The metabolic disruptions appear to involve metabolism of glucose and the loss of regulation between glycolytic metabolism and respiration [29–32]. Glucose metabolism has been shown to be involved in cellular sensitivity to oxidative stress mediated by hydroperoxides, presumably via the formation of pyruvate and NADPH [33]. The main pathways for glucose metabolism are glycolysis and pentose phosphate cycle (PPC) after the formation of glucose-6-phosphate [32]. Glycolysis results in the formation of pyruvate, which has been shown to scavenge H_2O_2 and other hydroperoxides [5] One of the major products from the PPC is NADPH, which has been shown to participate in the glutathione peroxidase (GPx)-mediated metabolic decomposition of H_2O_2 and organic hydroperoxides [34]. Therefore, besides its well-known role in energy production, glucose metabolism is also related to the metabolic detoxification of intracellular hydroperoxides formed as byproducts of oxidative metabolism.

Many cancer cells have altered metabolism, relying heavily upon glycolysis for ATP production [29]. Glucose deprivation would be expected to cause metabolism to shift to oxidative phosphorylation in order to meet the metabolic demand for ATP. This shift to mitochondrial respiration would be expected to increase one-electron reduction of oxygen from ETCs leading to increased O_2 [35]. Superoxide anions can dismutate to H_2O_2 spontaneously. Hydrogen peroxide can pass through mitochondrial membranes readily to reach the cytosol [36]. Hydrogen peroxide causes cell damage through hydroxyl radical generation via the Fenton reaction [37, 38].

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow OH + OH^- + Fe^{3+}$$
.

In the absence of adequate levels of MnSOD, as in most cancer cells, the catalyst (Fe^{3+}) is recycled to (Fe^{2+}) through O_2^{--} [39]:

$$O_2^{\bullet} + Fe^{3+} \rightarrow O_2 + Fe^{2+},$$

leading to an increase in 'OH generation that could lead to cytotoxicity and oxidative stress.

1.3 Glucose Deprivation Studies

1.3.1 Glucose Deprivation and Signal Transduction Pathways

Recently, it was discovered that simply removing glucose from the cell culture medium (i.e., glucose deprivation) induced cytotoxicity in the MCF-7/ADR human multidrug-resistant breast carcinoma cell line [1, 40]. Cytotoxicity induced by glucose deprivation in this model system was found to be preceded by activation of several signal transduction pathways such as: mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK, ERK1/ERK2) [1], Ras, Lyn kinase, and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK1) [41]. Furthermore, glucose deprivation in this model system caused an increase in the DNA binding activity of the AP-1 transcription factor as well as an increase in the expression of the angiogenic factor, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and c-Myc gene expression [2]. These observations demonstrated that removal of glucose from these human tumor cells results in cytotoxicity as well as activation of signaling gene expression pathways, thought to be involved in neoplastic transformation.

1.3.2 Glucose Deprivation and Metabolic Oxidative Stress

The role of oxidative stress as a primary initiator has been shown in glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and activation of signal transduction (Lyn, JNK, and MAP kinases ERK1/ERK2); in transcription factor activation (AP-1); in the

increased gene expression of bFGF; and in the induction of a cellular homolog of an oncogene (c-Myc) [1-3]. These results indicated that glucose deprivation causes oxidative stress as evidenced by increased production of prooxidants as well as increases in total glutathione, glutathione disulfide (GSSG), γ -glutamylcysteine, and cysteine [2]. The logical explanation for the increases in GSSG content in MCF-7/ADR cells is that the intracellular mitochondrial production of hydroperoxide exceeds the metabolic capabilities of the glutathione peroxidase/glutathione reductase/NADPH system to maintain glutathione in the reduced form, and therefore GSSG accumulates. Furthermore, addition of N-acetylcysteine (NAC) inhibited oxidative stress by suppressing prooxidant production and the oxidation of glutathione as well as the activation of signal transduction pathways and gene expression [1, 2]. Also, it has been shown that NAC can protect MCF-7/ADR cells from cell killing induced by glucose deprivation [1, 2]. The ability of the thiol antioxidant NAC to block both the cytotoxicity and alterations in signal transduction induced by glucose deprivation supports the hypothesis that glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress and disruption of thiol metabolism are causally related to the biological effects that were observed. There are several ways in which NAC could block oxidative stress during glucose deprivation. NAC can function directly as an antioxidant to scavenge radicals generated by hydroperoxides undergoing Fenton chemistry. NAC could also increase intracellular cysteine pools, which could directly scavenge radicals as well as provide a vital substrate for increased synthesis of glutathione. Finally, by increasing intracellular reduced thiol pools, NAC could block oxidative stress-induced changes in signal transduction by maintaining redox-sensitive proteins in their reduced form [42]. Another major finding of these studies is that glutamate was capable of reversing the glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress and alteration in signal transduction in the MCF-7/ADR cells [1]. Glutamate could therefore rescue the cells from glucose deprivation by directly entering the TCA cycle via glutamate dehyrogenase regenerating NADPH as well as increasing the formation of α -ketoacids, such as α -ketoglutarate and pyruvate, which have been shown to be excellent scavengers of hydroperoxides [5]. Glutamate is also required for the first committed step in the synthesis of glutathione catalyzed by γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase. Finally, the hypothesis that metabolism of O₂ to hydroperoxides could represent the source of increased prooxidants during glucose deprivation was supported by the fact that a scavenger of hydroperoxides, pyruvate, suppressed prooxidant production and cytotoxicity during glucose deprivation [1, 2].

1.3.3 Glucose Deprivation in Normal vs. Cancer Cells

Spitz et al. showed that glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress occurs in several human transformed cell lines, in addition to MCF-7/ADR, such as SV40 transformed fibroblasts (IMR90, GM00637G) and colon cancer cells (HT-29) [3]. These data allow for the speculation that susceptibility to glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress could represent a general phenomenon and

therefore not limited to a single type of transformed human cell type. Furthermore, transformed cells appeared to be more susceptible to glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress as compared to their normal matched pair cells [3]. These results allow for the speculation that normal cells may be less susceptible to glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress than cancer cells. This supports the speculation that cancer cells exhibit a defect in oxidative metabolism, which could be used to gain a therapeutic advantage when trying to kill cancer cells and spare the normal tissues.

1.4 Mitochondrial Involvement in Glucose Deprivation-Induced Cytotoxicity

To determine the role of mitochondria in glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress, three different approaches were utilized [43]. First, the effect of mitochondrial ETC blockers (known to increase O_2 and H_2O_2 production in isolated mitochondria) was determined in intact cells during glucose deprivation. Second, rho(0) human cancer cells, deficient in functional mitochondrial ETCs, were utilized. Finally, adenovirus-mediated transduction of mitochondrially targeted catalase (MitCat) or MnSOD was utilized to over express enzymatic scavengers of O_2 and H_2O_2 in human tumor cells prior to glucose deprivation.

1.4.1 Mitochondrial ETC Blockers Enhance Glucose Deprivation-Induced Cytotoxicity and Oxidative Stress

The effects of mitochondrial ETC blockers along with glucose deprivation in GM00637G SV40 transformed human fibroblasts compared to the parental GM00037F normal human fibroblasts were investigated [43]. These cells were chosen in order to make direct comparisons between responses in normal vs. transformed cells derived from the same parental cell line. ETC blockers had previously been shown to increase O_2 and H_2O_2 production in isolated mitochondria [6, 7], leading to the expectation that these blockers would enhance glucose deprivationinduced cytotoxicity to a greater extent in transformed vs. normal cells if mitochondrial ROS production were mechanistically involved with these biological phenomena. The mitochondrial ETC blockers utilized were antimycin A (AntA), myxothiazole (Myx), and rotenone (Rot). The proton ionophore 2,4-dinitrophenol (DNP) that uncouples ETC activity from ATP synthesis, without blocking electron flow, was included as a control for inhibition of ATP synthesis [43]. It was shown that by 2 h of glucose deprivation, 10 μ M AntA, 10 μ M Myx, and 50 μ M Rot were significantly toxic in the transformed cells (relative to DMSO controls), but these ETC blockers were not toxic for 2 h in the presence of glucose [43]. No toxicity was

seen in cells treated with DNP in the presence or absence of glucose, indicating that no correlation existed between ATP levels and glucose deprivation --induced cytotoxicity [43]. By contrast, normal cell toxicity was unaffected by 2 h exposure to ETC blockers in the presence or absence of glucose [43]. Furthermore, an increase in the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) seen in the presence of ETC blockers when the transformed cells were labeled with an oxidation sensitive probe (CDCFH₂) in the absence of glucose for 2 h as compared to same cells labeled with oxidation insensitive probe (CDCF) where no changes in MFI were seen, are indicative of changes in dye oxidation, and not caused by changes in uptake, ester cleavage, or efflux. These results can be interpreted as an indication of increased prooxidant production in cells exposed to ETC blockers in the absence of glucose. When comparing the results of this study to literature results obtained using ETC blockers in isolated mitochondria from normal tissues [6, 7], some interesting points emerged. In glucose-deprived transformed fibroblasts, a 5.5-fold increase in prooxidant production was measured after treating the cells with 10 µM Ant A (as determined by MFI using sensitive probe) and in the presence of Myx, a 6.5-fold increase in prooxidant production was noted. This result was not consistent with the previous findings using isolated mitochondria from normal cells [6–8, 44] which suggested that treatment with Myx would inhibit electrons reaching ubisemiquinone (Q^{\bullet}) resulting in less prooxidant production in the presence of Myx, than in the presence of AntA. Based on this phenomena, one-electron reductions of O_2 to produce O_2 in the presence of Myx would then only be expected from Complexes I and II. When SV40 transformed cells were exposed to Rot during glucose deprivation, a threefold increase in prooxidant production was noted. The results with Rot combined with the surprising results using AntA and Myx, allow for the speculation that Complex II might be responsible for up to 50% of the prooxidant production seen in the presence of Myx and the other 50% of the prooxidant production may come from Complex I since Rot only backs up electron flow into Complex I and allows electrons to flow through Complexes II, III, and IV. However, the results obtained with normal human fibroblasts in terms of prooxidant production were different as compared to results obtained with transformed fibroblasts, which raise several interesting points. First, the absolute amount of prooxidant production was greater by a factor of 2 in the transformed cells, relative to the normal both in presence and absence of glucose. These results are, however, consistent with a previous report of increased prooxidant production by human cancer cells, relative to normal human cells [45]. Second, 50% of the prooxidant production seen in glucose-deprived normal cells exposed to AntA comes from Q[•] in Complex III and 50% comes from Complex I, with no detectable signal originating from Complex II, based on the results obtained with Myx and Rot showing the same absolute value of prooxidant production. These results are consistent with previous results using isolated normal mitochondria [6–8, 44]. Glucose deprivation in the presence of 10 μ M AntA for 6 h significantly enhanced cytotoxicity and parameters indicative of oxidative stress in other human cancer cell lines such as PC-3, DU145, MDA-MB231, and HT-29 [43]. These results show the generality of the results obtained with mitochondrial ETC blockers in SV40 transformed human fibroblasts.

1.4.2 Rho(0) Cells as a Tool for Studying the Role of Mitochondrial Metabolism in Glucose Deprivation-Induced Cytotoxicity and Oxidative Stress

Electron leakage from mitochondrial ETCs is believed to be the primary source of ROS generation in nonphagocytic cells. To provide evidence that glucose deprivationinduced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress were dependent on functional mitochondrial ETCs, glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress was measured in human osteosarcoma cells rho(0) deficient in fully functional mitochondrial ETC [43]. The cells that are depleted of mitochondrial DNA lack the ability to generate ATP via oxidative phosphorylation and demonstrate greatly reduced O₂ consumption [46, 47]. No extensive characterization of the ability of rho(0) human cancer cells to produce O_2 and H_2O_2 has been reported. However, a few reports suggest that rho(0) cells may produce less O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 than their wild-type counterparts [48–50]. Mitochondrial deficient rho(0) and the parental rho(+) human osteosarcoma cells were deprived of glucose for 6 and 8 h in the presence of 10 μ M AntA. The results show that rho(+) cells demonstrated 40-70% cell killing during 6-8 h of glucose deprivation in the presence of AntA. By contrast, rho(0) cells exhibited only 20–30% cell killing during 6–8 h of glucose deprivation in the presence of AntA. Furthermore, following 6 or 8 h of glucose deprivation in the presence of AntA, GSSG and %GSSG was greater in rho(+) cells than in rho(0) cells [43]. These results are consistent with the hypothesis that fully functional mitochondrial ETCs significantly contribute to glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress in human cancer cells.

1.4.3 The Effect of Manipulating Cellular Antioxidants on Glucose Deprivation-Induced Cytotoxicity and Oxidative Stress

To determine if specific ROS (i.e., O_2^{-} and H_2O_2) are causally involved with glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress, human prostate cancer cells (PC-3) were transduced with 10 and 50 MOI of AdMnSOD and/or AdMitCat, respectively, and then treated in the presence and absence of glucose. Each group infected with virus containing antioxidant(s) was compared to the appropriate control using the same MOI of the empty vector (AdBgIII) [43]. The results obtained demonstrate a ~tenfold change in either or both enzymatic activities of infected cells. The results showed also that over expression of MnSOD and/or MitCat activity slightly protected PC-3 cells from clonogenic inactivation induced by 48 h of glucose deprivation, but when both enzymes were over expressed, significantly more protection was seen than with either enzyme alone [43]. Furthermore, the results showed that over expression of either antioxidant enzyme alone slightly suppressed GSSG accumulation by ~20% during glucose deprivation, relative to the appropriate vector control. By contrast, those cultures over expressing both MnSOD and MitCat

demonstrated a ~50% suppression in the accumulation of GSSG during glucose deprivation, relative to the appropriate vector control [43]. These results provide strong evidence that both mitochondrial O_2^- and H_2O_2 contribute to the cytotoxicity and oxidative stress associated with glucose deprivation in this model system. It is interesting to note that despite a ~tenfold increase in PC-3 catalase and MnSOD activity, only partial protection against cytotoxicity and accumulation of GSSG was noted during glucose deprivation. Since the genes were delivered on separate vectors, the most likely explanation for this is that not all cells that were infected in the co-transduction experiments expressed both genes.

1.4.4 The Ability of 2DG to Mediate Biological Effects Similar to Glucose Deprivation in Normal vs. Transformed Cells

To determine the potential clinical utility of the mechanistic information gathered during the study of glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress, the glucose analog 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) was used. 2DG has been known for many years to be cytotoxic to cancer cells as well as enhancing the cytotoxicity of ionizing radiation toward cancer cells in culture, tumors in animals, and in clinical trials [51–53]. The mechanisms responsible for 2DG-induced cytotoxicity and radiosensitization were thought to involve an inhibition of DNA repair pathways after exposure to radiation [53]. However, the obvious mechanism proposed to explain this inhibition of DNA repair (impairment of ATP production and energy metabolism) has not been supported by the data gathered to date [53]. Furthermore, a recent report has also shown that 2DG-induced apoptosis in leukemia cells is selectively inhibited by overexpression of the mitochondrial phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase enzyme [54]. This previous report provided the first direct evidence that glutathione peroxidase-sensitive decomposition of hydroperoxides originating from mitochondrial metabolism might be an important contributor to 2DG-induced apoptosis.

New therapeutic strategies using 2DG preferentially kill cancer cells via metabolic oxidative stress combined with inhibitors of hydroperoxide metabolism to induce radio- and chemosensitization was developed. Many current studies showed that the competitive inhibitor of glucose metabolism, 2DG, is both cytotoxic and capable of inducing radiosensitization in human cancer cells in vitro [52, 53]. In addition, Gius et al. showed for the first time that simultaneous treatment with the thiol antioxidant, NAC, suppressed both the cytotoxicity and radiosensitization induced by 2DG in a human cancer cell line [4]. In addition, 2DG exposure was shown to induce disruptions in thiol metabolism that were partially reversed by exposure to NAC. Finally, the cytotoxicity and radiosensitization induced by exposure to 2DG appeared to be more pronounced in an oncogene-transformed cell line, when compared with the parental cell line, and this radiosensitization was also inhibited by treatment with a thiol antioxidant [4]. The results of these studies are consistent with the previous observations obtained with glucose deprivation [1–3] and support the hypothesis that 2DG-induced cytotoxicity and radiosensitization are mediated by disruptions in thiol metabolism resulting from metabolic oxidative stress. In this regard, cancer cells were hypothesized to have a fundamental defect in their ETCs, leading to increased leakage of electrons to form O_2^{--} and H_2O_2 , relative to normal cells [3]. Aykin-Burns et al. showed the differential effects of 2DG on cytotoxicity in normal vs. cancer intestinal epithelial cells [55]. During 72 h exposure, 2DG was not overtly toxic to normal cells but 30% of the cancer cells were metabolically inactivated during the same frame as determined by trypan blue exclusion. These results suggest that 2DG is more cytotoxic to human cancer cells relative to the normal cell type from the same tissue origin and is consistent with the data using rat cells in previous studies [4].

1.5 Clinical Significance of Glucose Deprivation-Induced Oxidative Stress in Cancer Therapy and Imaging

1.5.1 Glucose Deprivation and Cancer Therapy

Cancer therapy is based upon the concept that certain cytotoxins kill cancer cells preferentially, relative to normal cells, because of cell physiological characteristics peculiar to the cancer cells and/or the localized delivery of cytotoxic agents to cancer cells. To date, one of the most common abnormal biochemical characteristics associated with cancer cells is the increased utilization of glucose. Glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress was more pronounced in transformed vs. normal human cells [3]. Glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress was hypothesized to involve impairment of hydroperoxide metabolism, because the products of glycolysis (pyruvate) and the pentose cycle (NADPH) have been shown to be integrally related to peroxide detoxification [3]. Pyruvate can directly react with peroxides to detoxify them [5], and NADPH serves as the source of reducing equivalents for the glutathione-dependent decomposition of hydroperoxides via the glutathione peroxidase/glutathione reductase system, as well as the thioredoxin-dependent decomposition of hydroperoxides/thioredoxin reductase system [34, 56].

Using this theoretical construct, cancer cells were hypothesized to increase glucose metabolism (relative to normal cells) to enhance the metabolic decomposition of ROS formed as byproducts of oxidative energy metabolism [3]. Therefore, inhibition of glucose metabolism would be expected to sensitize cancer cells (relative to normal cells) to agents that increase levels of hydroperoxides (i.e., ionizing radiation and chemotherapy agents known to produce ROS) [57]. Although it is not possible to deprive cells of glucose in vivo, it is possible to treat tumor bearing animals and humans with 2DG, a relatively nontoxic analog of glucose that competes with glucose for uptake via the glucose transporters as well as being phosphorylated by hexokinase at the entry point to glycolysis. Although there are reports that the phosphorylated form of 2DG (2DG-6-P) can proceed through the first step in the pentose cycle

(glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase) leading to the regeneration of one molecule of NADPH [58], it appears to be incapable of further metabolism in the pentose cycle as well as incapable of metabolism to pyruvate. Administration of 2DG to mice has been shown to be an effective way to inhibit glucose metabolism without causing toxicity until very high levels are achieved (LD50 ≥ 2 g/kg body weight) [59]. Therefore, using 2DG as an inhibitor of glucose metabolism in vivo may provide a relatively nontoxic and effective addition to multimodality cancer therapies designed to limit hydroperoxide metabolism for the purpose of enhancing radio- and chemosensitivity in human cancers. It has been shown that the cytotoxic effects of ionizing radiation and some chemotherapeutic agents (i.e., such as Adriamycin, cisplatin, and AZT) involve the formation of ROS capable of causing oxidative DNA damage and cell death [57, 60–65]. Furthermore, it has been known for more than 20 years that 2DG treatment sensitizes tumor cells to the cytotoxic effects of ionizing radiation both in vitro and in vivo [4, 52, 53, 66] and this has led to phase I/II clinical trials in humans testing 2DG as an adjuvant to radiation therapy [66]. 2DG treatment of cancer cells with high rates of glucose metabolism would be expected to cause greater sensitization to agents that cause oxidative stress because of the added oxidative burden that would be expected when hydroperoxide metabolism (via glucose dependent processes) was compromised. Cisplatin is one of the most commonly used drugs in the management of locally advanced or recurrent head and neck cancer [67]. The combination of 20 mM 2DG and 0.5 µM cisplatin showed what appeared to be greater than additive cell killing in FaDu human head and neck cancer cells compared to 2DG or cisplatin alone [68]. Furthermore, the drug combination caused perturbations in parameters indicative of oxidative stress, including decreased intracellular total glutathione and increased % of GSSG, suggesting that oxidative stress was involved [68]. Moreover, the effects of 2DG+cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity and %GSSG were reversed with 15 mM NAC treatment [68].

L-Buthionine-[S,R]-sulfoximine (BSO) is a drug being tested in clinical trials for cancer therapy that inhibits GSH synthesis and resulting in GSH depletion and chemosensitization [69]. It was found that 1 mM BSO enhanced the toxicity of 2DG and cisplatin, when used alone or in combination [68]. Furthermore, thiol analysis shows that BSO depleted total glutathione in all groups and increased the %GSSG significantly in both the 2DG and 2DG+cisplatin groups, in which 15 mM NAC treatment reverse these effects [68].

Gene therapy vector (i.e., p53) was also combined with 2DG as a new cancer therapy modality. It was chosen because p53 has been suggested to kill colon cancer cells by induction of oxidative stress via enzymes capable of increasing steady-state levels of H_2O_2 [70, 71]. Ahmad et al. showed that 2DG significantly enhanced the cytotoxic effects of treatment with Adp53 in prostate cancer cell lines (p53 minus androgen independent) and the % of cells killed by 2DG in the presence of Adp53 appeared to be greater in DU145 cells, relative to PC-3 cells treated identically [72]. In addition, DU145 cells consumed glucose from the tissue culture media at twice the rate of PC-3 cells as determined with a glucose analyzer [72]. These results support the hypothesis that the combination of 2DG and Adp53 is more cytotoxic to human prostate cancer cells that consume glucose at a higher rate

in vitro, relative to those that consume glucose at a lower rate. Furthermore, treatment with 2DG resulted in increases in total GSH and GSSG in both cell lines suggesting that (1) glutathione synthesis was enhanced in response to 2DG-induced oxidative stress and (2) the cells' ability to maintain newly synthesized glutathione in the reduced state may have been compromised. Treatment with Adp53 alone as well as the combination of 2DG and Adp53 demonstrated significantly greater increases (approximately threefold) in the accumulation of GSSG in DU145 cells compared to PC-3 cells [72]. These results support the hypothesis that 2DG and Adp53 causes greater oxidative stress in human prostate cancer cells that consume more glucose. DU-145 cells were also pretreated with PEG-SOD, AdGPx, or AdMitCat, before and during labeling with DHE or CDCFH2, respectively [72]. The significant increases in PEG-SOD-inhibitable DHE oxidation as well as AdGPx or AdMitCat-inhibitable CDCFH2 oxidation that were observed strongly support the hypothesis that increases in steady-state levels of O₂⁻⁻ and hydroperoxides did occur in prostate cancer cells treated with 2DG and Adp53. These results suggested that both O₂⁻⁻ and hydroperoxides were capable of contributing to the oxidative stress and cytotoxicity seen during 2DG and Adp53 treatment. These results are also consistent with the previous observations that p53-dependent apoptosis was preceded by the induction of the enzyme proline oxidase and increased respiration, presumably leading to the increased generation of O_2^{-} and hydroperoxides [73–76].

1.5.2 Glucose Deprivation and Cancer Imaging

Fundamental differences in glucose metabolism between transformed and normal cells are used clinically to image cancerous tissues by using tracer amounts of FDG with PET imaging [77, 78]. In addition, many cancers have shown robust signals using FDG-PET imaging that vary between patients [78–80]. The significance of the variability in FDG-PET images obtained from cancers of the same type in different patients is currently not well understood but has been suggested to relate to the rapeutic response [53, 66, 77-81]. Studies have shown that there may be strong correlations between glucose uptake, glycolysis, and treatment resistance in tumors [82]. More specifically, tumors with lower FDG uptake tended to respond better to standard treatments than those with greater FDG uptake [83, 84]. These results suggest that new adjuvants to chemoradiotherapy are needed to treat patients with tumors with high FDG uptake. If cancer cells (relative to normal cells) increase glucose metabolism to form pyruvate and NADPH as a compensatory mechanism in response to ROS formed as byproducts of oxidative energy metabolism then: (1) the uptake of glucose (or FDG) would be expected to be proportional to intracellular levels of hydroperoxides and disruptions in mitochondrial metabolism leading to metabolic oxidative stress. Using this logic, 2DG should sensitize tumors with greater FDG uptake to a greater extent to agents that further increase hydroperoxide production and metabolic oxidative stress relative to low-FDG-uptake tumors. Simons et al., showed that the head and neck carcinoma, Cal-27 xenograft tumors showed greater pretreatment FDG uptake and increased disease-free survival when treated with 2DG + CIS relative to head and neck FaDu xenograft tumors [85]. These results show the potential for FDG uptake to predict tumor sensitivity to 2DG+CIS. Meanwhile, a vast majority of cancer cell lines have increased mitochondrial membrane potentials [86]. Although the precise mechanism responsible for the increased membrane potential is not completely known, cancer imaging using 99mTc-Sestamibi is based on this difference between normal and malignant cells. 99mTc-Sestamibi-SPECT uptake and retention is based in part on mitochondrial membrane potential and agents known to damage mitochondria and disrupt the ETC alter 99mTc-Sestamibi-SPECT uptake. The high rate of mitochondrial DNA mutations seen in cancer cells also suggests a difference between normal and transformed cells. If mtDNA damage and mutation are responsible for the elevated production of O_0 . and H₂O₂ seen in cancer cells, additional mtDNA damage (using chemotherapy agents such as AZT, Cis) may augment metabolic differences leading to ROS production between normal and cancer cells affording the opportunity for more effective therapy. Just as altered glucose metabolism can be manipulated with 2DG and monitored with FDG-PET, mitochondrial function and mtDNA integrity can be manipulated with AZT/cisplatin and imaged with 99mTc-Sestamibi-SPECT. This strategy has proven useful in following responses to cisplatin-based chemotherapy [87]. Taken together, these observations suggest mitochondrial function as a difference between normal cells and cancer cells that can be imaged, manipulated, and augmented to improve cancer therapy.

References

- Lee YJ, Galoforo SS, Berns CM, Chen JC, Davis BH, Sim JE, Corry PM, Spitz DR (1998) Glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and alterations in mitogen-activated protein kinase activation are mediated by oxidative stress in multidrug-resistant human breast carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 273:5294–5299
- Blackburn RV, Spitz DR, Liu X, Galoforo SS, Sim JE, Ridnour LA, Chen JC, Daris BH, Corry PM, Lee YJ (1999) Metabolic oxidative stress activates signal transduction and gene expression during glucose deprivation in human tumor cells. Free Radic Biol Med 26:419–430
- Spitz DR, Sim JE, Ridnour LA, Galoforo SS, Lee YJ (2000) Glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress in human tumor cells: a fundamental defect in metabolism? Ann N Y Acad Sci 899:349–362
- Lin X, Zhang F, Bradbury CW, Kaushal A, Li L, Spitz DR, Aft R, Gius D (2003) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose-induced cytotoxicity and radiosensitization in tumor cells is mediated via disruptions in thiol metabolism. Cancer Res 63:3413–3417
- 5. Nath KA, Ngo EO, Hebbel RP, Croatt AJ, Zhau B, Nutter LM (1995) α -ketoacids scavenge H_2O_2 in vitro and in vivo and reduce menadione-induced DNA injury and cytotoxicity. Am J Physiol 268:C227–C236
- Boveris A, Cadenas E (1982) Production of superoxide radicals and hydrogen peroxide in mitochondria. In: Oberley LW (ed) Superoxide dismutase, 2nd edn. CRC, Boca Raton, FL, pp 15–30
- Turrens JF, Alexandre A, Lehninger AL (1985) Ubisemiquinone is the electron donor for superoxide formation by complex III of heart mitochondria. Arch Biochem Biophys 237:408–414

- Nohl H, Jordan W (1986) The mitochondrial site of superoxide formation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 138:533–539
- Robinson BH (1998) Human complex I deficiency: clinical spectrum and involvement of oxygen free radicals in the pathogenecity of the defect. Biochim Biophys Acta 1364:271–286
- Ishii N, Fujii M, Hartman PS, Tsuda M, Yasuda K, Senoo-Matsuda N, Yanase S, Ayusawa D, Suzuki K (1998) A mutation in succinate dehydrogenase cytochrome b causes oxidative stress and ageing in nematods. Nature 394:694–697
- Matsuno-Yagi A, Hatefi Y (1996) Ubiquinol-cytochrome c oxidoreductase. The redox reactions of the bis-heme cytochrome b in ubiquinone-sufficient and ubiquinone-deficient systems. J Biol Chem 271:6164–6171
- 12. Voet D, Voet JG, Pratt CW (1999) Fundamentals of biochemistry. Wiley, New York
- Bartoli GM, Galeotti T, Azzi A (1977) Production of superoxide anions and hydrogen peroxide in Ehrlich ascites tumour cell nuclei. Biochim Biophys Acta 497:622–626
- 14. Peskin AV, Zbarsky IB, Konstantinov AA (1980) A novel type of superoxide generating system in nuclear membranes from hepatoma 22a ascites cells. FEBS Lett 117:44–48
- Docampo R, Cruz FS, Boveris A, Muniz RP, Esquivel DM (1979) Beta-Lapachone enhancement of lipid peroxidation and superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide formation by sarcoma 180 ascites tumor cells. Biochem Pharmacol 28:723–728
- Dinescu-Romalo G, Mihai C (1979) Superoxide anion production and superoxide dismutase activity in several tissues from normal and guerin T8 ascites tumor-bearing rats. Cell Mol Biol 25:101–106
- Springer EL (1980) Comparative study of the cytoplasmic organelles of epithelial cell lines derived from human carcinomas and nonmalignant tissues. Cancer Res 40:803–817
- Copeland WC, Wachsman JT, Johnson FM, Penta JS (2002) Mitochondrial DNA alterations in cancer. Cancer Invest 20:557–569
- 19. Carew JS, Huang P (2002) Mitochondrial defects in cancer. Mol Cancer 1:1-9
- 20. Astuti D, Latif F, Dallol A, Dahia PL, Douglas F, George E, Skoldberg F, Husebye ES, Eng C, Maher ER (2001) Gene mutations in the succinate dehydrogenase subunit SDHB cause susceptibility to familial pheochromocytoma and to familial paraganglioma. Am J Hum Genet 69:49
- 21. Vanharanta S, Buchta M, McWhinney SR, Virta SK, Peczkowska M, Morrison CD, Lehtonen R, Januszewicz A, Jarvinen H, Juhola M, Mecklin JP, Pukkala E, Herva R, Kiuru M, Nupponen NN, Aaltonen LA, Neumann HP, Eng C (2004) Early-onset renal cell carcinoma as a novel extraparaganglial component of SDHB-associated heritable paraganglioma. Am J Hum Genet 74:153
- 22. Baysal BE, Ferrell RE, Willett-Brozick JE, Lawrence EC, Myssiorek D, Bosch A, van der Mey A, Taschner PE, Rubinstein WS, Myers EN, Richard CW, Cornelisse CJ, Devilee P, Devlin B (2000) Mutations in SDHD, a mitochondrial complex II gene, in hereditary paraganglioma. Science 287:848
- Niemann S, Muller U (2000) Mutations in SDHC cause autosomal dominant paraganglioma, type 3. Nat Genet 26:268
- Penta JS, Johnson FM, Wachsman JT, Copeland WC (2001) Mitochondrial DNA in human malignancy. Mutat Res 488(2):119–133
- 25. Fliss MS, Usadel H, Caballero OL, Wu L, Buta MR, Eleff SM, Jen J, Sidransky D (2000) Facile detection of mitochondrial DNA mutations in tumors and bodily fluids. Science 287:2017–2019
- Spitz DR, Azzam EI, Li JJ, Gius D (2004) Metabolic oxidation/reduction reactions and cellular responses to ionizing radiation: a unifying concept in stress response biology. Cancer Metastasis Rev 23:311–322
- 27. Bianchi NO, Bianchi MS, Richard SM (2001) Mitochondrial genome instability in human cancers. Mutat Res 488(1):9–23
- Hunt CR, Sim JE, Sullivan SJ, Featherstone T, Golden W, Von Kapp-Herr C, Hock RA, Gomez RA, Parsian AJ, Spitz DR (1998) Genomic instability and catalase gene amplification induced by chronic exposure to oxidative stress. Cancer Res 58(17):3986–3992
- 29. Warburg O (1956) On the origin of cancer cells. Science 132:309-314

1 Mitochondria-Mediated Oxidative Stress and Cancer Therapy

- 30. Weber G (1977) Enzymology of cancer cells (first of two parts). New Engl J Med 296:486–492
- 31. Weber G (1977) Enzymology of cancer cells (second of two parts). New Eng J Med 296:541-551
- 32. Lehninger AL (1976) Biochemistry. Worth Publisher, New York, pp 245–441, 467–471, 849–850
- 33. Averill-Bates DA, Przybytkowski E (1994) The role of glucose in cellular defences against cytotoxicity of hydrogen peroxide in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 312:52–58
- 34. Tuttle SW, Varnes ME, Mitchell JB, Biaglow JE (1992) Sensitivity to chemical oxidants and radiation in CHO cell lines deficient in oxidative pentose cycle activity. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 22:671–675
- 35. Boveris A, Chance B (1973) The mitochondrial generation of hydrogen peroxide. General properties and effect of hyperbaric oxygen. Biochem J 134:707–716
- 36. Antunes F, Cadenas E (2000) Estimation of $\rm H_2O_2$ gradients across biomembranes. FEBS Lett 475:121–126
- Girotti AW (1998) Lipid hydroperoxide generation, turnover, and effector action in biological systems. J Lipid Res 39:1529–1542
- 38. Mylonas C, Kouretas D (1999) Lipid peroxidation and tissue damage. In Vivo 13:295-309
- 39. Kehrer JP (2000) The Haber-Weiss reaction and mechanisms of toxicity. Toxicology 149:43-50
- 40. Gupta AK, Lee YJ, Galoforo SS, Berns CM, Martinez AA, Corry PM, Wu X, Guan KL (1997) Differential effect of glucose deprivation on MAPK activation in drug sensitive human breast carcinoma MCF-7 and multidrug resistant MCF-7/ADR cells. Mol Cell Biochem 170:23–30
- 41. Liu X, Gupta AK, Corry PM, Lee YJ (1997) Hypoglycemia-induced c-Jun phosphorylation is mediated by c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 and Lyn kinase in drug-resistant human breast carcinoma MCF-7/ADR cells. J Biol Chem 272(18):11690–11693
- 42. Sun Y, Oberley LW (1996) Redox regulation of transcriptional activators. Free Radic Biol Med 21:335–348
- 43. Ahmad IM, Aykin-Burns N, Sim JE, Walsh SA, Higashikubo R, Buettner GR, Venkataraman S, Mackey MA, Flanagan SW, Oberley LW, Spitz DR (2005) Mitochondrial O₂ and H₂O₂ mediate glucose deprivation-induced stress in human cancer cells. J Biol Chem 280(6):4254–4263
- 44. Boveris A (1977) Mitochondrial production of superoxide radical and hydrogen peroxide. Adv Exp Med Biol 78:67–82
- Szatrowski TP, Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res 51:794–798
- 46. King MP, Attardi G (1996) Isolation of human cell lines lacking mitochondrial DNA. Meth Enzymol 264:304–313
- King MP (1996) Use of ethidium bromide to manipulate ratio of mutated and wild-type mitochondrial DNA in cultured cells. Methods Enzymol 264:339–344
- Guido DM, McCord JM, Wright RM, Repine JE (1993) Absence of electron transport (rho0 state) restores growth of a manganese-superoxide dismutase-deficient *Saccharomyces cerevi*siae in hyperoxia. J Biol Chem 268:26699–26703
- 49. Cai J, Wallace DC, Zhivotovsky B, Jones DP (2000) Separation of cytochrome C-dependent caspase activation from thiol-disulfide redox change in cells lacking mitochondrial DNA. Free Radic Biol Med 29:334–342
- Luetjens CM, Bui NT, Sengpiel B, Munstermann G, Poppe M, Krohn AJ, Bauerbach E, Krieglstein J, Prehn JHM (2000) Delayed mitochondrial dysfunction in excitotoxic neuron death: cytochrome C release and a secondary increase in superoxide production. J Neurosci 20(15):5715–5723
- Laszlo J, Humphreys SR, Goldin A (1960) Effects of glucose analogues (2-deoxy-D-glucose, 2-deoxy-D-galactose) on experimental tumors. J Natl Cancer Inst 24:267–280
- 52. Shenoy MA, Singh BB (1985) Non-nitro radiation sensitizers. Int J Radiat Biol 48:315–326

- 53. Dwarkanath BS, Zolzer F, Chandana S, Bauch T, Adhikari JS, Muller WU, Streffer C, Jain V (2001) Heterogeneity in 2-deoxy-D-glucose-induced modifications in energetics and radiation responses of human tumor cell lines. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 50:1051–1061
- 54. Nomura K, Imani H, Koumura T, Arai M, Nakagawa Y (1999) Mitochondrial phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase suppresses apoptosis mediated by a mitochondrial death pathway. J Biol Chem 274:294–302
- 55. Aykin-burns N, Ahmad IM, Zhu Y, Oberley LW, Spitz DR (2009) Increased levels of superoxide and H_2O_2 mediate the differential susceptibility of cancer cells versus normal cells to glucose deprivation. Biochem J 418:29–37
- 56. Berggren MI, Husbeck B, Samulitis B, Baker AF, Gallegos A, Powis G (2001) Thioredoxin peroxidase-1 (peroxiredoxin-1) is increased in thioredoxin-1 transfected cells and results in enhanced protection against apoptosis caused by hydrogen peroxide but not by other agents including dexamethasone, etoposide, and doxorubicin. Arch Biochem Biophys 392:103–104
- 57. Oberley LW (1982) Superoxide dismutase: volume II: superoxide dismutase and cancer (Chapter 6). In: Oberley LW (ed) CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 127–165
- Suzuki M, O'Dea JD, Suzuki T, Agar NS (1983) 2-Deoxyglucose as a substrate for glutathione regeneration in human and ruminant red blood cells. Comp Biochem Physiol B 75(2):195–197
- Landau BR, Lubs HA (1958) Animal responses to 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose administration. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 99:124–127
- 60. Mitchell JB, Russo A (1987) The role of glutathione in radiation and drug induced cytotoxicity. Br J Cancer 55:S96–S104
- 61. Biaglow JE, Mitchell JB, Held K (1992) The importance of peroxide and superoxide in the x-ray response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 22:665–669
- 62. Spitz DR, Phillips JW, Adams DT, Sherman CM, Deen DF, Li GC (1993) Cellular resistance to oxidative stress is accompanied by resistance to cisplatin: the significance of increased catalase activity and total glutathione in H₂O₂-resistant fibroblasts. J Cell Physiol 156:72–79
- 63. Basnakian AG, Kaushal GP, Shah SV (2002) Apoptotic pathways of oxidative damage to renal tubular epithelial cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 4:915–924
- 64. Doroshow JH (1983) Effect of anthracycline antibiotics on oxygen radical formation in rat heart. Cancer Res 43:460–472
- 65. Mattson DM, Ahmad IM, Dayal D, Parsons AD, Aykin-Burns N, Li L, Orcutt KP, Spitz DR, Dornfeld KJ, Simons AL (2008) Cisplatin combined with zidovudine enhances cytotoxicity and oxidative stress in human head and neck cancer cells via a thiol-dependent mechanism. Free Radic Biol Med 46(2):232–237
- 66. Mohanti BK, Rath GK, Anantha N, Kannan V, Das BS, Chandramouli BA, Banerjee AK, Das S, Jena A, Ravichandran R, Sahi UP, Kumar R, Kapoor N, Kalia VK, Dwarakanath BS, Jain V (1996) Improving cancer radiotherapy with 2-deoxy-D-glucose: phase I/II clinical trials on human cerebral gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 35:103–111
- 67. Forastiere AA (1994) Overview of platinum chemotherapy in head and neck cancer. Semin Oncol 21:20–27
- Simons AL, Ahmad IM, Mattson DM et al (2007) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) combined with cisplatin enhances cytotoxicity via metabolic oxidative stress in human head and neck cancer cells. Cancer Res 67(7):3364–3370
- Bailey HH (1998) L-S, R-buthionine sulfoximine: historical development and clinical issues. Chem Biol Interact 111:239–254
- Polyak K, Xia Y, Zweier JL, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1997) A model for p53-induced apoptosis. Nature 389:300–305
- Macip S, Igarashi M, Berggren P, Yu J, Lee SW, Aaronson SA (2003) Influence of induced reactive oxygen species in p53-mediated cell fate decisions. Mol Cell Biol 23:8576–8585
- 72. Ahmad IM, Abdalla MY, Aykin-Burns N, Simons AL, Oberley LW, Domann FE, Spitz DR (2008) 2-Deoxyglucose combined with wild-type p53 overexpression enhances cytotoxicity in human prostate cancer cells via oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 44(5):826–834
- Matoba S, Kang JG, Patino WD, Wragg A, Boehm M, Gavrilova O, Hurley PJ, Bunz F, Hwang PM (2007) P53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. Science 312:1650–1653
1 Mitochondria-Mediated Oxidative Stress and Cancer Therapy

- 74. Bensaad K, Vousden KH (2007) P53: new roles in metabolism. Trends Cell Biol 17:286-291
- Liu Y, Borchert GL, Surazynski A, Hu CA, Phang JM (2006) Proline oxidase activates both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways for apoptosis: the role of ROS/superoxides, NFAT and MEK/ ERK signaling. Oncogene 25(41):5640–5647
- 76. Donald SP, Sun XY, Hu CA, Yu J, Mei JM, Valle D, Phang JM (2001) Proline oxidase, encoded by p53-induced gene-6, catalyzes the generation of proline-dependent reactive oxygen species. Cancer Res 61:1810–1815
- 77. Wahl RL, Cody RL, Hutchins GD et al (1991) Primary and metastatic breast carcinoma: Initial clinical evaluation with PET with the radiolabeled glucose analogue 2-[F-18]-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose. Radiology 179:765–770
- 78. Hannah A, Scott AM, Tochon-Danguy H, Chan JG, Akhurst T, Berlangieri S, Price D, Smith GS, Schelleman T, McKay WJ, Sizeland A (2002) Evaluation of 18 F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography and computed tomography with histopathologic correlation in the initial staging of head and neck cancer. Ann Surg 236:208–217
- 79. Hricak H, Schoder H, Pucar D, Lis E, Eberhardt SC, Onyebuchi CN, Scher HI (2003) Advances in imaging the postoperative patient with a rising prostate-specific antigen level. Semin Oncol 30:616–634
- Moadel RM, Nguyen AV, Lin EY, Lu P, Mani J, Blaufox MD, Pollard JW, Dadachova E (2003) Positron emission tomography agent 2-deoxy-2-[18 F]fluoro-D-glucose has a thrapeutic potential in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 5:R199–R205
- Maschek G, Savaraj N, Priebe W, Braunschweiger P, Hamilton K, Tidmarsh GF, De Young LR, Lampidis TJ (2004) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose increases the efficacy of adriamycin and paclitaxel in human osteosarcoma and non-small cell lung cancers in vivo. Cancer Res 64:31–34
- Stokkel MPM, ten Broek FW, van Rijk PP (1998) The role of FDG PET in the clinical management of head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol 34:466–471
- Dobert N, Kovacs AF, Menzel C et al (2005) The prognostic value of FDG PET in head and neck cancer. Correlation with histopathology. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 49:253–257
- 84. Kitagawa Y, Nishizawa S, Sano K et al (2003) FDG-PET for the prediction of tumor aggressiveness and response to intra-arterial chemotherapy and radiotherapy in head and neck cancer. Eur J Nucl Med 30:63–71
- 85. Simons AL, Fath MA, Mattson DM, Smith BJ, Walsh SA, Graham MM, Hichwa RD, Buatti JM, Dornfeld K, Spitz DR (2007) Enhanced response of human head and neck cancer xenograft tumors to cisplatin combined with 2-deoxy-D-glucose correlates with increased 18 F-FDG uptake as determined by PET imaging. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 69(4):1222–1230
- Chen LB (1988) Mitochondrial membrane potential in living cells. Ann Rev Cell Biol 4:151–181
- 87. Kawata K, Kanai M, Sasada T, Iwata S, Yamamoto N, Takabayashi A (2004) Usefulness of 99mTc- Sestamibi scintigraphy in suggesting the therapeutic effect of chemotherapy against gastric cancer. Clin Cancer Res 10(11):3788–3793

Chapter 2 The Role of Akt Pathway Signaling in Glucose Metabolism and Metabolic Oxidative Stress

Andrean L. Simons, Kevin P. Orcutt, Joshua M. Madsen, Peter M. Scarbrough, and Douglas R. Spitz

Abstract Glucose metabolism plays an important role in hydroperoxide detoxification and the inhibition of glucose metabolism has been shown to increase prooxidant production and cytotoxicity in cancer cells. Increased Akt pathway signaling has been shown to be directly correlated with increased rates of glucose metabolism observed in cancer cells versus normal cells. These observations have led to the proposal that inhibition of Akt signaling would inhibit glycolysis and increase hydroperoxide production which would preferentially kill tumor cells versus normal cells via oxidative stress. The current study shows that inhibition of the Akt pathway inhibits glucose consumption and induces parameters indicative of oxidative stress such as glutathione disulfide (%GSSG) and thioredoxin reductase (TR) activity in human head and neck cancer (HNSCC) cells. A theoretical model to explain the results is presented and implications for the use of Akt pathway inhibitors in combination with glycolytic inhibitors and/or manipulations that increase prooxidant production are discussed.

A.L. Simons, PhD (🖂)

Department of Pathology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, 200 Hawkins Drive, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, B180 Medical Laboratories, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA e-mail: andrean-simons@uiowa.edu

K.P. Orcutt, MD • J.M. Madsen, PhD • P.M. Scarbrough, PhD • D.R. Spitz, PhD Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa, B180 Medical Laboratories, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

2.1 Introduction

Glucose metabolism plays an important role in hydroperoxide detoxification and the inhibition of glucose metabolism has been shown to increase prooxidant production and cytotoxicity in cancer cells. Increased Akt pathway signaling has been shown to be directly correlated with increased rates of glucose metabolism observed in cancer cells versus normal cells. These observations have led to the proposal that inhibition of Akt signaling would inhibit glycolysis and increase hydroperoxide production which would preferentially kill tumor cells versus normal cells via oxidative stress. The current preliminary studies explore how the inhibition of the Akt pathway would disrupt glucose consumption and induce parameters indicative of oxidative stress such as glutathione disulfide (%GSSG) and thioredoxin reductase (TR) activity in human head and neck cancer (HNSCC) cells. A theoretical model to explain the results is presented and implications for the use of Akt pathway inhibitors in combination with glycolytic inhibitors and/or manipulations that increase prooxidant production are discussed.

2.2 Upregulation of Glucose Metabolism in Cancer Cells

Cancer cells exhibit increased glucose metabolism and pentose phosphate cycle activity compared to normal untransformed cells [1–3]. The most consistent of these observations is that cancer cells metabolize glucose into pyruvate producing excess lactate even though the supply of oxygen is adequate to support mitochondrial respiration [1–3]. Warburg referred to this phenomenon as aerobic glycolysis [1]. He hypothesized that these metabolic abnormalities were due to "damage" to the tumor cell respiratory mechanism (now known to be mitochondria) and cancer cells compensated for this defect by increasing glycolysis [1]. Warburg originally proposed that cancer cells upregulated glycolysis to compensate for a deficit in ATP production due to compromised oxidative phosphorylation and hypoxic microenvironments [1]. However, conflicting evidence regarding Warburg's hypothesis involving ATP deficits in transformed cells has limited the utility of these concepts in enhancing cancer therapy.

2.3 Glucose Metabolism and Detoxification of Hydroperoxides

Several studies have focused on alternative mechanisms contributing to the Warburg effect [4–7]. Of particular interest is glycolysis' role in the detoxification of hydroperoxides. Glycolysis plays an important role as a source of electrons for energy metabolism in cells under normal steady-state conditions. However, glucose metabolism also plays a major role in the detoxification of hydroperoxides produced as byproducts of O, metabolism [8–12]. The major pathways of glucose

metabolism following the formation of glucose 6-phosphate (via the action of hexokinase) include glycolysis and the pentose phosphate cycle [13]. Glycolysis results in the formation of pyruvate (PYR) and the pentose phosphate pathway results in the regeneration of NADPH from NADP+ [13]. PYR, in addition to being a substrate for energy metabolism via the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and mito-chondrial oxidative phosphorylation, has been shown to scavenge H_2O_2 and other hydroperoxides directly [8, 11, 12]. NADPH, by virtue of being the source of reducing equivalents for the glutathione and thioredoxin antioxidant system, has also been shown to participate in the detoxification of H_2O_2 and organic hydroperoxides [14, 15]. Therefore, glucose metabolism appears to be integrally related to the detoxification of intracellular hydroperoxides. In fact, increasing glucose concentrations up to 10–20 mM in tissue culture media has been shown to render cells resistant to H_2O_2 -induced cytotoxicity [10].

Given that glucose metabolism appears to be involved with the detoxification of intracellular hydroperoxides and other investigators have suggested that cancer cells demonstrate increased intracellular hydroperoxide production [16], we proposed tumor cells may increase the metabolism of glucose to compensate for increased intracellular hydroperoxides caused by a defect in mitochondrial respiration [17]. Furthermore, we proposed that therapeutic interventions designed to inhibit glucose metabolism and hydroperoxide detoxification combined with manipulations that increase prooxidant production would preferentially kill tumor cells versus normal cells via oxidative stress [17, 18].

2.4 PI3K/Akt Signaling Pathway

The Akt pathway has garnered significant interest in HNSCC research given that increased Akt activity accounts for up to 60% of all HNSCC [19, 20]. Akt is a member of a serine-threonine specific kinase family in mammalian cells [21–24] and Akt is able to activate and deactivate many downstream targets involved in key cellular processes such as cell growth, survival, cell cycle progression, and metabolism [25, 26].

Signaling through the Akt pathway can start at the cell membrane from the binding of ligands with their receptor, which include human epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2/neu, or ErbB-2) [27]. The receptors are activated which then activate phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), which converts phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) into phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP₃) [28, 29]. Akt and phosphoinositidedependent kinase 1 (PDK1) are recruited to the plasma membrane by binding to PIP₃ via their pleckstrin homology (PH) domains [30]. After localizing to the membrane, Akt is phosphorylated at Thr 308 and Ser 473 by PDK1 and PDK2 also known as mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2), respectively [30]. Activated Akt can then go on to activate or deactivate many downstream proteins which control cell proliferation and survival. Akt activity is negatively regulated by the tumor suppressor gene PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10), which acts as a phosphatase to dephosphorylate PIP_3 back to PIP_2 [31]. PTEN inhibits the ability of Akt to be localized to the cell membrane [32–34]. Without this localization, Akt activation decreases, along with all the other downstream pathways that depend on Akt for activation [32–34].

2.5 Role of Akt Signaling in Glycolysis

Akt hyperactivation is believed to be associated with increased rates of glucose metabolism observed in tumor cells [35–37]. Akt signaling exerts a direct influence on glycolysis in cancer cells by several mechanisms. Akt has been shown to regulate the localization of the glucose transporter GLUT1 to the plasma membrane [38–42] and regulate hexokinase expression, activity, and mitochondrial interaction [43–45]. In addition, Akt may indirectly activate the glycolysis rate-controlling enzyme phospho-fructokinase-1 (PFK1) by directly phosphorylating phosphofructokinase-2 (PFK2) [46], which produces the product, fructose-2.6-bisphosphate (Fru-1,6-P2), which is the most potent allosteric activator of PFK1. In support of these findings, the activity of Akt was found to be correlated to the degree of glycolysis [36]. In addition, activation of Akt signaling in glioblastoma cells previously without constitutive Akt activity stimulated a high level of aerobic glycolysis without increasing oxygen consumption [36].

From these observations, it is clear that Akt activation causes an increase in glycolysis in cancer cells, and this may be the key step in the metabolic transformation of cells to increase glycolysis (originally observed by Warburg) in the development of cancer. This was supported by work showing that lymphoma cells with mitochondrial respiration defects lead to activation of the Akt pathway but not in the parental cells lacking mitochondrial respiration defects [47]. Therefore, the increased glycolytic rates observed by Warburg in cancer cells exhibiting mitochondrial respiration malfunction compared to normal cells may involve activation of the Akt pathway.

2.6 Role of EGFR Signaling in Glycolysis

There is also a strong relationship between EGFR and glucose metabolism. High concentrations of epidermal growth factor (EGF) have been shown to increase glucose consumption and cause selective cytotoxicity in MDA-468 human breast cancer cells, a cancer cell line over expressing EGFR, compared to MCF-7 breast cancer cells, which have a very low expression of EGFR [48]. EGFR may additionally influence with glucose metabolism as it has been found that the physical presence of EGFR within the membrane stabilizes the sodium glucose cotransporter (SGLT1) that may cause increased glucose consumption by EGFR over expression independent of EGFR signaling initiation [49].

2.7 Role of Glucose Metabolism and Oxidative Stress in Akt Pathway Signaling

Since glucose metabolism appears to play an important role in hydroperoxide detoxification then therapeutic interventions designed to inhibit glucose metabolism would be expected to increase prooxidant production and cytotoxicity in cancer cells. Furthermore, if increased Akt pathway signaling is correlated with increased rates of glucose metabolism observed in cancer cells versus normal cells, then the inhibition of Akt pathway signaling would be expected to inhibit glycolysis and increase hydroperoxide production which would preferentially kill tumor cells versus normal cells via oxidative stress. Based on these assumptions, the combination of Akt pathway inhibitors with glycolytic inhibitors and/or manipulations that increase prooxidant production should further and preferentially cause cytotoxicity in cancer cells, with minimal to no toxicity to normal cells.

The preliminary studies presented here were designed to determine:

- 1. If inhibition of EGFR, PI3K, and Akt signaling inhibited glucose consumption.
- 2. If inhibition of EGFR, PI3K, and Akt signaling induced oxidative stress.
- 3. If the glycolytic inhibitor, 2-deoxyglucose (2DG), would enhance the cytotoxicity induced by Akt pathway inhibitors via metabolic oxidative stress.

To accomplish these goals, we performed select experiments in FaDu and Cal-27 human head and neck squamous carcinoma cells.

2.7.1 Materials and Methods

2.7.1.1 Cells and Culture Conditions

FaDu and Cal-27 human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA) and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 4 mM L-glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1.5 g/L sodium bicarbonate, and 4.5 g/L glucose with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Hyclone, Logan, UT). Cultures were maintained in 5% CO_2 and humidified in a 37°C incubator.

2.7.1.2 Drug Treatment

2-Deoxy-D-glucose (2DG), *N*-acetyl cysteine (NAC), LY294002 (LY), and Lbuthionine-[S,R]-sulfoximine (BSO) were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO). Perifosine (PER) was obtained from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI). Erlotinib (ERL) was obtained from OSI Pharmaceuticals (Long Island, NY). All drugs were used without further purification. Drugs were added to cells at a final concentration of 20 mM 2DG, 20 mM NAC, 5 μ M LY, 1.0 mM BSO, 5 μ M PER, and 10 μ M ERL. 2DG and BSO were dissolved in PBS. NAC was dissolved in 1 M sodium bicarbonate (pH 7.0). LY, ERL, and PER were each dissolved in DMSO then diluted with 0.9% sodium chloride (Hospira, Lake Forest, IL). The required volume was added directly to complete cell culture media on cells to achieve the desired final concentrations. All cells were placed in a 37°C incubator and harvested at the time points indicated.

2.7.1.3 Glucose Consumption

FaDu cells (100,000) were plated and grown for 24 h prior to treatment with 20 mM 2DG, 5 μ M LY (LY5), 5 μ M PER, or 10 μ M EDRL for 24 h. Glucose levels were measured on 20 μ L samples with an ACCU-CHEK[®] Aviva glucometer (Roche; Mannheim, Germany) before and after 24 h of drug treatment.

2.7.1.4 Glutathione Assay

Following treatment, medium was collected and centrifuged to harvest floating cells, and attached cells were scrape harvested in ice-cold PBS and centrifuged at 4°C, the supernatant was discarded, the cell pellets were transferred to 1.5 mL tubes, and frozen at 20°C until biochemical analysis was performed. Cell pellets were thawed and homogenized in 50 mM PO₄ buffer (pH 7.8) containing 1.34 mmol/L diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DETAPAC) buffer. Total glutathione content was determined by the method of Anderson [50]. GSH and GSSG were distinguished by the addition of 2 μ L of a 1:1 mixture of 2-vinylpyridine and ethanol per 30 μ L of sample followed by incubation for 1 h and assayed as described previously [51]. All glutathione determinations were normalized to the protein content of whole homogenates using the method of Lowry et al. [52].

2.7.1.5 Clonogenic Cell Survival Experiments

Floating cells in medium from the experimental dishes were collected and combined with the attached cells from the same dish that were trypsinized with 1 mL trypsin–EDTA (CellGro, Herndon, VA) and inactivated with DMEM containing 10% FBS (Hyclone). The cells were diluted and counted using a Coulter counter. Cells were plated at low density (300–1,000 per plate), and clones were allowed to grow in a humidified 5% CO₂, 37°C environment for 14 days in complete medium, and in the presence of 0.1% gentamicin. Cells were fixed with 70% ethanol and stained with Coomassie blue for analysis of clonogenic cell survival as previously described [53]. Individual assays were performed with multiple dilutions with at least four cloning dishes per data point.

2.7.1.6 Thioredoxin Reductase Activity Assay

Thioredoxin reductase (TR) activity was determined spectrophotometrically using the method of Holmgren and Bjornstedt [54]. Enzymatic activity was determined by subtracting the time-dependent increase in absorbance at 412 nm in the presence of TR activity inhibitor aurothioglucose from total activity. One unit of activity was defined as 1 μ M TNB formed/(min mg protein). Protein concentrations were determined by the Lowry assay [52].

2.7.1.7 NADPH Measurements

Treated cells were washed with PBS and scrape harvested in PBS at 4°C. After centrifugation at $200 \times g$ for 5 min, cell pellets were resuspended in extraction buffer containing 0.1 M Tris–HCl (pH 8.0), 0.01 M EDTA, and 0.05% (v/v) Triton X-100. The cell suspension was sonicated at a duty cycle of 34% (Sonics Vibracell, VC750) in ice water. The solution was centrifuged at 2,300 × g for 5 min. The supernatants were collected and analyzed immediately for NADPH as described previously [55]. Results were obtained by comparison with a standard curve using genuine NADPH and normalized per milligram of cellular protein.

2.7.1.8 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was done using GraphPad Prism version 4 for Windows (GraphPad Software San Diego, CA). To determine differences between three or more means, one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni posttests were performed. Two-way ANOVA was used to determine differences over different time points and treatment groups. Error bars represent ±1 standard deviation. All statistical analysis was performed at the p < 0.05 level of significance.

2.7.2 Results

2.7.2.1 Effect of Akt Pathway Inhibitors on Glucose Metabolism

In order to determine if Akt pathway inhibitors would affect glucose metabolism in cancer cells, we used the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 (LY), the Akt inhibitor perifosine (PER), and the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib (ERL) and compared their effects on glucose consumption to that of the glycolytic inhibitor 2-deoxyglucose (2DG) in FaDu human head and neck cancer cells (Fig. 2.1). We found that 5 μ M LY (LY5), 5 μ M PER, and 10 μ M ERL were all able to inhibit glucose consumption in FaDu cells compared to untreated control cells over a 24 h period (Fig. 2.1). We have also duplicated these results in other head and neck cancer cell lines such as Cal-27,



Fig. 2.1 Glucose consumption in FaDu cells. 100,000 FaDu cells were plated and grown for 24 h prior to treatment with 5 μ M LY294002 (LY5), 5 μ M perifosine (PER), 10 μ M Erlotinib (ERL), or 20 mM 2-deoxyglucose (2DG) for 24 h. Glucose levels were measured with a glucometer before and after 24 h of drug treatment. *Error bars* represent ±1 SD of at least *N*=3 experiments. **p*<0.05 versus time 0 h

SCC-25, and SQ20B cells (data not shown). These results suggest that EGFR/PI3K/ Akt pathway inhibitors do in fact inhibit glucose consumption and they do so just as well as 2DG, suggesting a possible role of glucose metabolism in all 3 of these pathways (EGFR, PI3K and Akt).

2.7.2.2 Effect of Akt Pathway Inhibitors on Oxidative Stress Parameters

We examined if oxidative stress could be contributing to the effects of EGFR/PI3K/ Akt pathway inhibitors by measuring glutathione (GSH/GSSG) levels in the cells. The GSH/GSSG redox couple represents a major small molecular weight thioldisulfide redox buffer in cells [56]. The amount of total GSH that was oxidized (GSSG) was used to calculate the percentage of GSSG (%GSSG). Consequently, an increase in %GSSG is believed to signify a shift toward a more highly oxidizing intracellular environment indicative of oxidative stress [56]. We analyzed %GSSG levels in FaDu cells after treatment with LY5, PER, ERL, and 2DG for 24 h. 2DG has previously been shown to disrupt glutathione metabolism and induce an increase in %GSSG in head and neck cancer cells and we were able to repeat those findings here (Fig. 2.2a, 18). We additionally observed that all agents tested induced a significant increase in %GSSG, with ERL inducing the greatest increase compared to untreated control cells (Fig. 2.2a). These results suggest that thiol oxidation was induced in these cells in response to EGFR/PI3K/Akt pathway inhibitors (Fig. 2.2a). To further investigate this phenomenon, we pretreated the cells for 1 h with 20 mM of the thiol antioxidant NAC. NAC has been previously shown to increase GSH production in FaDu cells and may function by enhancing GSH-mediated hydroperoxide metabolism [18]. NAC in combination with each agent tested, suppressed the



increase in %GSSG induced by the EGFR/PI3K/Akt pathway inhibitors and 2DG (Fig. 2.2a) in FaDu cells further supporting the role of thiol oxidation in the mechanism of Akt inhibitors.

2.7.2.3 Effect of Akt Inhibitors on Survival

To investigate the effect of EGFR/PI3K/Akt inhibitors on FaDu cell growth, cells were analyzed for clonogenic survival after 24 h of treatment with LY5, PER, ERL, and 2DG. We observed that LY5 caused a slight decrease in survival but PER, ERL, and 2DG significantly decreased survival in FaDu cells compared to control (p<0.01, Fig. 2.2b). These results show that EGFR/PI3K/Akt inhibitors are able to induce varying degrees of cytotoxicity in FaDu head and neck cancer cells. When we analyzed the effect of NAC on the cytotoxicity induced by these agents, NAC partially but significantly rescued the cytotoxicity induced by PER, and completely rescued the cytotoxicity in FaDu cells, but we have shown in other studies that antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT)



Fig. 2.3 Effect of buthionine sulfoximine (BSO) on LY294002 (LY5)-induced toxicity (**a**), total glutathione (**b**), and percentage of glutathione disulfide (**c**) in FaDu head and neck cancer cells. (**a**) FaDu cells were treated with 5 μ M LY5 for 24 h with or without treatment with 1 mM BSO for 1 h before and during LY5 exposure. Clonogenic cell survival data were normalized to control (CON). *Error bars* represent ±1 SD of N=3 experiments performed on different days with at least four cloning dishes taken from one treatment dish. (**b**, **c**) Cells were treated as stated above and harvested for total glutathione (GSH) levels (**b**) and percentage glutathione disulfide (%GSSG) levels (**c**) using the spectrophotometric recycling assay. *Error bars* represent ±1 SD of N=3 experiments. *p<0.001 versus control; ${}^{*}p < 0.05$ versus respective treatment without BSO

were able to completely rescue 2DG-induced cytotoxicity [18]. It is also worth mentioning that pretreating FaDu cells with exogenous glucose prior to drug treatment was also able to rescue the cytotoxicity induced by LY5, PER, ERL, and 2DG (data not shown). Taken together, Fig. 2.2 supports the hypothesis that the EGFR/PI3K/Akt inhibitors induce disruptions in thiol metabolism consistent with oxidative stress, which was reversed by NAC, and EGFR/PI3K/Akt inhibitor-induced cytotoxicity in FaDu cells may be due in part to increases in oxidative stress and the inhibition of glucose metabolism.

2.7.2.4 PER-Induced Cytotoxicity Is Enhanced by Buthionine Sulfoximine

To further probe the involvement of thiol metabolism in the mechanism of Akt pathway inhibition, an inhibitor of GSH synthesis, BSO, was used in combination with LY294002 in FaDu and Cal-27 cells. Pretreatment of cells with 1 mM BSO sensitized both cell lines to LY294002 (Fig. 2.3a), which was associated with



Fig. 2.4 Effect of 2-deoxyglucose (2DG) in combination with LY294002 (LY5) on cytotoxicity (**a**), thioredoxin reductase activity (**b**), percentage glutathione disulfide levels (%GSSG) levels (**c**), and NADPH levels (**d**) in FaDu and Cal-27 head and neck cancer cells. Cells were treated with 5 μ M LY5 and/or 20 mM 2DG for 24 h with or without treatment with 20 mM NAC for 1 h before and during LY5 exposure. Clonogenic survival data were normalized to control (CON). *Error bars* represent ±1 SD of *N*=3 experiments performed on different days with at least two cloning dishes taken from one treatment dish. **p*<0.05 versus control; ***p*<0.001 versus 2DG or LY5

depletion of GSH (Fig. 2.3b) and significant increases in %GSSG (Fig. 2.3c). These results suggest that BSO is enhancing LY294002-induced oxidative stress by limiting hydroperoxide metabolism through the GSH antioxidant system. Overall, the results in Figs. 2.2 and 2.3 strongly suggest that LY294002 is inducing oxidative stress via disruptions in thiol metabolism in our head and neck cancer cell model.

2.7.2.5 2DG-Induced Sensitization to LY294002

Since we observed that both 2DG and LY294002 (LY5) inhibited glucose consumption and increased thiol oxidation, we next determined the effects of 2DG in combination with LY5 in FaDu and Cal-27 cells. The cells were treated with 20 mM 2DG in combination with LY5 for 24 h and then analyzed for clonogenicity (Fig. 2.4a), %GSSG (Fig. 2.4c), thioredoxin reductase (TR, Fig. 2.4b), and NADPH levels (Fig. 2.4d). LY5 caused no significant decrease in clonogenicity as a single agent in either cell line but significant sensitization was observed with 2DG in combination with LY5 compared to either agent alone in FaDu cells (Fig. 2.4a). In addition, %GSSG increased profoundly when treated with 2DG in combination with LY5 (Fig. 2.4c), which suggests that 2DG sensitized FaDu cells to LY5 by increasing



Fig. 2.5 Effect of *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) and pyruvate (PYR) on 2-deoxyglucose (2DG) and LY294002 (LY5)-induced cytotoxicity in FaDu (**a**) and Cal-27 (**b**) human head and neck cancer cells. Cells were treated with 5 μ M LY5 and/or 20 mM 2DG for 24 h with or without treatment with 20 mM NAC (**a**) or 1 mM PYR (**b**) for 1 h before and during LY5 exposure. Clonogenic survival data were normalized to control (CON). *Error bars* represent ±1 SD of *N*=3 experiments performed on different days with at least two cloning dishes taken from one treatment dish. *p<0.05 versus control; **p<0.001 versus 2DG+LY5

thiol oxidation. Since the thioredoxin (TRX) antioxidant system is another major antioxidant system in the cell [54], we analyzed TR activity to determine if the TRX system was a target in 2DG+LY5-induced cytotoxicity. TR catalyzes the reduction of TRX using NADPH as a reducing agent [54]. We observed a dramatic increase in TR activity in response to 2DG and 2DG+LY5 (Fig. 2.4b) suggesting that TR activity was being increased to counteract the increase in oxidative stress induced by 2DG+LY5 in FaDu cells.

Although 2DG only slightly enhanced sensitivity of Cal-27 cells to LY5, 2DG as a single agent was very effective at causing cytotoxicity, while inducing %GSSG and TR activity in Cal-27 cells compared to FaDu cells (Fig. 2.4a). Furthermore, NADPH levels in Cal-27 cells were significantly decreased in response to 2DG and/ or LY5 suggesting that in addition to glucose metabolism being inhibited, pentose phosphate cycle activity was also being inhibited by 2DG and/or LY5 (Fig. 2.4d).

To follow up on these observations, we determined if the cell killing seen with 2DG in combination with LY5 could be mediated by oxidative stress in both FaDu and Cal-27 cells. The cells were treated with 20 mM 2DG and/or 5 μ M LY5 for 24 h with or without 20 mM NAC, for 1 h before and during 2DG and LY5 exposure. We show in Fig. 2.5a that NAC partially but significantly protected FaDu cells from the cytotoxicity associated with 2DG+LY5. Treatment of Cal-27 cells with NAC was cytotoxic to these cells and we therefore pretreated the cells with the antioxidant pyruvate (PYR) which is also a byproduct of glycolysis. PYR was able to significantly protect Cal-27 cells from 2DG+LY5-induced cytotoxicity (Fig. 2.5b).

The overall data support the hypothesis that inhibition of glycolysis with 2DG or Akt pathway inhibitors induced metabolic oxidative stress in head and neck cancer cells. Furthermore, since the thiol antioxidant NAC and PYR inhibited the cytotoxicity associated with 2DG+LY5, these results suggest that a causal relationship exists between Akt pathway inhibition, inhibition of glucose metabolism, metabolic oxidative stress, and enhanced cancer cell killing.

2.8 EGFR/PI3K/Akt Pathway in Tumorigenesis

Alterations in the Akt pathway can lead to abnormal cell signaling, leading to cell proliferation, differentiation, survival, and/or migration. The result of such uncontrolled cell signaling promotes the acquisition of a cancerous phenotype. Although Akt gene mutations are rare in human cancer, several studies have shown Akt amplifications in human ovarian, pancreas, breast, and gastric malignant tumors [57–60]. It is possible that Akt gene amplification may lead to increased response to ambient levels of growth factors. However, gene amplification of PI3K has been reported in glioblastoma, human ovarian, cervical, and gastric cancers [27, 57, 61–65] and also represents about 40% of early genomic aberrations observed in HNSCC [20].

PTEN, the negative regulator of Akt activation, has been shown to be frequently deleted or mutated in a wide variety of human tumors notably in glioblastoma, prostate, endometrial cancers, and HNSCC [27, 65–74]. PTEN acts as a tumor suppressor gene, and in addition to p53, it is one of the most important tumor suppressor proteins [75, 76]. Over expression of PTEN has been shown to inhibit cell growth and enhance apoptosis in different cancer types and is also thought to be a prognostic indicator of clinical outcome [77].

Alterations upstream of the Akt pathway are also able to lead to Akt activation. For example, receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), the initiating signaling elements of the Akt pathway, are highly activated and dysregulated due to over expression, truncation, or mutation in certain cancer types [78–80]. Of particular interest are the members of the EGFR family (also known as Erb B tyrosine kinase receptors), which include EGFR (ErbB-1), HER2/neu (ErbB-2), HER3 (ErbB-3), and HER4 (ErbB-4), which have been linked to the development and growth of up to 90% of HNSCC tumors [81]. EGFR, which exists on the cell surface, may be activated by binding of specific ligands such as EGF and transforming growth factor (TGF α). Upon activation, EGFR transitions from an inactive monomeric form to an active homodimer. EGFR may also dimerize with other EGFR family members to form an activated homodimer [78]. ErbB-2 containing heterodimers are potent activators of the Akt pathway, and tumors overexpressing ErbB-2 show constitutive Akt activity [78].

EGFR gene amplification is one of the predominant mechanisms leading to EGFR overexpression in tumors [82]. Other mechanisms of EGFR overexpression include increased activation of EGFR with its ligands, most notably TGF α , which is frequently observed in HNSCC, and the expression of mutant forms of EGFR. As a result, EGFR overexpression leads to an increase in its kinase activity by spontaneous dimerization and the activation of downstream signaling pathways which include the Akt pathway [82–86]. In addition, EGFR overexpression has been shown to be correlated with decreased sensitivity to chemotherapy and radiation, and increased risk of recurrence [87].

Resistance to many therapeutic agents may be associated with Akt hyperactivity, as seen, for example, with EGFR signaling inhibitors and in the case of head and neck cancer, cisplatin [88, 89]. Thus, inhibition of the Akt pathway is an attractive

therapeutic strategy and has potential in monotherapy and in combination with existing therapies. The preliminary studies presented here demonstrate that the mechanism of action of various agents that result in the inhibition of Akt pathway signaling (i.e., PI3K, Akt and EGFR inhibitors) involves inhibition of glucose metabolism and the induction of metabolic oxidative stress in head and neck cancer cells. In our studies, we used the PI3K inhibitor LY5 (LY), the Akt inhibitor perifosine (PER), and the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib (ERL) and compared their effects on glucose consumption to that of the well-known glycolytic inhibitor 2DG in FaDu human head and neck cancer cells.

2.9 Effect of EGFR/PI3K/Akt Pathway Inhibitors on Glucose Metabolism

LY is a derivative of the flavonoid quercetin and is a commonly used pharmacological inhibitor of PI3K in vitro [31, 90]. LY acts by targeting the ATP binding site in the p110 catalytic subunit of PI3K which in most cases results in the inhibition of Akt activity [31, 90]. We found that 5 μ M LY (LY5) was able to inhibit glucose consumption in FaDu cells compared to untreated control cells over a 24 h period (Fig. 2.1). In support of these findings, LY was found to decrease hexokinase activity in murine blastocysts [91] and inhibit GLUT1 mRNA and protein expression in human pancreatic cancer cells [92], both of which may be the mechanisms of action responsible for our observed results.

PER is a synthetic alkylphospholipid which inhibits translocation of Akt to the cell membrane preventing Akt's activation [93–96]. PER is the most developed and best characterized Akt inhibitor to date and has shown in phase I trials to be tolerable with the dose-limiting toxicity being gastrointestinal toxicity [97–102]. PER as a single agent has shown favorable responses in patients with advanced soft tissue sarcomas [99] and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia [103]. However, responses to PER in patients with common solid tumors have been disappointing and have not justified the further investigation of PER as a single agent. Inhibition of Akt with 5 μ M PER was also able to inhibit glucose consumption in FaDu cells compared to control cells (Fig. 2.1). As mentioned before, Akt is able to induce the expression of hexokinase, which catalyzes the first step of glycolysis and is able to activate the most important rate-controlling enzyme in glycolysis – phosphofructokinase-1 [43–46]. Therefore, Akt seems to have multiple mechanisms for controlling glucose metabolism in cells.

Erlotinib is a small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor of EGFR [104, 105]. Erlotinib binds the intercellular ATP binding domain and prevents the autophosphorylation of EGFR and subsequent signal progression [104, 105]. Since Akt could be activated by EGFR signaling, we proposed that inhibition of EGFR with Erlotinib would inhibit signaling down the Akt pathway, thus inhibiting glucose metabolism. Figure 2.1 shows 10 μ M ERL was indeed capable of inhibiting glucose consumption in FaDu cells during 24 h of exposure. Previous results have shown that EGFR

is a stabilizer of an active glucose transporter, SGLT1, and activation of EGFR in the epithelium of intestine led to active transport of glucose [49]. Although ERL does inhibit Akt expression in FaDu cells (data not shown), it remains to be determined if ERL inhibited glucose consumption in our Fadu cells by the destabilization of SGLT1 or by the inhibition of Akt. We have duplicated these results in other head and neck cancer cell lines such as Cal-27, SCC-25, and SQ20B cells (data not shown) all of which over express Akt and EGFR.

These results all suggest that EGFR, PI3K, and Akt inhibitors do in fact inhibit glucose metabolism comparably to 2DG, which is a commonly used glycolytic inhibitor. More importantly, based on these results, increased Akt pathway signaling may have a significant role in the Warburg effect and this phenomenon may be exploited to selectively target cancer cells for the purpose of enhancing radio- and chemo-sensitivity in cancer therapy.

2.10 Redox Regulation of the Akt Pathway

Intracellular redox status plays a vital role in the reversible activation and inactivation of the Akt pathway [47, 106–109]. For example, moderate levels of ROS activate Akt pathway signaling and promote cell survival, but high or chronic oxidative stress inhibits this pathway resulting in apoptosis [47, 106–109]. Activation of the Akt pathway occurs mainly through the oxidative inactivation of Cys-dependent phosphatases (CDPs) or the direct oxidation of pathway kinases [106, 107]. For example, the phosphatase PTEN, the main phosphatase involved in the negative regulation of the Akt pathway, has been shown to be inactivated by oxidation by both H_2O_2 and nitrosylation, posttranslational modifications which would hyperactivate the Akt signaling pathway [107, 110]. Akt is also directly activated by oxidative stimuli. H_2O_2 and peroxynitrite treatments have both been shown to promote Akt activity via posttranslational modification of Akt [107, 111].

Since cancer cells are under increased metabolic oxidative stress compared to normal cells and the Akt pathway may be activated for survival under these oxidizing conditions, we proposed that inhibition of the Akt pathway would increase oxidative stress to such an extent that would render cancer cells sensitive to further increases in oxidative stress.

We investigated the effects of LY, PER, ERL, and 2DG on oxidative stress by analyzing glutathione (GSH/GSSG) levels. LY, PER, and ERL induced significant increases in %GSSG in FaDu cells compared to control cells (Fig. 2.2a) which indicated an increase in oxidative stress and suggests that inhibition of Akt may be involved in increasing oxidative stress. These results also implicate the role of glycolytic inhibition as a mechanism of action in Akt-induced oxidative stress, since 2DG was also able to induce %GSSG (Fig. 2.2a). To further support this idea, the thiol antioxidant NAC was able to completely suppress the increase in %GSSG induced by all three agents (Fig. 2.2a). In addition, NAC was able to significantly reverse the cytotoxicity induced by LY, PER, and ERL in FaDu cells suggesting that increased oxidative stress was responsible for the cytotoxicity induced by these agents (Fig. 2.2a). NAC was not able to rescue 2DG-induced cytotoxicity in FaDu cells (Fig. 2.2b), but we have shown in other studies that antioxidant enzymes such as SOD and catalase (CAT) were able to rescue 2DG-induced cytotoxicity [18]. It is also worth mentioning that pretreating FaDu cells with exogenous glucose or pyruvate prior to drug treatment was also able to rescue the cytotoxicity induced by LY5, PER, ERL, and 2DG (data not shown), suggesting that inhibition of glucose metabolism and thiol oxidation are involved in the mechanism of action of Akt inhibitors.

To further probe the role of thiol metabolism in the effects of Akt inhibitors, we used BSO, an inhibitor of glutamate cysteine ligase, which is believed to be the ratelimiting enzyme in the synthesis of GSH [112, 113]. Previous studies in our laboratory have shown that BSO significantly depleted GSH pools in breast and head and neck cancer cells while sensitizing cancer cells to chemotherapy agents [18, 114]. BSO has also been used in clinical trials for cancer therapy to enhance the cytotoxicity of chemotherapeutic agents [115]. In the present studies, BSO was found to significantly increase the cytotoxicity induced by LY in FaDu and Cal-27 cells (Fig. 2.3a). As expected, BSO significantly decreased total GSH levels (Fig. 2.3b) and increased %GSSG as a single agent and in combination with PER (Fig. 2.3c), which suggests that inhibition of GSH synthesis further enhanced the oxidative stress induced by LY and further sensitized these cells to the toxicity of LY in FaDu and Cal-27 cells.

2.11 Role of Akt Signaling and FOXO Proteins on Glycolysis

The results in Figs. 2.1-2.3 all suggest that inhibition of glucose metabolism and increased oxidative stress are involved in the inhibition of the Akt pathway. Although Akt inhibition has been shown to have direct effects on glucose metabolism by disrupting glucose transport and inhibiting enzymes involved in glycolysis, it is possible that downstream substrates of Akt may also exert an effect on glucose metabolism. For example, Akt pathway activation results in the cytoplasmic accumulation of the forkhead box O (FoxO) family of transcription factors, FOXO1 and FOXO3a, occluding these factors from the nuclear genes that they activate [116]. FOXO1 has been shown to stimulate expression of gluconeogenic genes (i.e., phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase [PEPCK] and glucose-6-phosphatase) and suppress expression of genes involved in glycolysis (i.e., glucokinase) in liver cells [117]. In addition, some of the genes that FOXO3a regulates include antioxidant enzyme genes such as MnSOD, CAT, Peroxiredoxin, Sesn3, and iNOS [111]. Since FOXO1 is involved in the suppression of glycolysis and Akt inhibits FOXO1 activity, then inhibition of Akt may stimulate FOXO1 activity, which would then suppress the expression of enzymes involved in glycolysis. In addition, inhibition of Akt and activation of FOXO3a would increase expression of target antioxidant enzymes which may be in response to the oxidative stress induced by the inhibition of Akt. Taken together, it is clear that in addition to increased metabolic oxidative stress, disruptions in glucose metabolism are directly and indirectly involved in the inhibition of Akt pathway signaling.

2.12 Effect of LY5 in Combination with 2-Deoxyglucose

The glucose analogue 2DG is a well known and clinically relevant inhibitor of glucose metabolism [118, 119]. We hypothesized that 2DG in combination with LY may act to inhibit critical aspects of thiol-mediated hydroperoxide metabolism leading to increased steady-state levels of ROS and enhanced tumor cell killing via metabolic oxidative stress. 2DG is a clinically relevant analogue of glucose that competes with glucose for uptake and entry into glucose metabolic pathways [119–122]. 2DG can therefore create a drug-induced state of glucose deprivation, although it does not completely inhibit the regeneration of NADPH from NADP+ because it is a substrate for glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase [122]. Inhibition of glucose metabolism has been observed in animals administered 2DG without toxicity until high levels (>2 g/kg body weight) were achieved [120], and 2DG has been shown to be tolerable in humans when administered up to 200 mg/kg [123].

We predicted that the combination of 2DG and LY would have an additive and possibly synergistic effect on clonogenic cell killing in FaDu and Cal-27 human head and neck squamous carcinoma cells by enhancing metabolic oxidative stress. Accordingly, treatment with 2DG has been shown to induce cytotoxicity, significant increases in prooxidant production, and profound disruptions in thiol metabolism in head and neck cancer, colon, breast, cervical, and prostate cancer cells, suggesting that oxidative stress was involved with the mechanism of action [5, 17, 55, 114, 124, 125].

In the current study, we found that the combination of 2DG and LY showed at least additive (and possibly more than additive) cell killing in FaDu cells compared with 2DG or LY alone (Fig. 2.4a). However, Cal-27 cells were more resistant to LY, and 2DG+LY-induced cell killing was only slightly increased compared to 2DG alone (Fig. 2.4a). These observations in Cal-27 cells suggest that 2DG is more cytotoxic in this cell line compared to FaDu and that the cytotoxicity we see with 2DG+LY in Cal-27 is mostly due to 2DG (Fig. 2.4a).

The increase in %GSSG induced by 2DG + LY (Fig. 2.4c) compared to control in both cell lines suggests that oxidative stress is involved. 2DG alone seemed to cause the greatest increase in %GSSG in Cal-27 cells which again indicates that 2DG is more effective in this cell line (Fig. 2.4b). Nevertheless, we believe that 2DG and the combination of 2DG + LY cause an increase in steady-state levels of hydroperoxides and this increase exceeds the metabolic capabilities of the glutathione system to maintain glutathione in the reduced form.

To further determine the role of 2DG and LY on hydroperoxide metabolism, we investigated the thioredoxin (TRX) antioxidant system. The TRX system is a highly conserved, ubiquitous system composed of thioredoxin reductase (TR), thioredoxin

(TRX), thioredoxin peroxidases (a.k.a. peroxiredoxins) and NADPH [126]. The TRX system plays an important role in the redox regulation of multiple intracellular processes and resistance to cytotoxic agents that induce oxidative stress [127, 128]. TrxRed is a selenocysteine-containing protein that catalyzes the reduction of Trx using NADPH as a reducing agent [126]. TrxRed has been shown to initiate signaling pathways in response to oxidative stress that play a role in protecting the cell from oxidative stress and is therefore believed to be a potential target for cytotoxic agents that induce oxidative stress [127, 129, 130].

We observed that 2DG and LY alone and in combination increased TR activity in both cell lines, with the greatest effects observed in FaDu cells (Fig. 2.4b). Again 2DG alone was more effective in Cal-27 cells by showing the greatest increase in TR activity compared to the other treatment groups (Fig. 2.4b). These results suggest that TR activity may be increased in response to the oxidative stress induced by 2DG and/or Akt pathway inhibitors. In addition, inhibition of glucose metabolism with 2DG and/or Akt pathway inhibitors may induce oxidative stress by disrupting glutathione and thioredoxin metabolism.

We next measured NADPH levels in Cal-27 cells since NADPH is the source of reducing equivalents for the glutathione and thioredoxin antioxidant systems [9, 12, 15]. We observed that 2DG and/or LY greatly decreased NADPH levels with 2DG+LY causing the greatest decrease in NADPH compared to the other treatment groups (Fig. 2.4d). The results in Fig. 2.4 suggest that inhibition of glucose metabolism with 2DG and LY inhibited the pentose phosphate cycle resulting in decreased NADPH, increased %GSSG, and increased TR activity.

Finally, to further demonstrate that oxidative stress was involved in 2DG+LY-induced cytotoxicity, we show that NAC significantly protected FaDu cells from 2DG+LY-induced cytotoxicity (Fig. 2.5a). Since NAC was very toxic in Cal-27 cells in the presence of 2DG, we treated these cells with pyruvate (PYR). Pyruvate, in addition to being a substrate for energy metabolism via the TCA cycle and mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, has been shown to scavenge H_2O_2 and other hydroperoxides directly [8, 11, 12]. We observed that PYR did protect Cal-27 cells from 2DG+LY-induced cytotoxicity (Fig. 2.5b). This protection with PYR has also been observed in other head and neck cancer cells (unpublished data).

2.13 Rationale for Glucose Consumption and Oxidative Stress in Akt Signaling

Overall, the data provided here suggest that inhibition of glucose metabolism and increased intracellular oxidative stress contributes to the toxicity of Akt pathway inhibitors, which is similar to the mechanism of actions observed for 2DG. The results also suggest that manipulating intracellular redox levels (i.e., glutathione) may affect cellular responses to LY and other Akt inhibitors. The scheme shown in Fig. 2.6 illustrates some of the hypothetical relationships between glucose metabolism,



Fig. 2.6 Hypothetical biochemical rationale to explain the role that Akt plays in glucose metabolism and hydrogen peroxide metabolism. The activated form of Akt (pAkt) activates glycolysis by direct and indirect mechanisms thereby increasing glucose transport into the cell and hexokinase activity allowing for the phosphorylation of glucose to glucose-6-phosphate (Glucose-6-P). Glucose-6-phosphate continues into glycolysis to form pyruvate, a known scavenger of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) . Glucose-6-P proceeds through the first step in the pentose phosphate cycle via glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G-6-PDH) to 6-phosphogluconolactone leading to the generation of NADPH from NADP+. NADPH is a source of reducing equivalents for the glutathione system consisting of GSH, GSSG, glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and glutathione reductase (GR) and the thioredoxin system consisting of reduced thioredoxin (Trx(SH)₂), thioredoxin disulfide $(Trx(S_2))$, thioredoxin peroxidase (TPx), and thioredoxin reductase (TrxR). The glutathione and thioredoxin systems participate in the detoxification of H₂O₂ and organic hydroperoxides. 2-Deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) competes with glucose for uptake into the cell and phosphorylation by hexokinase into 2-deoxy-D-glucose-6-phosphate (2DG-6-P). 2DG-6-P is unable to continue down the glycolytic pathway but is able to proceed through the first step in the pentose phosphate cycle via G-6-PDH to 6-phospho-2-deoxygluconolactone. 6-Phospho-2-deoxygluconolactone cannot go further in the pentose phosphate cycle. Agents that inhibit Akt signaling (i.e., EGFR, PI3K, or Akt inhibitors) are also able to inhibit glycolysis. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) converts superoxide (O_2^{-}) to H_2O_2 , which is converted to H_2O by catalase (CAT) or GPx. N-Acetyl-cysteine (NAC) provides cysteine which reacts with L-glutamate catalyzed by glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL, inhibited by L-buthionine-[S,R]-sulfoximine [BSO]) to form a-glutamyl-cysteine. Glutathione synthetase (GS) converts ã-glutamyl-cysteine into GSH

ROS metabolism, Akt pathway inhibitors, and antioxidants suggested by the results of the current study. Inhibiting glucose metabolism with Akt pathway inhibitors and/or 2DG in cancer cells is hypothesized to limit the production of pyruvate and the regeneration of NADPH leading to increased steady-state levels of H_2O_2 and hydroperoxides from metabolic sources resulting in cytotoxicity. BSO is thought to further enhance the toxicity of Akt pathway inhibitors by inhibiting the synthesis of GSH that is required for GSH peroxidases and GSH transferases, both of which are believed to protect against oxidative stress. Finally, the antioxidants NAC and PYR are able to protect against LY and 2DG+LY by acting to augment small molecular weight intracellular thiols that are capable of scavenging toxic species and by directly scavenging H₂O₂ and other hydroperoxides directly, respectively.

Overall, the results of this study support the hypothesis that Akt pathway inhibitors disrupt glucose metabolism and induce metabolic oxidative stress in head and neck cancer cells. These data also strongly support the potential therapeutic use of Akt pathway inhibitors in combination with chemotherapeutic agents that increase prooxidant production, as well as the new biochemical rationale shown in Fig. 2.6 for combining Akt pathway inhibitors and inhibitors of glucose and hydroperoxide metabolism for enhancing the cytotoxicity of anticancer agents thought to cause injury via oxidative stress.

References

- 1. Warburg O (1956) On the origin of cancer cells. Science 123:309-314
- 2. Weber G (1977) Enzymology of cancer cells (first of 2 parts). New Engl J Med 296:486–492
- 3. Weber G (1977) Enzymology of cancer cells (second of 2 parts). New Engl J Med 296:541–551
- 4. Galoforo SS, Berns CM, Erdos G et al (1996) Hypoglycemia-induced AP-1 transcription factor and basic fibroblast growth factor gene expression in multidrug resistant human breast carcinoma MCF-7/ADR cells. Mol Cell Biochem 155:163–171
- Lee YJ, Galoforo SS, Berns CM et al (1997) Glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity in drug resistant human breast carcinoma MCF-7/ADR cells: role of c-myc and bcl-2 in apoptotic cell death. J Cell Sci 110:681–686
- Gupta AK, Lee YJ, Galoforo SS et al (1997) Differential effect of glucose deprivation on MAPK activation in drug sensitive human breast carcinoma MCF-7 and multidrug resistant MCF-7/ADR cells. Mol Cell Biochem 170:23–30
- Liu X, Gupta AK, Corry PM et al (1997) Hypoglycemia-induced c-Jun phosphorylation is mediated by c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 and Lyn kinase in drug resistant human breast carcinoma MCF-7/ADR cells. J Biol Chem 272:11690–11693
- 8. Nath KA, Ngo EO, Hebbel RP et al (1995) α -Ketoacids scavenge H_2O_2 in vitro and in vivo and reduce menadione-induced DNA injury and cytotoxicity. Am J Physiol 268:227–236
- Tuttle SW, Varnes ME, Mitchell JB et al (1992) Sensitivity to chemical oxidants and radiation in CHO cell lines deficient in oxidative pentose cycle activity. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 22:671–675
- Averill-Bates DA, Przybytkowski E (1994) The role of glucose in cellular defences against cytotoxicity of hydrogen peroxide in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 312:52–58
- Wang X, Perez E, Liu R et al (2007) Pyruvate protects mitochondria from oxidative stress in human neuroblastoma SK-N-SH cells. Brain Res 1132:1–9
- Das UN (2006) Pyruvate is an endogenous anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant molecule. Med Sci Monit 12:79–84
- 13. Lehninger AL (1975) Biochemistry: the molecular basis of cell structure and function, 2nd edn. Worth Publishers, New York
- 14. Berggren MI, Husbeck B, Samulitis B et al (2001) Thioredoxin peroxidase-1 (peroxiredoxin-1) is increased in thioredoxin-1 transfected cells and results in enhanced protection against apoptosis caused by hydrogen peroxide but not by other agents including dexamethasone, etoposide, and doxorubicin. Arch Biochem Biophys 392:103–109

- 2 The Role of Akt Pathway Signaling in Glucose...
 - Nomura K, Imai H, Koumura T et al (1999) Mitochondrial phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase suppresses apoptosis mediated by a mitochondrial death pathway. J Biol Chem 274:29294–29302
 - Szatrowski TP, Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res 51:794–798
 - Spitz DR, Sim JE, Ridnour LA et al (2000) Glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress in human tumor cells. A fundamental defect in metabolism? Ann N Y Acad Sci 899:349–362
 - Simons AL, Ahmad IM, Mattson DM et al (2007) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) combined with cisplatin enhances cytotoxicity via metabolic oxidative stress in human head and neck cancer cells. Cancer Res 67:3364–3370
 - Amornphimoltham P, Sriuranpong V, Patel V et al (2004) Persistent activation of the Akt pathway in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a potential target for UCN-01. Clin Cancer Res 10:4029–4037
 - Pedrero JM, Carracedo DG, Pinto CM et al (2005) Frequent genetic and biochemical alterations of the PI 3-K/AKT/PTEN pathway in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer 114:242–248
 - Jones PF, Jakubowicz T, Hemmings BA (1991) Molecular cloning of a second form of rac protein kinase. Cell Regul 2:1001–1009
 - 22. Cheng JQ, Godwin AK, Bellacosa A et al (1992) AKT2, a putative oncogene encoding a member of a subfamily of protein-serine/threonine kinases, is amplified in human ovarian carcinomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:9267–9271
 - Brodbeck D, Cron P, Hemmings BA (1999) A human protein kinase B with regulatory phosphorylation sites in the activation loop and in the C-terminal hydrophobic domain. J Biol Chem 274:9133–9136
 - 24. Coffer PJ, Woodgett JR (1991) Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel putative protein-serine kinase related to the cAMP-dependent and protein kinase C families. Eur J Biochem 201:475–481
 - 25. Brazil DP, Hemmings BA (2001) Ten years of protein kinase B signalling: a hard Akt to follow. Trends Biochem Sci 26:657–664
 - Song G, Ouyang G, Bao S (2005) The activation of Akt/PKB signaling pathway and cell survival. J Cell Mol Med 9:59–71
 - Vivanco I, Sawyers CL (2002) The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2:489–501
 - Katso R, Okkenhaug K, Ahmadi K et al (2001) Cellular function of phosphoinositide 3kinases: implications for development, homeostasis, and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17:615–675
 - Vanhaesebroeck B, Waterfield MD (1999) Signaling by distinct classes of phosphoinositide 3-quinces. Exp Cell Res 253:239–254
 - Alessi DR, Cohen P (1998) Mechanism of activation and function of protein kinase B. Curr Opin Genet Dev 8:55–62
 - Sanchez-Margalet V, Goldfine ID, Vlahos CJ et al (1994) Role of phosphatidylinositol-3kinase in insulin receptor signaling: studies with inhibitor, LY294002. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 204:446–452
 - Myers MP, Tonks NK (1997) PTEN: sometimes taking it off can be better than putting it on. Am J Hum Genet 61:1234–3128
 - Cantley LC, Neel BG (1999) New insights into tumor suppression: PTEN suppresses tumor formation by restraining the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:4240–4245
 - 34. Maehama T, Dixon JE (1998) The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. J Biol Chem 273: 13375–13378
 - 35. Kohn AD, Summers SA, Birnbaum MJ et al (1996) Expression of a constitutively active Akt Ser/Thr kinase in 3T3-L1 adipocytes stimulates glucose uptake and glucose transporter 4 translocation. J Biol Chem 271:31372–31378

- Elstrom RL, Bauer DE, Buzzai M et al (2004) Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. Cancer Res 64:3892–3899
- Robey RB, Hay N (2009) Is Akt the "Warburg kinase"? Akt-energy metabolism interactions and oncogenesis. Semin Cancer Biol 19:25–31
- Kim DI, Lim SK, Park MJ et al (2007) The involvement of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling in high glucose-induced downregulation of GLUT-1 expression in ARPE cells. Life Sci 80:626–632
- Samih N, Hovsepian S, Aouani A et al (2000) Glut-1 translocation in FRTL-5 thyroid cells: role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and N-glycosylation. Endocrinology 141:4146–4155
- 40. Clarke JF, Young PW, Yonezawa K et al (1994) Inhibition of the translocation of GLUT1 and GLUT4 in 3 T3-L1 cells by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor, wortmannin. Biochem J 300:631–635
- Okada T, Kawano Y, Sakakibara T et al (1994) Essential role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in insulin-induced glucose transport and anti-lipolysis in rat adipocytes. Studies with a selective inhibitor wortmannin. J Biol Chem 269:3568–3573
- 42. Barthel A, Okino ST, Liao J et al (1999) Regulation of GLUT1 gene transcription by the serine/threonine kinase Akt1. J Biol Chem 274:20281–20286
- Miyamoto S, Murphy AN, Brown JH (2008) Akt mediates mitochondrial protection incardiomyocytes through phosphorylation of mitochondrial hexokinase-II. Cell Death Differ 15:521–529
- 44. Aubert-Foucher E, Font B, Gautheron DC (1984) Rabbit heart mitochondrial hexokinase: solubilization and general properties. Arch Biochem Biophys 232:391–399
- 45. Vander Heiden MG, Plas DR, Rathmell JC et al (2001) Growth factors can influence cell growth and survival through effects on glucose metabolism. Mol Cell Biol 21:5899–5912
- 46. Deprez J, Vertommen D, Alessi DR et al (1997) Phosphorylation and activation of heart 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase by protein kinase B and other protein kinases of the insulin signaling cascades. J Biol Chem 272:17269–17275
- Pelicano H, Xu RH, Du M et al (2006) Mitochondrial respiration defects in cancer cells cause activation of Akt survival pathway through a redox-mediated mechanism. J Cell Biol 175:913–923
- 48. Kaplan O, Jaroszewski JW, Faustino PJ et al (1990) Toxicity and effects of epidermal growth factor on glucose metabolism of MDA-468 human breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem 265:13641–13649
- Weihua Z, Tsan R, Huang WC et al (2008) Survival of cancer cells is maintained by EGFR independent of its kinase activity. Cancer Cell 13:385–393
- 50. Anderson ME (1985) Handbook of methods for oxygen radical research. CRC, Florida
- Griffith OW (1980) Determination of glutathione and glutathione disulfide using glutathione reductase and 2-vinylpyridine. Anal Biochem 106:207–212
- 52. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL et al (1951) Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193:265–275
- 53. Spitz D, Malcolm R, Robert R (1990) Cytotoxicity and metabolism of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenol and 2-nonenol in H₂O₂-resistant cell lines. Do aldehydic by-products of lipid peroxidation contribute to oxidative stress? Biochem J 267:453–459
- Holmgren A, Bjornstedt M (1995) Thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase. Methods Enzymol 252:199–208
- 55. Ahmad IM, Aykin-Burns N, Sim JE et al (2005) Mitochondrial superoxide and hydrogen peroxide mediate glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress in human cancer cells. J Biol Chem 280:4254–4263
- 56. Schafer FQ, Buettner GR (2001) Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of the glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple. Free Radic Biol Med 30:1191–1212
- 57. Knobbe CB, Reifenberger G (2003) Genetic alterations and aberrant expression of genes related to the phosphatidyl-inositol-3- kinase/protein kinase B (Akt) signal transduction pathway in glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 13:507–518
- Bellacosa A, de Feo D, Godwin AK et al (1995) Molecular alterations of the AKT2 oncogene in ovarian and breast carcinomas. Int J Cancer 64:280–285

- 2 The Role of Akt Pathway Signaling in Glucose...
 - 59. Cheng JQ, Ruggeri B, Klein WM et al (1996) Amplification of AKT2 in human pancreatic cells and inhibition of AKT2 expression and tumorigenicity by antisense RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:3636–3641
 - 60. Staal SP (1987) Molecular cloning of the akt oncogene and its human homologues AKT1 and AKT2: amplification of AKT1 in a primary human gastric adenocarcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:5034–5037
 - 61. Samuels Y, Wang Z, Bardelli A et al (2004) High frequency of mutations of the PIK3CA gene in human cancers. Science 304:554
 - 62. Shayasteh L, Lu Y, Kuo WL et al (1999) PI3CA is implicated as an oncogene in ovarian cancer. Nat Genet 21:99–102
 - 63. Ma YY, Wei SJ, Lin YC et al (2000) PIK3CA as an oncogene in cervical cancer. Oncogene 19:2739–2744
 - 64. Woenckhaus J, Steger K, Werner E et al (2002) Genomic gain of PIK3CA and increased expression of p110alpha are associated with progression of dysplasia into invasive squamous cell carcinoma. J Pathol 198:335–342
 - Byun DS, Cho K, Ryu BK et al (2003) Frequent monoallelic deletion of PTEN and its reciprocal association with PIK3CA amplification in gastric carcinoma. Int J Cancer 104:318–327
 - 66. Nassif NT, Lobo GP, Wu X et al (2004) PTEN mutations are common in sporadic microsatellite stable colorectal cancer. Oncogene 23:617–628
 - 67. Frisk T, Foukakis T, Dwight T et al (2002) Silencing of the PTEN tumor-suppressor gene in anaplastic thyroid cancer. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 35:74–80
 - Garcia JM, Silva JM, Dominguez G et al (1999) Allelic loss of the PTEN region (10q23) in breast carcinomas of poor pathophenotype. Breast Cancer Res Treat 57:237–243
 - Wang DS, Rieger-Christ K, Latini JM et al (2000) Molecular analysis of PTEN and MXI1 in primary bladder carcinoma. Int J Cancer 88:620–625
 - Ittmann MM (1998) Chromosome 10 alterations in prostate adenocarcinoma. Oncol Rep 5:1329–1335
 - An HJ, Logani S, Isacson C et al (2004) Molecular characterization of uterine clear cell carcinoma. Mod Pathol 17:530–537
 - Rasheed BK, Wiltshire RN, Bigner SH et al (1999) Molecular pathogenesis of malignant gliomas. Curr Opin Oncol 11:162–167
 - 73. Saito T, Oda Y, Kawaguchi K et al (2004) PTEN and other tumor suppressor gene mutations as secondary genetic alterations in synovial sarcoma. Oncol Rep 11:1011–1015
 - 74. Goel A, Arnold CN, Niedzwiecki D et al (2004) Frequent inactivation of PTEN by promoter hypermathylation in microsatellite instablity-high sporadic colorectal cancers. Cancer Res 64:3014–3021
 - 75. Li J, Yen C, Liaw D et al (1997) PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. Science 275:1943–1947
 - 76. Steck PA, Pershouse MA, Jasser SA et al (1997) Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. Nat Genet 15:356–362
 - Chu EC, Tarnawski AS (2004) PTEN regulatory functions in tumor suppression and cell biology. Med Sci Monit 10:235–241
 - Olayioye MA, Neve RM, Lane HA et al (2000) The ErbB signaling network: receptor heterodimerization in development and cancer. EMBO J 19:3159–3167
 - 79. Siegel PM, Ryan ED, Cardiff RD et al (1999) Elevated expression of activated forms of Neu/ ErbB-2 and ErbB-3 are involved in the induction of mammary tumors in transgenic mice: implications for human breast cancer. EMBO J 18:2149–2164
 - Zhou BP, Hu MC, Miller SA et al (2000) HER-2/neu blocks tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis via the Akt/NF-kappaB pathway. J Biol Chem 275:8027–8031
 - 81. Grandis JR, Tweardy DJ (1993) Elevated levels of transforming growth factor alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor messenger RNA are early markers of carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. Cancer Res 53:3579–3584

- Rodrigo JP, Ramos S, Lazo PS et al (1996) Amplification of ERBB oncogenes in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. Eur J Cancer 32A:2004–2010
- Grandis J, Sok J (2004) Signaling through the epidermal growth factor receptor during the development of malignancy. Pharmacol Ther 102:37–46
- Kalyankrishna S, Grandis J (2006) Epidermal growth factor receptor biology in head and neck cancer. J Clin Oncol 24:2666–2672
- Rogers S, Harrington K, Rhys Evans P et al (2005) Biological significance of c-erbB family oncogenes in head and neck cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 24:47–69
- Bei R, Budillon A, Masuelli L et al (2004) Frequent overexpression of multiple ErbB receptors by head and neck squamous cell carcinoma contrasts with rare antibody immunity in patients. J Pathol 204:317–325
- Lo H, Hung M (2007) Nuclear EGFR signalling network in cancers: linking EGFR pathway to cell cycle progression, nitric oxide pathway and patient survival. Br J Cancer 96(Suppl):16–20
- Bianco R, Shin I, Ritter CA et al (2003) Loss of PTEN/MMAC1/TEP in EGF receptorexpressing tumor cells counteracts the antitumor action of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Oncogene 22:2812–2822
- 89. She QB, Solit D, Basso A et al (2003) Resistance to gefitinib in PTEN-null HERoverexpressing tumor cells can be overcome through restoration of PTEN function or pharmacologic modulation of constitutive phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/Akt pathway signaling. Clin Cancer Res 9:4340–4346
- Vlahos CJ, Matter WF, Hui KY et al (1994) A specific inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 2-(4-morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one (LY294002). J Biol Chem 269:5241–5248
- Riley JK, Carayannopoulos MO, Wyman AH et al (2006) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity is critical for glucose metabolism and embryo survival in murine blastocysts. J Biol Chem 281:6010–6019
- Melstrom LG, Salabat MR, Ding XZ et al (2008) Apigenin inhibits the GLUT-1 glucose transporter and the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt pathway in human pancreatic cancer cells. Pancreas 37:426–431
- Hilgard P, Klenner T, Stekar J et al (1997) D-21266, a new heterocyclic alkylphospholipid with antitumour activity. Eur J Cancer 33:442–446
- Maly K, Uberall F, Schubert C et al (1995) Interference of new alkylphospholipid analogues with mitogenic signal transduction. Anticancer Drug Des 10:411–425
- 95. Berkovic D (1998) Cytotoxic etherphospholipid analogues. Gen Pharmacol 31:511-517
- 96. Kondapaka SB, Singh SS, Dasmahapatra GP et al (2003) Perifosine, a novel alkylphospholipid, inhibits protein kinase B activation. Mol Cancer Ther 2:1093–1103
- 97. Crul M, Rosing H, de Klerk GJ et al (2002) Phase I and pharmacological study of daily oral administration of perifosine (D-21266) in patients with advanced solid tumours. Eur J Cancer 38:1615–1621
- Van Ummersen L, Binger K, Volkman J et al (2004) A phase I trial of perifosine (NSC 639966) on a loading dose/maintenance dose schedule in patients with advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res 10:7450–7456
- Bailey HH, Mahoney MR, Ettinger DS et al (2006) Phase II study of daily oral perifosine in patients with advanced soft tissue sarcoma. Cancer 107:2462–2467
- 100. Argiris A, Cohen E, Karrison T et al (2006) A phase II trial of perifosine, an oral alkylphospholipid, in recurrent or metastatic head and neck cancer. Cancer Biol Ther 5:766–770
- 101. Knowling M, Blackstein M, Tozer R et al (2006) A phase II study of perifosine (D-21226) in patients with previously untreated metastatic or locally advanced soft tissue sarcoma: A National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group trial. Invest New Drugs 24:435–439
- 102. Leighl NB, Dent S, Clemons M et al (2008) A Phase 2 study of perifosine in advanced or metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 108:87–92
- 103. Leleu X, Gay J, Roccaro AM et al (2009) Update on therapeutic options in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Eur J Haematol 82:1–12

- 2 The Role of Akt Pathway Signaling in Glucose...
- 104. Perez-Soler R, Chachoua A, Hammond LA et al (2004) Determinants of tumor response and survival with erlotinib in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 22:3238–3247
- 105. Bulgaru AM, Mani S, Goel S et al (2003) Erlotinib (Tarceva): a promising drug targeting epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 3:269–279
- 106. Leslie NR, Bennett D, Lindsay YE et al (2003) Redox regulation of PI 3-kinase signalling via inactivation of PTEN. EMBO J 22:5501–5510
- Leslie NR (2006) The redox regulation of PI 3-kinase-dependent signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:1765–1774
- Kaneki M, Shimizu N, Yamada D et al (2007) Nitrosative stress and pathogenesis of insulin resistance. Antioxid Redox Signal 9:319–329
- 109. Yasukawa T, Tokunaga E, Ota H et al (2005) S-nitrosylation-dependent inactivation of Akt/ protein kinase B in insulin resistance. J Biol Chem 280:7511–7518
- Clerkin JS, Naughton R, Quiney C et al (2008) Mechanisms of ROS modulated cell survival during carcinogenesis. Cancer Lett 266:30–36
- 111. Nogueira V, Park Y, Chen CC et al (2008) Akt determines replicative senescence and oxidative or oncogenic premature senescence and sensitizes cells to oxidative apoptosis. Cancer Cell 14:458–470
- 112. Spitz DR, Kinter MT, Roberts RJ (1995) The contribution of increased glutathione content to mechanisms of oxidative stress resistance in hydrogen peroxide resistant hamster fibroblasts. J Cell Physiol 165:600–609
- 113. Arrick BA, Griffith OW, Cerami A (1981) Inhibition of glutathione synthesis as a chemotherapeutic strategy for trypanosomiasis. J Exp Med 153:720–725
- 114. Andringa KK, Coleman MC, Aykin-Burns N et al (2006) Inhibition of glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL) activity sensitizes human breast cancer cells to the toxicity of 2-deoxy-D-glucose. Cancer Res 66:1605–1610
- Bailey HH (1998) L-S, R-buthionine sulfoximine: historical development and clinical issues. Chem Biol Interact 111:39–54
- 116. Greer EL, Brunet A (2005) FOXO transcription factors at the interface between longevity and tumor suppression. Oncogene 24:7410–7425
- 117. Zhang W, Patil S, Chauhan B et al (2006) FoxO1 regulates multiple metabolic pathways in the liver: effects on gluconeogenic, glycolytic, and lipogenic gene expression. J Biol Chem 281:10105–10117
- Laszlo J, Humphreys SR, Goldin A (1960) Effects of glucose analogues (2-deoxy-D-glucose, 2-deoxy-D-galactose) on experimental tumors. J Natl Cancer Inst 24:267–280
- 119. Shenoy MA, Singh BB (1985) Non-nitro radiation sensitizers. Int J Radiat Biol 48:315-326
- 120. Landau BR, Lubs HA (1958) Animal responses to 2- deoxyglucose administration. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 99:124–127
- 121. Dwarkanath BS, Zolzer F, Chandana S et al (2001) Heterogeneity in 2-deoxy-D-glucoseinduced modifications in energetics and radiation responses of human tumor cell lines. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 50:1051–1061
- 122. Suzuki M, O'Dea JD, Suzuki T et al (1993) 2-Deoxyglucose as a substrate for glutathione regeneration in human and ruminant red blood cells. Comp Biochem Physiol B 75:195–197
- 123. Mohanti BK, Rath GK, Anantha N et al (1996) Improving cancer radiotherapy with 2-deoxy-D-glucose: phase I/II clinical trials on human cerebral gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 35:103–111
- 124. Blackburn RV, Spitz DR, Liu X et al (1999) Metabolic oxidative stress activates signal transduction and gene expression during glucose deprivation in human tumor cells. Free Radic Biol Med 26:419–430
- 125. Lin X, Zhang F, Bradbury CM et al (2003) 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose-induced cytotoxicity and radiosensitization in tumor cells is mediated via disruptions in thiol metabolism. Cancer Res 63:3413–3417
- 126. Mustacich D, Powis G (2007) Thioredoxin reductase. Biochem J 346:1-8

- 127. Becker K, Gromer S, Schirmer RH et al (2000) Thioredoxin reductase as a pathophysiological factor and drug target. Eur J Biochem 267:6118–6125
- 128. Powis G, Kirkpatrick DL, Angulo M et al (1998) Thioredoxin redox control of cell growth and death and the effects of inhibitors. Chem Biol Interact 112:23–34
- 129. Smart DK, Ortiz KL, Mattson D et al (2004) Thioredoxin reductase as a potential molecular target for anticancer agents that induce oxidative stress. Cancer Res 64:6716–6724
- 130. Nguyen P, Awwad RT, Smart DD et al (2006) Thioredoxin reductase as a novel molecular target for cancer therapy. Cancer Lett 236:164–174

Chapter 3 Enhancement of Cancer Therapy Using Ketogenic Diet

Melissa A. Fath, Andrean L. Simons, Jeffrey Erickson, Mark E. Anderson, and Douglas R. Spitz

Abstract Ketogenic diets, which are low in protein and carbohydrates and high in fats, result in elevated ketones (β-hydroxybuturate and acetoacetate; precursors to Acetyl-CoA) forcing cells to rely more heavily on mitochondrial metabolism for energy production. It has been hypothesized that cancer cells, relative to normal cells, exist in a condition of chronic metabolic oxidative stress mediated by O₂⁻⁻ and H₂O₂, with a major site of pro-oxidant production being mitochondrial electron transport chain complexes. If cancer cells (relative to normal cells) have defective mitochondrial O₂ metabolism that results in chronic metabolic oxidative stress and ketogenic diets forcing cancer cells to rely more heavily on mitochondrial O₂ metabolism, then ketogenic diets would be expected to selectively cause oxidative stress in cancer cells. The increased steady-state level of oxidative stress in turn would be expected to selectively sensitize cancer cells to conventional cancer therapeutic agents that cause cell killing via oxidative stress. The current study demonstrates that a ketogenic diet increases parameters indicative of oxidative stress, as demonstrated by an increase in oxidized proteins in the plasma of mice fed a ketogenic diet, and also sensitizes FaDu head and neck cancer xenograft tumors to the antitumor effects of cisplatin. These results support the hypothesis that ketogenic diets may be useful adjuvants for improving outcomes with cisplatin in head and neck cancer therapy.

B180 Medical Laboratories, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

M.A. Fath, PhD (🖂) • A.L. Simons, PhD • D.R. Spitz, PhD

Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology,

Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, The University of Iowa,

e-mail: melissa-fath@uiowa.edu

J. Erickson, PhD • M.E. Anderson, MD, PhD Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

D.R. Spitz et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Cancer Biology and Therapy, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-61779-397-4_3, © Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2012

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Metabolic Oxidative Stress and Cancer

An increased rate of glucose uptake in cancer cells is the most general metabolic difference between cancer and normal cells. Originally, it was theorized that the increased glucose utilization in cancer cells was due to increased demand for ATP due to a defect in respiration [52]. However, no clear defects in tumor cells' ability to generate ATP by respiration have been demonstrated [22, 32a]. In addition to its role in ATP production, glucose metabolism is known to play a major role in detoxification of peroxides via the formation of pyruvate (which scavenges peroxides directly) and through regeneration of NADPH (from glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity in the pentose cycle) which acts as the cofactor in glutathione (GSH)- and thioredoxin (Trx)-mediated peroxide detoxification reactions. The glutathione peroxidase and peroxiredoxin pathways utilize the reducing equivalents in GSH and Trx, respectively, to scavenge hydroperoxides capable of causing oxidative stress ([4]; 32b [7, 31, 41, 44, 51]).

During oxidative phosphorylation within the inner mitochondrial membrane, electrons are shuttled down electron transport chain complexes I-IV resulting in the production of a transmembrane proton potential gradient which is coupled to the production of ATP through the ATP synthase in complex V. In normal cells, as much as 1% of the electrons flowing through ETCs are thought to undergo one-electron reductions of O₂ to form O₂⁻ which can undergo further chemical and enzymatic dismutation reactions to become H₂O₂ and other reactive oxygen species (ROS) [8, 35, 50]. Cellular antioxidant detoxification pathways scavenge ROS and prevent them from causing intracellular damage, including lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, and protein oxidation [3, 7, 13, 44]. In cancer cells, the ability of mitochondria to consume O₂ and produce ATP does not appear to be compromised; however, mitochondrial structure and mitochondrial DNA integrity have been reported to be abnormal [22]. The mitochondria of malignant human tumor cells have been shown to exhibit significant histological abnormalities characterized by unusual arrangements of mitochondrial cristae, mitochondrial hypertrophy, and fragmentation when compared to normal human cells [48]. Furthermore, many tumors have been shown to have high rates of mitochondrial DNA mutations (relative to normal human tissues) [17, 36] and this has been suggested to lead to increased O_2 and H_2O_2 production [25, 39]. In support of this idea, mitochondria from human colorectal cells have been shown to have higher levels of ROS as well as having increased oxidative damage, as measured by TBARS and protein carbonyl content compared with mitochondria from normal adjacent colon tissue [43].

Alterations in mitochondrial ETC structure and function could, therefore, result in increased steady-state levels of ROS implying that cancer cells may exist in a chronic condition of metabolic oxidative stress that is compensated by increasing hydroperoxide metabolism using reductants derived from glucose [2, 24, 38, 47]. In support of this hypothesis, breast and colon cancer cells have been found to demonstrate significantly increased steady-state levels of ROS (i.e., O_2 – and H_2O_2), relative to normal colon and breast cells, that were more pronounced in the presence of mitochondrial electron transport chain blockers [5]. In addition, colon cancer cells were more susceptible to oxidative damage caused by 2-deoxyglucose, a competitive inhibitor of glucose metabolism, than were normal colon epithelia cells in vitro [5]. Furthermore, the combination of electron transport chain blocker with 2-deoxyglucose decreased tumor growth rate in an in vivo model of colon cancer [15]. Therefore, it is possible that forcing tumors cells to increase dependence on mitochondrial electron transport for energy production (by lowering glucose and utilizing fats through feeding a ketogenic diet) while treating them with conventional chemotherapy agents that are known to induce oxidative stress may selectively enhance cancer cell killing without damaging normal tissue.

3.1.2 Ketogenic Diet

Ketogenic diets are low in protein and carbohydrates and high in fats. Ketogenic diets have been used safely and effectively for 80 years for the treatment of epilepsy [20]. Side effects associated with ketogenic diets are usually minor and include mild acidosis, constipation, modest reduced blood glucose, as well as elevated cholesterol and increased incidence of kidney stones with chronic (≥ 6 years) use [21, 29, 42]. Ketogenic diets derive their name from the elevation in blood ketones, mainly β -hydroxybutyrate (β HB) and acetoacetate (AA), which are precursors for acetyl Co A, the first step in the Krebs cycle and which occur due to increased fatty acid oxidation in the liver. Ketones are transported through the blood to the tissues, where they provide energy to the cell. Because of the low carbohydrate nature of ketogenic diets, there is often a modest reduction of blood glucose levels and overall greater glycemic control [53]. The combination of the reduction in blood glucose and the rise in ketones forces cells to rely more heavily on mitochondrial respiration than on glycolysis for energy production. It has been demonstrated that the rates of glucose uptake as well as rates of flux into the glycolytic pathway are reduced in rats fed a ketogenic diet [9, 23].

3.1.3 Ketosis and Oxidative Stress

Elevated levels of ketones have been implicated in generation of cellular metabolic oxidative stress. Hyperketotic diabetic humans have a higher level of lipid peroxidation in red blood cells and a significant decrease in cellular glutathione relative to normal ketonic diabetic controls [27]. Lim et al. also found elevated indices of lipid peroxidation in cultured human endothelial cells treated with AA [26]. AA was also found to deplete cellular glutathione, increase intracellular ROS, and activate cellular signaling pathways associated with oxidative stress in primary rat hepatocytes [1]. Finally, chronic exposure to β HB was shown to increase ROS production in cardiomyocytes [37].

3.1.4 Ketogenic Diets' Use in Cancer

Recently, ketogenic diets have been used in the treatment of cancer in both mouse models and humans. Beck et al. saw a decrease in tumor weight and an improvement in cachexia in mice bearing MAC16 colon cancer cells fed a ketogenic diet that supplied 80% of the calories as medium-chain triglycerides [6]. In a study using both an orthotopic and xenograft model of astrocytoma and malignant glioma, mice were fed a standard rodent diet, a ketogenic diet, or a caloric-restricted ketogenic diet. In the restricted ketogenic diet, tumors were significantly reduced in size and there was an increase in animal survival. The tumors from the mice fed caloric-restricted ketogenic diet had a decrease in tumor vascularity indicating that this diet was antiangiogenic [54]. More recently, Freedland et al. saw an improvement in tumor size and survival in mice fed a ketogenic diet on equal caloric intake when compared to a high-fat, highcarbohydrate "western" diet in a mouse model of prostate cancer [19]. In humans, a case report in the literature indicated that two female pediatric patients with advancedstage malignant astrocytoma tumors had clinical improvement and an average decrease in tumor FDG uptake by PET scans of 21.8% when fed a ketogenic diet composed primarily of medium-chain triglycerides [34]. These observations have stimulated the opening of two phase I clinical trials, one in Tuebingen Germany testing the effects of ketogenic diet on recurrent glioblastoma and another testing a very low carbohydrate "Atkins style" diet for advanced cancers at Albert Einstein College in New York [16, 40]. Despite interest in ketogenic diets as an adjuvant in cancer therapy, the mechanism(s) responsible for enhanced therapeutic response are not well-understood and the role that oxidative stress may play in this process has not been investigated.

If cancer cells (relative to normal cells) have defective mitochondrial O_2 metabolism that results in chronic metabolic oxidative stress and ketogenic diets force cancer cells to rely more heavily on mitochondrial O_2 metabolism to generate energy, then ketogenic diets would be expected to selectively cause oxidative stress in cancer cells which in turn would be expected to selectively sensitize cancer cells to cancer therapeutic agents like IR and cisplatin that are known to cause cell killing via oxidative stress. Furthermore, if cancer cells increase their utilization of glucose to compensate for increased metabolic production of hydroperoxides, then an increase in glycemic control would be expected to further enhance the anticancer effects of ketogenic diets combined with radio/chemotherapy.

3.2 Experimentation and Results

3.2.1 The KetoCal®Diet Induces Ketosis in Nude Mice and Can Be Used Safely

In order to establish a mouse model for studying the effects of ketogenic diets, three athymic, 6–8-week-old, nude female mice were fed *ad libitum*, a standard rodent diet (NIH-31 modified 25% protein, 21% fat, 54% carbohydrate), and three mice



Fig. 3.1 Ketogenic diet is well-tolerated by nude mice and results in elevated serum ketones. Mice on ketogenic diet consumed equal calories per gram of mouse (a) and maintained equivalent weight (b) as mice on standard rodent chow. Blood glucose levels also did not differ significantly between the diet groups (c). Serum β HB levels were significantly higher in mice fed ketogenic diet compared to standard chow (d). n=3-6 mice on each diet \pm SEM

were fed ketogenic diet consisting of KetoCal® (Nutricia North America, a formula designed for children with epilepsy). This diet has a ketogenic ratio (fats: proteins + carbohydrates) of 4:1 (energy distribution: fat 90%, carbohydrate 1.60%, and protein 8.40%) and the fat is derived from soybean oil (100% long-chain fatty acids). KetoCal® was prepared as a paste on a culture dish lid by adding water (water:KetoCal; 1:2), then placed upside down in the food hopper, and attached to assure the animals access. The food remaining in the hopper the next day was replaced with fresh food, dried and weighed to determine caloric intake. Mice fed ketogenic diet consumed equivalent calories per gram of mouse as mice fed standard diet (Fig. 3.1a); there was no significant change in animal weight in either group (Fig. 3.1b) and all mice appeared healthy. Interestingly, there was no significant differences in blood glucose levels measured via glucometer on days 5 and 9 (Fig. 3.1c). Serum β HB levels (as an indicator of ketosis) were elevated by day 3 or 4 of the diet, and then dropped somewhat before rising again, but remained significantly elevated compared to levels in mice on standard diet throughout the experiment (Fig. 3.1d). This study demonstrates that nude mice easily tolerate a diet consisting of KetoCal® paste, as determined by measurements of body weight, and the ketotic state can easily be confirmed in mice using blood BHB levels on days 3–14 of the experiment.

Protein Carbonyl Content of Mouse Plasma



Fig. 3.2 Ketogenic diet results in increased protein carbonyls compared to mice fed standard rodent chow. Nude female mice were fed a ketogenic diet or a standard rodent diet for 5 days. Mouse plasma was derivatized with dinitrophenylhydrazine and analyzed spectrophotometrically at 370 nm. n=3 mice on each diet, *error bars* represent ±SEM, *asterisk* p = <0.01

3.2.2 Evidence of Systemic Oxidative Stress Caused by Ketogenic Diet

Three athymic, adult, nude female mice were fed *ad libitum*, a standard rodent diet, and three mice were fed ketogenic diet consisting of KetoCal® as before. On day 5 of the diet, the mice were subjected to terminal cardiac bleeds and the resulting plasma was assayed for protein carbonyls using the assay kit from Cayman Chemical Company (Ann Arbor, MI). Protein carbonyl content is a commonly used marker of general oxidative stress in animals [49]. Redox-cycling cations, such as Fe²⁺ or Cu²⁺, can bind to proteins and with the aid of further attack by H₂O₂ or O₂ can transform side-chain amine groups on several amino acids (i.e., lysine, arginine, proline, or threonine) into carbonyls. The resulting side-chain carbonyls can be detected by reaction with 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine, forming a Schiff base and corresponding hydrazone, which can be analyzed and quantified spectrophotometrically [30]. Increased protein carbonyl content has been associated with aging [11] and multiple diseases, including diabetes [28], cancer [12], and cardiovascular disease [46]. Conversely, dietary restriction, which has been shown to increase animal longevity, is associated with a decrease in protein carbonyls [33]. In the current study, plasma from mice fed a ketogenic diet had a significant increase in protein carbonyl content when compared to mice fed a standard diet (Fig. 3.2). These data support the hypothesis that increasing production of energy through oxidative phosphorylation and decreasing glycolysis can result in general systemic oxidative stress.

3.2.3 Mouse Tumor Model of Human Head and Neck Cancer

Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (HNSCC) comprises roughly 3–5% of all cancers that occur in the USA and is newly diagnosed in over 40,000 patients

annually with a 5-year survival rate of 56% [10]. The management of locally advanced or recurrent HNSCC usually involves treatment with cisplatin (CIS) alone or in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents or radiotherapy (IR) [18]. In order to investigate the tolerability and effects of a ketogenic diet combined with IR or CIS in the human head and neck xenograft model, 4×10^{6} FADU squamous cell head and neck carcinoma cells were injected into the right flank of female nude mice 6-8 weeks old [45]. When the tumors reached approximately 0.06 cm³, mice were assigned (six mice per group) to control (100- μ l sterile saline i.p.), CIS (2 mg/kg i.p. every other day for 2 weeks), or IR (2 Gy on days 3, 5, 10, and 12) and fed either standard rodent chow or KetoCal® ad libitum for 2 weeks during therapy. The flank xenograph tumor model not only allowed for easy tumor monitoring using Vernier calipers, but also allowed for shielding of the body with lead allowing only the tumor to be irradiated. Mean tumor volumes were calculated and plotted versus time to determine response to therapy. Mice were removed from the study due to tumor growth when the tumors reached 15 mm in diameter; the day was recorded and used to plot Kaplan-Meier survival.

3.2.4 Evidence of Systemic Oxidative Stress Caused by Cancer and/or Treatment with CIS, IR, and Ketogenic Diet

Recently, a polyclonal antibody was developed which recognizes the oxidized methionine residues on Ca2+/Calmodulin-dependent kinase II (ox-CaMKII; M281/282) [14]. The fidelity of the antiserum has been validated using purified wild-type and M218/V282 mutant CaMKII protein with and without treatment with H₂O₂. This polyclonal antibody also shows significant reactivity to the oxidized methionine epitope of other proteins, including contrapsin, a serine protease abundant in mouse serum (unpublished observation), and therefore can be used as a general systemic marker for oxidative stress in vivo. Western blot analysis of plasma harvested from the animals at the time of removal from the therapy study (10–30 days after the end of therapy), was accomplished using this polyclonal antibody serum. Animals bearing FaDu tumors demonstrated an increased level of immuno-reactive protein recognized by the ox-CaMKII antibody, relative to the total protein recognized by a commercially available antibody against unoxidized protein, compared to animals that were cancer free (Fig. 3.3). The ratio of oxidized to total protein detected with this antibody was further increased in tumor-bearing animals treated with ketogenic diet or IR supporting the hypothesis that these treatments induce increases in systemic oxidative stress.

3.2.5 Feeding a Ketogenic Diet Sensitizes FaDu Human Head and Neck Cancer Xenografts to Cisplatin

All mice treated with IR or IR+ketogenic diet appeared healthy and maintained weight throughout the experiment (Fig. 3.4). Surprisingly, mice in the CIS+ketogenic



Fig. 3.3 Cancer-bearing mice with and without treatment demonstrate increases in immunoreactive, methionine-oxidized protein in serum. Serum samples from control (no tumor) or FaDu tumor-bearing mice on standard or ketogenic diet treated with IR were harvested 1–4 weeks following treatment. Samples were analyzed using Western blotting and probed with antibodies against total protein or methionine-oxidized protein



Fig. 3.4 The average weight of mice on ketogenic diet, IR+keto diet, or CIS+standard diet was not significantly different from that of control group. Mice treated with CIS+keto diet lost weight during therapy; however, they quickly regained weight when fed standard chow (*arrow*) at the end of the treatment period

diet group did exhibit significant weight loss at 8–13 days of therapy (Fig. 3.4) requiring the last two scheduled doses of CIS to be reduced by 50%. However, the mice quickly regained weight and appeared completely healthy (Fig. 3.4) after therapy was completed and they were returned to standard rodent chow at the end of 2 weeks (arrow in Fig. 3.4; day 13).

Mice treated with the modest total dose of IR (4×2 Gy fractions) showed no inhibition of growth compared to control tumors or mice fed ketogenic diet (Fig. 3.5a).



Fig. 3.5 Ketogenic diet+CIS is effective in decreasing tumor growth of FADU human head and neck cancer cells in vivo. FADU cells were injected into hind-leg region of nude mice. Mice were fed *ad libitum* standard rodent chow or ketogenic diet and treated with injections of saline (Cont), CIS, or exposure to IR (total 8 Gy). *Curves* represent tumor growth estimates from the linear mixed effects regression analysis (a). Kaplan–Meier survival plots for control, ketogenic, CIS, and CIS+ketogenic treatment groups are presented in (b)

In addition, this IR dose also did not significantly alter tumor growth when combined with ketogenic diet (p=0.189; Fig. 3.5a); however, one mouse in this group had complete regression of tumor.

The mice given CIS+ketogenic diet demonstrated significantly longer tumor growth delay (p < 0.01; Fig. 3.5a) as well as significantly longer (p < 0.01) median survival (36 days) compared to mice on CIS+standard diet (19 days) or ketogenic diet groups (14 days) (Fig. 3.5b). Overall, these results clearly demonstrate that ketogenic diet sensitizes FaDu head and neck tumors to the antitumor effects of CIS therapy in vivo.

3.3 Summary and Conclusions

3.3.1 Clinical Significance of Ketogenic Diet and Metabolic Oxidative Stress in Cancer Therapy

The current results demonstrate the potential for utilizing ketogenic diets to enhance cancer cell responses to conventional chemotherapeutic interventions in vivo and suggest that the mechanism responsible for this chemosensitization may involve metabolic oxidative stress. Traditional cancer therapy is based on the concept that certain cytotoxins kill cancer cells preferentially, relative to normal cells, because of physiological characteristics peculiar to the cancer cell. By combining a ketogenic diet (and potentially other high-protein/high-fat diets) that forces cancer cells to utilize mitochondrial oxidative metabolism, we can potentially take advantage of
fundamental biochemical differences in mitochondrial production of ROS to selectively sensitize cancer cells to traditional chemoradiation therapies that cause oxidative stress. Given the safety of ketogenic diets in humans, the strategy of utilizing these diets to selectively induce chemo- and/or radiosensitization during cancer therapy may allow for both improved cancer control as well as the de-escalation of doses of cytotoxic agents, thereby limiting normal tissue injury.

Acknowledgments This work was initially supported by gifts from Ms. Marie Foster with matching funds from IBM, Ms. Nellie K. Spitz, and Douglas R. Spitz Sr. as well as NIH grants R21CA139182, R01CA133114, and T32CA078586.

References

- Abdelmegeed MA, Kim SK et al (2004) Acetoacetate activation of extracellular signalregulated kinase 1/2 and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in primary cultured rat hepatocytes: role of oxidative stress. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 310(2):728–736
- Ahmad IM, Aykin-Burns N et al (2005) Mitochondrial O₂⁻ and H₂O₂ mediate glucose deprivation-induced stress in human cancer cells. J Biol Chem 280(6):4254–4263
- Averill-Bates DA, Przybytkowski E (1994) The role of glucose in cellular defences against cytotoxicity of hydrogen peroxide in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 312(1):52–58
- Aw TY, Rhoads CA (1994) Glucose regulation of hydroperoxide metabolism in rat intestinal cells. Stimulation of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate supply. J Clin Invest 94(6):2426–2434
- Aykin-Burns N, Ahmad IM et al (2009) Increased levels of superoxide and H₂O₂ mediate the differential susceptibility of cancer cells versus normal cells to glucose deprivation. Biochem J 418(1):29–37
- 6. Beck SA, Tisdale MJ (1989) Nitrogen excretion in cancer cachexia and its modification by a high fat diet in mice. Cancer Res 49(14):3800–3804
- Berggren MI, Husbeck B et al (2001) Thioredoxin peroxidase-1 (peroxiredoxin-1) is increased in thioredoxin-1 transfected cells and results in enhanced protection against apoptosis caused by hydrogen peroxide but not by other agents including dexamethasone, etoposide, and doxorubicin. Arch Biochem Biophys 392(1):103–109
- Boveris A (1977) Mitochondrial production of superoxide radical and hydrogen peroxide. Adv Exp Med Biol 78:67–82
- 9. Brito SR, Moura MA et al (2001) Glucose uptake and glycolytic flux in adipose tissue from rats adapted to a high-protein, carbohydrate-free diet. Metabolism 50(10):1208–1212
- Carvalho AL, Nishimoto IN et al (2005) Trends in incidence and prognosis for head and neck cancer in the United States: a site-specific analysis of the SEER database. Int J Cancer 114(5):806–816
- 11. Chaudhuri AR, de Waal EM et al (2006) Detection of protein carbonyls in aging liver tissue: a fluorescence-based proteomic approach. Mech Ageing Dev 127(11):849–861
- Chen X, Ding YW et al (2000) Oxidative damage in an esophageal adenocarcinoma model with rats. Carcinogenesis 21(2):257–263
- Chung SJ, Lee SH et al (2004) Pyruvate protection against endothelial cytotoxicity induced by blockade of glucose uptake. J Biochem Mol Biol 37(2):239–245
- Erickson JR, Joiner ML et al (2008) A dynamic pathway for calcium-independent activation of CaMKII by methionine oxidation. Cell 133(3):462–474

3 Enhancement of Cancer Therapy Using Ketogenic Diet

- Fath MA, Diers AR et al (2009) Mitochondrial electron transport chain blockers enhance 2-deoxy-D-glucose induced oxidative stress and cell killing in human colon carcinoma cells. Cancer Biol Ther 8(13)
- 16. Fine E, Segal-Isaacson C (2007). The RECHARGE low carbohydrate diet trial for metastatic cancer. U.S. National Institutes of Health
- Fliss MS, Usadel H et al (2000) Facile detection of mitochondrial DNA mutations in tumors and bodily fluids. Science 287(5460):2017–2019
- Forastiere AA (1994) Overview of platinum chemotherapy in head and neck cancer. Semin Oncol 21(5 Suppl 12):20–27
- 19. Freedland SJ, Mavropoulos J et al (2008) Carbohydrate restriction, prostate cancer growth, and the insulin-like growth factor axis. Prostate 68(1):11–19
- Gilbert DL, Pyzik PL et al (2000) The ketogenic diet: seizure control correlates better with serum beta-hydroxybutyrate than with urine ketones. J Child Neurol 15(12):787–790
- Groesbeck DK, Bluml RM et al (2006) Long-term use of the ketogenic diet in the treatment of epilepsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 48(12):978–981
- Guppy M, Leedman P et al (2002) Contribution by different fuels and metabolic pathways to the total ATP turnover of proliferating MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Biochem J 364(Pt 1): 309–315
- Haddad F, Baldwin KM et al (1990) Dietary effects on cardiac metabolic properties in rodents. J Mol Cell Cardiol 22(3):353–359
- 24. Ishii T, Yasuda K et al (2005) A mutation in the SDHC gene of complex II increases oxidative stress, resulting in apoptosis and tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 65(1):203–209
- 25. Ishikawa K, Takenaga K et al (2008) ROS-generating mitochondrial DNA mutations can regulate tumor cell metastasis. Science 320(5876):661–664
- 26. Jain SK, Kannan K et al (1998) Ketosis (acetoacetate) can generate oxygen radicals and cause increased lipid peroxidation and growth inhibition in human endothelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 25(9):1083–1088
- Jain SK, McVie R et al (1999) Effect of hyperketonemia on plasma lipid peroxidation levels in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 22(7):1171–1175
- Kocic R, Pavlovic D et al (2007) Susceptibility to oxidative stress, insulin resistance, and insulin secretory response in the development of diabetes from obesity. Vojnosanit Pregl 64(6):391–397
- Kossoff EH, Rowley H et al (2008) A prospective study of the modified Atkins diet for intractable epilepsy in adults. Epilepsia 49(2):316–319
- Levine RL, Williams JA et al (1994) Carbonyl assays for determination of oxidatively modified proteins. Methods Enzymol 233:346–357
- Lord-Fontaine S, Averill-Bates DA (2002) Heat shock inactivates cellular antioxidant defenses against hydrogen peroxide: protection by glucose. Free Radic Biol Med 32(8):752–765
- 32a. Maity A, Tuttle SW (2006) 2-Deoxyglucose and radiosensitization: teaching an old DOG new tricks? Cancer Biol Ther 5(7):824–826
- 32b. Nath, K. A., E. O. Ngo, et al. (1995). "alpha-Ketoacids scavenge H2O2 in vitro and in vivo and reduce menadione-induced DNA injury and cytotoxicity." Am J Physiol 268(1 Pt 1): C227–236
- Nagai M, Takahashi R et al (2000) Dietary restriction initiated late in life can reduce mitochondrial protein carbonyls in rat livers: western blot studies. Biogerontology 1(4):321–328
- Nebeling LC, Lerner E (1995) Implementing a ketogenic diet based on medium-chain triglyceride oil in pediatric patients with cancer. J Am Diet Assoc 95(6):693–697
- Nohl H, Jordan W (1986) The mitochondrial site of superoxide formation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 138(2):533–539
- 36. Parrella P, Xiao Y et al (2001) Detection of mitochondrial DNA mutations in primary breast cancer and fine-needle aspirates. Cancer Res 61(20):7623–7626

- Pelletier A, Coderre L (2007) Ketone bodies alter dinitrophenol-induced glucose uptake through AMPK inhibition and oxidative stress generation in adult cardiomyocytes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292(5):E1325–E1332
- Penta JS, Johnson FM et al (2001) Mitochondrial DNA in human malignancy. Mutat Res 488(2):119–133
- Petros JA, Baumann AK et al (2005) mtDNA mutations increase tumorigenicity in prostate cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102(3):719–724
- 40. Rieger J, Steinbach J (2007). Ketogenic diet for recurrent glioblastoma (ERGO). ClinicalTrials. gov. U.S. National Institutes of Health, Tuebingen, Germany
- 41. Roudier E, Bachelet C et al (2007) Pyruvate reduces DNA damage during hypoxia and after reoxygenation in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. FEBS J 274(19):5188–5198
- 42. Sampath A, Kossoff EH et al (2007) Kidney stones and the ketogenic diet: risk factors and prevention. J Child Neurol 22(4):375–378
- 43. Sanchez-Pino MJ, Moreno P et al (2007) Mitochondrial dysfunction in human colorectal cancer progression. Front Biosci 12:1190–1199
- 44. Schafer FQ, Buettner GR (2001) Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of the glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple. Free Radic Biol Med 30(11):1191–1212
- 45. Simons AL, Fath MA et al (2007) Enhanced response of human head and neck cancer xenograft tumors to cisplatin combined with 2-deoxy-D-glucose correlates with increased (18) F-FDG uptake as determined by PET imaging. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 69(4): 1222–1230
- 46. Skvarilova M, Bulava A et al (2005) Increased level of advanced oxidation products (AOPP) as a marker of oxidative stress in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub 149(1):83–87
- 47. Slane BG, Aykin-Burns N et al (2006) Mutation of succinate dehydrogenase subunit C results in increased O₂, oxidative stress, and genomic instability. Cancer Res 66(15):7615–7620
- Springer EL (1980) Comparative study of the cytoplasmic organelles of epithelial cell lines derived from human carcinomas and nonmalignant tissues. Cancer Res 40(3):803–817
- Stadtman ER, Oliver CN (1991) Metal-catalyzed oxidation of proteins. Physiological consequences. J Biol Chem 266(4):2005–2008
- Turrens JF, Alexandre A et al (1985) Ubisemiquinone is the electron donor for superoxide formation by complex III of heart mitochondria. Arch Biochem Biophys 237(2):408–414
- 51. Wang X, Perez E et al (2007) Pyruvate protects mitochondria from oxidative stress in human neuroblastoma SK-N-SH cells. Brain Res 1132(1):1–9
- 52. Warberg O (1956) On the origin of cancer cells. Science 123(3191):309-314
- 53. Westman EC, Yancy WS Jr et al (2008) The effect of a low-carbohydrate, ketogenic diet versus a low-glycemic index diet on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutr Metab (Lond) 5:36
- 54. Zhou W, Mukherjee P et al (2007) The calorically restricted ketogenic diet, an effective alternative therapy for malignant brain cancer. Nutr Metab (Lond) 4:5

Chapter 4 Superoxide Dismutase and Cancer Therapy

Melissa L. Teoh-Fitzgerald and Frederick E. Domann

Abstract The primary superoxide scavenger, SOD, has become an important potential therapeutic modality for cancer treatment in view of the link between reactive oxygen species (ROS) and carcinogenesis. Ironically, these same ROS also play a critical role in anticancer therapies that depend on ROS generation for their action rendering the use of SOD, in these settings, as a potential interfering factor that could decrease therapeutic efficacy. This complicating situation arises since ROS are well recognized for playing a dual role as both beneficial signaling molecules as well as deleterious damaging species in biological systems. A growing body of evidence has shown that ROS act as secondary messengers in intracellular signaling cascades, which stimulate and support the oncogenic phenotype of cancer cells. On the other hand, ROS also function as antitumorigenic species since they can induce cellular senescence and death. Therefore, the appropriate application of these antioxidant enzymes is a critical consideration in designing proper strategies for both prevention and treatment of malignant disorders. This chapter reviews evidence that suggests SOD as an emerging therapeutic agent as well as a target for cancer treatment. A discussion is also devoted to the practical challenges that limit the use of SOD manipulation as an anticancer approach.

4.1 Introduction

Since the discovery of the antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD) by McCord and Fridovich [1] four decades ago and the subsequent evidence demonstrating the importance of free radicals in living systems, there has been an accelerated

Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, Carver College of Medicine, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

M.L. Teoh-Fitzgerald, PhD (🖂) • F.E. Domann, PhD

Free Radical and Radiation Biology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology,

e-mail: Laitee-Teoh@uiowa.edu

interest in the role of SOD in experimental and clinical medicine. Free radicals are chemical species capable of independent existence that contain one or more unpaired electrons in their molecular orbital. In the mammalian system, free radicals are mainly produced by incomplete reduction of oxygen during metabolic respiration, by chemical or enzymatic reactions, by exposure to radiation, or by release from activated immune cells in response to pathological invasion or cancer cells. These molecules are mainly represented by a family of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which include superoxide radicals (O_2^{-}) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , and hydroxyl radicals (OH) as well as reactive nitrogen species such as nitric oxide (NO) and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻). Because of the presence of unpaired electrons, free radicals are chemically reactive and can cause detrimental damage to biological structures, particularly polyunsaturated membrane lipids, DNA, and amino acids. A disturbance of redox balance between these free radical pro-oxidants and cellular antioxidant systems can result in oxidative stress, which has been implicated in many disease processes, including cardiovascular diseases, aging, and cancer. Accumulation of free radical-mediated damage to bio-molecules is a slow but progressive pathological process in vivo. Therefore, application of antioxidants to prevent or treat free radical-induced diseases presents a logical and attractive clinical approach.

4.2 ROS and Cancer

4.2.1 ROS in Biological System

As damaging as superoxide radical and its reactive derivatives are at high levels, there is a different profile for lower levels of this species. Superoxide radical is not simply a noxious cytotoxic byproduct, but has long been recognized to function as a physiological mediator and signaling molecule in regulating inflammation, stimulating cell proliferation, and regulating apoptosis [2-4]. Since ROS are by nature both oxidants and reductants, they influence the cellular redox status and may cause either a positive response (stimulation of cell proliferation) or a negative response (induction of growth arrest and cell death) according to their concentrations. The dose-dependent effects of ROS on cellular homeostasis and proliferation are postulated to be bimodal [5]. Small changes in the redox environment, say toward a mild oxidative state, can stimulate a variety of factors that support greater cell proliferation. In contrast, when the oxidative stress is pushed beyond the cellular "threshold" level capable of detoxifying the damaging effects of ROS, cellular proliferation decreases followed by induction of cell death by apoptosis, necrosis, or mitotic catastrophe. Damage beyond that level necessary to trigger apoptosis leads to necrotic death. This concept of a progression of behavior from "proliferation to apoptosis to necrosis," linked to an increased rate of oxidation has recently gained prominent recognition in the redox biology field, as it provides a good explanation for the seemingly contradictory literature on the effects of ROS on cellular biology. Therefore, a better understanding of the pathological changes induced or inhibited by ROS and their modulation by antioxidants is of great importance for the prevention and treatment of malignant disorders.

4.2.2 ROS as Carcinogens

ROS have been widely implicated in neoplastic transformation due to marked changes in metabolism, with some of the most profound changes being related to disruption of glucose metabolism [6-8]. The increased glycolysis seen in cancer cells together with a reduced rate of respiration has been shown to be associated with heightened mitochondrial superoxide production leading to enhanced oxidative stress [9-13]. The resulting change to a more oxidizing redox status in the transformed cells is thought to increase cell proliferation, stimulate development of the malignant phenotype, and facilitate immortalization. Free radicals are usually involved in the initiation and promotion steps, with genetic alterations in DNA regarded as a critical process in the etiology of cancer. Elevated levels of oxidative DNA lesions have been noted in various tumors with more than 100 oxidized DNA products identified to date. This ROS-induced DNA damage includes single- or double-stranded DNA breaks, modifications of purine, pyrimidine, or deoxyribose, and DNA cross-links. This DNA damage can result in loss of transcriptional regulation, replication errors, genomic instability, and induction/impairment of signal transduction pathways, all of which are associated with carcinogenesis [8]. ROS have also been known to act as oncogene activators as well as secondary messengers for triggering redox-sensitive signaling cascades [14–16]. ROS primarily oxidize phosphoserine/threonine phosphatases, phosphotyrosine phosphatases, and phospholipid phosphatases, likely by interacting with sulfhydryl groups on their cysteine residues, forming either intra- or intermolecular disulfide bonds [17]. These modifications lead to deregulation of critical signaling cascades such as MAPK, PI3, and growth factor kinase-dependent signaling pathways. These signaling cascades subsequently affect the downstream redoxsensitive transcription factors such as AP-1, NF- κ B, p53, and HIF-1 [15, 17–22].

In support of the role of ROS in the etiology of cancer, a body of investigations have demonstrated elevated oxidative status in many types of cancer cells [23, 24], and that the introduction of chemical [25, 26] and enzymological [24] antioxidants can inhibit tumor cell proliferation, pointing to a critical role of free radicals in mediating loss of growth control in tumor cells. Since the generation of superoxide in mitochondria is believed to be a major source of free radicals in aerobic cells, MnSOD is particularly important in the prevention of free radical accumulation and subsequent damage to cells since it is localized to the mitochondria. The findings that most cancer cells have lower levels of MnSOD compared to their normal counterparts has lead to a hypothesis that normalization of MnSOD in these cancer cells will reverse the tumor phenotypes [23]. This hypothesis has been repeatedly tested by Oberley's group as well as his collaborators with regards to over-expression of MnSOD inhibiting cancer cell phenotypes in various cancer cell lines [24, 27–36] as discussed in the following section.

4.2.3 ROS as Anticancer Agents

Since ROS possess both proproliferative as well as prodeath activities, manipulations of ROS levels have been exploited to selectively kill cancer cells. The antitumor effects of pro-oxidants have been demonstrated both in vitro and in vivo and have been implicated in the beneficial effects of radiation therapy [37-39], chemotherapy [40, 41], immunotherapy [37, 40], hormone therapy [42], photodynamic therapy [43], and hyperthermia [44]. Based on these observations that most nonsurgical anticancer therapies kill tumor cells via the production of cytotoxic prooxidants, a "threshold concept of cancer therapy" has been proposed by Kong et al. in which the appropriate use of inhibitors of antioxidants or free radical generating compounds could be used as an alternative combined modality approach to cancer treatment [45]. The authors rationalized that if the ROS level reaches the "threshold level" that overwhelms the antioxidant and the repairing capacities, irreversible damage will occur and cell death via apoptosis/necrosis will be initiated in cancer cells. A similar concept of inducing cytotoxic ROS in solid tumors has also been suggested by Iver's group in Japan [46]. An interesting discussion on the potential use of polyethylene glycol (PEG) conjugated O_2^- or H₂O₂ generating enzymes developed by this group as a promising anticancer therapy is presented in their review article [46].

Although this threshold/pro-oxidative concept sounds appealing and promising, there are challenges regarding the practical application of this therapy. First and foremost, determination of an optimum treatment dose is of critical importance. Since high levels of ROS are also toxic to normal cells, their usefulness could be limited in cancer therapy. In addition, technical difficulty in effectively delivering this pro-oxidant therapy to the tumor is an important consideration in terms of tumor targeting.

4.3 SOD and Cancers

4.3.1 Biological Importance of SODs

SODs (EC1.15.1.1) constitute the only known mammalian antioxidant enzymes that convert superoxide to hydrogen peroxide at rate constants higher than the spontaneous dismutation rate. The importance of the SOD enzymes is seen in the different forms that exist, as well as in their different distribution in the cellular compartments, protecting cells against all possible sources of superoxide generation. There are three forms of SOD in mammalian cells: a copper- and zinc-containing CuZnSOD, a manganese-containing MnSOD, and an extracellular copper- and zinc-containing EcSOD. These SODs have impressive rate constants in the order of $10^9 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{ S}^{-1}$ in catalyzing the dismutation of $2O_2^- + 2H^+$ into $H_2O_2 + O_2$. Although these SODs catalyze similar chemical reactions, they are thought to play different biological roles due to their differential distribution in cells and tissues. CuZnSOD comprises approximately 90% of total SOD activities in eukaryotic cells [47].

Besides its primary distribution in the cytosol, a fraction of this enzyme has been found in cellular organelles such as lysosomes, peroxisomes, the intermembrane space of mitochondria, and the nucleus [48–50]. In contrast to the "broad distribution" of CuZnSOD, MnSOD is limited to the matrix of mitochondria [51]. MnSOD, although existing in lower concentration in most cell types, is considered the most critical SOD necessary for life in O_2 , since animals deficient in MnSOD cannot live breathing O_2 more than a few weeks.

Extracellular SOD (EcSOD) utilizes copper and zinc in a similar fashion as CuZnSOD but the expression of EcSOD is highly restricted to specific cell types and tissues such as lung, heart, kidney, plasma, lymph, ascites, and cerebrospinal fluids [52]. EcSOD differs from CuZnSOD in that EcSOD is a glycosylated high molecular weight homotetramer (135 kDa) and CuZnSOD is an unglycosylated homodimer (32 kDa). As the name implies, EcSOD is the only antioxidant enzyme that scavenges O_2^- in the extracellular space. The concept of "compartmentalization of ROS signaling" has arisen based on the distribution of these antioxidant enzymes [53–55]. The fact that pathophysiological conditions caused by a deficiency in one of these SODs cannot be corrected with the other SOD isoforms highlights the uniqueness of the individual SOD enzymes where the loss of one enzyme cannot completely compensate by the other. For instance, over-expression of CuZnSOD did not prevent neonatal lethality in mice lacking MnSOD [53].

In an attempt to investigate the interplay between these SOD enzymes on compartmentalization of ROS signaling, Missirlis et al. [54] have shown that the mitochondria and the cytosolic SODs provide independent protection to compartment/ organelle-specific protein iron–sulfur clusters against oxidative damage generated by superoxide within different compartments. Based on the observation that oxygen can accept unpaired electrons to generate O_2^- , this radical is thought to act as a "sink" for intracellular radicals and that SODs provide a critical primary defense [56]. Compared to other radicals, O_2^- is a relatively weak oxidant. However, a potent oxidizing agent, OH, can be generated from O_2^- and H_2O_2 through reactions driven by transition metals such as Fe and Cu via the Harber–Weiss reaction. Therefore, disruption in the redox balance regulated by these SODs could lead to important biological consequences.

Knockout studies in mice have provided vital tools toward the understanding of the importance of SODs in mammalian systems. Mice deficient in MnSOD exhibit dramatically reduced growth rates, increased susceptibility to mitochondrial injury in metabolically active tissues, and die prematurely once they breath O₂ [57–61]. This demonstrates that MnSOD is essential for protecting against mitochondrial generated O₂⁻ and is ultimately critical for the survival of aerobic organisms. Although CuZnSOD constitutes the major proportion of total cellular SOD activity, deleting this gene from mice is not lethal and the animals develop normally to adulthood [62]. However, these mice are extremely vulnerable to motor neuron loss after axonal injury, indicating that this cytosolic SOD plays a critical role under oxidative stress conditions. Furthermore, fetal fibroblasts derived from the CuZnSOD homozygote knock out fetuses show substantially diminished cell growth in culture and display hypersensitivity to O₂⁻ generating agents [57]. Mice lacking EcSOD have shorter survival than control animals and developed enhanced lung damage after exposure to high oxygen tension [63]. These differential effects seen from the knock out studies further emphasize the significance of compartmentalization of ROS signaling and damage.

4.3.2 SOD Levels in Cancer

The role played by SODs in cancer biology is not well understood, except that all tumor cells examined to date clearly demonstrate an altered redox balance, with most studies suggesting a more oxidative state [5], characterized by elevated intracellular ROS, in particular, superoxide [64]. The reported studies that investigated the relationship of SODs to malignant cells and tumors show significant inconsistencies in results between cell lines suggesting that many different pathways may contribute to these effects. Many studies have found low SOD activity in primary human tumors while others have found high levels of SODs in metastatic tumors that have been associated with aggressive characteristics. The in vivo and in vitro findings on SODs in malignancy have been well reviewed [5, 65, 66].

4.3.2.1 MnSOD

The first report demonstrating that the diminished activity of MnSOD in transformed cells when compared to their normal counterpart was reported in 1974 [67]. Since then, numerous investigations have demonstrated altered levels of antioxidant enzymes in cancer cells. These studies have been reviewed previously [23, 65, 68]. In general, primary cancer cells are nearly always low in MnSOD [69–71] and this phenomenon has recently been shown to be associated with mutations in the MnSOD promoter [72], aberrant methylation of the MnSOD promoter [73, 74], loss of heterozygosity [75, 76], as well as mutations in the MnSOD coding sequence [77, 78]. However, reduced expression and/or activity of MnSOD is by no means a universal feature of cancer cells. There are reports with controversial findings on MnSOD levels compared with their normal counterparts. For instance, in an investigation that involved 31 human diploids and neoplastic cell lines, Marklund et al. [79] found that the MnSOD level was variable and did not appear to be significantly lower in malignant cell lines compared to normal tissues. In fact, mesothelioma was found to have a substantially higher MnSOD level than normal cells in the same study. A list of cancer cells that showed elevated MnSOD levels compared to their normal counterparts was described in a review by Hileman et al. [66]. It was suggested that the up-regulation of MnSOD expression observed in some cancer cells is associated with intrinsic oxidative stress in cancer cells as a mechanism to tolerate the increased ROS stress [80].

In addition to altered expression levels, a polymorphic variant of MnSOD has been associated with enhanced risk of cancer development. In this polymorphism,

valine is replaced by alanine at position 16 in the mitochondrial targeting sequence (A16V) [81]. This residue is nine amino acids upstream of the cleavage site and has often been designated as A-9V polymorphism [82]. This polymorphism has also been designated as V16A [83]. MnSOD with an Ala residue at this position is more efficiently targeted to the mitochondria, whereas the Val form is partially arrested in the inner mitochondrial membrane leading to a reduction in the formation of active MnSOD in the mitochondrial matrix [84]. In view of these findings, expression of the Val form is expected to result in higher ROS stress and thus individuals with this polymorphism may be predisposed to a greater risk for cancer development. However, some reports find associations between the Val form and higher cancer risk while the majority of studies have shown a higher risk for different types of cancer with the Ala form [85]. No overall association of this polymorphism with cancer risk has been reported in a meta-analysis from 13 published case-control studies [86]. As described earlier, dismutation of $\overline{O_2}$ by SOD leads to production of H₂O₂. If not properly converted to water molecules by the peroxide removal systems such as glutathione peroxidases (GPx) and catalases, accumulation of H_2O_2 can result in molecular changes that promote carcinogenesis [87]. Therefore, Bag et al. suggested that polymorphisms of MnSOD as well as GPx, catalase, and peroxiredoxin should be considered in combination for the analysis for cancer risk association studies. Other MnSOD polymorphisms have been reviewed recently [50]. Although varying effects were seen in different cancers, the intriguing changes in cancer expression related to MnSOD polymorphism indicate that MnSOD and ROS stress may play a significant role in predisposition to carcinogenesis.

4.3.2.2 CuZnSOD

Similar to the findings on MnSOD, lowered CuZnSOD levels appear to be a common, but not universal characteristic of cancers. H6 hepatoma was found to have a lower CuZnSOD level than in the normal liver [69]. The activity of cytosolic SOD in hepatocellular carcinoma is significantly lower than the normal hepatic tissue [88]. In a breast cancer study, a concomitant increase of plasma lipid peroxidation and decreased CuZnSOD activity in blood cells was reported [89]. Lower expression of CuZnSOD as well as MnSOD was also reported in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and prostate carcinoma than in benign epithelium, suggesting that oxidative stress is an early event in carcinogenesis [90]. More examples also demonstrated a decreased expression of this cytosolic antioxidant enzyme in cancer cells compared to their normal counterparts including Marklund's study of the 31 different human diploid and neoplastic cell lines [79], gynecological disorder and endometrium carcinoma studies [91], and a report on malignant stomach and squamous cell carcinomas [92]. The exceptions to the lowered CuZnSOD found in cancers include leukemia [93] and glioblastomas [94] in which this enzyme has been shown to be elevated compared to their normal tissues. Over 90 mutations in CuZnSOD have been characterized to date but they are mostly associated with central nervous

system manifestations in the case of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis [95]. None of these polymorphisms have been studied or linked in terms of association with cancer risk.

4.3.2.3 EcSOD

EcSOD, despite being discovered more than two decades ago [52], has not been as widely studied as the other SODs, particularly in cancer research. This is likely due to its restricted expression in certain cell types and tissues [96]. A study examining EcSOD levels in cancer tissues compared to its normal counterpart was carried out by Svensk et al. [97] in lung cancer, in which the researchers have found that EcSOD immunoreactivity was 70% lower in those cancer tissues than in nonmalignant lung tissues, suggesting that decreasing EcSOD may contribute to tumor progression. Future studies investigating the level of this antioxidant enzyme in cancerous cells will aid in our understanding of the role played by EcSOD in the etiology of cancer.

An arginine 213 to glycine (R213G) polymorphism has been described for human EcSOD [50]. Interestingly, this variation occurs in the heparin binding domain of the protein leading to decreased anchoring of this protein to the negatively charged heparan sulfate proteoglycan on the cell surface and extracellular matrix, hence resulting in an increase in plasma EcSOD levels [98]. No immediate physical or clinical abnormalities have been observed in subjects carrying the R213G mutation. Although the consequences of this mutation are unclear, it has been shown to be associated with the poor outcome in diabetic patients who require hemodialysis and an increased risk factor associated with cardiovascular disease [99, 100]. This R213G variant has also been shown to confer resistance to the development of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in some smokers, which was suggested to be linked to a greater availability of the circulating EcSOD-R213G to provide an antioxidant or anti-inflammatory response [101]. To date, no association between this polymorphism and cancer risk has been reported.

4.4 SOD and Cancer Therapy

The metabolic and oxidative state differences between cancer and normal cells provide a biochemical basis for therapeutic strategies by exploiting these characteristics. Currently, the "free radical biology" approach to cancer therapy has been primarily focused on two main separate paths. One path aims at increasing the removal of oncogenic superoxide radical by up-regulating SODs while the other approach takes the opposite strategy by therapeutically manipulating ROS levels to a lethal level in cancer cells. Since SOD is the only class of enzymes known to scavenge superoxide, this function makes SOD an attractive target for pharmacological intervention.

4.4.1 SOD as a Clinical Drug for Cancer Treatment

The findings that most cancer cells have lower levels of MnSOD compared to their normal counterparts have lead to a hypothesis that normalization of MnSOD in those cancer cells will reverse the malignant phenotype. Oberley and Buettner were the pioneers in suggesting SOD as a therapeutic drug for cancer treatment [23]. This hypothesis has long been tested with regards to over-expression of MnSOD in suppressing tumor phenotypes in various cancer cell lines [24, 27–29].

The first study examining the role played by MnSOD was performed by introducing chromosome 6 into human melanoma cells [102]. Suppression of tumor growth in culture as well as in animals was observed. Although not specifically tested, this study supports the idea that one of the genes located on chromosome 6, with MnSOD being a likely candidate, influenced the malignant phenotype of human melanoma. A direct introduction of MnSOD cDNA into mouse embryonic fibroblasts was later tested by St Clair et al. [103] and found to suppress radiation-induced neoplastic transformation, supporting the role of mitochondrial ROS in inducing carcinogenesis. In a subsequent study, over-expression of MnSOD in melanoma cell lines resulted in the loss of their ability to form colonies in soft agar and produced a more differentiated phenotype [104]. The ability of MnSOD to reduce the in vitro plating efficiency and inhibit the in vivo tumor growth of breast cancer cells formed the basis for the proposal by Oberley that MnSOD was a tumor suppressor [105]. Since then, numerous studies have been conducted that provided further evidence to support this concept. Examples of these studies include stable clones of a human fibroblast cell line in which overexpression of MnSOD showed slower growth rate, reduced plating efficiency, and a more differentiated morphology [106]; human glioma cells transfected with MnSOD became less malignant and showed retarded growth in nude mice, relative to control transfected cells [27]; constitutive over-expression of MnSOD in oral squamous carcinoma cells caused reduced growth both in vitro and in vivo [28]. Similar results have been demonstrated in human prostate carcinoma cells [36], fibrosarcoma cells [107], papilloma [34], pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells [32], and breast cancer cells [29]. Thus the evidence appears substantial that over-expression of MnSOD can suppress the malignant phenotype in a great variety of tumors, supporting the potential use of this antioxidant enzyme for cancer treatment. However, the general statement of MnSOD as a tumor-suppressor has not been unambiguously established.

Studies that showed elevated levels of MnSOD in some aggressive cancer cells compared to their normal counterparts as discussed earlier make the statement that MnSOD is a tumor suppressor questionable. Although some of these cancer cells such as glioma and ovarian cancer actually possess higher levels of MnSOD than their normal tissues, over-expression of MnSOD has still been shown to inhibit tumor growth [27, 108, 109]. However, contradictory findings showing that up-regulation of MnSOD actually increased tumorigenicity have been reported. In HeLa cervical carcinoma cells, over-expression of MnSOD did not suppress the

growth of the cells but it promoted growth and protected the cells from death induced by serum starvation [110]. In addition to growth stimulation, over-expression of MnSOD was also found to induce the invasion potential of some cancer cell lines. For instance, invasiveness of hamster cheek pouch carcinoma cells was increased when MnSOD was overexpressed [35]. Over-expression of MnSOD in fibrosarcoma cells and bladder tumor cells significantly enhanced both the in vitro and in vivo invasive potential of the cells [111]. Further over-expression of catalase inhibited the MnSOD-induced invasion, indicating that this invasive phenotype is H₂O₂ dependent. In addition to over-expression of MnSOD, some studies have also used an opposite approach that disputes the concept of MnSOD as a tumor suppressor. Down-regulation of MnSOD expression with antisense transfection in squamous cell carcinomas resulted in a slower growth and longer survival in mice compared to controls [112]. Inhibition of either CuZnSOD or MnSOD in our hands with RNA interference technique also caused an induction of growth and plating efficiency in a pancreatic cancer study [113]. Taken together, these seemingly contradictory results reveal the complexity of ROS signaling in cancer biology and emphasize the importance of the balance within the multiple mechanisms regulating oxidative stress during carcinogenesis.

Recently, the role played by CuZnSOD in cancer biology has also been examined but similar to the findings on MnSOD, the results are inconsistent. In recent reports, over-expression of CuZnSOD, either via adenovirus constructs or by cDNA transfection, resulted in decreased platting efficiency, prolonged cell doubling time, reduced clonogenic fraction in soft agar, and most significantly, inhibition of tumor formation in nude mice of human malignant glioma cells [114], breast carcinoma cell lines [29], as well as pancreatic cancer cell lines [113]. These observations have led the investigators to suggest that this cytosolic SOD, similar to the mitochondrial SOD, has tumor suppressive properties. Growth suppression by CuZnSOD over-expression has also been demonstrated by others in a hepatocellular cancer cells study [115]. Targeting CuZnSOD with antisense resulted in a higher motility of human tongue carcinoma cells [116]. Down-regulation of CuZnSOD expression with siRNA transfection has also been shown to induce growth and clonogenic survival in our pancreatic cancer study [113]. These findings further suggest that CuZnSOD may play an important role in growth control regulation and disruption in its expression may contribute to tumorigenesis. In addition, CuZnSOD has been shown to significantly increase antimetastatic effects of chemotherapeutic agents such as adriamycin in a mouse sarcoma model, leading to a suggestion that this SOD has an antimetastatic therapeutic potential [117]. In a mouse model recombinant CuZnSOD reduced pulmonary metastasis of fibrosarcoma cells [118]. In contrast, increased colon carcinoma metastasis to the liver was observed in another mouse model when recombinant CuZnSOD was administered [119]. Transgenic mice overexpressing CuZnSOD in a GPx background also demonstrated higher tumor incidence and lower tumor regression in a DMBA/TPA two-stage skin carcinogenesis model [120]. Despite its more "general" cellular distribution positioning CuZnSOD as the primary enzyme protecting cells against cytosolic-generated superoxide, the role played by this antioxidant enzyme in tumorigenesis is not clear. While some studies have shown decreased levels of CuZnSOD in tumors and cancer cell lines compared to their normal counterparts, other studies found no significant change in its expression whereas a subset of studies reported elevated levels of this enzyme as discussed earlier. Furthermore, although over-expression of CuZnSOD has been found to suppress growth and metastasis of some human cancer cells, other studies have shown promising results in suppressing tumor progression by targeting this enzyme as is presented in a later section of this chapter. These inconsistent findings in these differing systems emphasize the need for further investigation to support the suggestion that CuZnSOD is a tumor suppressor.

Due to its extracellular distribution and important function in maintaining vasodilation, EcSOD has been widely implicated in various cardiovascular diseases [121]. It is not as well studied as the other two SODs in terms of its role in tumorigenesis. Little is known regarding the expression level of this antioxidant enzyme in cancer cells compared to their normal counterparts and there is a limited report investigating the effect of EcSOD over-expression in human tumor or cancer cell lines. However, the potential use of this enzyme as an antioxidant cancer therapy need not be understated. Based on the unique properties possessed by this enzyme, EcSOD could provide superior therapeutic benefits than the other antioxidant cancer therapies. First, EcSOD over-expression has been shown by our group and others to suppress the growth of pancreas cancer cells [113], breast cancer cells [122], and melanomas cells [123]. In the pancreatic cancer cell xenograft, EcSOD actually provides the best tumor suppression and survival rate among all the SODs [113]. Besides inhibiting tumor growth, EcSOD has also been shown to have both antiangiogenic and antimetastatic effects. Over-expression of EcSOD via adenovirus infection resulted in a reduction in in vivo vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression that blunted tumor growth in the melanoma study [123]. Subcutaneous inoculation of EcSOD secreting fibroblasts suppressed metastatic lung nodules of methylcolanthrene-induced fibrosarcoma and Lewis lung carcinomas in mice [124]. Unlike the other SODs which are ubiquitously expressed by all mammalian cell types, EcSOD expression is cell and tissue specific as mentioned earlier. EcSOD is also synthesized and secreted by a variety of fibroblast cell lines, glial cell lines, and endothelial cell lines. Therefore, cells that do not express EcSOD can still acquire this antioxidant enzyme through their cell surface heparin sulfate proteoglycan as has been shown in a variety of cells both in vivo and in culture systems [125]. This implies that due to its extracellular localization and its ability to be acquired by cells through its heparin-binding domain, EcSOD gene therapy does not require direct tumor targeting but could be applied systemically. A longer plasma half life of this antioxidant enzyme compared to MnSOD and CuZnSOD also makes EcSOD better suited as a therapeutic candidate [126]. However, further investigations are needed in examining the expression level of this enzyme in human tumors and cancer cell lines as well as elucidating the effects of EcSOD over-expression in human carcinomas.

4.4.2 SOD as a Chemo- and Radio-protector

In addition to suppressing tumorigenesis, SODs have also been shown to have potential use in providing differential protection for normal cells or tissues against the side effects induced by anticancer therapies. Radiation is a common modality used for the treatment of malignancies, but injury to surrounding normal tissues is a major limitation that dictates the ultimate dose, volume, and technique of radiation. Radiation-induced fibrosis (RIF), a late effect of therapeutic irradiation, is well known in clinical practices. It is characterized by local inflammation and swelling, which in time will undergo step-wise aggravation and becomes established fibrosis. The fibrosis is often associated with atrophy and gradual destruction of cutaneous and subcutaneous normal tissues. Since oxidative damage is a central pathogenic process in RIF [127], application of SODs have been tested in an attempt to reverse or mitigate this process. Many reports have shown radio-protective effects of SODs in various experimental models. Intraperitoneal injection of CuZnSOD in mice decreased the severity of acute radiation skin damage in mice [128]. Intramuscular introduction of liposomal CuZnSOD and MnSOD resulted in regression of established radiation skin fibrosis in pigs [129]. The same group also found similar regression of radiation-induced skin fibrosis in humans with the use of liposomal CuZnSOD [130]. Irradiation protection by MnSOD in mouse lung, esophagus, oral cavity, and intestine has also been well documented by Greenberger and colleagues using adenovirus vector and a unique plasmid/liposome vector developed by the group [131–135]. These investigators showed that mitochondrial localization of MnSOD is important in the protection suggesting that oxidative damage to mitochondria is a critical step during RIF. Besides the intracellular SODs, the extracellular EcSOD has also been shown to be a potential therapeutic agent for radioprotection during cancer treatment. Over-expression of EcSOD was reported to confer protection against radiation-induced lung injury in transgenic mice [136]. In a separate study, Rabbani et al. showed that over-expression of EcSOD in mice ameliorates acute radiation-induced injury by attenuating macrophage-induced inflammatory response and inhibiting Transforming Growth Factor beta 1 (TGFB1) activation with a subsequent down-regulation of the profibrotic TGF pathway [137]. The role of EcSOD has also been examined in a chemotherapeutic drug-induced pulmonary fibrosis using both the EcSOD-transgenic mice and -null mice models. Targeted EcSOD over-expression in the lungs of mice significantly protects these mice against bleomycin-induced lung injury [138] while enhanced bleomycininduced pulmonary damaged was observed in EcSOD-deficient mice [139]. Lung is one of the tissues that expresses a high level of EcSOD [140]. This enzyme is found in the matrix of conducting airways and blood vessels as well as in the matrix and surface of alveolar septa [141]. The alveolar parenchyma is the primary location of fibrosis in human and mouse models of pulmonary fibrosis. The localization of EcSOD in the matrix and cell surface of alveolar suggests that its effects on pulmonary fibrosis are likely modulated in these locations. Since many matrix components are sensitive to oxidative modification/degradation and increased turnover of the extracellular matrix is a hallmark of pulmonary fibrosis, it is suggested that the primary mechanisms in which EcSOD prevents pulmonary fibrosis is by preserving the integrity of the matrix [142]. Physical association of EcSOD through its heparin binding domain to cell surface and extracellular matrix components such as heparan sulfate proteoglycan [143], collagen [144], and hyaluronan [145] have been shown to be protective against oxidative degradation of these polyanionic molecules.

Despite the promising evidence discussed above, application of SOD does present some practical technical challenges as a clinical drug for cancer treatment. Proteins, in general, make poor drugs due to their rapid renal clearance and poor extravasation. SODs are no exception which is the primary reason why SOD-based antioxidant therapy has not made a greater and more rapid impact on clinical medicine. SOD gene therapies or protein drugs also suffer from pharmacokinetic difficulties such as delivery, inaccessibility of intracellular targets, chemical stability, and immunogenicity.

Furthermore, the varying dosage response of SODs that affects the overall outcome of the targeted cells is a more fundamental problem for clinical application.

4.4.3 SOD Mimetics as Clinical Drugs

Although the SOD enzymes have shown promising anticancer properties for cancer treatment, there are drawbacks and issues associated with their use as therapeutic agents and pharmacological tools. Considering the superoxide scavenging effect of SOD that modulates tumorigenesis, various classes of small-molecule SOD mimetics have been developed. These antioxidant catalysts that display SOD activity include metal-based manganese(III) salens, manganese(III) meso-porphyrins, and copper(II) diisopropylsalicylate (CuDIPS) and nonmetal-based nitroxide free radicals [146, 147]. Derivatives with dual SOD- and catalase-mimetic activity such as salen EUK-134 (Proteome Systems Ltd) have also been designed [148]. Two nonpeptidyl mimics of SOD, CuDIPS and manganese(III) tetrakis-(5,10,15,20)-benzoic acid porphyrin (MnTBAP) have been shown to increase the cytotoxic activity of anticancer drugs such as oxaliplatin, paclitaxel, and 5-fluorouracil, by increasing H_2O_2 levels [26]. The same investigators later demonstrated that another SOD mimetic, mangafodipir, with catalase- and glutathione reductase-like properties also improved the therapeutic index of these anticancer agents [149]. Mangafodipir is approved as a clinical contrast agent for hepatic MRI application. One general limitation of these SOD mimetics is that they react not only with superoxide, but also with a wide range of other ROS.

A new class of highly active and selective SOD mimetics has been developed with M40403 being the prototypical complex. This compound is a manganese(II) containing pentaazamacrocyclic ligand-based SOD mimetic that has the function and catalytic rate of the native SOD enzymes, but with the advantage of being a much smaller molecule (M_r =483 Da) [150]. M40403 removes superoxide selectively at a high rate without reacting with other oxidizing species [151]. It has been

tested for the prevention of side effects associated with IL-2, an immune-stimulating cytokine drug that is approved for use in metastatic melanoma and renal carcinoma [152]. The use of IL-2 is limited by its side effects, primarily hypotension, which is related to overproduction of superoxide. A double-blind, placebo-controlled phase I clinical trial of intravenous M40403 showed no dose-limiting effects, demonstrating the promising use of this SOD mimetic in therapeutic use for superoxide-related diseases. However, a phase I/II trial assessing the effectiveness of M40403 as a co-therapy with IL-2 in patients with advanced skin and end-stage renal carcinomas was suspended due to severe systemic side effects caused by IL-2 [153]. The efficacy of M40403 has been shown in a wide variety of animal models of inflammation [150], ischemia–reperfusion injury [154], and pain [155, 156]. Recently, this compound has also been reported to attenuate radiation-induced oral mucositis in hamster, indicating the potential of M40403 for decreasing the severity and duration of this condition in patients undergoing radiotherapy for cancer treatment [157].

Low molecular weight nitroxides are SOD mimetics that are widely used as electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spin trapping in biological research. Through one-electron redox cycles, nitroxides can act catalytically as SOD and catalase mimetics [158]. Selective cytotoxicity of the nitroxide TEMPO against various cancer cell lines has been well documented. The chemotherapeutic efficacy of TEMPO has been demonstrated in xenograft models of human hormone-dependent and -independent prostate carcinomas [159]. FC-TEMPO (4-ferrocenecarboxyl-2,2,6,6-tetramethyl piperidine-1-oxyl), a nitroxide derivative, has also been shown to selectively induce cytotoxicity in highly metastatic lung tumor cells [160]. A dramatic delay in the onset of thymic lymphoma in ataxia telangiectaxia mutated (ATM –/–) mice by a nitroxide antioxidant, 5-carboxy-1,1,3,3-tetramethylisoindolin-2-yloxyl (CTMIO), was observed [161].

4.4.4 Targeting SOD

Recently, there is an increased interest in targeting MnSOD based on its effect as a negative modulator of cellular apoptosis and as a survival factor for cancer cells [162]. ROS have long been known as inducers of programmed cell death. Upon triggering of apoptosis, release of cytochrome *c* from mitochondria activates the effector caspase 3, in a process that switches from the normal 4-electron to 1-electron reduction of oxygen, leading to production of superoxide anions [163]. Superoxide in turn amplifies the apoptotic cascade by damaging mitochondria and inducing the oxidative opening of the permeability transition pores and the further release of cytochrome *c* and apoptosis inducing factors (AIFs). This mode of action implies that the mitochondrial MnSOD plays an important role in inhibiting or at least delaying cell death, by preventing mitochondrial oxidative catastrophe. In support of this idea, MnSOD has been shown to promote cancer cell survival in experimental models of apoptosis. It has been demonstrated that MnSOD gene induction by Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha (TNF α) confers resistance of cells to TNF-induced

apoptosis [164, 165]. This induction of MnSOD by TNF was shown to be mediated mainly by NF- κ B, which is a transcription factor crucial for survival signaling in tumor cells [166]. In keeping with this view, over-expression of MnSOD protects cells from ionizing radiations [108] and chemotherapeutic drugs [167], and from cell death induced by serum deprivation [110]. This suggests that up-regulation of MnSOD may confer a selective advantage to tumor cells against cytotoxic effects imposed by therapy or nutrient restriction. Prevention of p53-dependent cell death has also been shown to be one of the important mechanisms involved in MnSODmediated survival signaling [168]. The fact that p53 negatively regulates the transcription of MnSOD, and MnSOD levels are elevated in p53-deficient cells as well as in tumors expressing inactive p53 [168, 169] further suggests that MnSOD may have a role in promoting malignancy and that inhibition of this enzyme may prove useful in the attempt to trigger spontaneous tumor cell apoptosis, and to increase tumor susceptibility to current anticancer treatments. Recent studies in this direction have indicated promising therapeutic potential with this strategy. Inhibition of MnSOD expression by genetic means has proven advantageous in inducing apoptotic death in squamous cell carcinoma cells by anticancer drugs and radiation [112].

In addition to targeting the expression of SOD, chemical agents that inhibit the enzymatic activity of SOD have also been tested for anticancer effect. Compounds that chelate metal ions or directly target the catalytic site of SOD such as cyanide, H₂O₂, azide, and diethyldithiocarbamate (DETCA) have been shown to inhibit SOD activity [170-172] but their use as anticancer agents are limited. Safety concerns related to the use of azide and cyanide makes them undesirable for therapeutic use. Since CuZnSOD and MnSOD contain different metal ions in their catalytic sites, they show variable sensitivity to these inhibitors. Furthermore, these agents suffer specificity issues due to their inhibiting effect on other metal-containing enzymes. Another copper chelator, a choline salt of tetrathiomolybdate (ATN-224), has been shown to be a promising clinical drug as a SOD inhibitor. ATN-224 specifically targets and inactivates CuZnSOD in tumors, leading to elevation of intracellular superoxide levels and induction of in vitro and in vivo apoptotic death [173]. The fact that the SOD mimetic, MnTBAP, was able to reverse the effect of ATN-224 shows the selectivity of its action. ATN-224 is currently being tested in two phase I studies for solid and advanced hematological malignancies and two multicenter phase II studies for advanced melanoma and prostate cancer [146].

As discussed above, certain types of cancer cells express a higher level of SOD than do the normal cell types from which they originate. Coupled with the high oxidative stress background, this situation may render cancer cells more vulnerable if oxidative stress is further heightened by impairing the ROS scavenging system. Huang et al. [80, 174] have demonstrated that established leukemia cell lines as well as primary leukemia cells isolated from patients are much more sensitive than normal cells to the inhibition of SOD by 2-methoxyoestradiol (2-ME). This inhibition resulted in an accumulation of superoxide in leukemia cells and subsequently damaged the mitochondrial membrane, leading to release of cytochrome c and

activation of apoptotic cascades. In contrast, a lower basal level of superoxide stress in the normal lymphocytes renders the normal cells more tolerant to the inhibition of SOD by 2-ME. This differential susceptibility of cancer cells supports the concept of selective killing of cancer cells by targeting SOD. The antitumor activity of 2-ME was discussed in a review by Hileman et al. [66]. However, the issue regarding the specificity of 2-ME's action on SOD was raised and the proapoptotic activity of this agent was subsequently attributed to other mechanisms that increase ROS stress [175]. A nanocrystal colloidal dispersion derivative of 2-ME has recently been evaluated in phase II clinical trials for hormone-refractory prostate cancer, recurrent glioblastoma multiforme, and metastatic renal cell [146]. Another pro-oxidant agent, 1,6-bis[4-(4-amino-3-hydroxyphenoxy)phenyl] diamantane (DPD) has also been shown to induce apoptotic death in leukemia cells both in cell culture and in mouse xenograft by specifically inhibiting CuZnSOD expression [176]. However, the mechanism underlying the SOD suppressive effect of these agents remains to be elucidated. It is noteworthy that even though high SOD levels were detected in some malignant cancer cells, relatively high ROS stress was still seen in these cells. This suggests that the malignant cells may heavily depend on SOD for elimination of superoxide to keep the ROS levels within a tolerable range, which makes the concept of SOD inhibition for cancer therapy an appealing approach.

As promising as a therapeutic target for cancer treatment, inhibition of SOD should not be considered as a general approach to cancer therapy. This approach is not likely to be effective in cancer cells that express a lower level of SOD activity due to insufficient target molecules. In addition, caution should be exercised in developing more potent SOD inhibitors as a cancer therapy, as complete inhibition of cellular SOD may result in a toxic effect not only to cancer cells but could also be harmful to normal cells. Inhibition of SOD may increase intracellular superoxide level that leads to nonlethal damage to DNA, proteins, and lipids. Mutation may hence occur in damaged cells that eventually evolve into cancer cells. ROS-mediated DNA damage may also contribute to genetic instability and accelerate disease progression. The major challenge in this approach is in defining the appropriate doses and the duration for drug exposure to kill the target cells while sparing the normal cells. Since different cancer types may possess various redox states, it is important to identify which types of cancers will properly response to SOD inhibition therapies. The potency and stability of SOD inhibitors at an effective concentration are also two important considerations for future development of new SOD inhibitors as anticancer drugs.

4.5 Future Perspective

The balance of intracellular ROS and antioxidants plays a critical role in maintaining homeostasis in both normal and malignant cells. ROS not only promote carcinogenesis but paradoxically are key players in nonsurgical anticancer treatments by

inducing tumor cell death. Similarly, antioxidant enzymes including SODs, not only protect normal cells against superoxide-mediated tumorigenesis, but also favor tumor survival. What can be concluded from the above evidence is that changing the levels of ROS can have complex and pleiotropic effects on cell signaling. A mild prooxidant state seems to promote cellular proliferation/carcinogenesis while also suppressing apoptosis. However, as the ROS levels further increase, the concentration of hydrogen peroxide will reach a level sufficient to activate apoptosis signals via ROS-mediated oxidative stress. This can induce programmed cell death. The exposure to even more severe oxidative stress, caused by even higher levels of ROS (especially hydroxyl radicals), will ultimately lead to necrotic death as a result of oxidative damage to biological molecules. This issue raises the question of which SOD manipulation approach, be it the antioxidant or pro-oxidant pathway should be utilized as the anticancer strategy. The answer is far from simple or universal but a more complex consideration is needed based on the intricate interplay between the pro-oxidants and antioxidants in the particular cancer type.

SODs are important enzymes that provide the first line of defense against ROS. Compelling evidence suggests that these antioxidant enzymes, particularly the MnSOD, have tumor suppressive property. However, contradictory findings showed that targeting SODs enhanced chemotherapy- and radiation therapy-mediated tumor cell killing. Despite this paradox, a universal notion has emerged in which targeting the intrinsic oxidative stress in cancer cells appears to be a central focus. Antioxidant or pro-oxidant anticancer approach with SOD manipulation can be successful if and only if the knowledge of the redox signaling signature of the particular cancer cells is available.

Therefore, therapeutic intervention that targets the emerging redox vulnerabilities of cancer cells is promising in selectively delivering therapeutic benefits against tumors that display significant deviations from normal redox homeostasis. An ideal redox-modulating therapeutic agent should provide selective and specific cancer cell killing without causing harm to noncancerous cells. To achieve that, development of validated tumor redox biomarkers that will provide guidance for drug selection and predict therapeutic benefits of a certain redox chemotherapeutic agent is of crucial need. This targeting of the redox Achilles heel of the individual tumor by redox profiling, i.e., redox phenotyping and genotyping, or determining the "redoxome," to guide the selection of novel redox therapy as has been suggested by Cabello et al. [146] may greatly improve outcomes for cancer patients. Although facing many challenges ahead, this "patient-specific redox therapy" based on SOD manipulation holds great promise for future investigations in cancer therapy.

Acknowledgments The authors gratefully acknowledge the legacy of the late Professor Larry W. Oberley as he selflessly and tirelessly mentored us along our respective career paths; we would not be the investigators or the people that we are today without his gentle but firm guidance and leadership. We will be forever indebted to him for engendering within us an understanding of the importance of free radical biology in cancer biology and therapy. This work was supported by NIH grants CA073612 and CA115438, and Komen for the Cure grant KG080437.

References

- McCord JM, Fridovich I (1969) Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J Biol Chem 244:6049–6055
- 2. McCord JM (2000) The evolution of free radicals and oxidative stress. Am J Med 108:652-659
- 3. Behrend L, Henderson G, Zwacka RM (2003) Reactive oxygen species in oncogenic transformation. Biochem Soc Trans 31:1441–1444
- Benhar M, Engelberg D, Levitzki A (2002) ROS, stress-activated kinases and stress signalling in cancer. EMBO Rep 3:420–425
- Kinnula VL, Crapo JD (2004) Superoxide Dismutases in malignant cells and human tumors. Free Radic Biol Med 36:718–744
- Feig DI, Reid TM, Loeb LA (1994) Reactive oxygen species in tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 54:1890s–1894s
- Breimer LH (1990) Molecular mechanisms of oxygen radical carcinogenesis and mutagenesis: the role of DNA base damage. Mol Carcinog 3:188–197
- Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, Izakovic M, Mazur M (2006) Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. Chem Biol Interact 160:1–40
- Spitz DR, Sim JE, Ridnour LA, Galoforo SS, Lee YJ (2000) Glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress in human tumor cells. A fundamental defect in metabolism? Ann NY Acad Sci 899:349–362
- Levin L, Gevers W (1981) Metabolic alterations in cancer. Part I. Carbohydrate metabolism. S Afr Med J 59:518–521
- 11. Shaw RJ (2006) Glucose metabolism and cancer. Curr Opin Cell Biol 18:598-608
- Chen Z, Lu W, Garcia-Prieto C, Huang P (2007) The Warburg effect and its cancer therapeutic implications. J Bioenerg Biomembr 39:267–274
- 13. DeBerardinis RJ, Lum JJ, Hatzivassiliou G, Thompson CB (2008) The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation. Cell Metab 7:11–20
- 14. Droge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 82:47–95
- Sun Y, Oberley LW (1996) Redox regulation of transcriptional activators. Free Radic Biol Med 21:335–348
- Blackburn RV, Spitz DR, Liu X, Galoforo SS, Sim JE, Ridnour LA, Chen JC, Davis BH, Corry PM, Lee YJ (1999) Metabolic oxidative stress activates signal transduction and gene expression during glucose deprivation in human tumor cells. Free Radic Biol Med 26:419–430
- Poli G, Leonarduzzi G, Biasi F, Chiarpotto E (2004) Oxidative stress and cell signalling. Curr Med Chem 11:1163–1182
- Sen CK, Packer L (1996) Antioxidant and redox regulation of gene transcription. FASEB J 10:709–720
- Huang LE, Arany Z, Livingston DM, Bunn HF (1996) Activation of hypoxia-inducible transcription factor depends primarily upon redox-sensitive stabilization of its alpha subunit. J Biol Chem 271:32253–32259
- Kaewpila S, Venkataraman S, Buettner GR, Oberley LW (2008) Manganese superoxide dismutase modulates hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha induction via superoxide. Cancer Res 68:2781–2788
- Krysan K, Lou MF (2002) Regulation of human thioltransferase (hTTase) gene by AP-1 transcription factor under oxidative stress. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43:1876–1883
- 22. Piette J, Piret B, Bonizzi G, Schoonbroodt S, Merville MP, Legrand-Poels S, Bours V (1997) Multiple redox regulation in NF-kappaB transcription factor activation. Biol Chem 378:1237–1245
- Oberley LW, Buettner GR (1979) Role of superoxide dismutase in cancer: a review. Cancer Res 39:1141–1149

- 4 Superoxide Dismutase and Cancer Therapy
 - Oberley LW (2005) Mechanism of the tumor suppressive effect of MnSOD over-expression. Biomed Pharmacother 59:143–148
 - Mukhopadhyay-Sardar S, Rana MP, Chatterjee M (2000) Antioxidant associated chemoprevention by selenomethionine in murine tumor model. Mol Cell Biochem 206:17–25
 - 26. Laurent A, Nicco C, Chereau C, Goulvestre C, Alexandre J, Alves A, Levy E, Goldwasser F, Panis Y, Soubrane O, Weill B, Batteux F (2005) Controlling tumor growth by modulating endogenous production of reactive oxygen species. Cancer Res 65:948–956
 - Zhong W, Oberley LW, Oberley TD (1997) Suppression of the malignant phenotype of human glioma cells by over-expression of manganese superoxide dismutase. Oncogene 14:481–490
 - Liu R, Oberley TD, Oberley LW (1997) Transfection and expression of MnSOD cDNA decreases tumor malignancy of human oral squamous carcinoma SCC-25 cells. Hum Gene Ther 8:585–595
 - Weydert CJ, Waugh TA, Ritchie JM, Iyer KS, Smith JL, Li L, Spitz DR, Oberley LW (2006) Over-expression of manganese or copper-zinc superoxide dismutase inhibits breast cancer growth. Free Radic Biol Med 41:226–237
 - Venkataraman S, Jiang X, Weydert C, Zhang Y, Zhang HJ, Goswami PC, Ritchie JM, Oberley LW, Buettner GR (2005) Manganese superoxide dismutase over-expression inhibits the growth of androgen-independent prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 24:77–89
 - 31. Ough M, Lewis A, Zhang Y, Hinkhouse MM, Ritchie JM, Oberley LW, Cullen JJ (2004) Inhibition of cell growth by over-expression of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) in human pancreatic carcinoma. Free Radic Res 38:1223–1233
 - 32. Cullen JJ, Weydert C, Hinkhouse MM, Ritchie J, Domann FE, Spitz D, Oberley LW (2003) The role of manganese superoxide dismutase in the growth of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 63:1297–1303
 - 33. Darby Weydert CJ, Smith BB, Xu L, Kregel KC, Ritchie JM, Davis CS, Oberley LW (2003) Inhibition of oral cancer cell growth by adenovirusMnSOD plus BCNU treatment. Free Radic Biol Med 34:316–329
 - 34. Zhao Y, Xue Y, Oberley TD, Kiningham KK, Lin SM, Yen HC, Majima H, Hines J, St Clair D (2001) Over-expression of manganese superoxide dismutase suppresses tumor formation by modulation of activator protein-1 signaling in a multistage skin carcinogenesis model. Cancer Res 61:6082–6088
 - 35. Lam EW, Zwacka R, Seftor EA, Nieva DR, Davidson BL, Engelhardt JF, Hendrix MJ, Oberley LW (1999) Effects of antioxidant enzyme over-expression on the invasive phenotype of hamster cheek pouch carcinoma cells. Free Radic Biol Med 27:572–579
 - 36. Li N, Oberley TD, Oberley LW, Zhong W (1998) Over-expression of manganese superoxide dismutase in DU145 human prostate carcinoma cells has multiple effects on cell phenotype. Prostate 35:221–233
 - Wong GH (1995) Protective roles of cytokines against radiation: induction of mitochondrial MnSOD. Biochim Biophys Acta 1271:205–209
 - 38. Isoda H, Akagi K, Hasegawa T, Tanaka Y, Kihara T, Sakata S, Ikeda M (1995) Detection of an increase in ascorbate radical in an irradiated experimental tumour system using ESR. Int J Radiat Biol 68:467–473
 - Emerit I, Arutyunyan R, Oganesian N, Levy A, Cernjavsky L, Sarkisian T, Pogossian A, Asrian K (1995) Radiation-induced clastogenic factors: anticlastogenic effect of Ginkgo biloba extract. Free Radic Biol Med 18:985–991
- 40. Mizutani Y, Bonavida B, Koishihara Y, Akamatsu K, Ohsugi Y, Yoshida O (1995) Sensitization of human renal cell carcinoma cells to cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) by anti-interleukin 6 monoclonal antibody or anti-interleukin 6 receptor monoclonal antibody. Cancer Res 55:590–596
- Rigas B, Sun Y (2008) Induction of oxidative stress as a mechanism of action of chemopreventive agents against cancer. Br J Cancer 98:1157–1160
- 42. Milovanovic SR, Monje E, Szepeshazi K, Radulovic S, Schally A (1993) Effect of treatment with LHRH analogs containing cytotoxic radicals on the binding characteristics of receptors for luteinizing-hormone-releasing hormone in MXT mouse mammary carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 119:273–278

- Comis RL (1992) Bleomycin pulmonary toxicity: current status and future directions. Semin Oncol 19:64–70
- 44. Yoshikawa T, Kokura S, Tainaka K, Itani K, Oyamada H, Kaneko T, Naito Y, Kondo M (1993) The role of active oxygen species and lipid peroxidation in the antitumor effect of hyperthermia. Cancer Res 53:2326–2329
- Kong Q, Beel JA, Lillehei KO (2000) A threshold concept for cancer therapy. Med Hypotheses 55:29–35
- Fang J, Nakamura H, Iyer AK (2007) Tumor-targeted induction of oxystress for cancer therapy. J Drug Target 15:475–486
- Crapo JD, Oury T, Rabouille C, Slot JW, Chang LY (1992) Copper, zinc superoxide dismutase is primarily a cytosolic protein in huan cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:10405–10409
- Okado-Matsumoto A, Fridovich I (2001) Subcellular distribution of superoxide dismutases (SOD) in rat liver: Cu,Zn-SOD in mitochondria. J Biol Chem 276:38388–38393
- 49. Sturtz LA, Diekert K, Jensen LT, Lill R, Culotta VC (2001) A fraction of yeast Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase and its metallochaperone, CCS, localize to the intermembrane space of mitochondria. A physiological role for SOD1 in guarding against mitochondrial oxidative damage. J Biol Chem 276:38084–38089
- Zelko IN, Mariani TJ, Folz RJ (2002) Superoxide dismutase multigene family: a comparison of the CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2), and EC-SOD (SOD3) gene structures, evolution, and expression. Free Radic Biol Med 33:337–349
- Weisiger RA (1973) Mitochondrial superoxide dismutase: site of synthesis and intramitochondrial localization. J Biol Chem 248:4793–4796
- Marklund SL, Holme E, Hellner L (1982) Superoxide dismutase in extracellular fluids. Clin Chim Acta 126:41–51
- 53. Copin JC, Gasche Y, Chan PH (2000) Over-expression of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase does not prevent neonatal lethality in mutant mice that lack manganese superoxide dismutase. Free Radic Biol Med 28:1571–1576
- Missirlis F, Hu J, Kirby K, Hilliker AJ, Rouault TA, Phillips JP (2003) Compartment-specific protection of iron-sulfur proteins by superoxide dismutase. J Biol Chem 278:47365–47369
- 55. Mendez JI, Nicholson WJ, Taylor WR (2005) SOD isoforms and signaling in blood vessels: evidence for the importance of ROS compartmentalization. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25:887–888
- 56. Winterbourn CC (1993) Superoxide as an intracellular radical sink. Free Radic Biol Med 14:85–90
- Huang TT, Yasunami M, Carlson EJ, Gillespie AM, Reaume AG, Hoffman EK, Chan PH, Scott RW, Epstein CJ (1997) Superoxide-mediated cytotoxicity in superoxide dismutasedeficient fetal fibroblasts. Arch Biochem Biophys 344:424–432
- Li Y, Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Melov S, Ursell PC, Olson JL, Noble LJ, Yoshimura MP, Berger C, Chan PH, Wallace DC, Epstein CJ (1995) Dilated cardiomyopathy and neonatal lethality in mutant mice lacking manganese superoxide dismutase. Nat Genet 11:376–381
- 59. Lebovitz RM, Zhang H, Vogel H, Cartwright J Jr, Dionne L, Lu N, Huang S, Matzuk MM (1996) Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury, and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:9782–9787
- Tsan MF (2001) Superoxide dismutase and pulmonary oxygen toxicity: lessons from transgenic and knockout mice (Review). Int J Mol Med 7:13–19
- Tsan MF, White JE, Caska B, Epstein CJ, Lee CY (1998) Susceptibility of heterozygous MnSOD gene-knockout mice to oxygen toxicity. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 19:114–120
- 62. Reaume AG, Elliott JL, Hoffman EK, Kowall NW, Ferrante RJ, Siwek DF, Wilcox HM, Flood DG, Beal MF, Brown RH Jr, Scott RW, Snider WD (1996) Motor neurons in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase-deficient mice develop normally but exhibit enhanced cell death after axonal injury. Nat Genet 13:43–47
- Carlsson LM, Jonsson J, Edlund T, Marklund SL (1995) Mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase are more sensitive to hyperoxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:6264–6268
- 64. Cerutti PA (1985) Prooxidant states and tumor promotion. Science 227:375-381

- Oberley LW, Oberley TD (1988) Role of antioxidant enzymes in cell immortalization and transformation. Mol Cell Biochem 84:147–153
- Hileman EA, Achanta G, Huang P (2001) Superoxide dismutase: an emerging target for cancer therapeutics. Expert Opin Ther Targets 5:697–710
- Yamanaka N, Deamer D (1974) Superoxide dismutase activity in WI-38 cell cultures: effects of age, trypsinization and SV-40 transformation. Physiol Chem Phys 6:95–106
- Oberley TD, Oberley LW (1997) Antioxidant enzyme levels in cancer. Histol Histopathol 12:525–535
- 69. Oberley LW, Bize IB, Sahu SK, Leuthauser SW, Gruber HE (1978) Superoxide dismutase activity of normal murine liver, regenerating liver, and H6 hepatoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 61:375–379
- Yamanaka N, Ota K, Utsumi K (1978) Changes in superoxide dismutase activities during development, aging, and transformation. University Park Press, Baltimore, pp 183–190
- Dionisi O, Galeotti T, Terranova T, Azzi A (1975) Superoxide radicals and hydrogen peroxide formation in mitochondria from normal and neoplastic tissues. Biochim Biophys Acta 403:292–300
- 72. Xu Y, Krishnan A, Wan XS, Majima H, Yeh CC, Ludewig G, Kasarskis EJ (1999) Mutations in the promoter reveal a cause for the reduced expression of the human manganese superoxide dismutase gene in cancer cells. Oncogene 18:93–102
- Hitchler MJ, Wikainapakul K, Yu L, Powers K, Attatippaholkun W, Domann FE (2006) Epigenetic regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase expression in human breast cancer cells. Epigenetics 1:163–171
- Hitchler MJ, Oberley LW, Domann FE (2008) Epigenetic silencing of SOD2 by histone modifications in human breast cancer cells. Free Radic Biol Med 45:1573–1580
- Millikin D, Meese E, Vogelstein B, Witkowski C, Trent J (1991) Loss of heterozygosity for loci on the long arm of chromosome 6 in human malignant melanoma. Cancer Res 51:5449–5453
- Liang BC, Ross DA, Greenberg HS, Meltzer PS, Trent JM (1994) Evidence of allelic imbalance of chromosome 6 in human astrocytomas. Neurology 44:533–536
- 77. Hernandez-Saavedra D, McCord JM (2003) Paradoxical effects of thiol reagents on Jurkat cells and a new thiol-sensitive mutant form of human mitochondrial superoxide dismutase. Cancer Res 63:159–163
- Martin RC, Li Y, Liu Q, Jensen NS, Barker DF, Doll MA, Hein DW (2009) Manganese superoxide dismutase V16A single-nucleotide polymorphism in the mitochondrial targeting sequence is associated with reduced enzymatic activity in cryopreserved human hepatocytes. DNA Cell Biol 28(1):3–7
- Marklund SL, Westman NG, Lundgren E, Roos G (1982) Copper- and zinc-containing superoxide dismutase, manganese-containing superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase in normal and neoplastic human cell lines and normal human tissues. Cancer Res 42:1955–1961
- Hileman EO, Liu J, Albitar M, Keating MJ, Huang P (2004) Intrinsic oxidative stress in cancer cells: a biochemical basis for therapeutic selectivity. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 53:209–219
- Sutton A, Khoury H, Prip-Buus C, Cepanec C, Pessayre D, Degoul F (2003) The Ala16Val genetic dimorphism modulates the import of human manganese superoxide dismutase into rat liver mitochondria. Pharmacogenetics 13:145–157
- 82. Millikan RC, Player J, de Cotret AR, Moorman P, Pittman G, Vannappagari V, Tse CK, Keku T (2004) Manganese superoxide dismutase Ala-9Val polymorphism and risk of breast cancer in a population-based case-control study of African Americans and whites. Breast Cancer Res 6:R264–274
- 83. Kang D, Lee KM, Park SK, Berndt SI, Peters U, Reding D, Chatterjee N, Welch R, Chanock S, Huang WY, Hayes RB (2007) Functional variant of manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD2 V16A) polymorphism is associated with prostate cancer risk in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancer study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 16:1581–1586

- 84. Sutton A, Imbert A, Igoudjil A, Descatoire V, Cazanave S, Pessayre D, Degoul F (2005) The manganese superoxide dismutase Ala16Val dimorphism modulates both mitochondrial import and mRNA stability. Pharmacogenet Genomics 15:311–319
- 85. Ambrosone CB, Ahn J, Singh KK, Rezaishiraz H, Furberg H, Sweeney C, Coles B, Trovato A (2005) Polymorphisms in genes related to oxidative stress (MPO, MnSOD, CAT) and survival after treatment for breast cancer. Cancer Res 65:1105–1111
- 86. Bag A, Bag N (2008) Target sequence polymorphism of human manganese superoxide dismutase gene and its association with cancer risk: a review. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 17:3298–3305
- 87. Gius D, Spitz DR (2006) Redox signaling in cancer biology. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:1249–1252
- Liaw KY, Lee PH, Wu FC, Tsai JS, Lin-Shiau SY (1997) Zinc, copper, and superoxide dismutase in hepatocellular carcinoma. Am J Gastroenterol 92:2260–2263
- Kasapovic J, Pejic S, Todorovic A, Stojiljkovic V, Pajovic SB (2008) Antioxidant status and lipid peroxidation in the blood of breast cancer patients of different ages. Cell Biochem Funct 26:723–730
- 90. Bostwick DG, Alexander EE, Singh R, Shan A, Qian J, Santella RM, Oberley LW, Yan T, Zhong W, Jiang X, Oberley TD (2000) Antioxidant enzyme expression and reactive oxygen species damage in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and cancer. Cancer 89:123–134
- Pejic S, Todorovic A, Stojiljkovic V, Cvetkovic D, Lucic N, Radojicic RM, Saicic ZS, Pajovic SB (2008) Superoxide dismutase and lipid hydroperoxides in blood and endometrial tissue of patients with benign, hyperplastic and malignant endometrium. Ann Acad Bras Cienc 80:515–522
- 92. Janssen AM, Bosman CB, Kruidenier L, Griffioen G, Lamers CB, van Krieken JH, van de Velde CJ, Verspaget HW (1999) Superoxide dismutases in the human colorectal cancer sequence. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 125:327–335
- 93. Toyokuni S (1998) Oxidative stress and cancer: the role of redox regulation. Biotherapy 11:147–154
- Yoshii Y, Saito A, Zhao DW, Nose T (1999) Copper/zinc superoxide dismutase, nuclear DNA content, and progression in human gliomas. J Neurooncol 42:103–108
- Andersen PM (2006) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis associated with mutations in the CuZn superoxide dismutase gene. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 6:37–46
- 96. Ookawara T, Imazeki N, Matsubara O, Kizaki T, Oh-Ishi S, Nakao C, Sato Y, Ohno H (1998) Tissue distribution of immunoreactive mouse extracellular superoxide dismutase. Am J Physiol 275:C840–847
- 97. Svensk AM, Soini Y, Paakko P, Hiravikoski P, Kinnula VL (2004) Differential expression of superoxide dismutases in lung cancer. Am J Clin Pathol 122:395–404
- Sandstrom J, Nilsson P, Karlsson K, Marklund SL (1994) 10-fold increase in human plasma extracellular superoxide dismutase content caused by a mutation in heparin-binding domain. J Biol Chem 269:19163–19166
- 99. Yamada H, Yamada Y, Adachi T, Fukatsu A, Sakuma M, Futenma A, Kakumu S (2000) Protective role of extracellular superoxide dismutase in hemodialysis patients. Nephron 84:218–223
- 100. Marklund SL, Nilsson P, Israelsson K, Schampi I, Peltonen M, Asplund K (1997) Two variants of extracellular-superoxide dismutase: relationship to cardiovascular risk factors in an unselected middle-aged population. J Intern Med 242:5–14
- 101. Young RP, Hopkins R, Black PN, Eddy C, Wu L, Gamble GD, Mills GD, Garrett JE, Eaton TE, Rees MI (2006) Functional variants of antioxidant genes in smokers with COPD and in those with normal lung function. Thorax 61:394–399
- 102. Trent JM, Stanbridge EJ, McBride HL, Meese EU, Casey G, Araujo DE, Witkowski CM, Nagle RB (1990) Tumorigenicity in human melanoma cell lines controlled by introduction of human chromosome 6. Science 247:568–571
- 103. St Clair DK, Wan XS, Oberley TD, Muse KE (1992) Suppression of radiation-induced neoplastic transformation by over-expression of mitochondrial superoxide dismutase. Mol Carcinog 6:238–242

- 104. Church SL, Grant JW, Ridnour LA, Oberley LW, Swanson PE, Meltzer PS, Trent JM (1993) Increased manganese superoxide dismutase expression suppresses the malignant phenotype of human melanoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:3113–3117
- 105. Li JJ, Oberley LW, St Clair DK, Ridnour LA, Oberley TD (1995) Phenotypic changes induced in human breast cancer cells by over-expression of manganese-containing superoxide dismutase. Oncogene 10:1989–2000
- 106. Yan T, Oberley LW, Zhong W, St Clair DK (1996) Manganese-containing superoxide dismutase over-expression causes phenotypic reversion in SV40-transformed human lung fibroblasts. Cancer Res 56:2864–2871
- 107. Melendez JA, Melathe RP, Rodriguez AM, Mazurkiewicz JE, Davies KJ (1999) Nitric oxide enhances the manganese superoxide dismutase-dependent suppression of proliferation in HT-1080 fibrosarcoma cells. Cell Growth Differ 10:655–664
- 108. Takada Y, Hachiya M, Park SH, Osawa Y, Ozawa T, Akashi M (2002) Role of reactive oxygen species in cells overexpressing manganese superoxide dismutase: mechanism for induction of radioresistance. Mol Cancer Res 1:137–146
- 109. Hu Y, Rosen DG, Zhou Y, Feng L, Yang G, Liu J, Huang P (2005) Mitochondrial manganesesuperoxide dismutase expression in ovarian cancer: role in cell proliferation and response to oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 280:39485–39492
- 110. Palazzotti B, Pani G, Colavitti R, De Leo ME, Bedogni B, Borrello S, Galeotti T (1999) Increased growth capacity of cervical-carcinoma cells over-expressing manganous superoxide dismutase. Int J Cancer 82:145–150
- 111. Connor KM, Hempel N, Nelson KK, Dabiri G, Gamarra A, Belarmino J, Van De Water L, Mian BM, Melendez JA (2007) Manganese superoxide dismutase enhances the invasive and migratory activity of tumor cells. Cancer Res 67:10260–10267
- 112. Ueta E, Yoneda K, Kimura T, Tatemoto Y, Doi S, Yamamoto T, Osaki T (2001) Mn-SOD antisense upregulates in vivo apoptosis of squamous cell carcinoma cells by anticancer drugs and gamma-rays regulating expression of the BCL-2 family proteins, COX-2 and p21. Int J Cancer 94:545–550
- 113. Teoh ML, Sun W, Smith BJ, Oberley LW, Cullen JJ (2007) Modulation of Reactive Oxygen Species in pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 13:7441–7450
- 114. Zhang Y, Zhao W, Zhang HJ, Domann FE, Oberley LW (2002) Over-expression of copper zinc superoxide dismutase suppresses human glioma cell growth. Cancer Res 62:1205–1212
- 115. Bai J, Zhu X, Zheng X, Wu Y (1998) Over-expression of CuZnSOD gene suppresses the growth of hepatocellular cancer cell line HepG2. Chin Med J (Engl) 111:789–792
- 116. Muramatsu H, Kogawa K, Tanaka M, Okumura K, Nishihori Y, Koike K, Kuga T, Niitsu Y (1995) Superoxide dismutase in SAS human tongue carcinoma cell line is a factor defining invasiveness and cell motility. Cancer Res 55:6210–6214
- 117. Kogawa K, Muramatsu H, Tanaka M, Nishihori Y, Hagiwara S, Kuribayashi K, Nakamura K, Koike K, Sakamaki S, Niitsu Y (1999) Enhanced inhibition of experimental metastasis by the combination chemotherapy of Cu-Zn SOD and adriamycin. Clin Exp Metastasis 17:239–244
- 118. Yoshizaki N, Mogi Y, Muramatsu H, Koike K, Kogawa K, Niitsu Y (1994) Suppressive effect of recombinant human Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase on lung metastasis of murine tumor cells. Int J Cancer 57:287–292
- 119. Nonaka Y, Iwagaki H, Kimura T, Fuchimoto S, Orita K (1993) Effect of reactive oxygen intermediates on the in vitro invasive capacity of tumor cells and liver metastasis in mice. Int J Cancer 54:983–986
- 120. Lu YP, Lou YR, Yen P, Newmark HL, Mirochnitchenko OI, Inouye M, Huang MT (1997) Enhanced skin carcinogenesis in transgenic mice with high expression of glutathione peroxidase or both glutathione peroxidase and superoxide dismutase. Cancer Res 57:1468–1474
- 121. Fukai T, Folz RJ, Landmesser U, Harrison DG (2002) Extracellular superoxide dismutase and cardiovascular disease. Cardiovasc Res 55:239–249
- 122. Teoh ML, Fitzgerald MP, Oberley LW, Domann FE (2009) Over-expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase attenuates heparanase expression and inhibits breast carcinoma cell growth and invasion. Cancer Res 69:6355–6363

- 123. Wheeler MD, Smutney OM, Samulski RJ (2003) Secretion of extracellular superoxide dismutase from muscle transduced with recombinant adenovirus inhibits the growth of B16 melanomas in mice. Mol Cancer Res 1:871–881
- 124. Tanaka M, Kogawa K, Nakamura K, Nishihori Y, Kuribayashi K, Hagiwara S, Muramatsu H, Sakamaki S, Niitsu Y (2001) Anti-metastatic gene therapy utilizing subcutaneous inoculation of EC-SOD gene transduced autologous fibroblast suppressed lung metastasis of Meth-A cells and 3LL cells in mice. Gene Ther 8:149–156
- 125. Karlsson K, Marklund SL (1989) Binding of human extracellular-superoxide dismutase C to cultured cell lines and to blood cells. Lab Invest 60:659–666
- Karlsson K, Sandstrom J, Edlund A, Marklund SL (1994) Turnover of extracellular-superoxide dismutase in tissues. Lab Invest 70:705–710
- 127. Zhao W, Robbins ME (2009) Inflammation and chronic oxidative stress in radiation-induced late normal tissue injury: therapeutic implications. Curr Med Chem 16:130–143
- 128. Abe M, Nishidai T, Yukawa Y, Takahashi M, Ono K, Hiraoka M, Ri N (1981) Studies on the radioprotective effects of superoxide dismutase in mice. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 7:205–209
- 129. Lefaix JL, Delanian S, Leplat JJ, Tricaud Y, Martin M, Nimrod A, Baillet F, Daburon F (1996) Successful treatment of radiation-induced fibrosis using Cu/Zn-SOD and Mn-SOD: an experimental study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 35:305–312
- Delanian S, Baillet F, Huart J, Lefaix JL, Maulard C, Housset M (1994) Successful treatment of radiation-induced fibrosis using liposomal Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase: clinical trial. Radiother Oncol 32:12–20
- 131. Carpenter M, Epperly MW, Agarwal A, Nie S, Hricisak L, Niu Y, Greenberger JS (2005) Inhalation delivery of manganese superoxide dismutase-plasmid/liposomes protects the murine lung from irradiation damage. Gene Ther 12:685–693
- 132. Epperly MW, Carpenter M, Agarwal A, Mitra P, Nie S, Greenberger JS (2004) Intraoral manganese superoxide dismutase-plasmid/liposome (MnSOD-PL) radioprotective gene therapy decreases ionizing irradiation-induced murine mucosal cell cycling and apoptosis. In Vivo 18:401–410
- 133. Epperly MW, Defilippi S, Sikora C, Gretton J, Greenberger JS (2002) Radioprotection of lung and esophagus by over-expression of the human manganese superoxide dismutase transgene. Mil Med 167:71–73
- 134. Greenberger JS, Epperly MW, Gretton J, Jefferson M, Nie S, Bernarding M, Kagan V, Guo HL (2003) Radioprotective gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther 3:183–195
- 135. Epperly MW, Gretton JE, Sikora CA, Jefferson M, Bernarding M, Nie S, Greenberger JS (2003) Mitochondrial localization of superoxide dismutase is required for decreasing radiation-induced cellular damage. Radiat Res 160:568–578
- 136. Kang SK, Rabbani ZN, Folz RJ, Golson ML, Huang H, Yu D, Samulski TS, Dewhirst MW, Anscher MS, Vujaskovic Z (2003) Over-expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase protects mice from radiation-induced lung injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 57:1056–1066
- 137. Rabbani ZN, Anscher MS, Folz RJ, Archer E, Huang H, Chen L, Golson ML, Samulski TS, Dewhirst MW, Vujaskovic Z (2005) Over-expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase reduces acute radiation induced lung toxicity. BMC Cancer 5:59
- Bowler RP, Nicks M, Warnick K, Crapo JD (2002) Role of extracellular superoxide dismutase in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 282:L719–726
- 139. Fattman CL, Chang LY, Termin TA, Petersen L, Enghild JJ, Oury TD (2003) Enhanced bleomycin-induced pulmonary damage in mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase. Free Radic Biol Med 35:763–771
- Marklund SL (1984) Extracellular superoxide dismutase in human tissues and human cell lines. J Clin Invest 74:1398–1403
- 141. Oury TD, Chang LY, Marklund SL, Day BJ, Crapo JD (1994) Immunocytochemical localization of extracellular superoxide dismutase in human lung. Lab Invest 70:889–898

- 142. Gao F, Kinnula VL, Myllarniemi M, Oury TD (2008) Extracellular superoxide dismutase in pulmonary fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:343–354
- 143. Kliment CR, Tobolewski JM, Manni ML, Tan RJ, Enghild J, Oury TD (2008) Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against matrix degradation of heparan sulfate in the lung. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:261–268
- 144. Petersen SV, Oury TD, Ostergaard L, Valnickova Z, Wegrzyn J, Thogersen IB, Jacobsen C, Bowler RP, Fattman CL, Crapo JD, Enghild JJ (2004) Extracellular superoxide dismutase (EC-SOD) binds to type i collagen and protects against oxidative fragmentation. J Biol Chem 279:13705–13710
- 145. Gao F, Koenitzer JR, Tobolewski JM, Jiang D, Liang J, Noble PW, Oury TD (2008) Extracellular superoxide dismutase inhibits inflammation by preventing oxidative fragmentation of hyaluronan. J Biol Chem 283:6058–6066
- 146. Cabello CM, Bair WB 3rd, Wondrak GT (2007) Experimental therapeutics: targeting the redox Achilles heel of cancer. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 8:1022–1037
- 147. Salvemini D, Cuzzocrea S (2003) Therapeutic potential of superoxide dismutase mimetics as therapeutic agents in critical care medicine. Crit Care Med 31:S29–38
- 148. Doctrow SR, Huffman K, Marcus CB, Tocco G, Malfroy E, Adinolfi CA, Kruk H, Baker K, Lazarowych N, Mascarenhas J, Malfroy B (2002) Salen-manganese complexes as catalytic scavengers of hydrogen peroxide and cytoprotective agents: structure-activity relationship studies. J Med Chem 45:4549–4558
- 149. Alexandre J, Nicco C, Chereau C, Laurent A, Weill B, Goldwasser F, Batteux F (2006) Improvement of the therapeutic index of anticancer drugs by the superoxide dismutase mimic mangafodipir. J Natl Cancer Inst 98:236–244
- 150. Salvemini D, Mazzon E, Dugo L, Riley DP, Serraino I, Caputi AP, Cuzzocrea S (2001) Pharmacological manipulation of the inflammatory cascade by the superoxide dismutase mimetic, M40403. Br J Pharmacol 132:815–827
- 151. Muscoli C, Cuzzocrea S, Riley DP, Zweier JL, Thiemermann C, Wang ZQ, Salvemini D (2003) On the selectivity of superoxide dismutase mimetics and its importance in pharmacological studies. Br J Pharmacol 140:445–460
- 152. Samlowski WE, Petersen R, Cuzzocrea S, Macarthur H, Burton D, McGregor JR, Salvemini D (2003) A nonpeptidyl mimic of superoxide dismutase, M40403, inhibits dose-limiting hypotension associated with interleukin-2 and increases its antitumor effects. Nat Med 9:750–755
- National Institute of Health NCT00033956: Evaluation of M40403 for the prevention of dose limiting toxicities of high dose IL-2. http://www.clinicaltrial.gov/ct2/show/NCT00033956, 2007
- 154. Masini E, Cuzzocrea S, Mazzon E, Marzocca C, Mannaioni PF, Salvemini D (2002) Protective effects of M40403, a selective superoxide dismutase mimetic, in myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion injury in vivo. Br J Pharmacol 136:905–917
- 155. Wang ZQ, Porreca F, Cuzzocrea S, Galen K, Lightfoot R, Masini E, Muscoli C, Mollace V, Ndengele M, Ischiropoulos H, Salvemini D (2004) A newly identified role for superoxide in inflammatory pain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 309:869–878
- 156. Di Napoli M, Papa F (2005) M-40403 Metaphore Pharmaceuticals. IDrugs 8:67-76
- 157. Murphy CK, Fey EG, Watkins BA, Wong V, Rothstein D, Sonis ST (2008) Efficacy of superoxide dismutase mimetic M40403 in attenuating radiation-induced oral mucositis in hamsters. Clin Cancer Res 14:4292–4297
- 158. Krishna MC, DeGraff W, Hankovszky OH, Sar CP, Kalai T, Jeko J, Russo A, Mitchell JB, Hideg K (1998) Studies of structure-activity relationship of nitroxide free radicals and their precursors as modifiers against oxidative damage. J Med Chem 41:3477–3492
- 159. Suy S, Mitchell JB, Samuni A, Mueller S, Kasid U (2005) Nitroxide tempo, a small molecule, induces apoptosis in prostate carcinoma cells and suppresses tumor growth in athymic mice. Cancer 103:1302–1313
- 160. Wu Y, Tang W, Li CL, Liu JW, Miao LD, Han J, Lan MB (2006) Cytotoxicity of a newly synthesized nitroxide derivative of 4-ferrocenecarboxyl-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl in high metastatic lung tumor cells. Pharmazie 61:1028–1033

- 161. Gueven N, Luff J, Peng C, Hosokawa K, Bottle SE, Lavin MF (2006) Dramatic extension of tumor latency and correction of neurobehavioral phenotype in Atm-mutant mice with a nitroxide antioxidant. Free Radic Biol Med 41:992–1000
- 162. Pani G, Colavitti R, Bedogni B, Fusco S, Ferraro D, Borrello S, Galeotti T (2004) Mitochondrial superoxide dismutase: a promising target for new anticancer therapies. Curr Med Chem 11:1299–1308
- Cai J, Jones DP (1998) Superoxide in apoptosis. Mitochondrial generation triggered by cytochrome c loss. J Biol Chem 273:11401–11404
- 164. Wong GH, Elwell JH, Oberley LW, Goeddel DV (1989) Manganous superoxide dismutase is essential for cellular resistance to cytotoxicity of tumor necrosis factor. Cell 58:923–931
- 165. Wong GH, Goeddel DV (1988) Induction of manganous superoxide dismutase by tumor necrosis factor: possible protective mechanism. Science 242:941–944
- 166. Bharti AC, Aggarwal BB (2002) Nuclear factor-kappa B and cancer: its role in prevention and therapy. Biochem Pharmacol 64:883–888
- 167. Cole MP, Chaiswing L, Oberley TD, Edelmann SE, Piascik MT, Lin SM, Kiningham KK (2006) The protective roles of nitric oxide and superoxide dismutase in adriamycin-induced cardiotoxicity. Cardiovasc Res 69:186–197
- 168. Pani G, Bedogni B, Anzevino R, Colavitti R, Palazzotti B, Borrello S, Galeotti T (2000) Deregulated manganese superoxide dismutase expression and resistance to oxidative injury in p53-deficient cells. Cancer Res 60:4654–4660
- 169. Drane P, Bravard A, Bouvard V, May E (2001) Reciprocal down-regulation of p53 and SOD2 gene expression-implication in p53 mediated apoptosis. Oncogene 20:430–439
- 170. Rigo A, Stevanato R, Viglino P (1977) Competitive inhibition of Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase by monovalent anions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 79:776–783
- 171. Rigo A, Viglino P, Rotilio G (1975) Kinetic study of O-2 dismutation by bovine superoxide dismutase. Evidence for saturation of the catalytic sites by O-2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 63:1013–1018
- 172. Wambi-Kiesse CO, Katusic ZS (1999) Inhibition of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase impairs NO.-mediated endothelium-dependent relaxations. Am J Physiol 276:H1043–1048
- 173. Juarez JC, Betancourt O Jr, Pirie-Shepherd SR, Guan X, Price ML, Shaw DE, Mazar AP, Donate F (2006) Copper binding by tetrathiomolybdate attenuates angiogenesis and tumor cell proliferation through the inhibition of superoxide dismutase 1. Clin Cancer Res 12:4974–4982
- 174. Huang P, Feng L, Oldham EA, Keating MJ, Plunkett W (2000) Superoxide dismutase as a target for the selective killing of cancer cells. Nature 407:390–395
- 175. Kachadourian R, Liochev SI, Cabelli DE, Patel MN, Fridovich I, Day BJ (2001) 2-methoxyestradiol does not inhibit superoxide dismutase. Arch Biochem Biophys 392:349–353
- 176. Chang YF, Chi CW, Chern YT, Wang JJ (2005) Effects of 1, 6-Bis[4-(4-amino-3-hydroxyphenoxy)phenyl]diamantane (DPD), a reactive oxygen species and apoptosis inducing agent, on human leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 202:1–12

Chapter 5 Radiosensitization and Chemosensitization of Multicellular Tumor Spheroids by 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose is Stimulated by a Combination of TNFα and Glucose Deprivation-Induced Oxidative Stress

Divya Khaitan and Bilikere S. Dwarakanath

Abstract Selective sensitization of tumor cells to radiation and chemotherapeutic drugs by the glycolytic inhibitor 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG) arises from differential modifications of multiple damage response pathways in tumor and normal cells. Heterogeneity in responses to the combined treatment (2-DG+radiation/chemotherapeutic drugs) among mice bearing the same tumor has prompted studies on the roles of tumor physiology and host-tumor interactions. Using multicellular tumor spheroids (MTS), which mimic the microenvironment of tumors, we have addressed the issue of tumor physiology and found that the radio- and chemosensitization by 2-DG in MTS generated from a human glioma cell line (BMG-1) was nearly 2.5-fold higher than in monolayer cultures (MLCs), that correlated well with enhanced glycolysis in MTS. The enhanced sensitivity of MTS was accompanied by a profound induction of apoptotic and necrotic death as compared to cytogenetic damage-linked mitotic death as the major death pathway in MLC. Radio- and chemosensitization by 2-DG in MTS arose from endogenous TNF α -mediated oxidative stress and glucose deprivationinduced oxidative stress (due to the depletion of lactate) synergizing with oxidative stress induced by radiation and the chemotherapeutic drugs (like etoposide). Stimulation of MLC with TNFa elicited responses similar to MTS and supported its involvement in enhanced radio- and chemosensitization by 2-DG in MTS. Taken together, the available evidence suggests that alterations in cell signaling linked to tumor physiology, particularly related to endogenous and induced oxidative stress, contribute significantly to the radio- and chemosensitization of tumors by 2-DG.

D. Khaitan, PhD • B.S. Dwarakanath, PhD (🖂)

Division of Biocybernetics, Institute of Nuclear Medicine and Allied Sciences, Delhi 110 054, India e-mail: bsd@inmas.drdo.in

D.R. Spitz et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Cancer Biology and Therapy, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-61779-397-4_5, © Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2012

5.1 Introduction

It is increasingly becoming clear that resistance of tumors to various therapeutic agents as well as systemic complexity arising out of normal tissue toxicity limits the efficacy of contemporary cancer therapies [1]. The scenario is accentuated further in the treatment of solid tumors, where spatial heterogeneity of clonal population as well as constraints in drug delivery add another dimension to the problem. Therefore, approaches which have a higher potential for differentially enhancing therapeutic responses in tumor cells/tissues plays an important role in improving cancer therapy [2]. However, an equally important role is played by the deployment of appropriate relevant model systems that facilitate the evaluation and understanding of the mechanisms underlying tumor response, leading to the evolution of newer and more effective therapies [3–7]. Therefore, newer interventional approaches and the models employed for experimental studies need to be critically evaluated from the view point of their potential for enhancing therapeutic gain as well as the appropriateness of the model being employed. We briefly review here the use of multicellular tumor spheroids (MTS) in experimental oncology, focusing on the modifications of radiation and chemotherapeutic drug responses by the glucose analogue and glycolytic inhibitor 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG). We particularly emphasize the synergetic effects of endogenous oxidative stress related to $TNF\alpha$ and induced oxidative stress generated by primary therapeutic agents (radiation and chemotherapeutic drugs) as well as 2-DG in radio- and chemosensitization of MTCs that may have important implications on the responses of tumors in vivo to the combined treatment of 2-DG and radiation or chemotherapy.

5.2 Radio- and Chemosensitization of Tumors

The fact that tumors develop resistance to cancer treatments has stimulated the pursuit of agents that can sensitize tumor cells to the treatment, e.g., drugs which target resistance mechanisms. The goal of treatment sensitization is to increase the efficacy of the therapy, in addition to decreasing the drug doses needed and thereby reducing toxic side effects of the treatment. Many approaches using normal tissue protection with radioprotectors containing sulfhydryl groups [8, 9] or aminothiols [10] and radio/chemosensitizer like imidazoles, thymidine analogue, etc. had limited success due to acute toxicity of these compounds at therapeutically effective doses in the clinics.

Based on the differences in the bioenergetics of normal and tumor cells, particularly with reference to glucose metabolism [11-13], a novel approach has been proposed for improving cancer therapy that uses glycolytic inhibitors as modifiers of therapeutic response [14]. The cellular processes of repair and recovery from damage caused by radiation [14], certain anticancer drugs, as well as drug efflux are energy dependent [15, 16]. Since malignant cells derive most part of their energy from glycolysis, it has been suggested that inhibitors of glycolysis like 2-DG can differentially inhibit repair processes and drug efflux, thereby enhancing tumor cell death by radiation and chemotherapeutic agents [14, 16, 17]. Recent studies showing a strong correlation between elevated glucose metabolism and unfavorable clinical outcome, including resistance to therapeutic agents [18, 19], have supported the potential of this approach to enhance the efficacy of radio- and chemotherapy.

5.2.1 Strategies Targeting Glucose Metabolism in Cancer

Glycolysis occurring in the cytosol is one of the two main sources of cellular ATP production. Targeting glycolysis directly is, therefore, a straightforward approach to disrupting the energy metabolism of tumor cells for antitumor activity. There are several approaches that have been taken, including inhibiting glycolytic enzymes and glucose transporters and induction of release of HK II from the mitochondrial receptor [VPAC]. The compound 2-DG is an antimetabolite and a glycolysis inhibitor that is also preferentially taken up by tumors, similar to the uptake of glucose. 2-DG has been shown to cause cancer cell apoptosis in vitro and to also further upregulate Glut-1 [20] mimicking glucose deprivation. Although 2-DG alone seems to have very little antitumor activity, therapeutic strategies using combinations of 2-DG with other chemotherapeutic agents, for example, adriamycin and taxol, have demonstrated antitumor activity in animal models [21, 22]. One of the advantages of 2-DG over many other conventional treatments is that it is considered a nontoxic agent and may potentially offer better quality of life than other cytotoxic agents. Clinical studies have demonstrated that it was well-tolerated up to single doses of 300 mg per kg body weight [23] and seems to have clinical benefits when combined with radiation [23, 24]. A chemotherapy drug conjugated to glucose is also being tested [25] to take advantage of the increased glucose uptake by tumor for specific targeting of chemotherapy. There are other agents, besides 2-DG that target glucose metabolism, which have been either investigated in preclinical studies or suggested for evaluation. HK inhibitors, for example, 3-bromopyruvate, have been shown to have impressive activity against liver cancers [26]. Phloretin, a Glut-1 inhibitor, has been shown to suppress glucose uptake by 60% and sensitize cancer cells to daunorubicin.

5.3 Multicellular Tumor Spheroids as In Vitro Models of Cancer

To translate the findings from basic cellular research into clinical applications, cellbased models need to recapitulate both the heterogeneity and the microenvironment of the tumor. Various in vitro models have been used to study the effects of oxidative damage on cancer cells, and provide information about the biochemistry of cancer cells. However, tumor responses to many therapeutic agents and their combinations often differ from the responses of established tumor cell lines as monolayer cultures (MLCs) cannot mimic realistically the complex environmental conditions generated by an inadequate and inhomogeneous vascular supply leading to a heterogeneous cell population and processes that influence therapeutic efficacy [27, 28]. It has long been recognized that the cell-based models used in basic cellular research need to recapitulate both the three-dimensional organization and multicellular complexity of the tumor and also the organs to translate findings from these studies into clinical applications. Three-dimensional cultures have been utilized in biomedical research since the first half of the twentieth century to gain deeper insight into the mechanisms of organogenesis and expression of malignancy [27, 28]. The MTS is one of the best-described three-dimensional, in vitro tumor model system, which depicts many of the physiological and tissue characteristics of tumors and allows reproducible experiments. This system was adapted in cancer research during the early 1970s by Sutherland and colleagues and is widely used in many laboratories throughout the world today. MTS show strong similarities in morphology and mimic functional characteristics of in vivo solid tumors [27, 28].

Spheroids are sphere-shaped cell colonies that permit growth and functional studies of diverse, normal, and malignant tissues. MTS growth mimics the growth of naturally occurring human tumors as they contain an extensive extracellular matrix and network of cell-to-cell and cell-to-matrix interactions that differs in the relative amount and assembly from the corresponding MLCs [7]. They are characterized by high cell density, close packing, and 3-D tumor-like structure, which lead to severe diffusion limitations for molecules as small as glucose and oxygen leading to a gradient of oxygen and glucose in different zones of spheroids as in solid tumors [27]. In addition, solid spheroids also endogenously generate ROS that are used in signaling cascades involved in the regulation of tumor cell growth. Spheroids, therefore, serve as a good model bridging the condition between monolayers and in vivo tumors to gain further insight into the mechanisms involved in the response to various therapies, particularly the ones that are mediated by oxidative stress [29].

5.3.1 Role of Oxidative Stress in Radiosensitization by 2-DG in Spheroids

Oxidative stress has been found to induce apoptosis in a number of cell systems and plays an important role as a mediator of apoptosis in diverse models [30–32]. The functional importance of ROS generation for the activation of death mechanisms has also been supported with studies using antioxidants and inhibitors of specific enzymes in MLCs [33]. Another mechanism of the induction of apoptosis by ROS involves activation of FAS receptors belonging to the tumor necrosis factor family (TNF α) resulting in upregulation of extrinsic apoptotic pathway [34]. TNF α is a strong inducer of oxidative stress and also Nf κ B-mediated prosurvival responses [35]. While this signaling plays an important role in the response of solid tumors in vivo, it cannot be mimicked in MLC models due to negligible levels of TNF α . On the other hand, MTS present with varying levels of TNF α depending on the extent of necrotic cells and is influenced by the age and size of spheroids. Indeed, a significant difference in the levels of TNF α and corresponding endogenous oxidative stress has been noted in the spheroids of a human glioma cell line (BMG-1). Observations suggest the proposition that both the extent of cellular responses as well as the mechanisms involved could significantly differ between the MLCs and MTS and strongly suggest the need for an appropriate in vitro model to evaluate the tumor responses besides elucidating the mechanisms of actions.

Results from our earlier studies have shown that the ROS levels in spheroids generated from a human glioma cell line (BMG-1) were not significantly different from MLCs, although a 29% decrease in the GSH levels was evident [3]. Further, TNF α levels were also higher in spheroids suggesting a possible increase in the ROS generation. However, a two- to threefold increase in the glucose consumption and lactate production observed in the BMG-1 spheroids [3] suggested that the enhanced lactate from the enhanced glycolytic flux adequately compensated for the decrease in GSH in the nonenzymatic antioxidant defense [36]. Since the clonogenic survival of the MTS cells was not significantly compromised as compared to the MLCs, it appears that under unperturbed conditions there is homeostasis between generation of oxidative stress and apoptotic defense and/or prosurvival factors.

Extrinsic signals, such as death-inducing ligands, as well as intrinsic signals, like macromolecular damage (for example, DNA damage), generation of ROS, and metabolic catastrophe, cause cell death through multiple mechanisms. However, exposure of cells to the same perturbing agent can elicit diametrically opposite responses under different conditions. Such responses have important implications for the design of therapy using such agents. Our results clearly shows that exposure of 2-DG enhances the oxidative stress in spheroids due to leakiness of ROS from the damage to mitochondria. In vivo [37] as well as in vitro [37, 38] studies have revealed that sensitivity of tumor cells to TNF α is increased under conditions of reduced glucose metabolism, thereby enhancing cell death. Earlier studies have clearly shown that the 7-day-old BMG-1 spheroids manifest elevated glycolysis and express higher levels of c-Myc and TNF α [3], thereby making spheroid cells more susceptible to glucose deprivation-induced apoptosis.

The radiation-induced ROS in BMG-1 spheroids was significantly lower than the MLCs, along with an increase in the glycolysis that perhaps contributed to the radioresistance of the spheroids reported earlier [3]. However, the radiosensitization by the glycolytic inhibitor 2-DG was significantly higher in spheroids, which was mainly due to the enhanced apoptotic cell death, while the moderate sensitization in monolayers was primarily due to enhanced cytogenetic damage [39]. The enhanced apoptosis in spheroids correlated well with the sustained elevation of ROS observed under these conditions, suggesting that stimulation of ROS-induced cell death and compromised glycolysis-linked antiapoptotic response contributed to enhanced radiosensitization. The differential induction of apoptosis in spheroids and cytogenetic damage (micronuclei) in monolayers following exposure to gamma radiation and 2-DG are consistent with the idea that these processes are regulated by different proteins and depend on different signaling pathways which may not be mutually exclusive.

	Surviving fraction			Relative MFI values of ROS		
Treatment	MLS			MLS		
	Without TNF	TNF	MTS	Without TNF	TNF	MTS
None	1 ± 0.05	0.80 ± 0.1	1 ± 0.07	1.00 ± 0.8	1.00 ± 0.7	1.00 ± 0.1
2-DG	0.98 ± 0.3	0.74 ± 0.08	0.71 ± 0.08	1.27 ± 0.3	1.00 ± 0.4	1.04 ± 0.08
5 Gy	0.21 ± 0.04	0.11 ± 0.03	0.46 ± 0.03	2.18 ± 0.9	1.76 ± 0.6	1.09 ± 0.07
2-DG+5 Gy	0.13 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.03	0.15 ± 0.02	1.10 ± 0.4	3.18 ± 1.02	20.90 ± 2.9

Table 5.1 Spiking monolayer cultures with TNF enhance their sensitivity to radiation and 2-DG similar to the responses in spheroids

Existence of hypoxic and necrotic regions in the spheroids, which stabilize HIF1Alpha and secrete TNF α , could be one of the reasons for increased apoptosis in spheroids as stabilization/expression of these factors have also been shown to increase apoptosis in the glucose deprivation conditions [40]. Glucose metabolism results in the formation of not only ATP, but also regulates the redox potential through NADPH and helps the cell to detoxify intracellular hydroperoxides formed as by-products of oxidative metabolism in mitochondria [41]. Glucose deprivation leads to accumulation of pro-oxidants, like superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, due to the metabolic shift to oxidative phosphorylation, leading to glucose deprivationinduced oxidative stress which activates signal transduction pathways causing apoptosis often driving cells to apoptosis [42]. It appears that a significantly higher degree of radiosensitization induced by 2-DG in spheroids (two- to threefold) as compared to monolayers [1.4-fold] arises from a synergy between endogenous TNF α -mediated oxidative stress and glucodeprivation-induced oxidative stress due to a reduction in the lactate level. Support to this proposition came partly from the observations in MLCs, where stimulation by exogenously added TNF α elicited responses similar to spheroids (Table 5.1). Therefore, a synergy between endogenous oxidative stress (linked to $TNF\alpha$ and induced oxidative stress stimulated by 2-DG (linked to glucodeprivation) as well as radiation contributes to the radiosensitization, particularly in tumor tissues, whose behavior is mimicked by spheroids. Since tumor cells are generally associated with a disruption of intracellular oxidation/ reduction reactions as well as enhanced glucose metabolism [12, 13, 37], results obtained using spheroids culture can be used for obtaining a near-realistic estimate of the oxidative stress-related responses of tumors to the combined treatment of therapeutic agents, particularly metabolic modulators.

5.3.2 Chemosensitization of Spheroids by 2-DG

Tumor response to chemotherapeutic drugs is determined by a multitude of factors that include drug penetration to different parts of the tumor, status of cell signaling determined by intercellular interaction and tumor cell–extracellular matrix interaction,

hypoxia, etc. Major emphasis on experimental oncology has been given to the mechanisms of cellular resistance to drugs using MLCs which are partly responsible for the limited success of many chemotherapeutic drugs in clinics that have otherwise been found effective against the tumor cells. Due to their three-dimensional architecture, MTS have been found to be very useful in drug sensitivity testing [43, 44], which addresses many of the issues related to drug resistance. Since spheroids also mimic the heterogeneous nature of individual tumors to a very great extent [4–7], it can also measure the drug sensitivities of specific cell types of cultured tumors.

MTS, coupled with the analysis of metabolic status, have been extensively used for investigating the treatment response of tumors to chemotherapeutic drugs. Most of the studies have shown that spheroidal cells are more resistant to etoposide (a topoisomerase II poison) than the monolayer cells [45]. Contrary to these findings, BMG-1 spheroids were found to be more sensitive to etoposide [IC50=1 μ M] than their monolayer counterparts (IC50=10 µM). Immunofluorescence studies of topoisomerase II enzyme clearly showed a decrease in the topo II levels in spheroids as compared to monolayers. Furthermore, most of the topo II was localized in the cytoplasm of the spheroidal cells while it localized predominantly in the nucleus of the monolayer cells. The enhanced sensitivity was accompanied by a significant increase in the DNA damage and apoptosis in spheroids [46]. Oxidative stress has been found to induce apoptosis in a number of cell systems and play an important role as a mediator of apoptosis in diverse models [30-32]. The functional importance of ROS generation for the activation of death mechanism has also been supported with studies using antioxidants and inhibitors of specific enzymes [33]. Another mechanism of the induction of apoptosis by ROS involves activation of FAS receptors belonging to the TNF α resulting in upregulation of extrinsic apoptotic pathway [34]. Therefore, triggering of apoptosis by enhanced ROS levels induced by etoposide, perhaps synergizing with TNFα-related oxidative stress, appears to be partly responsible for higher sensitivity of BMG-1 spheroids to this chemotherapeutic drug. Exposure of spheroids to 2-DG following etoposide treatment shifted the apoptotic death pathway to necrotic cell death. Moreover, exposure of spheroids to 2-DG resulted in a persistent oxidative stress which was effectively quenched by pyruvate (Table 5.2), but not N-acetyl cysteine (NAC; data not shown). This is consistent with the understanding that death by apoptotic mode requires energy for its execution and a higher level of oxidative stress shifts the mode of cell death from apoptosis to necrosis [47]. Under conditions of glucose deprivation and persistent oxidative stress induced by etoposide and 2-DG, spheroidal cells were induced into necrotic death as opposed to apoptosis induced by either of the agents alone. Existence of hypoxic and necrotic regions in the spheroids stabilizes HIF1 α and secretes TNF α , which could be one of the reasons for increased apoptosis in spheroids as stabilization/expression of these factors have also been shown to increase apoptosis in the glucose deprivation conditions [40]. Moreover, TNF α increased the sensitivity of monolayers to etoposide and induced the oxidative stress. These studies suggest that oxidative stress induced by etoposide alone or in combination with 2-DG synergizes with endogenous TNFa-mediated oxidative stress activating multiple death pathways that ride over the prosurvival responses, resulting in a profound cell death in spheroids.
Treatment	Surviving fraction		Relative MFI values of ROS	
	Without pyruvate	Pyruvate	Without pyruvate	Pyruvate
None	1.00 ± 0.06	1.08±0.05	1.00 ± 0.9	1.00 (0.32 °)
2-DG	0.71 ± 0.05	0.87 ± 0.04	1.62 ± 0.9	1.00 ± 0.04
Etopo	0.50 ± 0.03	0.61 ± 0.07	3.03 ± 1.1	1.00 ± 0.07
Etopo+2-DG	0.13 ± 0.01	0.51 ± 0.08	4.63 ± 1.9	1.00 ± 0.06

 Table 5.2 Pyruvate rescue spheroids against cell death due to oxidative stress induced by a combination of radiation and 2-DG

^a Value relative to untreated controls

5.4 Summary

Taken together, the available evidences suggest that alterations in cell signaling linked to tumor physiology, particularly related to endogenous and induced oxidative stress, contribute significantly to the radio- and chemosensitization of tumors by 2-DG. Further, in vitro MTS model could be very useful in predicting responses of in vivo tumors to bioenergetics-based therapeutic modalities (like, for example, 2-DG), besides providing insight into the possible mechanisms involved. Since tumor cells are generally associated with a disruption of intracellular oxidation/reduction reactions as well as glycolytic metabolism [11], the results obtained from MTS models linking glucose metabolism to cytotoxicity via oxidation/reduction reactions may have far-reaching implications in understanding the contribution of metabolism to the phenotypic changes associated with cancer as well as suggesting metabolic targets for the design of novel therapeutic interventions.

Acknowledgments Research in author's laboratory has been supported by grants (INM 280 and INM 301) from Defence Research and Development Organization (DRDO), the Government of India.

References

- 1. Connell PP, Hellman S (2009) Advances in radiotherapy and implications for the next century: a historical perspective. Cancer Res 69:383–392
- 2. Sarkar FH, Li Y (2006) Using chemopreventive agents to enhance the efficacy of cancer therapy. Cancer Res 66:3347–3350
- 3. Khaitan D, Chandna S, Arya MB et al (2006) Establishment and characterization of multicellular spheroids from a human glioma cell line: implications for tumor therapy. J Transl Med 4:12
- 4. Sutherland RM, Mccredie JA, Inch WR (1971) Growth of multicellular spheroids in tissue culture as a model of nodular carcinomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 46:13–120
- Kunz-Schughart LA, Kreutz M, Knuechel R (1998) Multicellular spheroids: a threedimensional in vitro culture system to study tumour biology. Int J Exp Pathol 79:1–23
- Santini MT, Rainaldi G, Indovina PL (1999) Multicellular spheroids in radiation biology. Int J Radiat Biol 75:787–799
- Santini MT, Rainaldi G, Indovina PL (2000) Apoptosis, cell adhesion and extracellular matrix in 3-D growth of multicellular tumor spheroids. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 36:75–87

- 5 Radiosensitization and Chemosensitization of Multicellular...
- Caneghem PV (1982) The mechanism of enhanced radioresistance by phenyl hydrazine in mice. Radiat Res 92:105–112
- 9. Bacq ZM (1965) Chemical protection against ionizing radiation. Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois
- Schuchter LM, Glick JH (1993) The current status of WR-2721 (Amifostine): a chemotherapy and radiation therapy protector. Biol Ther Cancer Updates 3:1–10
- 11. Warburg O (1956) On the origin of cancer cells. Science 132:309–314
- 12. Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ (2004) Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer 4:891–899
- Gillies RJ, Robey I, Gatenby RA (2008) Causes and consequences of increased glucose metabolism of cancers. J Nucl Med 49:24S–42S
- Jain VK, Pohlit W, Purohit SC (1973) Influence of energy metabolism on the repair of X-ray damage in living cells. III Effects of 2-deoxy-D-glucose on the liquid holding reactivation in yeast. Biophysik 10:137–142
- Dwarakanath BS, Adhikari JS, Jain V (1999) Hematoporphyrin derivatives potentiate the radiosensitizing effects of 2-DG in cancer cells. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 43:1125–1133
- Dwarakanath BS, Khaitan D, Ravindranath T (2004) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose enhances the cytotoxic effects of topoisomerase inhibitors in human tumor cell lines. Cancer Biol Ther 3:34–43
- 17. Jain VK, Kalia VK, Sharma R (1985) Effects of 2-DG on glycolysis, proliferation kinetics and radiation response of human cancer cells. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 11:943–950
- Spence AM, Muzi M, Graham MM et al (2002) 2-(18)F Fluoro-2-deoxyglucose and glucose uptake in malignant gliomas before and after radiotherapy: correlation with outcome. Clin Cancer Res 8:971–979
- Padma MV, Said S, Jacobs M et al (2003) Prediction of pathology and survival by FDG PET in gliomas. J Neurooncol 64:227–237
- Aft RL, Zhang FW, Gius D (2002) Evaluation of 2-deoxy-D-glucose as a chemotherapeutic agent: mechanism of cell death. Br J Cancer 87:805–812
- 21. Maschek G, Savaraj N, Priebe W et al (2004) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose increases the efficacy of adriamycin and paclitaxel in human osteosarcoma and non-small cell lung cancers in vivo. Cancer Res 64:31–34
- 22. Gupta S, Mathur R, Dwarakanath BS (2005) Modifications of etoposide induced toxicity by 2-deoxy-D-glucose in Ehrlich ascites tumor bearing mice. Cancer Biol Ther 4:87–94
- Singh D, Banerji AK, Dwarakanath BS, Tripathi RP et al (2005) Optimizing cancer radiotherapy with 2-deoxy-D-glucose: dose escalation studies in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. Strahlentherapie 181:507–514
- 24. Mohanti BK, Rath GK, Anantha N et al (2001) Improving cancer radiotherapy with 2-deoxy-D-glucose – Phase I/II Clinical trials on human cerebral gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 35:103–111
- 25. Ammons WS, Wang JW, Yang Z et al (2007) A novel alkylating agent, glufosfamide, enhances the activity of gemcitabine in vitro and in vivo. Neoplasia 8:625–633
- 26. Geschwind JF, Ko YH, Torbenson MS et al (2002) Novel therapy for liver cancer: direct intraarterial injection of a potent inhibitor of ATP production. Cancer Res 62:3909–3913
- Kunz-Schughart LA, Groebe K, Mueller-Klieser W (1996) Three dimensional cell cultures induce novel proliferative and metabolic alterations associated with oncogenic transformation. Int J Cancer 66:578–586
- Kunz-Schughart LA, Kreutz M, Knuechel R (1998) Multicellular spheroids: a threedimensional in vitro culture system to study tumour biology. Int J Exp Pathol 79:1–23
- Khaitan D, Dwarakanath BS (2009) Endogeneous and induced oxidative stress in multicellular tumor spheroids: implications for improving therapy. Indian J Biochem Biophys 46:16–24
- Sanchez A, Alveraz AM, Benito M (1996) Apoptosis induced by transforming growth factor beta in fetal hepatocytes primary cultures: involvement of reactive oxygen species intermediates. J Biol Chem 271:7416–7422
- Jacobson MD (1996) Reactive oxygen species and programmed cell death in plants and animals. Biochem Pharmacol 57:231–245

- 32. Islam KN, Kayanoki Y, Kaneto H (1997) TGF-beta1 triggers oxidative modifications and enhances apoptosis in HIT cells through accumulation of reactive oxygen species through suppression of catalase and glutathione peroxidase. Free Radic Biol Med 22:1007–1017
- Simon HU, Haj-Yehia A, Levi-Schaffer F (2000) Role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in apoptosis induction. Apoptosis 5:415–418
- 34. Wen-Xing D, Xiao-Ming Y (2004) Dissection of the multiple mechanisms of TNF- α -induced apoptosis in liver injury. J Cell Mol Med 8:445–454
- 35. Schutze SK, Wiegmann TM, Kronke M (1995) TNF-induced activation of NF-kappa B. Immunobiology 193:193–203
- Groussard C, Morel I, Hevanne M et al (2000) Free radical scavenging and antioxidant effects of lactate ion: an in vitro study. J Appl Physiol 89:169–175
- Volland S, Amtmann E, Sauer G (1992) Glucose depletion enhances the anti-tumor effect of TNF. Int J Cancer 52:384–390
- Halicka HD, Ardelt B, Li X et al (1995) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose enhances sensitivity of human histiocytic lymphoma U937 cells to apoptosis induced by tumor necrosis factor. Cancer Res 55:444–449
- 39. Khaitan D, Chandna S, Arya MB et al (2006) Differential mechanisms of radiosensitization by 2-deoxy-D-Glucose in the monolayers and multicellular spheroids of a human glioma cell line. Cancer Biol Ther 5:1142–1151
- 40. Beutler B, Bazzoni F (1998) TNF, apoptosis and autoimmunity: a common thread? Blood Cells Mol Dis 24:216–230
- Averill-Bates DA, Przybytkowski E (1994) The role of glucose in cellular defenses against cytotoxicity of hydrogen peroxide in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 312:52–58
- 42. Lee YJ, Galoforo SS, Berns CM et al (1998) Glucose deprivation-induced cytotoxicity and alterations in mitogen activated protein kinase activation are mediated by oxidative stress in multidrug-resistant human breast carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 273:294–299
- 43. Mueller-Klieser W (1997) Three-dimensional cell cultures: from molecular mechanisms to clinical applications. Am J Physiol 273:1109–1123
- 44. Santini MT, Rainaldi G (1999) Three-dimensional spheroid model in tumor biology. Pathobiology 67:148–157
- 45. Olive PL, Vikse CM, Durand RE (1994) Hypoxic fractions measured in murine tumors and normal tissues using the comet assay. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 29:487–491
- 46. Khaitan D, Chandna S, Dwarakanath BS (2007) Chemosensitization by 2-deoxy-D-glucose in multicellular tumor spheroids results from the multiple death pathways stimulated by a combination of endogenous and induced oxidative stress. In: 13th International Congress of Radiation Research, vol I. pp 127
- 47. Baigi MG, Brault L, Néguesque A et al (2008) Apoptosis/necrosis switch in two different cancer cell lines: influence of benzoquinone- and hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress intensity, and glutathione. Toxicol In Vitro 22:1547–1554

Part II Oxidative Stress in Normal Tissue Response (Preclinical)

Chapter 6 Chemotherapy-Induced Oxidative Stress in Nontargeted Normal Tissues

Paiboon Jungsuwadee, Mary Vore, and Daret K. St. Clair

Abstract Chemotherapy has played a critical role in increasing the number of cancer survivors. The success rate of chemotherapy is contributed, in part, by the development of novel agents and more aggressive treatment strategies. However, the effect that chemotherapeutic drugs have on normal tissue can create serious dose-limiting and quality-of-life issues. The majority of the known side effects of chemotherapy are related to proliferating tissues, which can be renewed and replaced. However, the effect of chemotherapeutic agents on tissues with limited renewal capability, such as cardiac and neuronal tissues, is of serious concern. The anticancer effect of the current FDA approved chemotherapeutic agents can be classified into multiple groups based on their predicted mechanisms of toxicity, and generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in normal tissue is implicated in a large number of these agents. However, how tissue pathology is induced by ROS-generating chemotherapeutic agents is unclear. Furthermore, the underlying mechanisms by which these agents affect a selected target tissue are relatively unexplored. This review briefly discusses these unexplored areas focusing on cardiac and neuronal tissues. The goal is to provide the basis for future development of anticancer drugs with reduced normal tissue injury to improve the quality of life for the ever-increasing number of cancer survivors.

6.1 Introduction

Chemotherapy provides one of the most successful approaches in controlling tumor growth. However, the uses of chemotherapeutic agents are often limited by their adverse effects on normal tissues. In general, the tissues affected by chemotherapeutic

P. Jungsuwadee, PhD • M. Vore, PhD • D.K. St. Clair, PhD ()

Graduate Center for Toxicology and Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, 458 HSRB, Lexington, KY 40536, USA e-mail: DSTCL00@UKY.EDU

D.R. Spitz et al. (eds.), Oxidative Stress in Cancer Biology and Therapy, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-61779-397-4_6, © Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2012

agents are those that have rapidly regenerating capacities such as hair follicles, mucosal tissues, and the bone marrow. However, while occurring with less frequency, toxicities to heart and brain caused by chemotherapy are more serious in that these tissues are less likely to regenerate. Thus, in this chapter, we focus on cardiac and neuronal tissues with an emphasis on understanding the underlying mechanisms associated with chemotherapeutic agent-induced injury, the goal being to improve the quality of life of the cancer patient.

6.2 Classification of Chemotherapeutic Agents

Chemotherapeutic agents can be classified according to their mechanisms of action. The main mechanism of action of chemotherapeutic agents is to interfere with cell growth and cell division. Different classes of drugs may act on different molecular targets (Fig. 6.1).



Fig. 6.1 Sites of action of major chemotherapeutic agents

6.2.1 Alkylating Agents (Busulfan, Carmustine, Chlorambucil, Cisplatin, Cyclophosphamide, Melphalan, Procarbazine, Thiotepa, and Treosulfan)

Alkylating agents add alkyl groups to intracellular electronegative groups. They cross-link guanine bases in DNA at the N-7 position during cell division and produce double-helix strands so that the strands cannot uncoil and separate. In addition, alkylation of DNA bases results in DNA fragmentation due to the attempts of DNA repair enzymes to replace the alkylated bases. Alkylating agents are not cell cycle specific.

6.2.2 Antimetabolites (5-Fluorouracil, Cytarabine, Dactinomycin, Methotrexate, and Thioguanine)

Antimetabolites masquerade as purine or pyrimidine bases, thereby competing with normal metabolites and preventing these normal metabolites from becoming incorporated into DNA during the S phase of the cell cycle. Methotrexate, a folic acid antagonist, competitively inhibits dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR), preventing the synthesis of tetrahydrofolic acid (coenzymes needed for one-carbon transfer reactions) necessary for the synthesis of thymidylate, which is important in the synthesis of nucleic acids. Purine analogs (azathioprine, mercaptopurines) and pyrimidine analogs (cytarabine, 5-FU) also work in a similar manner as methotrexate, i.e., to deprive cells of normal metabolites essential for DNA synthesis. Pyrimidine analogs inhibit the thymidylate synthetase-mediated conversion of deoxyuridylic acid to thymidylic acid, leading to inhibition of DNA and RNA synthesis.

6.2.3 Antibiotics (Bleomycin, Dactinomycin, Doxorubicin, Mitoxantrone, Plicamycin, and Streptozotocin)

These antibiotics interfere with DNA and/or RNA synthesis in a variety of different ways that include intercalation, DNA strand breakage, and inhibition of the topoisomerase II enzyme. Doxorubicin forms complexes with DNA by intercalating between base pairs and also inhibits topoisomerase II activity by stabilizing the DNA-topoisomerase II complex. This prevents the ligation–religation reaction that occurs during the uncoiling and repair of damaged DNA. Dactinomycin binds strongly to DNA and interferes with RNA synthesis. Bleomycin is also known to interfere with DNA synthesis; oxidative stress is another possible mechanism utilized to kill tumor cells [52], however, the exact mechanism remains unclear.

Mitoxantrone intercalates into DNA through hydrogen bonding and causes DNA strand breaks. Mitoxantrone also interferes with RNA and is a potent inhibitor of topoisomerase II. It is cell cycle nonspecific. Streptozocin interferes with biochemical reactions that involve NAD and NADH, and inhibits enzymes involved in gluconeogenesis. Its activity appears to occur as a result of formation of methyl-carbonium ions, which alkylate or bind to many intracellular molecular structures including nucleic acids.

6.2.4 Hormonal Agents (Aminoglutethimide, Cyproterone, Flutamide, Leuprolide, Prednisolone, Stilbestrol, and Tamoxifen)

This class of drugs is used in the treatment of tumor types that are hormonedependent, such as breast cancer, prostate cancer, and endometrial cancer. The main mechanism of action is to interfere with hormones specific to the target tissue. Aminoglutethimide inhibits enzymes in the steroid synthesis pathway that convert cholesterol to D5-pregnenolone, resulting in a decrease in the production of androgens, estrogens, adrenal glucocorticoids, and mineralocorticoids. Cyproterone inhibits the binding of dihydrotestosterone to the androgen receptor that is specific in the prostatic carcinoma cell. Bicalutamide and hydroxyflutamide, the active metabolite of flutamide, are also androgen receptor antagonists. They also act as potent inhibitors of testosterone-stimulated prostatic DNA synthesis [7]. Tamoxifen is a selective estrogen modulator (SERM) widely used in estrogen receptor (ER) positive breast cancer. Tamoxifen is metabolized by CYP2D6 and is 50- to 100-fold more potent than 4-hydroxytamoxifen and endoxifen, which act by competitively inhibiting the binding of estrogen to ER in breast tissue.

6.2.5 Signaling Targeted Agents (Erlotinib, Gefitinib, Imatinib/ Gleevec, Interferons, and Trastuzumab)

This class of chemotherapeutic agents modulates immune responses through different biological targets. Erlotinib and gefitinib are human epidermal growth factor receptor type 1/epidermal growth factor receptor (HER1/EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors. They inhibit the intracellular phosphorylation of tyrosine kinase associated with the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). While EGFR is expressed on the cell surface of both normal and cancer cells, it is overexpressed in certain types of human carcinomas, e.g., breast cancers. Overexpression of EGFR leads to an improper activation of the Ras signal transduction cascade, leading to uncontrolled cell proliferation. Gefitinib binds to the adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding site of the EGFR tyrosine kinase and inhibits the Ras signal transduction cascade. Imatinib is a 2-phenylaminopyrimidine derivative that is used to treat chronic myeloid leukemia (CML). It inhibits a number of tyrosine kinase enzymes, including receptor tyrosine kinases for the platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and the Bcr (breakpoint cluster region)-Abl fusion protein. Binding of Imatinib to the enzyme decreases Bcr-Abl tyrosine kinase activity, thereby inducing apoptosis in Bcr-Abl positive cells. Trastuzumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that acts on the human transmembrane orphan receptor (ErbB2), which is the product of the HER2/ neu gene. Neuregulin activates HER2 by inducing its phosphorylation. The binding of Trastuzumab to the HER2 (or c-erbB2) proto-oncogene leads to antibody-mediated cellular cytotoxicity of the HER2 positive cells in that the binding of the antibody to HER2 overexpressing cells leads to preferential cell death. Interferon-α binds to the conventional type I interferon receptor comprises IFNAR1 and IFNAR2c, a long transmembrane isoform of IFNAR2, which upon dimerization, activates two Jak (Janus kinase) tyrosine kinases - Tyk2 and Jak1 that associate with IFNAR1 and IFNAR2c, respectively. These transphosphorylate each other and phosphorylate the receptors. The phosphorylated INFAR receptors then bind to signal transducers and activators of the transcription (STAT) 1 and 2 proteins, which in turn become phosphorylated, dissociate, dimerize, and subsequently translocate to the nucleus [69]. Interferons exert a wide range of biological activity. They stimulate cytotoxic activity of immune cells and increase the expression of tumor-associated surface antigens. This amplifies the recognition of transformed cells by immune effectors.

6.2.6 Topoisomerase Inhibitors (Epipodophyllotoxins: Etoposide, Tenoposide, and Irinotecan)

Etoposide is an epipodophyllotoxin, a semisynthetic derivative of the podophyllotoxins. It inhibits DNA topoisomerase II and DNA synthesis. Etoposide is cell cycle-dependent and phase-specific, affecting mainly the S and G2 phases. Two different dose-dependent responses are seen. At high concentrations (10 μ g/mL or more), lysis of cells entering mitosis is observed. At low concentrations (0.3–10 μ g/mL), cells are inhibited from entering prophase. Etoposide does not interfere with microtubule assembly. The predominant macromolecular effect of etoposide appears to be the induction of DNA strand breaks by an interaction with DNA-topoisomerase II or the formation of free radicals. Irinotecan is used in the treatment of colorectal cancer. Irinotecan is a derivative of camptothecin. Irinotecan and its active metabolite SN-38 bind to the topoisomerase I-DNA complex and prevent religation of these single-strand breaks and cause double-strand DNA breakage. Irinotecan is cell cycle phase-specific (S phase). Topotecan, similar to irinotecan, binds to the topoisomerase I-DNA complex and prevents religation of these single strand breaks.

6.2.7 Spindle Poisons (Taxanes: Docetaxel, and Paclitaxel; Vinca Alkaloids: Vinblastine and Vincristine)

This class of drugs acts through a unique mechanism by promoting the assembly of microtubules and stabilizing them against depolymerization. Paclitaxel is a first-line therapy for the treatment of advanced carcinoma of the ovary and breast cancer. Paclitaxel (and Docetaxel) binds to the β subunit of tubulin and promotes the assembly of microtubules from tubulin dimers and stabilizes microtubules by preventing depolymerization, which results in the inhibition of the normal dynamic reorganization of the microtubule network that is essential for vital interphase and mitotic cellular functions. This adversely affects cell function because the shortening and lengthening of microtubules (termed dynamic instability) is necessary for their function as a transportation highway for the cell. Further research has indicated that paclitaxel induces programmed cell death (apoptosis) in cancer cells by binding to and inhibiting the function of an apoptotic inhibitory protein called Bcl-2 (B-cell leukemia 2).

6.2.8 Miscellaneous Antineoplastic Agents (Hydroxyurea, L-Asparaginase, Mitotane, Procarbazine)

Hydroxyurea is used in the treatment of myeloproliferative disorders, in particular chronic myelogenous leukemia and polycythemia rubra vera. It has been extensively used as a radiation sensitizer, as it can synchronize cells in a radiation-sensitive phase of the cell cycle and can also inhibit the repair of radiation-induced DNA damage. In vivo, hydroxyurea is converted to the free radical nitric oxide (NO) and diffuses into cells where it quenches the tyrosyl free radical at the active site of the M2 protein subunit of ribonucleotide reductase, inactivating the enzyme. The entire replicase complex, including ribonucleotide reductase, is inactivated, and DNA synthesis is selectively inhibited producing cell death in S phase and synchronization of the fraction of cells that survive.

Asparaginase converts asparagine to aspartic acid and ammonia. It facilitates production of oxaloacetate, which is needed for general cellular metabolism. L-Asparaginase starves malignant cells that are dependent on an exogenous source of asparagine for survival by competitively inhibiting asparaginase, which results in asparagine deprivation. Its use is almost confined to acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Mitotane is an oral chemotherapeutic agent indicated for the treatment of inoperable adrenal cortical carcinoma. Mitotane is an adrenal cytotoxic agent; it alters the extraadrenal metabolism of cortisol, leading to a reduction in 17-hydroxy corticosteroids. Procarbazine can be classified as an alkylating agent. Procarbazine is cell-phase specific for the S phase of cell division. Procarbazine may directly damage DNA; its precise mode of cytotoxic action has not been clearly defined.

6.3 Toxicity

Cytotoxicity is the main mechanism of chemotherapy. Unfortunately, similar mechanisms collaterally damage normal tissues, which are the main focus of this chapter. Generally, drug toxicity can be classified as acute or delayed toxicity relative to time of exposure.

- Acute toxicity: An onset of acute toxicity can occur in minutes, hours or days. Chemotherapeutic agents that are associated with acute toxicities often include gastrointestinal tract complications such as anorexia, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. Cisplatin, doxorubicin, and mustines are known to strongly induce nausea and vomiting.
- Delayed toxicity: In contrast to acute toxicity, delayed toxicity occurs in months or years after an exposure to chemotherapeutic agents. Chemotherapy usually is a common cause of chronic delayed toxicity, especially for bone-marrow suppression.

Of note, several chemotherapeutic agents are more toxic to particular organs. For example, doxorubicin is more toxic to the heart, and cisplatin is more toxic to the kidney. Underlying mechanisms of such toxicity may be varied; however, many of these mechanisms are associated with induction of oxidative stress in the tissues. Table 6.1 summarizes specific adverse effects of commonly used chemotherapeutic agents and their association with oxidative stress.

Drug	Adverse effect associated with oxidative stress		
Alkylating agents			
Carmustine	Pulmonary fibrosis [46]		
Cisplatin, carboplatin, oxaliplatin	Nephrotoxicity [20, 123]		
	Peripheral neuropathy [61]		
	Cardiac toxicity [19]		
Cyclophosphamide, ifosfamide	Haemorrhagic cystitis [2, 128]		
Antimetabolites			
Cytarabine	Neurotoxicity [40]		
Methotrexate	Hepatic damage [15]		
	Nephrotoxicity [104]		
Antineoplastic antibiotics			
Bleomycin	Pulmonary fibrosis [106, 143]		
Doxorubicin, epirubicin	Cardiac toxicity [29, 54, 155]		
Hormonal agents			
Tamoxifen	Nephrotoxicity [139]		
Immunotherapies			
Trastuzumab	Cardiac toxicity [112]		
Spindle poisons			
Docetaxel, paclitaxel	Peripheral neuropathy [99]		
	Cardiac toxicity [112]		

 Table 6.1
 Chemotherapeutic agents and their specific adverse effects that are associated with oxidative stress

6.4 Normal Tissue Targets of Chemotherapeutic Agents

It is not a surprise that inhibition of cell growth and cell division is one of the most common mechanisms of chemotherapeutic agent-induced normal tissue injury. As summarized in Table 6.1, the incidence of a particular toxicity is higher in one agent than another, and oxidative stress appears to be a common basic mechanism for many tissue toxicities causes by chemotherapeutic agents. Oxidative stress is a condition where there is an imbalance of prooxidant/antioxidant in steady state that could lead to cell injury. Prooxidants include (1) reactive oxygen species (ROS), e.g., superoxide radicals (O_2^{-}) , hydroxyl radicals (HO[']), (2) reactive nitrogen species (RNS), e.g., nitric oxide (NO), and peroxynitrite (ONOOH/ONOO⁻), (3) alkoxyl/peroxyl radicals (RO'/ROO'), and nonradicals, e.g., hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). Antioxidants include small molecule antioxidants (e.g., vitamin C, vitamin E, glutathione) and antioxidant enzymes (e.g. superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase). The uncontrolled ROS/RNS oxidize biological molecules such as membrane phospholipids, nucleic acids, and proteins, and result in failures of normal cellular functions and cell death. Multiple tissues are affected by the unintended side effects of chemotherapy; we focus our discussion on the heart and brain as cardiomyocytes and neurons are postmitotic cells, and therefore, the adverse effects of chemotherapy are more severe and difficult to manage. Damage to these cells is usually irreversible and conceivably will affect the functions of the heart and brain throughout the rest of the life of the patient who has been on chemotherapeutic agents.

6.4.1 Cardiac Toxicity

Cardiac toxicity of anthracyclines is well recognized [132] and is dose-dependent [96]. The cardiac toxicity is manifested as electrophysiological abnormalities (e.g., arrhythmia), dilative cardiomyopathy, and congestive heart failure (CHF). Clinical signs of cardiac abnormalities related to anthracyclines can be a reduction of left ventricular ejection fraction, left ventricular dysfunction, diastolic dysfunction, and diastolic heart failure. A measure of systolic function is the percentage of blood expelled from the left ventricle with each systolic contraction, termed left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). Normal values of VLEF are \geq 50%. If there are signs of left ventricular dysfunction, but the LVEF value is within normal limits, the condition is termed "diastolic dysfunction." Diastolic dysfunction that presents concomitantly with dyspnea, fatigue and fluid retention is termed "diastolic heart failure." Anthracyclines and Trastuzumab are both associated with cardiac toxicity; the mechanism by which they cause toxicity, however, is different. Anthracyclines are believed to cause damage to cardiomyocytes by free-radicals-mediated reactions, since expression of the antioxidant enzyme manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) is protective against doxorubicin (DOX)-induced cardiac injury. However, the cardiac toxicity caused by Trastuzumab remains largely unclear. Histological



Fig. 6.2 Quinone and semiquinone redox cycling of doxorubicin

studies have revealed that DOX causes myofibril disruption, cytoplasmic vacuolization, and mitochondrial membrane disruption. Microarray analysis has shown that doxorubicin affects expression of cardiac proteins related to energy production and cell growth and division. Among these proteins, enzymes involved in bioenergetic and metabolic pathways are of particular importance because the heart is a highenergy demand organ [18, 82, 145]. Abnormalities in the metabolic pathway and energy production result in a mismatch between energy supply and demand and contribute to cardiac dysfunction.

Doxorubicin induces significant amounts of ROS, which can initiate lipid peroxidation. The ability of doxorubicin to generate substantial amounts of ROS is due to the quinone moiety in its chemical structure. The quinone ring can be reduced to a semiquinone in the presence of NADH via one-electron reduction by complex I of the electron transport chain (ETC) [88]. Oxygen can oxidize the semiquinone back to the quinone form with a superoxide radical (O_2^{-}) as a byproduct (Fig. 6.2). The redox cycling between the quinone and semiquinone forms of doxorubicin generates a large amount of O_2^- , which further gives rise to ROS and RNS that include H₂O₂, OH, and ONOO⁻ [33, 152]. Proteomic analysis of cardiac proteins from mice treated with doxorubicin indicates elevated oxidative modifications of cardiac proteins such as triose phosphate isomerase (TPI), β -enolase, and electron transfer flavoprotein-ubiquinone oxidoreductase (ETF-QO) [18]. TPI and β -enolase are two enzymes in the glycolytic pathway and ETF-QO is an iron-sulfur ([4Fe-4S]) flavoprotein located in the inner mitochondrial membrane that catalyzes electron transfer from ETF to coenzyme Q. Oxidative modifications of these proteins interfere with their functions and therefore, compromise ATP production in cardiac mitochondria.

Cardiac mitochondria have been estimated to occupy approximately 40% of the total intracellular volume of cardiomyocytes [44]. Doxorubicin is effectively accumulated in the mitochondria [6], and the concentration in mitochondria is 100-fold higher than in plasma [124]. This mitochondrial accumulation of doxorubicin may be due to its high affinity to cardiolipin, a negatively charged phospholipid abundant in the mitochondrial inner membrane [108]. In addition, mitochondria are also the most reducing subcellular organelles in the heart, making the mitochondria a vulnerable target for oxidative damage. It is conceivable that cardiac toxicity induced by doxorubicin is due to this perfect combination of events, which appear to be selectively targeted to cardiac mitochondria.

It has been demonstrated that doxorubicin-induced oxidative stress causes formation of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine (8OHdG) [102], augments lipid peroxidation, induces mtDNA mutations, and decreases mtDNA content [77, 78]. Termination of doxorubicin treatment does not lead to decreased levels of 8OHdG following chronic administration of doxorubicin, indicating that the damage to mtDNA is persistent [129]. This persistent mitochondrial damage could provide an explanation for delayed adverse cardiac events observed in patients with a history of doxorubicin exposure.

In clinical practice, dexrazoxane, an iron-chelator and a free-radical scavenger, is used to prevent or reduce cardiac injury associated with the use of doxorubicin. The rationale for this comes from the fact that doxorubicin interferes with the cellular metabolic processes of iron, a redox active transition metal, leading to ROS generation [17]. Doxorubicin and O_2^- can trigger the release of iron from ferritin, an iron storage protein [96]. O_2^- and H₂O₂, produced by the redox cycling of doxorubicin, can also release iron from cytoplasmic aconitase, which contains a [4Fe-4S] cluster. Loss of the [4Fe–4S] cluster converts cytoplasmic aconitase into an iron regulatory protein (IRP)-1. IRP-1 binds with high affinity to conserved iron-responsive elements (IRE) in the untranslated regions of transferrin receptor (TfR) and ferritin mRNAs, stabilizing TfR mRNA but destabilizing ferritin mRNA [25, 97]. As a consequence, iron uptake exceeds iron sequestration. The increased cellular level of free iron leads to production of OH via Fenton chemistry, which contributes to oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation (Fig. 6.3). Doxorubicin metabolites are another factor leading to ROS generation. Secondary alcohols are one form of DOX metabolites, which are formed via the conversion of the carbonyl group at C13 to a hydroxyl group by aldo/keto-reductases [96]. The secondary alcohols of DOX are more reactive than O_2^- or H₂O₂ in releasing iron from the [4Fe–4S] cluster of cytoplasmic aconitase [97, 98]. This results in further disturbance of iron metabolism and further progression of oxidative stress [71]. Doxorubicin and its metabolites and the ROS/RNS generated by doxorubicin lead to free iron overload. Hence, chelation of iron is the rationale for administration of dexrazoxane to prevent cardiac injury. Meta-analysis of cardioprotective interventions for cancer patients receiving anthracyclines indicates that dexrazoxane prevents heart damage without interfering with the antitumor effects of anthracycline treatment. Abnormal white cell count in the dexrazoxane-treated group was identified [151].



Fig. 6.3 Regulation of prooxidants. Reactive oxygen species, reactive nitrogen species, and nonradical molecules are tightly regulated by antioxidant enzymes and endogenous antioxidant small molecules. *T-OH* tocopherol, *ALA* alpha-lipoic acid, *Asc*^{•-} ascorbyl radical, *AscH⁻* ascorbate anion *DHLA* dihydrolipoic acid

6.4.2 Nephrotoxicity

Tamoxifen treatment results in a significant increase in lipid peroxidation in kidney tissues as compared to control [109]. Tamoxifen also decreases the hexose monophosphate shunt, a process that serves to generate NADPH, which might lead to an inability of kidney cells to maintain intracellular glutathione levels thereby amplifying oxidative stress that leads to renal injury. Cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide cause hemorrhagic cystitis due to the formation of a toxic metabolite, acrolein (Fig. 6.4), which can be inactivated in the urinary tract by mesna (sodium 2-sulfanylethanesulfonate). Mesna binds acrolein through its sulfhydryl-moieties, and the conjugation is excreted via urine. Therefore, mesna is used to prevent hemorrhagic cystitis in cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide chemotherapy. Finally, doxorubicin also causes oxidative stress-mediated kidney injury [131]. Thus, Mesna may also be effective in preventing doxorubicin-induced renal injury.

6.4.3 Neurotoxicity

Central nervous system (CNS) toxicities are frequently caused by chemotherapy regimens and manifest as encephalopathy or seizure. Most common chemotherapeutic agents that are associated with CNS toxicities include vincristine, cytarabine, and cisplatin. Seizures and neurotubular dissociation following vincristine treatment have been reported [53]. Neurological complications including papilledema with



Fig. 6.4 Oxazaphosphorine alkylating agent ifosfamide and biotransformation pathways. Ifosfamide, a prodrug, is metabolized into the active metabolite, isophosphoramide mustard, and toxic metabolites, i.e., acrolein that causes hemorrhagic cystitis. Mesna forms a complex with acrolein to form an inactive compound

blindness, increased intracranial pressure, cauda equina syndrome, and seizure associated with intrathecal liposomal cytarabine have been reported [58]. While cisplatin may be associated with CNS toxicities such as cerebrovascular complications and leukoencephalopathy [32, 57], its neurotoxicity is more peripheral. Cisplatin preferentially forms DNA-platinum adducts in dorsal root ganglia (DRG) neurons rather than in neuron-like dividing PC12 cell line [91]. Additionally, a subset of DRG neurons express the copper transporter 1 (CTR1) that mediates the uptake of platinum compounds [84]. The toxicity of cisplatin is likely attributable to the highly reactivity of cisplatin with nucleophiles, which results from the highly reactive leaving chloro groups of cisplatin. Together, these findings may explain the sensory neuropathy of cisplatin. In addition, vincristine and taxane treatment has also been associated with peripheral nervous system injuries that manifest as peripheral neuropathy. In a rat model of peripheral neuropathy induced by administration of vincristine sulfate (50 µg/kg i.p.) for 10 consecutive days, the levels of reduced glutathione in the sciatic nerve was significantly decreased, as opposed to the rise in thiobarbituric acid reactive substances [100]. This result suggests that oxidative stress is involved in pathogenesis of peripheral neuropathy.

Interestingly, persistent changes in cognitive function, including memory loss, distractibility and difficulty in performing multiple tasks, have been observed in breast cancer survivors after treatment with chemotherapeutic agents, such as

doxorubicin, that do not directly affect the brain tissue [3, 4, 142]. It has been recognized that the short term loss of memory, also known as "chemobrain," is associated with chemotherapy [59, 125]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies have revealed that chemotherapy decreases the volumes of brain gray and white matter in various brain structures including prefrontal, parahippocampal gyrus, and precuneus [13, 55, 135]. In addition, positron emission tomography (PET) studies have shown that the resting metabolism in the area of the brain involved in working memory (e.g., basal ganglia) was impaired in chemotherapy-treated subjects and was associated with breast cancer survivors at 5-10 years after chemotherapy [26, 136]. While the molecular basis for "chemobrain" remains elusive, oxidative stress has been thought to play a mechanistic role [3, 62, 63, 140, 141]. As detailed below, our recent studies have shown that neurotoxicity of doxorubicin is likely mediated by tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), since pretreatment with an anti-TNF antibody attenuates neurotoxicity [141]. Unlike the heart, much less is known about the mechanism of ROS/RNS generation in the brain resulting from systemic doxorubicin administration [3, 63, 141]. The chemical properties of doxorubicin suggest that doxorubicin cannot pass through the blood-brain barrier (BBB), and doxorubicin has not been detected in the areas protected by BBB such as the cortex and the hippocampus [12, 141]. Moreover, ATP-dependent transporters Pgp [103] and MRP1 are localized basolateral of the choroid plexus epithelium and at the apical surface of the capillary endothelium of the BBB [93, 115]. These transporters function actively as efflux pumps, providing a major mechanism for the restriction of uptake of doxorubicin into the brain (Fig. 6.5). However, we have found an increased level of TNF- α in the cortex and the hippocampus after treatment of mice with doxorubicin [141]. Moreover, we found increased levels of oxidative-stress markers in the brains of doxorubicin-treated mice, including protein carbonyl, protein-conjugated 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4-HNE, a product of lipid peroxidation) and protein nitrotyrosine [63]. It is, therefore, likely that oxidative stress in the brain results from the indirect effects of doxorubicin with TNF-a being a potential mediator of the doxorubicin-induced ROS/RNS. Administration of doxorubicin has been shown to increase the circulating levels of TNF- α [139, 141, 150]. Circulating TNF- α can pass the BBB [105] and activate glial cells to initiate the local production of TNF- α [138], which in turn induces nitric oxide synthase leading to the generation of RNS (Fig. 6.5) [139]. The role of nitric oxide synthase in RNS production in the brain during doxorubicin treatment is strongly supported by two independent investigations in rat models. In one study, daunorubicin, an analog of doxorubicin, increased the level of nitric oxide synthase in the brain [64]. A second study reported that inhibition of nitric oxide synthase by aminoguanidine ameliorated oxidative stress in the brain upon doxorubicin treatment [1]. The role of circulating TNF- α in mediating ROS/RNS is supported by the fact that coadministration of doxorubicin and an anti-TNF antibody completely abolished the TNF-a increase in the brain and mitigated doxorubicin-induced brain injury [141].

Currently, there is no direct evidence of mtDNA damage in doxorubicin treatment. However, research on age-related neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson disease (PD) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) has demonstrated a strong



Fig. 6.5 The proposed mechanism of doxorubicin-mediated neurotoxicity via TNF- α activation. Doxorubicin leads to increased levels of circulating TNF- α , which can pass the blood-brain barrier and trigger the local production of TNF- α in the brain. Increased levels of TNF- α may, in turn, induce the expression of nitric oxide synthases leading to oxidative stress. P-glycoprotein (Pgp) may play a role in preventing uptake of doxorubicin into the brain, and multidrug-resistant associated protein 1 (MRP1) may play a role in the efflux of glutathione conjugated lipid adducts. *NOS* nitric oxide synthase, *CSF* cerebrospinal fluid

correlation between mtDNA oxidative damage and dysfunction of neurons [89]. It is tempting to speculate that mtDNA oxidative damage may play a vital role in mediating the cytotoxicity of doxorubicin in the brain. In spite of the side effects to normal tissues, doxorubicin remains an important component in most chemotherapeutic regimens due to its efficacy in treating a broad spectrum of cancers.

6.5 ROS/RNS Detoxification Mechanisms

Cellular antioxidants and antioxidant enzymes play a vital role in scavenging ROS/ RNS and maintaining a balanced cellular redox status. The chemotherapeutic agentinduced ROS/RNS consume cellular antioxidants and lead to oxidative modification of antioxidant enzymes that results in the inhibition of their activity. This cascade of events further pushes the cellular redox status toward the direction of oxidative stress.

Glutathione (GSH), a ubiquitous thiol-containing tripeptide, functions directly as an antioxidant in vivo to remove ROS in reactions catalyzed by GSH-dependent enzymes such as glutathione peroxidase (GPx), glutathione reductase (GR), and glutathione *S*-transferase (GST) [30]. GSH reduces H_2O_2 to H_2O and lipid peroxides

to their corresponding alcohols and results in the formation of glutathione disulfide (GSSG) with the catalysis by GPx. GSSG is converted to GSH, a reaction that is catalyzed by GR, using NADPH as the cofactor (Fig. 6.3). In addition, the nucleophilic thiol group (–SH) in glutathione can conjugate with lipid oxidation products or xenobiotics and form GSH thioethers via the GST-catalyzed reaction to initiate detoxification and excretion of these toxic substances. Chemotherapeutic agents including doxorubicin elicit ROS, which decrease the cellular GSH levels [1] and escalate oxidative stress [72, 121]. In addition, doxorubicin administration leads to a dose-dependent decrease in cardiac GPx activity [34] and brain GST activity [62], which probably results from doxorubicin-induced oxidative stress. In the brain tissue of doxorubicin-treated mice, manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), a mitochondrial antioxidant enzyme essential for aerobic life has been found to be inhibited by nitration of tyrosines [139]. Tyr 34 is vital for MnSOD activity, and its nitration impedes substrate access and binding to MnSOD [113].

6.5.1 Oxidative Stress Protecting Systems

Comparing the potency of free radicals, superoxide anion (O_2^-) is weakly reactive compared to a hydroxyl radical. O_2^- is protonated to yield a hydroperoxyl radical (HO_2^-) , which is more reactive than O_2^- . HO₂ can serve as an initiating radical HO₂ + LH \rightarrow H₂O₂ + L due to its lipophilicity and redox potential [90]. At physiological pH, there is little HO₂ relative to O_2^- ; however, at the membrane surface, the pH is slightly acidic, which promotes protonation of O_2^- to yield more HO₂. HO₂ can withdraw a hydrogen atom or proton from macromolecules or allylic compounds such as membrane lipids and has been proposed to cause membrane damage by initiating lipid peroxidation. Hydrogen peroxide is not very reactive at physiological pH but can directly inhibit some enzymes. For example, H₂O₂ oxidizes a histidine 118 residue in CuZuSOD that binds to Cu²⁺ at the substrate binding site [149].

Antioxidants have become increasingly recognized as potential weapons to control oxidative imbalance. However, spatial distributions and localized concentration of pro- and antioxidants can determine the outcome of these antioxidant defense mechanisms. There are two main categories of antioxidants (a) enzymatic and (b) nonenzymatic antioxidants.

6.5.1.1 Enzymatic Antioxidants

Superoxide dismutase (SOD): SOD can be categorized as metalloproteins, based on the metal molecule contained in its structure, and exhibits copper, zinc (Cu, ZnSOD), manganese (MnSOD), and iron (FeSOD) forms. MnSOD is mainly generated in the matrix of the mitochondria and is essential for the survival of aerobic organisms. Increases in MnSOD activity may provide increased protection against oxidative stress as demonstrated by several disease models.

Recent studies have shown that the SOD mimetic, Mn(III) meso-tetrakis (*N*-ethylpyridinium-2-yl)porphyrin, MnIIITE-2-PyP⁵⁺, is able to dismute superoxide anion (O_2^-) and reduce peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) and CO_3^- . This activity is considered as a major mechanism of action of this SOD mimetic to protect normal tissue from oxidative stress-induced toxicity. In fact, MnIIITE-2-PyP⁵⁺ has been used to demonstrate its protective ability against peroxynitrite-mediated damage of electron transport chain components in submitochondrial particles (SMP) [37].

Catalase (CAT): Catalase is localized in peroxisomes and contains four ferriprotoporphyrins. Because catalase reduces two molecules of H_2O_2 to O_2 and H_2O in the reaction $[2H_2O_2 + catalase \rightarrow 2H_2O + O_2]$, it is effective in the removal of hydrogen peroxide when the level of H_2O_2 is high.

Glutathione peroxidase (GPx): GPx is a selenium-dependent enzyme that is highly specific for GSH and thioredoxin. In the presence of glutathione (GSH), GPx reduces hydrogen peroxide and hydroperoxide to the corresponding water and alcohol. GPx also terminates the Fenton reaction as H₂O₂ is eliminated. There are at least six GPx isoforms – GPx1 (cGPx), GPx2 (GSHPx-GI), GPx3 (pGPx), GPx4 (PHGPx), GPx5 (eGPx), and GPx6 (embryonic tissue-specific GPx) [146]. GPx1 is found in the cytosol and mitochondria and reduces lipid hydroperoxide and hydrogen peroxide. GPx2 has shown to be associated with the gastrointestinal tract and is found in the cytosol [21]. GPx3 is a secreted protein and is found in plasma [156]. GPx4 or phospholipid hydroperoxide GPx is found in the cytosol and plasma membranes and reduces phospholipid hydroperoxide, membrane-bound lipid hydroperoxide and cholesterol peroxide. GPx4 is highly expressed in the testis, playing a crucial structural role in spermatogenesis [86]. GPx5 is expressed in the epididymis and plays a partial role in protecting spermatozoa from oxidative injuries that could compromise their integrity and, consequently, embryo viability [16].

In conjunction with GPx, GSH reductase (GR) plays a central role in the biochemistry of GSH as it keeps GSH in its reduced state thereby maintaining an adequate GSH/ GSSG ratio. The reaction occurs in two steps. The first is the reduction of GSH reductase by NADPH. Electrons are channeled through the enzyme via FAD and subsequently, through a redox-active protein disulfide bond to GSSG. GR is inactivated upon reduction by its own electron donor, NADPH, and is reactivated by GSSG (Fig. 6.3). In the presence of GR inhibitors, such as 1,3-bis-(2-chloroehyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) or doxorubicin, a decrease in the GSH/GSSG ratio is expected. Thus, GR is an important enzyme in maintaining GSH and GSSG levels and preventing oxidative stress.

Thioredoxin (Trx): Thioredoxin was originally purified from *Escherichia coli* and it functions as a hydrogen donor for ribonucleotide reductase, an enzyme essential for the synthesis of deoxyribonucleotides from ribonucleotides [50, 75]. Trx is a 12-kDa protein that contains an active catalytic sequence Trp–Cys–Gly–Pro–Cys–Lys (WCGPCK motif) [110]. Trx(SH)₂ converts Protein–S–S–Protein disulfide bonds to their respective reduced forms while $Trx(SH)_2$ itself gets oxidized to $TrxS_2$. The $TrxS_2$ is recycled back to $Trx(SH)_2$, a reaction that is catalyzed by thioredoxin reductase (TrxR) using electrons from NADPH (Fig. 6.6). There are two Trx systems in mammalian cells, the cytosolic Trx1/TrxR1 and the mitochondrial



Fig. 6.6 Scheme of reactions catalyzed by thioredoxin-thioredoxin reductase system



Fig. 6.7 (a) Thiol-containing proteins are susceptible to oxidative modifications. Oxidation of the thiol group may lead to the formation of sulfenic, sulfinic, and sulfonic acid. Only the formation of sulfenic acid can be reversed, for example by GSH and Grx. (b) Scheme of reactions catalyzed by the glutaredoxin-dependent system

Trx2/TrxR2 [11]. Both Trx isoforms share antioxidant capability to repair the catalytic activity of peroxiredoxins and glutathione peroxidases, decomposing hydroperoxides and H₂O₂. In addition, both Trx1 and Trx2 can scavenge HO [27, 68].

Glutaredoxin (Grx): Grx, similar to Trx, was first discovered as a hydrogen donor for Escherichia coli ribonucleotide reductase [49]. The structure of dithiol Grx, Grx(SH), contains three important features (1) the Cys-X-X-Cys active motif, (2) certain hydrophobic regions, and (3) a GSH binding site [68]. Three Grx isoforms have been found in mammalians, cytosolic Grx1, mitochondrial Grx2 and Grx5. Glutaredoxins convert protein-S-S-protein to their respective reduced forms (Fig. 6.7). The known functions of Grxs are to maintain and regulate the cellular redox state and redox-dependent signaling pathways. Grx1 is involved in general disulfide-dithiol exchanges, cell differentiation, and regulation of transcription factors, and apoptosis [11]. Grx2 and Grx5 localize to the mitochondria of cardiomyocytes. Grx2 differs from the more abundant cytosolic Grx1 by its higher affinity toward S-glutathionylated proteins and by being a substrate for thioredoxin reductase [60]. Silencing of Grx2 increases the sensitivity of HeLa cells toward doxorubicin [83]. By contrast, overexpression of Grx2 prevents 2-deoxy-D-glucose- or doxorubicin-induced loss of cardiolipin in HeLa cells [36]. These results indicate a crucial role of Grx2 in the regulation of the mitochondrial redox status, which may be important in oxidative stress-induced tissue injuries.



Fig. 6.8 Schematic of glutathione synthesis. Ligation between glutamate and cysteine by γ -GCS is the rate-limiting step. Amongst the three amino acids, cysteine is the rate limiting substrate for GSH synthesis

6.5.1.2 Nonenzymatic Antioxidants

- Vitamin C: Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) is a water-soluble molecule that converts the vitamin E radical back to vitamin E. At physiological pH, most ascorbic acid will be in the dehydro-ascorbate (AscH⁻) form. Therefore, it can donate 1 electron and yield AscH⁻⁻, which has a pKa of -0.86. Since the pKa is lower than physiological pH, no protonation takes place. However, AscH⁻⁻ donates a proton yielding ascorbyl radical (Asc⁻⁻), which is not a reactive molecule. The net reaction will eliminate T–O⁻ and yield T–OH (Fig. 6.3).
- Vitamin E: Vitamin E is a lipid-soluble molecule. Among its 8 isomers, α-Tocopherol (T–OH) is the most potent form. It provides a hydrogen atom to a lipid radical (L[']) or lipid peroxyl radical (LOO[']) and becomes vitamin E radical (T–O[']). The T–O['] is reduced by dehydro-ascorbate to form T–OH for reuse (Fig. 6.3).
- 3. Glutathione: Glutathione (GSH) is an endogenous tripeptidyl peptide synthesized by cells and is the most abundant endogenous antioxidant. It plays a key role in cellular antioxidant defenses by scavenging reactive oxygen species and reducing lipid peroxides, making it unique in protecting cells. Glutathione is present in either the reduced (GSH) or the glutathione disulfide (GSSG) forms. Intracellular GSH concentrations are tightly regulated by two main mechanisms: (a) de novo synthesis of GSH, and (b) uptake and efflux of GSH and GSSG.
 - (a) The de novo synthesis of GSH from its building blocks (Cys, Glu, and Gly) is catalyzed by γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase (γ -GCS), which results in formation of a γ -linkage between glutamate and cysteine complexed to glutathione synthetase (GS) (Fig. 6.8); this linkage makes GSH resistant to hydrolysis by peptidases which hydrolyze the α -linkage of peptide bonds. γ -GCS is sensitive to the cellular redox status and the GSH concentration and is feedback-inhibited by GSH. Availability of GSH precursors also plays an important role in de novo synthesis of GSH. The GSH precursor L-cystine is taken up via the cystine/glutamate antiporter (system x_c^-), which can be induced by oxidative stress [133]. GSH can also be regenerated from GSSG by redox cycling, in which GSSG gains electrons from NADPH catalyzed by glutathione reductase (GR). This pathway serves as a salvage pathway that replenishes GSH.
 - (b) Transport of GSH. Transporter proteins that have been demonstrated to transport GSH include organic anion transporting peptide 1 (oatp1), oatp2,

OATP8, multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1), MRP2, MRP4, MRP5, and cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) [8]. GSH plays a pivotal role in multiple biochemical processes including protection against reactive intermediates such as free radicals and electrophiles, storage and transport of cysteine, and synthesis of leukotrienes and prostaglandins. Furthermore, export of GSH allows the cell to protect its membrane against oxidative or other forms of damage by keeping thiol groups and membrane components (e.g., vitamin E) in their reduced forms. It is generally thought that the export of GSH protein mixed disulfides and assists in the maintenance of thiol redox status or cystine–cysteine status. Thus, transport of GSH becomes significant as GSH is being made available for those processes.

In the biotransformation and detoxification processes of ROS/RNS, GSH participates in two major steps: (1) it functions as a substrate for GSH peroxidase (GPx), which mediates the reduction of oxygen free radicals and (2) it forms conjugates during the biotransformation of electrophilic exogenous compounds catalyzed by GST.

As mentioned above, several transporter proteins that have been demonstrated to efflux GSH include MRP1, MRP2, MRP4 and CFTR [51, 70, 118]. In addition, MRP1 appears to be a major mediator of both basal and apoptotic glutathione release [87]; Furthermore, MRP1 also appears to mediate GSH export and homeostasis with the capacity to directly regulate the cellular thiol-redox status. Thus, MRP1 can influence signaling pathways involved in apoptosis, cell proliferation, and cell differentiation [9]. The transport mechanisms of GSH and glutathione conjugates appear to be distinct [122]. MRP1 is also closely associated with GSH and GS-conjugates in the heart more so than others efflux transport such as MRP4, MRP5, and ABCG2. We discuss further about the biotransformation of GSH conjugates and the efflux transporters that are necessary for their elimination.

6.5.2 Phase II Biotransformation

Phase II drug metabolizing enzymes such as GST, sulfotransferase (SULT), and UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) usually detoxify toxins by increasing their solubility and converting the parent compounds into substrates of efflux transporters. This action decreases the total amount of the chemotherapeutic agents from the system.

6.5.2.1 Glutathione S-Transferases

GSTs are a family of isoenzymes that catalyze the conjugation of the intracellular nucleophile, glutathione (GSH), to electrophilic molecules such as HNE, chlorambucil, melphalan and doxorubicin. These enzymes have been discussed with respect

to drug resistance in cancer therapy [147]. GSTs also contribute to the biosynthesis of steroid hormones and eicosanoids [45]. GSTs have peroxidase and isomerase activities and can inhibit the Jun N-terminal kinase (Pi class), which protects cells against H_2O_2 -induced cell death. GSTs are, therefore, believed to play a role in preventing oxidative stress [130].

GSTs are present as soluble and membrane-bound forms and are found in highest concentrations in the heart, lung, liver, kidney, and intestine. They can also be found in the nucleus and mitochondria. There are seven classes of cytosolic GSTsalpha, mu, pi, sigma, theta-, zeta, and omega, one class of mitochondrial GST-kappa, and four subgroups (I–IV) of unique members of the GST superfamily designated as membrane-associated proteins in eicosanoid and glutathione metabolism (MAPEG) [45]. Cytosolic and mitochondrial GSTs are dimeric proteins composed of two homologous subunits. Pi and theta classes contain homodimers, while alpha and mu classes are more complex and display multiplicity of homodimeric and heterodimeric isoenzyme forms. The subunits have a catalytic center with two binding sites: a highly specific GSH binding site (G-site) and a hydrophobic site (H-site) where acceptor substrates can be accommodated. Structural differences in the H-site confer a certain degree of substrate selectivity [107].

In the human liver, alpha and pi classes of GSTs were isolated and identified from mitochondria [39]. COS cells treated with HNE resulted in increased mitochondrial localization of GSTA4-4 [117]. An additional class of GST that has been identified in mitochondria is the κ -class enzyme (GSTK1-1), which is expressed at relatively high levels in the murine liver and stomach and in moderate levels in the heart, lung, and kidney, which suggests its role as an antioxidant enzyme [111, 144].

Mitochondrial GSH is believed to be a reservoir for GSH. Mitochondria cannot synthesize GSH, but a complete redox cycle has been shown to exist in liver mitochondria, containing reduced GSH, GPx, GR, and NADPH; therefore, detoxification of hydrogen peroxide is largely dependent on GPx. The existence of mitochondrial GSTs suggests that GSH conjugates are formed in the mitochondria. At least two main questions remain unanswered. First, how is GSH transported into the mitochondria? Second, how are the GSH-conjugates effluxed out of the mitochondria? Meredith and Reed [95] made the original observation that the onset of chemically induced cell injury correlated with the depletion of mitochondrial rather than cytosolic GSH. Depletion of cytosolic GSH had no observable effect on cell viability, while the depletion of mitochondrial GSH caused cell injury. Cell injury occurred when the total liver GSH was depleted to 10-15% of normal levels. They also showed a half-life of 2 h for cytosolic GSH versus 30 h for mitochondrial GSH, and that the mitochondrial GSH concentration was higher than that in the cytosol (10 vs. 7 mM, respectively) [94] further suggesting the importance of mitochondrial GSH. The ratio of GSH/GSSG in mitochondria under normal conditions is about 18:1. Accumulation of GSSG leads to oxidation of thiols in mitochondrial proteins. Many mitochondrial proteins, including Ca2+-dependent ATPase, metabolic carriers, and proteins controlling permeability changes in the inner mitochondrial membrane [119], are highly sensitive to changes in their cellular thiol status.

This may explain the observation that loss of mitochondrial GSH, rather than cytosolic GSH, correlates with cell injury.

Glutathione conjugates undergo a series of reactions that generally result in mercapturic acid formation in which GSTs catalyze the initial reaction in the biosynthesis of the mercapturic acids. The first step in the catabolism of GSH conjugates is the cleavage of the γ -glutamyl moiety catalyzed by γ -glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT). The next step is the cleavage of glycine followed by N-acetylation of the resulting cysteine conjugate, which can be subsequently taken up by the cell for further metabolism. As accumulation of GSH conjugates leads to inhibition of GSTs, as well as GST reductase, their disposal is of absolute necessity. Transporter proteins that likely to play the most significant role in the efflux of GSH conjugates are the broad specificity ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters that have been shown to exist in different organs and cell types.

6.5.3 Efflux Transporters

ATP-dependent transporter proteins such as multi-drug resistance-associated proteins (MRPs) also play important roles in maintaining the balance of cellular redox status by transporting GS-conjugated lipid oxidation products out of cells [73]. We found that in the heart tissue of DOX-treated mice, 4-HNE modified Mrp-1 and inhibited its activity, thus exacerbating DOX-induced oxidative stress [66]. The levels of Mrp-1 were elevated in brain of DOX-treated mice [63]. Given that MRPs are intrinsically expressed at the BBB, together with P-glycoprotein (MDR1), to regulate drug distribution and efflux [134], these findings prompt an intriguing question as to whether inactivation of ATP-dependent transporter proteins (via a similar mechanism) will compromise the integrity of the BBB, leading to entry of chemotherapeutics into the brain due to their insufficient efflux, and thus contributing to further oxidative stress. While MRPs family members (MRP1-MRP9) are capable of transporting GS-conjugates, MRP1 and MRP2 transporters have relatively higher affinities for GS-conjugates than other MRP members. However, MRP2 is localized primarily in the liver and gastrointestinal tract rather than in the heart and the brain. Therefore, we focus on MRP1 as the efflux transporter that functions to limit the efflux transport of oxidative compounds, such as GSSG and GS-conjugates of chemotherapeutic agents, thereby helping to protecting heart and brain tissues from oxidative stress-induced injury.

6.5.3.1 ABC Structure and Function

The discovery of the histidine transporter in *Salmonella typhimurium* [48] and the maltose-maltodextrin transporter in *Escherichia coli* [43] marked the early era of the ABC-mediated transporter protein field. Early during their discovery, it was suggested that one of the functions of these transporters was to uptake nutrients for cells.

Full length transporter: MDR1/Pgp/ABCB1



а

Extended full length transporter: MRP1/ABCC1, MRP2/ABCC2



Fig. 6.9 Structural topology of ABC transporters. *MSD* membrane spanning domain; L_0 linker region 0; *NBD* nucleotide binding domain

Later, ABC proteins in prokaryotes had been subsequently described as import transporters, e.g., OppABCDF, DciA, BtuCDE, and PstABC, or as export transporters, e.g., HlyB, LtkB, CvaB, and CrtCD [10, 47]. The discovery of the export transporters then set the stage for the identification of the first eukaryotic transporter, human P-glycoprotein (Pgp, MDR1). It was predicted as an ATP-dependent efflux transporter based on the similarity of its ATP binding domains to that of bacterial HlyB [42].

ABC transporters are expressed in all cells of all organisms and couple the hydrolysis of ATP to the movement of a transport substrate across cell membranes. The core structure of ABC transporters comprises of two membrane spanning domains (MSDs – MDS1 and MSD2) and two cytoplasmic nucleotide binding domains (NBDs – NBD1 and NBD2) (Fig. 6.9). Transporters, such as P-glycoprotein (Pgp), that contain this core structure are known as full-length ABC transporters. MSDs usually consist of 6 transmembrane (TM) helices, bind to substrate, and provide specificity and a passageway for its movement. NBDs bind and hydrolyze ATP and thus drive translocation across the lipid bilayer. Members of the other group of ABC transporters have an additional membrane spanning domain – MSD0 and are known as extended full-length transporters. Members of the extended full-length transporter group include MRP1 and MRP2 (Fig. 6.9).

6.5.3.2 P-glycoprotein

P-glycoproteins (Pgp, ABCB1, MDR1) are ATP-dependent efflux transporters that were first discovered in colchicine-resistant Chinese hamster ovary cells [65]. This glycoprotein appears to be unique to mutant cells that display altered drug permeabilities compared to their parental control cells and so it was designated as P glycoprotein. Pgp is a 170-kDa transmembrane transporter. It is constitutively expressed on the apical membrane of hepatocytes, renal proximal tubule cells and enterocytes, the epithelium of the choroid plexus, and the luminal surface of blood capillaries in the brain, placenta, ovaries, and testes. Localization at epithelial membrane barriers coupled with its efflux function have led to the concept that MDR1 is important in the absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and toxicity (ADMET) of drugs and xenobiotics. MDR1 clearly functions as a protective barrier by minimizing accumulation of drugs and toxins in sensitive tissues such as the brain and bone marrow. When the antihelmintic drug, Ivermectin, was administered to Mdr1a^{-/-} mice, which do not express Pgp, the mice develop marked neurotoxicity. This finding was led to the serendipitous discovery of the role of Mdr1a at the blood–brain barrier [127].

Pgp is known to transport several chemotherapeutic agents including doxorubicin and taxol and to confer resistance to cancer chemotherapy [92]. Because these drugs are associated with oxidative stress induced tissue injury (Table 6.1), restriction of the uptake of these lipophilic drugs, i.e., doxorubicin by Pgp, particularly into the brain, would be an essential mechanism in protecting cells from oxidative damage induced by such drug [62, 63].

6.5.3.3 MRP1

Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1) was first discovered in a small cell lung cancer cell line (H69AR) that was resistant to doxorubicin [22]. The MRP1/ABCC1 gene, located on chromosome 16p13.1, encodes a 1531-amino acid protein that belongs to the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter protein subfamily C [22]. The most recognized function of ABCC1 is to efflux its substrates from cells/tissues, and this attribute confers resistance to various chemotherapeutic and cytotoxic agents, e.g., epipodophyllotoxins, Vinka alkaloids, anthracyclines, mitox-antrone, and several other compounds overlapping with MDR1 substrates [74]. ABCC1 also transports drugs that are amphiphilic, anionic organic compounds, and drugs conjugated to glutathione, glucuronide, and sulfate [22, 23, 79, 157].

Constitutive ABCC1 is expressed predominantly in the heart, lung, brain capillary endothelia, and small intestine [38, 101, 137] where it mediates efflux of a broad range of substrates into the interstitial space or blood. Intracellular accumulation of MRP1

has also observed in subcellular organelles, including endocytic vesicles [5], lysosomes located near the nucleus [114], trans-Golgi vesicles [41], and the mitochondria [67] where its role is uncertain. To date, the most recognized physiological role of MRP1 is to protect cells/organs from endo- and xenobiotics resulting from biotransformation processes. While Abcc1^{-/-} mice show no phenotype, it appears that highly proliferative cells such as Sertoli cells in the seminiferous tubules of the testis, the oropharyngeal mucosa, bone marrow cells and urinary collecting tubules in the kidney are adversely affected by chemotherapeutic agents such as etoposide [153, 154]. Mrp1^{-/-} mice exposed to the pesticide methoxychlor were shown to develop spermatocyte and spermatid damage [148]. These mice are also hypersensitive to sodium arsenite, sodium arsenate, and antimony potassium tartrate [80, 116]. On the contrary, there was no difference between wild-type and Mrp1^{-/-} mice in tumor incidence induced by chronic exposure to aflatoxin B1 [85]. This implies a redundancy of the transporter proteins, which is suggested by their overlapping substrate specificities.

Glutathione (GSH) appears to be a key factor that influences MRP1 ATPdependent transport activity, either by its direct conjugation to the substrates or by binding to MRP1 and stimulating transport. The relationship between GSH and MRP1 function is complex, but it is apparent that MRP1 functions in part to efflux GSH. The GSH content in cells overexpressing MRP1 is much lower than that of parental control cells [24, 76, 126], and the baseline level of GSH export in Mrp1-/mice stem cell is approximately one half of that observed in wild-type cells [116]. The higher GSH levels in Mrp1-/- mice tissues appears to be associated with decreased GSH efflux since γ -glutamylcysteine synthethase activity in Mrp1^{-/-} mice is the same as wild-type mice [116]. The importance of effluxing GSH into the interstitium or blood vessels and whether this plays a role in protection against oxidative stress are not known. In mice treated with doxorubicin, Mrp1 expression in cardiac tissue is increased, as is adduction of proteins (including Mrp1) with the highly reactive product of oxidative stress, 4-hydroxyl-2,3-nonenal (HNE) [66]. MRP1 transports the cytotoxic GSH conjugate of HNE implying that its efflux serves to protect the cell [120]. Because MRP1 mediates ATP-dependent efflux of GSH and GSH-conjugates, it is likely to play a role in the protection against oxidative stress-mediated tissue injury.

6.5.3.4 MRP2

MRP2 is the second member identified in the ABCC subfamily of ABC transporters [28]. MRP2 is localized to the apical membrane surface of various polarized epithelial cells, primarily in the liver, but also in kidney, proximal small intestine, and placenta; it was initially identified as the transporter that mediates the biliary excretion of numerous drugs and their metabolites. Rodents that are deficient in MRP2 have a hyperbilirubinemic phenotype [14, 56]. In humans, the absence of a functional MRP2 leads to conjugated hyperbilirubinemia in the hereditary disorder described by Dubin and Johnson [35]. The efflux activity of MRP2 can either protect against or induce toxicity. Like MRP1, MRP2 also mediates efficient transport of the glucuronide conjugate of the tobacco-specific carcinogen, 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol, thus providing a protective role and ensuring its efficient excretion in bile or urine [81]. MRP2 contributes to the toxicity of arsenite, which forms a reversible complex with GSH in the hepatocyte and is subsequently effluxed into the bile. The GSH-arsenite complex dissociates in the bile, which allows for the reabsorption of arsenite into the hepatocyte, thus depleting the hepatocyte of GSH while delivering high concentrations of the arsenite to the biliary tree, its primary site of toxicity [31]. Altered MRP2 function influences the clearance of many clinically important chemotherapeutic agents such as irinotecan, methotrexate, and vinblastine. Despite its high substrate specificity for GS-conjugates, MRP2 is primarily expressed in the liver and the gastrointestinal tract. Therefore, compared to Pgp and MRP1, its role in protecting oxidative stress-induced the heart and brain injury is likely diminished.

6.6 Summary and Future Directions

Therapy-induced side effects of chemotherapeutic agents on normal tissues can limit the success of cancer therapy and/or reduce the quality of life after cancer therapy. Normal tissue tolerance for a drug frequently imposes a limit on the dose of the anticancer agent that can be given safely to the patient, which, in turn, determines the probabilities of cure. Even when cancer therapy has been successful, the cancer survivor may suffer unanticipated side effects that reduce the patient's quality of life. Many observed side effects on normal tissues are often not those predicted for the particular chemotherapeutic effects on cancer cells. It is now well documented that generation of ROS is a cause of normal tissue injury for a large number of chemotherapeutic agents. Modulation of ROS by Dexrazoxane (Zinecard), an iron-chelation therapeutic, has been in clinical use for the prevention of cardiac injury after doxorubicin treatment in pediatric oncology and in women with metastatic breast cancer. However, the potential for toxicity related to iron-chelation in normal tissues and the potential for causing secondary malignancies are causes for concern regarding the iron-chelation approach. In fact, a recent report on the use of Dexrazoxane as a cardiopulmonary protectant during treatment for Hodgkin's disease revealed an unexpected risk for acute myeloid leukemia/myelodysplastic syndrome and other secondary malignancies. Thus, antioxidants that do not involve potential prooxidant production would represent a safe alternative to Dexrazoxane.

To our knowledge, current ongoing investigations to minimize side effects of many anticancer drugs including doxorubicin have not considered the consequences of the drug on CNS. Thus, future studies to improve the quality of life for cancer patient should include consideration of the effects of interventions for the brain even when the drugs used may not directly enter the brain. Furthermore, development of any new anticancer agents should emphasize its potential effect on normal tissues at the early stage of drug development.

References

- Abd El-Gawad H, El-Sawalhi MM (2004) Nitric oxide and oxidative stress in brain and heart of normal rats treated with doxorubicin: role of aminoguanidine. J Biochem Molec Toxicol 18(2):69–77
- Abraham P, Rabi S et al (2009) Protective effect of aminoguanidine against oxidative stress and bladder injury in cyclophosphamide-induced hemorrhagic cystitis in rat. Cell Biochem Funct 27(1):56–62
- 3. Ahles TA, Saykin AJ (2007) Candidate mechanisms for chemotherapy-induced cognitive changes. Nat Rev Cancer 7(3):192
- Ahles TA, Saykin AJ et al (2002) Neuropsychologic impact of standard-dose systemic chemotherapy in long-term survivors of breast cancer and lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 20(2):485–493
- Almquist KC, Loe DW et al (1995) Characterization of the M(r) 190,000 multidrug resistance protein (MRP) in drug-selected and transfected human tumor cell. Cancer Res 55(1):102–110
- Anderson AB, Arriaga EA (2004) Subcellular metabolite profiles of the parent CCRF-CEM and the derived CEM/C2 cell lines after treatment with doxorubicin. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 808(2):295–302
- Araki S, Omori Y et al (2007) Interleukin-8 is a molecular determinant of androgen independence and progression in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 67(14):6854–6862
- Ballatori N, Hammond CL et al (2005) Molecular mechanisms of reduced glutathione transport: role of the MRP/CFTR/ABCC and OATP/SLC21A families of membrane proteins. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 204(3):238–255
- 9. Ballatori N, Krance SM et al (2009) Plasma membrane glutathione transporters and their roles in cell physiology and pathophysiology. Mol Aspects Med 30(1–2):13–28
- Benabdelhak H, Schmitt L et al (2005) Positive co-operative activity and dimerization of the isolated ABC ATPase domain of HlyB from *Escherichia coli*. Biochem J 386(Pt 3): 489–495
- Berndt C, Lillig CH et al (2007) Thiol-based mechanisms of the thioredoxin and glutaredoxin systems: implications for diseases in the cardiovascular system. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292(3):H1227–H1236
- Bigotte L, Olsson Y (1982) Cytofluorescence localization of adriamycin in the nervous system. Acta Neuropathol V58(3):193–202
- 13. Brown MS, Stemmer SM et al (1998) White matter disease induced by high-dose chemotherapy: longitudinal study with MR imaging and proton spectroscopy. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 19(2):217–221
- Buchler M, Konig J et al (1996) cDNA cloning of the hepatocyte canalicular isoform of the multidrug resistance protein, cMrp, reveals a novel conjugate export pump deficient in hyperbilirubinemic mutant rats. J Biol Chem 271(25):15091–15098
- Cetin A, Kaynar L et al (2008) Role of grape seed extract on methotrexate induced oxidative stress in rat liver. Am J Chin Med 36(5):861–872
- Chabory E, Damon C et al (2009) Epididymis seleno-independent glutathione peroxidase 5 maintains sperm DNA integrity in mice. J Clin Invest 119(7):2074–2085
- Chen Y, Jungsuwadee P et al (2007) Collateral damage in cancer chemotherapy: oxidative stress in nontargeted tissues. Mol Interv 7(3):147–156
- Chen Y, Trotti A et al (2006) Adverse event reporting and developments in radiation biology after normal tissue injury: International Atomic Energy Agency consultation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 64(5):1442–1451
- Cheng CF, Juan SH et al (2008) Pravastatin attenuates carboplatin-induced cardiotoxicity via inhibition of oxidative stress associated apoptosis. Apoptosis 13(7):883–894
- Chirino YI, Pedraza-Chaverri J (2009) Role of oxidative and nitrosative stress in cisplatininduced nephrotoxicity. Exp Toxicol Pathol 61(3):223–242

- Chu FF, Doroshow JH et al (1993) Expression, characterization, and tissue distribution of a new cellular selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase, GSHPx-GI. J Biol Chem 268(4): 2571–2576
- 22. Cole SP, Bhardwaj G et al (1992) Overexpression of a transporter gene in a multidrug-resistant human lung cancer cell line. Science 258(5088):1650–1654
- Cole SP, Deeley RG (1998) Multidrug resistance mediated by the ATP-binding cassette transporter protein MRP. Bioessays 20(11):931–940
- 24. Cole SP, Downes HF et al (1990) Alterations in glutathione and glutathione-related enzymes in a multidrug-resistant small cell lung cancer cell line. Mol Pharmacol 37(2):192–197
- Corna G, Galy B et al (2006) IRP1-independent alterations of cardiac iron metabolism in doxorubicin-treated mice. J Mol Med 84(7):551–560
- 26. Daniel HSS, Christine JD et al (2006) Altered frontocortical, cerebellar, and basal ganglia activity in adjuvant-treated breast cancer survivors 5–10 years after chemotherapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat 103(3):303–311
- Das KC, Das CK (2000) Thioredoxin, a singlet oxygen quencher and hydroxyl radical scavenger: redox independent functions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 277(2):443–447
- Dean M, Allikmets R (2001) Complete characterization of the human ABC gene family. J Bioenerg Biomembr 33(6):475–479
- 29. Delemasure S, Sicard P et al (2007) Acute administration of epirubicin induces myocardial depression in isolated rat heart and production of radical species evaluated by electron spin resonance spectroscopy. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 50(6):647–653
- 30. Deneke SM (2000) Thiol-based antioxidants. Curr Top Cell Regul 36:151-180
- Dietrich CG, Ottenhoff R et al (2001) Role of MRP2 and GSH in intrahepatic cycling of toxins. Toxicology 167(1):73–81
- 32. Dietrich J, Marienhagen J et al (2004) Vascular neurotoxicity following chemotherapy with cisplatin, ifosfamide, and etoposide. Ann Pharmacother 38(2):242–246
- Doroshow JH (1983) Anthracycline antibiotic-stimulated superoxide, hydrogen-peroxide, and hydroxyl radical production by NADH dehydrogenase. Cancer Res 43(10):4543–4551
- 34. Doroshow JH, Locker GY et al (1980) Enzymatic defenses of the mouse heart against reactive oxygen metabolites – alterations produced by doxorubicin. J Clin Invest 65(1):128–135
- 35. Dubin IN, Johnson FB (1954) Chronic idiopathic jaundice with unidentified pigment in liver cells; a new clinicopathologic entity with a report of 12 cases. Medicine (Baltimore) 33(3): 155–197
- Enoksson M, Fernandes AP et al (2005) Overexpression of glutaredoxin 2 attenuates apoptosis by preventing cytochrome c release. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 327(3):774–779
- 37. Ferrer-Sueta G, Hannibal L et al (2006) Reduction of manganese porphyrins by flavoenzymes and submitochondrial particles: a catalytic cycle for the reduction of peroxynitrite. Free Radic Biol Med 41(3):503–512
- Flens MJ, Zaman GJ et al (1996) Tissue distribution of the multidrug resistance protein. Am J Pathol 148(4):1237–1247
- 39. Gallagher EP, Gardner JL et al (2006) Several glutathione S-transferase isozymes that protect against oxidative injury are expressed in human liver mitochondria. Biochem Pharmacol 71(11):1619–1628
- 40. Geller HM, Cheng KY et al (2001) Oxidative stress mediates neuronal DNA damage and apoptosis in response to cytosine arabinoside. J Neurochem 78(2):265–275
- Gennuso F, Fernetti C et al (2004) Bilirubin protects astrocytes from its own toxicity by inducing up-regulation and translocation of multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (Mrp1). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101(8):2470–2475
- 42. Gerlach JH, Endicott JA et al (1986) Homology between P-glycoprotein and a bacterial haemolysin transport protein suggests a model for multidrug resistance. Nature 324(6096): 485–489
- 43. Gilson E, Higgins CF et al (1982) Extensive homology between membrane-associated components of histidine and maltose transport systems of *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 257(17):9915–9918

- 44. Goffart S, von Kleist-Retzow JC et al (2004) Regulation of mitochondrial proliferation in the heart: power-plant failure contributes to cardiac failure in hypertrophy. Cardiovasc Res 64(2):198–207
- 45. Hayes JD, Flanagan JU et al (2005) Glutathione transferases. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 45:51–88
- 46. Helal GK, Helal OK (2009) Metallothionein attenuates carmustine-induced oxidative stress and protects against pulmonary fibrosis in rats. Arch Toxicol 83(1):87–94
- 47. Higgins CF (1992) ABC transporters: from microorganisms to man. Annu Rev Cell Biol 8:67–113
- Higgins CF, Haag PD et al (1982) Complete nucleotide sequence and identification of membrane components of the histidine transport operon of *S. typhimurium*. Nature 298(5876): 723–727
- Holmgren A (1976) Hydrogen donor system for *Escherichia coli* ribonucleoside-diphosphate reductase dependent upon glutathione. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 73(7):2275–2279
- 50. Holmgren A (1985) Thioredoxin. Annu Rev Biochem 54:237–271
- Homolya L, Varadi A et al (2003) Multidrug resistance-associated proteins: export pumps for conjugates with glutathione, glucuronate or sulfate. Biofactors 17(1–4):103–114
- 52. Hug H, Strand S et al (1997) Reactive oxygen intermediates are involved in the induction of CD95 ligand mRNA expression by cytostatic drugs in hepatoma cells. J Biol Chem 272(45):28191–28193
- 53. Hurwitz RL, Mahoney DH Jr et al (1988) Reversible encephalopathy and seizures as a result of conventional vincristine administration. Med Pediatr Oncol 16(3):216–219
- 54. Ichihara S, Yamada Y et al (2007) Roles of oxidative stress and Akt signaling in doxorubicin cardiotoxicity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 359(1):27–33
- 55. Inagaki M, Yoshikawa E et al (2007) Smaller regional volumes of brain gray and white matter demonstrated in breast cancer survivors exposed to adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer 109(1):146–156
- 56. Ito K, Suzuki H et al (1997) Molecular cloning of canalicular multispecific organic anion transporter defective in EHBR. Am J Physiol 272(1 Pt 1):G16–G22
- Ito Y, Arahata Y et al (1998) Cisplatin neurotoxicity presenting as reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 19(3):415–417
- 58. Jabbour E, O'Brien S et al (2007) Neurologic complications associated with intrathecal liposomal cytarabine given prophylactically in combination with high-dose methotrexate and cytarabine to patients with acute lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 109(8):3214–3218
- Wefel JS, Lenzi R, Theriault R, Buzdar AU, Cruickshank S, Meyers CA (2004) 'Chemobrain' in breast carcinoma? Cancer 101(3):466–475
- 60. Johansson C, Lillig CH et al (2004) Human mitochondrial glutaredoxin reduces S-glutathionylated proteins with high affinity accepting electrons from either glutathione or thioredoxin reductase. J Biol Chem 279(9):7537–7543
- Joseph EK, Chen X et al (2008) Oxaliplatin acts on IB4-positive nociceptors to induce an oxidative stress-dependent acute painful peripheral neuropathy. J Pain 9(5):463–472
- 62. Joshi G, Hardas S et al (2007) Glutathione elevation by γ-glutamyl cysteine ethyl ester as a potential therapeutic strategy for preventing oxidative stress in brain mediated by in vivo administration of adriamycin: implication for chemobrain. J Neurosci Res 85(3):497–503
- 63. Joshi G, Sultana R et al (2005) Free radical mediated oxidative stress and toxic side effects in brain induced by the anti-cancer drug adriamycin: insight into chemobrain. Free Radic Res 39(11):1147–1154
- Joshi P, Vig PJS et al (1996) Increase in brain nitric oxide synthase activity in daunorubicintreated rats. Pharmacol Toxicol 78(2):99–103
- Juliano RL, Ling V (1976) A surface glycoprotein modulating drug permeability in Chinese hamster ovary cell mutants. Biochim Biophys Acta 455(1):152–162
- 66. Jungsuwadee P, Cole MP et al (2006) Increase in Mrp1 expression and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal adduction in heart tissue of Adriamycin-treated C57BL/6 mice. Mol Cancer Ther 5(11): 2851–2860

- 67. Jungsuwadee P, Nithipongvanitch R et al (2009) Mrp1 localization and function in cardiac mitochondria after doxorubicin. Mol Pharmacol 75(5):1117–1126
- Kalinina EV, Chernov NN et al (2008) Involvement of thio-, peroxi-, and glutaredoxins in cellular redox-dependent processes. Biochemistry (Mosc) 73(13):1493–1510
- 69. Kiladjian JJ, Chomienne C et al (2008) Interferon-alpha therapy in bcr-abl-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leukemia 22(11):1990–1998
- Kogan I, Ramjeesingh M et al (2003) CFTR directly mediates nucleotide-regulated glutathione flux. EMBO J 22(9):1981–1989
- 71. Kotamraju S, Chitambar CR et al (2002) Transferrin receptor-dependent iron uptake is responsible for doxorubicin-mediated apoptosis in endothelial cells – role of oxidant-induced iron signaling in apoptosis. J Biol Chem 277(19):17179–17187
- Kotamraju S, Konorev EA et al (2000) Doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes is ameliorated by nitrone spin traps and ebselen – role of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. J Biol Chem 275(43):33585–33592
- 73. Krause MS, Oliveira LP et al (2007) MRP1/GS-X pump ATPase expression: is this the explanation for the cytoprotection of the heart against oxidative stress-induced redox imbalance in comparison to skeletal muscle cells? Cell Biochem Funct 25(1):23–32
- 74. Kuwano M, Toh S et al (1999) Multidrug resistance-associated protein subfamily transporters and drug resistance. Anticancer Drug Des 14(2):123–131
- 75. Laurent TC, Moore EC et al (1964) Enzymatic synthesis of deoxyribonucleotides. IV. Isolation and characterization of thioredoxin, the hydrogen donor from *Escherichia coli* B. J Biol Chem 239:3436–3444
- Lautier D, Canitrot Y et al (1996) Multidrug resistance mediated by the multidrug resistance protein (MRP) gene. Biochem Pharmacol 52(7):967–977
- 77. Lebrecht D, Kokkori A et al (2005) Tissue-specific Mtdna lesions and radical-associated mitochondrial dysfunction in human hearts exposed to doxorubicin. J Pathol 207(4):436–444
- Lebrecht D, Setzer B et al (2003) Time-dependent and tissue-specific accumulation of mtDNA and respiratory chain defects in chronic doxorubicin cardiomyopathy. Circulation 108(19):2423–2429
- 79. Leier I, Jedlitschky G et al (1994) The MRP gene encodes an ATP-dependent export pump for leukotriene C4 and structurally related conjugates. J Biol Chem 269(45): 27807–27810
- Leslie EM, Haimeur A et al (2004) Arsenic transport by the human multidrug resistance protein 1 (MRP1/ABCC1). Evidence that a tri-glutathione conjugate is required. J Biol Chem 279(31):32700–32708
- Leslie EM, Ito K et al (2001) Transport of the beta-O-glucuronide conjugate of the tobaccospecific carcinogen 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol (NNAL) by the multidrug resistance protein 1 (MRP1). Requirement for glutathione or a non-sulfur-containing analog. J Biol Chem 276(30):27846–27854
- Lien YC, Noel T et al (2006) Phospholipase C-delta 1 is a critical target for tumor necrosis factor receptor-mediated protection against adriamycin-induced cardiac injury. Cancer Res 66(8):4329–4338
- 83. Lillig CH, Lonn ME et al (2004) Short interfering RNA-mediated silencing of glutaredoxin 2 increases the sensitivity of HeLa cells toward doxorubicin and phenylarsine oxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101(36):13227–13232
- 84. Liu JJ, Jamieson SM et al (2009) Neuronal expression of copper transporter 1 in rat dorsal root ganglia: association with platinum neurotoxicity. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 64(4):847–856
- Lorico A, Nesland J et al (2002) Role of the multidrug resistance protein 1 gene in the carcinogenicity of aflatoxin B1: investigations using mrp1-null mice. Toxicology 171(2–3): 201–205
- 86. Maiorino M, Wissing JB et al (1998) Testosterone mediates expression of the selenoprotein PHGPx by induction of spermatogenesis and not by direct transcriptional gene activation. FASEB J 12(13):1359–1370

- Marchan R, Hammond CL et al (2008) Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 as a major mediator of basal and apoptotic glutathione release. Biochim Biophys Acta 1778(10): 2413–2420
- Marcillat O, Zhang Y et al (1989) Oxidative and non-oxidative mechanisms in the inactivation of cardiac mitochondrial electron transport chain components by doxorubicin. Biochem J 259(1):181–189
- Martin LJ (2006) Mitochondriopathy in Parkinson disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exper Neurol 65(12):1103–1110
- McCord JM (2008) Superoxide dismutase, lipid peroxidation, and bell-shaped dose response curves. Dose Response 6(3):223–238
- McDonald ES, Randon KR et al (2005) Cisplatin preferentially binds to DNA in dorsal root ganglion neurons in vitro and in vivo: a potential mechanism for neurotoxicity. Neurobiol Dis 18(2):305–313
- 92. Mechetner E, Kyshtoobayeva A et al (1998) Levels of multidrug resistance (MDR1) P-glycoprotein expression by human breast cancer correlate with in vitro resistance to taxol and doxorubicin. Clin Cancer Res 4(2):389–398
- 93. Mercier C, Masseguin C et al (2004) Expression of P-glycoprotein (ABCB1) and Mrp1 (ABCC1) in adult rat brain: focus on astrocytes. Brain Res 1021(1):32–40
- Meredith MJ, Reed DJ (1982) Status of the mitochondrial pool of glutathione in the isolated hepatocyte. J Biol Chem 257(7):3747–3753
- Meredith MJ, Reed DJ (1983) Depletion in vitro of mitochondrial glutathione in rat hepatocytes and enhancement of lipid peroxidation by adriamycin and 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1nitrosourea (BCNU). Biochem Pharmacol 32(8):1383–1388
- Minotti G, Menna P et al (2004) Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev 56(2):185–229
- 97. Minotti G, Recalcati S et al (1998) The secondary alcohol metabolite of doxorubicin irreversibly inactivates aconitase/iron regulatory protein-1 in cytosolic fractions from human myocardium. FASEB J 12(7):541–552
- 98. Minotti G, Ronchi R et al (2001) Doxorubicin irreversibly inactivates iron regulatory proteins 1 and 2 in cardiomyocytes: evidence for distinct metabolic pathways and implications for iron-mediated cardiotoxicity of antitumor therapy. Cancer Res 61(23):8422–8428
- 99. Mir O, Alexandre J et al (2009) Relationship between GSTP1 Ile105Val polymorphism and docetaxel-induced peripheral neuropathy: clinical evidence of a role of oxidative stress in taxane toxicity. Ann Oncol 20(4):736–740
- 100. Muthuraman A, Jaggi AS et al (2008) Ameliorative effects of amiloride and pralidoxime in chronic constriction injury and vincristine induced painful neuropathy in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 587(1–3):104–111
- 101. Nies AT, Jedlitschky G et al (2004) Expression and immunolocalization of the multidrug resistance proteins, MRP1-MRP6 (ABCC1-ABCC6), in human brain. Neuroscience 129(2):349–360
- 102. Nithipongvanitch R, Ittarat W et al (2007) Evidence for p53 as guardian of the cardiomyocyte mitochondrial genome following acute adriamycin treatment. J Histochem Cytochem 55(6):629–639
- 103. Ohnishi T, Tamai I et al (1995) In vivo and in vitro evidence for ATP-dependency of P-glycoprotein-mediated efflux of doxorubicin at the blood-brain barrier. Biochem Pharmacol 49(10):1541–1544
- 104. Oktem F, Yilmaz HR et al (2006) Methotrexate-induced renal oxidative stress in rats: the role of a novel antioxidant caffeic acid phenethyl ester. Toxicol Ind Health 22(6):241–247
- 105. Osburg B, Peiser C et al (2002) Effect of endotoxin on expression of TNF receptors and transport of TNF-alpha at the blood-brain barrier of the rat. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 283(5):E899–E908
- 106. Oury TD, Thakker K et al (2001) Attenuation of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis by a catalytic antioxidant metalloporphyrin. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25(2):164–169

- 107. Parker LJ, Ciccone S et al (2008) The anti-cancer drug chlorambucil as a substrate for the human polymorphic enzyme glutathione transferase P1-1: kinetic properties and crystallographic characterisation of allelic variants. J Mol Biol 380(1):131–144
- Parker MA, King V et al (2001) Nuclear magnetic resonance study of doxorubicin binding to cardiolipin containing magnetically oriented phospholipid bilayers. Biochim Biophys Acta 1514(2):206–216
- 109. Parvez S, Tabassum H et al (2006) Catechin prevents tamoxifen-induced oxidative stress and biochemical perturbations in mice. Toxicology 225(2–3):109–118
- 110. Patel-King RS, Benashki SE et al (1996) Two functional thioredoxins containg redox-senesitive vicinal dithiols from the Chlamydomonas outer dynein arm. J Biol Chem 271(11):6283–6291
- 111. Pemble SE, Wardle AF et al (1996) Glutathione S-transferase class Kappa: characterization by the cloning of rat mitochondrial GST and identification of a human homologue. Biochem J 319(Pt 3):749–754
- 112. Pentassuglia L, Timolati F et al (2007) Inhibition of ErbB2/neuregulin signaling augments paclitaxel-induced cardiotoxicity in adult ventricular myocytes. Exp Cell Res 313(8): 1588–1601
- 113. Quint P, Reutzel R et al (2006) Crystal structure of nitrated human manganese superoxide dismutase: mechanism of inactivation. Free Radic Biol Med 40(3):453–458
- Rajagopal A, Simon SM (2003) Subcellular localization and activity of multidrug resistance proteins. Mol Biol Cell 14(8):3389–3399
- 115. Rao VV, Dahlheimer JL et al (1999) Choroid plexus epithelial expression of MDR1 P glycoprotein and multidrug resistance-associated protein contribute to the blood-cerebrospinalfluid drug-permeability barrier. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96(7):3900–3905
- 116. Rappa G, Lorico A et al (1997) Evidence that the multidrug resistance protein (MRP) functions as a co-transporter of glutathione and natural product toxins. Cancer Res 57(23): 5232–5237
- 117. Raza H, Robin MA et al (2002) Multiple isoforms of mitochondrial glutathione S-transferases and their differential induction under oxidative stress. Biochem J 366(Pt 1):45–55
- 118. Rebbeor JF, Connolly GC et al (2000) ATP-dependent GSH and glutathione S-conjugate transport in skate liver: role of an Mrp functional homologue. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 279(2):G417–G425
- Reed DJ (2004) Mitochondrial glutathione and chemically induced stress including ethanol. Drug Metab Rev 36(3–4):569–582
- 120. Renes J, de Vries EG, Nienhuis EF, Jansen PL, Muller M (1999) ATP- and glutathionedependent transport of chemotherapeutic drugs by the multidrug resistance protein MRP1. Br J Pharmacol. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't] 126(3):681–688
- Renschler MF (2004) The emerging role of reactive oxygen species in cancer therapy. Eur J Cancer 40(13):1934–1940
- 122. Rothnie A, Conseil G et al (2008) Mechanistic differences between gsh transport by MRP1 (ABCC1) and GSH modulation of MRP1-mediated transport. Mol Pharmacol 74(6): 1630–1640
- 123. Santos NA, Catao CS et al (2007) Cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity is associated with oxidative stress, redox state unbalance, impairment of energetic metabolism and apoptosis in rat kidney mitochondria. Arch Toxicol 81(7):495–504
- Sarvazyan N (1996) Visualization of doxorubicin-induced oxidative stress in isolated cardiac myocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 271(5):H2079–H2085
- Schagen SB, van Dam F et al (1999) Cognitive deficits after postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy for breast carcinoma. Cancer 85(3):640–650
- 126. Schinkel AH, Smit JJ et al (1994) Disruption of the mouse mdr1a P-glycoprotein gene leads to a deficiency in the blood-brain barrier and to increased sensitivity to drugs. Cell 77(4):491–502
- 127. Schneider E, Yamazaki H et al (1995) Buthionine sulphoximine-mediated sensitisation of etoposide-resistant human breast cancer MCF7 cells overexpressing the multidrug resistanceassociated protein involves increased drug accumulation. Br J Cancer 71(4):738–743

- 128. Sehirli O, Sakarcan A et al (2007) Resveratrol improves ifosfamide-induced Fanconi syndrome in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 222(1):33–41
- 129. Serrano J, Palmeira CM et al (1999) Cardioselective and cumulative oxidation of mitochondrial DNA following subchronic doxorubicin administration. Biochim Biophys Acta 1411(1):201–205
- 130. Sheehan D, Meade G et al (2001) Structure, function and evolution of glutathione transferases: implications for classification of non-mammalian members of an ancient enzyme superfamily. Biochem J 360(Pt 1):1–16
- 131. Shri NG, MohammedAli A-B et al (2004) Amelioration of doxorubicin-induced cardiac and renal toxicity by pirfenidone in rats. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol V53(2):141–150
- 132. Simbre IIVC, Duffy SA et al (2005) Cardiotoxicity of cancer chemotherapy: implications for children. Pediatr Drugs 7(3):187
- 133. Siow RC, Sato H et al (1998) Vitamin C protects human arterial smooth muscle cells against atherogenic lipoproteins: effects of antioxidant vitamins C and E on oxidized LDL-induced adaptive increases in cystine transport and glutathione. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18(10):1662–1670
- 134. Soontornmalai A, Vlaming MLH et al (2006) Differential, strain-specific cellular and subcellular distribution of multidrug transporters in murine choroid plexus and blood-brain barrier. Neuroscience 138(1):159–169
- 135. Stemmer SM, Stears JC et al (1994) White matter changes in patients with breast cancer treated with high- dose chemotherapy and autologous bone marrow support. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 15(7):1267–1273
- 136. Steven AC, Daniel HSS et al (2005) Breast cancer treatment and cognitive functioning: current status and future challenges in assessment. Breast Cancer Res Treat 92(3):199–206
- 137. Sugiyama D, Kusuhara H et al (2003) Involvement of multidrug resistance associated protein 1 (Mrp1) in the efflux transport of 17beta estradiol-D-17beta-glucuronide (E217betaG) across the blood-brain barrier. Pharm Res 20(9):1394–1400
- 138. Szelenyi J (2001) Cytokines and the central nervous system. Brain Res Bull 54(4):329-338
- 139. Tabassum H, Parvez S et al (2007) Nephrotoxicity and its prevention by taurine in tamoxifen induced oxidative stress in mice. Hum Exp Toxicol 26(6):509–518
- 140. Tangpong J, Cole MP et al (2007) Adriamycin-mediated nitration of manganese superoxide dismutase in the central nervous system: insight into the mechanism of chemobrain. J Neurochem 100(1):191–201
- 141. Tangpong J, Cole MP et al (2006) Adriamycin-induced, TNF-alpha-mediated central nervous system toxicity. Neurobiol Dis 23(1):127–139
- 142. Tannock IF, Ahles TA et al (2004) Cognitive impairment associated with chemotherapy for cancer: report of a workshop. J Clin Oncol 22(11):2233–2239
- 143. Teixeira KC, Soares FS et al (2008) Attenuation of bleomycin-induced lung injury and oxidative stress by N-acetylcysteine plus deferoxamine. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 21(2):309–316
- 144. Thomson RE, Bigley AL et al (2004) Tissue-specific expression and subcellular distribution of murine glutathione S-transferase class kappa. J Histochem Cytochem 52(5):653–662
- 145. Tokarska-Schlattner M, Wallimann T et al (2002) Multiple interference of anthracyclines with mitochondrial creatine kinases: preferential damage of the cardiac isoenzyme and its implications for drug cardiotoxicity. Mol Pharmacol 61(3):516–523
- 146. Toppo S, Vanin S et al (2008) Evolutionary and structural insights into the multifaceted glutathione peroxidase (Gpx) superfamily. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(9):1501–1514
- 147. Townsend DM, Tew KD (2003) The role of glutathione-S-transferase in anti-cancer drug resistance. Oncogene 22(47):7369–7375
- 148. Tribull TE, Bruner RH et al (2003) The multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 transports methoxychlor and protects the seminiferous epithelium from injury. Toxicol Lett 142(1–2): 61–70
- 149. Uchida K, Kawakishi S (1994) Identification of oxidized histidine generated at the active site of Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase exposed to H₂O₂. Selective generation of 2-oxo-histidine at the histidine 118. J Biol Chem 269(4):2405–2410
- 150. Usta Y, Ismailoglu UB et al (2004) Effects of pentoxifylline in Adriamycin-induced renal disease in rats. Pediatr Nephrol 19(8):840–843
- 151. van Dalen EC, Caron HN et al (2008) Cardioprotective interventions for cancer patients receiving anthracyclines. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD003917
- 152. Vasquezvivar J, Kalyanaraman B et al (2000) Mitochondrial aconitase is a source of hydroxyl radical an electron spin resonance investigation. J Biol Chem 275(19):14064–14069
- 153. Wijnholds J, Evers R, van Leusden MR, Mol CA, Zaman GJ, Mayer U et al (1997) Increased sensitivity to anticancer drugs and decreased inflammatory response in mice lacking the multidrug resistance-associated protein. Nat Med 3(11):1275–1279
- 154. Wijnholds J, Scheffer GL, van der Valk M, van der Valk P, Beijnen JH, Scheper RJ et al (1998) Multidrug resistance protein 1 protects the oropharyngeal mucosal layer and the testicular tubules against drug-induced damage. J Exp Med 188(5):797–808
- 155. Wold LE, Aberle NS 2nd et al (2005) Doxorubicin induces cardiomyocyte dysfunction via a p38 MAP kinase-dependent oxidative stress mechanism. Cancer Detect Prev 29(3):294–299
- 156. Yoshimura S, Suemizu H et al (1994) The human plasma glutathione peroxidase-encoding gene: organization, sequence and localization to chromosome 5q32. Gene 145(2):293–297
- 157. Zaman GJ, Flens MJ et al (1994) The human multidrug resistance-associated protein MRP is a plasma membrane drug-efflux pump. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91(19):8822–8826

Chapter 7 Tetrahydrobiopterin and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase: Implications for Radiation-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction and Normal Tissue Radiation Injury

Maaike Berbée, Qiang Fu, K. Sree Kumar, and Martin Hauer-Jensen

Abstract Radiation-induced microvascular injury plays an important role in the mechanisms of acute, as well as chronic normal tissue radiation toxicities. There is currently a growing body of evidence suggesting that depletion of the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) cofactor, 5,6,7,8-tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) is involved in the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction in many disorders. BH4 is an essential cofactor for all NOS enzymes, which, in the presence of adequate amounts of BH4, produce mainly nitric oxide (NO). Under conditions of BH4 deficiency, however, NOS is in the "uncoupled" state and production shifts to highly reactive oxygen radicals, superoxide, and peroxynitrite, at the expense of NO. Excessive oxidative stress, which occurs after exposure to ionizing radiation, reduces the bioavailability of BH4 because of rapid oxidation to 7,8-dihydrobiopterin (7,8-BH2). Free radicalinduced BH4 insufficiency may thus further increase oxidative stress locally, inhibit beneficial NO-dependent endothelial processes, and contribute to the development of endothelial dysfunction. Given that BH4 depletion and subsequent endothelial NOS uncoupling appear to play a major role in the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction in a number of disease processes, there is substantial reason to believe that

Financial Support:

National Institutes of Health/National Cancer Institute (grant CA83719 to MH-J) and Defense Threat Reduction Agency (grant HDTRA1-07-C-0028 to MH-J and H.10027-07-AR-R to KSK).

M. Berbée, MD Department of Radiation Oncology (Maastro), Maastricht University Medical Center, 6229 ET Maastricht. The Netherlands

Q. Fu, MD, PhD • M. Hauer-Jensen, MD, PhD (🖂)

Division of Radiation Health, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, 4301 West Markham, Slot 522-10, Little Rock, AR 72205, USA e-mail: mhjensen@life.uams.edu

K.S. Kumar, PhD Armed Forces Radiobiology Research Institute, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD 20889, USA improving postirradiation BH4 bioavailability, either by exogenous supplementation of BH4 or by modulating BH4 metabolism, might be a novel strategy by which radiation-induced endothelial dysfunction and subsequent tissue injury could be reduced. This chapter presents evidence to support the therapeutic potential of BH4 as a biological modulator of radiation toxicity.

7.1 Introduction

Normal tissue radiation injury may occur in the clinical as well as in the nonclinical setting. In patients undergoing radiotherapy of cancer, injury to surrounding normal structures remains the most important limiting factor for cancer cure and a major cause of early and delayed toxicities. Moreover, in the nonclinical setting, exposure to ionizing radiation in the context of radiological/nuclear accidents or terrorist attacks may result in substantial lethality.

Approaches to prevent, mitigate, or treat, normal tissue radiation toxicity are still an unmet need. Over the years, many different agents, including antioxidants, free radical scavengers, steroids, thiols, and cytokines, have undergone investigations as potential radioprotective agents [1-3]. For example, the thiol-containing compound, amifostine, is currently the only compound approved for this specific use in humans under clinical conditions, but its use for nonclinical settings as described above is hampered by a narrow therapeutic window and severe, performance degrading side effects [4]. As a consequence, amifostine has only been approved for use in select groups of patients undergoing radiotherapy, and it is not at all useful as a medical countermeasure in radiological emergencies.

It was previously believed that the severity of normal tissue toxicity after radiation exposure was solely dependent on the extent of death of the so-called "target cells." This view has now been firmly supplanted by the recognition that radiation-induced changes in cellular function and alterations secondary to cell death contribute substantially to the development of pathophysiological manifestations of normal tissue radiation injury. Notably, an increasing body of evidence indicates that endothelial dysfunction and injury of the microvasculature play particularly important roles in the development of early and delayed radiation responses in many normal tissues. In other words, an increasing body of evidence suggests that radiation-induced microvascular endothelial dysfunction is not merely a characteristic of radiation-injury, but is in fact a crucial contributor to the pathogenesis of radiation-induced tissue injury in various organ systems [5–13]. It follows, as a logical consequence, that interventions that prevent or reduce radiation-induced endothelial dysfunction have the potential to reduce clinical toxicity and improve outcome after radiation exposure.

Radiation exposure elicits both structural and functional changes in the microvascular endothelium. These changes include among others, apoptosis, increased endothelial permeability and loss of thromboresistance. Altered expression and/or activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) are believed to play a key role



Fig. 7.1 Schematic representation of NOS uncoupling. Under normal conditions, NOS catalyzes the conversion of L-arginine and O_2 to L-citrulline and NO. When uncoupled, NOS produces O_2^- at the cost of NO. Decreased availability of the NOS cofactor BH4 is an important cause of NOS uncoupling

in the development of endothelial dysfunction, and both eNOS expression and the endothelial nitric oxide (NO) production are impaired after radiation exposure.

This chapter focuses on the role of the NOS-cofactor 5,6,7,8-tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) in the development of postirradiation endothelial dysfunction. As a cofactor, BH4 is a critical determinant of eNOS function. To be functional the highly redoxsensitive BH4 should be in its fully reduced form. Conversely, when oxidized to 7,8-dihydrobiopterin (7,8-BH2), its activity as an eNOS cofactor is lost. Inadequate bioavailability of BH4, resulting in impaired NOS enzyme function (NOS uncoupling), plays an important role in a number of pathological conditions characterized by endothelial dysfunction and increased oxidative stress, such as hypertension, diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, and cardiac ischemia [14–20]. Radiation-induced free radicals may also oxidize BH4 to 7,8 BH2, thereby inducing eNOS malfunction and subsequent endothelial dysfunction (Figs. 7.1 and 7.2).

7.2 Radiation-Induced NO-Dependent Endothelial Dysfunction

NO, produced by eNOS, plays a critical role in the regulation of endothelial function. Inadequate NO production is believed to be one of the most important causes of endothelial dysfunction [21-24].

Several studies have investigated the effect of radiation exposure on endothelial NO production and eNOS-dependent vascular function. Endothelial NO is a strong vasodilator and one of the key regulators of vascular tonus. Hence, eNOS-dependent vascular function can be assessed by measuring the vascular relaxation response to substances that stimulate endothelial NO production. Vascular relaxation responses to substances such as acetylcholine are considered to be reliable measures of postirradiation NO-dependent vascular function.



Fig. 7.2 Model of postirradiation endothelial dysfunction. Radiation-induced free radicals oxidize the eNOS cofactor BH4. Decreased bioavailability of BH4 results in eNOS uncoupling, thereby reducing the synthesis of NO and increasing the production of O_2^- . O_2^- produced by eNOS may reduce the availability of BH4 even further

Both animal and human tissue samples have been used to study the effect of ionizing radiation on eNOS-dependent vascular function [25–31]. Most studies have shown that radiation exposure impairs NO-dependent vascular relaxation responses.

Different animal models have been used to study the effects of both low- and high-dose irradiation as well as of single fraction and fractionated irradiation on postirradiation vascular function.

Impaired vascular relaxation of the rabbit central ear artery was measured at different time points after irradiation with a single dose of 10–45 Gy [25, 26, 28]. The effects of high-dose irradiation on vascular relaxation are dose dependent (i.e., more severe after exposure to higher doses).

The effects of low-dose irradiation on the occurrence of NO-dependent endothelial dysfunction are less clear. Suvorava et al. measured the aortic relaxation response after exposure to a total radiation dose of 1 Gy [32]. In their experiments, rats were either chronically exposed to radiation, i.e., irradiated with a low-dose rate and an overall exposure time of about 6 weeks, or exposed to a similar total radiation dose in an acute manner. Only chronic exposure resulted in impaired endothelium-dependent (NO dependent) relaxation. In this particular study, acute radiation exposure did not affect vascular relaxation.

Hatoum et al. investigated the effects of fractionated irradiation on NO-dependent vascular relaxation [29]. Rats were exposed to total body irradiation with nine equal fractions of 2.5 Gy to a total dose of 22.5 Gy. From the third fraction onward, relaxation of intestinal microvasculature in the submucosa was found to be impaired. Moreover, the authors showed that vascular ROS production was elevated from fraction 3 on and that incubation with SOD mimetics improved postirradiation

vascular relaxation and reversed the decrease in intestinal endothelial NO levels. These findings strongly suggest that radiation-induced free radical production may play an important role in the development of postirradiation impaired eNOS function and consequential endothelial dysfunction.

When Sugihara et al. studied the effect of radiation exposure on endothelial function in human tissue samples, similar result as in the above-mentioned animal studies were found [27]. Impaired NO-dependent vascular relaxation was measured in tissue specimens from patients who had received preoperative fractionated radiotherapy with total doses from 40 to 65 Gy as compared to the vascular response in operation specimens from patients who had not undergone radiotherapy. Notably, the vascular relaxation response was impaired without significant changes in endothelial morphology.

The precise mechanism by which radiation exposure impairs eNOS-dependent vascular relaxation remains to be determined. A radiation-induced decrease in eNOS expression might play a role in the impairment of eNOS function. Decreased levels of endothelial eNOS mRNA and protein have been reported by various authors [26, 28]. However, decreased eNOS expression might not be the sole cause of the reduction in endothelial NO production, which to a large extent depends on the *activity* of eNOS. Hence, it is likely that postradiation ROS production reduces endothelial BH4 bioavailability because of the rapid oxidation of BH4 to BH2. As a result, eNOS uncoupling occurs, thereby impairing the local production of NO and increasing the production of O_2^{-} . Accumulating experimental evidence suggests that postirradiation eNOS uncoupling, due to increased oxidation of BH4, may be an important factor in radiation-induced eNOS malfunction, endothelial dysfunction, and normal tissue radiation injury (Fig. 7.2).

7.3 BH4 and eNOS Function

The unconjugated pterin analog BH4 is a known cofactor for a number of different enzymes. Aromatic amino acid hydroxylases, i.e., tyrosine, tryptophan, and phenylalanine hydroxylase, and glyceryl-ethermonoxygenase were the first enzymes recognized to depend on BH4 as a cofactor. Later, soon after the discovery of NO and the NOS enzymes, BH4 was discovered to be important for NOS enzyme function as well [33].

During the last few years, significant progress has been made in our understanding of how BH4 regulates NOS enzyme function. BH4 is a critical regulator of the catalytic activity of all three NOS isoforms: the constitutively expressed isoforms, endothelial NOS and neuronal NOS, as well as the inducible isoform iNOS. Several reviews have focused on the role of BH4 in the regulation of NOS function [34–36].

NOS enzymes catalyze the conversion of L-arginine into NO and L-citrulline [37]. Two moles of oxygen and 1.5 mol of NADPH are used per mole of L-citrulline formed. A functional NOS enzyme consists of two identical monomers containing a C-terminal reductase domain and an N-terminal oxygenase domain. At the C

terminal, there are binding sites for flavin mononucleotide (FMN) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) as well as for NADPH. The N terminal contains binding sites for BH4, heme, and L-arginine. The process of NO biosynthesis can be divided into two successive steps. In the first step, L-arginine is hydroxylated to *N*-hydroxy-L-arginine (NHA). During this process, one molecule of O_2 and two electrons are consumed per molecule of L-arginine. The second step is an oxidation step. NHA is converted to L-citrulline and NO, using one extra molecule of O_2 and one electron. Adequate amounts of BH4 are required for the conversion of L-arginine to NHA as well as for the formation of L-citrulline and NO from NHA.

BH4 affects NOS activity on multiple levels. It increases NOS activity by shifting the heme iron from a low to a high spin state [38, 39]. BH4 also enhances NOS substrate affinity and improves NOS synthetic activity by stabilizing the NOS dimer structure [40, 41]. Moreover, BH4 is known to play an important role in NOS electron transfer by donating an electron to the heme group [42]. Finally, BH4 may scavenge NOS-derived free radicals and thereby modulate NOS output [43, 44].

Insufficient availability of BH4 can cause so-called "uncoupling" of the NOS enzyme. NOS uncoupling refers to a form of NOS malfunction in which NADPH oxidation and O_2 reduction are uncoupled from the hydroxylation of L-arginine and the production of NO. In an uncoupled state, NOS enzymes will produce O_2^- anions at the cost of NO. Thus, NO production appears to be intricately associated with superoxide formation from irradiation, and superoxide formation in turn depends on the oxic–hypoxic status of the tissue. The dependency of superoxide formation on the equilibrium of oxic–hypoxic status suggests a close relationship to the efficacy of therapeutic radiation of cancer. Cancers, particularly those with necrotic lesions, are known to have hypoxic core regions. How these hypoxic regions respond to radiation vis-à-vis NO formation is still enigmatic.

7.4 BH4 Biosynthesis

BH4 synthesis occurs by two distinct pathways [45]. The de novo pathway synthesizes BH4 from the precursor guanidine triphosphate (GTP), whereas the salvage pathway regenerates BH4 from its oxidized forms (Fig. 7.3).

The rate of production via the de novo pathway is controlled by its first enzymatic conversion step. In this rate-limiting step, the formation of dihydroneopterin triphosphate from GTP is catalyzed by GTP cyclohydrolase I (GTPCH) in a zinc, magnesium and NAPH-dependent manner. Two additional steps are needed for the formation of BH4 from dihydroneopterin triphosphate. First, 6-pyruvol-tetrahydrobiopterin synthase catalyzes the conversion of dihydroneopterin triphosphate to pyruvol-tetrahydrobiopterin. In the last step of the de novo pathway, pyruvol-tetrahydrobiopterin is converted to BH4 by the action of sepiapterin reductase.

The rate of de novo BH4 synthesis depends on the activity of the rate-limiting enzyme GTPCH. The activity of GTPCH can be regulated in several ways. Hence, CTPCH activity is known to be modulated both by transcriptional and posttranscriptional changes, as well as by protein–protein interaction.



Fig. 7.3 *BH4 synthesis.* The synthesis of BH4 occurs by two distinct pathways. In the de novo pathway, BH4 is synthesized from GTP. GTPCH is the rate-limiting enzyme of de novo BH4 synthesis. BH4 is regenerated from its oxidized forms by the salvage pathway. Moreover, the salvage pathway is used to generate BH4 from exogenous sepiapterin. *GTPCH* GTP cyclohydrolase I, *PTPS* 6-pyruvoyl-tetrahydropterin synthase, *SR* sepiapterin reductase, *DHFR* dihydrofolate reductase

The CRE response element in the GTPCH gene is believed to play a crucial role in the regulation of GTPCH transcription. In vitro studies using cell cultures of hepatocytes, endothelial cells, and inflammatory cells have shown that GTPCH expression, as well as the production of BH4 increase after treatment with insulin, various cytokines, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and hydrogen peroxide [45]. In vivo experiments have confirmed that LPS treatment has a similar effect in vivo [46]. After administration of LPS, increased GTPCH mRNA levels were found in rat tissue. Further research is needed to determine which stimuli are most important in the regulation of GTPCH expression and to elucidate the exact mechanism by which they exert their effect.

Protein phosphorylation appears to be another important mechanism of posttranslational regulation of GTPCH. Protein kinase CK2 can increase GTPCH activity without increasing GTPCH levels by phosphorylation of the GTPCH protein [47, 48]. Widder et al. showed that laminar shear stress increases endothelial GTPCH activity and BH4 levels by stimulating the phosphorylation of GTPCH serine 81 [47].

Notably, the activity of GTPCH is controlled by the interaction of GTPCH with other proteins. GTPCH activity can be either stimulated or inhibited by the interaction between GTPCH and the GTPCH feedback regulatory protein (GFRP) [49–51].

GFRP–GTPCH binding enables end-product feedback inhibition by BH4. On the other hand, the binding of GFRP to GTPCH may enable phenylalanine to stimulate the enzymatic activity of GTPCH, although this process may be most relevant in the liver.

The salvage pathway regenerates BH4 from its oxidized forms by the action of sepiapterin reductase and dihydrofolate reductase.

Dihydrofolate reductase, an enzyme which also plays an important role in folate metabolism, produces BH4 by the reduction of inactive 7,8-BH2 to BH4. Cai et al. have demonstrated the importance of the salvage pathway in regulating endothelial BH4 bioavailability both in vitro and in vivo [52, 53]. They showed that reduced expression of dihydrofolate reductase decreases endothelial BH4 levels. Conversely, when the activity of dihydrofolate reductase is stimulated, BH4 levels as well as NO production increase, while the production of superoxide decreases.

Even though sepiapterin is not considered to be a physiological precursor of BH4 in mammals, it can be used as an exogenous source to increase BH4 bioavailability. Sepiapterin can be converted to BH4 by the action of the salvage pathway. Sepiapterin reductase reduces sepiapterin to 7,8-BH2. Subsequently, the conversion of 7,8-BH2 to BH4 is catalyzed by dihydrofolate reductase.

7.5 Pharmacological Approaches to Increase Postirradiation BH4 Levels

Recent studies performed in our laboratory have demonstrated, in vivo, that radiation causes a temporary reduction in tissue BH4 levels [54] and that exogenous administration of BH4 reverses some of the effects of radiation [55]. Taken together, these studies suggest that that radiation-induced decreased BH4 supplies and the resulting eNOS uncoupling play role in the pathogenesis of postirradiation endothelial dysfunction and tissue injury. Therefore, it might be possible to reduce radiation injury by restoring BH4 levels or preventing BH4 deficiency in order to maintain adequate BH4 levels.

It is possible to increase intracellular BH4 levels either directly, by supplementation of BH4 itself or its precursor sepiapterin, or indirectly, by targeting BH4 metabolism. Several pharmacological compounds have been proven to increase BH4 stability or to change the expression and/or activity levels of the key regulatory proteins involved in BH4 metabolism. Notably, some of the agents which are known to affect BH4 metabolism have already been shown to reduce the development of radiation injury [56, 57].

7.5.1 BH4/Sepiapterin

Intracellular BH4 availability can be increased by administration of BH4. For example, in vivo studies in animal models of diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, and organ transplantation have shown that BH4 administration decreases eNOS

uncoupling as well as endothelial dysfunction [17, 58–60]. BH4 supplementation has also been proven to be effective in human subjects. Hence, clinical studies have shown beneficial effects of BH4 administration in patients suffering from diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, as well as after ischemia–reperfusion [19, 61–65].

BH4 can be administered via multiple routes. In human subjects, BH4 is mainly administered by mouth. When administered orally, the small intestine is the main site of absorption and peak plasma levels are reached after 1–4 h. The elimination half life of BH4 is about 3–5 h [66].

Exogenously administered BH4 only reaches the intracellular compartment after several conversion steps [67, 68]. Before being taken up by tissues, BH4 is rapidly oxidized to 7,8-BH2. It is this oxidized form, 7,8-BH2, which is taken up by tissues and then converted back to BH4 once it has reached the intracellular compartment. Therefore, the efficacy of administered BH4 may be determined by the activity of the salvage pathway.

The salvage pathway also plays an essential role in the manner by which the BH4 precursor sepiapterin increases intracellular BH4 levels. Sepiapterin has been shown to improve endothelial functions both in vitro and vivo. In vitro, sepiapaterin reduces endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerotic coronary arteries [69]. In vivo, sepiapterin improves endothelial dysfunction in animal models of cardiac ischemia and diabetes [15, 70].

It needs to be noted that little is known about the possible negative effects of long-term and/or high dose administration of sepiapterin. Several authors have raised the concern that sepiapterin might compete with BH4 for eNOS binding and thereby actually worsen eNOS uncoupling [71, 72].

Additional research is clearly needed to fully elucidate the effects of BH4 and/or sepiapterin administration on various aspects of normal tissue radiation injury.

7.5.2 HMG-CoA Reductase Inhibitors

HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, the so-called statins, have been shown to augment endothelial BH4 levels both in vitro and in vivo [73, 74]. With their in vitro experiments, Hattori et al. demonstrated that statin treatment increases de novo BH4 synthesis by increasing the transcription of the rate-limiting enzyme GTPCH. Moreover, they showed that statin treatment increases intracellular BH4 levels and NO production. This indicates that statin-induced upregulation of GTPCH may result in enhanced eNOS function because of improved BH4 bioavailability and decreased enzymatic uncoupling.

Later on, statins were shown to improve the availability of BH4 in vivo as well. Statin treatment was shown to augment the expression of GTPCH, to improve the availability of BH4, and to reduce vascular oxidative stress in a diabetic rat model.

We and others have shown that statins reduce the severity of radiation injury in several organs systems in vivo. Hence, animal studies haves shown that statins ameliorate the development of radiation-induced injury to the intestine, lung, and skin [56, 57, 75–77]. In general, the beneficial effect of statins on radiation injury is believed to depend on the anti-inflammatory, antifibrotic, and vasculo-protective properties of statins. Using wild-type and eNOS deficient mice, Holler et al. showed that statin treatment improves postirradation vascular function in an eNOS-dependent manner [78]. Unfortunately, this study did not assess the effect of statins on postirradiation endothelial BH4 levels.

Further research is needed to determine the importance of endothelial BH4 and eNOS function in mechanisms by which statins ameliorate radiation injury. Moreover, the equilibrium between BH2 and BH4 may determine the response of tumor tissue versus normal tissue toward radiation. It can be surmised that if the equilibrium is tilted toward BH2 formation by oxidation of BH4, it may enhance the susceptibility of tumor toward radiation. If on the other hand, the equilibrium is shifted more toward BH4 formation, for example, with statins, normal tissues may be protected. This is consistent with findings by us and others that statins indeed protect normal tissues from radiation.

7.5.3 Ascorbic Acid

Ascorbic acid increases endothelial BH4 bioavailability as well as endothelial production of NO. For long, ascorbic acid was believed to protect BH4 against oxidation, thereby increasing its stability. However, evidence has emerged suggesting that that ascorbic acid does not prevent oxidation, but in fact facilitates the reduction of the intermediate radical BH3– back to BH4 [79, 80]. In vivo studies in mice demonstrate that long-term treatment with ascorbic acid reduces vascular endothelial dysfunction due to improved BH4 bioavailability and eNOS function [81].

Over the years, several studies have been conducted to investigate the effectiveness of ascorbic acid as a radioprotector [82–84]. In these studies, ascorbic acid was either given alone or in combination with other antioxidants. The results from these studies have been inconclusive and contradicting. Until now, the usefulness of ascorbic acid as a radioprotectant remains unclear.

7.5.4 Folates

Folic acid and its active metabolite 5-methyltetrahydrofolate have been shown to improve endothelial function in various diseases characterized by endothelial dysfunction, such as hypercholesterolemia and hyperhomocysteinemia [85–87]. These effects appear to be mediated by improvement in eNOS function and not to depend on folic acid-dependent remethylation of homocysteine to methionine.

BH4 plays an important role in the mechanism by which folic acid and 5-methyl tetrahydrofolate improve eNOS function. Folic acid and 5-methylhydrofolate prevent eNOS uncoupling by (1) direct interaction with eNOS, (2) enhanced BH4–eNOS

binding, (3) chemical stabilization of the BH4 molecule, and (4) increased conversion of inactive BH2 to BH4. The latter was shown to depend on upregulation of dihydrofolate reductase, an enzyme which plays an important role in both folate metabolism and the BH4 salvage pathway [52, 53].

Currently, little is known about the possible usefulness of folates as radioprophylactic or mitigating agents. Further research is needed to determine the effects of folates on radiation injury.

7.5.5 Angiotensin II Type I Receptor Blockers

Angiotensin II type I receptor antagonists are known to protect against radiationinduced pulmonary and renal injury. Animal experiments have shown that the angiotensin II type I receptor antagonist L158,809 may prevent and/or ameliorate postirradiation renal injury when started both before and after irradiation [88, 89]. L158,809 also protect against radiation-induced lung injury [90, 91]. Recent neurological studies have shown that angiotenstin II type I receptor blockers are also effective in reducing cognitive impairment after whole brain irradiation in rats [92].

The exact mechanisms by which angiotensin II type I receptor blockers confer radioprotection remains to be elucidated, but recent evidence suggests that modulation of BH4 metabolism might be important. Hence, angiotensin II type I receptor antagonist have been shown to increase GTPCH protein levels and BH4 availability and thereby prevent eNOS uncoupling in an animal model of diabetic nephropathy [93].

7.5.6 γ-Tocotrienol

The vitamin E analog γ -tocotrienol has potent radioprotective properties. A single injection of γ -tocotrienol 24 h before radiation exposure greatly ameliorates radiation injury and subsequent mortality in mice [94, 95]. γ -Tocotrienol reduces intestinal and vascular radiation injury and stimulates the recovery of the hematopoietic system after total body irradiation. The radioprotective effects of γ -tocotrienol are not solely mediated by its antioxidant properties, but also by inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase. Where statins directly inhibit HMG-COA reductase activity, γ -tocotrienol reduces enzyme activity by stimulating the proteasomal degradation of HMG-CoA reductase [96, 97].

As discussed above, inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase has been shown to have a beneficial effect on the availability of BH4 due to stimulation of de novo BH4 production. γ -Tocotrienol reduces postirradiation vascular peroxynitrite production in an HMG-CoA reducatase-dependent manner. Hence, it is likely that γ -tocotrienol ameliorate radiation-induced endothelial free radical production by increasing BH4 availability and prevention of eNOS uncoupling.

7.6 Conclusions

Inadequate availability of the NOS cofactor BH4 is believed to play a critical role in the development of various diseases characterized by increased oxidative stress. Adequate amounts of BH4 are essential to prevent NOS uncoupling, a state in which the NOS enzymes produce O_2^- at the cost of NO.

Radiation-induced free radicals may decrease endothelial bioavailability of BH4 due to rapid oxidation of BH4 to BH2, thereby prolonging and amplifying the postradiation oxidative burden. Radiation-induced decreases in BH4 may thus be important for the development of postirradiation endothelial dysfunction and tissue injury.

Further research is needed to determine the exact role of BH4 insufficiency and eNOS uncoupling in the pathogenesis of both acute and delayed radiation toxicity. Yet, it seems to be reasonable to believe that increasing BH4 levels could be a novel approach to prevent or reduce radiation injury. BH4 bioavailability can be augmented either by exogenous administration of BH4 or its precursor sepiapterin, or by modulating BH4 metabolism. Studies that determine the efficacy of BH4, sepiapterin, and various drugs known to regulate BH4 metabolism, such as statins, folates, ascorbic acid, angiotensin I type II receptor antagonists, and γ -tocotrienol in preventing or reducing radiation injury and whether their effect is BH4 dependent should be performed. The knowledge of the mechanisms of actions of these agents, particularly statins and γ -tocotrienol, may help devise strategies that provide concomitant protection of normal tissues and sensitization of tumors with the result of increasing the therapeutic ratio of radiation.

References

- Weiss JF, Kumar KS (1988) Antioxidant mechanisms in radiation injury and radioprotection. In: Chow CK (ed) Cellular antioxidant defense mechanisms, vol 2. CRC, Boca Raton, FL, pp 163–189
- 2. Weiss JF, Landauer MR (2000) Radioprotection by antioxidants. Ann NY Acad Sci 899:44-60
- Hosseinimehr SJ (2007) Trends in the development of radioprotective agents. Drug Discov Today 12:794–805
- Koukourakis MI, Kyrias G, Kakolyris S, Kouroussis C, Frangiadaki C, Giatromanolaki A, Retalis G, Georgoulias V (2000) Subcutaneous administration of amifostine during fractionated radiotherapy: a randomized phase II study. J Clin Oncol 18:2226–2233
- Wang J, Boerma M, Fu Q, Hauer-Jensen M (2007) Significance of endothelial dysfunction in the pathogenesis of early and delayed radiation enteropathy. World J Gastroenterol 13:3047–3055
- Paris F, Fuks Z, Kang A, Capodieci P, Juan G, Ehleiter D, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Cordon-Cardo C, Kolesnick R (2001) Endothelial apoptosis as the primary lesion initiating intestinal radiation damage in mice. Science 293:293–297
- Maj JG, Paris F, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Venkatraman E, Kolesnick R, Fuks Z (2003) Microvascular function regulates intestinal crypt response to radiation. Cancer Res 63:4338–4341
- Baker DG, Krochak RJ (1989) The response of the microvascular system to radiation: a review. Cancer Invest 7:287–294
- 9. Hopewell JW, Calvo W, Jaenke R, Reinhold HS, Robbins ME, Whitehouse EM (1993) Microvasculature and radiation damage. Recent Results Cancer Res 130:1–16

- 7 Tetrahydrobiopterin and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase...
- Jaenke RS, Robbins ME, Bywaters T, Whitehouse E, Rezvani M, Hopewell JW (1993) Capillary endothelium. Target site of renal radiation injury. Lab Invest 68:396–405
- Lyubimova N, Hopewell JW (2004) Experimental evidence to support the hypothesis that damage to vascular endothelium plays the primary role in the development of late radiationinduced CNS injury. Br J Radiol 77:488–492
- Rezvani M, Hopewell JW, Robbins ME (1995) Initiation of non-neoplastic late effects: the role of endothelium and connective tissue. Stem Cells 13(Suppl 1):248–256
- Wang J, Zheng H, Ou X, Fink LM, Hauer-Jensen M (2002) Deficiency of microvascular thrombomodulin and up-regulation of protease-activated receptor-1 in irradiated rat intestine: possible link between endothelial dysfunction and chronic radiation fibrosis. Am J Pathol 160:2063–2072
- Alp NJ, Mussa S, Khoo J, Cai S, Guzik T, Jefferson A, Goh N, Rockett KA, Channon KM (2003) Tetrahydrobiopterin-dependent preservation of nitric oxide-mediated endothelial function in diabetes by targeted transgenic GTP-cyclohydrolase I overexpression. J Clin Invest 112:725–735
- Pannirselvam M, Simon V, Verma S, Anderson T, Triggle CR (2003) Chronic oral supplementation with sepiapterin prevents endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress in small mesenteric arteries from diabetic (db/db) mice. Br J Pharmacol 140:701–706
- Landmesser U, Dikalov S, Price SR, McCann L, Fukai T, Holland SM, Mitch WE, Harrison DG (2003) Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. J Clin Invest 111:1201–1209
- Cosentino F, Patton S, d'Uscio LV, Werner ER, Werner-Felmayer G, Moreau P, Malinski T, Luscher TF (1998) Tetrahydrobiopterin alters superoxide and nitric oxide release in prehypertensive rats. J Clin Invest 101:1530–1537
- Cosentino F, Hurlimann D, Delli GC, Chenevard R, Blau N, Alp NJ, Channon KM, Eto M, Lerch P, Enseleit F, Ruschitzka F, Volpe M, Luscher TF, Noll G (2008) Chronic treatment with tetrahydrobiopterin reverses endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress in hypercholesterolemia. Heart 94(4):487–92
- Stroes E, Kastelein J, Cosentino F, Erkelens W, Wever R, Koomans H, Luscher T, Rabelink T (1997) Tetrahydrobiopterin restores endothelial function in hypercholesterolemia. J Clin Invest 99:41–46
- 20. Dumitrescu C, Biondi R, Xia Y, Cardounel AJ, Druhan LJ, Ambrosio G, Zweier JL (2007) Myocardial ischemia results in tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) oxidation with impaired endothelial function ameliorated by BH4. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:15081–15086
- Napoli C, Ignarro LJ (2009) Nitric oxide and pathogenic mechanisms involved in the development of vascular diseases. Arch Pharm Res 32:1103–1108
- Harrison DG (1997) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of endothelial cell dysfunction. J Clin Invest 100:2153–2157
- 23. Naseem KM (2005) The role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular diseases. Mol Aspects Med 26:33–65
- 24. Li H, Forstermann U (2000) Nitric oxide in the pathogenesis of vascular disease. J Pathol 190:244–254
- 25. Maynard KI, Stewart-Lee AL, Milner P, Burnstock G (1992) X-irradiation attenuates relaxant responses in the rabbit ear artery. Br J Pharmacol 105:126–128
- 26. Qi F, Sugihara T, Hattori Y, Yamamoto Y, Kanno M, Abe K (1998) Functional and morphological damage of endothelium in rabbit ear artery following irradiation with cobalt60. Br J Pharmacol 123:653–660
- 27. Sugihara T, Hattori Y, Yamamoto Y, Qi F, Ichikawa R, Sato A, Liu MY, Abe K, Kanno M (1999) Preferential impairment of nitric oxide-mediated endothelium-dependent relaxation in human cervical arteries after irradiation. Circulation 100:635–641
- Zhang XH, Matsuda N, Jesmin S, Sakuraya F, Gando S, Kemmotsu O, Hattori Y (2003) Normalization by edaravone, a free radical scavenger, of irradiation-reduced endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression. Eur J Pharmacol 476:131–137
- Hatoum OA, Otterson MF, Kopelman D, Miura H, Sukhotnik I, Larsen BT, Selle RM, Moulder JE, Gutterman DD (2006) Radiation induces endothelial dysfunction in murine intestinal

arterioles via enhanced production of reactive oxygen species. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26:287–294

- 30. Siegal T, Pfeffer MR, Meltzer A, Shezen E, Nimrod A, Ezov N, Ovadia H (1996) Cellular and secretory mechanisms related to delayed radiation-induced microvessel dysfunction in the spinal cord of rats. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 36:649–659
- 31. Soloviev AI, Tishkin SM, Parshikov AV, Ivanova IV, Goncharov EV, Gurney AM (2003) Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction after ionized radiation: selective impairment of the nitric oxide component of endothelium-dependent vasodilation. Br J Pharmacol 138:837–844
- Suvorava T, Luksha L, Bulanova KY, Lobanok LM (2006) Dose-rate dependent effects of ionizing radiation on vascular reactivity. Radiat Prot Dosimetry 122:543–545
- Kwon NS, Nathan CF, Stuehr DJ (1989) Reduced biopterin as a cofactor in the generation of nitrogen oxides by murine macrophages. J Biol Chem 264:20496–20501
- 34. Werner ER, Gorren AC, Heller R, Werner-Felmayer G, Mayer B (2003) Tetrahydrobiopterin and nitric oxide: mechanistic and pharmacological aspects. Exp Biol Med 228:1291–1302
- Alp NJ, Channon KM (2004) Regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by tetrahydrobiopterin in vascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24:413–420
- Gorren AC, Mayer B (2002) Tetrahydrobiopterin in nitric oxide synthesis: a novel biological role for pteridines. Curr Drug Metab 3:133–157
- Andrew PJ, Mayer B (1999) Enzymatic function of nitric oxide synthases. Cardiovasc Res 43:521–531
- 38. Gorren AC, List BM, Schrammel A, Pitters E, Hemmens B, Werner ER, Schmidt K, Mayer B (1996) Tetrahydrobiopterin-free neuronal nitric oxide synthase: evidence for two identical highly anticooperative pteridine binding sites. Biochemistry 35:16735–16745
- Rodriguez-Crespo I, Moenne-Loccoz P, Loehr TM, Ortiz de Montellano PR (1997) Endothelial nitric oxide synthase: modulations of the distal heme site produced by progressive N-terminal deletions. Biochemistry 36:8530–8538
- 40. Klatt P, Schmid M, Leopold E, Schmidt K, Werner ER, Mayer B (1994) The pteridine binding site of brain nitric oxide synthase. Tetrahydrobiopterin binding kinetics, specificity, and allosteric interaction with the substrate domain. J Biol Chem 269:13861–13866
- 41. Ghosh DK, Wu C, Pitters E, Moloney M, Werner ER, Mayer B, Stuehr DJ (1997) Characterization of the inducible nitric oxide synthase oxygenase domain identifies a 49 amino acid segment required for subunit dimerization and tetrahydrobiopterin interaction. Biochemistry 36:10609–10619
- 42. Gorren AC, Kungl AJ, Schmidt K, Werner ER, Mayer B (2001) Electrochemistry of pterin cofactors and inhibitors of nitric oxide synthase. Nitric Oxide 5:176–186
- Reif A, Frohlich LG, Kotsonis P, Frey A, Bommel HM, Wink DA, Pfleiderer W, Schmidt HH (1999) Tetrahydrobiopterin inhibits monomerization and is consumed during catalysis in neuronal NO synthase. J Biol Chem 274:24921–24929
- 44. Kotsonis P, Frohlich LG, Shutenko ZV, Horejsi R, Pfleiderer W, Schmidt HH (2000) Allosteric regulation of neuronal nitric oxide synthase by tetrahydrobiopterin and suppression of autodamaging superoxide. Biochem J 346(Pt 3):767–776
- 45. Thony B, Auerbach G, Blau N (2000) Tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthesis, regeneration and functions. Biochem J 347(Pt 1):1–16
- 46. Hattori Y, Nakanishi N, Kasai K, Murakami Y, Shimoda S (1996) Tetrahydrobiopterin and GTP cyclohydrolase I in a rat model of endotoxic shock: relation to nitric oxide synthesis. Exp Physiol 81:665–671
- 47. Widder JD, Chen W, Li L, Dikalov S, Thony B, Hatakeyama K, Harrison DG (2007) Regulation of tetrahydrobiopterin biosynthesis by shear stress. Circ Res 101:830–838
- De Bono JP, Channon KM (2007) Endothelial cell tetrahydrobiopterin: going with the flow. Circ Res 101:752–754
- Maita N, Hatakeyama K, Okada K, Hakoshima T (2004) Structural basis of biopterin-induced inhibition of GTP cyclohydrolase I by GFRP, its feedback regulatory protein. J Biol Chem 279:51534–51540
- 50. Gesierich A, Niroomand F, Tiefenbacher CP (2003) Role of human GTP cyclohydrolase I and its regulatory protein in tetrahydrobiopterin metabolism. Basic Res Cardiol 98:69–75

- 7 Tetrahydrobiopterin and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase...
- 51. Ishii M, Shimizu S, Wajima T, Hagiwara T, Negoro T, Miyazaki A, Tobe T, Kiuchi Y (2005) Reduction of GTP cyclohydrolase I feedback regulating protein expression by hydrogen peroxide in vascular endothelial cells. J Pharmacol Sci 97:299–302
- 52. Chalupsky K, Cai H (2005) Endothelial dihydrofolate reductase: critical for nitric oxide bioavailability and role in angiotensin II uncoupling of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:9056–9061
- 53. Gao L, Chalupsky K, Stefani E, Cai H (2009) Mechanistic insights into folic acid-dependent vascular protection: Dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR)-mediated reduction in oxidant stress in endothelial cells and angiotensin II-infused mice: A novel HPLC-based fluorescent assay for DHFR activity. J Mol Cell Cardiol 47(6):752–60
- 54. Berbee M, Fu Q, Werner ER, Kumar KS, Hauer-Jensen M (2009) The effect of total body irradiation on the availability of the NOS cofactor tetrahydrobiopterin (abstr.). Radiat Res Soc 55:106–107
- 55. Cui L, Berbee M, Fu Q, Boerma M, Wang J, Kumar KS, Hauer-Jensen M (2009) Exogenous administration of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) ameliorates DNA and lipid oxidative damage in mice after total body irradiation (abstr.). Radiat Res Soc 55:67–68
- 56. Wang J, Boerma M, Fu Q, Kulkarni A, Fink LM, Hauer-Jensen M (2007) Simvastatin ameliorates radiation enteropathy development after localized, fractionated irradiation by a protein C-independent mechanism. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 68:1483–1490
- Haydont V, Bourgier C, Pocard M, Lusinchi A, Aigueperse J, Mathe D, Bourhis J, Vozenin-Brotons MC (2007) Pravastatin Inhibits the Rho/CCN2/extracellular matrix cascade in human fibrosis explants and improves radiation-induced intestinal fibrosis in rats. Clin Cancer Res 13:5331–5340
- 58. Tamura Y, Naemura A, Inoue A, Ijiri Y, Seki J, Yada T, Goto M, Shinohara M, Kawashima S, Giddings JC, Yamamoto J (2009) Impaired endothelial function may be due to decreased aortic tetrahydrobiopterin, assessed by a new flow-mediated vasodilation in vivo in hypercholesterolemic/atherogenic mice. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 20(8):699–705
- 59. Shinozaki K, Nishio Y, Okamura T, Yoshida Y, Maegawa H, Kojima H, Masada M, Toda N, Kikkawa R, Kashiwagi A (2000) Oral administration of tetrahydrobiopterin prevents endothelial dysfunction and vascular oxidative stress in the aortas of insulin-resistant rats. Circ Res 87:566–573
- 60. Pieper GM (1997) Acute amelioration of diabetic endothelial dysfunction with a derivative of the nitric oxide synthase cofactor, tetrahydrobiopterin. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 29:8–15
- 61. Cosentino F, Hurlimann D, Delli GC, Chenevard R, Blau N, Alp NJ, Channon KM, Eto M, Lerch P, Enseleit F, Ruschitzka F, Volpe M, Luscher TF, Noll G (2008) Chronic treatment with tetrahydrobiopterin reverses endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress in hypercholesterolaemia. Heart 94:487–492
- Heitzer T, Krohn K, Albers S, Meinertz T (2000) Tetrahydrobiopterin improves endotheliumdependent vasodilation by increasing nitric oxide activity in patients with Type II diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 43:1435–1438
- 63. Heitzer T, Brockhoff C, Mayer B, Warnholtz A, Mollnau H, Henne S, Meinertz T, Munzel T (2000) Tetrahydrobiopterin improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation in chronic smokers: evidence for a dysfunctional nitric oxide synthase. Circ Res 86:E36–E41
- 64. Higashi Y, Sasaki S, Nakagawa K, Fukuda Y, Matsuura H, Oshima T, Chayama K (2002) Tetrahydrobiopterin enhances forearm vascular response to acetylcholine in both normotensive and hypertensive individuals. Am J Hypertens 15:326–332
- 65. Settergren M, Bohm F, Malmstrom RE, Channon KM, Pernow J (2009) L-arginine and tetrahydrobiopterin protects against ischemia/reperfusion-induced endothelial dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis 204: 73–78
- 66. Fiege B, Ballhausen D, Kierat L, Leimbacher W, Goriounov D, Schircks B, Thony B, Blau N (2004) Plasma tetrahydrobiopterin and its pharmacokinetic following oral administration. Mol Genet Metab 81:45–51
- 67. Sawabe K, Wakasugi KO, Hasegawa H (2004) Tetrahydrobiopterin uptake in supplemental administration: elevation of tissue tetrahydrobiopterin in mice following uptake of the exogenously

oxidized product 7,8-dihydrobiopterin and subsequent reduction by an anti-folate-sensitive process. J Pharmacol Sci 96:124–133

- 68. Hasegawa H, Sawabe K, Nakanishi N, Wakasugi OK (2005) Delivery of exogenous tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) to cells of target organs: role of salvage pathway and uptake of its precursor in effective elevation of tissue BH4. Mol Genet Metab 86(Suppl 1):S2–10
- Tiefenbacher CP, Bleeke T, Vahl C, Amann K, Vogt A, Kubler W (2000) Endothelial dysfunction of coronary resistance arteries is improved by tetrahydrobiopterin in atherosclerosis. Circulation 102:2172–2179
- 70. Tiefenbacher CP, Lee CH, Kapitza J, Dietz V, Niroomand F (2003) Sepiapterin reduces postischemic injury in the rat heart. Pflugers Arch 447:1–7
- 71. Vasquez-Vivar J, Martasek P, Whitsett J, Joseph J, Kalyanaraman B (2002) The ratio between tetrahydrobiopterin and oxidized tetrahydrobiopterin analogues controls superoxide release from endothelial nitric oxide synthase: an EPR spin trapping study. Biochem J 362:733–739
- 72. Tarpey MM (2002) Sepiapterin treatment in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:1519–1521
- Hattori Y, Nakanishi N, Akimoto K, Yoshida M, Kasai K (2003) HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor increases GTP cyclohydrolase I mRNA and tetrahydrobiopterin in vascular endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:176–182
- 74. Wenzel P, Daiber A, Oelze M, Brandt M, Closs E, Xu J, Thum T, Bauersachs J, Ertl G, Zou MH, Forstermann U, Munzel T (2008) Mechanisms underlying recoupling of eNOS by HMG-CoA reductase inhibition in a rat model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis 198:65–76
- 75. Williams JP, Hernady E, Johnston CJ, Reed CM, Fenton B, Okunieff P, Finkelstein JN (2004) Effect of administration of lovastatin on the development of late pulmonary effects after wholelung irradiation in a murine model. Radiat Res 161:560–567
- 76. Haydont V, Gilliot O, Rivera S, Bourgier C, Francois A, Aigueperse J, Bourhis J, Vozenin-Brotons MC (2007) Successful mitigation of delayed intestinal radiation injury using pravastatin is not associated with acute injury improvement or tumor protection. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 68:1471–1482
- 77. Gaugler MH, Vereycken-Holler V, Squiban C, Vandamme M, Vozenin-Brotons MC, Benderitter M (2005) Pravastatin limits endothelial activation after irradiation and decreases the resulting inflammatory and thrombotic responses. Radiat Res 163:479–487
- Holler V, Buard V, Gaugler MH, Guipaud O, Baudelin C, Sache A, Perez MR, Squiban C, Tamarat R, Milliat F, Benderitter M (2009) Pravastatin limits radiation-induced vascular dysfunction in the skin. J Invest Dermatol 129:1280–1291
- 79. Huang A, Vita JA, Venema RC, Keaney JF Jr (2000) Ascorbic acid enhances endothelial nitric-oxide synthase activity by increasing intracellular tetrahydrobiopterin. J Biol Chem 275:17399–17406
- Kuzkaya N, Weissmann N, Harrison DG, Dikalov S (2003) Interactions of peroxynitrite, tetrahydrobiopterin, ascorbic acid, and thiols: implications for uncoupling endothelial nitric-oxide synthase. J Biol Chem 278:22546–22554
- d'Uscio LV, Milstien S, Richardson D, Smith L, Katusic ZS (2003) Long-term vitamin C treatment increases vascular tetrahydrobiopterin levels and nitric oxide synthase activity. Circ Res 92:88–95
- 82. Kennedy M, Bruninga K, Mutlu EA, Losurdo J, Choudhary S, Keshavarzian A (2001) Successful and sustained treatment of chronic radiation proctitis with antioxidant vitamins E and C. Am J Gastroenterol 96:1080–1084
- Halperin EC, Gaspar L, George S, Darr D, Pinnell S (1993) A double-blind, randomized, prospective trial to evaluate topical vitamin C solution for the prevention of radiation dermatitis. CNS Cancer Consortium. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 26:413–416
- 84. Wagdi P, Fluri M, Aeschbacher B, Fikrle A, Meier B (1996) Cardioprotection in patients undergoing chemo- and/or radiotherapy for neoplastic disease. A pilot study. Jpn Heart J 37:353–359

- 7 Tetrahydrobiopterin and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase...
- 85. van Etten RW, de Koning EJ, Verhaar MC, Gaillard CA, Rabelink TJ (2002) Impaired NO-dependent vasodilation in patients with Type II (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus is restored by acute administration of folate. Diabetologia 45:1004–1010
- Verhaar MC, Wever RM, Kastelein JJ, van Dam T, Koomans HA, Rabelink TJ (1998) 5-methyltetrahydrofolate, the active form of folic acid, restores endothelial function in familial hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 97:237–241
- Woo KS, Chook P, Lolin YI, Sanderson JE, Metreweli C, Celermajer DS (1999) Folic acid improves arterial endothelial function in adults with hyperhomocystinemia. J Am Coll Cardiol 34:2002–2006
- Moulder JE, Fish BL, Cohen EP (1998) Radiation nephropathy is treatable with an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor or an angiotensin II type-1 (AT1) receptor antagonist. Radiother Oncol 46:307–315
- 89. Molteni A, Moulder JE, Cohen EP, Fish BL, Taylor JM, Veno PA, Wolfe LF, Ward WF (2001) Prevention of radiation-induced nephropathy and fibrosis in a model of bone marrow transplant by an angiotensin II receptor blocker. Exp Biol Med 226:1016–1023
- Molteni A, Moulder JE, Cohen EF, Ward WF, Fish BL, Taylor JM, Wolfe LF, Brizio-Molteni L, Veno P (2000) Control of radiation-induced pneumopathy and lung fibrosis by angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and an angiotensin II type 1 receptor blocker. Int J Radiat Biol 76:523–532
- 91. Molteni A, Wolfe LF, Ward WF, Tsao CH, Molteni LB, Veno P, Fish BL, Taylor JM (2007) Effect of an angiotensin II receptor blocker and two angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors on transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) and alpha-actomyosin (alpha SMA), important mediators of radiation-induced pneumopathy and lung fibrosis. Curr Pharm Des 13:1307–1316
- 92. Robbins ME, Payne V, Tommasi E, Diz DI, Hsu FC, Brown WR, Wheeler KT, Olson J, Zhao W (2009) The AT1 receptor antagonist, L-158,809, prevents or ameliorates fractionated whole-brain irradiation-induced cognitive impairment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 73:499–505
- 93. Satoh M, Fujimoto S, Arakawa S, Yada T, Namikoshi T, Haruna Y, Horike H, Sasaki T, Kashihara N (2008) Angiotensin II type 1 receptor blocker ameliorates uncoupled endothelial nitric oxide synthase in rats with experimental diabetic nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 23:3806–3813
- 94. Berbee M, Fu Q, Boerma M, Wang J, Kumar KS, Hauer-Jensen M (2009) Gamma-Tocotrienol ameliorates intestinal radiation injury and reduces vascular oxidative stress after total-body irradiation by an HMG-CoA reductase-dependent mechanism. Radiat Res 171:596–605
- 95. Ghosh SP, Kulkarni S, Hieber K, Toles R, Romanyukha L, Kao TC, Hauer-Jensen M, Kumar KS (2009) Gamma-tocotrienol, a tocol antioxidant as a potent radioprotector. Int J Radiat Biol 85:598–606
- 96. Parker RA, Pearce BC, Clark RW, Gordon DA, Wright JJ (1993) Tocotrienols regulate cholesterol production in mammalian cells by post-transcriptional suppression of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase. J Biol Chem 268:11230–11238
- Song BL, DeBose-Boyd RA (2006) Insig-dependent ubiquitination and degradation of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase stimulated by delta- and gamma-tocotrienols. J Biol Chem 281:25054–25061

Chapter 8 Amifostine and the Endogenous Cellular Antioxidant Enzyme Manganese Superoxide Dismutase in Radioprotection

Jeffrey S. Murley, Yasushi Kataoka, and David J. Grdina

Abstract Amifostine is currently the only drug approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for use as a radiation protector in the clinical treatment of cancer. While its approved use is limited to reducing the incidence of moderate to severe xerostomia in patients undergoing postoperative radiation treatment for head and neck cancer, where a substantial portion of the parotid glands are in the radiation field, the drug has been used in a number of off-label applications. Amifostine's effectiveness as a radioprotector is due to a number of factors that include the following: a polyamine-like structure that facilitates its concentration within mitochondria and the microenvironment of chromatin; a free thiol group in its active form that participates directly in free radical scavenging processes; and through its reductive properties, the ability to activate a nuclear transcription factor κB signaling pathway that culminates in an inductive, antioxidant-mediated protective process resulting from the enhanced transcription and subsequent elevation in activity of the potent mitochondrial antioxidant enzyme manganese superoxide dismutase. This latter effect is a thiol-mediated adaptive response that is the basis for a newly identified phenomenon described as a delayed radioprotective effect. If limited to only normal tissues, this phenomenon could be exploited to enhance amifostine's overall usefulness as a radiation protector. Concomitant effects on malignant tissues would, however, severely compromise therapeutic gain and limit its usefulness as a radiation protector in cancer treatment.

J.S. Murley, PhD • Y. Kataoka, PhD • D.J. Grdina, PhD (⊠) Department of Radiation and Cellular Oncology, The University of Chicago, 5841 S. Maryland Ave., MC1105, Chicago, IL 60637, USA e-mail: dgrdina@uchicago.edu

8.1 Introduction

Amifostine (S-2-[3-aminopropylamino]ethylphosphorothioic acid) is a radioprotective drug from the class of drugs known as phophorothioates developed by the Antiradiation Drug Development Program of the US Army [1]. From the initial observation published in 1949 demonstrating that the sulfhydryl-containing amino acid cysteine was capable of protecting cells against the lethal effects of radiation [2], a number of factors were identified as important in the development of a very effective class of radioprotector drugs. First, a relatively little appreciated but very important property of an effective chemical radioprotector was that it is positively charged to facilitate its ability to concentrate within the microenvironment of negatively charged mitochondrial and nuclear DNA. This was accomplished through the synthesis of drugs having positively charged amine groups similar in structure to that of the naturally occurring polyamines. Second, the presence of a free sulfhydryl group attached to these molecules, e.g., forming a resultant aminothiol compound, to facilitate the ability to scavenge free radicals offered the design for an effective radioprotective compound [1]. Third, the interaction of two such free sulfhydryl molecules to form a disulfide structure significantly diminishes the free radical scavenging efficacy of the drug. Fourth, because the underlying mechanism of action of these agents involves the scavenging of highly reactive and short-lived free radical species, they are required to be present during their formation as they are produced by exposure to ionizing radiation [3]. Finally, the magnitude of protection that can be achieved by this class of drugs is proportional to the amount of drug that can be effectively delivered prior to irradiation. While adequately describing the relevant factors underlying the effectiveness of aminothiol drugs as free radical scavengers and potent radioprotectors, an additional important property of this class of agents remained unknown until a report in 1995 that described the ability of certain free thiol-containing drugs to initiate a nuclear transcription factor kB (NFkB)-mediated signaling pathway that resulted in the increased transcription and subsequent elevated activity 24 h later of the mitochondrial antioxidant enzyme manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD2) [4]. Cells exposed to a 2 Gy dose of ionizing radiation at that time exhibited not only an elevation in survival [5-8], but also a reduction in the frequencies of radiation-induced DNA hyperrecombination and micronuclei formation [9].

8.2 Physicochemical Mechanisms of Action

8.2.1 Free Radical Scavenging

Amifostine is a prodrug in which its sulfhydryl group is shielded by a phosphate group which makes the drug less toxic but relatively ineffective as a radioprotector. In order to become an effective radioprotector, amifostine, having the chemical structure $H_2N-(CH_2)_3-(CH_2)_2-S-PO_3H_2$, must first be dephosphorylated by alkaline phosphatase to expose the active SH group [10, 11]. This active form of amifostine,

routinely referred to as WR1065, has the structure $H_2N-(CH_2)_2-NH-(CH_2)_2-SH$ in which the sulfhydryl group, a highly reactive moiety, is available to participate in the scavenging of free radicals. In this manner, WR1065 actively binds to and removes highly reactive products of water radiolysis before these free radicals can react with and damage molecules of biological importance, such as mitochondrial and nuclear DNA. Furthermore, sulfhydryl-containing radioprotective drugs, such as amifostine, can form reversible disulfide bonds as a result of the interaction of two thiol groups. When this occurs between a WR1065 molecule and a thiol group of a protein, a mixed disulfide is formed that can affect both a protein's structure and function. However, such an interaction between two WR1065 molecules gives rise to the disulfide form of amifostine having the chemical structure H₂N-(CH₂)₃-NH- $(CH_{2})_{2}$ -S-S- $(CH_{2})_{2}$ -NH- $(CH_{2})_{3}$ -NH₂. Both the structure and biological properties of the symmetrical disulfide form of amifostine (i.e., WR33278) mimic those of the polyamine spermine, H₂N-(CH₂)₂-NH-(CH₂)₂-(CH₂)₂-NH-(CH₂)₃-NH₂, and both of these molecules can participate in the removal of free radicals [13, 14]. Since the free radical-generated indirect effect of ionizing radiation accounts for approximately 75–80% of the damage to DNA, the ability to scavenge water-derived free radicals is an important component of amifostine's radioprotective effectiveness.

8.2.2 Hydrogen Atom Donation

A second radioprotective mechanism of action attributed to amifostine is the ability of its free thiol form to participate in the direct chemical repair of a biological lesion through a direct hydrogen atom donation process [12]. The loss of a hydrogen atom in an important biological molecule, such as DNA, as a result of either the direct absorption of radiant energy or indirectly through a reaction with free radicals can be compensated through the donation of a hydrogen atom by a sulfhydryl group. Thus, hydrogen atom donation has the potential of repairing molecular lesions after they are produced by free radical damage. Consequently, the sulfhydryl group on the active free thiol from of amifostine has the potential to affect molecular damage induced by both the indirect and direct effects of ionizing radiation.

8.2.3 Intracellular Hypoxia via Auto-Oxidation

The role of oxygen in radiation sensitivity is well-known. Removal of oxygen results in a hypoxic environment. Hypoxic cells exposed to ionizing radiation exhibit a twoto three-fold elevation in radiation resistance as evidenced by increased survival. Thus, any agent that can reduce the degree of oxygenation in a tissue or cell system can also evoke a radioprotective effect. Such a radioprotective mechanism is known to be associated with thiols. In the presence of heavy metals, the rapid oxidation of thiols by oxygen can result in the removal of oxygen and result in a transient and localized hypoxic microenvironment [12]. Hypoxia induction is, therefore, a third potential mechanism that has been attributed to the radioprotective effectiveness of amifostine [15].

8.3 Role of Polyamine Structure in Radiation Protection

8.3.1 Drug Delivery

The disulfide form of amifostine is structurally similar to the polyamine spermine (see above). The polyamines are ubiquitous polycationic molecules that participate in numerous cellular functions, including maintenance of chromatin stability, effects on DNA synthesis, modulation of kinase activities, effects on gene expression, and changes in protein confirmation [16]. The close structural similarity between amifostine's disulfide form and spermine is also correlated with many similar functional properties. Examples of this include the ability of amifostine to inhibit putrescine uptake into the lung tissues of rats [17] and to serve as a substrate for polyamine oxidase [18]. While amifostine's free thiol form, WR1065, has been extensively studied and found to be taken up by cells primarily through a passive diffusion process, the disulfide form (WR33278) is transported actively into cells via the polyamine transporter system [13]. Transport of WR33278 by this process occurs at the same velocity as spermidine and can effectively compete with and inhibit its incorporation into cells. The cellular uptake of both WR33278 and spermidine are equally inhibited under conditions that also inhibit the endogenous cellular polyamine transporter system, such as through the use of either inhibitory agents or site-directed mutagenesis [13].

Intracellular redox-mediated reactions can significantly affect the interconversion between the thiol and disulfide forms of amifostine. Following exposure of cells to millimolar concentrations of WR1065, the intracellular ratio of thiol to disulfide molecules is 10 to 1 if the measurements are based on total cellular volume [19]. The disulfide form can concentrate over ten-fold within the nucleus as compared to the cytoplasm. Thus, if measurements are made only within the nucleus rather than the entire cellular volume following WR1065 exposure, the ratio of the thiol form to the disulfide form is 1 to 1.2 [20]. These findings have been interpreted as being the consequence of an active sequestration of the disulfide form of amifostine within the nuclear volume of cells.

8.3.2 DNA Binding: Localizing the Radical Scavenger to the Molecular Target

It is well-accepted in radiation biology that DNA is the most important intracellular molecular target for radiation damage. Over 75% of low LET radiation-induced DNA damage is due to free radical formation, e.g., the indirect effect. In the case of thiol-based radioprotectors, it has been determined that the net positive charge of the thiol compound is a major determinant of its ability to protect against radiation-induced free radical damage since DNA is negatively charged [19, 21, 22]. The free thiol and disulfide forms of amifostine have positive net charges of +2 and +4,

respectively [22]. Polyamines are also positively charged molecules. Like polyamines of similar structure and net charge, the thiol and disulfide forms of amifostine exhibit the same propensity toward electrostatic binding to the minor grove of DNA [23–25]. The disulfide form, WR33278, occupies a binding site of approximately ten nucleotides while the free thiol, WR1065, binds to only five nucleotides [26]. Each form of amifostine competes equally with its respective polyamine counterpart exhibiting the same net-positive electrostatic charge for the same DNA-binding sites [23-26]. In this manner, locally high concentrations of amifostine's free thiol and disulfide forms can be achieved in the microenvironment of critically important biological targets, such as nuclear and mitochondrial DNA, to enhance their associated free radical scavenging mechanisms that lead to radiation protection. Furthermore, such binding to DNA can alter and stabilize chromatin structure [27-29] that in turn can affect gene expression [30, 31], DNA repair [32, 33], enzymatic activity, and cell cycle progression [34, 35]. Each of these properties can contribute, therefore, to overall protection against radiation-induced free radical damage in cells. The timing of radioprotector administration is also critical. Empirical data have demonstrated that intracellular levels of free thiol, WR1065, and disulfide, WR33278, forms of amifostine reach their maximum concentrations approximately 30 min after administration and fall to background levels 1 h later [20]. Thus, their direct protective effects are transitory and require their administration within a very limited window of time prior to radiation exposure. Furthermore, radiolytic products produced by radiation occur within 10⁻¹² s following exposure. By 10⁻⁹ s, free hydroxyl radicals are produced in high concentrations and by 10^{-3} s radiation-induced free radical damage is essentially completed [36]. The usefulness of amifostine as a radioprotector has, therefore, been limited to a finite temporal interval of approximately 1 h following drug administration and ending immediately after radiation exposure.

8.4 Thiols, NFκB, and SOD2

8.4.1 Thiol Activation of NFKB

The historical focus of studies on free radical scavenger-based radioprotective chemicals is well-reflected in the discovery and development of amifostine. Specifically, thiol-containing compounds having positively charged amine groups to facilitate their sequestration to microenvironments surrounding negatively charged mitochondrial and nuclear DNA formed the basis for the extensive radio-protector development program conducted by the Antiradiation Drug Development of the US Army Medical Research and Development Command [1]. Little appreciation was given, however, to an additional component of the overall free radical scavenging property of these agents, e.g., their ability to induce in cells endogenous antioxidant enzymes that could prolong the effective window for the scavenging of free radicals. A seminal observation was reported in 1995 in which it was reported

that thiol-reducing agents could initiate a signaling process through the activation of the redox-sensitive transcription factor NF κ B that culminated in the enhanced expression of the *SOD2* gene and a concomitant elevation of mitochondrial-localized enzyme activity [4]. *N*-acetylcysteine, dithiothreitol, and 2-mercaptoethanol were all observed to be potent inducers of this process. These observations were later both confirmed and expanded to include the thiol-containing drugs oltipraz [37], mesna, and captopril and the free thiol form of amifostine [38]. Using electrophoretic mobility supershift assays, it was demonstrated that both the free thiol (WR1065) and disulfide (WR33278) forms of amifostine at micromolar concentrations were effective in inducing elevated levels of the heterodimer form of NF κ B composed of the p50 and p65 subunits. Under these conditions, neither the p52 nor c-Rel subunits of NF κ B were affected [38]. The alteration of the redox state of

cysteine residues in the p50 and p65 subunits of NF κ B has been proposed as the underlying mechanism of action of this process [39]. Interestingly, activation of NF κ B by these drugs did not lead to altered expression of inflammatory genes or their proteins, such as intercellular adhesion molecule-1, tumor necrosis factor- α , macrophage inflammatory protein 1 α , and interleukins 1, 6, 8, 11, and 12, as determined by RT-PCR [30, 31, 38], cDNA expression arrays containing genes having NF κ B-responsive elements [31], or ELISA assays [40].

8.4.2 NFKB and Elevated SOD2 Gene Expression and Enzymatic Activity

SOD2 is an important nuclear-encoded mitochondrial enzyme that scavenges superoxide radicals in the mitochondrial matrix and is known to be highly protective against radiation-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) damage that can lead to cell lethality and genomic instability [41–43]. While the SOD2 gene contains binding motifs for a number of transcription factors other than NFkB, thiol exposure was found not to affect their activation. These include activator proteins 1 (AP1) and 2 (AP2), specificity protein 1 (Sp1), adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate-regulator element-binding factor (CREB) [7], and Forkhead box 03A (FOXO3a) (unpublished data). Further evidence supporting the unique involvement of NFKB in the thiolinitiated SOD2 signaling pathway is the demonstration that treatment of cells with specific NFkB inhibitors like BAY 11-7082 just prior to thiol exposure not only inhibits activation of this transcription factor, but also prevents the elevation of SOD2 protein levels as determined by Western blotting [6]. Thiol-induced activation of NFkB in both human and rodent cells appears to be maximal at about 1 h following a 30-min exposure of cells to WR1065 [38]. A representative example of subsequent changes in the levels of SOD2 protein in the RKO36 human colon carcinoma cell line determined by Western blotting as a function of time following WR1065 exposure is presented in Fig. 8.1. SOD2 activity was also measured at 24 h post thiol exposure and was found to increase 6.2-fold over background. This kinetic pattern describing



the peak elevation of SOD2 protein level and activity at 24 h followed by a return to baseline at 32 h is also consistent with that reported for both human microvascular endothelial cells (HMEC) [38] and mouse sarcoma cells (SA-NH) grown under similar in vitro conditions [5].

SOD2 is localized within the mitochondria, where it efficiently converts superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) which in turn is converted to water and oxygen through the action of catalase or glutathione peroxidase. Superoxide anion is an important ROS species that is generated normally within the mitochondria as the result of a one-electron reduction of molecular oxygen. As a result of cellular exposure to stress-inducing agents, superoxide anion generation within the mitochondria can initiate a ROS cascade culminating in the production of damaging molecules, such as hydrogen peroxide, peroxynitrite, and hydroxyl radicals [44, 45]. This process in turn can lead to an ROS-induced ROS release (RIRR) capable of intra- and extracellular propagation resulting in damage to additional mitochondria within the same as well as adjacent cells leading to cell death [46-48]. A model describing this process is presented in Fig. 8.2. SOD2 plays a pivotal role in the modulation of this process. Studies have demonstrated that mitochondrial localization of SOD is required for protection against radiation-induced cellular damage [49]. Specifically, mitochondrial-localized SOD2 activity is required to exert a protective effect against radiation-induced ROS while elevation of extramitochondrial or extracellular SOD activities is relatively ineffective in enhancing radiation resistance [43, 49]. These results are consistent with the RIRR model and O_2^{-1} as the initiating ROS. Presumably, modulation of O2- production within the mitochondria



ROS/SOD2 Prosurvival Model

Fig. 8.2 Proposed model describing both reactive and proactive processes in cells leading to SOD2-mediated survival protection following the induction of damage by ROS

by SOD2 prevents the initiation of the ROS cascade and the subsequent RIRR effect. However, if such an ROS cascade was initiated, the range of different damaging ROS produced and released from the mitochondria in the RIRR process would limit the effectiveness of any cytoplasmic or extracellular-localized SOD since their only function would be limited to the dismutation of O_2^{-1} and not the removal or scavenging of other ROS, such as peroxynitrite or hydroxyl radicals.

8.5 The Thiol-Induced Adaptive/Delayed Radioprotective Effect

8.5.1 The Delayed/Adaptive Radioprotective Effect

The effectiveness of amifostine and its free thiol and disulfide metabolites as free radical scavengers and radioprotectors is well-known. However, radiation protection has routinely been demonstrated within the context of the "immediate" effects of these agents. That is, the drugs must be administered within minutes to an hour before radiation exposure to insure that sufficient concentrations of the protective agents are present during irradiation to facilitate the effective reduction

of ROS-mediated damage. What has not been appreciated heretofore, however, was the ability of thiol drugs in general, and amifostine in particular, to be effective as inducers of a prosurvival cell signaling pathway resulting from their ability to activate the redox-sensitive NF κ B transcription factor and to subsequently induce *SOD2* expression culminating in the significant elevation of SOD2 enzymatic activity at a later time [4–8]. SOD2 is a known endogenous cellular antioxidant enzyme that exhibits radioprotective properties [43–49]. Since the time duration required for significant elevation of SOD2 following thiol exposure is about 24 h, radioprotection exhibited at this time can be considered as a "delayed" or "adaptive" radioprotective effect.

8.5.2 Role of NFKB in the Delayed/Adaptive Radioprotective Effect

The importance of NF κ B activation by thiols in the delayed radioprotective effect was demonstrated using SA-NH mouse sarcoma cells that were stably transfected with a mutant IkBa gene under the control of a CMV promoter in which series 32 and 36 were mutated. These mutations abolish the inducible phosphorylation of these residues, thus preventing the subsequent ligand-induced degradation that leads to activation of NF κ B [50]. A stable clone, designated SA-NH+mI κ B α 1, was isolated and used in studies along with the parent SA-NH cell system to assess the effects of amifostine's free thiol, WR1065, on inducing in them a delayed/adaptive radioprotective effect [6]. Both wild-type and mI κ B α transfected cells were exposed to a 4-mM concentration of WR1065 for 30 min and then irradiated immediately afterward (I) or after they were washed free of drug and grown in fresh medium for an additional 24 h to allow for a maximal elevation of SOD2 activity (D) [4-8]. Wild-type and SA-NH+mI κ Ba1 cells were then exposed to a single 2 Gy dose of X-rays. Surviving fractions were determined for cells exposed under these conditions and were compared to the survival of cells exposed to 2 Gy only. Representative data are presented in Fig. 8.3. Wild-type SA-NH and SA-NH+mIκBα1 exhibited similar sensitivities to 2 Gy of radiation. Furthermore, both wild-type and transfected cells were equally protected if they were irradiated immediately following a 30-min exposure to 4 mM of WR1065. In contrast, only the nontransfected, wildtype SA-NH cells exhibited an enhanced cell survival when they were irradiated 24 h following thiol exposure. No effect of thiol exposure on radiation response was observed in the SA-NH+mI κ Ba1 cells. Furthermore, accompanying gel shifts and Western blots run on cells from each experimental group failed to show any evidence of NFkB activation or subsequent elevation of SOD2 protein levels in the SA-NH+mI κ Ba1 as compared to wild-type SA-NH cells, demonstrating that NFkB activation following thiol exposure is a critical requirement for induction of the delayed/adaptive radioprotective effect [6].



Fig. 8.3 Survival of SA-NH and SA-NH+mI κ B α 1 cells exposed to 2 Gy of 250 kVp X-rays immediately after (I) or 24 h after (D) a 30-min treatment with 4 mM WR1065 (SH). Each *bar* represents the mean±SEM of three separate experiments

8.5.3 The Role of SOD2 in the Delayed/Adaptive Radioprotective Effect

SOD2 is a metalloprotein that, while localized in the mitochondria, is known to be effective in protecting against radiation-induced toxicity. To assess its role in the thiol-induced delayed/adaptive radioprotective effect, SA-NH cells were transfected using Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions with either SOD2 antisense oligonucleotide obtained from Oligos etc. (Bethel, ME) having the sequence 5' ACACTGCCCGGCTCAACATG 3' or scrambled sequence (Scram) oligonucleotide from the same company. Nontransfected control SA-NH cells and cells transfected with either antisense or Scram oligonucleotides were then characterized with respect to their particular plating efficiencies, response to a 2 Gy dose of radiation, and a 30-min treatment with either a 4 mM or 40 μ M concentration of WR1065 followed 24 h later with an exposure to a 2 Gy dose of radiation. The results of the average of three separate



Fig. 8.4 Survival of SA-NH cells transfected with SOD2 antisense or scrambled-sequence (Scram) oligonucleotide and exposed to 2 Gy 250 kVp X-rays 24 h after a 30-min treatment with 4 mM or 40 μ M WR1065 (SH) relative to untransfected cells

experiments are presented in Fig. 8.4 as bar graphs. Transfection with either antisense or Scram oligonucleotides had no effect on the radiation response of non-thiol-treated cells. Nontransfected control cells or cells transfected with Scram oligonucleotide both exhibited an elevated surviving fraction to 2 Gy regardless if they were treated with 4 mM or 40 μ M of WR1065 24 h prior to irradiation. In contrast, neither concentration of WR1065 was effective in inducing a delayed/adaptive radiation response in cells transfected with SOD2 antisense oligonucleotide. These data are in agreement with data published from studies using RKO36 [8] and HMEC [51] cell systems in which cells transfected with *SOD2 siRNA* failed to exhibit either an elevation in SOD2 activity or a delayed/adaptive elevation in radiation resistance following exposure 24 h earlier to WR1065.

SA-NH

8.5.4 Implications of SOD2 as an Effector Molecule in the Delayed/Adaptive Radiation Response

SOD2, in contrast to extracellular (SOD3) or cytoplasmic CuZnSOD (SOD1) superoxide dismutases, has been identified in numerous cell systems as being an effective mediator of radiation-induced ROS damage leading to cell death and genomic instability [9, 43, 49, 52]. Since SOD2 is only localized with the mitochondrion, a subcellular organelle that has been implicated in a cytoplasmic amplification mechanism for the generation of ROS following exposure to ionizing radiation that leads to cell death and genomic instability [53, 54], it is reasonable to suggest that SOD2's effectiveness lies in its ability to prevent the initiation of a mitochondrial-localized ROS cascade process previously identified as RIRR [46-48]. Superoxide anion is the product of a one-electron reduction of oxygen, precursor of most ROS, and a mediator of oxidative chain reactions. Dismutation of O₂produces hydrogen peroxide, which in turn can be converted into water and oxygen by catalase and glutathione peroxidase or partially reduced to the highly reactive hydroxyl radical in the presence of transition metals. Hydroxyl radicals can further be re-reduced by O₂⁻⁻ leading to a propagation of this process [44, 45, 55]. Superoxide can also react with nitric oxide to form the highly reactive and damaging molecule peroxynitrite [45, 55]. Thus, if sufficient enzymatically active SOD2 is present within the mitochondria at the time of irradiation, O₂- production could be effectively inhibited through the SOD2-mediated dismutation process preventing the initiation and downstream production of a highly reactive but diverse ROS cascade. SOD1 would be relatively ineffective in modulating such an ROS cascade once released from the mitochondria since its antioxidant property would be limited only to the dismutation of O_2^{-} . An elegant demonstration of the requirement for the localization of SOD within the mitochondria to facilitate protection against radiationinduced cellular damage and cytotoxicity has been described in detail elsewhere using various SOD transgenes and mitochondrial localization leader sequences to evaluate relative SOD protective properties as a function of subcellular localization at the time of irradiation [49].

The effectiveness of SOD2 as an endogenous antioxidant capable of modulating stress-induced RIRR has been well-characterized in numerous cell models, including human and mouse tumors, and nonmalignant human microvascular endothelial cells. The SOD2-mediated delayed/adaptive response can be initiated not only by thiols, but also following initiation by low-dose ionizing radiation exposure and/or exposure to the cytokine tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) [5–8, 43, 51, 52, 56]. Three models of such adaptive responses are presented in Fig. 8.5. The unique difference between these three models is in the mechanism of their respective induction. The adaptive responses initiated by ionizing radiation and TNF α are the result of a cellular response to stress-induced, ROS-mediated damage resulting in the activation of redox-sensitive transcription factors, such as NF κ B and FOXO3a, that lead to subsequent elevated transcription of *SOD2* [43, 57–59]. In contrast, the thiol-induced adaptive response is initiated through the reductive action of SH- groups on cysteine residues in the



Models of Adaptive Responses

Fig. 8.5 Proposed models describing the SOD2-mediated adaptive responses induced in cells following exposure to thiols, radiation, or $TNF\alpha$

p50/p65 NFκB subunits that results in its activation and subsequent elevation of *SOD2* gene expression. The thiol-induced adaptive response can, therefore, be considered a proactive rather than a reactive prosurvival response that is induced by oxidative insult. The important implication of this difference between reductive vs. oxidative initiation of adaptive responses is that thiols have the potential to be used therapeutically to both elevate endogenous antioxidant defenses with chronic dosing, as well as to facilitate the mitigation of oxidative damage induced by RIRR processes. Daily or once every other day dosing of HMEC and SA-NH cells with 40 μ M WR1065, for example, was sufficient to chronically elevate their respective SOD2 enzymatic activities by five- to eight-fold over background levels [51]. These elevated activities were maintained for up to 2 weeks and resulted in a 20–30% increase in overall radiation resistance as evidenced by increased survival values following challenge with a 2 Gy dose of ionizing radiation. It is important to note that chronic low-dose administration was effective in elevating SOD2 activity and enhancing corresponding radiation resistance in both the nonmalignant and malignant cell lines.

8.6 Radiation Response Implications of Thiol-Induced Elevated SOD2 Levels in Normal and Tumor Tissues

8.6.1 Elevated SOD2 Levels In Vivo

The ability of thiol-containing drugs, such as amifostine, to induce elevated levels of active SOD2 enzyme under in vivo conditions would have important implications not only in the field of radioprotection in general, but also in regard to their safety profile for use in cancer therapy. Clearly, if significant elevation of SOD2 could be achieved in normal tissues without associated detrimental effects, such as a toxic buildup of H₂O₂ following chronic low dosing of thiol-containing drugs, it could be possible to devise dietary regimens that would elevate the inherent radiation resistance of high-risk individuals, such as those involved as first responders to radiation accidents or terrorist events, cleanup workers participating in radiation decontamination activities, or individuals required to work in a radiation environment, such as astronauts and international flight crews and pilots. However, if such a buildup of SOD2 activity induced by amifostine occurred in tumors of cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy, the potential for tumor protection and a compromise of therapeutic outcomes could occur. To test for this possibility, a C3H mouse model system was used. SA-NH tumor-bearing mice were injected intraperitoneally with 400 mg/kg of amifostine when tumors were 8 mm in diameter. At selected times following amifostine injection, animals, three per experimental group, were sacrificed and small intestine, pancreas, lung, liver, spleen, and SA-NH tumor tissues were removed and flash frozen. Samples were coded and sent to the Radiation and Free Radical Research Core Laboratory at the University of Iowa Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center for analysis of changes in SOD2 activity. These data are presented in Fig. 8.6. While no significant change in activity was observed in liver tissue, SOD2 activity significantly rose over corresponding background levels in small intestine, pancreas, spleen, and tumor tissues. An increase in SOD2 activity approached significance in lung tissue, with maximal levels being reached at 24 or 32 h in the various tissues sampled following amifostine treatment. Of potential concern is the significant elevation of SOD2 activity observed at 24 h in SA-NH tumors. Presumably, patients undergoing radiation treatment with amifostine would have their treatments on a daily basis five times a week with each successive treatment occurring approximately 24 h following the previous exposure. An elevation in SOD2 activity in the tumor could have a significant impact on their therapeutic outcome.

8.6.2 Radiation Response of SA-NH

The SA-NH tumor system was chosen for this study not only because of the large database that has been generated regarding the thiol-induced delayed/adaptive response [5, 6, 51], but also because of the ability of its cells to be easily grown under in vitro conditions following their dissociation and isolation from excised solid tumor tissue to assess clonogenic responses to previous in vivo treatments. Using this approach, the surviving fraction of SA-NH tumor cells irradiated with 2 Gy was determined as a function of time following amifostine exposure. Radiation resistance was elevated 27% (P=0.001), as measured by an in vitro colony-forming assay, in SA-NH cells irradiated 24 h following their removal from amifostine-treated animals [60]. The increase in radiation resistance correlated with the increased SOD2 activity in SA-NH cells measured at this time, indicating that a thiol-induced delayed/adaptive response can also occur under in vivo exposure conditions.





The potential for tumor protection by amifostine has long been recognized and debated. Yuhas addressed the issue of tumor protection in 1983 in which he noted that the preponderance of data from mouse studies indicated that solid tumors are either not or only marginally protected by amifostine, and that tumor protection can be demonstrated for well-oxygenated ascetic tumors or leukemias [61]. Other investigators at the time reported tumor protection factors ranging from 1.1 to 2.5 using such end points as cell survival, growth delay, latency, and tumor control dose 50 in a range of mouse tumors [62–64]. It is possible that amifostine's ability to elevate SOD2 levels in tumors undergoing fractionated treatments might have contributed in part to these elevated protection factors.

The issue of tumor protection by amifostine continues to be controversial, evoking strong responses from both sides of the debate [65, 66]. Amifostine is currently the only radiation protector approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for use against radiation therapy-induced moderate-to-severe xerostomia in patients undergoing postoperative radiation therapy for head and neck cancer [67]. However, from its original approval by the FDA to the present, there has been a lack of clinical studies designed to be robust enough to evaluate the influence of amifostine on the therapeutic index [68]. For example, to identify a reduction in patient survival from 45 to 40%, e.g., a 5% increase in failure rate, with a significance of 0.05 and an 80% power, a total of 1,200 patients per study arm would be required [68]. An alternative to performing such a comprehensive study has been the performance of meta-analyses on completed randomized studies [66]. However, these studies suffer from the vagaries and variances in protocol design, implementation, and data analysis that come with multi-institutional studies. As an example, a meta-analysis on the effect of amifostine on the response rates in patients with locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer was completed using data from 7 randomized trials and 600 patients. The conclusion reached from this analysis was that amifostine had no affect on tumor response. However, the data sets used in this meta-analysis came from studies that used five different dosing regimens, two different routes of administration, and three studies in which amifostine exhibited no evidence of even normal tissue protection [66]. Presumably, amifostine protection of tumors is not an issue under those circumstances, where it cannot be demonstrated that even normal tissues are not protected. The ability of amifostine to induce a delayed/adaptive response in tumors as a result of elevating intratumor SOD2 levels gives rise to an additional concern for its use as a cytoprotector in radiation therapy.

8.7 Summary and Conclusions

Amifostine is the only FDA-approved radioprotector drug for use in radiation therapy. Its usefulness as a radioprotector stems from its well-characterized cytoprotective properties that include its abilities to: (a) scavenge free radical species (ROS), (b) induce intracellular hypoxia as a result of auto-oxidation, (c) donate hydrogen atoms to facilitate direct chemical repair of DNA lesions, (d) mimic polyamine properties related to stabilization of DNA and its damaged sites and facilitate error-free repair, (e) delay progression of cells through the cell cycle, (f) inhibit apoptosis, and (g) induce a delayed/adaptive response through its reductive activation of NF κ B and subsequent induction of *SOD2* gene expression and elevation of mitochondrial-localized active enzymatic levels. All of these properties contribute to amifostine's overall effectiveness as a radioprotector. It is the ability of this drug, along with thiol-containing drugs in general, to induce a prosurvival response through a reductive rather than oxidative damage process that is the most recent discovery. The implications of this can have profound consequences in the development of novel antioxidant paradigms for use both in environmental protection of at-risk radiation workers and clinically relevant therapeutic applications to mitigate against stress-induced, ROS-associated pathologies caused by the RIRR phenomenon.

Acknowledgments We gratefully acknowledge the support, insight, and leadership of Dr. Larry Oberley (now deceased) with regard to our study of thiols and their effects on SOD2. We thank Dr. Douglas R. Spitz, Dr. Michael L. McCormick, Dr. Peter Scarbrough, and the Radiation and Free Radical Research Core laboratory in the Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center at The University of Iowa, where the activity analyses were performed for SOD2, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase (NIH P30 CA086862). This work was supported in part by the National Institutes of Health/National Cancer Institute RO1 CA99005 (D.J.G.) and the US Department of Energy Grant DE-FG02-05ER64086 (D.J.G.).

References

- Sweeney TR. A survey of compounds from the Antiradiation Drug Development Program of the US Army Medical Research Development Command. (Walter Reed Inst Res) Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office 1979; 1–851.
- 2. Patt HM, Tyree EB, Straube RL, et al. Cysteine protection against X irradiation. Science 1949; 110:213–214.
- Giambarresi L, Jacobs AJ. Radioprotectants. In: Conklin JJ, Walker RI, eds. Military Radiobiology. Orlando, FL: Academic Press, 1987; 265–301.
- Das KC, Lewis-Molock Y, White CW. Activation of NFκB and elevation of MnSOD gene expression by thiol reducing agents in lung adenocarcinoma (A549) cells. Am J Physiol 1995; 269: L588–L602.
- Murley JS, Kataoka Y, Weydert CJ, et al. Delayed cytoprotection after enhancement of Sod2 (MnSOD) gene expression in SA-NH mouse sarcoma cells exposed to WR-1065, the active metabolite of amifostine. Radiat Res 2002; 158: 101–109.
- Murley JS, Kataoka Y, Cao D, et al. Delayed radioprotection by NFκB-mediated induction of SOD2 (MnSOD) in SA-NH tumor cells after exposure to clinically used thiol-containing drugs. Radiat Res 2004; 162: 536–546.
- Murley JS, Kataoka Y, Weydert CJ, et al. Delayed radioprotection by nuclear transcription factor κB-mediated induction of manganese superoxide dismutase in human microvascular endothelial cells after exposure to the free radical scavenger WR1065. Free Radic Biol Med 2006; 40: 1004–1016.
- Murley JS, Kataoka Y, Baker KL, et al. Manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD2)-mediated delayed radioprotection induced by the free thiol form of amifostine and tumor necrosis factor α. Radiat Res 2007; 167: 465–474.

- Dziegielewski J, Baulch JE, Goetz W, et al. WR-1065, the active metabolite of amifostine, mitigates radiation-induced delayed genomic instability. Free Radic Biol Med 2008; 45: 1674–1681.
- Purdie JW. Dephosphorylation of WR-2721 to WR-1065 in vitro and the effect of WR-1065 and misonidazole in combination in irradiated cells. In: Brady LW, ed. Radiation Sensitizers. New York: Masson Publishing, 1980; 330–333.
- Nakamura J, Shaw CM, Brown DQ. Hydrolysis of WR-2721 by mouse liver cell fractions. Radiat Res 1987; 109: 143–152.
- 12. Greenstock CL. Redox processes in radiation biology and cancer. Radiat Res 1981; 86: 196-211.
- Mitchell JL, Judd GG, Diveley RR, et al. Involvement of the polyamine transport system in cellular uptake of the radioprotectants WR-1065 and WR-33278. Carcinogenesis 1995; 16: 3063–3068.
- 14. Mitchell JL, Rupert J, Leyser A, et al. Mammalian cell polyamine homeostasis is altered by the radioprotector WR1065. Biochem J 1998; 335: 329–334.
- Grdina DJ, Kataoka Y, Murley JS. Amifostine: Mechanisms of action underlying cytoprotection and chemoprevention. Drug Metabol Drug Inter 2000; 16:237–278.
- Copeland ES. Mechanisms of radioprotection- a review. Photochem Photobiol 1978; 28: 839– 844. Fiorio R, Vellosi R, Bronzetti R. Effects of spermine on formation of HGPRT-mutants induced by ethylmethanesulfonate, methylmethanesulfonate, and mitomycin C in V79 Chinese hamster cells. Environ Mol Mutagen 1994; 23: 294–298.
- 17. Waytt I, Moore RB, Smith LL. Competition for polyamine uptake into rat lung slices by WR-2721 and analogues. Int J Radiat Biol 1989; 55: 463–472.
- Gaugas JM. Possible association of radioprotective and chemoprotective aminophosphorothioate drug activity with polyamine oxidase susceptibility. J Natl Cancer Inst 1982; 69: 329–332.
- 19. Aguilera JA, Newton GL, Fahey RC, et al. Thiol uptake by Chinese hamster V79 cells and aerobic radioprotection as a function of the net charge on the thiol. Radiat Res 1992; 130: 194–204.
- Newton GL, Aguilera JA, Ward JF, et al. Binding of radioprotective thiols and disulfides in Chinese hamster V79 cell nuclei. Radiat Res 1996; 146: 298–305.
- Brown PE. Mechanisms of action of aminothiol radioprotectors. Nature (London) 1967; 213: 363–364.
- 22. Grdina DJ, Murley JS, Kataoka Y. Radioprotectants: Current status and new directions. Oncology 2002; 63 (suppl 2): 2–10.
- Braulin WH, Strick TJ, Record MT. Equilibrium dialysis studies of polyamine binding to DNA. Biopolymers 1982; 21: 1301–1314.
- Smoulk GD, Fahey RC, Ward JF. Equilibrium dialysis studies of the binding of radioprotector compounds to DNA. Radiat Res 1986; 107: 194–204.
- 25. Spontheim-Maurizot M, Ruiz S, Sabattier R, et al. Radioprotection of DNA by polyamines. Int J Radiat Biol 1995; 68: 571–577.
- Savoye C, Swenberg C, Hugot S, et al. Thiol WR-1065 and disulphide WR-33278, two metabolites of the drug Ethyol (WR-2721), protect DNA against fast neutron-induced strand breakage. Int J Radiat Biol 1997; 71: 193–202.
- Vaughan ATM, Grdina DJ, Meechan PJ, et al. Conformational changes in chromatin structure induced by the radioprotective aminothiol, WR1065. Br J Cancer 1989; 60: 893–896.
- 28. Gordon DJ, Milner AE, Beaney RP, et al. Cellular raiosensitivity in V79 cells is linked to alterations in chromatin structure. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1990; 19: 1199–1201.
- Meechan PJ, Vaughan A, Grdina DJ. WR1065 association with CHO AA8 cells, nuclei, and nucleoids. Radiat Res 1991; 125: 152–157.
- 30. Kataoka Y, Murley JS, Khodarev NN, et al. Activation of the nuclear transcription factor κB (NF κB) and differential gene expression in U87 glioma cells after exposure to the cytoprotector amifostine. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002; 53: 180–189.
- 8 Amifostine and the Endogenous Cellular Antioxidant Enzyme...
- Khodarev NN, Kataoka Y, Murley JS, et al. Interaction of amifostine and ionizing radiation on transcriptional patterns of apoptotic genes expressed in human microvascular endothelial cells (HMEC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004; 60: 553–563.
- Grdina DJ, Nagy B. The effect of 2-[(aminopropyl)amino]ethanethiol (WR1065) on radiationinduced DNA damage and repair and cell progression in V79 cells. Brit J Cancer 1986; 54:933–941.
- 33. Grdina DJ, Guilford WH, Sigdestad CP, et al. Effects of radioprotectors on DNA damage and repair, proteins, and cell cycle progression. Pharmacol Therap 1988; 39:133–137.
- 34. Murley JS, Constantinou A, Kamath NS, et al. WR1065, an active metabolite of the cytoprotector amifostine, affects phosphorylation of Topoisomerase IIα leading to changes in enzyme activity and cell cycle progression in CHO AA8 cells. Cell Prolif 1997; 30: 283–294.
- 35. Grdina DJ, Murley JS, Roberts JC. Effect of thiols on Topoisomerase-IIα activity and cell cycle proliferation. Cell Prolif 1998; 31: 217–229.
- Hall EJ, Giaccia AJ. Radiobiology for the Radiologist, 6th Ed. Phiiladelphia, PA: Lippincott-Williams and Wilkins, 2006; 11–13.
- Antras-Ferry J, Maheo K, Chevanne M, et al. Oltipraz stimulates the transcription of the manganese superoxide dismutase gene in rat hepatocytes. Carcinogenesis 1997; 18: 2113–2117.
- Murley JS, Kataoka Y, Hallahan DE, et al. Activation of NFκB and MnSOD gene expression by free radical scavengers in human microvascular endothelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 2001; 30: 1426–1439.
- Matthews JR, Wakasugi N, Virelizier JL, et al. Thioredoxin regulates the DNA binding activity of NFκB by reduction of a disulphide bond involving cysteine 62. Nucleic Acids Res 1992; 20: 3821–3830.
- 40. Grdina DJ, Murley JS, Kataoka Y, et al. Differential activation of nuclear transcription factor κB, gene expression, and proteins by amifostine's free thiol in human microvascular endothelial and glioma cells. Sem Radiat Oncol 2002; 12: 103–111.
- Sun J, Chen Y, Li M, et al. Role of antioxidant enzymes on ionizing radiation resistance. Free Radic Biol Med 1998; 24: 586–593.
- 42. Epperly MW, Sikora CA, DeFilippi SJ, et al. Manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD2) inhibits radiation-induced apoptosis by stabilization of the mitochondrial membrane. Radiat Res 2002; 157: 568–577.
- Guo G, Yan-Sanders Y, Lyn-Cook BD, et al. Manganese superoxide dismutase-mediated gene expression in radiation-induced adaptive responses. Mol Cell Biol 2003; 23: 2362–2378.
- 44. Li JM, Shah AM. Endothelial cell superoxide generation: regulation and relevance for cardiovascular pathophysiology. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2004; 287: R1014-R1030.
- 45. Turrens JF. Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J Physiol 2003; 552: 335–344.
- 46. Zorov DB, Filburn CR, Klotz LO, et al. Reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced ROS release: A new phenomenon accompanying induction of the mitochondrial permeability transistion in cardiac myocytes. J Exp Med 2000; 192: 1001–1014.
- Brady NR, Hamacher-Brady A, Westerhoff HV, et al. A wave of reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced ROS release in a sea of excitable mitochondria. Antioxid Redox Signal 2006; 8: 1651–1665.
- Zorov DB, Juhaszova M, Sollott SJ. Mitochondrial ROS-induced ROS release: An update and review. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006; 1757: 509–517.
- Epperly MW, Gretton JE, Sikora CA, et al. Mitochondrial localization of superoxide dismutase is required for decreasing radiation-induced cellular damage. Radiat Res 2003; 160: 568–578.
- Whiteside ST, Ernst MK, LeBail O, et al. N- and C- terminal sequences control degradation of MAD3/IκBα in response to inducers of NFκB activity. Mol Cell Biol 1995; 15: 5339–5345.
- Murley JS, Nantajit D, Baker KL, et al. Maintenance of manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD2)-mediated delayed radioprotection induced by repeated administration of the free thiol form of amifostine. Radiat Res 2008; 169: 495–505.

- 52. Motoori S, Majima HJ, Ebara M, et al. Overexpression of mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase protects against radiation-induced cell death in human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HLE. Cancer Res 2001; 61: 5382–5388.
- 53. Leach JK, Van Tuyle G, Lin PS, et al. Ionizing radiation-induced, mitochondria-dependent generation of reactive oxygen/nitrogen. Cancer Res. 2001; 61:3894–3901.
- 54. Kim GJ, Fiskum GM, Morgan WF. A role for mitochondrial dysfunction in perpetuating radiation-induced genomic instability. Cancer Res. 2006; 66: 10377–10383.
- 55. Demicheli V, Quijano C, Alvarez B, et al. Inactivation and nitration of human superoxide dismutase (SOD) by fluxes of nitric oxide and superoxide. Free Radic Biol Med 2007; 42: 1359–1368.
- 56. Wong GH, Goeddel DV. Induction of manganous superoxide dismutase by tumor necrosis factor: Possible protective mechanism. Science 1988; 242: 941–944.
- 57. Zhou H, Ivanov VN, Lien YC, et al. Mitochondrial function and nuclear factor-κB-mediated signaling in radiation-induced bystander effects. Cancer Res 2008; 68: 2233–2240.
- 58. Essers MA, Weijzen S, de Vries-Smits AM, et al. FOXO transcription factor activation by oxidative stress mediated by small GTPase Ral and JNK. EMBO 2004; 23: 4802–4812.
- Liu JW, Chandra D, Rudd MD, et al. Induction of prosurvival molecules by apoptotic stimuli: Involvement of FOXO3a and ROS. Oncogene 2005; 24:2020–2031.
- 60. Grdina DJ, Murley JS, Kataoka Y, et al. Amifostine induces antioxidant enzymatic activities in normal tissues and a transplantable tumor that can affect radiation response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009; 73(3):886–896.
- Yuhas JM. Efficacy testing of WR-2721 in Great Britain or everything is black and white at the Gray Lab. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1983; 9: 595–598.
- Stewart FA, Rojas A, Denekamp J. Radioprotection of two mouse tumors by WR-2721 in single and fractionated treatments. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1983; 9: 507–513.
- 63. Penhaligon M. Radioprotection of mouse skin vasculature and the RIF-1 fibrosarcoma by WR-2721. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1984; 10: 1541–1544.
- 64. Milas L, Hunter N, Ito H, et al. Effect of tumor type, size, and endpoint on tumor radioprotection by WR-2721. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1984; 10: 41–48.
- Lindegaard JC, Grau C. Has the outlook improved for amifostine as a clinical radioprotector? Radiother Oncol (2000); 57: 113–118.
- 66. Mell LK, Malik R, Komaki R, et al. Effects of amifostine on response rates in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer patients treated on randomized control trials: A meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007; 68: 111–118.
- 67. Brizel DM, Wasserman TH, Henke M, et al. Phase III randomized trial of amifostine as a radioprotector in head and neck cancer. J Clin Oncol 2000; 18: 3339–3345.
- Brizel DM. Pharmacologic approaches to radiation protection. J Clin Oncol 2007; 25: 4084–4089.

Chapter 9 Redox Regulation of Stem Cell Compartments: The Convergence of Radiation-Induced Normal Tissue Damage and Oxidative Stress

Ruth K. Globus, Vincent Caiozzo, Munjal Acharya, John R. Fike, and Charles Limoli

Abstract The redox environment impacts normal stem cell niches throughout the body. Hematopoietic, muscle, and neural stem cell compartments respond to changes in reactive oxygen (ROS) and nitrogen (RNS) species by triggering signaling networks that impact cellular proliferation, survival, and differentiation. Work from many labs including our own has found that irradiation can trigger acute and chronic increases in oxidative stress. Low dose and/or protracted dose rates can elicit radioadaptive changes that have beneficial effects on proliferation and survival while influencing the development lineage-specific cell fates. Higher doses and dose rates have been found to impede the regeneration of irradiated tissues, through the depletion and/or damage of endogenous stem cell pools, and by promoting the onset and persistence of secondary reactive processes involving oxidative stress and inflammatory cytokines. Increasing evidence suggests that these important stem cell pools are differentially protected from DNA damaging agents compared to their immediate progeny (i.e., precursor/progenitor cells) due to enhanced DNA repair, antioxidant status, and reduced cell cycle activity. Thus, many of the adverse effects of irradiation on normal tissue are the consequence of damage to the rapidly

R.K. Globus, PhD Space Biosciences Division, NASA Ames Research Center, Moffett Field, CA 94035-1000, USA

V. Caiozzo, PhD Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, University of California, Irvine, CA 92697-5399, USA

M. Acharya, PhD • C. Limoli, PhD (⊠) Department of Radiation Oncology, University of California, Irvine, CA 92697-2695, USA

J.R. Fike, PhD Departments of Neurological Surgery and Radiation Oncology, Brain and Spinal Injury Center, University of California, San Francisco, CA 94110-0899, USA expanding pool of precursor cells derived from asymmetric cell division. Irradiation of the bone marrow impairs the health of bone by promoting osteoclastogenesis (osteoclast-mediated bone resorption) and inhibiting osteoblastogenesis (osteoblastmediated bone formation), with the net effect of reducing bone mass and structural integrity. Irradiation of the skeletal musculature impairs myogenesis (formation of muscle tissue) by damaging satellite cells (i.e., muscle stem cells) and reducing proproliferative levels of nitric oxide. In the brain, irradiation depletes neural stem and precursor cells and leads to persistent increases in ROS/RNS and inflammatory cytokines that inhibit neurogenesis (formation of new neurons and glia) and adversely impact cognition. In each of these foregoing cases, interventions targeted to reduce specific reactive species can attenuate the adverse effects of radiation exposure and point to the importance of understanding the interplay between endogenous stem cell niches and the microenvironmental redox state.

9.1 Introduction

Throughout life, stem cells play critical roles in the development and maintenance of health. Their capability to continually regenerate proliferative, multipotent progeny provide the tissues of the body the means to counteract exposure to damaging agents, disease, and aging. While the mechanisms regulating the responses of tissue-specific stem cells and their immediate progeny to stress are diverse, underlying themes are emerging that suggest changes in redox state are critical. Alterations in oxidative stress prime stem cell pools for the adaptation and remodeling of the irradiated tissues in which they reside. Evidence from the CNS, hematopoietic, and musculoskeletal organ systems is highlighted that emphasizes the importance of redox state to the stress response of their representative stem cells.

In the CNS, irradiation of multipotent neural stem and precursor cells has been shown to cause a persistent oxidative stress that impacts radiosensitivity, mitochondrial function, and cell fate. The nature, magnitude, and duration of reactive species dictate whether these radiation-induced changes are harmful or beneficial to a variety of in vitro and in vivo end points of viability and function. Animals existing under elevated oxidative stress caused by superoxide dismutase (SOD) deficiency exhibit reduced levels of neurogenesis. This is also found in WT animals after irradiation. However, the inhibition of neurogenesis caused by relatively moderate doses (5 Gy) of irradiation in WT animals can be ameliorated in animals deficient for any of the three SOD isoforms, suggesting that there is a common pathway dictating how neurogenesis is affected by ionizing irradiation.

The bone marrow compartment contains the stem and progenitor cells required to reconstitute the entire hematopoietic system, in addition to the osteoblasts and osteoclasts that possess critical bone formation and resorption activities, respectively. In the hematopoietic system, the LD_{50} of irradiated mice can be significantly raised by strategies designed to protect stem cells from the direct and indirect oxidative changes caused by irradiation. Irradiation of adult mice causes a very rapid loss of bone tissue from high-turnover skeletal sites. In mesenchymal-lineage cells from

bone marrow, irradiation stimulates generation of reactive oxygen species and can inhibit differentiation into mature, bone-forming osteoblasts. By contrast, irradiation of hematopoietic-lineage cells from bone marrow can stimulate differentiation, transforming these cells into mature, bone-resorbing osteoclasts. The final outcome of these differential radiation responses of discrete cell lineages, i.e., bone loss, can be mitigated by treatment with an antioxidant, and indicates a role for oxidative stress in mediating radiation-induced acute bone loss.

While additional work has shown that the systemic stress of musculoskeletal disuse may further impair differentiation of osteoblast progenitors, it may well prime the myogenic precursor cells, known as satellite cells, which are responsible for maintaining the health of skeletal muscle. Although skeletal muscle is thought to be radioresistant, very little is known about the acute and long-term effects of irradiation on satellite cell proliferation and differentiation. Recent findings have demonstrated that irradiation also produces a persistent oxidative stress in satellite cells. Radiation impairs the capability of muscle to undergo compensatory hypertrophy, and in mouse models deficient for antioxidant enzymes, elevated muscle wasting and impaired growth are evident. Very recent data suggest that a certain fraction of radiation effects on muscle are mediated by pathways sensitive to changes in the level of nitric oxide (NO), a molecule that has a key role in promoting satellite cell proliferation.

The foregoing is the focus of this chapter: emphasizing the central importance of redox state to the stress response of stem cells. Evidence is presented that demonstrates the selective and opposing effects of irradiation on many stem cell compartments, and highlights the importance of understanding the details of the redox microenvironment and stem cell niches.

9.2 How Does the Interplay Between Ionizing Radiation and Oxidative Stress Impact the Functionality of Stem/Precursor Cells in the Brain?

Stem/precursor cells in the brain contribute to the generation of new brain cells throughout the life of mammalian organisms. These multipotent cells are located in discrete cellular layers in the subventricular zone lining the lateral ventricles, and in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus within the hippocampal formation [1, 2]. Neural stem cells and their progeny precursor cells retain the capability to generate new neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes, which represent the three principal cell lineages of the brain. The capability of multipotent neural cells to develop into mature neurons (defined here as neurogenesis) has been hypothesized to contribute to new memory formation, and changes in the extent of neurogenesis have been linked the alterations in specific learning behaviors involving the hippocampus [1, 2]. Given the intimate link between stem cell function, neurogenesis, and cognition, understanding what factors impact these processes becomes critical to those individuals subjected to conditions that might adversely impact the cellular processes responsible for maintaining cognitive health.

In this light, one of the stresses known to adversely impact stem cell function, neurogenesis, and cognition is exposure to ionizing radiation. The principal scenario in which individuals incur radiation exposure is during radiotherapy, used routinely for the clinical management of cancer. For patients afflicted with primary or meta-static tumors in the brain, incremental doses delivered over the course of 6–8 weeks to control tumor growth also elicits normal tissue damage that often manifests as various degrees of cognitive impairment [3–7]. Risks for impaired cognition also exist for those exposed to lower doses occupationally and for astronauts exposed to the unique radiation fields in space composed of highly energetic protons and fully ionized atomic nuclei [8, 9].

9.3 Radiation-Induced Oxidative Stress

Significant work from our laboratories has now found that one of the major consequences of exposure to ionizing radiation is the development of an acute and persistent oxidative stress [10-14]. This is particularly pronounced for neural stem and precursor cells, although certainly not limited to these cell lineages (as discussed further below), and is an effect that can be demonstrated in vitro and in vivo. Exposure of rodent neural stem cells leads to an increase in reactive oxygen (ROS) and nitrogen (RNS) species that can elicit damage throughout any subcellular compartment, in a manner dictated by their intrinsic reactivity and corresponding half-lives. Increased oxidative stress can be found within hours after irradiation in neural stem and precursor cells, and can persist from days to weeks to months (Fig. 9.1). Typical assays for ROS and RNS involve incubating cells at some specified time postirradiation with fluorogenic dye precursors that become fluorescent upon entry and oxidation within the cell [1, 2]. Depending on the specificity of the selected dye for a particular reactive species, and on the level of intracellular peroxidases that catalyze the reactions [15], a reliable assessment of the state of global oxidative stress can be made when cells are quantified for fluorescent yield and compared against the appropriate controls. For the measurements described here cells were treated with the ROS/RNS sensitive dye 5-(and-6)-chloromethyl-2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (CM-H,DCFDA), and assayed 1 and 7 days postirradiation for changes in oxidative stress. Radiation-induced oxidative stress has been demonstrated for both sparsely and densely ionizing radiations (Fig. 9.2) and generally increases with dose and the LET of the radiation when compared to sham irradiated controls [10, 12, 13]. Pluripotent human embryonic stem cells and multipotent human neural stem cells also exhibit qualitatively similar increases in oxidative stress postirradiation (Fig. 9.1), suggesting that this may constitute a general and/or global response of stem cells to irradiation. To the extent that the foregoing is true, then it follows that changes in oxidative stress following various insults should also be important in mediating physiologic changes that impact stem cells and their specialized microenvironmental niches.



Fig. 9.1 Radiation-induced oxidative stress in stem cells. Multipotent neural stem cells (NSCs) from rodents and humans (hNSCs) and pluripotent human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) were exposed to various doses of gamma-rays, protons, and heavy ions (56 Fe) and analyzed for increased ROS/RNS by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) using the fluorogenic dye CM-H₂DCFDA (5 μ M, 60 min). Evident from the data is that all cells exhibited an increase in oxidative stress following irradiation that was evident at day 1 and 7. Values reflect triplicate measurements (±SEM) and were normalized against sham-irradiated controls arbitrarily set to unity

9.4 Functional Consequences of Oxidative Stress: The Good, the Bad, and the Not so Ugly

Significant effort has now been undertaken in our laboratories to analyze the functional consequences of oxidative injury to stem/precursor cells. The persisting nature of oxidative stress found in vitro has been demonstrated in vivo and leads to increased oxidative damage to DNA, proteins and lipids [13, 14, 16, 17]. Radiationinduced oxidative stress in neural stem cells and the microenvironment of the CNS is likely to play a significant role in the inhibition of neurogenesis found postirradiation (discussed further below) [17–20]. Oxidative stress is a complicated biochemical imbalance between the antioxidant and prooxidant forces within and outside the cell. Many regulatory pathways have evolved to generate and regulate various types of reactive species, and the precise nature of the reactive species and the persistence of those species are now being recognized as increasingly critical to the systemic response to irradiation as well as many other injury paradigms [1, 2, 21–25].

The onset of oxidative stress triggered by irradiation is, in part, mitochondrially derived [26], but other redox-sensitive regulatory hubs such as the NADPH oxidases are likely to contribute to the rise in ROS observed after irradiation [27]. The relatively



Fig. 9.2 Opposing effects of oxidative stress on the radioresponse of neural stem cells. Cells were subjected to chronic oxidative stress through the daily treatment (3-5 days) of cultures with either hydrogen peroxide or superoxide. One day following the final oxidative treatment, cells were irradiated and plated for the assessment of survival by XTT assays and cell counts 5 days later. Data show that cells subjected to hydrogen peroxide were sensitized to irradiation, while those exposed to superoxide were protected. Data reflect triplicate measurements (\pm SEM) and were normalized to untreated and unirradiated controls set to unity

benign superoxide anion derived from leaky electron transport chain complexes in the mitochondria can play significant roles in altering stem cell survival and fate (differentiation) in the CNS, as well as other stem cell compartments (a topic that is addressed in detail below). Superoxide can react with nitric oxide to produce the damaging peroxynitrite species (ONOO⁻) [28] or be converted to hydrogen peroxide by any of the three isoforms of superoxide dismutase [29]. Hydrogen peroxide escaping the surveillance (detoxification) of/by glutathione peroxidase or catalase is more freely diffusible than superoxide and can traverse cellular compartments where it can react with transition metals such as iron [30]. Participation of hydrogen peroxide in such redox-mediated Fenton chemistry can generate the highly reactive hydroxyl radical [31], capable of producing toxic genetic lesions in the form of DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs). Cells comprising the CNS are generally sensitive to various forms of reactive species [32-34], and chronic exposure to low level hydrogen peroxide sensitizes neural stem/precursor cells to the action of ionizing radiation (Fig. 9.2). Chronic exposures (3–5 days) to relatively nontoxic levels (~20% induced cell kill) of this prooxidant were found to enhance the sensitivity of cells by ~20-40%, when subjected to various doses of sparsely ionizing radiation (gamma rays and protons) (Fig. 9.2). In contrast to hydrogen peroxide, chronic exposure to superoxide was found to have an opposing effect. In this instance, cells subjected to nontoxic levels of superoxide over 6 days prior to irradiation were found to be protected by $\sim 20-60\%$ (Fig. 9.2). These data highlight the complexity of the redox response of neural stem and precursor cells, where depending on the particular species involved, cells may exhibit opposite responses. Thus, oxidative stress may not always be harmful, but may actually be beneficial to cells under certain circumstances.

9.5 Oxidative Stress as a Biochemical Mechanism Underlying Radioadaptive Changes

While detrimental under many circumstances, the idea that oxidative stress may be beneficial might appear contradictory. A number of reports have documented the mitogenic role for oxidative stress in various cells systems [35, 36], and it's importance for cell cycle progression [37, 38]. Cells have evolved an integrated system of redox-sensitive signaling cascades designed to tailor cellular responses to the dynamic changes occurring within the tissue microenvironment. These changes are pronounced following normal tissue damage, and in the case of the irradiated tissue bed, remodeling proceeds for weeks to months to years, as a complex series of secondary reactive processes is superimposed on tissue repair and regenerative mechanisms [39]. Tissues can also adapt to prior stress, where subsequent cellular challenges are met with markedly different responses than those observed after acute insults. Adaptive responses have been described for a wide-range of stressresponsive end points [40-43], and are generally found to ameliorate the impact of secondary or subsequent exposures to irradiation [44]. Increased activation and/or efficiency of DNA damage responsive pathways are believed to underlie the mechanisms that promote proliferation and survival and reduce genomic instability (chromosome aberrations, mutations) and cell transformation [45–48]. Radioadaptation has been demonstrated under a variety of dosing paradigms that include multiple exposure scenarios involving dose fractionation, temporal separation of priming and challenge doses, and chronic exposures using low dose rates [47, 48].

Data from us and others suggest that one of the underlying mechanisms driving radioadaptive effects may be oxidative stress [49–54]. Radiation-induced oxidative stress has been shown to activate signaling cascades that are dose modifying. Subsequent exposures are therefore not as deleterious. In support of these ideas, a pilot study was undertaken to analyze the effects dose fractionation on the induction of oxidative stress in neural stem and precursor cells. Acute exposures were selected to match the individual and total doses used for subsequent dose fractionation. Cells subjected to acute, low dose irradiation (10–60 cGy) with heavy ions showed increased (\geq 2-fold higher) oxidative stress compared to sham irradiated controls (Fig. 9.3). These observed increases were found 1 day after acute exposure, and were not dissimilar from many of our prior findings [10, 12, 13]. Cells were then subjected to a fractionation regime involving three fractions of 10 cGy (3×10) or 20 cGy (3×20) given every other day to yield total final doses of 30 or 60 cGy. Following the final dose, cells were then assessed 1 day later for relative changes in



Fig. 9.3 Radioadaptation in neural stem cells. Neural stem and precursor cells were exposed to low dose heavy ion exposure (600 MeV ⁵⁶Fe ions) either acutely or following a fractionation regime using three separate doses interspersed by a day. One day after the final dose cells were assessed for oxidative stress by FACS analysis using the fluorogenic dye CM-H₂DCFDA (5 μ M, 60 min). While cells exposed acutely demonstrated increased oxidative stress (twofold), those that were subjected to dose fractionation did not, showing ROS/RNS levels similar to controls. Data reflect triplicate measurements (acute, ±SEM) or duplicate measurements (fractionation) and were normalized to sham-irradiated controls set to unity

oxidative stress. Cells treated under dose fractionation showed a muted increase in oxidative stress that was not significantly different from unirradiated controls (Fig. 9.3). These data demonstrate that prior exposure attenuated the increase in oxidative stress normally evident in cells exposed acutely and suggest that radiation-induced oxidative stress may trigger a protective radioadaptive response in these cells.

9.6 Radioadaptation and Cellular Antioxidant Capacity

The idea that oxidative stress serves as a biochemical mechanism regulating adaptive changes in cells implies that insults capable of causing oxidative stress trigger compensatory changes in cells that render them more "fit" to deal with subsequent insults, such as irradiation. Cells can alter their gene expression profiles to adapt to more "hostile" environments [21, 51], and one strategy employed to provide protection against radiation-induced sequelae is to boost the antioxidant capacity [55–58]. Evidence for this can be demonstrated in neural stem and precursor cells exposed to dose fractionation or protracted exposures at very low dose rates (Fig. 9.4). Cells subjected to single daily exposures of gamma rays over the course of 10 days showed increased levels of the mitochondrial isoform of superoxide dismutase



Fig. 9.4 Upregulation of antioxidant capacity in neural stem cells subjected to chronic irradiation. Neural stem/precursor cells were subjected to dose fractionation at high dose rates (2 Gy/min) involving ten total doses (0.1 or 0.5 Gy/day) delivered once daily, yielding total doses of 1 or 5 Gy. Alternatively, cells were subjected to continuous low dose rate (1 cGy/day) exposure using a ⁵⁷Co-flood source to a total dose of 20 cGy. Compared to unirradiated controls, cells exposed to these dosing paradigms showed an upregulation of the mitochondrial isoform of superoxide dismutase (MnSOD). *Representative images* show cells immunostained for MnSOD (*red*) against a nuclear DAPI counterstain (*blue*)

(MnSOD) (Fig. 9.4, upper right and lower left). When neural stem/precursor cells were exposed to continuous low dose rate (1 cGy/day) irradiation using a flood source containing the gamma-emitting ⁵⁷Co, similar increases in MnSOD were found (Fig. 9.4, lower right). Given the elevated immunostaining for MnSOD in neural stem and precursor cells subjected to repeated or protracted exposure scenarios, it seems probable that one mechanism of protective radioadaptation involves an upregulation of cellular antioxidant capacity.

The foregoing section has highlighted some of the interesting aspects one needs to consider when assessing if and how oxidative stress might impact stem cell function in the CNS before and after irradiation. The capacity of irradiation to elicit acute and chronic increases in oxidative stress in neural stem and precursor cells is now well established [10, 12, 13]. The persistence of this effect suggests a possible mechanism for the prolonged inhibition of neurogenesis following irradiation, and suggests that strategies targeted to reduce the persistent oxidative stress in the irradiated brain might improve the formation of new neurons. Unfortunately, this interpretation is likely to be over simplistic, as the response of multipotent cells in the CNS can vary depending on the nature of the oxidative species and the frequency and nature of pre-existing stressors. In vitro data suggest that while elevated hydrogen peroxide is sensitizing, elevated superoxide may have the opposite effect. In vivo this scenario may also be true (see below), and may be related to the capability of cells within the CNS to undergo adaptive changes that are neuroprotective. These ideas are explored in more detail in the following sections and provide both compelling and fascinating examples of how various tissue compartments respond to changes in redox state to regulate the function of their respective stem cell pools in efforts to manage the repair and regeneration of radiation-induced tissue injury.

9.7 Oxidative Stress and Preconditioning in the Irradiated Brain: The Role of Superoxide Dismutase

As outlined above, one of the pathways involved in oxidative stress involves the antioxidant enzyme, superoxide dismutase (SOD), which exists as three genetically and geographically distinct isoenzymes [59]. The three different SOD isoforms catalyze the same chemical reaction, but have different enzymatic properties and distinct subcellular localizations. Therefore, deficiency in SOD, regardless of location, should result in relatively higher levels of ROS and altered redox state, which will induce a state of persistent oxidative stress. As documented previously, ROS have often been considered to be hostile or destructive entities, but data also exist showing that ROS can have beneficial effects [60, 61], and in the brain, they are critically involved in a number of important processes, particularly those involved in learning and memory formation [62–64]. One way to characterize the extent to which ROS affects processes relevant to cognition, and if they are affected by ionizing irradiation, is to use mutant mice that lack specific antioxidant molecules such as SOD.



Fig. 9.5 Fate of neural precursor cells in vivo depends on superoxide dismutase (SOD). Before irradiation, SOD isoform-dependent reductions in the numbers of newly born neurons in the dentate subgranular zone contrasted with isoform-dependent increases in the numbers of newly born astrocytes. These data suggest that an SOD-deficient environment favors differentiation toward an astrocytic lineage. Newly generated neurons or astrocytes were detected using bromodeoxuridine to label newly born cells and an antibody against NeuN or GFAP to label mature neurons or astrocytes respectively. Each *bar* represents a mean of 4–5 mice; *error bars* are SEM

We have recently assessed how irradiation affected dentate neurogenesis in mice deficient in extracellular isoform of SOD (EC-SOD, SOD3) [17]. This study showed that a persistent level of oxidative stress in EC-SOD knockout (KO) mice was associated with a lower baseline level of neurogenesis relative to wild-type (WT) mice (Figs. 9.5 and 9.6). However, when those same mice were subjected to a modest dose of X-rays (5 Gy), there was no effect on neurogenesis in KO mice but a highly significant reduction in WT animals [17] (Fig. 9.6). Furthermore, those effects were not coupled with any obvious compensatory changes in other antioxidant enzymes. Another recent study showed that in contrast to what happened in wild-type mice, irradiation enhanced hippocampus dependent cognitive measures in mice that lacked EC-SOD [65], and that outcome was associated with genotypedependent effects on measures of oxidative stress. Thus, in terms of neurogenesis and cognitive function, both negative and positive (no apparent effect of irradiation) effects were observed in the EC-SOD-deficient mice, presumably as a result of yet to be identified mechanisms associated with redox balance. These paradoxical effects highlight the importance of better understanding the delicate balance in redox homeostasis [61], and how that may ultimately affect cell/tissue function.

Given the EC-SOD data described above, another study was initiated to determine if the site of SOD deficiency influenced how irradiation impacted neurogenesis [18]. In that study, neurogenesis was assessed after irradiation in mice deficient in the other SOD isoforms [59]: CuZn SOD (SOD1), which is generally localized in the cytoplasm, and MnSOD (SOD2), which is localized in the mitochondria. The results from that study showed that a partial depletion (~50%) of the SOD1 and SOD2 isoforms was associated with reduced baseline levels of neurogenesis, but was also associated with a "protective" or adaptive response to irradiation (Fig. 9.6). Those effects were not coupled with any obvious compensatory changes in



Fig. 9.6 Neurogenesis before (*solid bars*) and after (*hatched bars*) irradiation is affected by SOD deficiency. Regardless of SOD isoform, under baseline conditions the number of newly generated neurons in the dentate subgranular zone is significantly reduced relative to wild-type (WT) controls. After a single dose of 5 Gy, the numbers of newly born neurons produced in WT mice was reduced by about 85%, but irradiation had no effect in animals deficient in any of the SOD isoforms. These data show paradoxical effects of SOD deficiency, because both negative (baseline neurogenesis) and positive (no apparent effect of irradiation) effects were observed. Newly generated neurons were detected using bromodeoxuridine to label newly born cells and an antibody against NeuN to label mature neurons. Each *bar* represents a mean of 4–5 mice; *error bars* are SEM

other antioxidant enzymes although it is possible that circulating antioxidants, including ascorbic acid, tocopherol, uric acid, bilirubin, proteins, and other compounds, could be increased as a compensatory mechanism and could conceivably be involved. The fact that a partial deficiency in the SOD1 and SOD2 isoforms [18], as well as a full deficiency in SOD3 [17], all imparted a common protective effect in the hippocampus, suggests that there are common effectors throughout the cell capable of engaging prosurvival or differentiation pathways. The precise mechanism(s) responsible for this type of response is not yet known, but in a general sense this effect resembles a preconditioning [66], adaptive (reviewed in Yu et al. [67]), or induciblelike radioprotective response [68], where a sublethal or potentially injurious stimulus (i.e., oxidative stress) induces tolerance to a subsequent and potentially more damaging insult (irradiation). In the CNS, this could involve specific trophic factors and signaling molecules that favor differentiation and long-term survival of newly generated neurons which are upregulated or activated in the brains of irradiated SOD KO mice. Such factors could include brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and nitric oxide (NO), all of which have been shown to favor differentiation and survival of neurons [69–72]. Regardless of the mechanism involved, these findings clearly suggest that SOD-deficient mice develop a resistance to radiation-induced inhibition of neurogenesis that may involve some type of adaptation within the microenvironment, without any obvious compensatory changes in other major intracellular antioxidants.

Astrocytes are now recognized as dynamic regulators of a variety of neuronrelated functions, including neurogenesis [73–75]. In fact, it has been suggested that the astrocytes within the neurogenic niche are highly specialized and contribute to the regulation of proliferation and fate specification of neural precursor cells. It is particularly interesting to note that prior to irradiation, the average number of newly born cells that differentiated into astrocytes in SOD1 mice $(1,112\pm157)$ was higher than that seen in SOD2 (586±102), which in turn was higher than the value for SOD3 (291±98) [17, 18] (Fig. 9.5). Additionally, when the number of newly born cells that differentiate into neurons prior to irradiation was analyzed between the different SOD isoforms, the opposite trend was found, where SOD1, SOD2, and SOD3-deficient mice have an average of $1,048\pm40$, $1,355\pm290$, and $1,793\pm226$ new neurons, respectively [17, 18] (Fig. 9.5). These trends are provocative and it may be that different cellular compartments from which the SOD isoforms evolved may contain redox-sensitive factors that play a deciding role in the lineage commitment during precursor cell differentiation [76]. Given the supportive role of astrocytes in neurogenesis [73–75], the relatively higher numbers of the newly generated astrocytes in the KO mice may have promoted the survival of newly born neurons after irradiation, although at this time, such an idea is only speculative.

9.7.1 What Is the Radiosensitivity of Myogenic Precursor Cells?

Skeletal muscles possess a remarkable regenerative capacity that is due largely, if not exclusively, to the presence of myogenic stem cells known more commonly as satellite cells. Satellite cells were first described by Mauro [77] and their role in muscle growth and regeneration has subsequently been demonstrated by a large number of studies [78–83]. During development, satellite cells play a critical role in regulating the growth of skeletal muscle. In the adult state, satellite cells are relatively quiescent with a very low level of proliferation. However, their proliferation can be dramatically increased by a number of altered physiological conditions some of which includes the following: (1) increased loading of the muscle as might occur during resistance training, (2) trauma, and (3) degeneration induced by neuromuscular diseases such as Duchene's muscular dystrophy. In essence, satellite cells are responsible for maintaining the health of skeletal muscles, and from this, it follows that any factor that negatively influences their proliferation and differentiation will negatively impact the functional capacity of skeletal muscle.

While skeletal muscle is thought to be radioresistant, it is well known that radiation can negatively impact the proliferation of stem cells via direct damage of DNA and other mechanisms such as oxidative stress. In this context, skeletal muscle and, as a consequence, satellite cells are commonly exposed to radiation during diagnostic screening and radiotherapy of tumors [84–91]. Additionally, skeletal muscles are irradiated (7 Gy is a typical dose) for conditions such as ectopic bone formation that often occurs following total joint replacements [84–86, 91]. Given this background and the importance of satellite cells in promoting both the growth and health of skeletal muscle, it is somewhat surprising that the radiosensitivity of satellite cells has been so poorly studied. Indeed, this important observation has stimulated our interest in exploring the effects of γ -irradiation on satellite cell proliferation and differentiation, with a special focus on the role of oxidative stress in mediating such radiosensitivity.

9.7.2 Nitric Oxide Plays a Central Role in Promoting Satellite Cell Proliferation: What Is the Effect of γ-Irradiation on NO Levels?

It is well known that one of the consequences of oxidative stress is the production of reactive nitrogen species, and, in particular, the production of peroxynitrite via a reaction between nitric oxide (NO) and the superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) . Importantly, the production of O_2^{-} via oxidative stress may represent an important mechanism by which NO levels are quenched, and, in satellite cells this would be highly significant given that NO seems to play a central role in satellite cell proliferation. As shown in Fig. 9.7, NO has been shown to control the proliferation of satellite cells by acting through the NO/MMP2/HGF/c-met pathway [82, 92–95]. Stretch of satellite cells as might occur in vivo is thought to lead to an elevation of NO levels, which subsequently acts on proMMP2 converting it into MMP2. This produces a conformational shift in MMP2, which leads to the release of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF). The release of HGF from MMP2 allows HGF to bind to c-met and promote the proliferation of satellite cells.

With respect to oxidative stress and the central role of NO in promoting satellite cell proliferation, we have found that clinically relevant doses of γ -irradiation (e.g., 2 and 5 Gy) not only reduce satellite cell proliferation but also reduce NO levels. Hence, exposure to γ -irradiation may depress satellite cell proliferation by negatively impacting one of the initial steps in the NO/MMP2/HGF/c-met pathway. Given the scheme outlined in Fig. 9.7, it seems logical to propose that the effects of γ -irradiation on satellite cell proliferation might be mitigated using pharmacological interventions that (1) elevate NO levels (i.e., NO donors), (2) modulate the binding of HGF to pro-MMP2 or elevate HGF levels, and (3) modulate the phosphorylation of c-met. In this context, we have recently observed that the use of NO donors such a sodium nitroprusside (SNP) is effective in rescuing satellite cell proliferation following exposure to γ -irradiation (doses of ≤ 5 Gy).

9.8 What Is Radiosensitivity of Osteoblast and Osteoclast Precursors?

Irradiation with moderate or high doses (>2 Gy) is applied therapeutically for malignancies or to sites of ectopic mineralization that can arise after complex orthopedic surgery or traumatic wounds. Therapeutic irradiation sometimes leads to a later increase in incidence of fractures [96], and therefore, it is a late effect that is clinically relevant. Although low doses of radiation (<2 Gy) have possible occupational relevance (e.g., astronauts and radiation workers), the impact of such low doses on skeletal health is unknown. A principal concern of irradiation in the context of mineralized tissue is that it may accelerate or worsen skeletal diseases such as osteoporosis.



Fig. 9.7 NO/MMP2/HGF/c-met pathway. Based on our initial work, we currently know that exposure of satellite cells to clinically relevant doses (\leq 5 Gy) of γ -irradiation produce a profound decrease in satellite cell proliferation. Additionally, initial studies also demonstrate that such doses of γ -irradiation also produce significant reductions in NO levels. This gives rise to the intriguing possibility that γ -irradiation reduces satellite cell proliferation, at least in part, by negatively impacting a key pathway thought to play an essential role in satellite cell proliferation

Skeletal remodeling occurs throughout life and relies on a continuous supply of stem, progenitor and precursor cells to replenish the differentiated cells that are responsible for maintaining bone structure and function. The tightly regulated activities of fully differentiated, bone-forming osteoblasts and bone-resorbing osteoclasts define bone structure (summarized in Fig. 9.8). Osteoblasts arise from the proliferation and progressive differentiation of pluripotent stem cells and progenitors in the mesenchymal lineage, whereas osteoclasts arise via monocytes/ macrophages in the hematopoietic lineage [97, 98]. Extensive communication between cells in the two lineages regulates bone forming and resorbing activities. Osteoblasts can produce various factors, including cytokines and reactive oxygen species (ROS), which stimulate bone resorption by increasing the numbers and activity of terminally differentiated osteoclasts [99]. Conversely, bone formation is normally coupled to bone resorption, thus preserving a net balance in healthy tissue. A key function of osteoblasts is to contribute to niches that form at the endosteal interface between marrow and bone. Niches created by osteoblasts and other cells are responsible for supporting both hematopoietic stem cells and quiescent osteoclast precursors [100, 101]. Changes in stem, progenitor, and precursor skeletal cell



Fig. 9.8 Influence of irradiation and oxidative stress on bone cell lineages and skeletal tissue. Therapeutic radiation can cause bone loss and increase fracture incidence. (1) Similarly, total body irradiation of adult mice causes rapid loss of high turnover, cancellous tissue adjacent to the marrow. (2) Irradiation causes bone marrow cells to increase generation of ROS, resulting in oxidative damage to both marrow and mineralized tissue. Oxidative stress appears to mediate the rapid adverse radiation effects because treatment with an antioxidant blocks the bone loss. (3) Differentiated progeny from two discrete cell lineages, osteoclasts (hematopoietic) and osteoblasts (mesenchymal), resorb or form bone, respectively. Extensive communication between osteoblasts and osteoclasts regulates skeletal remodeling, and osteoblasts residing at the marrow–bone interface contribute to niches that support both hematopoietic stem cells and postmitotic osteoclast precursors. (4) Irradiation increases the generation of mature osteoclasts both in vivo and in vitro, resulting in acute bone loss. (5) Irradiation also can inhibit the progressive proliferation and differentiation of osteoblast lineage cells, including mesenchymal stem cells; this is likely to be important in late radiation effects with subsequent skeletal aging

populations appear to contribute to the pathogenesis of bone disease caused by aging and sex hormone withdrawal [102, 103], and also are relevant to the skeletal damage induced by radiation [104].

Stem, progenitor and precursor cells for both skeletal cell lineages reside within the marrow, which is exquisitely radiosensitive [105, 106]. Irradiation of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) in vitro leads to altered gene expression, impaired proliferation and osteoblast differentiation, and increased senescence [107, 108]. In osteoblast progenitors and precursors, irradiation can inhibit proliferation and differentiation [109, 110], but in more mature osteoblasts, irradiation can stimulate the expression of osteoblast markers [111]. Consistent with in vitro results showing differentiation-dependent radiosensitivity of the osteoblast lineage, we find that irradiation (2 Gy) of skeletally mature mice in vivo suppresses indices of osteoblast number but stimulates indices of osteoblast activity, yielding no net effect on bone formation rate within cancellous tissue [112]. Irradiation also rapidly increases the number of cancellous osteoclasts, accounting for the rapid net loss of bone tissue observed in adult mice [112, 113]. The rise in numbers of osteoclasts following irradiation may be mediated by increased production of osteoclastogenic or survival factors by osteoblast lineage cells, or by radiationinduced fusion and terminal differentiation of osteoclast precursors. Consistent with both of these possibilities, we find that irradiation in vitro of primary bone marrow cells or the monocyte/macrophage cell line, RAW264.7, stimulates osteoclast formation, but only in the presence of submaximal concentrations of the obligate osteoclastogenic factor, Receptor Activator of NFkB Ligand (RANKL) that is produced by osteoblasts [112], unpublished). Long-term effects of radiation on the mesenchymal stem cell lineage also may account for the persistent decrement in bone density observed in adults. Thus, both precursors and progenitors of osteoblasts and osteoclasts contribute to the radiosensitivity of mineralized tissue.

9.9 What Is the Role of Oxidative Stress in Skeletal Radioresponses?

Oxidative pathways are important both for mediating skeletal remodeling [114] and for radiation responses. During progressive osteoblast differentiation in the mesenchymal lineage, cells switch from relying mainly on glycolysis in the undifferentiated state, to relying mainly on aerobic metabolism [87, 115]. Mitochondria also undergo morphological changes, mitochondrial transmembrane potential rises [115], and expression of the antioxidant enzymes MnSOD and catalase are upregulated during osteogenic differentiation [87], presumably serving to protect cells from oxidative damage given their greater metabolic activity.

Cellular redox also plays a key role in the hematopoietic lineage during osteoclast differentiation. Hematopoietic stem cells are maintained within hypoxic niches at the earliest stage [116]. At later stages of differentiation, ROS or Reactive Nitrogen Species (RNS) stimulate osteoclast formation from monocyte/macrophage precursors [117] and can display biphasic effects [118]. Furthermore, ROS are produced intracellularly by the mitochondria-rich osteoclasts during bone degradation of the bone matrix [119]. Elevated ROS in cultures of osteoblasts or mixed bone marrow stromal cells stimulates the production of the key osteoclastogenic factor, RANKL [120], providing yet another mechanism whereby oxidative stress can lead to enhanced bone resorption.

Based on these findings, we hypothesize that irradiation may increase ROS generation by cells within bone marrow, leading to an increase in terminal osteoclast differentiation and activity and subsequent loss of cancellous bone tissue. A single

dose of low LET radiation (1 or 2 Gy) to adult mice increases ROS generation by bone marrow cells, induces extensive marrow cell death, and causes oxidative damage to lipids distributed throughout the marrow and mineralized tissue [106]. Treatment of irradiated mice with a potent antioxidant, α -lipoic acid, mitigates the acute loss of cell viability observed in the marrow and inhibits the net loss of cancellous bone tissue, showing that oxidative stress mediates acute cancellous bone loss [106]. We propose radiation-induced release of ROS by osteoblasts within niches formed at the endosteal interface between marrow and bone is responsible for both damaging hematopoietic stem cells and activating the quiescent, osteoclast precursors to fuse and terminally differentiate into active, bone resorbing osteoclasts (Fig. 9.1).

9.10 Concluding Remarks

Historically, the adverse effects of ionizing irradiation have generally been considered in terms of cell survival. While an increased understanding of cell and molecular biology, along with new and sophisticated technologies, has facilitated a much more mechanistic appraisal of biochemical pathways and cell signaling elements, this new understanding is still often focused on cell death or recovery processes. More recently, and particularly in the context of normal cells and tissues, investigators are beginning to focus not so much of cell death per se, but on the ability of surviving cells to function, and what factors may be involved. The microenvironment is now recognized as having a profound effect on the phenotypic fate and the ability of an irradiated cell to function normally. In the case of stem/precursor cells, which have been identified in a number of critical normal tissues, the composition and biochemical nature of the microenvironmental niche is being shown to be critical in this context. One important microenvironmental influence after irradiation is oxidative metabolism, and it has been suggested that ROS may constitute environmental cues that are critical in the control of stem/precursor cell survival and differentiation. While the mechanisms responsible for such control are not well defined at this point, the data discussed above for the CNS, bone and muscle suggest that oxidative stress and the maintenance of redox homeostasis may play an important role. Understanding such processes may ultimately contribute to the development of strategies or approaches to manage potentially serious complications associated with ionizing irradiation, and the survival and function of stem/ precursor cell populations in normal tissues.

Acknowledgments This research was supported by the Office of Science (BER), US Department of Energy (DOE), Grant No. DE-FG02-09ER64798 to (CLL), National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Grant No. NNX09AK25G to (CLL) and NASA Grant #NNH04ZUU005N/ RAD2004-000-0110 to (RKG), DOE-NASA Interagency Award #DE-SC0001507 to (RKG), American Cancer Society Grant #RSG-00-036-04-CNE to (CLL), and NIH Grant R01 NS46051 to (JRF). 9 Redox Regulation of Stem Cell Compartments...

References

- Fike JR, Rosi S, Limoli CL (2009) Neural precursor cells and central nervous system radiation sensitivity. Semin Radiat Oncol 19(2):122–132
- Fike JR, Rola R, Limoli CL (2007) Radiation response of neural precursor cells. Neurosurg Clin N Am 18(1):115–127
- Butler JM, Rapp SR, Shaw EG (2006) Managing the cognitive effects of brain tumor radiation therapy. Curr Treat Options Oncol 7(6):517–523
- Meyers CA, Brown PD (2006) Role and relevance of neurocognitive assessment in clinical trials of patients with CNS tumors. J Clin Oncol 24(8):1305–1309
- Raber J et al (2004) Radiation-induced cognitive impairments are associated with changes in indicators of hippocampal neurogenesis. Radiat Res 162(1):39–47
- Roman DD, Sperduto PW (1995) Neuropsychological effects of cranial radiation: current knowledge and future directions. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 31(4):983–998
- 7. Surma-aho O et al (2001) Adverse long-term effects of brain radiotherapy in adult low-grade glioma patients. Neurology 56(10):1285–1290
- Cucinotta FA, Durante M (2006) Cancer risk from exposure to galactic cosmic rays: implications for space exploration by human beings. Lancet Oncol 7(5):431–435
- Durante M, Cucinotta FA (2008) Heavy ion carcinogenesis and human space exploration. Nat Rev Cancer 8(6):465–472
- Giedzinski E, Rola R, Fike JR, Limoli CL (2005) Efficient production of reactive oxygen species in neural precursor cells after exposure to 250 MeV protons. Radiat Res 164(4 Pt 2): 540–544
- 11. Limoli CL, Giedzinski E, Baure J, Rola R, Fike JR (2006) Altered growth and radiosensitivity in neural precursor cells subjected to oxidative stress. Int J Radiat Biol 82(9):640–647
- Limoli CL, Giedzinski E, Baure J, Rola R, Fike JR (2007) Redox changes induced in hippocampal precursor cells by heavy ion irradiation. Radiat Environ Biophys 46(2):167–172
- Limoli CL et al (2004) Radiation response of neural precursor cells: linking cellular sensitivity to cell cycle checkpoints, apoptosis and oxidative stress. Radiat Res 161(1):17–27
- Limoli CL et al (2004) Cell-density-dependent regulation of neural precursor cell function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101(45):16052–16057
- Wardman P (2008) Use of the dichlorofluorescein assay to measure "reactive oxygen species". Radiat Res 170(3):406–407
- Mizumatsu S et al (2003) Extreme sensitivity of adult neurogenesis to low doses of X-irradiation. Cancer Res 63(14):4021–4027
- Rola R et al (2007) Lack of extracellular superoxide dismutase (EC-SOD) in the microenvironment impacts radiation-induced changes in neurogenesis. Free Radic Biol Med 42(8): 1133–1145, discussion 1131–1132
- Fishman K et al (2009) Radiation-induced reductions in neurogenesis are ameliorated in mice deficient in CuZnSOD or MnSOD. Free Radic Biol Med 47(10):1459–1467
- Monje ML, Mizumatsu S, Fike JR, Palmer TD (2002) Irradiation induces neural precursorcell dysfunction. Nat Med 8(9):955–962
- Monje ML, Toda H, Palmer TD (2003) Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science 302(5651):1760–1765
- Dent P et al (2003) Stress and radiation-induced activation of multiple intracellular signaling pathways. Radiat Res 159(3):283–300
- 22. Gius D, Spitz DR (2006) Redox signaling in cancer biology. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(7–8): 1249–1252
- 23. Mikkelsen RB, Wardman P (2003) Biological chemistry of reactive oxygen and nitrogen and radiation-induced signal transduction mechanisms. Oncogene 22(37):5734–5754
- Kim J, Wong PK (2009) Loss of ATM impairs proliferation of neural stem cells through oxidative stress-mediated p38 MAPK signaling. Stem Cell 27(8):1987–1998

- 25. Kim J, Wong PK (2009) Oxidative stress is linked to ERK1/2-p16 signaling-mediated growth defect in ATM-deficient astrocytes. J Biol Chem 284(21):14396–14404
- Leach JK, Van Tuyle G, Lin PS, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Mikkelsen RB (2001) Ionizing radiation-induced, mitochondria-dependent generation of reactive oxygen/nitrogen. Cancer Res 61(10):3894–3901
- Venkatachalam P et al (2008) Regulation of normal cell cycle progression by flavin-containing oxidases. Oncogene 27(1):20–31
- Leach JK, Black SM, Schmidt-Ullrich RK, Mikkelsen RB (2002) Activation of constitutive nitric-oxide synthase activity is an early signaling event induced by ionizing radiation. J Biol Chem 277(18):15400–15406
- Boveris A & Cadenas E (1982) Production of superoxide radicals and hydrogen peroxide in mitochondria. In: OL W (ed) Superoxide dismutase, vol II. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 15–30
- Lewen A, Matz P, Chan PH (2000) Free radical pathways in CNS injury. J Neurotrauma 17(10):871–890
- 31. Wardman P, Candeias LP (1996) Fenton chemistry: an introduction. Radiat Res 145(5):523-531
- 32. Chan PH (1994) Oxygen radicals in focal cerebral ischemia. Brain Pathol 4(1):59-65
- 33. Peuchen S et al (1997) Interrelationships between astrocyte function, oxidative stress and antioxidant status within the central nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 52(4):261–281
- Smith KJ, Kapoor R, Felts PA (1999) Demyelination: the role of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. Brain Pathol 9(1):69–92
- Irani K et al (1997) Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in Ras-transformed fibroblasts. Science 275(5306):1649–1652
- Nemoto S, Takeda K, Yu ZX, Ferrans VJ, Finkel T (2000) Role for mitochondrial oxidants as regulators of cellular metabolism. Mol Cell Biol 20(19):7311–7318
- 37. Menon SG et al (2003) Redox regulation of the G1 to S phase transition in the mouse embryo fibroblast cell cycle. Cancer Res 63(9):2109–2117
- Sarsour EH, Agarwal M, Pandita TK, Oberley LW, Goswami PC (2005) Manganese superoxide dismutase protects the proliferative capacity of confluent normal human fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 280(18):18033–18041
- Tofilon PJ, Fike JR (2000) The radioresponse of the central nervous system: a dynamic process. Radiat Res 153(4):357–370
- 40. Ishii J et al (2007) The free-radical scavenger edaravone restores the differentiation of human neural precursor cells after radiation-induced oxidative stress. Neurosci Lett 423(3):225–230
- Madhavan L, Ourednik V, Ourednik J (2008) Neural stem/progenitor cells initiate the formation of cellular networks that provide neuroprotection by growth factor-modulated antioxidant expression. Stem Cell 26(1):254–265
- 42. Park M et al (2009) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose protects neural progenitor cells against oxidative stress through the activation of AMP-activated protein kinase. Neurosci Lett 449(3):201–206
- Sharma RK, Zhou Q, Netland PA (2008) Effect of oxidative preconditioning on neural progenitor cells. Brain Res 1243:19–26
- 44. Wolff S (1998) The adaptive response in radiobiology: evolving insights and implications. Environ Health Perspect 106(Suppl 1):277–283
- 45. Ko M, Lao XY, Kapadia R, Elmore E, Redpath JL (2006) Neoplastic transformation in vitro by low doses of ionizing radiation: role of adaptive response and bystander effects. Mutat Res 597(1–2):11–17
- Mitchell SA, Marino SA, Brenner DJ, Hall EJ (2004) Bystander effect and adaptive response in C3H 10 T(1/2) cells. Int J Radiat Biol 80(7):465–472
- Preston RJ (2005) Bystander effects, genomic instability, adaptive response, and cancer risk assessment for radiation and chemical exposures. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 207 (2 Suppl):550–556
- 48. Morgan WF (2006) Will radiation-induced bystander effects or adaptive responses impact on the shape of the dose response relationships at low doses of ionizing radiation? Dose Response 4(4):257–262

- 9 Redox Regulation of Stem Cell Compartments...
 - 49. Azzam EI, Raaphorst GP, Mitchel RE (1994) Radiation-induced adaptive response for protection against micronucleus formation and neoplastic transformation in C3H 10 T1/2 mouse embryo cells. Radiat Res 138(1 Suppl):S28–S31
 - Limoli CL, Kaplan MI, Giedzinski E, Morgan WF (2001) Attenuation of radiation-induced genomic instability by free radical scavengers and cellular proliferation. Free Radic Biol Med 31(1):10–19
 - Spitz DR, Azzam EI, Li JJ, Gius D (2004) Metabolic oxidation/reduction reactions and cellular responses to ionizing radiation: a unifying concept in stress response biology. Cancer Metastasis Rev 23(3–4):311–322
 - Bubici C, Papa S, Pham CG, Zazzeroni F, Franzoso G (2006) The NF-kappaB-mediated control of ROS and JNK signaling. Histol Histopathol 21(1):69–80
 - 53. de Toledo SM et al (2006) Adaptive responses to low-dose/low-dose-rate gamma rays in normal human fibroblasts: the role of growth architecture and oxidative metabolism. Radiat Res 166(6):849–857
 - 54. Elmore E et al (2008) Low doses of very low-dose-rate low-LET radiation suppress radiationinduced neoplastic transformation in vitro and induce an adaptive response. Radiat Res 169(3):311–318
 - Guo G et al (2003) Manganese superoxide dismutase-mediated gene expression in radiationinduced adaptive responses. Mol Cell Biol 23(7):2362–2378
 - Oberley LW (2005) Mechanism of the tumor suppressive effect of MnSOD overexpression. Biomed Pharmacother 59(4):143–148
 - Zhang Y, Smith BJ, Oberley LW (2006) Enzymatic activity is necessary for the tumorsuppressive effects of MnSOD. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(7–8):1283–1293
 - Kaewpila S, Venkataraman S, Buettner GR, Oberley LW (2008) Manganese superoxide dismutase modulates hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha induction via superoxide. Cancer Res 68(8):2781–2788
 - 59. Huang TT et al (1999) The use of transgenic and mutant mice to study oxygen free radical metabolism. Ann N Y Acad Sci 893:95–112
 - Slemmer JE, Shacka JJ, Sweeney MI, Weber JT (2008) Antioxidants and free radical scavengers for the treatment of stroke, traumatic brain injury and aging. Curr Med Chem 15(4):404–414
 - Valko M et al (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(1):44–84
 - 62. Hu D et al (2007) Hippocampal long-term potentiation, memory, and longevity in mice that overexpress mitochondrial superoxide dismutase. Neurobiol Learn Mem 87(3):372–384
 - 63. Kishida KT, Klann E (2007) Sources and targets of reactive oxygen species in synaptic plasticity and memory. Antioxid Redox Signal 9(2):233–244
 - 64. Levin ED et al (1998) Molecular manipulations of extracellular superoxide dismutase: functional importance for learning. Behav Genet 28(5):381–390
 - 65. Raber J, et al (2009) Irradiation enhances hippocampus-dependent cognition in mice deficient in extracellular superoxide dismutase. Hipppocampus (in press)
 - 66. Gori T, Forconi S (2005) The role of reactive free radicals in ischemic preconditioning clinical and evolutionary implications. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 33(1):19–28
 - Yu BP, Chung HY (2006) Adaptive mechanisms to oxidative stress during aging. Mech Ageing Dev 127(5):436–443
 - Qutob SS et al (2006) Fractionated X-radiation treatment can elicit an inducible-like radioprotective response that is not dependent on the intrinsic cellular X-radiation resistance/ sensitivity. Radiat Res 166(4):590–599
 - Cao L et al (2004) VEGF links hippocampal activity with neurogenesis, learning and memory. Nat Genet 36(8):827–835
 - Cardenas A, Moro MA, Hurtado O, Leza JC, Lizasoain I (2005) Dual role of nitric oxide in adult neurogenesis. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 50(1):1–6
 - Gibbs SM (2003) Regulation of neuronal proliferation and differentiation by nitric oxide. Mol Neurobiol 27(2):107–120

- Scharfman H et al (2005) Increased neurogenesis and the ectopic granule cells after intrahippocampal BDNF infusion in adult rats. Exp Neurol 192(2):348–356
- 73. Barkho BZ et al (2006) Identification of astrocyte-expressed factors that modulate neural stem/progenitor cell differentiation. Stem Cell Dev 15(3):407–421
- 74. Nedergaard M, Ransom B, Goldman SA (2003) New roles for astrocytes: redefining the functional architecture of the brain. Trends Neurosci 26(10):523–530
- Jordan JD, Ma DK, Ming GL, Song H (2007) Cellular niches for endogenous neural stem cells in the adult brain. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 6(5):336–341
- Oberley LW, Oberley TD, Buettner GR (1980) Cell differentiation, aging and cancer: the possible roles of superoxide and superoxide dismutases. Med Hypotheses 6(3):249–268
- 77. Mauro A (1961) Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol 9:493-495
- Alameddine HS, Dehaupas M, Fardeau M (1989) Regeneration of skeletal muscle fibers from autologous satellite cells multiplied in vitro. An experimental model for testing cultured cell myogenicity. Muscle Nerve 12(7):544–555
- Bischoff R (1975) Regeneration of single skeletal muscle fibers in vitro. Anat Rec 182(2):215–235
- Fulle S, Belia S, Di Tano G (2005) Sarcopenia is more than a muscular deficit. Arch Ital Biol 143(3–4):229–234
- Rosenblatt JD, Yong D, Parry DJ (1994) Satellite cell activity is required for hypertrophy of overloaded adult rat muscle. Muscle Nerve 17(6):608–613
- Tatsumi R, Allen RE (2004) Active hepatocyte growth factor is present in skeletal muscle extracellular matrix. Muscle Nerve 30(5):654–658
- Zammit PS, Partridge TA, Yablonka-Reuveni Z (2006) The skeletal muscle satellite cell: the stem cell that came in from the cold. J Histochem Cytochem 54(11):1177–1191
- Ashton LA, Bruce W, Goldberg J, Walsh W (2000) Prevention of heterotopic bone formation in high risk patients post-total hip arthroplasty. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong) 8(2): 53–57
- Balboni TA, Gobezie R, Mamon HJ (2006) Heterotopic ossification: pathophysiology, clinical features, and the role of radiotherapy for prophylaxis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 65(5):1289–1299
- Coventry MB, Scanlon PW (1981) The use of radiation to discourage ectopic bone. A nineyear study in surgery about the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Am 63(2):201–208
- Chen CT, Shih YR, Kuo TK, Lee OK, Wei YH (2008) Coordinated changes of mitochondrial biogenesis and antioxidant enzymes during osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell 26(4):960–968
- Rietman JS et al (2004) Impairments, disabilities and health related quality of life after treatment for breast cancer: a follow-up study 2.7 years after surgery. Disabil Rehabil 26(2): 78–84
- Senkus-Konefka E, Jassem J (2006) Complications of breast-cancer radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 18(3):229–235
- 90. Shamley DR et al (2007) Changes in shoulder muscle size and activity following treatment for breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 106(1):19–27
- Stoltny T, Koczy B, Wawrzynek W, Miszczyk L (2007) Heterotopic ossification in patients after total hip replacement. Ortop Traumatol Rehabil 9(3):264–272
- Allen DL, Roy RR, Edgerton VR (1999) Myonuclear domains in muscle adaptation and disease. Muscle Nerve 22(10):1350–1360
- Allen DL, Monke SR, Talmadge RJ, Roy RR, Edgerton VR (1995) Plasticity of myonuclear number in hypertrophied and atrophied mammalian skeletal muscle fibers. J Appl Physiol 78(5):1969–1976
- 94. Tatsumi R et al (2006) Satellite cell activation in stretched skeletal muscle and the role of nitric oxide and hepatocyte growth factor. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 290(6):1487–1494
- 95. Tatsumi R et al (2009) A role for calcium-calmodulin in regulating nitric oxide production during skeletal muscle satellite cell activation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 296(4):922–929

- 9 Redox Regulation of Stem Cell Compartments...
 - Baxter NN, Habermann EB, Tepper JE, Durham SB, Virnig BA (2005) Risk of pelvic fractures in older women following pelvic irradiation. JAMA 294(20):2587–2593
 - 97. Grigoriadis AE, Heersche JN, Aubin JE (1988) Differentiation of muscle, fat, cartilage, and bone from progenitor cells present in a bone-derived clonal cell population: effect of dexamethasone. J Cell Biol 106(6):2139–2151
 - Burger EH et al (1982) In vitro formation of osteoclasts from long-term cultures of bone marrow mononuclear phagocytes. J Exp Med 156(6):1604–1614
 - Martin T, Gooi JH, Sims NA (2009) Molecular mechanisms in coupling of bone formation to resorption. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 19(1):73–88
- Calvi LM et al (2003) Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. Nature 425(6960):841–846
- Mizoguchi T et al (2009) Identification of cell cycle-arrested quiescent osteoclast precursors in vivo. J Cell Biol 184(4):541–554
- 102. Cao JJ et al (2005) Aging increases stromal/osteoblastic cell-induced osteoclastogenesis and alters the osteoclast precursor pool in the mouse. J Bone Miner Res 20(9): 1659–1668
- Jilka RL et al (1998) Loss of estrogen upregulates osteoblastogenesis in the murine bone marrow. Evidence for autonomy from factors released during bone resorption. J Clin Invest 101(9):1942–1950
- Greenberger JS, Epperly M (2009) Bone marrow-derived stem cells and radiation response. Semin Radiat Oncol 19(2):133–139
- 105. Anderson ND, Colyer RA, Riley LH Jr (1979) Skeletal changes during prolonged external irradiation: alterations in marrow, growth plate and osteoclast populations. Johns Hopkins Med J 145(3):73–83
- 106. Kondo H, et al (2009) Oxidative stress and gamma radiation-induced cancellous bone loss with musculoskeletal disuse. J Appl Physiol (in press)
- 107. Wang D, Jang DJ (2009) Protein kinase CK2 regulates cytoskeletal reorganization during ionizing radiation-induced senescence of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res 69(20):8200–8207
- Li J, Kwong DL, Chan GC (2007) The effects of various irradiation doses on the growth and differentiation of marrow-derived human mesenchymal stromal cells. Pediatr Transplant 11(4):379–387
- 109. Ma J et al (2007) Senescence-unrelated impediment of osteogenesis from Flk1+ bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induced by total body irradiation and its contribution to long-term bone and hematopoietic injury. Haematologica 92(7):889–896
- 110. Kondo H et al (2007) Shared oxidative pathways in response to gravity-dependent loading and gamma-irradiation of bone marrow-derived skeletal cell progenitors. Radiats Biol Radioecol 47(3):281–285
- 111. Matsumura S et al (1998) Changes in phenotypic expression of osteoblasts after X irradiation. Radiat Res 149(5):463–471
- 112. Kondo H et al (2009) Total-body irradiation of postpubertal mice with (137)Cs acutely compromises the microarchitecture of cancellous bone and increases osteoclasts. Radiat Res 171(3):283–289
- 113. Willey JS, et al. (2009) Risedronate prevents early radiation-induced osteoporosis in mice at multiple skeletal locations. Bone (in press)
- 114. Yumoto K, et al. (2009) Short-term effects of whole body (56)Fe particle irradiation in combination with musculoskeletal disuse on bone cells. Radiat Res (in press)
- 115. Komarova SV, Ataullakhanov FI, Globus RK (2000) Bioenergetics and mitochondrial transmembrane potential during differentiation of cultured osteoblasts. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279(4):C1220–C1229
- 116. Parmar K, Mauch P, Vergilio JA, Sackstein R, Down JD (2007) Distribution of hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow according to regional hypoxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104(13):5431–5436

- 117. Garrett IR et al (1990) Oxygen-derived free radicals stimulate osteoclastic bone resorption in rodent bone in vitro and in vivo. J Clin Invest 85(3):632–639
- 118. Nilforoushan D, Gramoun A, Glogauer M, Manolson MF (2009) Nitric oxide enhances osteoclastogenesis possibly by mediating cell fusion. Nitric Oxide 21(1):27–36
- Halleen JM et al (1999) Intracellular fragmentation of bone resorption products by reactive oxygen species generated by osteoclastic tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase. J Biol Chem 274(33):22907–22910
- Bai XC et al (2005) Reactive oxygen species stimulates receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand expression in osteoblast. J Biol Chem 280(17):17497–17506

Part III Imaging Redox Changes and Therapeutic Response (Preclinical and Clinical)

Chapter 10 Functional Imaging in the Assessment of Normal Tissue Injury Following Radiotherapy

Kenneth J. Dornfeld and Yusuf Menda

Abstract Functional imaging after radiotherapy is an increasingly powerful tool to assess tumor response to treatment. Functional imaging may also provide an opportunity for surveillance not only for tumor recurrence but also for treatment-related toxicity. Persistently elevated glucose avidity in normal tissues seen on 18F-fluorode oxyglucose (FDG) PET scans after radiotherapy for head and neck cancer is associated with increased toxicity and decreased quality of life. Increased FDG avidity in normal lung after radiotherapy can also help predict which patients will subsequently develop radiation pneumonitis. These findings may also provide insight into the metabolic alterations that are associated with radiotherapy-induced toxicity. More options for functional imaging are being developed, for example, 18F-fluorothymidine and magnetic resonance spectroscopy. As these agents are used for tumor surveillance, exciting possibilities will also be created for monitoring, predicting, and understanding normal tissue toxicity.

10.1 Introduction

Radiotherapy imparts a strong, brief oxidative stress to treated tissues. The consequences of this stress are multiple and incompletely understood. Detailed molecular studies of irradiated cells in culture provide the opportunity to define relevant biochemical changes and relevant pathways. Functional imaging provides a different

K.J. Dornfeld, MD, PhD (🖂)

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Minnesota, 400 East Third Street, Duluth, MN 55805, USA

Duluth Clinic Radiation Oncology, Duluth, MN, USA e-mail: kdornfeld@smdc.org

Y. Menda, MD Department of Radiology, University of Iowa, Iowa, IA, USA

perspective, allowing analysis of irradiated tissues in situ. Functional imaging has also the advantage of assessing the changes imparted by radiotherapy with minimal disruption and impact on the tissues studied. Insight gained from in vitro studies may serve as a rational basis to guide interpretation and development of functional imaging.

The most widely used functional imaging techniques currently include 18Ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET), magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) and Tc-99m Sestamibi scans. The primary use of these studies to date has been to characterize cancer in terms of stage and prognosis prior to treatment and response after therapy. However, the goal of cancer therapy is not just annihilation of cancer tissue. Successful cancer treatment must also preserve function of normal tissue adjacent to cancer. Achieving the highest therapeutic ratio possible, total death of cancer tissue and no collateral damage to host tissue, is the goal of therapy. Widespread use of functional imaging, especially via FDG-PET provides the opportunity to also assess the effects of treatment on normal tissue. In addition, functional imaging may also provide mechanistic clues to the response of normal tissues to irradiation. This chapter provides some observations on the use of functional imaging to assess response of normal tissues to radiotherapy.

10.2 FDG-PET as an Assessment of Toxicity Following Radiotherapy for Head and Neck Cancer

Radiotherapy can be quite toxic when used to treat head and neck cancer. Recent developments in the field of radiation oncology allow greater precision in delivery of high-dose radiotherapy to target tissues. Intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) is a radiotherapy planning and delivery approach that allows specific targeting of high-dose radiotherapy to cancer tissues while minimizing doses to sensitive adjacent normal structures with a low risk of harboring cancer cells [1]. IMRT treatment allows for heterogeneous radiation dose delivery to tissues within the head and neck. A current central challenge for IMRT and head and neck cancer is identifying which structures should be protected, how much protection different tissues require, and the optimal way to protect those structures. One example is salivary gland function. Parotid glands are responsible for a significant amount of saliva production. They are very sensitive and appear to decrease saliva output after receiving radiation doses in the mid-20 Gy range. While parotid glands are adjacent to lymph node regions commonly harboring metastatic deposits of cancer, the parotid glands themselves only rarely contain metastatic deposits. Landmark studies by Eisbruch and colleagues at the University of Michigan [2] showed that salivary flow could be maintained after radiotherapy using IMRT if certain dose constraints were respected. Specifically, maintaining the mean parotid dose below 25 Gy allows virtually complete recovery of salivary production by 24 months after radiotherapy [2].

Increasing the intensity of therapy increases the cure rates for head and neck cancer. Higher doses of radiation [3] or concurrent delivery of chemotherapy [4, 5] with radiotherapy both improve locoregional control over head and neck cancer.

However, increasing the intensity of therapy can also increase complication rates. For example, two large randomized studies recently showed improved locoregional control and disease-free survival with concurrent chemotherapy and conventional radiotherapy after surgical resection for patients at high risk of recurrence. Unfortunately, these studies also showed an increase in treatment-related deaths in the cohort of subjects treated with combined chemotherapy and radiation therapy after surgical resection [6, 7].

The promise of IMRT is to provide a means to selectively escalate the intensity of radiotherapy in tissues harboring cancer while minimizing exposure of sensitive critical normal structures. Swallow function after radiotherapy is often severely affected [8]. Many if not most patients undergoing treatment currently require feeding tubes because they cannot swallow adequate fluids or calories to meet their needs. Long-term swallowing deficits resulting from treatment can continue to pose a threat to adequate nutrition, increase the risk of aspiration pneumonia and delay healing. Eating and swallowing difficulties can also decrease quality of life (QoL) and social interactions [9].

To preserve function after treatment for head and neck cancer, the appropriate anatomic structures essential to that function must be protected from radiation doses above their tolerance. Radiation doses to key anatomic structures necessary for swallow function must be kept low enough that they can still perform their normal function. Optimal use of IMRT requires specific information regarding what structures are necessary for swallowing and their respective dose limitations [10]. As an initial step to understand key anatomic determinants of swallowing, Dornfeld et al. examined a group of 27 patients with head and neck cancer treated with chemoradiotherapy and followed for both objective endpoints such as PEG feeding tube dependence and weight loss as well as subjective endpoints assessed with selfreported QoL questionnaire [11]. These 27 patients all had stage III or IV squamous cell cancer of the head and neck, including sites within the oropharynx, hypopharynx, and larynx. These patients were treated with chemotherapy and radiation therapy. The IMRT delivered daily doses of 1.6–2.0 Gy to regions at risk of harboring microscopic disease or gross disease respectively over a median of 35 fractions as described previously [1]. None received surgery as initial treatment. All subjects were followed using clinical exam and CT-based imaging for at least 1 year without recurrence. Fifteen points were chosen at sites along the mucosal surface of the upper aerodigestive tract, including the base of tongue, posterior pharyngeal wall, and supraglottic and glottic larynx (Fig. 10.1). The radiation dose delivered to each of these points was determined. The points were selected in conjunction with a speech pathologist as sites likely to play a critical role in swallowing.

The dose delivered to each of the 15 points were then correlated with a variety of outcome measures including type of diet tolerated (such as unrestricted, liquid only, or feeding tube dependent), weight loss, and persistence of PEG feeding tube at 1 year. A validated questionnaire was used to assess self-reported overall QoL and QoL in the domains of speech, eating, social interactions, and esthetics [12]. High doses of radiation or chemoradiation to the larynx (both glottic and supraglottic) are correlated with a more restrictive diet, persistence of PEG tube dependence at



Fig. 10.1 Representative CT images used to define the various dosimetric points were examined. The dose points analyzed were the right (a) and left (b) superior base of tongue, the right (c) and left (d) inferior base of tongue, the epiglottis (e), the right (k) and left (l) lateral pharyngeal walls at the level of the inferior base of tongue, the pre-epiglottic space (f), the right (g) and left (h) aryepiglottic folds, the right (i) and left (j) false vocal cords, the right (m) and left (n) lateral pharyngeal walls at the level of the false vocal cords, and the upper esophageal sphincter (o)

1 year, decreased QoL and greater weight loss after treatment [11]. Patients who experienced higher doses of radiation to sites within and adjacent to the glottic and supraglottic larynx had a worse functional outcome. Higher doses to these structures (i, j, m, n, o in Fig. 10.1) had a more restrictive diet 1 year after treatment and were more likely to require a feeding tube 1 year after treatment (Fig. 10.2). Speech-related QoL for these patients, as determined by a self-reported questionnaire was also inversely correlated with dose to the supraglottic and glottic larynx (Fig. 10.3). A significant increase in toxicity appeared to occur with radiation doses greater than 50 Gy. Eisbruch et al. [13] and Allen et al. [14] have also identified the larynx and supraglottic larynx as important structural determinants of swallowing function.

Surveillance with FDG-PET is useful to characterize response to treatment and potentially detect recurrence [15] after nonsurgical management of head and neck cancer. FDG-PET scans are performed by injecting patients with an analog of glucose, where the hydroxyl group in the 2 position is replaced by a positron emitter, Fluoride-18. Inside the cell FDG is phosphorylated by hexokinase but is not further catabolized [16]. Patients are imaged after injection with FDG using a PET camera, which detects the 511 keV annihilation photons that result from positron decay.



Fig. 10.2 Dose–response relationships between radiation dose and diet scores and radiation dose delivered to the false vocal cords (a) and lateral pharyngeal walls at the level of the false cords (b). Radiation doses were measured at points *i* and *j* (a) and *m* and *n* (b). Scores are defined in the text. Briefly nothing by mouth is 1, soft mechanical is 4, and unrestricted is 6



Fig. 10.3 Dose–response relationships between radiation dose and speech-related quality of life (QoL) for radiation doses delivered to false vocal cords (**a**) and lateral pharyngeal walls at the level of the false cords (**b**). Doses for both right and left structures are included. The dosimetric points for these graphs are *i* and *j* (**a**) and *m* and *n* (**b**)

Sites of altered glucose metabolism will have altered signals on the FDG-PET scan. Several reports have documented the utility of FDG-PET scans obtained after (chemo)radiotherapy in predicting long-term control over head and neck cancer [17, 18]. FDG-PET scans may also provide a means to assess changes imparted to adjacent normal tissue by radiotherapy. Given the central importance of glucose



Fig. 10.4 Determining FDG SUV in irradiated tissues. Sagittal views of PET (**a**) and CT (**b**) showing the five axial planes for which FDG SUVs were determined. At each level, a region of interest was defined to include all mucosal surfaces and surrounding soft tissue. An example is shown for the laryngeal axial plane with both PET (**c**) and CT (**d**) images

utilization in cell and molecular biology and the significant functional changes in normal tissue function after radiotherapy, changes in FDG uptake in normal tissues after radiotherapy seemed likely.

To address this possibility, Dornfeld and coworkers examined FDG-PET scans at 3 and 12 months after treatment in patients with head and neck cancer receiving chemoradiotherapy without surgery [19]. Eighteen subjects were analyzed. These subjects were a subset of the 27 patients described in the above study showing increasing dose of radiotherapy to the larynx correlated with decreased subjective and objective functional outcome. These 18 were chosen because they had FDG-PET scans performed at 3 and 12 months after treatment. To assess the degree of FDG uptake in normal tissue, five axial planes were chosen, roughly corresponding to the levels of dose points analyzed in the study described above (Fig. 10.4). In each of the five levels, a region anterior to the spine encompassing the aerodigestive tract and adjacent soft tissue was defined as a region of interest. The FDG uptake within the region was quantified using maximum pixel standardized uptake value (SUV).

	PET 1		PET 2		SUV change ^a	
	Average	Range	Average	Range	Increase ^b	Decrease ^b
Top of tongue	3.0	1.4-4.7	2.8	1.6-3.5	4	7
Mid-tongue base	3.1	2.3-4.7	3.0	1.7-5.9	3	8
Vallecula	2.8	1.4-5.0	3.0	1.8-5.7	7	5
Supraglottic larynx	2.8	1.9-5.1	2.7	1.6-4.2	4	5
Glottic larynx	3.4	2.2-5.4	3.4	1.8-6.6	5	9

Table 10.1 PET SUV outcomes

SUV standardized uptake value

^aChange in SUV, either increasing or decreasing, was defined as greater than 12%

^bNumber of patients with noted change (increase or decrease) between the two PET scans

The SUV numbers were analyzed for correlations between type of diet tolerated, degree of weight loss, persistence of PEG tube 1 year after treatment, and self-reported QoL in eating, speaking, social, and esthetic domains as determined by a validated questionnaire.

The results from analyzing posttreatment FDG-PET scans showed a variable degree of FDG uptake in normal tissue in the head and neck region. The upper aerodigestive tract shows a high degree of variation in FDG avidity even in normal subjects, particularly in the oropharynx and larynx. In comparing FDG uptake in soft tissues in five axial planes extending from the superior aspect of the tongue to the larynx, roughly one quarter (17–40%, depending on the particular level) of subjects showed an increase in FDG avidity in normal tissues between 3 and 12 months after chemoradiotherapy (Table 10.1). This degree of increase in FDG avidity is greater than that can be explained by the innate 12% variation in SUVs seen in FDG-PET scanning. The biochemical basis for the FDG elevation is unclear. All subjects have been followed for at least 1 year after the 12-month PET scan with no clinical recurrence, suggesting the rise in FDG avidity was likely not due to cancer.

Subjective outcome measures were also associated with elevated FDG uptake. Questionnaires were used to collect patient reported QoL in domains relevant to head and neck cancer, such as social interactions, eating, and speaking. An inverse correlation exists between the intensity of FDG in the larynx and supraglottic larynx and speech and eating-related QoL. The inverse correlation between FDG avidity and QoL was seen with the 12-month FDG-PET scan, but not with the 3-month scan (Figs. 10.5 and 10.6). The correlations between the level of FDG uptake (quantified using SUV) and outcome measures were stronger than correlations between dose delivered to the regions of interest and subsequent SUVs. The stronger correlation between FDG uptake and toxicity rather than radiotherapy dose and FDG uptake suggests an individual's reaction to the radiation, and not just the radiation dose itself, is important in determining the altered metabolism seen on FDG- PET. These findings suggest metabolic changes imparted to normal tissues following radiotherapy are active for prolonged periods of time after treatment, and indeed may progress with time. While the patient numbers are small and clearly need more rigorous prospective corroboration, the findings detailed above provide compelling



Fig. 10.5 Higher fluorodeoxyglucose standardized uptake value (FDG SUVs) in the glottic larynx 12 months after treatment are correlated with a worse functional outcome. (**a**) Normalized eating-related QoL scores measured at 12 months posttreatment from the Head and Neck Cancer Inventory (HNCI) are shown as a function of normal tissue FDG uptake at the level of the glottic larynx (see Fig. 10.4) from a PET scan also obtained 12 months after therapy. (**b**) Diet scores ranging from 1 for no oral intake to 6 for full, unrestricted diet determined 12 months after treatment are shown as a function of normal-tissue FDG uptake at the level of the glottic larynx (see Fig. 10.4) from a PET scan also obtained 12 months after therapy. (**b**) Diet scores measured at 12 months after therapy. (**c**) Normalized speech-related QoL scores measured at 12 months posttreatment using the HNCI are shown as a function of normal tissue FDG uptake at the level of the glottic larynx (see Fig. 10.4) from a PET scan also obtained 12 months after therapy. In each graph, there is a significant association showing that higher FDG uptake is associated with increased toxicity 12 months after therapy

evidence that functional imaging can be used to characterize treatment effects on normal tissues, not just cancer tissue. The FDG-PET studies were able to provide meaningful information regarding the therapeutic ratio of radiotherapy, in terms of both tumor and normal tissue response.



Fig. 10.6 Higher fluorodeoxyglucose standardized uptake value (FDG SUVs) in the supraglottic larynx 12 months after treatment are correlated with a worse functional outcome. (**a**) Normalized eating-related QoL scores measured at 12 months posttreatment from the Head and Neck Cancer Inventory are shown as a function of normal tissue FDG uptake at the level of the supraglottic larynx (see Fig. 10.4) from a PET scan also obtained 12 months after therapy. (**b**) Diet scores ranging from 1 for no oral intake to 6 for full, unrestricted diet determined 12 months after treatment are shown as a function of normal tissue FDG uptake at the level of the supraglottic larynx (see Fig. 10.4) from a PET scan also obtained 12 months after therapy. (**b**) Diet scores ranging from 1 for no oral intake to 6 for full, unrestricted diet determined 12 months after treatment are shown as a function of normal tissue FDG uptake at the level of the supraglottic larynx (see Fig. 10.4) from a PET scan also obtained 12 months after therapy. In each graph, there is a significant association showing that higher FDG uptake is associated with increased toxicity 12 months after therapy

The elevated FDG avidity in normal tissues after treatment may signify a metabolic derangement, either due to changes within the irradiated tissues or secondarily due to inflammation. In either situation, the elevated FDG avidity may reflect on-going injury. Within this population of 18 subjects, both objective and subjective measures of outcome were worse in patients with elevated FDG avidity in the 12-month posttreatment scan. The type of diet tolerated, such as a full or soft diet, liquid only or gastrostomy tube-dependent diet was correlated with elevated FDG uptake in the larynx such that subjects with greater FDG uptake were more likely to have a more restrictive diet. Virtually all domains of QoL were negatively correlated with posttreatment FDG avidity on PET scans obtained 1 year after therapy (Table 10.2).
	Quality of life					
Maximum SUV	Diet	Eating	Speech	Esthetic	Social function	
Level of supraglottic larynx	-0.64^{a}	-0.57 ^b	n.s.	-0.62ª	-0.44 ^b	
Level of glottic larynx	-0.70^{a}	-0.73^{a}	-0.57^{a}	-0.53 ^b	-0.45 ^b	

 Table 10.2
 Summary of correlations between fluorodeoxyglucose standardized uptake value and functional outcomes

n.s. not significant, SUV standardized uptake value

^a Significant at p < 0.05

^bSignificant at p < 0.01

10.3 Abnormal FDG After Radiotherapy for Other Cancers

Postirradiation FDG-PET scans have also been studied following radiotherapy to the chest for esophageal and lung cancer. A substantial dose of radiation can be delivered to normal lung as radiation treatment beams pass through the chest to treat thoracic tumors. Measuring tumor response has been the main focus of FDG-PET scans obtained after (chemo) radiotherapy for esophageal and nonsmall cell lung cancer. However, some investigators have examined the impact of irradiation on FDG avidity in normal lung adjacent to the tumor, exposed to radiation, but not involved with cancer. The majority of these studies in thoracic cancers have shown results similar to those described above for head and neck cancer. Specifically, these studies have also reported prolonged elevation of FDG uptake and retention in a substantial minority of patients following treatment.

Guerrero et al. examined effects of radiation treatment on irradiated lung delivered as treatment for esophageal cancer [20]. Since the esophagus is a deep thoracic structure, radiation beams targeting the esophagus pass through a significant portion of normal lung. Although the dose delivered to normal lung is not the full dose delivered to tumor, given the sensitivity of lung to radiation, even partial dose can result in normal lung injury. Guerrero and colleagues at MD Anderson examined the dose–response relationship in 36 patients after treatment for esophageal cancer. These investigators registered CT scans with radiation dose information with FDG-PET scans obtained 24–78 days after completing radiotherapy. The median dose delivered to the esophagus was 50.4 Gy, with a range of doses delivered to normal lung. There is a linear relationship between increasing radiation dose and FDG uptake in the lung [20]. The slope describing the relationship varied significantly from patient to patient, suggesting a wide variation in normal lung tissue response to radiotherapy. For each patient, however FDG localization in the lung increased as radiation dose increased.

This same group extended these findings by including lung toxicity in their analysis. In their report by Hart et al., 101 patients treated with conventional thoracic irradiation as part of their treatment for esophageal cancer were studied [21]. These subjects underwent an FDG-PET scan an average of 6 weeks after radiotherapy. Sixty-six patients experienced symptomatic pneumonitis. Radiation pneumonitis is a form of lung injury clinically characterized by dry cough, shortness

of breath, and low grade fever. It often precedes anatomic imaging changes on computerized tomography (CT) scans, such as fibrosis, that occur after radiotherapy to the lung. The volume of lung irradiated and the dose delivered to normal lung both determine the risk of developing radiation pneumonitis. Even with precise knowledge of dose and volume of lung irradiated, it is difficult to predict which patients will develop radiation pneumonitis. FDG uptake and retention in normal, irradiated lung was assessed using FDG-PET scans in these patients. The maximum SUV in lung distinct from the cancer site was significantly greater in patients with pneumonitis symptoms than those without. Their findings again suggest that FDG localizes in irradiated tissue and the degree of FDG uptake and retention may reflect the degree of injury and toxicity.

Several well-established dosimetric parameters have been identified that are correlated with the risk of developing pneumonitis. For example, the mean lung dose and the volume of lung receiving more than 20 Gy are both correlated with increasing risk of developing pneumonitis. However, dosimetric parameters alone provide an imperfect estimate of radiation pneumonitis risk. Hart et al. [21] used information from the posttreatment FDG-PET scan in combination with these dosimetric parameters and increased the accuracy in predicting which patients would develop pneumonitis. Whether the ability to identify patients at risk can be used for earlier intervention and decreased overall pneumonitis symptoms remains to be seen. Taken together, these data show that radiation to normal lung causes an increase in FDG uptake and retention. The degree of FDG uptake varies significantly from patient to patient. The specific association between FDG uptake and radiation dose is useful in predicting lung toxicity following chest irradiation. These overall findings are consistent with the findings described above for head and neck cancer.

Persistent elevated FDG uptake and retention has also been described in a minority of patients treated with stereotactic radiosurgery for nonsmall cell lung cancer. In this treatment, a very high dose of radiation is delivered over 3–5 sessions to a discrete target, usually less than 4 cm in diameter. The large doses used in radiosurgery are able to provide a high chance of local control, but also carry the potential for significant tissue damage in normal tissue immediately adjacent to the tumor. Hoopes et al. described their experience with 28 patients treated with stereotactic radiosurgery to the lung who have been followed with FDG-PET [22]. Four of the 28 patients (14%) had persistently elevated, or even increasing FDG uptake within the treated volume on PET scans obtained 22–26 months following radiosurgery. These patients were followed for an additional 20–26 months without clinical or radiographic evidence of recurrence, suggesting that the elevated FDG uptake was a response to the radiation treatment in normal lung and not recurrence of cancer.

Similar findings were reported by Ishimori et al. in 2004 [23]. This group used both C-11 methionine (the uptake of which reflects amino acid metabolism) and 18F FDG-PET scans prior to radiosurgery and in subsequent follow-up to gauge response to treatment. They found FDG and C-11 methionine scans showed concordant results. Three of nine patients showed a delayed elevation in FDG uptake and retention several months after treatment. Based on CT image analysis and clinical

follow-up, the rise in FDG uptake was felt to be located normal lung tissue adjacent to the irradiated tumor tissue. None of the nine subjects suffered a relapse. The authors concluded that the increased FDG and C-11 methionine uptake was due to pneumonitis and not tumor recurrence.

FDG-PET may also provide evidence of myocardial injury. Jingu et al. [24] examined FDG-PET scans at least 5 months after completing chemoradiotherapy for esophageal cancer. They found 13 of 64 patients showed increased FDG uptake and retention in the irradiated myocardium in FDG-PET scans performed 5–65 months after irradiation. In each case, the region of elevated uptake was localized to an area of the heart that received 60 Gy, the full prescription dose. Eight of the 13 underwent further study with SPECT scans using the fatty acid analog 123I-methyl-iodo-pentadecanoic acid (123I-BMIPP) and thallium-201 to assess fatty acid metabolism and perfusion, respectively. Five of the eight showed decreased uptake and retention of the fatty acid analog, suggesting a primary defect in energy production and/or mitochondrial function.

The studies described above consistently highlight increased uptake of glucose after irradiation for months, if not years, after treatment. Patients with persistently elevated glucose uptake may also be those with higher side effects or greater tissue damage. The increased uptake and retention of FDG appears to add information about toxicity risk beyond traditional risk factors such as dose and volume. FDG-PET may provide a functional assessment of toxicity based on individual variation in radiation response.

10.4 Potential Biochemical Explanation of Increased FDG Uptake After Radiotherapy

The glucose utilization by tissues contributes to many critical biochemical functions. Glucose has a central role in biosynthesis since it serves as a precursor for a variety of necessary cellular components, including nucleotides, amino acids and other metabolites. Glucose also plays a key role in both aerobic and anaerobic energy production through respiration and glycolysis. Glucose metabolism through the pentose phosphate pathway provides a major source of NADPH used for both biosynthesis and as a cofactor for several antioxidant enzymes. The increased uptake and retention of glucose analogs in normal tissues following radiotherapy may be due to an increased demand for glucose by any or all of these processes.

Inflammation can clearly lead to increased local consumption of glucose. For example, sites of infection due to a variety of agents may cause increased FDG uptake [25]. A variety of drugs, including chemotherapeutic agents, carry a risk of causing lung inflammation. These include rituximab, bleomycin, and others. Increased FDG uptake and retention in lung is seen with these drug reactions [26, 27]. Even hip replacement may lead to increased FDG uptake and retention in the treated joint following the surgery [28, 29].

Alternatively, radiation may affect mitochondrial structure and/or function [30]. Radiation exposure does alter mitochondrial membrane potential (see discussion of sestamibi below). If mitochondria are damaged such that they become inefficient at respiration, glucose uptake could be affected in two main ways. First, damaged, poorly functioning mitochondria may produce less ATP by oxidative phosphorylation. Increased glucose consumption may be required to produce energy by alternative means such as glycolysis. Inefficient respiration by damaged mitochondrial may also lead to chronic elevation in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Damage to the electron transport chain may cause electrons to react with oxygen prematurely. Transfer of four electrons to oxygen in the terminal step of electron transport creates water. Transfer of less than four electrons to oxygen creates unstable and ROS such as peroxides and superoxide. If radiotherapy alters mitochondrial efficiency, increased ROS production would lead to increased glucose consumption to create the NADPH needed as a cofactor for several types of enzymes acting to detoxify the ROS. Further discussions regarding mitochondrial function and oxidative stress in radiation and cancer biology have been reviewed previously [31]. A more detailed understanding of why tissues take up and retain glucose, and whether this uptake is increased in tissues experiencing greater toxicity remain topics for further investigation. Understanding these connections may allow clinical tools already in use, such as FDG-PET, to recognize radiotherapy toxicity, possibly allowing earlier and more effective amelioration.

10.5 Other PET Tracers

FDG is by far the most commonly used PET imaging agent. However, multiple other agents are being developed. The potential list of agents is virtually endless. For cancer staging and prognosis pretreatment, any biochemical pathway or chemical difference between normal and cancer tissue can provide a foundation for novel PET imaging agents. For normal tissue injury, ideal PET agents would involve pathways responsible for greater tissue damage and dysfunction. Hypoxic markers or clotting cascade participants may provide benefit. Since the mechanisms of tissue injury following irradiation are incompletely understood, novel PET agents may also provide an insight into which biochemical processes are most important in determining toxicity. For this promise to be realized, investigators developing novel PET agents must examine normal tissue uptake and correlate uptake with normal tissue toxicity as well as tumor response.

One potential new imaging agent is 18F-fluorothymidine (FLT) [32]. Like FDG, FLT contains an 18F isotope and lacks a hydroxyl group in a key position (3' on the deoxy ribose moiety). FLT is imported into cells similarly to thymidine, phosphorylated and retained inside the cell. Due to the lack of the 3' hydroxyl, FLT is catabolized more slowly than thymidine. FLT uptake may be more related to DNA synthesis and therefore may have a preferential uptake in cancer tissue. FLT is being developed to image a number of different cancers based on their avidity for thymidine and may serve as an excellent complement to FDG-PET.

Pretreatment proliferation rates and other tumor cell cycle kinetic markers have been investigated as potential means to individualize cancer treatment [33]. For example, more rapidly dividing tumors may benefit most from shortening the overall treatment time using accelerated fractionation. Unfortunately, pretreatment cell cycle kinetics have not been able to accurately identify which patients will benefit from more aggressive treatment [34]. Changes in proliferation and cell cycle kinetics following partial delivery of radiotherapy may be more informative. Ki67 is a cellular protein expressed almost exclusively during S-phase and is used as a marker of DNA replication. Valente et al. examined Ki67 in tumor biopsies before treatment and after 10 Gy (5 treatments of 2 Gy each) and correlated Ki67 levels with response to radiotherapy in 31 patients with locoregionally advanced head and neck cancer treated with radiotherapy [35]. There was no correlation with pretreatment Ki67 levels, but there was a significant association between changes in Ki67 and response to therapy. Greater decreases in Ki67 were associated with a higher likelihood of achieving a complete response. Zackrisson used in vivo cell cycle kinetic measures to determine changes following four treatments with radiotherapy in 33 head and neck cancer patients [36]. Subjects were infused with IdUdr and tumor biopsies taken 4–8.2 h after infusion and prior to treatment. Tumor biopsies were subjected to flow cytometry using labeled antibodies against IdUdr to determine the degree of IdUdr uptake into DNA to determine cell cycle kinetics. BrdUdr was infused and biopsies were taken before the fifth radiation treatment and again tumor biopsies obtained and analyzed for cell cycle kinetic parameters. Tumor biopsies showing decreases in the labeling index, a cell cycle parameter determined by the portion of tumor cells incorporating halogenated pyrimidine, of greater than 10% showed a statistically better survival than those with less change in the labeling index. These two studies suggest changes in cell cycle kinetics induced by radiotherapy may be predictive of long-term outcome and thereby serve as a means to individualize treatment, either intensifying therapy for poor responders or decreasing intensity for favorable responders.

Unfortunately, techniques to measure potential doubling times or tumor proliferation are cumbersome and have not gained widespread use. Imaging studies capable of providing tumor proliferation estimates may be more clinically useful. Changes in tumor proliferation rates in response to radiotherapy may also have prognostic value for the likelihood of achieving local tumor control. In addition, tumor response following treatment may be seen more quickly using FLT-PET than FDG-PET since DNA synthesis and replication may be more susceptible and respond more rapidly than glucose metabolism. Animal xenograft tumor models using both FDG and FLT to assess response to radiotherapy indeed show a more rapid change in FLT avidity than FDG avidity [37]. In other words, changes in tumor SUV are more rapid with FLT as the imaging agent than with FDG.

Menda et al. have examined changes in FLT uptake and retention using 18F-FLT PET in a group of eight patients with squamous cell cancer of the head and neck prior to therapy and after 1 week (of a 7-week course) of chemoradiotherapy. Tumor FLT uptake and retention measured both with Patlak analysis and SUV methods showed a significant decrease in both primary and nodal sites of disease.

The mean pretreatment SUV in cancer was 3.5 ± 0.5 . The SUV was reduced to 1.8 ± 1.1 following five daily radiation treatments of 2 Gy each for a total of 10 Gy. Patients also received one cycle of cisplatin chemotherapy. Retention appeared especially affected by radiotherapy since the second scan showed much greater efflux of FLT from tumor tissue than seen on the pretreatment scan. Further follow-up is necessary to determine if the degree of change in SUV following radiation predicts overall outcome of treatment [38].

Very few reports have investigated the effects of irradiation on FLT uptake and retention in normal tissues. The utility of FLT in assessing and predicting normal tissue injury warrants future investigation. As FLT is developed as a cancer imaging agent, the opportunity for use of FLT as a predictor and measure of normal tissue damage should also be assessed.

10.6 Normal Tissue Effects Seen by Techniques Other than PET

10.6.1 Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

Brain irradiation is useful in many settings, including treatment of primary and metastatic cancers as well as prophylactic treatment. Significant concern has been raised regarding the potential toxicity of brain radiotherapy and the potential loss in cognitive function [39]. Understanding the exact nature of the injury inflicted to normal brain following radiotherapy is essential to minimizing the consequences of brain radiotherapy. MRS holds great promise as a method able to provide information on the relative abundance of common biochemicals such as glutamine [40], glutathione [41, 42], choline, and creatine [43]. MRS is limited to detect biochemicals with relatively large, millimolar, concentrations. MRS is performed with the same equipment used to obtain magnetic resonance imaging. MRI and MRS have been used to distinguish between cancer recurrence and tumor necrosis after treatment of brain cancers [44]. The chemical signature provided by MRS adds predictive value to MRI.

MRS has also been applied to understanding changes in normal brain after radiotherapy. Atwood and coworkers have used MRS to analyze the effects of whole brain radiotherapy on rats 1 year after treatment [45]. They described several chemical changes. The most prominent findings were increases in glutamate + glutamine as well as γ -aminobutyric acid in irradiated brain tissue. Myoinositol levels were reduced in irradiated brains relative to nonirradiated controls. Significant functional changes in cognition may also be monitored by MRS. Using similar techniques, Atwood et al. again found biochemical changes 1 year after brain irradiation in rats [46]. Cognition was also altered in irradiated but not in nonirradiated groups 12 weeks after treatment. However, significant differences were seen in the irradiated group both by imaging and cognitive testing at 52 weeks, suggesting a temporal relationship between biochemical changes and cognitive function after brain irradiation. MRS may provide a powerful tool to explore these connections.

99-mTc sestamibi SPECT imaging: Tc-99m Sestamibi (MIBI) is a lipophilic cation used for SPECT imaging. Cellular uptake and of MIBI appears to depend on multiple factors, including extracellular concentration and both cellular and mitochondrial membrane potentials [47]. Cancer cell retention of MIBI can be lowered by export via multidrug resistance protein P-glycoprotein. MIBI is useful in assessing perfusion because better perfusion delivers a greater amount of MIBI to tissues, resulting in greater uptake. Historically, MIBI has been widely used to assess myocardial perfusion and health. However, since both heart disease and cancer are common diseases, the utility of MIBI in detecting cancer became apparent as cancers were found incidentally in patients undergoing MIBI scans for cardiac monitoring.

Several studies have confirmed the ability of MIBI to detect a variety of cancers. Indeed, MIBI is becoming a powerful technique to detect and stage breast cancer [48]. MIBI may also be useful in detecting response of a variety of cancers to treatment, allowing comparisons of pre- and posttreatment imaging. Khawar et al. described changes in MIBI imaging both within head and neck cancer and in adjacent normal parotid tissue after irradiation [49]. Shortly after a course of radiotherapy, tumor uptake and signal is significantly reduced in most but not all cancers. Further study is required to determine the relationship between MIBI changes and prognosis for head and neck cancer. Changes in MIBI uptake may also be useful in predicting the degree of injury to normal tissues such as parotid glands. MIBI has also been shown to reliably predict recurrence of nonsmall cell lung cancer following radiotherapy. Furuta et al. examined 18 patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer treated with radiotherapy [50]. All 18 patients were free from local failure as determined by chest radiographs at 1 year follow-up. One year after completing treatment, these patients underwent a sestamibi SPECT scan. Uptake of MIBI in the area irradiated lung compared to a contralateral region of normal lung was determined. The group of 18 was followed for another 18 months to determine clinical outcome. Nine of the 18 developed local recurrence after the MIBI scan. Eight of nine patients who ultimately developed a local recurrence had a treated to untreated lung ratio of MIBI uptake greater than 1.6. Eight of nine patients who maintained local control had a treated to untreated lung ratio of less than 1.5, suggesting MIBI may be very useful in predicting local failure following irradiation. MIBI has also been used to assess for radiation effects versus recurrence in brain tumors [51]. The use of MIBI in cancer imaging is significant, and a thorough review of is beyond the scope of this chapter. However, the potential utility of this agent to assess normal tissue injury resulting from irradiation will be briefly discussed.

Cardiac toxicity occasionally results from radiotherapy for breast cancer to the left breast or chest wall. Radiotherapy to the left chest is associated with altered cardiac perfusion using MIBI and similar compounds. Prosnitz et al. examined 160 patients treated with radiotherapy for left-sided breast cancer using MIBI SPECT [52]. Forty-four patients underwent scans 3–6 years after treatment, providing a large group of long-term survivors. Among the 44 patients with long-term follow-up,

over half developed perfusion deficits; 52% at 3 years and 67% at 5 years. The risk of developing perfusion deficits was statistically associated with the volume of left ventricle irradiated and the location of the perfusion deficit was anatomically coincident with the irradiation portals for most patients. The incidence of wall motion deficits and significant decreases in ejection fraction was very small and was not associated with perfusion deficits. Similar changes in cardiac perfusion have been described for patients undergoing radiotherapy for esophageal cancer [53]. These studies highlight the utility of monitoring normal tissue toxicity, at least for the heart, with MIBI SPECT scans. MIBI may therefore be useful to both monitor for tumor recurrences and cardiac toxicity following radiotherapy to the chest.

The biochemical basis for MIBI uptake and retention is related, at least in part to mitochondrial function, number, and membrane potential. Furata has shown that irradiating lung cancer cells in vitro causes a dose-dependent increase in mitochondrial membrane potential 1 h after treatment using both MIBI and DiOC6, a fluorescent dye specific for mitochondrial membrane potential [54]. The uptake of DiOC6 and MIBI both decreased by 8 h after treatment, suggesting initial mitochondrial injury followed by dysfunction. How normal tissues other than heart respond to radiotherapy remains an open question. If MIBI SPECT imaging is able to provide information on mitochondrial number and function, it may provide complementary data in combination with FDG-PET. For example, the increased glucose uptake seen by FDG-PET in tissues suffering greater damage following radiotherapy may have damaged mitochondria. The damaged mitochondria would be expected to show decreased MIBI uptake relative to comparable unirradiated normal tissue. In light of the mitochondrial changes described with MIBI, the changes in glucose utilization associated with toxicity as seen by FDG-PET, it may be worthwhile to more fully characterize normal tissue changes following radiation with MIBI.

10.7 Summary

Radiotherapy is based on generating high doses of ROS in treated tissue. It has been used for over 100 years to treat cancer. Until recently, assessing the effects of radiotherapy has been almost exclusively limited to changes in size of the treated tumor based on either physical exam or anatomic imaging. With the advent of functional imaging techniques such as fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) PET treatment response can now be assessed in terms of biochemical changes resulting from irradiation. Changes in metabolism as seen via functional imaging are indeed associated with toxicity of radiotherapy.

The primary concern of imaging after treatment is to determine the effects of irradiation on the cancer. However, these functional imaging techniques also provide the opportunity assess changes imparted to adjacent normal tissue. It is imperative that as new imaging techniques are developed, attention is paid not only to treatment effects on tumor, but also on normal tissue. In this way, we may best be able to develop more selective and effective treatments for our patients, increasing cure and QoL while decreasing toxicity.

References

- Yao M, Dornfeld KJ, Buatti JM, Skwarchuk M, Tan H, Nguyen T, Wacha J, Bayouth JE, Funk GF, Smith RB, Graham SM, Chang K, Hoffman HT (2005) Intensity-modulated radiation treatment for head-and-neck squamous cell carcinoma–the University of Iowa experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 63(2):410–21
- 2. Li Y, Taylor JM, Ten Haken RK, Eisbruch A (2007) The impact of dose on parotid salivary recovery in head and neck cancer patients treated with radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 67(3):660–9
- 3. Fu KK, Pajak TF, Trotti A, Jones CU, Spencer SA, Phillips TL, Garden AS, Ridge JA, Cooper JS, Ang KK (2000) A Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) phase III randomized study to compare hyperfractionation and two variants of accelerated fractionation to standard fractionation radiotherapy for head and neck squamous cell carcinomas: first report of RTOG 9003. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 48(1):7–16
- 4. Adelstein DJ, Lavertu P, Saxton JP, Secic M, Wood BG, Wanamaker JR, Eliachar I, Strome M, Larto MA (2000) Mature results of a phase III randomized trial comparing concurrent chemoradiotherapy with radiation therapy alone in patients with stage III and IV squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Cancer 88(4):876–83
- Pignon JP, Bourhis J, Domenge C, Designé L (2000) Chemotherapy added to locoregional treatment for head and neck squamous-cell carcinoma: three meta-analyses of updated individual data. MACH-NC Collaborative Group. Meta-Analysis of Chemotherapy on Head and Neck Cancer. Lancet 355(9208):949–55
- 6. Cooper JS, Pajak TF, Forastiere AA, Jacobs J, Campbell BH, Saxman SB, Kish JA, Kim HE, Cmelak AJ, Rotman M, Machtay M, Ensley JF, Chao KS, Schultz CJ, Lee N, Fu KK (2004) Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 9501/Intergroup. Postoperative concurrent radiotherapy and chemotherapy for high-risk squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med 350(19):1937–44
- Bernier J, Domenge C, Ozsahin M, Matuszewska K, Lefèbvre JL, Greiner RH, Giralt J, Maingon P, Rolland F, Bolla M, Cognetti F, Bourhis J, Kirkpatrick A, van Glabbeke M (2004) European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Trial 22931. Postoperative irradiation with or without concomitant chemotherapy for locally advanced head and neck cancer. N Engl J Med 350(19):1945–52
- Rosenthal DI, Lewin JS, Eisbruch A (2006) Prevention and treatment of dysphagia and aspiration after chemoradiation for head and neck cancer. J Clin Oncol 24(17):2636–43
- Karnell LH, Funk GF, Hoffman HT (2000) Assessing head and neck cancer patient outcome domains. Head Neck 22(1):6–11
- 10. Eisbruch A, Schwartz M, Rasch C, Vineberg K, Damen E, Van As CJ, Marsh R, Pameijer FA, Balm AJ (2004) Dysphagia and aspiration after chemoradiotherapy for head-and-neck cancer: which anatomic structures are affected and can they be spared by IMRT? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 60(5):1425–39
- 11. Dornfeld K, Simmons JR, Karnell L, Karnell M, Funk G, Yao M, Wacha J, Zimmerman B, Buatti JM (2007) Radiation doses to structures within and adjacent to the larynx are correlated with long-term diet- and speech-related quality of life. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 68(3):750–7
- Funk GF, Karnell LH, Christensen AJ, Moran PJ, Ricks J (2003) Comprehensive head and neck oncology health status assessment. Head Neck 25(7):561–75
- Feng FY, Kim HM, Lyden TH, Haxer MJ, Feng M, Worden FP, Chepeha DB, Eisbruch A (2007) Intensity-modulated radiotherapy of head and neck cancer aiming to reduce dysphagia: early dose-effect relationships for the swallowing structures. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 68(5):1289–98
- Caglar HB, Tishler RB, Othus M, Burke E, Li Y, Goguen L, Wirth LJ, Haddad RI, Norris CM, Court LE, Aninno DJ, Posner MR, Allen AM (2008) Dose to larynx predicts for swallowing complications after intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 72(4):1110–8

- 10 Functional Imaging in the Assessment of Normal Tissue Injury...
- 15. Yao M, Graham MM, Smith RB, Dornfeld KJ, Skwarchuk M, Hoffman HT, Funk GF, Graham SM, Menda Y, Buatti JM (2004) Value of FDG PET in assessment of treatment response and surveillance in head-and-neck cancer patients after intensity modulated radiation treatment: a preliminary report. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 60(5):1410–8
- Menda Y, Graham MM (2005) Update on 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose/positron emission tomography and positron emission tomography/computed tomography imaging of squamous head and neck cancers. Semin Nucl Med 35(4):214–9
- 17. Yao M, Smith RB, Graham MM, Hoffman HT, Tan H, Funk GF, Graham SM, Chang K, Dornfeld KJ, Menda Y, Buatti JM (2005) The role of FDG PET in management of neck metastasis from head-and-neck cancer after definitive radiation treatment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 63(4):991–9
- Andrade RS, Heron DE, Degirmenci B, Filho PA, Branstetter BF, Seethala RR, Ferris RL, Avril N (2006) Posttreatment assessment of response using FDG-PET/CT for patients treated with definitive radiation therapy for head and neck cancers. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 65(5):1315–22
- Dornfeld K, Hopkins S, Simmons J, Spitz DR, Menda Y, Graham M, Smith R, Funk G, Karnell L, Karnell M, Dornfeld M, Yao M, Buatti J (2008) Posttreatment FDG-PET uptake in the supraglottic and glottic larynx correlates with decreased quality of life after chemoradiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 71(2):386–92
- Guerrero T, Johnson V, Hart J, Pan T, Khan M, Luo D, Liao Z, Ajani J, Stevens C, Komaki R (2007) Radiation pneumonitis: local dose versus [18F]-fluorodeoxyglucose uptake response in irradiated lung. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 68(4):1030–5
- Hart JP, McCurdy MR, Ezhil M, Wei W, Khan M, Luo D, Munden RF, Johnson VE, Guerrero TM (2008) Radiation pneumonitis: correlation of toxicity with pulmonary metabolic radiation response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 71(4):967–71
- Hoopes DJ, Tann M, Fletcher JW, Forquer JA, Lin PF, Lo SS, Timmerman RD, McGarry RC (2007) FDG-PET and stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 56(2):229–34
- 23. Ishimori T, Saga T, Nagata Y, Nakamoto Y, Higashi T, Mamede M, Mukai T, Negoro Y, Aoki T, Hiraoka M, Konishi J (2004) 18F-FDG and 11C-methionine PET for evaluation of treatment response of lung cancer after stereotactic radiotherapy. Ann Nucl Med 18(8):669–74
- 24. Jingu K, Kaneta T, Nemoto K, Ichinose A, Oikawa M, Takai Y, Ogawa Y, Nakata E, Sakayauchi T, Takai K, Sugawara T, Narazaki K, Fukuda H, Takahashi S, Yamada S (2006) The utility of 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography for early diagnosis of radiation-induced myocardial damage. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 66(3):845–51
- Basu S, Chryssikos T, Moghadam-Kia S, Zhuang H, Torigian DA, Alavi A (2009) Positron emission tomography as a diagnostic tool in infection: present role and future possibilities. Semin Nucl Med 39(1):36–51
- 26. Nieuwenhuizen L, Verzijlbergen FJ, Wiltink E, Grutters JC, Biesma DH (2008) A possible role of 18F-FDG positron-emission tomography scanning in the early detection of rituximab-induced pneumonitis in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Haematologica 93(8):1267–9
- Buchler T, Bomanji J, Lee SM (2007) FDG-PET in bleomycin-induced pneumonitis following ABVD chemotherapy for Hodgkin's disease–a useful tool for monitoring pulmonary toxicity and disease activity. Haematologica 92(11):e120–1
- 28. Delank KS, Schmidt M, Michael JW, Dietlein M, Schicha H, Eysel P (2006) The implications of 18F-FDG PET for the diagnosis of endoprosthetic loosening and infection in hip and knee arthroplasty: results from a prospective, blinded study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 7:20
- Zhuang H, Chacko TK, Hickeson M, Stevenson K, Feng Q, Ponzo F, Garino JP, Alavi A (2002) Persistent non-specific FDG uptake on PET imaging following hip arthroplasty. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 10:1328–33
- Dayal D, Martin SM, Owens KM, Aykin-Burns N, Zhu Y, Boominathan A, Pain D, Limoli CL, Goswami PC, Domann FE, Spitz DR (2009) Mitochondrial complex II dysfunction can significantly contribute to genomic-instability following ionizing radiation. Radiat Res 172(6):737—745

- Azzam EI, Li JJ, Gius D (2004) Metabolic oxidation/reduction reactions and cellular responses to ionizing radiation: a unifying concept in stress response biology. Cancer and Metastasis Reviews 23:311–322
- 32. Bading JR, Shields AF (2008) Imaging of cell proliferation: status and prospects. J Nucl Med 49(Suppl 2):64S-80S
- Corvo R, Giaretti W, Sanguineti G et al (1995) In vivo cell kinetics in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas predicts local control and helps guide radiotherapy regimen. J Clin Oncol 13:1843–50
- 34. Dobrowsky W, Dobrowsky E, Wilson GD (2003) In vivo cell kinetic measurements in a randomized trial of continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy with or without mitomycin C in head-and-neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 55(3):576–82
- 35. Valente G, Orecchia R, Gandolfo S, Arnaudo M, Ragona R, Kerim S, Palestro G (1994) Can Ki67 immunostaining predict response to radiotherapy in oral squamous cell carcinoma? J Clin Pathol 47(2):109–12
- 36. Zackrisson B, Flygare P, Gustafsson H, Sjöström B, Wilson GD (2002) Cell kinetic changes in human squamous cell carcinomas during radiotherapy studied using the in vivo administration of two halogenated pyrimidines. Eur J Cancer 38(8):1100–6
- 37. Yang YJ, Ryu JS, Kim SY, Oh SJ, Im KC, Lee H, Lee SW, Cho KJ, Cheon GJ, Moon DH (2006) Use of 3'-deoxy-3'-[18F]fluorothymidine PET to monitor early responses to radiation therapy in murine SCCVII tumors. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 33(4):412–9
- Menda Y, Boles Ponto LL, Dornfeld KJ, Tewson T, Clark J, Richmond J, Watkins GL, Schultz M, Sunderland J, Graham M, Buatti J (2009) Kinetic analysis of 3-Deoxy-3'-[18F] Fluorothymidine (FLT) in head and neck cancer patients prior to and early after initiation of chemoradiation therapy. J Nucl Med 50(7):1028–1035
- Crossen JR, Garwood D, Glatstein E et al (1994) Neurobehavioral sequelae of cranial irradiation in adults: A review of radiation-induced encephalopathy. J Clin Oncol 12:627–642
- 40. Choi C, Coupland NJ, Bhardwaj PP, Malykhin N, Gheorghiu D, Allen PS (2006) Measurement of brain glutamate and glutamine by spectrally-selective refocusing at 3 Tesla. Magn Reson Med 55(5):997–1005
- 41. Satoh T, Yoshioka Y (2006) Contribution of reduced and oxidized glutathione to signals detected by magnetic resonance spectroscopy as indicators of local brain redox state. Neurosci Res 55(1):34–9
- 42. Terpstra M, Henry PG, Gruetter R (2003) Measurement of reduced glutathione (GSH) in human brain using LC Model analysis of difference-edited spectra. Magn Reson Med 50(1):19–23
- 43. Lyoo IK, Kong SW, Sung SM, Hirashima F, Parow A, Hennen J, Cohen BM, Renshaw PF (2003) Multinuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy of high-energy phosphate metabolites in human brain following oral supplementation of creatine-monohydrate. Psychiatry Res 123(2):87–100
- 44. Zeng QS, Li CF, Liu H, Zhen JH, Feng DC (2007) Distinction between recurrent glioma and radiation injury using magnetic resonance spectroscopy in combination with diffusion-weighted imaging. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 68(1):151–8
- Atwood T, Robbins ME, Zhu JM (2007) Quantitative in vivo proton MR spectroscopic evaluation of the irradiated rat brain. J Magn Reson Imaging 26(6):1590–5
- 46. Atwood T, Payne VS, Zhao W, Brown WR, Wheeler KT, Zhu JM, Robbins ME (2007) Quantitative magnetic resonance spectroscopy reveals a potential relationship between radiation-induced changes in rat brain metabolites and cognitive impairment. Radiat Res 168(5):574–81
- Del Vecchio S, Salvatore M (2004) 99mTc-MIBI in the evaluation of breast cancer biology. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 31(Suppl 1):S88–96
- Kim IJ, Kim SJ, Kim YK (2008) Comparison of double phase Tc-99m MIBI and Tc-99m tetrofosmin scintimammography for characterization of breast lesions: visual and quantitative analyses. Neoplasma 55(6):526–31
- 49. Khawar A, Rafique MA, Jafri RA, Saeed S (2008) Role of Tc99m MIBI SPECT in the assessment of treatment response in pharyngeal carcinoma. Ann NY Acad Sci 1138:50–7

- 10 Functional Imaging in the Assessment of Normal Tissue Injury...
- Furuta M, Nozaki M, Kawashima M, Iimuro M, Kitazumi Y, Okayama A, Natsui S, Hamashima Y, Nagao K (2003) 99mTc-MIBI scintigraphy for early detection of locally recurrent nonsmall cell lung cancer treated with definitive radiation therapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 30(7):982–7
- 51. Palumbo B, Lupattelli M, Pelliccioli GP, Chiarini P, Moschini TO, Palumbo I, Siepi D, Buoncristiani P, Nardi M, Giovenali P, Palumbo R (2006) Association of 99mTc-MIBI brain SPECT and proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (1H-MRS) to assess glioma recurrence after radiotherapy. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 50(1):88–93
- 52. Prosnitz RG, Hubbs JL, Evans ES, Zhou SM, Yu X, Blazing MA, Hollis DR, Tisch A, Wong TZ, Borges-Neto S, Hardenbergh PH, Marks LB (2007) Prospective assessment of radiotherapy-associated cardiac toxicity in breast cancer patients: analysis of data 3 to 6 years after treatment. Cancer 110(8):1840–50
- 53. Gayed IW, Liu HH, Yusuf SW, Komaki R, Wei X, Wang X, Chang JY, Swafford J, Broemeling L, Liao Z (2006) The prevalence of myocardial ischemia after concurrent chemoradiation therapy as detected by gated myocardial perfusion imaging in patients with esophageal cancer. J Nucl Med 47(11):1756–62
- Furuta M, Nozaki M, Kawashima M, Iimuro M, Okayama A, Fukushima M, Natsui S, Souma R, Jinnai M (2004) Monitoring mitochondrial metabolisms in irradiated human cancer cells with (99m)Tc-MIBI. Cancer Lett 212(1):105–11

Part IV Oxidative Stress in Tumor Response (Clinical)

Chapter 11 Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors, Oxidative Stress, and Multiple Myeloma Therapy

Rentian Feng and Suzanne Lentzsch

Abstract Multiple myeloma (MM) is a hematologic malignancy characterized by dysregulated proliferation of plasma cells. Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibition results in the accumulation of acetylated nucleosomal histones and induces differentiation and apoptosis in transformed cells. HDAC inhibitors (HDACi) induce oxidative stress, DNA damage, and mitochondrial damage/dysfunction in myeloma cells. The release of apoptogenic factors from mitochondria leads to cell death. Synergistic antimyeloma activity of a combination regimen of HDACi with other agents was observed, in which increased oxidative stress plays a major role. A preclinical animal model also showed a strong inhibition of myeloma tumor growth and prolonged survival by KD5170 monotherapy. These findings indicate HDACi are promising anti-MM agents, mediated by gene modulation and induction of oxidative stress and subsequent apoptosis.

Abbreviations

ATMAtaxia telangiectasia mutatedHDACHistone deacetylaseHDACiHistone deacetylase inhibitors

R. Feng, PhD

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Drug Discovery Institute, University of Pittsburgh School of Pharmacy, 3501 Terrace Street, Salk Hall, 541A, Pittsburgh, PA 15261, USA

Division of Hematology/Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

S. Lentzsch, MD, PhD (🖂) UPMC Cancer Pavilion, #568, 5150 Centre Avenue, Pittsburgh, PA 15232, USA

Division of Hematology/Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA, USA e-mail: lentzschs@upmc.edu

JNK	c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase
MM	Multiple myeloma
Mn-TBAP	Manganese(III) meso-tetrakis (4-benzoic acid)porphyrin
NAC	N-Acetyl-cysteine (NAC)
ROS	Reactive oxygen species

11.1 Introduction

Multiple myeloma (MM) is the second most prevalent hematological malignancy, characterized by aberrant proliferation of terminally differentiated plasma cells and impairment in apoptosis capacity. While recent advances in the knowledge and treatment of MM have been made, it is still an incurable disease with a median survival of 3–5 years [10]. Over the last several years, a diverse spectrum of novel agents has shown therapeutic potential in myeloma including thalidomide, lenalidomide, arsenic trioxide, and bortezomib, but high relapse rates, drug toxicity, and resistance continue to call for novel effective compounds with unique targets in the treatment of MM. HDAC inhibitors (HDACi) represents a novel therapeutic strategy for MM treatment. This review focuses on the role of oxidative stress induced by HDACi resulting in MM cell death.

Histone deacetylase (HDAC) are divided into several classes, among which class I (HDAC1-3 and HDAC8) and II (HDAC4-7 and HDAC9-10) stereostructurally have a catalytic pocket containing a zinc ion required for the deacetylation reaction. The sides of the pocket are more hydrophobic, allowing the insertion of a lysine side chain which is a substrate for acetylation. Aberrant altered activities of HDAC are associated with human hematologic malignancies [14, 27, 55]. A comprehensive screen of histone H4 modifications in human cancer cells revealed a global loss of both H4K16 monoacetylation and H4K20 trimethylation associated with the hypomethvlation of DNA repetitive sequences, which appeared early and accumulated during the tumorigenic process. This was postulated to contribute to genomic instability frequently observed in tumor cells [14]. Potent HDACi block access to the catalytic pocket thereby inhibiting deacetylation. High levels of acetylated nucleosomal histones may facilitate to keep "open" structures in the transcription sites and therefore regulate the accessibility of transcription factors to gene regulatory sequences. HDACi have pleotropic effects on a variety of nongenomic targets such as tubulin and heat shock proteins and facilitate the production of potentially toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS). Thus, ROS-induced oxidative stress represents not the whole but one extremely important mechanism of action of HDACi in the treatment of cancers.

Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) is the first FDA-approved HDACi and is successfully used in the treatment of cutaneous lymphoma [34]. Several other novel HDACi such as LBH589 are in different phases of clinical trials [16]. Most of them show good tolerance and safety profiles in the phase I and II trials [58].

To identify HDACi, Feng et al. used an unbiased ultrahigh throughput screening biochemical screen of 600,000 compounds and identified a structurally novel mercaptoketone series of HDACi, among which the lead compound KD5170 was preclinically evaluated [11].

11.2 HDACi-Induced Oxidative Stress and Cell Death

11.2.1 Oxidative Stress and MM Cell Death

An excess of ROS occurs in the mitochondria if the cell is subjected to external stress such as chemical agents or a dysfunctional complex within the electron transport chain. While ROS undoubtedly can cause much general damage to the mitochondrial components, ROS may also have specific targets in cell death signaling pathways. Mounting evidence suggests that excess of ROS facilitates the detachment of cytochrome *c* from its membrane-anchoring cardiolipin and increases the mobilized pool of cytochrome *c*, which is a prerequisite for its release into the cytoplasm through the pores, created by proapoptotic Bcl-2 family members such as Bax. While the exact mechanism is not yet known, it was proposed that cardiolipin peroxidation induced by oxidative stress might have a critical role in this process [36]. In addition, ROS may also play an important role in the permeabilization of the membrane. On the other hand, the link between ROS production and the extrinsic death receptor pathway implies that chemical-induced intracellular ROS may in turn contribute to Fas receptor aggregation, which is critical for cell death (Fig. 11.1) [19].

Cellular oxidative stress induced by either endogenous ROS production via therapeutic/radiation treatment or exogenous imposition (such as addition of oxidant into the cell culture) can lead to MM cell death [20, 35]. Of particular note is that human myeloma cells (CD138⁺) are more sensitive to peroxide or chemotherapy-induced oxidative stress than their normal marrow leukocyte counterparts (CD138⁻) [11, 13, 20, 37]. This may represent a universal phenomenon for the sensitivities of transformed cells and their normal counterparts to oxidative injury-induced cellular component damage and cell death [12, 29, 49, 53, 56].

Different levels of thioredoxin and response to ROS in transformed and normal cells may partly explain this effect (see Sect. 11.2.3). Therefore, the induction of oxidative stress might be an effective and selective therapeutic strategy in MM. The observed selective cytotoxicity of HDACi in myeloma cells appears, at least in part, to be attributable to a generally heightened susceptibility of myeloma cells to HDACi-induced oxidative stressors [4, 5, 11, 13, 37].

11.2.2 HDACi-Induced Oxidative Stress

ROS accumulation has been described in malignant cells exposed to structurally diverse HDACi, including vorinostat, trichostatin A, sodium butyrate, MS275, and LAQ-824, and has been proposed as an underlying mechanism of HDACi-induced cell death. Feng et al. showed that ROS production as well as downstream events, including mitochondrial dysfunction and ceramide induction, caspase activation and apoptosis, were significantly diminished by the free radical scavengers such as *N*-acetyl-cysteine (NAC), indicating that oxidative damage represents a primary



Fig. 11.1 HDACi induced cell death through ROS production. One possible mechanism by which HDACi causes MM cell apoptosis is shown. HDACi enhances excess of ROS formation through inhibiting thioredoxin redox system by upregulation of TBP-2, which is an endogenous inhibitor of thioredoxin system. Excess of ROS may facilitate the detachment of cytochrome *c* from its membrane-anchoring cardiolipin via peroxidation of cardiolipin and increases the mobilized pool of cytochrome *c*, which is a prerequisite for its release into the cytoplasm through the pores created by proapoptotic Bcl-2 family members such as Bax. In addition, ROS may also damage mitochondrial membrane and induce membrane potential loss (MMP) that favors cytochrome *c* release. Death receptor aggregation may also result from ROS production and induce cell death through a different pathway

event in the induction of the apoptotic cascade. Furthermore, combination regimens of HDACi with other agents (such as doxorubicin, TRAIL, and bortezomib) also showed that oxidative stress plays a primary role in the synergistic or additive activity of these combinations against hematologic malignant cells (Fig. 11.2) [7, 11, 13, 25, 31, 44]. In contrast, some researchers proposed that the functional significance of HDACi-induced ROS production in human tumor cells may vary, and oxidative injury is necessary but not sufficient to trigger apoptosis in different cell types. Down-regulation of antiapoptotic molecules and/or up-regulation of proapoptotic signals are involved in ROS-induced cell death [45].

HDACi-induced ROS causes oxidative DNA damage. Levels of phosphorylated histone H2AX (γ -H2AX) and ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM), early markers of DNA damage, significantly increase as early as 0.5 h after the administration of HDACi and continue increasing for 24 h and beyond (Fig. 11.3a), but are markedly diminished by antioxidants NAC or manganese(III) meso-tetrakis (4-benzoic acid) porphyrin (Mn-TBAP) [11, 44]. It was reported that cytoplasmic translocation of histone H1.2 and activation of caspase-2 possesses important roles in nuclear DNA damage responses [23, 24]. Rosato et al. proposed that a low dose of HDACi LAQ-824 and fludarabine dramatically induced histone H1.2 release from the nucleus and cleavage of procaspase-2. This effect was largely abrogated by co-treatment of cells



Fig. 11.2 Intracellular generation of reactive oxygen species contributes to HDACi PXD101 and bortezomib (PS341)-mediated apoptosis in MM cells. (**a**) After preincubation with or without 5 mM *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) for 3 h, MM cells MM.1S were treated with 2 nM bortezomib, 250 nM PXD101, combination, or combination along with 5 nmol/l NAC for another 15 h. The cells displaying increased ROS production were determined by monitoring dihydroethidium staining analyzed by flow cytometry. (**b**) MM.1S cells were treated by combination of 2.5 nM bortezomib and 250 nM PXD101 in the absence or presence of NAC (5 or 10 mM) for 17 h. Cells exhibiting apoptotic morphology were determined by evaluating bis-benzamide Hoechst 33258-stained for nuclear fragmentation/condensation (as the *arrows* indicate). The data shown are representative of three independent experiments

with antioxidants, suggesting a critical role of HDACi-mediated ROS production in DNA damage through modulation of histone H1.2 release and caspase-2 activation [44]. More importantly, Gaymes et al. found that HDACi-induced DNA damage and apoptosis is significantly increased in hematologic malignant cells but not in normal cells such as peripheral blood lymphocytes [15], which is consistent with the production levels of ROS induced by HDACi in the neoplastic and normal cells [54].

Louis et al. described that HDACi-induced oxidative stress also results from pronounced depletion of glutathione that is associated with cell apoptosis [54]. Heme oxygenase-1, the inducible enzyme for degradation of heme to biliverdin in the cells, is a ubiquitous and redox-sensitive inducible stress protein. We found heme oxygenase-1 is induced by exposure to HDACi KD5170 in as little as 1 h and maintained thereafter for 16 h in U266 cells (Fig. 11.3b) [11].

Loss of mitochondrial membrane potential is the downstream event of increased oxidative stress in HDACi-treated cells, and often reflects increases in mitochondrial outer membrane permeability, which results in the release of proteins that trigger cell death (Fig. 11.3c) [11]. One of these proteins is cytochrome c, which together with caspase-9 and Apaf-1 constitutes the apoptosome, a macromolecular structure that causes activation of the effector caspase-3. By using the mitochondriasensitive dye, JC-1, which probes the changes of mitochondrial membrane potential,



Fig. 11.3 HDACi induces cell death through mitochondrial pathway by oxidative stress-induced MAPK activation and DNA damage in human MM cells. U266 cells were treated with KD5170 (0.75 μM) for the indicated time, whole cell lysates (**a**, **b**) or cytoplasmic fractions (**c**) were subjected to immunoblot assay and detected with indicated antibodies. β-Actin was used as loading control. (**d**) U266 cells were exposed to KD5170 (1 μM) for different hours. Percentages of the apoptotic cells with typical apoptotic nuclear morphology were determined by staining the cells with 10 μM Hoechst 33258 fluorochrome for 20 min. Nuclear morphologic changes of U266 cells before and after treatment (16 h) with KD5170 were shown in the *small windows*. **P*<0.05, with respect to vehicle control

Feng et al. showed that KD5170 treatment caused a loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in MM cell line U266 in a time-dependent manner (Fig. 11.4). The decline in membrane potential was detected as early as 6 h after treatment. Consistent with the lack of effect on apoptosis and caspase activation is the observation that KD5170 failed to induce mitochondrial depolarization in the HDACi-resistant cell line MM.1S (Fig. 11.4) [11]. This suggests that KD5170-induced loss of mitochondrial membrane potential may be an essential event for induction of cell death resulting in the release of the apoptogenic factors that reside in the mitochondria.

Feng et al. further described that HDACi-induced cell apoptosis occurs between 6 and 16 h after treatment (Fig. 11.3d), whereas ROS production occurred as early as 0.5 h and DNA damage at 2 h followed by mitochondrial membrane potential disruption. This suggests that HDACi-mediated ROS induction and DNA damage represented a cause rather than a consequence of mitochondrial membrane potential loss and cell death [11, 44].



Fig. 11.4 KD5170 induces loss of mitochondrial membrane potential. After exposure to KD5170 (0.75 μ M) for either 6 or 16 h, human multiple myeloma cell lines U266 (sensitive) and MM.1S cells (resistant) were stained with JC-1 (Molecular Probes) before flow cytometry analysis. Data analyses were done with CellQuest software by measuring both green (530F 15 nm; FL-1) and red (585 F 21 nm; FL-2) JC-1 fluorescence. Mitochondrial membrane potential loss was observed as the shift to lower JC-1 red fluorescence and/or an increase in JC-1 green fluorescence. At least 10,000 events were collected and counted per sample. The mitochondrial membrane potential disruptor, carbonyl cyanide 3-chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP), was used as a positive control and followed the same staining procedures. Representative histograms

11.2.3 Regulation of Oxidative Stress-Related Gene Expression by HDACi

Besides DNA damage induction, Fas receptor aggregation, and mitochondrial membrane potential dissipation, ROS also causes an imbalance in the intracellular redox state, disrupting the antioxidant defense mechanisms that usually control the ROS levels. As discussed above, HDACi regulate global gene expression. Proapoptotic proteins (Bax, Bak, Bim, TRAIL, etc.) and redox components (thioredoxin, thioredoxin-binding protein [TBP], glutaredoxin, etc.) are induced by HDACi, whereas antiapoptotic genes and angiogenic factors are repressed by treatment with SAHA [28]. Among those genes, the oxidative stress-related gene, thioredoxin, plays a critical role in HDACi-induced ROS production as well as cell death.

Thioredoxin, a small redox-active multifunctional protein, acts as a potent antioxidant and a redox regulator in cellular signal transduction. The thioredoxin system is a major antioxidant system integral to maintaining the intracellular redox state via thiol redox control. Thioredoxin protein regulates the activity of oxidative stress-related enzymes, counteracts oxidative stress by scavenging ROS, and directly inhibits proapoptotic proteins such as apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 [22, 46]. Cytoplasm and mitochondria contain equivalent thioredoxin systems and inhibition of either system can lead to activation of apoptotic signaling pathways. It was reported that HDACi SAHA may indirectly act as a thioredoxin system inhibitor. Studies in gene expression revealed that HDACi specifically transactivated TBP-2 (an inhibitor of the thioredoxin system) in various cancer cell types [3]. As a result, increased ROS is found in several cancer cell types treated with HDACi. Nonmalignant cells appear to compensate by over-expression of thioredoxin in response to the HDACi-induced ROS, but cancer cells do not. Thus, thioredoxin, independent of the caspase apoptotic pathway, is an important determinant of resistance of cells to HDACi-induced cell death [3, 44, 52]. Interestingly, like normal cells, many chemotherapy-resistant cancer cells also constitutionally express low levels of TBP-2 and high levels of thioredoxin, thereby reducing thioredoxin expression which could increase the sensitivity of the resistant cells to ROS-generating agents, such as cisplatin and doxorubicin, as well as hydrogen peroxide and UV irradiation. Cellular levels of thioredoxin thus appear to limit sensitivity to various ROS-generating anticancer drugs in cancer cells [1, 3, 39]. Therefore, thioredoxin/TBP-2 represents a novel redox target pathway for the development of drugs to treat therapy-resistant cancer types.

Preclinical studies show that MM and leukemia cells that are resistant to established cytotoxic agents are sensitive to HDACi treatment [5, 26, 37, 54, 59], and patients resistant to traditional therapies experienced clinical remission and symptomatic relief after receiving a combined regimen with HDACi [34, 57]. Excess of ROS formation to overcome drug-resistance in MM was also observed with other ROS-producing agents such as adaphostin and chaetocin [6, 20]. Although HDACiinduced oxidative stress and TBP/thioredoxin modulation may partially explain the synergistic effects of HDACi and other agents in the drug-resistant MM cells, it should be noted that other factors such as proapoptotic genes and repressed antiapoptotic proteins are also critical elements to facilitate the recovery of sensitivity of tumor cells to chemotherapy. In response to oxidative stress, MAPK members and p53/p21WAF1 pathway are usually activated [30, 48]. MAPK activation was also linked to the thioredoxin/TBP system [47]. Feng et al. investigated the effect of HDACi on downstream kinases of ROS-induced activation cascade. They found that MAPK p38 and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) are markedly phosphorylated as early as 1 h after HDACi treatment (Fig. 11.3b). As negative regulators of cell cycle progression, p53 and p21WAF1 are essential in oxidative stress-induced DNA damage and cell cycle arrest. Feng et al. also found that DNA damage-induced augmentation of p53–p21 signaling, as evidenced by p53 phosphorylation (Ser15) and up regulated p21, further contributes to PXD101/bortezomib-mediated cell cycle arrest and subsequent apoptosis [13]. These results are in accordance with other reports in which epigenetic regulation of p21WAF1 promoter was highly affected by HDACi [21, 32, 37, 42, 43]. HDACi-induced ROS might play a critical role in MAPK activation and p53/p21 upregulation [17]. On the other hand, p53 activation-induced gene spectrum revealed that redox-related genes, ROS formation, and oxidation degradation of mitochondrial components are the three-steps necessary to culminate in cell death [38].

11.3 Clinical and Translational Leads

MM is an incurable cancer of the plasma cell with high relapsed rate, which is associated with development of drug resistance in advanced stages. There are approximately 60,424 people in the USA living with MM and an estimated 19,900 new cases of MM will be diagnosed in the USA in 2007 (Facts 2007–2008, The Leukemia & Lymphoma Society). Though FDA-approved HDAC inhibitor SAHA shows anti-MM activity preclinically, and in clinical trials, concerns of poor pharmacokinetics and toxicity have been proposed [51]. Novel HDACi or combination regimens with other chemotherapeutic agents have been demonstrated to be an effective and selective approach to induce MM cell death, overcome drug resistance and prolong survival time in patients. Due to the promising preclinical activity of HDACi, numerous clinical trials have been initiated [41].

Phase I investigation with the combination of SAHA (vorinostat) and bortezomib in MM patients has been completed, with primary objectives of determination of the maximum tolerated dose of vorinostat and toxicity of the regimen when given together with bortezomib. Treatment repeated every 21 days for up to eight courses in the absence of disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. Recently, a Phase IIb study testing vorinostat in combination with bortezomib in MM treatment was initiated within the Multiple Myeloma Research Consortium. The study will assess the objective response rate as well as progression-free survival, overall survival, time to disease progression, and tolerability of the combination. Researchers predicted that vorinostat and bortezomib may help to overcome prior resistance of MM patients to bortezomib (http://www.themmrc.org/news_press/6.02.34.php; http://www.cancer. gov/clinicaltrials/MSGCC-GCC-0514).

Romidepsin (FK228) is another HDACi with novel cyclic peptide and is under investigation for the treatment of hematologic malignancies. An early phase I study demonstrated its efficacy and some durable responses with acceptable toxicity when combined with bortezomib [40]. The developer, Gloucester Pharmaceuticals, recently announced at the 50th ASH Annual Meeting the positive results from a phase I/II MM clinical trial using a combination of romidepsin, bortezomib, and dexamethasone in patients with relapsed or refractory MM. Combination treatment had an overall response rate of 85% (17/20). Four (20%) patients achieved a complete response (CR), two (10%) a very good partial response, six (30%) a partial response (PR), and five (25%) a minor response (MR). Five of six patients previously exposed to bortezomib responded in this study. The median time to progression for all patients was 7 months [18].

Another HDACi, LBH589 (panobinostat), has significant activity against MM cell lines, exerting cytotoxicity at <10 nM in MM cell lines resistant to conventional therapies. LBH589 causes cell apoptosis through the aggresome pathway [4]. A phase II study at a conservative dose (20 mg per day, thrice weekly) provided encouraging results with one durable VGPR and 3/38 disease stabilization, good tolerance and safety profiles, and warrant further clinical investigation [58].

11.4 Conclusions and Future Challenges

As an anticancer strategy, induction of ROS represents a promising therapeutic approach in cancer therapy [2, 8, 9, 33, 50]. An important attribute of HDACi is their ability to induce cancer cell death at concentrations at which normal cells are relatively unaffected. The unique modulation mechanism of the TBP-2/thioredoxin system in normal and tumor cells warrants more attention for the study of novel HDACi alone and in combination with other agents. Based on the knowledge of epigenetic mechanisms, the potential application of HDACi and demethylating agents should also be investigated.

References

- 1. Arner ES, Holmgren A (2000) Physiological functions of thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase. Eur J Biochem 267(20):6102–6109
- Ben-Yoseph O, Ross BD (1994) Oxidation therapy: the use of a reactive oxygen speciesgenerating enzyme system for tumour treatment. Br J Cancer 70(6):1131–1135
- Butler LM, Zhou X, Xu WS, Scher HI, Rifkind RA, Marks PA, Richon VM (2002) The histone deacetylase inhibitor SAHA arrests cancer cell growth, up-regulates thioredoxin-binding protein-2, and down-regulates thioredoxin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(18):11700–11705
- 4. Catley L, Weisberg E, Kiziltepe T, Tai YT, Hideshima T, Neri P, Tassone P, Atadja P, Chauhan D, Munshi NC, Anderson KC (2006) Aggresome induction by proteasome inhibitor bortezomib and alpha-tubulin hyperacetylation by tubulin deacetylase (TDAC) inhibitor LBH589 are synergistic in myeloma cells. Blood 108(10):3441–3449
- Catley L, Weisberg E, Tai YT, Atadja P, Remiszewski S, Hideshima T, Mitsiades N, Shringarpure R, LeBlanc R, Chauhan D, Munshi NC, Schlossman R, Richardson P, Griffin J, Anderson KC (2003) NVP-LAQ824 is a potent novel histone deacetylase inhibitor with significant activity against multiple myeloma. Blood 102(7):2615–2622
- Chandra J, Tracy J, Loegering D, Flatten K, Verstovsek S, Beran M, Gorre M, Estrov Z, Donato N, Talpaz M, Sawyers C, Bhalla K, Karp J, Sausville E, Kaufmann SH (2006) Adaphostininduced oxidative stress overcomes BCR/ABL mutation-dependent and -independent imatinib resistance. Blood 107(6):2501–2506
- Dai Y, Rahmani M, Dent P, Grant S (2005) Blockade of histone deacetylase inhibitor-induced RelA/p65 acetylation and NF-kappaB activation potentiates apoptosis in leukemia cells through a process mediated by oxidative damage, XIAP downregulation, and c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 activation. Mol Cell Biol 25(13):5429–5444
- Fang J, Deng D, Nakamura H, Akuta T, Qin H, Iyer AK, Greish K, Maeda H (2008) Oxystress inducing antitumor therapeutics via tumor-targeted delivery of PEG-conjugated D-amino acid oxidase. Int J Cancer 122(5):1135–1144
- 9. Fang J, Nakamura H, Iyer AK (2007) Tumor-targeted induction of oxystress for cancer therapy. J Drug Target 15(7–8):475–486
- 10. Feng R, Lentzsch S (2007) Treatment of multiple myeloma with SDX-308. Drug News Perspect 20(7):431–435
- 11. Feng R, Ma H, Hassig CA, Payne JE, Smith ND, Mapara MY, Hager JH, Lentzsch S (2008) KD5170, a novel mercaptoketone-based histone deacetylase inhibitor, exerts antimyeloma effects by DNA damage and mitochondrial signaling. Mol Cancer Ther 7(6):1494–1505
- Feng R, Ni HM, Wang SY, Tourkova IL, Shulin MR, Harada H, Yin XM (2007) Cyanidin-3rutinoside, a natural polyphenol antioxidant, selectively kills leukemic cells by induction of oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 282(May):13468–13476

- 11 Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors, Oxidative Stress...
- Feng R, Oton A, Mapara MY, Anderson G, Belani C, Lentzsch S (2007) The histone deacetylase inhibitor, PXD101, potentiates bortezomib-induced anti-multiple myeloma effect by induction of oxidative stress and DNA damage. Br J Haematol 139(3):385–397
- 14. Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Villar-Garea A, Boix-Chornet M, Espada J, Schotta G, Bonaldi T, Haydon C, Ropero S, Petrie K, Iyer NG, Perez-Rosado A, Calvo E, Lopez JA, Cano A, Calasanz MJ, Colomer D, Piris MA, Ahn N, Imhof A, Caldas C, Jenuwein T, Esteller M (2005) Loss of acetylation at Lys16 and trimethylation at Lys20 of histone H4 is a common hallmark of human cancer. Nat Genet 37(4):391–400
- 15. Gaymes TJ, Padua RA, Pla M, Orr S, Omidvar N, Chomienne C, Mufti GJ, Rassool FV (2006) Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDI) cause DNA damage in leukemia cells: a mechanism for leukemia-specific HDI-dependent apoptosis? Mol Cancer Res 4(8):563–573
- Glaser KB (2007) HDAC inhibitors: clinical update and mechanism-based potential. Biochem Pharmacol 74(5):659–671
- 17. Gong Y, Sohn H, Xue L, Firestone GL, Bjeldanes LF (2006) 3,3'-Diindolylmethane is a novel mitochondrial H(+)-ATP synthase inhibitor that can induce p21(Cip1/Waf1) expression by induction of oxidative stress in human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 66(9):4880–4887
- Harrison SJ, Quach H, Link E, Seymour JF, Ritchie DS, Ruell S, Dean J, Januszewicz H, Johnstone R, Neeson P, Dickinson M, Nichols J, Prince HM (2011) A high rate of durable responses with romidepsin, bortezomib, and dexamethasone in relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. Blood. [Epub ahead of print]
- Huang HL, Fang LW, Lu SP, Chou CK, Luh TY, Lai MZ (2003) DNA-damaging reagents induce apoptosis through reactive oxygen species-dependent Fas aggregation. Oncogene 22(50):8168–8177
- Isham CR, Tibodeau JD, Jin W, Xu R, Timm MM, Bible KC (2007) Chaetocin: a promising new antimyeloma agent with in vitro and in vivo activity mediated via imposition of oxidative stress. Blood 109(6):2579–2588
- Kaeser MD, Iggo RD (2004) Promoter-specific p53-dependent histone acetylation following DNA damage. Oncogene 23(22):4007–4013
- 22. Kaimul AM, Nakamura H, Masutani H, Yodoi J (2007) Thioredoxin and thioredoxin-binding protein-2 in cancer and metabolic syndrome. Free Radic Biol Med 43(6):861–868
- Konishi A, Shimizu S, Hirota J, Takao T, Fan Y, Matsuoka Y, Zhang L, Yoneda Y, Fujii Y, Skoultchi AI, Tsujimoto Y (2003) Involvement of histone H1.2 in apoptosis induced by DNA double-strand breaks. Cell 114(6):673–688
- Lassus P, Opitz-Araya X, Lazebnik Y (2002) Requirement for caspase-2 in stress-induced apoptosis before mitochondrial permeabilization. Science 297(5585):1352–1354
- 25. Louis M, Rosato RR, Battaglia E, Neguesque A, Lapotre A, Grant S, Bagrel D (2005) Modulation of sensitivity to doxorubicin by the histone deacetylase inhibitor sodium butyrate in breast cancer cells. Int J Oncol 26(6):1569–1574
- 26. Maiso P, Carvajal-Vergara X, Ocio EM, Lopez-Perez R, Mateo G, Gutierrez N, Atadja P, Pandiella A, San Miguel JF (2006) The histone deacetylase inhibitor LBH589 is a potent antimyeloma agent that overcomes drug resistance. Cancer Res 66(11):5781–5789
- Marks P, Rifkind RA, Richon VM, Breslow R, Miller T, Kelly WK (2001) Histone deacetylases and cancer: causes and therapies. Nat Rev Cancer 1(3):194–202
- 28. Marks PA (2007) Discovery and development of SAHA as an anticancer agent. Oncogene $26(9){:}1351{-}1356$
- Mazor D, Abucoider A, Meyerstein N, Kapelushnik J (2008) Antioxidant status in pediatric acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) and solid tumors: the impact of oxidative stress. Pediatr Blood Cancer 51(5):613–615
- McCubrey JA, Lahair MM, Franklin RA (2006) Reactive oxygen species-induced activation of the MAP kinase signaling pathways. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(9–10):1775–1789
- 31. Miller CP, Ban K, Dujka ME, McConkey DJ, Munsell M, Palladino M, Chandra J (2007) NPI-0052, a novel proteasome inhibitor, induces caspase-8 and ROS-dependent apoptosis alone and in combination with HDAC inhibitors in leukemia cells. Blood 110(1): 267–277

- 32. Mitsiades N, Mitsiades CS, Richardson PG, McMullan C, Poulaki V, Fanourakis G, Schlossman R, Chauhan D, Munshi NC, Hideshima T, Richon VM, Marks PA, Anderson KC (2003) Molecular sequelae of histone deacetylase inhibition in human malignant B cells. Blood 101(10):4055–4062
- Nathan CF, Cohn ZA (1981) Antitumor effects of hydrogen peroxide in vivo. J Exp Med 154(5):1539–1553
- 34. Olsen EA, Kim YH, Kuzel TM, Pacheco TR, Foss FM, Parker S, Frankel SR, Chen C, Ricker JL, Arduino JM, Duvic M (2007) Phase IIb multicenter trial of vorinostat in patients with persistent, progressive, or treatment refractory cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 25(21):3109–3115
- Orrenius S, Gogvadze V, Zhivotovsky B (2007) Mitochondrial oxidative stress: implications for cell death. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:143–183
- Ott M, Robertson JD, Gogvadze V, Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S (2002) Cytochrome c release from mitochondria proceeds by a two-step process. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(3):1259–1263
- 37. Pei XY, Dai Y, Grant S (2004) Synergistic induction of oxidative injury and apoptosis in human multiple myeloma cells by the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib and histone deacetylase inhibitors. Clin Cancer Res 10(11):3839–3852
- Polyak K, Xia Y, Zweier JL, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1997) A model for p53-induced apoptosis. Nature 389(6648):300–305
- 39. Powis G, Mustacich D, Coon A (2000) The role of the redox protein thioredoxin in cell growth and cancer. Free Radic Biol Med 29(3–4):312–322
- 40. Prince M, Quach H, Neeson P, Keegan M, Copeman M, Peinert S, Bishton M, Wolf M, Ritchie D, Seymour JF, Carney D, Westerman D, Harrison S (2007) Safety and efficacy of the combination of bortezomib with the deacetylase inhibitor romidepsin in patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma: preliminary results of a phase I trial, pp 1167–
- Rasheed WK, Johnstone RW, Prince HM (2007) Histone deacetylase inhibitors in cancer therapy. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 16(5):659–678
- 42. Richon VM, Sandhoff TW, Rifkind RA, Marks PA (2000) Histone deacetylase inhibitor selectively induces p21WAF1 expression and gene-associated histone acetylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(18):10014–10019
- 43. Rosato RR, Almenara JA, Grant S (2003) The histone deacetylase inhibitor MS-275 promotes differentiation or apoptosis in human leukemia cells through a process regulated by generation of reactive oxygen species and induction of p21CIP1/WAF1 1. Cancer Res 63(13):3637–3645
- 44. Rosato RR, Almenara JA, Maggio SC, Coe S, Atadja P, Dent P, Grant S (2008) Role of histone deacetylase inhibitor-induced reactive oxygen species and DNA damage in LAQ-824/fludarabine antileukemic interactions. Mol Cancer Ther 7(10):3285–3297
- 45. Rosato RR, Maggio SC, Almenara JA, Payne SG, Atadja P, Spiegel S, Dent P, Grant S (2006) The histone deacetylase inhibitor LAQ824 induces human leukemia cell death through a process involving XIAP down-regulation, oxidative injury, and the acid sphingomyelinase-dependent generation of ceramide. Mol Pharmacol 69(1):216–225
- 46. Saitoh M, Nishitoh H, Fujii M, Takeda K, Tobiume K, Sawada Y, Kawabata M, Miyazono K, Ichijo H (1998) Mammalian thioredoxin is a direct inhibitor of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase (ASK) 1. EMBO J 17(9):2596–2606
- 47. Schultze PC, Yoshioka J, Takahashi T, He Z, King GL, Lee RT (2004) Hyperglycemia promotes oxidativestress through inhibition of thioredoxin function by thioredoxin-interacting protein. J Biol Chem 279(29):30369–30374
- 48. Simbula G, Columbano A, Ledda-Columbano GM, Sanna L, Deidda M, Diana A, Pibiri M (2007) Increased ROS generation and p53 activation in alpha-lipoic acid-induced apoptosis of hepatoma cells. Apoptosis 12(1):113–123
- 49. Singh A, Boldin-Adamsky S, Thimmulappa RK, Rath SK, Ashush H, Coulter J, Blackford A, Goodman SN, Bunz F, Watson WH, Gabrielson E, Feinstein E, Biswal S (2008) RNAimediated silencing of nuclear factor erythroid-2-related factor 2 gene expression in non-small cell lung cancer inhibits tumor growth and increases efficacy of chemotherapy. Cancer Res 68(19):7975–7984

- 11 Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors, Oxidative Stress...
- 50. Stegman LD, Zheng H, Neal ER, Ben-Yoseph O, Pollegioni L, Pilone MS, Ross BD (1998) Induction of cytotoxic oxidative stress by D-alanine in brain tumor cells expressing Rhodotorula gracilis D-amino acid oxidase: a cancer gene therapy strategy. Hum Gene Ther 9(2):185–193
- Suzuki T, Miyata N (2005) Non-hydroxamate histone deacetylase inhibitors. Curr Med Chem 12(24):2867–2880
- Tonissen KF, Di Trapani G (2009) Thioredoxin system inhibitors as mediators of apoptosis for cancer therapy. Mol Nutr Food Res 53(1):87–103
- 53. Trachootham D, Zhou Y, Zhang H, Demizu Y, Chen Z, Pelicano H, Chiao PJ, Achanta G, Arlinghaus RB, Liu J, Huang P (2006) Selective killing of oncogenically transformed cells through a ROS-mediated mechanism by beta-phenylethyl isothiocyanate. Cancer Cell 10(3):241–252
- 54. Ungerstedt JS, Sowa Y, Xu WS, Shao Y, Dokmanovic M, Perez G, Ngo L, Holmgren A, Jiang X, Marks PA (2005) Role of thioredoxin in the response of normal and transformed cells to histone deacetylase inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(3):673–678
- 55. Urnov FD, Yee J, Sachs L, Collingwood TN, Bauer A, Beug H, Shi YB, Wolffe AP (2000) Targeting of N-CoR and histone deacetylase 3 by the oncoprotein v-erbA yields a chromatin infrastructure-dependent transcriptional repression pathway. EMBO J 19(15):4074–4090
- 56. Vibet S, Goupille C, Bougnoux P, Steghens JP, Gore J, Maheo K (2008) Sensitization by docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) of breast cancer cells to anthracyclines through loss of glutathione peroxidase (GPx1) response. Free Radic Biol Med 44(7):1483–1491
- 57. Warrell RP Jr, He LZ, Richon V, Calleja E, Pandolfi PP (1998) Therapeutic targeting of transcription in acute promyelocytic leukemia by use of an inhibitor of histone deacetylase. J Natl Cancer Inst 90(21):1621–1625
- 58. Wolf JL, Siegel D, Matous J, Lonial S, Goldschmidt H, Schmitt S, Vij R, De Malgalhaes-Silverman M, Abonour R, Jalaluddin M, Li M, Hazell K, Bourquelot PM, Mateos M-V, Anderson KC, Spencer A, Harousseau J-L, Blade J (2008) A phase II study of oral panobinostat (LBH589) in adult patients with advanced refractory multiple myeloma, Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 112: Abstract 2774
- 59. Yu C, Rahmani M, Conrad D, Subler M, Dent P, Grant S (2003) The proteasome inhibitor bortezomib interacts synergistically with histone deacetylase inhibitors to induce apoptosis in Bcr/Abl+cells sensitive and resistant to STI571. Blood 102(10):3765–3774

Chapter 12 Curcumin, Oxidative Stress, and Cancer Therapy

Heather C. Hatcher, Frank M. Torti, and Suzy V. Torti

Abstract Curcumin is the active ingredient in turmeric, a traditional herbal remedy and dietary spice. Curcumin has numerous beneficial medicinal properties, including cancer chemopreventive and cancer chemotherapeutic activity. Curcumin displays complex redox activity and functions as both pro- and antioxidant. These opposing activities are observed in cell-free systems, cultured cells, and in intact organisms. The redox properties of curcumin are a key feature of its activity and are due to the inherent chemical activities of the molecule, as well as its ability to induce multiple signaling pathways. This chapter provides an overview of the in vitro and in vivo studies that links curcumin's redox activity to its chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic effects. It also highlights the need for caution in combining curcumin with certain chemotherapies or in the setting of selected preexisting conditions.

H.C. Hatcher, PhD Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC 27157, USA

F.M. Torti, MD, MPH Department of Cancer Biology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC 27157, USA

Comprehensive Cancer Center, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC 27157, USA

S.V. Torti, PhD (⊠) Comprehensive Cancer Center, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC 27157, USA

Department of Biochemistry, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC 27157, USA e-mail: storti@wakehealth.edu

Abbreviations

AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AP-1	Activator protein-1
ARE	Antioxidant response elements
BaP	Benz-a-pyrene
BHA	Butylated hydroxyanisole
BHT	Butylated hydroxytoluene
CAT	Catalase
COX-1	Cyclooxygenase 1
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CuZnSOD	Copper zinc superoxide dismutase
CYPs	Cytochromes P450
DHC	Dihydrocurcumin
DMBA	Dimethylbenzanthracene
EPR	Electroparamagnetic spectroscopy
EpRE	Electrophile response element
ERK/MAPK	Extracellular signal-related kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase
Fe-NTA	Ferric nitriloacetic acid
GPx	Glutathione peroxidase
GSH	Glutathione
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
HO-1	Heme oxygenase-1
HNE	4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal
iNOS	Inducible form of nitric oxide synthase
Jak	Janus family of kinase
Keap1	Kelch-like ECH associating protein 1
LOOH	Lipid hydroperoxide
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinase
MnSOD	Manganese-containing superoxide dismutase
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NAC	N-acetyl-cysteine
ΝFκβ	Factor kappa B
Nrf2	Nuclear factor-erythroid 2-related factor 2
NQO1	NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase-1
ODC	Ornithine decarboxylase
8-OHdG	8-Hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine
PKC	Protein kinase C
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
THC	Tetrahydrocurcumin
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand

12.1 Introduction

In healthy oxygen-consuming organisms, a delicate balance exists between the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the antioxidant defense systems that control levels of ROS to minimize damage while still allowing essential oxidation reactions to remain functioning [1]. Chronic disturbance of this balance can contribute to the onset of cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, and respiratory diseases in addition to cancer and stroke. The social and economic impacts of these diseases are devastating as millions of people worldwide are affected each year [2].

Oxidative stress is defined as a state of diminished antioxidants and/or increased production of ROS. Oxidative stress is characteristic of many cancer cells [3]and fosters cancer development. For example, oxidative stress leads to direct oxidative modification of proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids [1], these damaged species may initiate malignant change. In addition, ROS act as second messengers in intracellular signaling cascades that can induce and maintain the oncogenic phenotype of cancer cells [1, 3–7]. To prevent redox imbalance, cellular defense mechanisms have evolved to manage exposure to ROS. These include antioxidant enzymes, such as the mitochondrial manganese-containing superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), cytosolic copper zinc superoxide dismutase (CuZnSOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and catalase (CAT). Nonenzymatic dietary antioxidants including ascorbic acid (Vitamin C), α -tocopherol (Vitamin E), glutathione (GSH), carotenoids, and flavonoids [6] also contribute to maintenance of redox balance.

Curcumin, a polyphenol and the active ingredient in the dietary spice turmeric (*Curcuma longa* Linn) (Fig. 12.1), is an ancient herbal remedy that is well documented for its medicinal properties in traditional medicines of China and India. As biomedical research has focused greater attention on natural and complementary medicines, numerous beneficial properties, including anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antidiabetic, antiangiogenic, cancer chemopreventive and cancer chemotherapeutic activity, have been linked to curcumin [8, 9]. Curcumin exhibits anticancer activity in vitro and in vivo, and is currently being tested in human clinical trials.

Curcumin displays complex redox activity and functions as both pro- and antioxidant in biological systems. These opposing activities are observed both in cell-free and in cell systems and are due to the inherent chemical activities of the molecule, as well as its ability to induce multiple signaling pathways. This chapter provides an overview of the extensive published literature that links curcumin's redox activity to its chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic effects. It also highlights the need for caution in combining curcumin with certain chemotherapies or in the setting of selected preexisting conditions.

12.2 Redox Activity of Curcumin in Cell-Free Systems

Early studies revealed that curcumin functions as an antioxidant. Liposomes were prepared and oxidized by iron/ascorbic acid [10]. Addition of curcumin reduced lipid peroxidation by 85%. In this assay, curcumin was as effective as BHA (butylated



Fig. 12.1 Curcuma longa (from Koehler's Medicinal-Plants)

hydroxyanisole, a common food preservative) and was more effective than equimolar concentrations of beta carotene or alpha tocopherol. Like alpha tocopherol, curcumin effectively scavenges peroxyl radicals, a property that would make it a likely candidate as chain breaking antioxidant [11]. Subsequent work confirmed these results [12] and further showed that curcumin inhibited formation of superoxide anion and hydroxyl radicals [13]. Similarly, using electroparamagnetic (EPR) spectroscopic techniques, curcumin was shown to be a potent singlet oxygen quencher at physiological or pharmacological concentration (2.75 μ M) in aqueous systems [14]. Pulse radiolysis studies, which offer a unique system to study reactions of short-lived free radicals in a micro to millisecond time scale, demonstrated that curcumin's free radical scavenging is preserved in liposomes and protects cell membranes from lipid peroxidation [11, 15]. Being more polar than curcumin, the phenoxyl radical may "travel" to the surface of the membrane, where it may be repaired by any water-soluble antioxidant [11, 16].

Typical extracts of *Curcuma longa* L. contain the structures I (curcumin), II (demethoxycurcumin), and III (Bis-demethoxycurcumin) (Fig. 12.2), of which I is the most common [17]. Reports conflict as to whether I or III is the most potent as



Fig. 12.2 Curcumin I, II, and III (curcumin, demethoxycurcumin, and bisdemethyoxy curcumin) and keto-enol tautomers of curcumin

an antioxidant and antitumor agent [9, 17, 18] (please see refs. [9, 19] for comprehensive curcumin chemistry). However, studies of the comparative antioxidant activity of curcumins I–III in reducing lipid peroxidation revealed that their order of potency was I>II>III [17].

Curcumin not only scavenges radicals but also directly inhibits enzymes that catalyze prooxidant pathways. For example, curcumins I–III inhibited the enzymatic activity of purified cyclooxygenase (COX) I by ~30%, and COX II by 80% [17], with all forms exhibiting approximately equivalent activity. By contrast, curcumin irreversibly inactivates thioredoxin reductase [20], which is an enzyme that catalyzes NADPH-dependent reduction of thioredoxins and is essential in substrate reduction, defense against oxidative stress, and redox regulation. Curcumin was found to bind to thioredoxin reductase and alkylate a critical cysteine residue, thus converting the activity of the enzyme to NADPH oxidase [20]. The authors postulated that this ability of curcumin to shift the activity of thioredoxin reductase from anti- to prooxidant may contribute to curcumin's anticancer activity, given the high expression of thioredoxin reductase in cancer and the enhanced sensitivity of cancer cells to oxidants.

Identification of the chemical moiety responsible for curcumin's redox activity has been the subject of active investigation. The phenolic hydroxy groups of curcumin have been proposed to play a significant role in curcumin's diverse antioxidant activity [21].

Jovanovic et al. [16, 22] indicated that hydrogen abstraction from the central CH_2 group also contributes to the remarkable antioxidant activity of curcumin. However, Barclay et al. suggested that the H atom from the phenolic OH is primarily responsible for curcumin's antioxidant activity, as results from their studies showed that the reaction medium is critical in determinations of antioxidant activities of phenols and that a relatively nonpolar medium such as styrene/chlorobenzene is preferable for the measurement of such antioxidant activities [23]; therefore, they and others conclude that the phenolic groups play the predominant role in the antioxidant activity of curcumin [23–25].

Metabolites of curcumin may contribute to curcumin's antioxidant activity. Pharmacologic studies of intestinal metabolites in humans and rats demonstrated that, following oral dosing, curcumin is transformed to curcumin glucuronide and curcumin sulfate as well as reduced to dihydrocurcumin (DHC), tetrahydrocurcumin (THC), hexahydrocurcumin, octahydrocurcumin, and hexahydrocurcuminol [26–30]; curcumin, DHC, and THC can be further converted in monoglucuronide conjugates [30, 31]. Since some of these metabolites, such as THC, possess anti-inflammatory [32] and antioxidant [33, 34] activity, they may be relevant to curcumin's biological activity [9].

12.3 Redox Activity of Curcumin in Cellular Systems and Animal Models

Considerable evidence exists to suggest that the cancer-related activities of curcumin may be linked to its known antioxidant and prooxidant properties. With respect to its antioxidant activity, curcumin has been reported to be a potent inhibitor of ROS formation in vivo as well as in cell-free systems [35–40]. For example, treatment of mice with 1% curcumin in the diet almost completely inhibited Fe-NTA (ferric nitriloacetic acid)-induced protein oxidation as monitored by the formation of protein reactive carbonyl contents in the kidney [41]. Similarly, pretreatment of rats with curcumin at a dose of 200 mg/kg/day orally attenuated gentamicin-induced increases in both plasma and kidney malondialdehyde (MDA), as well as lipid hydroperoxide (LOOH) formation [36]. Curcumin's antioxidant activity seems to be mediated by an ability to both scavenge ROS [11, 14, 39, 42–45] and activate endogenous antioxidant mechanisms that reduce the cellular levels of ROS [35–38, 46–50].

It is also well described that curcumin can act as a prooxidant to increase cellular levels of ROS [37, 51–63]. Curcumin induced apoptosis through the generation of ROS in a rat histiocytoma AK-5 [55] and human renal carcinoma Caki cells [64], as well as in human tumor cell lines established from malignancies such as leukemia, breast, colon, hepatocellular, and ovarian carcinomas, whereas cell lines

from lung, kidney, prostate, cervix, central nervous system malignancies, and melanomas showed resistance to the cytotoxic effects of curcumin [65]. In another study using cultured human leukemia cells, HL60, curcumin was shown to act as a prooxidant by forming ROS through the reduction of copper; moreover, the ensuing curcumin-mediated apoptosis was closely related to the increase in the concentrations of ROS in cells [54]. Interestingly, nontransformed cell lines were unaffected by curcumin treatment and showed neither ROS generation nor the induction of a stress response [65].

A number of in vivo studies have indicated that the antioxidant effects of curcumin are preceded by an oxidative stimulus, which is dose and time dependent [36, 66–68]. For example, exposure of myelomonocytic U937 cells to curcumin resulted in a time- and dose-dependent increase in ROS and decreased cell viability [69]. In another study, Kang et al. observed a significant decrease in the levels of ROS in human hepatoma Hep3B cells treated for 8 h with curcumin at concentrations of 10 and 20 μ M; however, at 25, 50, and 100 μ M, curcumin induced a significant increase in the cellular levels of ROS, which was dose- and time-dependent [57]. Therefore, experimental data would suggest curcumin at low concentrations will exert antioxidant activity, while higher curcumin concentrations may produce prooxidant effects.

The ability of curcumin to increase cellular levels of ROS may be related to its ability to selectively target cancer cells [61, 70–73]. Cancer cells produce higher levels of hydrogen peroxide compared to nonmalignant cells; thus, cancer cells are constantly under oxidative stress [74, 75]. Increasing hydrogen peroxide beyond the threshold would become cytotoxic to cancer cells but not normal cells [5, 76, 77]. Therefore, specific concentrations of curcumin could yield increased cellular levels of hydrogen peroxide and produce selective killing of cancer cells [46] and spare normal cells which are less sensitive to curcumin-induced ROS.

Several studies have shown that the prooxidant activity of curcumin facilitates the anticancer effects of radiotherapy and chemotherapy [78–90]. Recently, curcumin has been shown to be a potent radiosensitizer in two cervical tumor cell lines, HeLa and SiHa, while having no effect in normal cells [79]. Pretreatment with 10 μ M curcumin before radiation dramatically increased ROS levels (approximately sixfold) compared with radiation alone (approximately threefold) [79]. Curcumin may also function as a chemosensitizer, enhancing the activity of other antineoplastic agents, in part by inhibiting pathways that lead to treatment resistance [88]. For example, curcumin-induced ROS was shown to be critical in mediating the upregulation of death receptor 5 (DR5) to render human prostate tumor cells more sensitive to the cytotoxic activities of TRAIL (TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand) [91]. Concentrations of curcumin that induce an elevation in the cellular levels of ROS facilitate the anticancer effects of radiotherapy and chemotherapy and lead to cellular damage and ultimately cause cell death.

In noncancer cells, curcumin exhibits an opposite effect, reducing the activity of radiation and several chemotherapeutic agents [92–100]. This dual activity may contribute to curcumin's beneficial effects in vivo. For example, when cultured human lymphocytes were pretreated with curcumin prior to γ -irradiation, there was a significant decrease in lipid peroxidation and improved antioxidant status preventing

damage to lymphocytes [98]. The authors suggested that curcumin administration prior to radiation therapy may be useful to cancer patients to prevent normal cell damage. Thus, the studies described in this section illustrate that curcumin can behave as both a prooxidant and antioxidant depending on its concentration and cellular redox status.

12.4 Modulation of Cellular Redox Status Through Effects on Signaling Pathways

Considerable evidence suggests that the anticancer activities associated with curcumin relate to its ability to suppress signaling pathways important in acute and chronic inflammation [101] as well as its prooxidant properties [46]. Chronic inflammation is widely accepted as a risk factor for cancer development with evidence supporting the occurrence of elevated DNA damage by ROS in inflammation-related cancer [4]. Moreover, a tumor itself often induces an inflammatory response, which may or may not promote tumor development depending on tumor type [102]. ROS have been shown to activate numerous cellular targets and pathways including nuclear factor kappa B (NFκβ) [103], activator protein-1 (AP-1) [104], matrix metalloproteinase (MMPs) [105], tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) [106], Akt [107, 108], the oncogenes ras, src, and myc [109-114], and the extracellular signal-related kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase (ERK/MAPK), PI3K/Akt, and janus family of kinase (Jak)-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathways [108, 115, 116]. As a modulator of cellular levels of ROS, curcumin has been shown to disrupt these cellular targets and signaling pathways [9, 117, 118]. The following section highlights several studies which link the chemotherapeutic properties of curcumin with specific signaling pathways mediated by oxidant stress.

12.4.1 NF KB

Curcumin modulates the expression of NF κ B and NF κ B-downstream targets including the inflammatory proteins cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and inducible form of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), MMPs, and TNF- α [119]. NF κ B plays a critical role in signal transduction pathways involved in chronic and acute inflammatory diseases and various cancers [120–123]. The NF κ B proteins reside in the cytoplasm in an inactive state and are translocated to the nucleus following activation, which is dependent upon the activation of various kinases and the phosphorylation and degradation of I κ B α , the NF κ B cytoplasmic inhibitor [124]. In vitro studies have shown that curcumin reduces COX-2 expression by inhibiting TNF- α -induced NF κ B activation in human colon epithelial cells [125], and inhibits TNF-dependent NF κ B activation in human myeloid ML-1a cells [126], as well as activation induced by various other agents including phorbol ester and hydrogen

peroxide. Treatment of human cervical carcinoma cells for 24 h with curcumin at doses of 50–100 μ M downregulated COX-2 and iNOS [127]. Curcumin has been shown to suppress NF- κ B activation in human leukemia cells [128, 129], human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells [130, 131], human colorectal adenocarcinoma cells [124]; human pancreatic cells [132], and human melanoma cells [133] by inhibiting the phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of I κ B α . Suppression of NF- κ B activation by curcumin could be reversed by reducing agents [119]; thus, it is possible that curcumin's strong antioxidant activity inhibits NF- κ B activation by scavenging ROS, thereby altering the redox status of cancer cells.

12.4.2 Akt/mTOR

Several recent studies have shown that curcumin targeting of the mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) pathway represents a potential mechanism of its anticancer activity [81, 134–137]. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway plays a central role in regulation of multiple critical cellular functions including stress responses, cell growth and survival, and metabolism [138]. Interestingly, a number of proteins regulated by mTOR, such as cyclin D1, ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), c-myc, NFkB, Akt, and protein kinase C (PKC), are also targeted by curcumin [134]. In human renal carcinoma cells (Caki), the expression and phosphorylation of Akt in Caki cells were significantly decreased in response to curcumin [62]. Treatment with an antioxidant, N-acetyl-cysteine (NAC), inhibited curcumin-induced apoptosis and prevented the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria, suggesting a role for ROS in this process [62]. Recently, curcumin has been shown to inhibit phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/ mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) signaling in various tumor cells [139]. Curcumin inhibited IGF-I-stimulated phosphorylation of S6K1 and 4E-BP1, the two best characterized downstream effector molecules of mTOR, in a dose-dependent manner, starting at 200 nM in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells [134]. This inhibition of cell proliferation occurred through a p53-independent mechanism; thus, by primarily targeting mTOR signaling pathways, curcumin may have potential applications as a chemotherapeutic agent against p53 mutant tumor cells, which are resistant to irradiation therapy or other chemotherapies [134].

12.4.3 Nrf2

A potential molecular target for curcumin's chemopreventive activity is nuclear factor-erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a key transcription regulator for antioxidant and detoxification enzymes, including heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) [140]. Nrf2 is sequestered in the cytoplasm by an actin-binding protein, Kelch-like ECH associating protein 1 (Keap1), and upon exposure of cells to oxidative stress and certain

chemopreventive agents, such as curcumin, Nrf2 dissociates from Keap1, translocates to the nucleus, binds to antioxidant response elements (ARE), and transactivates phase II detoxifying and antioxidant genes [141, 142]. Curcumin has been reported to induce (HO-1), a ubiquitous and redox-sensitive inducible stress protein [49, 143] and a potential therapeutic target in a variety of oxidant- and inflammatorymediated diseases [143]. HO-1 protein expression as well as activity was upregulated via induction of Nrf2 following orally administered curcumin in rats challenged with the hepatocarcinogen dimethylnitrosamine (DMN) [140]. Additionally, curcumin treatment led to an increase in nuclear accumulation of Nrf2, Nrf2-ARE binding and increased activities of phase II detoxifying enzymes such as glutathione S-transferase (GST) and NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase-1 (NQO1) in liver and lungs of mice exposed to the carcinogen benz-a-pyrene (BaP) [144]. Curcumin administration induced Nrf2-ARE/EpRE (electrophile response element) signaling by stimulating the upstream kinases through phosphorylation or oxidizing the cysteine thiol of Keap1 [140]. Because curcumin bears two α,β -unsaturated carbonyl moieties, it can act as a Michael reaction acceptor; therefore, it is possible that the presence of these electrophilic carbonyl moieties could directly interact with a critical cysteine thiol of Keap1, lowering its affinity for Nrf2, releasing Nrf2 for nuclear translocation [140]. The results of these studies imply that dietary curcumin induces phase II detoxifying enzymes involved in the detoxification of carcinogens.

12.5 Oxidant Stress and the Anticancer Activity of Curcumin

An individual's sensitivity to environmental carcinogens is in part due to differences in the relative levels of their phase I and phase II xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes [1]. Phase I reactions will make the toxin metabolically active, often done by cytochromes P450 (CYPs), which add polar functional groups onto the toxin [1]. Phase II reactions involve conjugation of the phase I reaction product or the xenobiotic directly, for example, the conjugation of glutathione (GSH) catalyzed by glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) [1] to protect cells from stress by detoxifying carcinogens or reducing oxidant stress [145]. Curcumin has been shown to inhibit procarcinogen activating phase I enzymes, such as cytochrome P4501A1 [146]. Curcumin blocked the carcinogen activation pathway mediated by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) in MCF-7 mammary epithelial carcinoma cells and appears to be a natural, dietary ligand of the AhR [146]. Curcumin inhibited the activation of the mammary carcinogen dimethylbenzanthracene (DMBA), both by competing with DMBA for the Ah receptor (involved in expression of CYP1A1, the gene that encodes the phase I enzyme cytochrome P4501A) and by competitively inhibiting cytochrome P4501A enzymatic activity [146]. In a separate study, curcumin inhibited benzo(a)pyrene (BaP)-induced forestomach cancer in mice [147]. The mechanism proposed again involved activity of hepatic CYP 1A1, which activates BaP to the DNA-reactive diol epoxide. Curcumin increased in GSTs and epoxide hydrolase which are important in detoxifying the BP diol epoxide [147]. According to some investigators, both
hydroxyl and β -diketone groups of curcumin are involved in curcumin-mediated induction of phase II detoxification enzymes [148]. Thus, the chemopreventive properties of curcumin may be linked to its ability to both inhibit phase I carcinogen activation and stimulate phase II detoxification activation pathways [146].

12.6 Inhibition of ROS by Metal Chelation

Curcumin also binds metals, and this can contribute to both its pro- and antioxidant activity. Curcumin binds Fe-III [149], and the redox cycling of bound iron may foster Fenton chemistry [51, 52, 150, 151]. Curcumin has been shown to act as an iron chelator in vivo [152, 153], and to the extent that it can reduce systemic iron, may also mitigate iron-catalyzed formation of ROS. In cultured rat liver epithelial cells, curcumin reduced iron-dependent oxidative stress and iron toxicity without blocking iron uptake or bioavailability [154]. The chemical properties of curcumin are consistent with iron chelator activity [149], and our laboratory has recently observed that liver cells treated with curcumin exhibit hallmarks of iron depletion, including decreases in the iron storage protein ferritin, increases in TfR1, and activation of iron regulatory proteins [152]. Curcumin also acts as an iron chelator in vivo, particularly in the setting of mild iron deficiency [152, 153]. Under these conditions, dietary curcumin exerted profound effects on systemic iron, inducing a decline in hematocrit, hemoglobin, serum iron and transferrin saturation, the appearance of hypochromic red blood cells, and decreases in spleen and liver iron content [153]. Curcumin also repressed synthesis of hepcidin, a peptide that plays a central role in regulation of systemic iron balance [153]. Consistent with these reports, curcumin reduced non-transferrin-bound iron in a mouse model of β -thallassemia [155]. In another animal study, curcumin was shown to attenuate iron-induced oxidative damage caused by Fe-NTA, a kidney-specific carcinogen [41]. Feeding mice a 1.0% curcumin diet for 4 weeks abolished the formation of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE)modified protein adducts, 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG), and protein reactive carbonyl in renal proximal tubules of Fe-NTA-treated animals [41]. Both antioxidant and iron chelating properties may underlie the protective effect of curcumin against these early markers of renal carcinogenesis, and support its potential as a cancer chemopreventive agent [41].

12.7 Curcumin as an Anticancer Agent in Clinical Trials

Despite curcumin's relatively short biological half-life and low bioavailability after oral administration, multiple clinical trials investigating its potential chemotherapeutic activities are currently underway. To date, these studies have largely focused on pancreatic cancer, multiple myeloma, and colorectal cancer (Table 12.1). Centuries of use have proven that curcumin is remarkably well tolerated without apparent

Table 12.1 Clinical trials of curcun	nin and cancer				
					Clinical trials. gov identifier
Trial	Status of trial	Site	Disease target	Objective	or reference
Curcumin in preventing colorectal cancer in patients undergoing	Recruiting	University Hospitals, Leicester	Colorectal cancer	Phase I: prevention- determining levels of	NCT00973869
colorectal endoscopy or colorectal surgery				curcumin in colorectal tissue, blood, and urine	
Curcumin with preoperative	Recruiting	M.D. Anderson	Rectal cancer	Phase II: clinical benefit	NCT00745134
capecuation and radiation therapy followed by surgery for rectal cancer		Cancel Center		or curcumm with standard radiation therapy and capecitabine	
Curcumin in preventing	Active, not	Chao Family	Colorectal cancer	Phase II: prevention – effect of	NCT00365209
colon cancer in smokers with aberrant crypt foci	recruiting	Comprenensive Cancer Center:		curcumin on biomarkers	
		National Cancer Institute (NCI)		of colon cancer	
Trial of curcumin in advanced	Recruiting	M.D. Anderson	Pancreatic cancer	Phase II: clinical	NCT00094445
pancreatic cancer		Cancer Center		benefit of curcumin (8 g/day)	
Gemcitabine with curcumin	Recruiting	Rambam Health	Pancreatic cancer	Phase II: clinical	NCT00192842
for pancreatic cancer		Care Campus		benefit of curcumin plus gemcitabine	
Phase III trial of gemcitabine,	Not yet recruiting	Tel-Aviv Sourasky	Colon neoplasm	Phase III: clinical benefits	NCT00295035
curcumin and celebrex in patients with metastatic colon cancer		Medical Center, Israel		of gemcitabine plus curcumin and celebrex	
Curcumin for the prevention	Completed	University of Michigan	Colorectal cancer	Phase I: pharmacokinetics,	NCT00027495
of colon cancer		Cancer Center, National Cancer Institute (NCI)		MTD in healthy subjects	

244

ase III trial of gemcitabine, curcumin and celebrex in patients with advance or inoperable pancreatic cancer	Recruiting	Tel-Aviv Sourasky Medical Center	Pancreatic cancer	Phase III: clinical benefits of gemcitabine plus curcumin curcumin and celebrex in pancreatic cancer	NCT00486460
se of curcurnin for treatment of intestinal adenomas in familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP)	Recruiting	University of Puerto Rico	Familial adenomatous polyposis and colorectal cancer	Effect of curcumin on formation of multiple adenomatous colorectal polyps	NCT00927485
llindac and plant compounds in preventing colon cancer	Suspended	Rockefeller University	Colorectal cancer	Prevention – effect of curcumin on biomarkers of colon epithelial cell turnover	NCT00003365
rrcumin (diferuloy]methane derivative) with or without bioperine in patients with multiple myeloma	Completed	M.D. Anderson Cancer Center	Multiple myeloma	Clinical benefit of curcumin alone or combined (2 g po bid) with bioperine	NCT00113841
rrcumin for the chemoprevention of colorectal cancer	Recruiting	University of Pennsylvania	Colorectal cancer	Phase II: effect of curcumin (4 g po daily) on cell prolifera- tion in colorectal mucosa of subjects with previously resected adenomatous colonic polyps	NCT00118989
ial of curcumin in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma patients	Not yet recruiting	M.D. Anderson Cancer Center	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma	Phase II: safety and efficacy of curcumin (~8 g/day, orally) to decrease the size of lesions and/or decrease itching in patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma	NCT00969085
					(continued)

Table 12.1 (continued)					
Trial	tatus of trial	Site	Disease target	Objective	Clinical trials. gov identifier or reference
Pilot study of curcumin formulation and ashwagandha extract in advanced osteosarcoma	Recruiting	Tata Memorial Hospital, India	Osteosarcoma	Phase I/II: pharmacokinetics	NCT00689195
Curcumin for prevention of oral R mucositis in children chemotherapy	Recruiting	Hadassah Medical Organization, Israel	Chemotherapy induced mucositis	Phase III: effect of curcumin mouthwash in prevention and reduction of mucosal injury	NCT00475683

toxicity in animals [156] or humans [157], even at high doses. Phase I studies have shown that curcumin can be administered safely at oral doses of up to 8 g/day [14, 15, 158, 159]; furthermore, curcumin administered to patients with high risk or premalignant lesions showed improvement in some cases, including one patient with bladder cancer, two patients with intestinal metaplasia of the stomach, one patient with uterine cervical intraepithelial neoplasm (CIN) and two patients with Bowen's disease, a neoplastic skin disease [158].

An independent dose-escalation study on 15 patients with advanced colorectal cancer was conducted in the UK [160] in which patients consumed a single daily dose of 440–2,200 mg of curcuma long extract, equivalent to 36–180 mg curcumin, for up to 4 months. The treatment was well tolerated and there was no dose-limiting toxicity. Consistent with earlier reports, neither curcumin nor its metabolites were detected in the plasma, blood cells or blood lipoproteins after a month of daily treatment. Curcumin was not detected in the urine, but both curcumin and curcumin sulfate were present in feces. Stable disease was observed in five patients receiving 2–4 months of therapy.

Importantly, several effects of curcumin on redox-sensitive pathways observed in vitro have been recapitulated in these human trials, underscoring the critical role of these pathways in curcumin's biological activity. For example, a phase II study in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer again showed that despite its limited absorption, curcumin had biological activity as evidenced by the antitumor effects noted in two patients and by effects on cytokine levels and on NF- κ B, COX-2, and pSTAT3 [161]. The majority of the patients showed downregulation of NF- κ B and COX-2 after treatment with curcumin [161], consistent with earlier preclinical studies [126, 129, 162]. In most patients, curcumin treatment also led to a decrease in constitutive pSTAT3 activation, in agreement with earlier studies in human multiple myeloma cells showing that curcumin can modulate pSTAT3 activation [163].

12.8 Detrimental Effects of Curcumin Redox Activity

Although the redox activity of curcumin is linked to many of its beneficial cancer preventative and cancer therapeutic effects [8, 54, 68], recent evidence suggests that the redox activity of curcumin can also be detrimental in selected tissue environments.

For example, in a transgenic mouse model of lung cancer that expresses the human Ki-*ras*^{G12C} allele, treatment with the lung tumor promoter butylated hydroxy-toluene (BHT) and dietary curcumin caused a statistically significant increase in tumor multiplicity when compared to BHT alone [164]. Enhanced oxidative damage was observed in the lung tissue after only a week of curcumin administration in the diet [164]. Therefore, the early prooxidant effect may account for the tumor-promoting effects of curcumin in lung tissue [164]. Curcumin may also inhibit the activity of chemotherapeutic agents, as it was shown that it inhibited camptothe-cin-induced death of cultured breast cancer cells through inhibition of ROS generation, and attenuated cyclophosphamide-induced breast tumor regression in

nude mice [99]. Thus, screening patients for future trials of curcumin-based chemoprevention trials may warrant the exclusion of those patients who have a history of smoking [164] as well as exclusion of breast cancer patients receiving selected chemotherapeutic agents [99].

12.9 Conclusions

Curcumin exhibits complex redox activity and can act as both a pro-and antioxidant. These effects derive from inherent properties of the molecule itself, as well as its ability to affect multiple signaling pathways that respond to or mediate redox balance. Both pro- and antioxidant activity contribute to the salutatory effects of curcumin as a chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic agent. For example, the ability of curcumin to active ARE/EpRE-driven expression of cytoprotective phase 2 enzymes may contribute to its chemopreventive effect; conversely, curcumin's ability to exacerbate oxidative stress in cancer cells, which are inherently more oxidatively stressed than normal cells, may contribute to curcumin's activity as an anticancer agent.

Initial results demonstrating activation of redox-modulated pathways such as NF-kB in patients treated with curcumin [162] indicate that redox activities of curcumin and its metabolites are a central aspect of its activity in vivo, and are not just an in vitro curiosity. Future studies will be required to test the relationship between clinical outcome and expression of markers such as NF-kB, pSTAT3, and COX-2 in patients treated with curcumin. It may also be interesting to test whether NF-kB-dependent induction of systemic cytokines can be used as a surrogate marker of curcumin chemopreventive activity in longer-term chemoprevention trials. Finally, despite the intense current interest in curcumin as a well-tolerated chemotherapeutic agent, studies suggesting that the redox activity of curcumin can be detrimental as well as beneficial, and in oxygen-rich tissues may lead to the promotion rather than prevention of malignant change, should not be ignored. The redox properties of curcumin are a key feature of its activity and should be borne in mind when designing clinical trials of this promising anticancer agent.

Acknowledgments Supported in part by grants R37 DK42412 (FMT) and R01DK071892 (SVT).

References

- 1. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM (2007) Free radicals in biology and medicine. Oxford University Press, New York
- Bengmark S, Mesa MD, Gil A (2009) Plant-derived health: the effects of turmeric and curcuminoids. Nutr Hosp 24:273–281
- Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, Izakovic M, Mazur M (2006) Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. Chem Biol Interact 160:1–40

12 Curcumin, Oxidative Stress, and Cancer Therapy

- 4. Halliwell B (2007) Oxidative stress and cancer: have we moved forward? Biochem J 401:1-11
- 5. Lopez-Lazaro M (2007) Dual role of hydrogen peroxide in cancer: possible relevance to cancer chemoprevention and therapy. Cancer Lett 252:1–8
- Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MT, Mazur M, Telser J (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39:44–84
- Burdon RH (1995) Superoxide and hydrogen peroxide in relation to mammalian cell proliferation. Free Radic Biol Med 18:775–794
- Duvoix A, Blasius R, Delhalle S, Schnekenburger M, Morceau F, Henry E, Dicato M, Diederich M (2005) Chemopreventive and therapeutic effect of curcumin. Cancer Lett 223:181–190
- Hatcher H, Planalp R, Cho J, Torti FM, Torti SV (2008) Curcumin: from ancient medicine to current clinical trials. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:1631–1652
- Shalini VK, Srinivas L (1987) Lipid peroxide induced DNA damage: protection by turmeric (Curcuma longa). Mol Cell Biochem 77:3–10
- 11. Khopde S, Priyadarsini KI, Venkatesan P, Rao MN (1999) Free radical scavenging ability and antioxidant efficiency of curcumin and its substituted analogue. Biophys Chem 80:85–91
- 12. Reddy AC, Lokesh BR (1992) Studies on spice principles as antioxidants in the inhibition of lipid peroxidation of rat liver microsomes. Mol Cell Biochem 111:117–124
- Reddy A, Lokesh BR (1994) Effect of dietary turmeric (Curcuma longa) on iron-induced lipid peroxidation in the rat liver. Food Chem Toxicol 32:279–283
- Das KC, Das CK (2002) Curcumin (diferuloylmethane), a singlet oxygen ((1)O(2)) quencher. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 295:62–66
- Priyadarsini KI (1997) Free radical reactions of curcumin in membrane models. Free Radic Biol Med 23:838–843
- Jovanovic SV, Boone CW, Steenken S, Trinoga M, Kaskey RB (2001) How curcumin works preferentially with water soluble antioxidants. J Am Chem Soc 123:3064–3068
- Ramsewak RS, DeWitt DL, Nair MG (2000) Cytotoxicity, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of curcumins I–III from Curcuma longa. Phytomedicine 7:303–308
- Ruby A, Kuttan G, Babu KD, Rajasekharan KN, Kuttan R (1995) Anti-tumour and antioxidant activity of natural curcuminoids. Cancer Lett 94:79–83
- Strimpakos AS, Sharma RA (2008) Curcumin: preventive and therapeutic properties in laboratory studies and clinical trials. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:511–545
- 20. Fang J, Lu J, Holmgren A (2005) Thioredoxin reductase is irreversibly modified by curcumin: a novel molecular mechanism for its anticancer activity. J Biol Chem 280:25284–25290
- 21. Suzuki M et al (2005) Elucidation of anti-allergic activities of curcumin-related compounds with a special reference to their anti-oxidative activities. Biol Pharm Bull 28:1438–1443
- Jovanovic SV, Steenken S, Boone CW, Simic MG (1999) H-atom transfer is a preferred antioxidant mechanism of curcumin. J Am Chem Soc 121:9677–9681
- Barclay LR, Vinqvist MR, Mukai K, Goto H, Hashimoto Y, Tokunaga A, Uno H (2000) On the antioxidant mechanism of curcumin: classical methods are needed to determine antioxidant mechanism and activity. Org Lett 2:2841–2843
- Jovanovic S, Boone CW, Steenken S, Trinoga M, Kaskey RB (2001) How curcumin works preferentially with water soluble antioxidants. J Am Chem Soc 123:3064–3068
- Priyadarsini KI, Maity DK, Naik GH, Kumar MS, Unnikrishnan MK, Satav JG, Mohan H (2003) Role of phenolic O–H and methylene hydrogen on the free radical reactions and antioxidant activity of curcumin. Free Radic Biol Med 35:475–484
- 26. Ammon H, Wahl MA (1991) Pharmacology of Curcuma longa. Planta Med 57:1-7
- 27. Ireson C et al (2001) Characterization of metabolites of the chemopreventive agent curcumin in human and rat hepatocytes and in the rat in vivo, and evaluation of their ability to inhibit phorbol ester-induced prostaglandin E2 production. Cancer Res 61:1058–1064
- Ireson CR et al (2002) Metabolism of the cancer chemopreventive agent curcumin in human and rat intestine. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 11:105–111
- Rahman I, Biswas SK, Kirkham PA (2006) Regulation of inflammation and redox signaling by dietary polyphenols. Biochem Pharmacol 72:1439–1452

- Somparn P, Phisalaphong C, Nakornchai S, Unchern S, Morales NP (2007) Comparative antioxidant activities of curcumin and its demethoxy and hydrogenated derivatives. Biol Pharm Bull 30:74–78
- Lin JK, Pan MH, Lin-Shiau SY (2000) Recent studies on the biofunctions and biotransformations of curcumin. Biofactors 13:153–158
- Mukhopadhyay A, Basu N, Ghatak N, Gujral PK (1982) Anti-inflammatory and irritant activities of curcumin analogues in rats. Agents Actions 12:508–515
- Osawa T, Sugiyama Y, Inayoshi M, Kawakishi S (1995) Antioxidative activity of tetrahydrocurcuminoids. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 59:1609–1612
- Sugiyama Y, Kawakishi S, Osawa T (1996) Involvement of the beta-diketone moiety in the antioxidative mechanism of tetrahydrocurcumin. Biochem Pharmacol 52:519–525
- 35. Iqbal M, Sharma SD, Okazaki Y, Fujisawa M, Okada S (2003) Dietary supplementation of curcumin enhances antioxidant and phase II metabolizing enzymes in ddY male mice: possible role in protection against chemical carcinogenesis and toxicity. Pharmacol Toxicol 92:33–38
- Farombi EO, Ekor M (2006) Curcumin attenuates gentamicin-induced renal oxidative damage in rats. Food Chem Toxicol 44:1443–1448
- McNally SJ, Harrison EM, Ross JA, Garden OJ, Wigmore SJ (2007) Curcumin induces heme oxygenase 1 through generation of reactive oxygen species, p38 activation and phosphatase inhibition. Int J Mol Med 19:165–172
- Shen G et al (2006) Modulation of nuclear factor E2-related factor 2-mediated gene expression in mice liver and small intestine by cancer chemopreventive agent curcumin. Mol Cancer Ther 5:39–51
- Biswas SK, McClure D, Jimenez LA, Megson IL, Rahman I (2005) Curcumin induces glutathione biosynthesis and inhibits NF-kappaB activation and interleukin-8 release in alveolar epithelial cells: mechanism of free radical scavenging activity. Antioxid Redox Signal 7:32–41
- Venkatesan N, Punithavathi D, Arumugam V (2000) Curcumin prevents adriamycin nephrotoxicity in rats. Br J Pharmacol 129:231–234
- Iqbal M, Okazaki Y, Okada S (2009) Curcumin attenuates oxidative damage in animals treated with a renal carcinogen, ferric nitrilotriacetate (Fe-NTA): implications for cancer prevention. Mol Cell Biochem 324:157–164
- 42. Chattopadhyay I, Bandyopadhyay U, Biswas K, Maity P, Banerjee RK (2006) Indomethacin inactivates gastric peroxidase to induce reactive-oxygen-mediated gastric mucosal injury and curcumin protects it by preventing peroxidase inactivation and scavenging reactive oxygen. Free Radic Biol Med 40:1397–1408
- Manikandan P, Sumitra M, Aishwarya S, Manohar BM, Lokanadam B, Puvanakrishnan R (2004) Curcumin modulates free radical quenching in myocardial ischaemia in rats. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36:1967–1980
- Toniolo R, Di Narda F, Susmel S, Martelli M, Martelli L, Bontempelli G (2002) Quenching of superoxide ions by curcumin. A mechanistic study in acetonitrile. Ann Chim 92:281–288
- 45. Mishra B, Priyadarsini KI, Bhide MK, Kadam RM, Mohan H (2004) Reactions of superoxide radicals with curcumin: probable mechanisms by optical spectroscopy and EPR. Free Radic Res 38:355–362
- 46. Lopez-Lazaro M (2008) Anticancer and carcinogenic properties of curcumin: considerations for its clinical development as a cancer chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic agent. Mol Nutr Food Res 52(Suppl 1):S103–S127
- 47. Kempaiah RK, Srinivasan K (2004) Influence of dietary curcumin, capsaicin and garlic on the antioxidant status of red blood cells and the liver in high-fat-fed rats. Ann Nutr Metab 48:314–320
- Balogun E, Hoque M, Gong P, Killeen E, Green CJ, Foresti R, Alam J, Motterlini R (2003) Curcumin activates the haem oxygenase-1 gene via regulation of Nrf2 and the antioxidantresponsive element. Biochem J 371:887–895

- Motterlini R, Foresti R, Bassi R, Green CJ (2000) Curcumin, an antioxidant and antiinflammatory agent, induces heme oxygenase-1 and protects endothelial cells against oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 28(8):1303–1312
- Gaedeke J, Noble NA, Border WA (2005) Curcumin blocks fibrosis in anti-Thy 1 glomerulonephritis through up-regulation of heme oxygenase 1. Kidney Int 68:2042–2049
- Ahsan H, Hadi SM (1998) Strand scission in DNA induced by curcumin in the presence of Cu(II). Cancer Lett 124:23–30
- 52. Ahsan H, Parveen N, Khan NU, Hadi SM (1999) Pro-oxidant, anti-oxidant and cleavage activities on DNA of curcumin and its derivatives demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin. Chem Biol Interact 121:161–175
- 53. Fang JL, Lu J, Holmgren A (2005) Thioredoxin reductase is irreversibly modified by curcumin: a novel molecular mechanism for its anticancer activity. J Biol Chem 280:25284–25290
- Yoshino M et al (2004) Prooxidant activity of curcumin: copper-dependent formation of 8-hydroxy-2¢-deoxyguanosine in DNA and induction of apoptotic cell death. Toxicol In Vitro 18:783–789
- 55. Bhaumik S, Anjum R, Rangaraj N, Pardhasaradhi BV, Khar A (1999) Curcumin mediated apoptosis in AK-5 tumor cells involves the production of reactive oxygen intermediates. FEBS Lett 456:311–314
- Cao J, Jia L, Zhou HM, Liu Y, Zhong LF (2006) Mitochondrial and nuclear DNA damage induced by curcumin in human hepatoma G2 cells. Toxicol Sci 91:476–483
- 57. Kang J, Chen J, Shi Y, Jia J, Zhang Y (2005) Curcumin-induced histone hypoacetylation: the role of reactive oxygen species. Biochem Pharmacol 69:1205–1213
- Moussavi M, Assi K, Gomez-Munoz A, Salh B (2006) Curcumin mediates ceramide generation via the de novo pathway in colon cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 27:1636–1644
- Scott DW, Loo G (2004) Curcumin-induced GADD153 gene up-regulation in human colon cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 25:2155–2164
- 60. Su CC, Lin JG, Li TM, Chung JG, Yang JS, Ip SW, Lin WC, Chen GW (2006) Curcumininduced apoptosis of human colon cancer colo 205 cells through the production of ROS, Ca2+ and the activation of caspase-3. Anticancer Res 26:4379–4389
- Syng-Ai C, Kumari AL, Khar A (2004) Effect of curcumin on normal and tumor cells: role of glutathione and bcl-2. Mol Cancer Ther 3:1101–1108
- 62. Woo J, Kim YH, Choi YJ, Kim DG, Lee KS, Bae JH, Min DS, Chang JS, Jeong YJ, Lee YH, Park JW, Kwon TK (2003) Molecular mechanisms of curcumin-induced cytotoxicity: induction of apoptosis through generation of reactive oxygen species, down-regulation of Bcl-XL and IAP, the release of cytochrome c and inhibition of Akt. Carcinogenesis 24:1199–1208
- 63. Chan WH, Wu HY, Chang WH (2006) Dosage effects of curcumin on cell death types in a human osteoblast cell line. Food Chem Toxicol 44:1362–1371
- 64. Woo JH et al (2003) Molecular mechanisms of curcumin-induced cytotoxicity: induction of apoptosis through generation of reactive oxygen species, down-regulation of Bcl-XL and IAP, the release of cytochrome c and inhibition of Akt. Carcinogenesis 24:1199–1208
- 65. Khar A, Ali AM, Pardhasaradhi BV, Varalakshmi CH, Anjum R, Kumari AL (2001) Induction of stress response renders human tumor cell lines resistant to curcumin-mediated apoptosis: role of reactive oxygen intermediates. Cell Stress Chaperones 6:368–376
- Dutta S, Padhye S, Priyadarsini KI, Newton C (2005) Antioxidant and antiproliferative activity of curcumin semicarbazone. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 15:2738–2744
- 67. Galati G, Sabzevari O, Wilson JX, O'Brien PJ (2002) Prooxidant activity and cellular effects of the phenoxyl radicals of dietary flavonoids and other polyphenolics. Toxicology 177:91–104
- Kawanishi S, Oikawa S, Murata M (2005) Evaluation for safety of antioxidant chemopreventive agents. Antioxid Redox Signal 7:1728–1739
- Strasser EM, Wessner B, Manhart N, Roth E (2005) The relationship between the antiinflammatory effects of curcumin and cellular glutathione content in myelomonocytic cells. Biochem Pharmacol 70:552–559

- Choudhuri T, Pal S, Das T, Sa G (2005) Curcumin selectively induces apoptosis in deregulated cyclin D1-expressed cells at G2 phase of cell cycle in a p53-dependent manner. J Biol Chem 280:20059–20068
- Everett PC, Meyers JA, Makkinje A, Rabbi M, Lerner A (2007) Preclinical assessment of curcumin as a potential therapy for B-CLL. Am J Hematol 82:23–30
- 72. Jiang MC, Yang-Yen HF, Yen JJ, Lin JK (1996) Curcumin induces apoptosis in immortalized NIH 3T3 and malignant cancer cell lines. Nutr Cancer 26:111–120
- Ramachandran C, You W (1999) Differential sensitivity of human mammary epithelial and breast carcinoma cell lines to curcumin. Breast Cancer Res Treat 54:269–278
- Toyokuni S, Okamoto K, Yodoi J, Hiai H (1995) Persistent oxidative stress in cancer. FEBS Lett 358:1–3
- 75. Szatrowski TP, Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res 51:794–798
- Pelicano H, Carney D, Huang P (2004) ROS stress in cancer cells and therapeutic implications. Drug Resist Updat 7:97–110
- Renschler MF (2004) The emerging role of reactive oxygen species in cancer therapy. Eur J Cancer 40:1934–1940
- Bava SV, Puliappadamba VT, Deepti A, Nair A, Karunagaran D, Anto RJ (2005) Sensitization of taxol-induced apoptosis by curcumin involves down-regulation of nuclear factor-kappaB and the serine/threonine kinase Akt and is independent of tubulin polymerization. J Biol Chem 280:6301–6308
- 79. Javvadi P, Segan AT, Tuttle SW, Koumenis C (2008) The chemopreventive agent curcumin is a potent radiosensitizer of human cervical tumor cells via increased reactive oxygen species production and overactivation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. Mol Pharmacol 73:1491–1501
- Chendil D, Ranga RS, Meigooni D, Sathishkumar S, Ahmed MM (2004) Curcumin confers radiosensitizing effect in prostate cancer cell line PC-3. Oncogene 23:1599–1607
- Li M, Zhang Z, Hill DL, Wang H, Zhang R (2007) Curcumin, a dietary component, has anticancer, chemosensitization, and radiosensitization effects by down-regulating the MDM2 oncogene through the PI3K/mTOR/ETS2 pathway. Cancer Res 67:1988–1996
- Khafif A, Hurst R, Kyker K, Fliss DM, Gil Z, Medina JE (2005) Curcumin: a new radiosensitizer of squamous cell carcinoma cells. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 132:317–321
- Park K, Lee JH (2007) Photosensitizer effect of curcumin on UVB-irradiated HaCaT cells through activation of caspase pathways. Oncol Rep 17:537–540
- 84. Kamat AM, Sethi G, Aggarwal BB (2007) Curcumin potentiates the apoptotic effects of chemotherapeutic agents and cytokines through down-regulation of nuclear factor-kappaB and nuclear factor-kappaB-regulated gene products in IFN-alpha-sensitive and IFN-alpharesistant human bladder cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 6:1022–1030
- Du B, Jiang L, Xia Q, Zhong L (2006) Synergistic inhibitory effects of curcumin and 5-fluorouracil on the growth of the human colon cancer cell line HT-29. Chemotherapy 52:23–28
- 86. Hour T, Chen J, Huang CY, Guan JY, Lu SH, Pu YS (2002) Curcumin enhances cytotoxicity of chemotherapeutic agents in prostate cancer cells by inducing p21 (WAF1/CIP1) and C/EBPbeta expressions and suppressing NF-kappaB activation. Prostate 51:211–218
- Koo JY, Kim HJ, Jung KO, Park KY (2004) Curcumin inhibits the growth of AGS human gastric carcinoma cells in vitro and shows synergism with 5-fluorouracil. J Med Food 7:117–121
- Garg A, Cuchholz TA, Aggarwal BB (2005) Chemosensitization and radiosensitization of tumors by plant polyphenols. Antioxid Redox Signal 7:1630–1647
- Sen S, Sharma H, Singh N (2005) Curcumin enhances Vinorelbine mediated apoptosis in NSCLC cells by the mitochondrial pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 331:1245–1252
- 90. Kunnumakkara AB, Guha S, Krishnan S, Diagaradjane P, Gelovani J, Aggarwal BB (2007) Curcumin potentiates antitumor activity of gemcitabine in an orthotopic model of pancreatic cancer through suppression of proliferation, angiogenesis, and inhibition of nuclear factorkappaB-regulated gene products. Cancer Res 67:3853–3861

- Deeb D, Jiang H, Gao X, Divine G, Dulchavasky SA, Gautam SC (2005) Chemosensitization of hormone-refractory prostate cancer cells by curcumin to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. J Exp Ther Oncol 5:81–91
- van't Land B, Blijlevens NM, Marteijn J, Timal S, Donnelly JP, de Witte TJ, M'Rabet L (2004) Role of curcumin and the inhibition of NF-kappaB in the onset of chemotherapyinduced mucosal barrier injury. Leukemia 18:276–284
- Abraham S, Sarma L, Kesavan PC (1993) Protective effects of chlorogenic acid, curcumin and beta-carotene against gamma-radiation-induced in vivo chromosomal damage. Mutat Res 303:109–112
- Chan WH, Wu CC, Yu JS (2003) Curcumin inhibits UV irradiation-induced oxidative stress and apoptotic biochemical changes in human epidermoid carcinoma A431 cells. J Cell Biochem 90:327–338
- 95. Inano H, Makoto O, Inafuku N, Kubota M, Kamada Y, Osawa T, Kobayashi H, Wakabayashi K (2000) Potent preventive action of curcumin on radiation-induced initiation of mammary tumorigenesis in rats. Carcinogenesis 21:1835–1841
- 96. Inano H, Makoto O, Inafuku N, Kubota M, Kamada Y, Osawa T, Kobayashi H, Wakabayashi K (1999) Chemoprevention by curcumin during the promotion stage of tumorigenesis of mammary glank in rats irradiated with g-rays. Carcinogenesis 20:1011–1018
- 97. Okunieff P et al (2006) Curcumin protects against radiation-induced acute and chronic cutaneous toxicity in mice and decreases mRNA expression of inflammatory and fibrogenic cytokines. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 65:890–898
- Srinivasan M, Rajendra Prasad N, Menon VP (2006) Protective effect of curcumin on gamma-radiation induced DNA damage and lipid peroxidation in cultured human lymphocytes. Mutat Res 611:96–103
- Somasundaram S, Edmund NA, Moore DT, Small GW, Shi YY, Orlowski RZ (2002) Dietary curcumin inhibits chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in models of human breast cancer. Cancer Res 62:3868–3875
- 100. Antunes LM, Araujo MC, Darin JD, Bianchi ML (2000) Effects of the antioxidants curcumin and vitamin C on cisplatin-induced clastogenesis in Wistar rat bone marrow cells. Mutat Res 465:131–137
- 101. Shishodia S, Sethi G, Aggarwal BB (2005) Curcumin: getting back to the roots. Ann NY Acad Sci 1056:206–217
- 102. van Kempen LC, de Visser KE, Coussens LM (2006) Inflammation, proteases and cancer. Eur J Cancer 42:728–734
- Gloire G, Legrand-Poels S, Piette J (2006) NF-kappaB activation by reactive oxygen species: fifteen years later. Biochem Pharmacol 72:1493–1505
- 104. Wenk J, Brenneisen P, Wlaschek M, Poswig A, Briviba K, Oberley TD, Scharffetter-Kochanek K (1999) Stable overexpression of manganese superoxide dismutase in mitochondria identifies hydrogen peroxide as a major oxidant in the AP-1-mediated induction of matrix-degrading metalloprotease-1. J Biol Chem 274:25869–25876
- 105. Nelson KK et al (2003) Elevated sod2 activity augments matrix metalloproteinase expression: evidence for the involvement of endogenous hydrogen peroxide in regulating metastasis. Clin Cancer Res 9:424–432
- Haddad JJ, Land SC (2001) A non-hypoxic, ROS-sensitive pathway mediates TNF-alphadependent regulation of HIF-1alpha. FEBS Lett 505:269–274
- 107. Huang C, Li J, Ding M, Leonard SS, Wang L, Castranova V, Vallyathan V, Shi X (2001) UV Induces phosphorylation of protein kinase B (Akt) at Ser-473 and Thr-308 in mouse epidermal Cl 41 cells through hydrogen peroxide. J Biol Chem 276:40234–40240
- 108. Qin S, Chock PB (2003) Implication of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase membrane recruitment in hydrogen peroxide-induced activation of PI3K and Akt. Biochemistry 42:2995–3003
- Chen K, Vita JA, Berk BC, Keaney JF Jr (2001) c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation by hydrogen peroxide in endothelial cells involves SRC-dependent epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation. J Biol Chem 276:16045–16050

- 110. Joseph P, Muchnok TK, Klishis ML, Roberts JR, Antonini JM, Whong WZ, Ong T (2001) Cadmium-induced cell transformation and tumorigenesis are associated with transcriptional activation of c-fos, c-jun, and c-myc proto-oncogenes: role of cellular calcium and reactive oxygen species. Toxicol Sci 61:295–303
- 111. Li DW, Spector A (1997) Hydrogen peroxide-induced expression of the proto-oncogenes, c-jun, c-fos and c-myc in rabbit lens epithelial cells. Mol Cell Biochem 173:59–69
- 112. Maki A, Berezesky IK, Fargnoli J, Holbrook NJ, Trump BF (1992) Role of [Ca2+]i in induction of c-fos, c-jun, and c-myc mRNA in rat PTE after oxidative stress. FASEB J 6:919–924
- 113. Rao GN (1996) Hydrogen peroxide induces complex formation of SHC-Grb2-SOS with receptor tyrosine kinase and activates Ras and extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases group of mitogen-activated protein kinases. Oncogene 13:713–719
- 114. Suzaki Y et al (2002) Hydrogen peroxide stimulates c-Src-mediated big mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 (BMK1) and the MEF2C signaling pathway in PC12 cells: potential role in cell survival following oxidative insults. J Biol Chem 277:9614–9621
- 115. Cao Q, Mak KM, Ren C, Lieber CS (2004) Leptin stimulates tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 in human hepatic stellate cells: respective roles of the JAK/STAT and JAK-mediated H2O2-dependant MAPK pathways. J Biol Chem 279:4292–4304
- 116. Simon AR, Rai U, Fanburg BL, Cochran BH (1998) Activation of the JAK-STAT pathway by reactive oxygen species. Am J Physiol 275:C1640–C1652
- 117. Lin JK (2007) Molecular targets of curcumin. Adv Exp Med Biol 595:227-243
- 118. Surh YJ (2003) Cancer chemoprevention with dietary phytochemicals. Nat Rev Cancer 3:768–780
- 119. Shishodia S, Amin HM, Lai R, Aggarwal BB (2005) Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) inhibits constitutive NF-kappaB activation, induces G1/S arrest, suppresses proliferation, and induces apoptosis in mantle cell lymphoma. Biochem Pharmacol 70:700–713
- 120. Amit S, Ben-Neriah Y (2003) NF-kappaB activation in cancer: a challenge for ubiquitination- and proteasome-based therapeutic approach. Semin Cancer Biol 13:15–28
- 121. Baeuerle P, Henkel T (1994) Function and activation of NF-kappa B in the immune system. Annu Rev Immunol 12:141–179
- Barnes P, Karin M (1997) Nuclear factor-B a pivotal transcription factor in chronic inflammatory diseases. N Engl J Med 336:1066–1071
- Siebenlist U, Franzoso G, Brown K (1994) Structure, regulation and function of NF-kappa B. Annu Rev Cell Biol 10:405–455
- 124. Jobin C, Bradham CA, Russo MP, Juma B, Narula AS, Brenner DA, Sartor RB (1999) Curcumin blocks cytokine-mediated NF-kappa B activation and proinflammatory gene expression by inhibiting inhibitory factor I-kappa B kinase activity. J Immunol 163:3474–3483
- 125. Plummer SM, Holloway KA, Manson MM, Munks RJ, Kaptein A, Farrow S, Howells L (1999) Inhibition of cyclo-oxygenase 2 expression in colon cells by the chemopreventive agent curcumin involves inhibition of NF-kappaB activation via the NIK/IKK signalling complex. Oncogene 18:6013–6020
- Singh S, Aggarwal BB (1995) Activation of transcription factor NF-kB is suppressed by curcumin (diferulolylmethane). J Biol Chem 270:24995–25000
- 127. Singh M, Singh N (2009) Molecular mechanism of curcumin induced cytotoxicity in human cervical carcinoma cells. Mol Cell Biochem 325:107–119
- 128. Han S-S, Keum Y-S, Seo H-J, Surh Y-J (2002) Curcumin suppresses activation of NF-kB and AP-1 induced by phorbol ester in cultured human promyelocytic leukemia cells. J Biochem Molec Biol 35:337–342
- 129. Aggarwal S, Ichikawa H, Takada Y, Sandur SK, Shishodia S, Aggarwal BB (2006) Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) down-regulates expression of cell proliferation and antiapoptotic and metastatic gene products through suppression of IkappaBalpha kinase and Akt activation. Mol Pharmacol 69:195–206
- 130. Cohen AN, Veena MS, Srivatsan ES, Wang MB (2009) Suppression of interleukin 6 and 8 production in head and neck cancer cells with curcumin via inhibition of Ikappa beta kinase. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 135:190–197

- 12 Curcumin, Oxidative Stress, and Cancer Therapy
- 131. LoTempio MM et al (2005) Curcumin suppresses growth of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 11:6994–7002
- 132. Li L, Aggarwal BB, Shishodia S, Abbruzzese J, Kurzrock R (2004) Nuclear factor-kappaB and IkappaB kinase are constitutively active in human pancreatic cells, and their down-regulation by curcumin (diferuloylmethane) is associated with the suppression of proliferation and the induction of apoptosis. Cancer 101:2351–2362
- 133. Siwak DR, Shishodia S, Aggarwal BB, Kurzrock R (2005) Curcumin-induced antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects in melanoma cells are associated with suppression of IkappaB kinase and nuclear factor kappaB activity and are independent of the B-Raf/mitogen-activated/ extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase pathway and the Akt pathway. Cancer 104: 879–890
- 134. Beevers CS, Li F, Liu L, Huang S (2006) Curcumin inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin-mediated signaling pathways in cancer cells. Int J Cancer 119:757–764
- 135. Zhang H, Bajraszewski N, Wu E, Wang H, Moseman AP, Dabora SL, Griffin JD, Kwiatkowski DJ (2007) PDGFRs are critical for PI3K/Akt activation and negatively regulated by mTOR. J Clin Invest 117:730–738
- 136. Aoki H, Takada Y, Kondo S, Sawaya R, Aggarwal BB, Kondo Y (2007) Evidence that curcumin suppresses the growth of malignant gliomas in vitro and in vivo through induction of autophagy: role of Akt and extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling pathways. Mol Pharmacol 72:29–39
- 137. Shinojima N, Yokoyama T, Kondo Y, Kondo S (2007) Roles of the Akt/mTOR/p70S6K and ERK1/2 signaling pathways in curcumin-induced autophagy. Autophagy 3:635–637
- 138. Hennessy BT, Smith DL, Ram PT, Lu Y, Mills GB (2005) Exploiting the PI3K/AKT pathway for cancer drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:988–1004
- Yu S, Shen G, Khor TO, Kim JH, Kong AN (2008) Curcumin inhibits Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin signaling through protein phosphatase-dependent mechanism. Mol Cancer Ther 7:2609–2620
- 140. Farombi EO, Shrotriya S, Na HK, Kim SH, Surh YJ (2008) Curcumin attenuates dimethylnitrosamine-induced liver injury in rats through Nrf2-mediated induction of heme oxygenase-1. Food Chem Toxicol 46:1279–1287
- 141. Jeong WS, Jun M, Kong AN (2006) Nrf2: a potential molecular target for cancer chemoprevention by natural compounds. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:99–106
- 142. Lee JS, Surh YJ (2005) Nrf2 as a novel molecular target for chemoprevention. Cancer Lett 224:171–184
- 143. Scapagnini G, Foresti R, Calabrese V, Giuffrida Stella AM, Green CJ, Motterlini R (2002) Caffeic acid phenethyl ester and curcumin: a novel class of heme oxygenase-1 inducers. Mol Pharmacol 61:554–561
- 144. Garg R, Gupta S, Maru GB (2008) Dietary curcumin modulates transcriptional regulators of phase I and phase II enzymes in benzo[a]pyrene-treated mice: mechanism of its anti-initiating action. Carcinogenesis 29:1022–1032
- Prestera T, Talalay P (1995) Electrophile and antioxidant regulation of enzymes that detoxify carcinogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:8965–8969
- 146. Ciolino HP, Daschner PJ, Wang TT, Yeh GC (1998) Effect of curcumin on the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and cytochrome P450 1A1 in MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cells. Biochem Pharmacol 56:197–206
- 147. Singh S, Hu X, Srivastava SK, Singh M, Xia H, Orchard JL, Zaren HA (1998) Mechanism of inhibition of benzo[a]pyrene-induced forestomach cancer in mice by dietary curcumin. Carcinogenesis 19:1357–1360
- 148. Dinkova-Kostova AT, Talalay P (1999) Relation of structure of curcumin analogs to their potencies as inducers of phase 2 detoxification enzymes. Carcinogenesis 20:911–914
- 149. Bernabe-Pineda M, Ramirez-Silva MT, Romero-Romo MA, Gonzalez-Vergara E, Rojas-Hernandez A (2004) Spectrophotometric and electrochemical determination of the formation constants of the complexes Curcumin-Fe(III)-water and Curcumin-Fe(II)-water. Spectrochim Acta A Mol Biomol Spectrosc 60:1105–1113

- 150. Reddy A, Lokesh BR (1994) Studies on the inhibitory effects of curcumin and eugenol on the formation of reactive oxygen species and the oxidation of ferrous iron. Mol Cell Biochem 137:1–8
- 151. Antunes LMG, Araújo MCP, da Luz DF, Takahashi CS (2005) Effects of H2O2, Fe2+ and Fe3+ on curcumin-induced chromosomal aberrations in CHO cells. Genet Mol Biol 28:161–164
- 152. Jiao Y, Wilkinson J 4th, Pietsch EC, Buss JL, Wang W, Planalp R, Torti FM, Torti SV (2006) Iron chelation in the biological activity of curcumin. Free Radic Biol Med 40:1152–1160
- 153. Jiao Y et al (2009) Curcumin, a cancer chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic agent, is a biologically active iron chelator. Blood 113:462–469
- 154. Messner DJ, Sivam G, Kowdley KV (2009) Curcumin reduces the toxic effects of iron loading in rat liver epithelial cells. Liver Int 29:63–72
- 155. Thephinlap C, Phisalaphong C, Fucharoen S, Porter JB, Srichairatanakool S (2009) Efficacy of curcuminoids in alleviation of iron overload and lipid peroxidation in thalassemic mice. Med Chem 5:474–482
- 156. Shankar T, Shantha NV, Ramesh HP, Murthy IA, Murthy VS (1980) Toxicity studies on turmeric (Curcuma longa): acute toxicity studies in rats, guineapigs and monkeys. Indian J Exp Biol 18:73–75
- 157. Soni K, Kuttan R (1992) Effect of oral curcumin administration on serum peroxides and cholesterol levels in human volunteers. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol 36:273–275
- 158. Cheng AL et al (2001) Phase I clinical trial of curcumin, a chemopreventive agent, in patients with high-risk or pre-malignant lesions. Anticancer Res 21:2895–2900
- 159. Sharma RA et al (2004) Phase I clinical trial of oral curcumin: biomarkers of systemic activity and compliance. Clin Cancer Res 10:6847–6854
- 160. Sharma RA et al (2001) Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic study of oral Curcuma extract in patients with colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 7:1894–1900
- Dhillon N et al (2008) Phase II trial of curcumin in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14:4491–4499
- 162. Li L, Braiteh FS, Kurzrock R (2005) Liposome-encapsulated curcumin: in vitro and in vivo effects on proliferation, apoptosis, signaling, and angiogenesis. Cancer 104:1322–1331
- Bharti A, Donato N, Aggarwal BB (2003) Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) inhibits constitutive and IL-6-inducible STAT3 phosphorylation in human multiple myeloma cells. J Immunol 171:3863–3871
- 164. Dance-Barnes ST et al (2009) Lung tumor promotion by curcumin. Carcinogenesis 30: 1016–1023

Chapter 13 Oxidative Stress and Pancreatic Cancer

Joseph J. Cullen

Abstract Pancreatic cancer is the fourth most common cause of cancer death in the USA with greater than 33,000 fatal cases annually in the USA alone, and an overall 5-year survival rate of less than 5%. The relationship between reactive oxygen species (ROS), antioxidants, and possible treatments for pancreatic cancer is discussed in this review. ROS are generated during normal aerobic metabolism, and are produced at increased levels during various forms of oxidative stress. Our laboratory studies have demonstrated that in pancreatic cancer, ROS at high concentrations are cytotoxic, and at low concentrations are involved in the regulation of several key physiological processes such as cell proliferation. As seen in other cancers, enforced expression of antioxidant enzymes that scavenge ROS have profound effects in altering the malignant phenotype of pancreatic cancer both in vitro and in vivo. In addition to the major antioxidant enzymes, food-derived polyphenols with antioxidant properties can also inhibit pancreatic cancer growth. The opposite is also true; ROS at high concentrations are cytotoxic to pancreatic cancer cells and this mechanism forms the basis of recent potential treatments.

J.J. Cullen, MD (⊠) Department of Surgery, University of Iowa College of Medicine, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Iowa College of Medicine, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

The Holden Comprehensive Cancer Center, and Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Iowa City, IA, USA

University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, 4605 JCP, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA e-mail: joseph-cullen@uiowa.edu

Abbreviations

2-DG	2-Deoxy-D-glucose
CuZnSOD	Copper- and zinc-containing superoxide
	dismutase
EcSOD	Extracellular SOD
GPx	Glutathione peroxidase
GPx	Cytosolic glutathione peroxidase
LOX	Lipoxygenase
METC	Mitochondrial electron transport chain
MnSOD	Manganese superoxide dismutase
NOX	NADPH oxidase
NQO1, DT-diaphorase, EC 1.6.99.2	NADPH:quinone oxidoreductase
PanIN	Pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SOD	Superoxide dismutase

13.1 Unique Features of Pancreatic Cancer

MacMillan-Crow and colleagues have demonstrated nearly 100-fold increases in nitrotyrosine, a footprint of peroxynitrite which is formed by the reaction of O_2^{-1} with NO, in human pancreatic cancer specimens compared to normal pancreas [1]. Our recent findings add to this by demonstrating that pancreatic cancer cell lines have increased intracellular O_2^{-1} compared to other cell lines, as measured by hydroethidine fluorescence [2]. Therefore, increased oxidative stress may exert harmful effects including damage to DNA and cell membranes, leading to carcinogenesis and tumor progression. The increased oxidative stress associated with the induction of pancreatic cancer correlates well with other studies in various model systems that demonstrate that ROS can initiate and promote carcinogenesis as well as findings that antioxidants in general inhibit malignant transformation [3, 4].

Although the majority of pancreatic cancers are not found in the setting of chronic pancreatitis, chronic pancreatitis is one of the most significant risk factors for pancreatic cancer yet identified [5–7]. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma in the setting of chronic pancreatitis is usually characterized by marked fibrosis and high expression of extracellular matrix proteins [8, 9]. The extracellular matrix proteins, fibronectin and laminin, have been shown to stimulate NADPH oxidase activity and increase intracellular ROS in pancreatic cancer cells [10]. Activation of the Nox4 isoform in pancreatic cancer cells to increase ROS levels is a common mechanism by which both extracellular matrix proteins and growth factors stimulate growth.

Another unique feature of pancreatic cancer is the presence of *K*-ras mutations which have been identified in up to 95% of pancreatic cancers, implying their critical role in their molecular pathogenesis [11, 12]. Recently, Qian and colleagues have

shown that the expression of *K*-*ras* in an immortalized human pancreatic ductal epithelial cell line originally derived from normal pancreatic ductal epithelium induced the formation of carcinoma in mice [13]. These cells also showed increased activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase, AKT, and NF- κ B pathways [13].

Increases in intracellular production of ROS in pancreatic cancers, due to local oxidative stress from chronic pancreatitis, extracellular matrix proteins, or K-ras mutations, may influence downstream propagation of mitogenic signaling. Recent studies demonstrate that fibroblasts transfected with the viral ras oncogene have increased superoxide (O_2^{-}) production, and the generated O_2^{-} may act as a second messenger molecule to promote cell proliferation [14]. Based on these observations, it is hypothesized that ras activates the NADPH oxidase (NOX) system to produce ROS that leads to cell proliferation. This hypothesis is strengthened by studies of Vaguero and colleagues using pancreatic cancer cells deficient in mitochondrial electron transport chains (METCs) [15]. Their studies demonstrated that pancreatic cancer cells express many nonphagocytic NOX isoforms and that ROS generated by activation of these nonmitochondrial NOX are prosurvival, antiapoptotic factors [15]. Additionally, NOX4 antisense or inhibiting ROS by other approaches stimulates apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells [15]. Similar results have been found in rastransformed human keratinocytes [16] where increased O_2^{-} levels were seen. The increased levels of O₂⁻⁻ could be blocked efficiently by superoxide dismutase (SOD). Most interestingly, these results showed that SOD was enough to kill ras-transformed cells, while it did not kill any of the other cancer types examined [16]. As mentioned, K-ras may activate NADPH oxidase, which may be a Rac1-dependent mechanism. This Rac1 activation of NADPH oxidase is a key source of superoxide. DNA microarray analysis and RT-PCR have demonstrated that Rac1 is also upregulated in pancreatic cancer [17]. Using a chemical rac inhibitor, NSC23766 [18], human pancreatic cancer cells with mutant K-ras (MIA PaCa-2), decreased superoxide levels, and inhibited in vitro growth (Fig. 13.1). These results suggest that the activation of Rac1dependent superoxide generation leads to pancreatic cancer cell proliferation. In pancreatic cancer, inhibition of Rac1 may be a potential therapeutic target.

13.2 Scavenging ROS with Antioxidants Inhibits Pancreatic Cancer Growth

There are three major types of primary intracellular antioxidant enzymes in mammalian cells – SOD, catalase, and peroxidase, of which glutathione peroxidase (GPx) is the most prominent [19]. The SODs convert O_2^{--} into H_2O_2 , while the catalases and peroxidases convert H_2O_2 into water. In this way, two toxic species, O_2^{--} and H_2O_2 , are converted to the harmless product water. An important feature of these enzymes is that they are highly compartmentalized. Extracellular SOD (EcSOD) is the only isoform of SOD that is expressed extracellularly, while manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) is localized in the mitochondria, copper- and zinc-containing



Fig. 13.1 (a) Plating efficiency was decreased with NSC23766 in MIAPaCa-2 cells. MIAPaCa-2 cells were seeded at 5×10^5 cells/plate overnight until attached, treated with the Rac chemical inhibitor and were then trypsinized and plated for clonogenic survival. Chemical inhibition of rac resulted in a dose-dependent decrease in clonogenic survival. Each point represents the mean values, n=3. **P*<0.05 vs. controls (no treatment). (b) Intracellular hydroethidine fluorescence decreased in MIA PaCa-2 cells after treatment with NSC23766. Intracellular superoxide levels as measured by DHE decreased significantly 48 h after treatment with the chemical rac inhibitor. **P*<0.05 vs. control (no treatment) means ±SEM, n=3

superoxide dismutase (CuZnSOD) in the cytoplasm and nucleus, catalase in peroxisomes and cytoplasm, and GPx in many subcellular compartments.

As with most other solid tumors, human pancreatic cancer has low levels of antioxidant enzymes [20–22]. Immunohistochemistry demonstrated that MnSOD, CuZnSOD, catalase, and GPx protein are decreased in human pancreatic carcinoma specimens when compared to normal human pancreas and MnSOD protein in pancreatic cancer was further decreased compared to chronic pancreatitis. In addition, Western blots, enzyme activity, and enzyme activity gels for MnSOD, CuZnSOD, catalase, and GPx in normal human pancreas and in various human pancreatic cancer cell lines demonstrated decreased levels of MnSOD immunoreactive protein as well as activity compared to normal human pancreas [20–22]. The metastatic pancreatic cancer cell line had increased levels of immunoreactive protein and activity compared to normal human pancreas. MnSOD levels correlated well with increased rates of tumor cell proliferation as determined by cell-doubling time. Thus, as with most other solid tumors, pancreatic cancer and primary pancreatic cancer cell lines have lowered levels of MnSOD compared to normal pancreas, and this lowered MnSOD correlated well with increased cell proliferation.

As mentioned previously, the levels of antioxidant enzymes in metastatic pancreatic cancer may differ when compared to the primary tumor [20–22]. MnSOD, CuZnSOD, and GPx protein and activity were increased in pancreatic cancer ascites and metastatic pancreatic tumor cells compared to the primary pancreatic cancer cell line [23]. The ascites and metastatic tumor cells had decreased cell growth, plating efficiency, and growth in soft agar when compared to the primary pancreatic cancer cells, but the pancreatic cancer ascites cells had increased cell growth in 4% and 1% O₂ concentrations in vitro and more rapid growth in vivo. Thus, metastatic pancreatic cancer is associated with changes in the content and activity of antioxidant enzymes with an associated change in growth characteristics depending on the O₂ concentrations.

If SOD is important in pancreatic cancer, then normalization of the levels of SOD could result in reversal of at least part of the cancer cell phenotype. Enforced expression of MnSOD in pancreatic cancer cells was accomplished by infection of an adenoviral vector construct containing the cDNA for MnSOD [20–22, 24]; MnSOD overexpression was shown to suppress the in vitro malignant phenotype of human pancreatic cancer cells. In addition, an inverse relationship was observed, as cell growth and plating efficiency decreased with increasing amounts of the Ad*MnSOD* construct. In addition, intratumoral injections of the same adenoviral vector containing the cDNA for *MnSOD* suppress growth in established pancreatic tumors [24]. Multiple injections of the adenoviral *MnSOD* construct further inhibited tumor cell growth and extended survival.

Overexpression of SOD in other various forms may also reverse the pancreatic cancer cell phenotype. CuZnSOD levels are also lowered [20–22], while EcSOD is undetectable in pancreatic cancer [25]. Overexpression of MnSOD, CuZnSOD, and EcSOD was accomplished by infecting pancreatic cancer cells with adenoviral vectors containing the cDNA for the individual SODs. As predicted, increased SOD activity decreased superoxide levels and increased hydrogen peroxide levels. In vitro cell growth characteristics of pancreatic cancer were reversed with CuZnSOD overexpression having the greatest effect, while inhibiting endogenous SOD with siRNA increased superoxide levels and promoted tumor growth [25]. Of the three SODs, tumors grew the slowest and survival was increased the greatest in nude mice injected with the Ad*EcSOD* construct.

These findings are consistent with the hypothesis that *ras* activates the NADPH oxidase system to produce ROS that leads to cell proliferation. Thus, nonmitochondrial sources of superoxide may be prosurvival in pancreatic cancer, and scavenging plasma membrane-generated superoxide with EcSOD and CuZnSOD may prove



Fig. 13.2 Representative plots of the analysis are shown with necrotic cells in the *upper left quadrant*, late apoptotic/necrotic cells in the *upper right quadrant*, viable cells in the *lower left quadrant* and apoptotic cells in the *lower right quadrant*. MIA PaCa-2 cells (controls) were infected with Adempty, AdCuZnSOD, and AdEcSOD at 100 MOI and Annexin/PI and flow cytometry performed 96 h later

beneficial for suppression of pancreatic cancer growth. To evaluate whether scavenging superoxide from the plasma membrane inhibits tumor growth by inducing cell death, we performed flow cytometry on MIA PaCa-2 cells infected with the AdEmpty, AdCuZnSOD, or AdEcSOD vectors and then stained with AnnexinV-FITC and propidium iodide. Representative data plots are shown in Fig. 13.2. In control cells at 96 h, the apoptotic fraction was $2.6 \pm 0.2\%$, $1.5 \pm 0.2\%$ with AdEmpty, $4.6 \pm 0.8\%$ with AdCuZnSOD, and $4.4 \pm 1.3\%$ with AdEcSOD. The results from the Annexin/PI studies suggest that apoptotic cell death may not play a significant role in the growth inhibition seen with SOD overexpression.

The effectors of MnSOD pancreatic tumor suppression could potentially be O_2^{-1} and H_2O_2 . These molecules are logical since they are the substrate and product of SOD. In addition, previous work in a breast cancer cell line had demonstrated a reversal of the tumor suppressive effect of MnSOD by overexpression of GPx [26]. Since GPx can also remove lipid hydroperoxides, it was unclear if the effect on GPx reversing the MnSOD-induced tumor suppression was due to H_2O_2 or other hydroperoxides. To gain further insight into MnSOD inhibition of pancreatic tumor growth, the effects of increasing GPx on the pancreatic cancer phenotype were investigated. Cytosolic glutathione peroxidase (GPx) is a selenoprotein that converts H_2O_2 into water and requires several secondary enzymes and cofactors to function at high efficiency.

As stated before, reduction in antioxidant enzymes may also lead to malignant transformation. As mentioned previously, cytoplasmic values of GPx1 protein in human pancreatic cancers were decreased when compared to normal pancreas [20] as was GPx activity [21, 22]. Although overexpression of GPx reversed the tumor suppressive effect of MnSOD in breast cancer [26] (presumably by removal of H_2O_2), infection with the combination of the AdGPx and AdMnSOD vectors had the greatest effect on growth inhibition both in vitro and in vivo and also increased animal survival [27]. To study the converse, antisense oligonucleotides for GPx was used. 20-mer sequences were synthesized with the start codon of the gene in question in the center of the oligo. Oligos were then made by shifting the start sequence 5'



Fig. 13.3 Ad*antisenseGPx* injections increased MIA PaCa-2 tumor growth in nude mice when studied out to 15 days postinjection. The Ad*antisenseGPx* group had significantly faster tumor growth when compared to the parental cell line or mice treated with Ad*BglII* (P<0.05, n=5–8/ group). Approximately 1×10⁹ plaque-forming units (PFU) (100 µL) of the Ad*antisenseGPx* or Ad*BglII* constructs were delivered through two injection sites in the tumor by means of a 25-gauge needle attached to a 1-cm³ tuberculin syringe. This was defined as day 1 of the experiment

and then 3' from the original sequence. For all oligos, the first five and last five bases were phosphothiolated for stability. The oligos were demonstrated to inhibited GPx immunoreactive protein activity and were then placed in an adenovirus construct for delivery to established human pancreatic tumors grown in nude mice. Tumor volume was compared among three groups using the data from days 1 through 15, and the linear mixed model suggested that the interaction between day and group was highly significant (P < 0.0001), that is, there is a difference among the groups in the slopes for tumor volume over time (Fig. 13.3). Animals with tumors treated with the AdantisenseGPx vector had the fastest in vivo growth when compared to the controls and AdBglII groups (P < 0.05).

There are at least five GPx isoenzymes found in mammals with two members of this family, GPx1 and PhGPx, widely studied in relation to antioxidant cytoprotection and lipoxygenase regulation. GPx1 and PhGPx both contain the rare amino acid selenium (Se)-cysteine at the active site and the active selenocysteine residue participates in the two-electron reduction of peroxides to alcohols. However, the two enzymes differ in functional size, subcellular distribution, and amino acid sequence [28]. They also exhibit differences in peroxide reactivity with GPx1, a major enzyme responsible for removing H_2O_2 and organic hydroperoxides while PhGPx is the only known intracellular antioxidant enzyme that can directly reduce peroxidized phospholipid and cholesterol in membranes. Therefore, PhGPx can reduce lipid hydroperoxides and is thought to contribute to the enzymatic defenses against oxidative damage to the mitochondrial membrane [29]. PhGPx is synthesized as a long form, highly expressed in mitochondria, and a short form that is highly expressed in nuclei, endoplasmic reticulum, and cytosol, but not in mitochondria [30]. Pancreatic cancer



Fig. 13.4 Stable transfection of PhGPx-L form inhibits in vitro growth. (a) Cell growth. MIA PaCa-2 cells stably transfected with *PhGPx* demonstrate reductions in cell growth. No significant changes were seen with vector 1 and vector 12 compared with parental cells (wild-type). Mean in vitro cell growth is shown. Each point was determined in triplicate. *P < 0.01 vs. vector 1. (b) Western blotting analysis for PhGPx. Total protein was electrophoresed in a 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide running gel and a 5% stacking gel. After blocking in 20% fetal bovine serum for 1 h, the sheets were washed and then treated with polyclonal rabbit-anti-human antibodies to PhGPx. MIA PaCa-2 cells were transfected with the pcDNA3 plasmid containing a sense human PhGPx cDNA that was cloned into the Kpn1 and EcoR1 site and controlled by the human CMV promoter. The transfection was performed with Lipofectamine

cell lines were found to have diminished levels of PhGPx-immunoreactive protein compared with normal human pancreas [31]. Overexpression of various adenoviral PhGPx vectors resulted in 80–95% in vitro growth inhibition, while the PhGPx adenoviral vector targeted to the mitochondria significantly inhibited pancreatic cancer tumor growth [31]. AdPhGPx-L form injected into preestablished pancreatic tumors in nude mice inhibited growth and increased survival [31]. In addition, pancreatic cancer cells stably transfected with *PhGPx-L form* demonstrated increased PhGPx protein and slower in vitro growth (Fig. 13.4). Thus, removal of lipid hydroperoxides had a beneficial effect in inhibiting growth of pancreatic cancer.

The work with antioxidant enzymes that scavenge lipid hydroperoxides added additional insight into pancreatic carcinogenesis. It has been known since the 1940s that dietary fat influences the postinitiation phase of carcinogenesis [32]. In human epidemiological studies, protective factors, such as vitamins C and E, β -carotene,

glutathione, selenium, and high-fiber diets, have been found to be associated with a lower risk of pancreatic cancer. Epidemiologic and animal studies have linked pancreatic cancer growth with high fat intake, particularly unsaturated fats [33]. Unsaturated fats in particular enhance carcinogen-induced pancreatic carcinogenesis in both hamsters and rats [34]. In rats given multiple doses of azaserine, a carcinogen used to produce pancreatic tumors in rats, highly unsaturated fatty acids significantly increased the pancreatic neoplasm incidence during postinitiation stage [35]. Similar findings were reported in hamsters when a semisynthetic diet, high in corn oil, significantly increased the incidence and number of pancreatic tumors induced by *N*-nitroso-bis (2-oxopropyl) amine [36]. After initiation of this protocol, hamsters fed a high-fat diet significantly enhanced pancreatic carcinogenesis. It has been postulated that the underlying mechanism might be related to increased intermediates of lipid peroxidation, which can increase the susceptibility of cellular DNA damage by certain carcinogens. Oxidation of unsaturated fatty acids is the result of normal metabolism, physical activity, ionizing irradiation, and metabolites of various chemicals, drugs, and foods. It is well known that reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated during lipid peroxidation processes or arise directly from arachidonic or linoleic acid hydroperoxide decomposition. Furthermore, alkoxyl and peroxyl radicals, as well as reactive aldehydes, can be formed from polyunsaturated fatty acid hydroperoxides. Damage to DNA by ROS is frequently postulated to cause mutations that are associated with the initiation and progression of human cancers. Lipid hydroperoxides play a dual role in peroxidation since they are both products of peroxidation and substrates for further initiation reactions. The cleavage of the O-O bond of lipid peroxides by ferrous iron in a Fenton-like reaction generates alkoxyl radicals (LO), which are able to start new peroxidative chains. In fact, following the formation of some hydroperoxides, peroxidation proceeds at a faster rate by secondary initiation or branching, as long as iron, reducing equivalents, oxygen, and polyunsaturated lipids are available. These chain reactions then subside via several termination reactions.

In addition to lipid peroxidation, arachidonic acid release occurs in many kinds of oxidative stress and has been shown to be a mitogenic signal in pancreatic cancer. The two ω -6 polyunsaturated essential fatty acids, arachidonic and linoleic acid are substrates for the lipoxygenase (LOX) enzymatic pathway. If arachidonic acid release is important in pancreatic cancer cell proliferation, exogenous addition of arachidonic acid should stimulate growth. MIA PaCa-2 human pancreatic cancer cells incubated with MiaPaCa2 cells (1×104/well) were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS modified by different concentrations of arachidonic acid (0, 1, 4, 8, 16, and 32 µM) for 4 days and growth was determined. There was a dosedependent increase in growth at 4 days with increased concentrations of arachidonic acid (Fig. 13.5a). As mentioned, arachidonic acid is a substrate for the LOX pathway. Lipoxygenases produce 5(S)-, 12(S)-, and 15(S)-HPETE and then 5(S)-, 12(S)-, and 15(S)-HETE, respectively. Thus, the addition of arachidonic acid should lead to increases in HETEs, which stimulate pancreatic cancer cell proliferation. In addition to the increase in growth with the addition of arachidonic acid at 4 days, there was a concomitant increase in 12(S)-HETE as measured by enzyme immunoassay



Fig. 13.5 (a) MIA PaCa-2 cells incubated with arachidonic acid (AA) (0, 1, and 4 μ M) demonstrated significant dose-dependent increases in growth. Mean in vitro cell growth of MIA PaCa-2 cells are shown. Each point represents the mean values, *N*=3. (b) Stimulation of 12(S)-HETE production by arachidonic acid. MIA PaCa-2 cells were incubated with arachidonic acid (AA) (0, 1, and 4 μ M) for 4 days and 12(S)-HETE measured by enzyme immunoassay. 12(S)-HETE production increased over 25-fold with the addition of 4 μ M arachidonic acid. Values are mean 12(S)-HETE in pg/ml/10⁶ cells. (c) The 5-LOX inhibitor Rev-5901 (1.0–7.5 μ M) inhibits proliferation of MIA PaCa-2 human pancreatic cancer cell. (d) The 12-LOX inhibitor baicalein (1.0–7.5 μ M) inhibits proliferation of MIA PaCa-2 cells is shown. Each point represents the mean values, *N*=3. **P*<0.001 vs. control

(Fig. 13.5b). Furthermore, the LOX metabolites 5-HETE and 12-HETE stimulate cancer growth through activation of p44/42 mitogen-activated protein kinase and PI3/Akt kinase pathways [37]. Several studies demonstrate the importance of LOX in regulating human pancreatic cancer development and growth. 5-LOX and 12-LOX mRNA and proteins are expressed in all human pancreatic cancer cell lines but not in normal pancreatic ductal cells [38]. If the LOX pathway is important for pancreatic cancer cell proliferation, then inhibition of these pathways should inhibit growth. Preliminary studies demonstrate that Rev-5901, a 5-LOX inhibitor, and baicalein, a 12-LOX inhibitor, have dramatic effects on inhibiting proliferation of MIA PaCa-2 human pancreatic cancer cells (Fig. 13.5c, d). In addition, the 12-LOX inhibitor decreased the production of 12(S)-HETE as measured by enzyme immunoassay.

In untreated MIA PaCa-2 pancreatic cancer cells, 12(S)-HETE production was measured at 1,746 pg/ml/10⁶ cells. Treatment with baicalein (10 μ M) decreased 12(S)-HETE levels to 814 pg/ml/10⁶ cells. This decrease in 12(S)-HETE was reversed when cells were treated with both baicalein and arachidonic acid (1 μ M) whereupon 12(S)-HETE levels increased to 1,737 pg/ml/10⁶ cells.

Polyphenolic compounds, found in some fruits and vegetables, may also have beneficial effects in pancreatic cancer. These compounds possess antioxidant, antiinflammatory, cytotoxic, and antimutagenic properties both in vitro and in vivo. The flavonoid quercetin decreased primary tumor growth, increased apoptosis, and prevented metastases in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer [39]. Quercitin and the nonflavonoid *trans*-resveratrol markedly enhanced apoptosis, mitochondrial depolarization, and cytochrome c release. NF- κ B activity was also inhibited by both quercetin and *trans*-resveratrol [39]. Further studies on the antioxidant mechanisms of these compounds in pancreatic cancer could have important implications for dietary therapy in pancreatic cancer prevention.

13.3 Increases in ROS Induce Cytotoxicity in Pancreatic Cancer

So far our studies demonstrate that antioxidants induce a nonapoptotic inhibition of cell proliferation in pancreatic cancer (Fig. 13.2). Pancreatic cancer is an aggressive disease and numerous strategies to increase ROS levels to induce cell killing without normal tissue damage seem to offer the most promise.

One of the potential strategies is to exploit the increased levels of NAD(P) H:Quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) in pancreatic cancer. NADPH:quinone oxidoreductase (NOO1, DT-diaphorase, EC 1.6.99.2), a homodimeric, ubiquitous, cytosolic, and membrane flavoprotein, is considered to be a deactivation enzyme because it catalyzes the two-electron reduction of quinones, including membrane ubiquinone [40]. This reaction prevents the one-electron reduction of quinones by cytochrome P450 reductase and other flavoproteins that would redox cycle with molecular oxygen to generate O,-. NQO1 has been shown to redox couple with and reduce membrane ubiquinone and also plays a role as an antioxidant enzyme and generates antioxidant forms of ubiquinone and α -tocopherol during oxidative stress [41, 42]. Microarrays have demonstrated that there is a tenfold upregulation of NQO1 in pancreatic cancer when compared to normal pancreas [43]. Immunohistochemistry of resected pancreatic specimens demonstrated an increased immunoreactivity for NQO1 in pancreatic cancer and pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN) specimens vs. normal human pancreas [44]. Immunocytochemistry and western immunoblots demonstrated increased immunoreactivity in pancreatic cancer cells when compared to a near normal immortalized human pancreatic ductal epithelial cell line and a colonic epithelial cell line [44]. The NQO1 properties of catalyzing bioactivation of antitumor quinones and high expression in pancreatic cancer make it a principal target in therapeutic strategies to design chemotherapeutic agents. Streptonigrin, a compound known to cause redox cycling in the presence of NQO1, decreased clonogenic survival and decreased anchorage-independent growth in soft agar [44]. Streptonigrin had little effect on cell lines with absent or reduced levels of NQO1. The effects of streptonigrin were reversed in pancreatic cancer cells pretreated with dicumarol, a known inhibitor of NQO1.

Another potential strategy to exploit in pancreatic cancer is the fact that cancer cells demonstrate increased intracellular hydroperoxide production [45]. The increased intracellular hydroperoxide production may be caused by a defect in mitochondrial respiration. Therapeutic interventions designed to inhibit glucose metabolism and hydroperoxide detoxification combined with manipulations that increase METC-mediated oxidative energy metabolism and prooxidant production could hypothetically preferentially kill pancreatic tumor cells via metabolic oxidative stress.

Although it is not possible to deprive cells of glucose in vivo, it is possible to treat tumor-bearing animals and humans with 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG), a relatively nontoxic analog of glucose that competes with glucose for uptake via the glucose transporters as well as being phosphorylated by hexokinase at the entry point to glycolysis.

In human pancreatic cancer cells, 2-DG and glucose deprivation induced cytotoxicity and disruptions in thiol metabolism in a time-dependent manner [46]. In nude mice with heterotopic pancreatic tumors, the combination of 2-DG and irradiation resulted in the greatest inhibition of tumor growth and extended survival. These results support the hypothesis that 2-DG exposure causes cytotoxicity in human pancreatic cancer cells via disruptions in thiol metabolism resulting from metabolic oxidative stress.

Therapeutic interventions designed to increase METC-mediated oxidative energy metabolism and prooxidant production will also preferentially kill pancreatic tumor cells via metabolic oxidative stress. Dicumarol is a naturally occurring anticoagulant derived from coumarin that induces cytotoxicty and oxidative stress in human pancreatic cancer cells [20-22]. Although dicumarol has been used as an inhibitor of the two-electron reductase NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1), dicumarol is also thought to affect quinone-mediated electron transfer reactions in the mitochondria, leading to the production of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide [47]. Dicumarol, with the addition of METC blockers, decreased clonogenic cell survival in human pancreatic cancer cells and increased superoxide levels. Dicumarol with the METC blocker antimycin A decreased clonogenic survival and increased superoxide levels in cells with functional mitochondria but had little effect on cancer cells without functional mitochondria. Overexpression of MnSOD and mitochondrialtargeted catalase with adenoviral vectors reversed the dicumarol-induced cytotoxicity and reversed fluorescence of the oxidation-sensitive probe [47]. Thus, therapeutic interventions that increase METC-mediated oxidative energy metabolism and prooxidant production preferentially killed pancreatic tumor cells.

Our laboratory then combined therapeutic interventions designed to inhibit glucose metabolism and hydroperoxide detoxification (2-DG) with manipulations that increase METC oxidative stress (dicumarol) in pancreatic tumor cells. We hypothesized that dicumarol and 2-DG would act additively by increasing cytotoxicity and



Fig. 13.6 Dicumarol acts additively with 2-DG by decreasing pancreatic cancer clonogenic cell survival in a time-dependent and dose-dependent manner. A clonogenic assay was performed on MIA-PaCa-2 cells treated with dicumarol (0, 50, and 100 mM) for 24 h with and without 2-DG (0, 2, 4, 6, and 10 mM)

oxidative stress of pancreatic cancer cells. In the human pancreatic cancer cell line MIA PaCa-2, dicumarol (50 and 100 μ M), and 2-DG (4, 6, and 10 mM) decreased clonogenic survival 30-99%, and resulted in increased total glutathione as well as glutathione disulfide. In fact, dicumarol acts additively with 2-DG by decreasing pancreatic cancer clonogenic cell survival in a time-dependent and dose-dependent manner (Fig. 13.6). Clonogenic assays on MIA-PaCa-2 cells treated with dicumarol $(0, 50, \text{ and } 100 \,\mu\text{M})$ for 24 h with and without 2-DG $(0, 2, 4, 6, \text{ and } 10 \,\text{mM})$ once again demonstrated decreased survival when cells were treated with either dicumarol or 2-DG alone. However, the combination of dicumarol and 2-DG further increased cytotoxicity resulting in decreased clonogenic survival in all groups. The combination of dicumarol and 2-DG also increased total glutathione content as well as GSSG. In established orthotopic pancreatic tumors in nude mice, intratumoral injections of dicumarol (100 μ M) alone and 2-DG (i.p., 0.5 g/kg q.o.d×2 weeks) alone slowed tumor growth and extended survival, while the combination of dicumarol and 2-DG had the greatest effect in inhibiting tumor growth and increasing survival (Fig. 13.7).

These data support the hypothesis that dicumarol and 2-DG act additively to induce cell killing via a mechanism involving oxidative stress.

Ascorbate (vitamin C, AscH⁻) is one of the early unorthodox therapies for cancer. The evidence for use of ascorbate in cancer treatment falls into two categories: clinical data on dose concentration relationships and laboratory data describing potential cell toxicity with high concentrations of ascorbate in vitro. Clinical data show that



Fig. 13.7 (a) Single intratumoral injections of dicumarol (100 mM)+2-DG (0.5 g/kg q.o.d×2 weeks) decreased MIA-PaCa-2 tumor growth in nude mice when studied out to 25 days postinjection. Dicumarol alone treated group (100 mM) decreased tumor volume (P=0.05) compared to no treatment. Mice receiving both dicumarol and 2-DG exhibited a 1.8-fold decrease in tumor growth over no treatment. Day 25: Median tumor volume 644 mm3 in control tumors vs. 347 mm³ in tumors with one intratumoral injection of dicumarol (100 µM) and six every other day i.p. injections of 2-DG (0.5 g/kg). Means, N=8/group. (b). Dicumarol+2-DG increased survival in pancreatic tumor xenografts. Kaplan–Meier plots of estimated survival after injection of MIA PaCa-2 tumors in nude mice. Single dose intratumoral injections of dicumarol (100 µM)+2-DG (0.5 g/kg i.p. × 6 doses) resulted in increased time to sacrifice when compared with control group (P<0.05)

when ascorbate is given orally, fasting plasma concentrations are tightly controlled at <100 μ M [48]. In contrast, when 1.25 g of ascorbate are administered intravenously, concentrations as high as 1 mM are achieved. Some clinicians have infused more than 10 g of ascorbate in cancer patients and achieved plasma concentrations of 1–5 mM [49]. Thus, it is clear that intravenous administration of ascorbate can yield very high plasma levels, while oral treatment does not.

Pharmacologic ascorbic acid concentrations have been shown to selectively kill some cancer cell types. Chen et al. measured cell death in ten cancer and four normal cell types using 1-h exposures to pharmacological ascorbate [50, 51]. Normal cells were unaffected by 20 mM ascorbate whereas five cancer cell lines had EC₅₀ values of <4 mM, a concentration achievable by intravenous administration. In addition, cell death was independent of metal chelators, but dependent on formation of H₂O₂. H₂O₂ generation was dependent on ascorbate concentration, incubation time; [H₂O₂] displayed a linear increase with [AscH⁻] and it increased as a quadratic function of ascorbate radical, ascorbate being an electron donor to O₂ to form H₂O₂ [52].

To determine if ascorbate would inhibit pancreatic cancer in vivo growth, MIA PaCa-2 tumor cells (2×10^6) were delivered subcutaneously into the flank region of nude mice and allowed to grow until they reached 3 mm in greatest dimension (~10 days), at which time they were randomly assigned to a treatment group. This was defined as day 1 of the experiment. The animals were randomized to receive either ascorbate (4 g/kg) or osmotically equivalent i.p. saline as a control (1 M) given to mice i.p. every day for 2 weeks. 4 g/kg i.p. ascorbate resulted in blood concentration from baseline of 40 µM to peaks of 40 mM while tumor extracellular fluid increased to peaks of 20 mM for up to 3 h [52]. The primary outcomes of interest were tumor growth over time. Tumor size (mm³) was periodically measured throughout the experiments, resulting in repeated measurements across time for each mouse. Linear mixed effects regression models were used to estimate and compare the groupspecific tumor growth curves. The observed tumor volumes for all mice are plotted over time in Fig. 13.8. This work has been confirmed by Chen et al. demonstrating that pancreatic carcinoma (Pan02) cells had decreased growth rates in mice treated with ascorbate 4 g/kg twice daily [51]. In addition, a phase 1 clinical trial of intravenous ascorbic acid in advanced malignancy demonstrated that high dose ascorbic acid was well tolerated in this patient population [53]. Thus, high dose ascorbate therapy may be another therapeutic strategy to increase prooxidant production to preferentially kill pancreatic tumor cells via metabolic oxidative stress.

13.4 Summary

The prognosis of pancreatic cancer is grim. Surgical resection of the primary tumor remains the only potentially curative treatment for pancreatic cancer with dismal 5-year survival rates of <5% [54]. In pancreatic cancer, ROS are generated by activation of membrane nonmitochondrial NADPH oxidase. ROS at low levels are prosurvival factors that are necessary for pancreatic cancer cell proliferation. Inhibiting the production of ROS or scavenging ROS by enforced expression of antioxidant



Fig. 13.8 Ascorbate decreased tumor growth in nude mice. The group of animals that received ascorbate (4 g/kg/day, i.p.) had significantly slower rate of tumor growth when compared to the controls receiving osmotically equivalent saline (P < 0.0001, n = 5-8/group). Ascorbate (4 g/kg, i.p.) was given every day for 14 days beginning on day 1 of the experiment. On day 15 there was a 3.5-fold decrease in tumor size in animals receiving ascorbate when compared to controls

enzymes have profound effects in altering the malignant phenotype of pancreatic cancer both in vitro and in vivo. ROS at high concentrations are cytotoxic to pancreatic cancer cells. Thus, a more effective strategy to exploit in pancreatic cancer is the fact that increased intracellular hydroperoxide production may be caused by a defect in mitochondrial respiration. Therapeutic interventions designed to increase prooxidant production could preferentially kill pancreatic tumor cells via metabolic oxidative stress. With the lack of treatment options for pancreatic cancer, clinical application of increasing levels of prooxidant may offer benefits to these patients where survival is measured in months.

Acknowledgments Supported by the Medical Research Service, Department of Veterans Affairs.

References

- MacMillan-Crow L, Greendorfer J, Vickers S et al (2000) Tyrosine nitration of c-SRC tyrosine kinase in human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Arch Biochem Biophys 377:350–356
- Du J, Tsao MS, Oberley LW et al (2007) K-ras oncogene increases reactive oxygen species (ROS): mechanisms involved in regulating pancreatic cancer cell growth. Free Radic Biol Med 43:S53

- 13 Oxidative Stress and Pancreatic Cancer
- 3. Oberley L, Oberley T (1988) Role of antioxidant enzymes in cell immortalization and transformation. Mol Cell Biochem 84:147–153
- Oberley LW, Oberley TD (1986) Free radicals, cancer, and aging. In: Johnson JE Jr, Walford R, Harmon D, Miquel J (eds) Free radicals, aging, and degenerative diseases. Alan R Liss Inc, New York, pp 325–381
- Ammann R, Knoblauch M, Mohr P (1980) High incidence of extrapancreatic carcinoma in chronic pancreatitis? Scand J Gastroenterol 15:395–399
- 6. Lowenfels A, Maisonneuve P, Cavallani G (1993) Pancreatitis and the risk of cancer. N Engl J Med 328:1433–1437
- Traverso L, Kozarek R, Simpson T et al (1993) Pancreatic duct obstruction as potential etiology of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Am J Gastroenterol 88(1):117–119
- Gress TM, Muller-Pillasch F, Lerch MM et al (1995) Expression and in situ localization of genes coding for extracellular matrix proteins and extracellular matrix degrading proteases in pancreatic cancer. Int J Cancer 62:407–413
- 9. Lohr M, Trautmann B, Gottler M et al (1994) Human ductal adenocarcinomas of the pancreas express extracellular matrix proteins. Br J Cancer 69:144–151
- Edderkaoui M, Hong P, Vaquero EC et al (2005) Extracellular matrix stimulates reactive oxygen species production and increases pancreatic cancer cell survival through 5-lipoxygenase and NADPH oxidase. Am J Physiol 289:G1137–G1147
- Motojima K, Tsunoda T, Kanemastu T et al (1991) Distinguishing pancreatic carcinoma from other periampullary carcinomas by analysis of mutations in the Kirsten-ras oncogene. Ann Surg 214(6):657–662
- Motojima K, Urano T, Nagata Y et al (1993) Detection of point mutations in the Kirsten-ras oncogene provides evidence for the multicentricity of pancreatic carcinoma. Ann Surg 217(2): 138–143
- Qian J, Niu J, Li M et al (2005) In vitro modeling of human pancreatic duct epithelial cell transformation defines gene expression changes induced by K-ras oncogenic activation in pancreatic carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 65:5045–5053
- Irani K, Xia Y, Zweier J et al (1997) Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in Rastransformed fibroblasts. Science 275:1649–1651
- Vaquero EC, Edderkaoui M, Pandol SJ et al (2004) Reactive oxygen species produced by NAD(P)H oxidase inhibit apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. J Biol Chem 279:34643–34654
- Yang J-Q, Li S, Domann F et al (1999) Superoxide generation in v-Ha-ras-transduced human keratinocyte HaCaT cells. Mol Carcinogen 26:180–188
- 17. Crnogorac-Jurcevic T, Efthimiou E, Capelli P et al (2001) Oncogene 20:7437-7446
- Jin K, Park S, Ewton DZ et al (2007) The survival kinase Mirk/Dyrk1B is a downstream effector of K-ras in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 67:7247–7255
- Oberley L, Buettner G (1979) Role of superoxide dismutase in cancer: a review. Cancer Res 39:1141–1149
- Cullen J, Mitros F, Oberley L (2003) Expression of antioxidant enzymes in diseases of the human pancreas: another link between chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. Pancreas 26: 23–27
- 21. Cullen J, Weydert C, Hinkhouse M et al (2003) The role of manganese superoxide dismutase in the growth of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 63:1297–1303
- 22. Cullen JJ, Hinkhouse MM, Grady M et al (2003) Dicumarol inhibition of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (NQO₁) induces growth inhibition of pancreatic cancer via a superoxide-mediated mechanism. Cancer Res 63:5513–5520
- Lewis A, Du J, Liu J et al (2006) Metastatic progression of pancreatic cancer: changes in antioxidant enzymes and cell growth. Clin Exp Metastasis 22:523–532
- Weydert C, Roling B, Liu J et al (2003) Suppression of the malignant phenotype in human pancreatic cancer cells by the overexpression of manganese superoxide dismutase. Mol Cancer Ther 2:361–369
- 25. Teoh MLT, Sun W, Smith BJ et al (2007) Modulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in pancreatic cancer: insight into tumor growth suppression by the superoxide dismutases. Clin Cancer Res 13:7441–7450

- 26. Li S, Yan T (2000) The role of cellular glutathione peroxidase redox regulation in the suppression of tumor cell growth by manganese superoxide dismutase. Cancer Res 60:3927–3939
- 27. Liu J, Hinkhouse MM, Sun W et al (2004) Redox regulation of pancreatic cancer cell growth: role of glutathione peroxidase in the suppression of the malignant phenotype. Hum Gene Ther 15:239–250
- Ursini F, Maiorino M, Roveri A (1997) Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (PHGPx): more than an antioxidant enzyme? Biomed Environ Sci 10:327–332
- 29. Nakagawa Y, Imai H (2000) Novel functions of mitochondrial phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (PhGPx) as an anti-apoptotic factor. J Health Sci 46:414–417
- Imai H, Nakagawa Y (2003) Biological significance of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (PHGPx, GPx4) in mammalian cells. Free Radic Biol Med 34:145–169
- 31. Liu J, Du J, Zhang Y et al (2006) Suppression of the malignant phenotype in pancreatic cancer by overexpression of the phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase. Hum Gene Ther 17:105–116
- 32. Tannenbaum A (1944) The dependence of the genesis of induced skin tumors on the fat content of the diet during different stages of carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 4:683–687
- Zhang J, Go VL (1996) High fat diet, lipid peroxidation, and pancreatic carcinogenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol 399:165–172
- Roebuck BD, Yager JD, Longnecker DS et al (1981) Promotion by unsaturated fat of azaserine-induced pancreatic carcinogenesis in the rat. Cancer Res 41:3961–3966
- 35. Longnecker DS, Roebuck BD, Kuhlmann ET (1985) Enhancement of pancreatic carcinogenesis by a dietary unsaturated fat in rats treated with saline or N-nitroso (2-hydroxypropyl) (2-oxypropyl)amine. J Natl Cancer Inst 74:219–222
- 36. Appel MJ, vanGarderen-Hoetmer A, Woujtersen RA (1994) Effects of dietary linoleic acid on pancreatic carcinogenesis in rats and hamsters. Cancer Res 54:2113–2120
- Ding XZ, Tong WG, Adrian TE (2001) 12-Lipoxygenase metabolite 12(S)-HETE stimulates human pancreatic cancer cell proliferation via protein tyrosine phosphorylation and ERK activation. Int J Cancer 94:630–636
- Ding XZ, Iversen P, Cluck MW et al (1999) Lipoxygenase inhibitors abolish proliferation of human pancreatic cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 261:218–223
- Mouria M, Gukovskaya AS, Jung Y et al (2002) Food-derived polyphenols inhibit pancreatic cancer growth through mitochondrial cytochrome c release and apoptosis. Int J Cancer 98: 761–769
- 40. Ernster L (1967) DT-diaphorase. Methods Enzymol 10:309-317
- 41. Beyer RE, Segura-Aguilar J, DiBernardo S et al (1996) The role of DT-diaphorase in the maintenance of the reduced antioxidant form of coenzyme Q in membrane systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:2528–2532
- 42. Siegel D, Bolton EM, Burr JA et al (1997) The reduction of alpha-tocopherolquinone by human NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase: the role of alpha-tocopherol hydroquinone as a cellular antioxidant. Mol Pharmacol 52:300–305
- Logsdon CD, Simeone DM, Binkley C et al (2003) Molecular profiling of pancreatic adenocarcinoma and chronic pancreatitis identifies multiple genes differentially regulated in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 63:2649–2657
- 44. Lewis A, Ough M, Du J et al (2005) Targeting NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) in pancreatic cancer. Mol Carcinog 43:215–224
- 45. Szatrowski TP, Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res 51(3):794–798
- 46. Coleman MC, Asbury C, Daniels DH et al (2008) Inhibition of glucose metabolism in pancreatic cancer induces cytotoxicity via metabolic oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 44: 322–332
- 47. Du J, Daniels DH, Asbury CA et al (2006) Mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species mediate dicumarol-induced cytotoxicity in cancer cells. J Biol Chem 281:37416–37426
- 48. Graumlich JF, Ludden TM, Conry-Cantilena C et al (1997) Phamacokinetic model of ascorbic acid in healthy male volunteers during depletion and repletion. Pharm Res 14:1133–1139

- 13 Oxidative Stress and Pancreatic Cancer
- 49. Riordan NH, Riordan HD, Meng X et al (1995) Intravenous ascorbate as a tumor cytotoxic chemotherapeutic agent. Med Hypotheses 44:207–213
- 50. Chen Q, Espey MG, Krishna MC et al (2005) Pharmacologic ascorbic acid concentrations selectively kill cancer cells: action as a pro-drug to deliver hydrogen peroxide to tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:13604–13609
- 51. Chen Q, Espey MG, Sun AY et al (2008) Pharmacologic doses of ascorbate act as a prooxidant and decrease growth of aggressive tumor xenografts in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:11105–11109
- 52. Chen Q, Sun AY, Espey MG et al (2007) Ascorbic acid as a pro-oxidant therapeutic agent in cancer. Free Radic Biol Med 43:S52
- Hoffer LJ, Levine M, Assouline S, et al. Phase I clinical trial of i.v. ascorbic acid in advanced malignancy. Ann. Oncology 19:1969, 2008
- 54. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E et al (2008) Cancer Statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 2:71-96

Chapter 14 Oxidative Stress and Photodynamic Therapy for Prostate Cancer

Kevin L. Du, Jarod C. Finlay, Timothy C. Zhu, and Theresa M. Busch

Abstract Photodynamic therapy (PDT) takes advantage of the generation of reactive oxygen species and subsequent oxidative effects to generate focal tissue damage. It involves the local activation of a chemical photosensitizer by a specific light wavelength corresponding to the absorption characteristics of the photosensitizer. The excited photosensitizer then transfers its energy to oxygen within the tissue, thereby creating the cytotoxic oxygen species. PDT is an established treatment modality for cancer, and its feasibility has been demonstrated for a variety of cancer types. Here, we briefly detail the known mechanisms of the photodynamic reaction, with particular attention to the role of reactive oxygen species in PDT-mediated cell death. We then describe the application of PDT in recent clinical studies for the treatment of prostate cancer.

14.1 Oxidative Stress in Photodynamic Therapy

The generation of reactive oxygen species occurs as a result of many biological processes, primarily related to aerobic metabolism, and these reactive species are incorporated into regulatory processes including redox signaling and immunologic response. These processes are important for the maintenance of homeostasis. Oxidative stress, which is the excess production of reactive oxygen species, has been demonstrated to cause cell death via apoptotic and necrotic mechanisms. Photodynamic therapy (PDT) utilizes an oxygen-dependent photochemical reaction to generate singlet oxygen, thereby taking advantage of the damaging properties

K.L. Du, MD, PhD • J.C. Finlay, PhD • T.C. Zhu, PhD • T.M. Busch, PhD (⊠) Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania,

University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine,

Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA

e-mail: buschtm@mail.med.upenn.edu

of reactive oxygen species to induce localized cell death. This oxidative effect of PDT has been demonstrated to be effective for the treatment of a variety of malignant and premalignant lesions [1, 2]. The first step of PDT is the activation of a chemical photosensitizer by a specific light wavelength corresponding to the absorption characteristics of the photosensitizer. This results in the excitation of the photosensitizer from a ground state to an excited singlet state. This then undergoes a transition to an excited triplet state that interacts with molecular oxygen ($^{3}O_{2}$), generating singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$) that reacts with nearby molecules. Since the radius of interaction for singlet oxygen is <0.2 µm and the half-life is short, <0.04 µs [3], only cells that are in the immediate vicinity of the area of activated photosensitizer are damaged. Therefore, the region of tissue damage induced by PDT is determined primarily by the distribution of light and photosensitizer in the tissue, and the transport and diffusion of singlet oxygen plays a negligible role.

PDT induces tumor damage via cellular, vascular and immunological mechanisms. Intracellular cytotoxic mechanisms include stress responses, apoptotic, necrotic, and/or autophagic cell death [4]. Vascular damage can induce vasoocclusion and hypoxia, subsequently leading to tumor cell death [5-8], as well as can cooperate with other aspects of host response to trigger activation of innate and/or adaptive immune reactions [9]. Accordingly, tumor cell death may result from the cytotoxic action of singlet oxygen directly on tumor cells during illumination, and/or as an indirect effect consequent to vascular occlusion, inflammation, and activation of host immune response. As mentioned above, because of the localized and short effect of singlet oxygen, the type of damage mediated by PDT is largely dependent on the location of the photosensitizer at the time of excitation. Factors affecting drug location include the time interval between drug administration and initiation of light delivery, as well as properties of the photosensitizer itself, e.g. lipophilicity and charge, which can determine how the photosensitizer distributes among compartments of the cell or within the vasculature. More recent efforts have been made to customize drug delivery systems using liposomal, antibody, peptide, or nanoparticle strategies for targeted localization of the photosensitizer [10–13]. In all, the nature of the cytotoxic effects of PDT are, therefore, dependent on the photosensitizer used and its dose, the drug-light interval, the total dose of light administered, the light fluence rate, and levels of preexisting and treatment-induced tumor cell hypoxia.

14.2 Direct Cytotoxicity

14.2.1 Considerations: Effects of the Local Microenvironment

In PDT, direct cell cytotoxicity to tumor cells and host tissue in the treatment field is mediated by the action of reactive oxygen species produced by the photochemical reaction. The extent and distribution of damage is necessarily, therefore, a function of the local distributions of photosensitizer, oxygen and light, the presence of all of which are necessary to produce singlet oxygen. However, the distribution of all of these factors can be highly heterogeneous within and between tumors [14–17]. Furthermore, PDT will affect local concentrations. Photosensitizer itself can be destroyed by reactive oxygen species (photobleaching), reducing its concentration as treatment progresses. The photochemical reaction can consume oxygen in the tissues being treated, thereby limiting the continued production of singlet oxygen. Moreover, an interdependence exists among these factors, and, for example, changes in the oxygenation status of a tumor has the potential to affect light distribution at specific wavelengths because oxygenated hemoglobin absorbs less light at 630 nm than does deoxygenated hemoglobin [18].

In order to increase the direct cytotoxicity of PDT, including its damage of tumor and vascular cells, various approaches have been studied to compensate for the heterogeneities and dynamics in key PDT components. Adjusting the delivered light dose based on individualized assessment of photosensitizer distributions within a tumor serves to improve the consistency in response [19]. Oxygen levels during PDT can be better maintained if the partial pressure of oxygen in the treated tissues is increased through hyperoxia or hyperbaric oxygen breathing [20, 21] or if the fluence rate of illumination is lowered [15, 22], allowing greater opportunity for replenishment of tissue oxygen through the blood supply to keep pace with its consumption by the photochemical process. Alternatively, fractionation of the treatment light into rapid on/off cycles can also allow for recovery of tumor oxygenation during treatment due to the intermittent nature of light delivery [23, 24]. In an effort to improve the individualized delivery of PDT, approaches toward measuring local concentrations of photosensitizer or oxygen during PDT, as well as tissue optical properties, for the purpose of real-time, adaptable treatment dosimetry are in various stages of development [25].

Even when considering the direct cellular target of PDT-created damage some heterogeneity exists. Within the cell itself, the localization pattern of photosensitizer will determine subcellular targets and can include various cellular structures. Cytotoxicity can result from loss of cellular, mitochondrial, endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, or lysosomal membrane integrity [26–28], depending on photosensitizer localization, although DNA damage induced by PDT is limited because most photosensitizers do not demonstrate significant localization to the nucleus [29]. In addition to inflicting direct cytotoxicity on a specific target, oxidative stress can also initiate a series of cellular mechanisms and signaling pathways [30, 31] that the cell induces in an attempt to recover from cellular damage, and which can ultimately lead to cell death. The mechanisms of cell death that are induced by PDT can include both apoptosis and necrosis, and PDT can also trigger autophagy as a cytotoxic event.

14.2.2 Apoptosis

Previous studies have demonstrated that photosensitizers that localize to the mitochondria are very potent inducers of apoptosis [28, 32]. Photosensitizers exhibiting mitochondrial localization include those that are hydrophobic or negatively charged,
such as silicon phthalocyanine Pc4 [33], benzoporphyrin derivative monoacid ring A (BPD) [34], 2-devinyl-2-(1-hexyloxyethyl)pyropheophorbide (HPPH) [35], and Photofrin [36], as well as aminolevulinic (ALA)-induced protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) [37]. The apoptotic pathway is initiated by the permeabilization of the mitochondrial membrane, either by direct interaction with the membrane, or by activation of upstream mediators. The mechanisms for this have primarily been demonstrated by in vitro experiments in cell culture. Photodynamic treatment of cells with photosensitizers that localize to the mitochondria can result in a rapid release of cytochrome c into the cytoplasm [38–40]. Upon its release into the cytoplasm, cytochrome c interacts with apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (APAF1) and dATP in the formation of the apoptosome, subsequently leading to generation of caspases that cleave processpase 3 to caspase 3. Caspase 3 triggers a cascade of caspases that cleave proteins such as poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP), DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), and inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase (ICAD), leading to DNA fragmentation [4, 41].

Independent of direct PDT-induced mitochondrial damage, activation of apoptosis via an extrinsic pathway can also occur. In the latter pathway, the apoptotic signal initiates from the cell surface when death ligands such as Fas ligand (FasL), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) bind to their receptors. This ultimately leads to the formation and activation of a dimer of procaspase-8 and procaspase-10, which then triggers the caspase cascade through caspases 3 and 7 [29]. Examples of PDT-mediated activation of this pathway include apoptosis induced by Rose Bengal in HL-60 cells [42] and by Photofrin in NR-S1 tumors [43].

The role of Bcl-2 family members of pro- and antiapoptotic genes has been examined in PDT by several investigators. In particular, transfection of the antiapoptotic genes Bcl-2 [44, 45] or Bcl- $X_{\rm L}$ [46] into cell lines were demonstrated in in vitro experiments to inhibit PDT-mediated apoptosis, although this finding may depend upon the conditions employed for PDT photosensitization [44]. It has also been reported that Bcl-2 transfection can lead to increases in the stability of bax, a proapoptotic Bcl-2 family member, which contributes to a finding that apoptosis increased, not decreased, after PDT of Bcl-2-transfected cells [47]. However, a protective role for Bcl-2 in PDT-mediated responses has been confirmed through in vitro investigations with a Bcl-2 antagonist. In these studies, PDT-mediated apoptosis increased and cell viability decreased when PDT was performed of cells preincubated in HA14-1, a small molecule Bcl-2 antagonist [48].

While it has clearly been demonstrated that apoptotic pathways are induced by PDT, inhibition of these pathways may, at least in some instances, be compensated for by alternative mechanisms of cell death. Xue et al. reported that caspase 3 deficient breast cancer cells failed to demonstrate PARP cleavage and DNA fragmentation after PDT [49]. The apoptotic response could be recovered with the reintroduction of caspase 3 into this cell line; however, the extent of PDT-induced cell death was similar between the caspase 3 negative and caspase 3 positive cell lines regardless of the absence or recovery of the apoptotic response. Thus, the data suggest a role for cell death pathways other than apoptosis after PDT of these cell lines.

14.2.3 Autophagy

There have been recent reports that PDT may induce autophagy as a mechanism of cell death [50]. In particular, Buytaert et al. evaluated PDT in wild-type and apoptosisdeficient Bax/Bak knockout cells [27]. The apoptosis deficient cells underwent nonapoptotic cell death displaying characteristics of autophagy. The inhibition of autophagy by wortmannin reduced PDT-mediated cell death in these knockout cells, demonstrating that autophagy did function as a prodeath mechanism. Similarly, Xue et al. demonstrated autophagy to occur after PDT with Bax deficient and caspase-3 deficient cell lines [51]. Bcl-2 overexpression was able to protect neither against the development of autophagy nor against cell death in these cells, suggesting that cells deficient in apoptosis may alternatively die via an autophagic response.

14.2.4 Necrosis

Cell death by necrosis can be induced by PDT-generated reactive species, leading to respiratory catastrophe, ATP depletion, and loss of plasma membrane integrity [29]. This process is also accompanied by cell swelling and loss of mitochondrial membrane potential [52]. Taken together, current data suggest that cell type, photosensitizer localization, and light and photosensitizer doses all can affect the prevalence of cell death by necrosis [53–55]. For example, short incubation times that favor drug localization to the plasma membrane [52], as well as increasing light dose [56] led to necrotic as opposed to other mechanisms of cell death.

14.3 Tumor Vascular Targeting

Vascular damage occurs in cases where photosensitizer activation occurs within the endothelial cells or vascular space, resulting in direct vascular endothelial cell destruction. Vascular damage can accompany direct tumor cell damage, for example such as that found after typical Photofrin-PDT protocols [57]. Alternatively, PDT can be designed to specifically target the blood vessels by initiating illumination shortly after i.v. injection of photosensitizer, for example the approach used in PDT of age-related macular degeneration [58]. Observable effects of PDT-induced vascular damage can include thrombus formation, vasospasm, vascular leakage and occlusion, but the specific nature of these effects is dependent on the light and photosensitizer used and their respective doses [59].

Among others, Visudyne (Verteporfin; BPD) and Tookad (WST09) are photosensitizers that have been used as vascular-targeting agents in conjunction with PDT. Verteporfin-PDT is FDA-approved for treatment of age-related macular degeneration and commonly involves illumination (690 nm light) at 5 min after 10 min of drug infusion [60, 61]. Using similar protocols, Verteporfin has been applied in vascular-targeting PDT of rodent tumors. Chen et al. [62] demonstrated a primarily intravascular localization of Verteporfin in a rat prostate model at 15 min after its intravenous administration. Light delivery at this time resulted in substantial decreases in tumor perfusion measured immediately after PDT that endured throughout the monitoring period of 60 min and led to prominent increases in tumor hypoxia. Tookad-mediated PDT of tumor vasculature was evaluated by Huang et al. [63, 64] using interstitial delivery of 763 nm light to the canine prostate simultaneous with drug infusion. One week after PDT, histopathologic sections of the prostate gland were examined. Lesions were characterized by hemorrhagic necrosis with necrotic debris at the center of the exposed regions. Remaining blood vessels exhibited fibrinous necrosis and thrombosis. Interestingly, there were some regions of PDT-induced damage that extended beyond the predicted depth of light penetration; this was speculated to be due to vasculature ablation within the primary lesions resulting in downstream hypoxia and necrosis in distal tissues.

PDT-created vascular damage can create a hypoxic tumor environment that compliments the effects of direct cell damage in causing tumor cell death, but also contributes to upregulation of cell stress proteins and angiogenic factors. For example, PDT in vitro or in vivo can induce expression of heat shock proteins [65-68] that act as chaperone proteins to sequester damaged components of the cell, glucose regulated proteins [69–71] that play a role in calcium homeostasis, and heme oxygenase proteins [72, 73] that can regulate levels of certain antioxidants. More recently, focus has been placed on PDT-induced increases in the expression of proteins associated with angiogenesis, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), matrix metalloproteinases (MMP), and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) [74]. Combining PDT with pharmaceuticals that inhibit these molecules can improve PDT responses. For example, Avastin (bevacizumab), a humanized monoclonal antibody against VEGF, and Prinomastat, an MMP inhibitor, improved the PDT response of human tumor xenografts and murine tumors, respectively [75–77]. Celecoxib, a COX-2 inhibitor, increased PDT cytotoxicity both in vitro and in vivo. The combination of PDT and Celecoxib was associated with increases in tumor cell apoptosis in vitro, suggesting that Celecoxib could augment the direct cell effects of PDT induced by oxidative stress, while in vivo, a role for Celecoxib in decreasing PDT-induced expression of angiogenic and inflammatory mediators was found [78].

14.4 Immunogenic Response

The immune response against cancer cells has been extensively studied and is recognized to play a key role in the progression of cancer [79, 80]. Immunotherapy has become an attractive emerging paradigm for the treatment of cancer, as it would allow not only the destruction of cancer cells at the primary site, but also a systemic response that would theoretically destroy local-regional cancer cell metastases as well as distant metastases. This enhanced tumoricidal effect may assist with long-term tumor control. PDT has been demonstrated to exert a potential stimulatory effect on the immune system, which can significantly contribute to tumor responses [9]. This stimulatory effect can be accompanied a local suppressive effect due to PDT damage of immune cells in the treatment field, but much data supports a role for PDT-induced antitumor immunity in achieving tumor control [81].

PDT results in a rapid inflammatory response at the site of treatment. This is associated with the mobilization of inflammatory and immune factors including interleukin 6 (IL-6), macrophage inflammatory protein 1/2 (MIP1/2), IL1beta, IL8, and IL10 [82–84]. There is a systemic increase and localized infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages following PDT [82, 85–88] that is essential to PDT response to certain illumination conditions [84, 89]. Studies examining the effects of depletion of inflammatory factors after PDT confirm their contribution to the PDT effect. For example, therapeutic effect was abrogated in vivo when PDT was combined with a molecule that interferes with IL-6 signaling [90].

One compelling demonstration of the importance of the immune response to the effectiveness of PDT came from mouse studies in which it was observed that immunodeficient mice implanted with a mammary sarcoma had a higher rate of tumor recurrence after PDT than did tumor-bearing immunocompetent mice treated on the same PDT protocol [91]. The rate of tumor recurrence after PDT was decreased by reconstituting the immunodeficient mice with bone marrow from immuno-competent mice. Conversely, there was an increased rate of tumor recurrence in immunocompetent mice whose bone marrow was reconstituted from the bone marrow of immunocompromised mice. Thus, these studies suggested that lymphocytes played a role in immune response to PDT.

Others have more specifically examined the role of T-cells in PDT responses. Kabingu et al. showed that local treatment with PDT could suppress the growth of tumors outside of the treatment field and that this antitumor immunity was dependent on the presence of cytotoxic (CD8+) T-cells [92]. In animals bearing multiple tumors, PDT of one tumor led to an influx of cytotoxic T cells into an untreated tumor, and the adaptive transfer of these T cells into naïve animals enabled the animals to suppress the growth of a subsequent tumor challenge. In another study, Castano et al. [93] demonstrated that memory immunity after PDT was potentiated by low dose cyclophosphamide that reduces the number of regulatory T-cells. Regulatory T-cells can suppress cytotoxic T-cells. Their findings showed that when combined with PDT low dose cyclophosphamide increased the cytolytic activity of tumor-specific T cells in the spleen and improved tumor cure rates. Furthermore, when cured animals were reinjected with tumor cells, the cells were rejected in the majority of mice and did not form tumors.

A link between PDT-induced innate cell infiltration and antitumor immunity has also been established. In a study by Kousis et al, PDT-induced cytotoxic T-cell responses were examined in animals that were chemically depleted of neutrophil activity or exhibited impaired neutrophil migration due to genetic alteration. When neutrophil involvement in PDT response was abrogated through these means, a decrease was found in T-cell infiltration of PDT-treated murine tumors, as well as in the proliferation of these T-cells [94]. It was possible to transfer to naïve mice a durable antitumor immune memory induced by PDT conditions that caused high, but not low, levels of neutrophil influx into the treated field.

14.5 PDT for Prostate Cancer

14.5.1 The Principles of Prostate PDT

There are clear advantages of PDT over other therapies for localized disease such as surgery or radiation therapy. PDT does not appear to target DNA, and has not been demonstrated to have the risk of secondary malignancies or late tissue side effects. Therefore, it is likely that repeated PDT sessions could be given for increased efficacy or for treatment of recurrent disease, with a lower likelihood of long-term morbidities as one might observe with radiation therapy. PDT, if appropriately applied, also appears to specifically damage the glandular epithelium of target tissues and therefore maintains the stromal architecture of the organ, again minimizing the risk of secondary morbidities [95, 96]. With respect to cancer treatment, PDT is an attractive therapy because there is little cross-resistance with chemotherapy or radiation therapy mechanisms [97]; thus, PDT can be considered for patients who have failed or received maximum doses of these other modalities.

The effective illumination of large tissue volumes for PDT requires use of interstitial optical fibers. Extensive experience in the treatment of prostate cancer with interstitial brachytherapy makes this disease an excellent model for the study of interstitial light delivery, which can benefit from existing techniques for placement of brachytherapy implants within solid organs. Additionally, the prostate is an attractive target for interstitial PDT due to its size, which accommodates comprehensive treatment of the entire organ. Prostate cancer is the most common visceral cancer in men in the USA [98]. Current treatments for early stage prostate cancer are radical prostatectomy, external beam radiation therapy, brachytherapy, and androgen deprivation therapy. For patients who present with recurrence or disease after radiation therapy, salvage options are limited and include radical prostatectomy [99], cryosurgery [100], or an additional course of radiation therapy. These salvage therapies carry an increased risk of morbidities [101-103], and therefore novel modalities for the treatment of recurrent prostate cancer would be of considerable benefit to expanding patient treatment options and increasing quality of life [104]. Several principles are important to be considered in the design and optimization of PDT for prostate cancer:

- 1. Prostate cancer is a multifocal disease [105, 106] and current imaging techniques cannot detect microscopic disease in the entire gland. Therefore, it is essential that any interstitial PDT approach provide comprehensive coverage throughout the entire gland.
- 2. The PDT dose must be controlled so that there is damage to the prostate epithelium but sparing of the underlying stroma, therefore maintaining the structural integrity of the prostate gland [107].
- 3. Normal tissues, particularly the bladder, rectum, and neurovascular bundle must be spared significant damage from the PDT dose [63].

4. An ideal salvage therapy would allow for repeated treatments with minimal additional morbidity. Therefore, a safe and minimally invasive approach for drug and light delivery must be established to conveniently retreat the prostate with PDT [64].

The effectiveness of PDT depends on the spatial and temporal interactions between photosensitizer, light and oxygen. As already described, these variables include photosensitizer type, concentration, biodistribution, the wavelength, total light dose, fluence rate, and drug-to-light interval of light delivered, tissue optical properties, and tumor oxygenation state [15, 107–122]. We, and others, have shown substantial intra- and interpatient heterogeneity in these variables in prostate glands from patients with prostate cancer [123, 124], which points to the need for individual dosimetry. The optimization of these variables is critical for the design of future PDT studies.

14.5.2 Recent Clinical Trials for Prostate PDT

Recently, several groups have published their experience with PDT for prostate cancer. Moore et al. [125], reported a series of six patients treated with mesotetrahydroxyphenylchlorin (mTHPC). These patients had prostate cancer that was confined to the organ, Gleason scores were all 3+3, and PSA ranged from 1.9 to 15. These patients had not received prior definitive treatment for their cancer. mTHPC was administered and between 2 and 5 days later, the photosensitizer was activated by light delivered via brachytherapy catheters. Treatment was only limited to the regions of the prostate where there was biopsy proven cancer, and there was no attempt to treat the gland comprehensively. Four of the six patients had a repeat PDT session, following the finding of biopsy proven persistent disease at 3 month follow-up. PDT was well-tolerated in this study; however, one patient developed a gram-negative sepsis requiring antibiotic treatment. PSA response was variable in this study, with 8 of 10 PDT treatments resulting in PSA response range from a reduction of 67% to an increase of 133% at the post treatment nadir, which occurred between 1 and 10 months after PDT. In all patients, while necrosis and fibrosis was seen in post-PDT biopsy, there was also residual disease identified in all patients. Nevertheless, this study does demonstrate the feasibility of this approach, with demonstrated treatment effect.

Trachtenberg et al. [126], recently reported their experience using Tookad (WST09) mediated PDT in a Phase II trial for salvage therapy of recurrent prostate cancer after external beam radiation therapy. Tookad is a photosensitizer that has been demonstrated to primarily localize to the vasculature and is activated at a long wavelength (763 nm), providing greater depth of light penetration. This trial attempted to treat the entire gland via a vascular ablation approach. Twenty-eight patients were enrolled in this study, which incorporated escalating light doses of delivery. As the light dose increased, there was a greater vascular response as

measured by MRI and less residual cancer as determined by biopsy at 6 months. For patients who had large avascular lesions, which the authors defined as >60% of the prostate, all had negative biopsies at follow-up. In addition, there were patients who had much smaller avascular lesions who were also complete responders. Toxicities were significant, with two patients developing urethrorectal fisulas. PSA levels decreased initially at 1 month after PDT and, in patients with low baseline PSA, remained undetectable at 6 months, while in patients with higher baseline PSA, there was a subsequent increase in PSA by 6 months. This study demonstrated the potential for pathologic complete response over a short-term follow up (6 months) and emphasizes the need for longer term studies.

Our group at the University of Pennsylvania has performed extensive studies using Motexafin Lutetium (MLu) as a photosensitizer for prostate PDT. Motexafin Lutetium is a pentadentate aromatic metallotexaphyrin that has an absorption peak at 732 nm [127-129]. We have completed a Phase I trial of Motexafin Lutetiummediated PDT in patients with locally recurrent prostate adenocarcinoma who have previously been treated with definitive radiotherapy. The primary end point of this trial was to determine the maximally tolerated dose and dose limiting toxicities. Secondary end points were (1) to measure Motexafin Lutetium levels in needle biopsies of the prostate pre- and post-PDT. (2) To use optical methods to measure Motexafin Lutetium fluorescence in situ in the prostate pre- and post-PDT and to correlate these results with the direct tissue measurements made in biopsies following tissue solubilization. Optical spectroscopic methods were also used to measure the optical properties and the absorption spectrum of the prostate pre- and post-PDT. (3) To calculate the percent change in Motexafin Lutetium concentration after treatment. (4) To measure clinical outcome from time of PDT salvage therapy; including clinical response, progression-free survival, and time to biochemical relapse, after Motexafin Lutetium-mediated PDT in patients with recurrent prostate cancer. (5) To use a multimodality optical instrument to monitor tissue optical properties, photosensitizer concentration, tissue blood oxygenation, and blood flow throughout treatment at a single position in the prostate. While these measurements provided some overlap with the pre- and post-PDT spectroscopic measurements, their purpose was to monitor the dynamic changes in blood flow and oxygenation continuously throughout treatment.

We enrolled 18 patients in this trial with localized recurrent prostate adenocarcinoma [130]. Nine patients had been previously treated with interstitial brachytherapy, and 8 had been treated with external beam irradiation; 1 patient was excluded after enrollment based on extracapsular extension. At the time of recurrence, the median PSA was 7.4 ng/mL (range of >0.2–13.6 ng/mL) with Gleason scores of 6 in 3 patients, 7 in 8 patients, 8 in 2 patients, 9 in 3 patients, and one patient whose biopsy specimen was too small to score. Treatment was tolerated well, although one patient at the highest light dose level developed a urethrorectal fistula. PSA levels were followed at each patient visit with the finding that at 1 day after PDT PSA levels significantly increased relative to baseline values [131], likely due to treatment induced prostatic tissue damage. This was typically followed by a rapid return of



Fig. 14.1 Time course of PSA response to comprehensive treatment of the prostate with Motexafin Lutetium-mediated PDT. The percent change (mean \pm SE) in PSA was calculated as ($100*(PSA_{after PDT} - PSA_{before PDT})/PSA_{before PDT}$) for each patient using the pre-PDT PSA value closest to the time of treatment and the post-PDT PSA value in the time frame of interest. Wk=week; m=month; "*" = p<0.05 for Wilcoxon signed rank test comparing post-PDT PSA values to baseline measurement in the same patient. Reprinted with permission from Clin Cancer Res. 2008 Aug 1;14(15):4869–4876

elevated PSA to pre-PDT levels within 1–2 months, followed by a maintenance phase of stable or gradually increasing PSA values (Fig. 14.1). Yet, ultimately all patients did experience biochemical failure. In this study, the treatment-induced change in PSA level was analyzed relative to PDT dose, with PDT dose defined as the product of prostate photosensitizer concentration and the in situ measured light dose. Patients who received a high PDT dose had an increase in PSA concentration at day 1 that was ~50% greater than that found in patients treated with a low PDT dose. Patients who received high PDT dose also demonstrated a more durable PSA response. In these patients, the length of time between PDT and a nonreversible increase in PSA to a value greater than or equal to baseline was a median of 82 days, versus 43 days in patients who received lower PDT doses.

Altogether, these initial clinical studies have demonstrated that PDT for prostate cancer is feasible and that there is a treatment response. However, they have also clearly demonstrated that further refinement is required for this therapy to be consistently reliable. Our experience suggests that consistent treatment will largely be dependent on accurate understanding of dosimetric issues – in particular the interaction between photosensitizer, light and oxygen distributions, and how they affect the overall PDT dose to the prostate gland. The next section details some of our observations on this and outlines our current approach toward optimizing PDT dosimetry.

14.5.3 Optical Properties of the Prostate

Optical properties were measured in 14 of the patients that were treated in our Phase I study [123, 124], using spherical light detectors placed at fixed distances from the light source. Light delivery to one quadrant of the prostate was found to result in delivery of a measurable fluence to other quadrants as well. The dominant absorbers in the wavelength range of measurements are oxygenated and deoxygenated hemoglobin, Motexafin Lutetium, and water. At 732 nm, the absorption coefficient (μ_a) varied from 0.07 to 1.62 cm⁻¹ (mean 0.37±0.24 cm⁻¹) and the reduced scattering coefficient (μ_s') varied from 1.1 to 44 cm⁻¹ (mean 14±11 cm⁻¹). The effective attenuation coefficient (μ_{eff}), defined as ($3\mu_a\mu_s'$)½ [132] varied between 0.91 and 6.7 cm⁻¹ (mean 2.9 ± 0.7 cm⁻¹), corresponding to an optical penetration depth of 0.1–1.1 cm (mean 0.4 ± 0.1 cm). The maximum variation of the mean in all patients. The variations within a single patient were as large as 300% for μ_a and 1,000% for μ_s' . Therefore, the optical penetration depth varied by 290% within a single patient's prostate.

Clearly, there is a significant heterogeneity of optical properties throughout the prostate gland, at this wavelength, which can contribute to variable fluence rates at any given location, and lead to inaccuracy in PDT dose deposition. This can cause overdosing, which can result in increased toxicities, and this can also cause underdosing, which can result in untreated regions of the prostate. Therefore, there is a need for an in situ dosimetry system to ensure accurate dosing of PDT in prostate, and several groups are presently working on developing such a system [16, 133–135]. Light measurements are required to determine the actual light dose deposited within the prostate gland, which includes both incident and scattered light. Modeling algorithms for PDT treatment planning should take this variation into account and, in theory, should correct for it in real-time to allow for a consistent deposition of light dose throughout the prostate.

Our group has developed a treatment planning system for an optically heterogeneous prostate gland based on the Cimmino feasibility algorithm. For this optimization, a light-fluence matrix is calculated for a heterogeneous tissue domain for each linear source at each location [16]. The initial treatment plan is calculated based on the average optical properties of our previously treated patients, assuming an optically homogeneous prostate. During treatment, this plan is modified based on real time in vivo measurements of light-fluence rate at various locations within the target tissue. The treatment time at each source point is modified based on the ratio of the prescribed light fluence and half of the maximum fluence rate measured in each quadrant of the prostate (the approximate mean fluence rate of the quadrant). The time required for this optimization for a 12 light source plan is 37 s, and for a 35 source plan is 137–148 s, and efforts are underway to shorten this calculation time. A dose–volume histogram of PDT dose demonstrates that there are significant differences between the dose distributions of the initial and optimized treatment plans, indicating the importance of accurate measurement of the optical properties of the prostate [136]. Furthermore, recent developments demonstrate the potential to directly optimize PDT dose distribution by incorporating the heterogeneous distribution of photosensitizer and optical properties [137].

14.5.4 Photosensitizer Biodistribution Within the Prostate

Motexafin Lutetium levels in prostate biopsies were measured by fluorescence spectroscopy. In general, drug levels increased with increasing injected drug dose or decreasing drug–light interval [138]. The measurement was performed with a single optical fiber beveled to emit light at a right angle to the fiber axis. This fiber acted as the source of 465-nm excitation light and as the collector of fluorescence light emitted by the sensitizer [138]. In addition, diffuse transmission spectroscopy measurements, in which a broadband light-emitting fiber was placed in one catheter in the prostate and an isotropic detection fiber connected to a spectrograph was scanned along a parallel catheter, were used to detect the characteristic absorption of the drug [124]. Again, variability was apparent between patients at the same drug dose level, and between biopsy locations in the same prostate. There was an overall decrease in post-PDT drug levels, perhaps due to treatment-related photobleaching. When comparing in situ optical measurements of Motexafin Lutetium with direct tissue spectroscopy measurements, a linear relationship was noted between the absorption coefficient and the drug concentration in the prostate [124].

Another interesting feature is that Motexafin Lutetium levels varied by as much as fivefold over a distance of less than 1 cm within a single prostate (Fig. 14.2) [124, 138]. Others have also reported on intraprostate heterogeneity in photosensitizer distribution [17]. The degree of intraprostate variation may be, at least in part, a result of the heterogeneity of the tissue itself, which includes both normal prostate and foci of cancer. There is also possibly a vascular component, with variations in vascular density or perfusion that may limit the delivery of blood and photosensitizer to regions of the gland. Whatever the underlying cause of the variations in optical property and sensitizer heterogeneity, it is important to take them into account in treatment planning.

14.5.5 Prostate Oxygenation and Blood Flow

Tissue oxygen concentrations during PDT are influenced by blood flow and blood oxygenation, among other factors. The destruction of tumor vasculature by PDT leads to oxygen and nutrient deprivation of tumor cells and therefore can benefit response. However, vascular occlusion during PDT may also lead to tumor hypoxia during treatment, resulting in decreased efficacy. In preclinical models, both blood flow and hemoglobin oxygen saturation have demonstrated therapeutic significance for PDT [139–142]. Monitoring of blood flow and oxygenation status during



Fig. 14.2 Fluorescence profiles of the distribution of Motexafin Lutetium in the four quadrants of the prostate of a representative patient on a clinical trial of Motexafin Lutetium-PDT for prostate cancer. Plots indicate Motexafin Lutetium concentration before (dashed lines) and after (solid lines) illumination for PDT. Frames (a) through (d) depict the results from the right upper, left upper, left lower and right lower quadrants, respectively, as indicated in the panel titles. Data were corrected for optical properties as described in the source publication. Reprinted with permission from Photochemistry and Photobiology, 2006, 82:1270–1278

PDT is, therefore, of interest in our clinical trial. Using a near-infrared diffuse optical instrument combining diffuse reflectance spectroscopy (DRS), for the measurement of hemoglobin oxygenation and total hemoglobin concentration, with diffuse correlation spectroscopy (DCS), for measurement of tissue blood flow [140, 143–147], we have measured hemodynamic responses to PDT in 3 of our Phase I patients. A fiber-optic probe containing a source and detector was placed into a brachytherapy catheter in the center of each quadrant of the prostate gland, and remained in place throughout the treatment. All 3 patients demonstrated similar blood flow responses. Average post-PDT blood flow and total hemoglobin both decreased, and blood oxygen saturation remained relatively constant (Fig. 14.3). The decrease in blood flow and total hemoglobin concentration indicates a



Fig. 14.3 Time course of changes in prostate hemodynamic properties during PDT of a representative patient with prostate cancer. Individual panels from top to bottom demonstrate, respectively, the dynamic changes in relative blood flow (**a**), total hemoglobin concentration (THC; **b**), and tissue blood oxygen saturation (StO₂; **c**). The patient was illuminated sequentially in four sessions (S1 to S4) until the entire gland was treated. The illumination periods are presented as shaded bars. Reprinted with permission from Photochemistry and Photobiology, 2006, 82:1279–1284

perfusion decrease, likely due to vascular destruction mediated by PDT. Intriguingly, the relatively unchanged hemoglobin oxygen saturation suggests that oxygen consumption during illumination may have been small at the site of the vasculature or balanced by other PDT-induced effects. For example, PDT-mediated cell death could potentially reduce metabolic tissue oxygen consumption. Further study will be done to relate hemodynamic responses to clinical outcome.

14.5.6 New Directions in Prostate-PDT

Overall, our initial clinical studies, as well as those of other groups, have demonstrated the potential to safely deliver PDT to the prostate gland at doses of photosensitizer and light sufficient to induce cell death within the prostate. A significant finding of these studies is the intrapatient and interpatient heterogeneity in light, photosensitizer, oxygen, and tissue optical properties within the prostate. This heterogeneity is not surprising and has been observed in other human studies of PDT that have been performed [148–152]. However, it does raise the concern that needle placement in any one individual may not correspond with consistent dose delivery and may lead to "skip" areas within the prostate gland. Given this possibility, it may be beneficial to deliver PDT to the gland in a two-phase or fractionated schedule to help ensure a uniform delivery of dose to the prostate, although to date no clinical trials have been published that test this approach.

Another potentially new direction for PDT of the prostate is focal treatment of the gland, which is an active area of investigation in cancer sites including breast cancer and central nervous system cancers. A contemporary controversy is the possibility of treating focal regions of cancer within the prostate rather than treating the gland comprehensively [153]. This is largely driven by the desire to spare patients the increased morbidity, primarily urinary dysfunction and sexual dysfunction resulting from treatment of the entire gland. Classically, this has not been an acceptable treatment for prostate cancer. Prostate cancer is frequently multifocal, and the current commonly employed diagnostic methods of biopsy and radiologic evaluation are not sensitive enough to reliably detect and map multifocal disease within the prostate. Therefore, the current standard of care for prostate cancer is the treatment of the entire prostate, with the primary goal to maximize the chances of cure. However, there is a current debate on whether focal treatment may safely be considered in carefully selected patients. In particular, these patients would ideally have biologically indolent cancers that are likely to be well-localized and have a low risk for metastasis. They would have a more extensive workup to characterize the focality of their cancer including a more comprehensive prostate biopsy and endorectal coil MRI. They would also have to accept the increased risk of a subcurative treatment and would have to follow a very close surveillance schedule to monitor for progression of their cancer.

PDT may be a suitable modality for focal treatment of prostate cancer [154, 155] as it would be readily repeatable with minimal additional morbidity, and as the initial treatment of prostate cancer with PDT would not preclude management with either surgery or radiation therapy at a later time. However, the focal treatment of prostate cancer remains an area of intense controversy.

The treatment of prostate cancer using PDT presents significant challenges, whether the treatment of focal disease of the ablation of the entire gland is considered. In both cases, the problem of delivering a predictable (and possibly nonuniform) photodynamic dose to an optically nonuniform (and unpredictable) organ requires the ability to deliver treatment tailored to the individual patient's prostate at the time of treatment. Our efforts so far have focused on tailoring the treatment to the patient's

optical properties, ensuring a consistent light dose. The cytotoxic effect, however, depends on the distributions of available sensitizer and oxygen as well. An area of ongoing research in our laboratory and others is the development of the capability to perform real-time optical measurements to determine the spatial distributions of sensitizer, oxygen (via hemoglobin saturation), and optical properties. Given this information, it should be possible to optimize not just the light dose and the photodynamic dose, but the deposited singlet oxygen dose as well. It is expected that a singlet oxygen dose-optimized treatment will lead to better outcomes, especially in patients with highly heterogeneous sensitizer distributions or variable tissue oxygenation.

14.6 Conclusions

Interstitial PDT holds an enormous potential for treating locally confined prostate cancer. Especially attractive is the potential to treat repeatedly with only mild additional morbidities. Overall, the results from early clinical trials have been encouraging. They have demonstrated that photosensitizer and light can be successfully delivered, with only mild and transient toxicities. Moreover, there is a significant clinical response with prostatic tissue inflammation and damage, and short-term biochemical responses. It remains to be seen, however, whether comprehensive treatment of the gland is clinically achievable and, of course, whether long-term PSA responses and clinical benefits are possible.

The heterogeneity observed in optical properties, drug distribution, and tissue oxygenation underscores the need for continued detailed study of the parameters that affect PDT response. Ideally, PDT will be administered via a real-time system that accounts for variations in intraprostate conditions and optimizes light delivery to specific areas of the gland.

References

- Dougherty TJ (2002) An update on photodynamic therapy applications. J Clin Laser Med Surg 20:3–7
- Dougherty TJ, Gomer CJ, Henderson BW et al (1998) Photodynamic therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 90:889–905
- 3. Moan J, Berg K (1991) The photodegradation of porphyrins in cells can be used to estimate the lifetime of singlet oxygen. Photochem Photobiol 53:549–553
- Moor AC (2000) Signaling pathways in cell death and survival after photodynamic therapy. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 57:1–13
- Selman SH, Kreimer-Birnbaum M, Keck RW et al (1985) Correlation of tumor blood flow to tumor regression after hematoporphyrin derivative (HPD) photodynamic therapy to transplantable bladder tumors. Adv Exp Med Biol 193:97–103
- Selman SH, Kreimer-Birnbaum M, Klaunig JE et al (1984) Blood flow in transplantable bladder tumors treated with hematoporphyrin derivative and light. Cancer Res 44:1924–1927

- 7. Star WM, Marijnissen HP, van den Berg-Blok AE et al (1986) Destruction of rat mammary tumor and normal tissue microcirculation by hematoporphyrin derivative photoradiation observed in vivo in sandwich observation chambers. Cancer Res 46:2532–2540
- Star WM, Marijnissen JP, van den Berg-Blok AE et al (1984) Destructive effect of photoradiation on the microcirculation of a rat mammary tumor growing in "sandwich" observation chambers. Prog Clin Biol Res 170:637–645
- 9. Castano AP, Mroz P, Hamblin MR (2006) Photodynamic therapy and anti-tumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer 6:535–545
- Bechet D, Couleaud P, Frochot C et al (2008) Nanoparticles as vehicles for delivery of photodynamic therapy agents. Trends Biotechnol 26:612–621
- Chatterjee DK, Fong LS, Zhang Y (2008) Nanoparticles in photodynamic therapy: an emerging paradigm. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:1627–1637
- Bhatti M, Yahioglu G, Milgrom LR et al (2008) Targeted photodynamic therapy with multiplyloaded recombinant antibody fragments. Int J Cancer 122:1155–1163
- Verma S, Watt GM, Mai Z et al (2007) Strategies for enhanced photodynamic therapy effects. Photochem Photobiol 83:996–1005
- Busch TM, Hahn SM, Wileyto EP et al (2004) Hypoxia and Photofrin uptake in the intraperitoneal carcinomatosis and sarcomatosis of photodynamic therapy patients. Clin Cancer Res 10:4630–4638
- 15. Busch TM, Wileyto EP, Emanuele MJ et al (2002) Photodynamic therapy creates fluence rate-dependent gradients in the intratumoral spatial distribution of oxygen. Cancer Res 62:7273–7279
- Li J, Zhu TC (2008) Determination of in vivo light fluence distribution in a heterogeneous prostate during photodynamic therapy. Phys Med Biol 53:2103–2114
- Axelsson J, Swartling J, Andersson-Engels S (2009) In vivo photosensitizer tomography inside the human prostate. Opt Lett 34:232–234
- Mitra S, Foster TH (2004) Carbogen breathing significantly enhances the penetration of red light in murine tumours in vivo. Phys Med Biol 49:1891–1904
- Zhou X, Pogue BW, Chen B et al (2006) Pretreatment photosensitizer dosimetry reduces variation in tumor response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 64:1211–1220
- Huang Z, Chen Q, Shakil A et al (2003) Hyperoxygenation enhances the tumor cell killing of photofrin-mediated photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 78:496–502
- 21. Chen Q, Huang Z, Chen H et al (2002) Improvement of tumor response by manipulation of tumor oxygenation during photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 76:197–203
- 22. Sitnik TM, Hampton JA, Henderson BW (1998) Reduction of tumour oxygenation during and after photodynamic therapy in vivo: effects of fluence rate. Br J Cancer 77:1386–1394
- Woodhams JH, Kunz L, Bown SG et al (2004) Correlation of real-time haemoglobin oxygen saturation monitoring during photodynamic therapy with microvascular effects and tissue necrosis in normal rat liver. Br J Cancer 91:788–794
- 24. Tromberg BJ, Orenstein A, Kimel S et al (1990) In vivo tumor oxygen tension measurements for the evaluation of the efficiency of photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 52:375–385
- Zhu TC, Finlay JC (2008) The role of photodynamic therapy (PDT) physics. Med Phys 35:3127–3136
- Thomas JP, Girotti AW (1989) Role of lipid peroxidation in hematoporphyrin derivativesensitized photokilling of tumor cells: protective effects of glutathione peroxidase. Cancer Res 49:1682–1686
- Buytaert E, Callewaert G, Hendrickx N et al (2006) Role of endoplasmic reticulum depletion and multidomain proapoptotic BAX and BAK proteins in shaping cell death after hypericinmediated photodynamic therapy. FASEB J 20:756–758
- Kessel D, Luo Y, Deng Y et al (1997) The role of subcellular localization in initiation of apoptosis by photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 65:422–426
- 29. Buytaert E, Dewaele M, Agostinis P (2007) Molecular effectors of multiple cell death pathways initiated by photodynamic therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1776:86–107

- 30. Gomer CJ, Ferrario A, Hayashi N et al (1988) Molecular, cellular, and tissue responses following photodynamic therapy. Lasers Surg Med 8:450–463
- Oleinick NL, Evans HH (1998) The photobiology of photodynamic therapy: cellular targets and mechanisms. Radiat Res 150:S146–156
- Kessel D, Luo Y (1998) Mitochondrial photodamage and PDT-induced apoptosis. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 42:89–95
- 33. Trivedi NS, Wang HW, Nieminen AL et al (2000) Quantitative analysis of Pc 4 localization in mouse lymphoma (LY-R) cells via double-label confocal fluorescence microscopy. Photochem Photobiol 71:634–639
- 34. Belzacq AS, Jacotot E, Vieira HL et al (2001) Apoptosis induction by the photosensitizer verteporfin: identification of mitochondrial adenine nucleotide translocator as a critical target. Cancer Res 61:1260–1264
- Wilson JD, Cottrell WJ, Foster TH (2007) Index-of-refraction-dependent subcellular light scattering observed with organelle-specific dyes. J Biomed Opt 12:014010
- Wilson BC, Olivo M, Singh G (1997) Subcellular localization of Photofrin and aminolevulinic acid and photodynamic cross-resistance in vitro in radiation-induced fibrosarcoma cells sensitive or resistant to photofrin-mediated photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 65:166–176
- 37. Iinuma S, Farshi SS, Ortel B et al (1994) A mechanistic study of cellular photodestruction with 5-aminolaevulinic acid-induced porphyrin. Br J Cancer 70:21–28
- Granville DJ, Carthy CM, Jiang H et al (1998) Rapid cytochrome c release, activation of caspases 3, 6, 7 and 8 followed by Bap31 cleavage in HeLa cells treated with photodynamic therapy. FEBS Lett 437:5–10
- Granville DJ, Hunt DWC (2000) Porphyrin-mediated photosensitization taking the apoptosis fast lane. Curr Opin Drug Discov Dev 3:232–243
- 40. Varnes ME, Chiu SM, Xue LY et al (1999) Photodynamic therapy-induced apoptosis in lymphoma cells: translocation of cytochrome c causes inhibition of respiration as well as caspase activation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 255:673–679
- Oleinick NL, Morris RL, Belichenko I (2002) The role of apoptosis in response to photodynamic therapy: what, where, why, and how. Photochem Photobiol Sci 1:1–21
- Zhuang S, Lynch MC, Kochevar IE (1999) Caspase-8 mediates caspase-3 activation and cytochrome c release during singlet oxygen-induced apoptosis of HL-60 cells. Exp Cell Res 250:203–212
- 43. Yokota T, Ikeda H, Inokuchi T et al (2000) Enhanced cell death in NR-S1 tumor by photodynamic therapy: possible involvement of Fas and Fas ligand system. Lasers Surg Med 26:449–460
- 44. Granville DJ, Jiang H, An MT et al (1999) Bcl-2 overexpression blocks caspase activation and downstream apoptotic events instigated by photodynamic therapy. Br J Cancer 79:95–100
- 45. He J, Agarwal ML, Larkin HE et al (1996) The induction of partial resistance to photodynamic therapy by the protooncogene BCL-2. Photochem Photobiol 64:845–852
- 46. Granville DJ, Jiang H, An MT et al (1998) Overexpression of Bcl-X(L) prevents caspase-3mediated activation of DNA fragmentation factor (DFF) produced by treatment with the photochemotherapeutic agent BPD-MA. FEBS Lett 422:151–154
- 47. Kim HR, Luo Y, Li G et al (1999) Enhanced apoptotic response to photodynamic therapy after bcl-2 transfection. Cancer Res 59:3429–3432
- Kessel D (2008) Promotion of PDT efficacy by a Bcl-2 antagonist. Photochem Photobiol 84:809–814
- 49. Xue LY, Chiu SM, Oleinick NL (2001) Photodynamic therapy-induced death of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells: a role for caspase-3 in the late steps of apoptosis but not for the critical lethal event. Exp Cell Res 263:145–155
- Kessel D, Oleinick NL (2009) Initiation of autophagy by photodynamic therapy. Methods Enzymol 453:1–16
- 51. Xue LY, Chiu SM, Azizuddin K et al (2008) Protection by Bcl-2 against apoptotic but not autophagic cell death after photodynamic therapy. Autophagy 4:125–127

- 52. Hsieh YJ, Wu CC, Chang CJ et al (2003) Subcellular localization of Photofrin determines the death phenotype of human epidermoid carcinoma A431 cells triggered by photodynamic therapy: when plasma membranes are the main targets. J Cell Physiol 194: 363–375
- Krieg RC, Messmann H, Schlottmann K et al (2003) Intracellular localization is a cofactor for the phototoxicity of protoporphyrin IX in the gastrointestinal tract: in vitro study. Photochem Photobiol 78:393–399
- 54. Fabris C, Valduga G, Miotto G et al (2001) Photosensitization with zinc (II) phthalocyanine as a switch in the decision between apoptosis and necrosis. Cancer Res 61:7495–7500
- Wyld L, Reed MW, Brown NJ (2001) Differential cell death response to photodynamic therapy is dependent on dose and cell type. Br J Cancer 84:1384–1386
- Luo Y, Kessel D (1997) Initiation of apoptosis versus necrosis by photodynamic therapy with chloroaluminum phthalocyanine. Photochem Photobiol 66:479–483
- 57. Wang H-W, Rickter E, Yuan M et al (2007) Effect of photosensitizer dose on fluence rate responses to photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 83:1040–1048
- 58. Schmidt-Erfurth U, Hasan T (2000) Mechanisms of action of photodynamic therapy with verteporfin for the treatment of age-related macular degeneration. Surv Ophthalmol 45:195–214
- 59. Krammer B (2001) Vascular effects of photodynamic therapy. Anticancer Res 21: 4271-4277
- Mennel S, Barbazetto I, Meyer CH et al (2007) Ocular photodynamic therapy-standard applications and new indications. Part 2. Review of the literature and personal experience. Ophthalmologica 221:282–291
- Mennel S, Barbazetto I, Meyer CH et al (2007) Ocular photodynamic therapy-standard applications and new indications (part 1). Review of the literature and personal experience. Ophthalmologica 221:216–226
- Chen B, Pogue BW, Hoopes PJ et al (2005) Combining vascular and cellular targeting regimens enhances the efficacy of photodynamic therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 61:1216–1226
- 63. Huang Z, Chen Q, Dole KC et al (2007) The effect of Tookad-mediated photodynamic ablation of the prostate gland on adjacent tissues–in vivo study in a canine model. Photochem Photobiol Sci 6:1318–1324
- Huang Z, Chen Q, Luck D et al (2005) Studies of a vascular-acting photosensitizer, Pd-bacteriopheophorbide (Tookad), in normal canine prostate and spontaneous canine prostate cancer. Lasers Surg Med 36:390–397
- 65. Luna MC, Ferrario A, Wong S et al (2000) Photodynamic therapy-mediated oxidative stress as a molecular switch for the temporal expression of genes ligated to the human heat shock promoter. Cancer Res 60:1637–1644
- 66. Gomer CJ, Ryter SW, Ferrario A et al (1996) Photodynamic therapy-mediated oxidative stress can induce expression of heat shock proteins. Cancer Res 56:2355–2360
- Curry PM, Levy JG (1993) Stress protein expression in murine tumor cells following photodynamic therapy with benzoporphyrin derivative. Photochem Photobiol 58:374–379
- 68. Mitra S, Goren EM, Frelinger JG et al (2003) Activation of heat shock protein 70 promoter with meso-tetrahydroxyphenyl chlorin photodynamic therapy reported by green fluorescent protein in vitro and in vivo. Photochem Photobiol 78:615–622
- Xue LY, Agarwal ML, Varnes ME (1995) Elevation of GRP-78 and loss of HSP-70 following photodynamic treatment of V79 cells: sensitization by nigericin. Photochem Photobiol 62:135–143
- Morgan J, Whitaker JE, Oseroff AR (1998) GRP78 induction by calcium ionophore potentiates photodynamic therapy using the mitochondrial targeting dye victoria blue BO. Photochem Photobiol 67:155–164
- Gomer CJ, Ferrario A, Rucker N et al (1991) Glucose regulated protein induction and cellular resistance to oxidative stress mediated by porphyrin photosensitization. Cancer Res 51:6574–6579

- 72. Gomer CJ, Luna M, Ferrario A et al (1991) Increased transcription and translation of heme oxygenase in Chinese hamster fibroblasts following photodynamic stress or Photofrin II incubation. Photochem Photobiol 53:275–279
- Bressoud D, Jomini V, Tyrrell RM (1992) Dark induction of haem oxygenase messenger RNA by haematoporphyrin derivative and zinc phthalocyanine; agents for photodynamic therapy. J Photochem Photobiol B 14:311–318
- 74. Gomer CJ, Ferrario A, Luna M et al (2006) Photodynamic therapy: combined modality approaches targeting the tumor microenvironment. Lasers Surg Med 38:516–521
- 75. Bhuvaneswari R, Yuen GY, Chee SK et al (2007) Hypericin-mediated photodynamic therapy in combination with Avastin (bevacizumab) improves tumor response by downregulating angiogenic proteins. Photochem Photobiol Sci 6:1275–1283
- Ferrario A, Gomer CJ (2006) Avastin enhances photodynamic therapy treatment of Kaposi's Sarcoma in a mouse tumor model. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 25:251–260
- 77. Ferrario A, Chantrain CF, von Tiehl K et al (2004) The matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor prinomastat enhances photodynamic therapy responsiveness in a mouse tumor model. Cancer Res 64:2328–2332
- Ferrario A, Fisher AM, Rucker N et al (2005) Celecoxib and NS-398 enhance photodynamic therapy by increasing in vitro apoptosis and decreasing in vivo inflammatory and angiogenic factors. Cancer Res 65:9473–9478
- Zou W (2005) Immunosuppressive networks in the tumour environment and their therapeutic relevance. Nat Rev Cancer 5:263–274
- Ahmad M, Rees RC, Ali SA (2004) Escape from immunotherapy: possible mechanisms that influence tumor regression/progression. Cancer Immunol Immunother 53:844–854
- van Duijnhoven FH, Aalbers RI, Rovers JP et al (2003) The immunological consequences of photodynamic treatment of cancer, a literature review. Immunobiology 207:105–113
- Gollnick SO, Evans SS, Baumann H et al (2003) Role of cytokines in photodynamic therapyinduced local and systemic inflammation. Br J Cancer 88:1772–1779
- 83. Yom SS, Busch TM, Friedberg JS et al (2003) Elevated serum cytokine levels in mesothelioma patients who have undergone pleurectomy or extrapleural pneumonectomy and adjuvant intraoperative photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 78:75–81
- Henderson BW, Gollnick SO, Snyder JW et al (2004) Choice of oxygen-conserving treatment regimen determines the inflammatory response and outcome of photodynamic therapy of tumors. Cancer Res 64:2120–2126
- Krosl G, Korbelik M, Dougherty GJ (1995) Induction of immune cell infiltration into murine SCCVII tumour by photofrin-based photodynamic therapy. Br J Cancer 71:549–555
- Cecic I, Stott B, Korbelik M (2006) Acute phase response-associated systemic neutrophil mobilization in mice bearing tumors treated by photodynamic therapy. Int Immunopharmacol 6:1259–1266
- Cecic I, Parkins CS, Korbelik M (2001) Induction of systemic neutrophil response in mice by photodynamic therapy of solid tumors. Photochem Photobiol 74:712–720
- de Vree WJ, Essers MC, de Bruijn HS et al (1996) Evidence for an important role of neutrophils in the efficacy of photodynamic therapy in vivo. Cancer Res 56:2908–2911
- Korbelik M, Cecic I (1999) Contribution of myeloid and lymphoid host cells to the curative outcome of mouse sarcoma treatment by photodynamic therapy. Cancer Lett 137:91–98
- 90. Wei LH, Baumann H, Tracy E et al (2007) Interleukin-6 trans signalling enhances photodynamic therapy by modulating cell cycling. Br J Cancer 97:1513–1522
- 91. Korbelik M, Krosl G, Krosl J et al (1996) The role of host lymphoid populations in the response of mouse EMT6 tumor to photodynamic therapy. Cancer Res 56:5647–5652
- 92. Kabingu E, Vaughan L, Owczarczak B et al (2007) CD8+ T cell-mediated control of distant tumours following local photodynamic therapy is independent of CD4+ T cells and dependent on natural killer cells. Br J Cancer 96:1839–1848
- Castano AP, Mroz P, Wu MX et al (2008) Photodynamic therapy plus low-dose cyclophosphamide generates antitumor immunity in a mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:5495–5500

- 94. Kousis PC, Henderson BW, Maier PG et al (2007) Photodynamic therapy enhancement of antitumor immunity is regulated by neutrophils. Cancer Res 67:10501–10510
- Barr H, Tralau CJ, Boulos PB et al (1987) The contrasting mechanisms of colonic collagen damage between photodynamic therapy and thermal injury. Photochem Photobiol 46: 795–800
- Fielding DI, Buonaccorsi G, Cowley G et al (2001) Interstitial laser photocoagulation and interstitial photodynamic therapy of normal lung parenchyma in the pig. Lasers Med Sci 16:26–33
- 97. Hsi RA, Rosenthal DI, Glatstein E (1999) Photodynamic therapy in the treatment of cancer: current state of the art. Drugs 57:725–734
- 98. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E et al (2008) Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin 58:71-96
- 99. Tefilli MV, Gheiler EL, Tiguert R et al (1998) Salvage surgery or salvage radiotherapy for locally recurrent prostate cancer. Urology 52:224–229
- Pisters LL, von Eschenbach AC, Scott SM et al (1997) The efficacy and complications of salvage cryotherapy of the prostate. J Urol 157:921–925
- 101. Grado GL, Collins JM, Kriegshauser JS et al (1999) Salvage brachytherapy for localized prostate cancer after radiotherapy failure. Urology 53:2–10
- 102. Perrotte P, Litwin MS, McGuire EJ et al (1999) Quality of life after salvage cryotherapy: the impact of treatment parameters. J Urol 162:398–402
- Vaidya A, Soloway MS (2000) Salvage radical prostatectomy for radiorecurrent prostate cancer: morbidity revisited. J Urol 164:1998–2001
- 104. Moore CM, Pendse D, Emberton M (2009) Photodynamic therapy for prostate cancer–a review of current status and future promise. Nat Clin Pract Urol 6:18–30
- Djavan B, Susani M, Bursa B et al (1999) Predictability and significance of multifocal prostate cancer in the radical prostatectomy specimen. Tech Urol 5:139–142
- 106. Lee F, Bahn DK, Siders DB et al (1998) The role of TRUS-guided biopsies for determination of internal and external spread of prostate cancer. Semin Urol Oncol 16:129–136
- 107. Chang SC, Buonaccorsi G, MacRobert A et al (1996) Interstitial and transurethral photodynamic therapy of the canine prostate using meso-tetra-(m-hydroxyphenyl) chlorin. Int J Cancer 67:555–562
- Chang SC, Buonaccorsi GA, MacRobert AJ et al (1997) Interstitial photodynamic therapy in the canine prostate with disulfonated aluminum phthalocyanine and 5-aminolevulinic acidinduced protoporphyrin IX. Prostate 32:89–98
- 109. Chang SC, Chern IF, Hsu YH (1999) Biological responses of dog prostate and adjacent structures after meso-tetra-(m-hydroxyphenyl) chlorin and aluminum disulfonated phthalocyanine based photodynamic therapy. Proc Natl Sci Counc Repub China B 23:158–166
- 110. Chen Q, Huang Z, Luck D et al (2002) Preclinical studies in normal canine prostate of a novel palladium-bacteriopheophorbide (WST09) photosensitizer for photodynamic therapy of prostate cancers. Photochem Photobiol 76:438–445
- 111. Hsi RA, Kapatkin A, Strandberg J et al (2001) Photodynamic therapy in the canine prostate using motexafin lutetium. Clin Cancer Res 7:651–660
- 112. Lee LK, Whitehurst C, Chen Q et al (1997) Interstitial photodynamic therapy in the canine prostate. Br J Urol 80:898–902
- Selman SH, Albrecht D, Keck RW et al (2001) Studies of tin ethyl etiopurpurin photodynamic therapy of the canine prostate. J Urol 165:1795–1801
- 114. Selman SH, Keck RW (1994) The effect of transurethral light on the canine prostate after sensitization with the photosensitizer tin (II) etiopurpurin dichloride: a pilot study. J Urol 152:2129–2132
- 115. Selman SH, Keck RW, Hampton JA (1996) Transperineal photodynamic ablation of the canine prostate. J Urol 156:258–260
- 116. Zaak D, Sroka R, Stocker S et al (2004) Photodynamic therapy of prostate cancer by means of 5-aminolevulinic acid-induced protoporphyrin IX – in vivo experiments on the dunning rat tumor model. Urol Int 72:196–202

- 117. Chen Q, Hetzel FW (1998) Laser dosimetry studies in the prostate. J Clin Laser Med Surg 16:9–12
- 118. Chen Q, Wilson BC, Shetty SD et al (1997) Changes in in vivo optical properties and light distributions in normal canine prostate during photodynamic therapy. Radiat Res 147:86–91
- 119. Lee LK, Whitehurst C, Pantelides ML et al (1995) In situ comparison of 665 nm and 633 nm wavelength light penetration in the human prostate gland. Photochem Photobiol 62:882–886
- Arnfield MR, Tulip J, Chetner M et al (1989) Optical dosimetry for interstitial photodynamic therapy. Med Phys 16:602–608
- 121. Fenning MC, Brown DQ, Chapman JD (1994) Photodosimetry of interstitial light delivery to solid tumors. Med Phys 21:1149–1156
- 122. Solonenko M, Cheung R, Busch TM et al (2002) In vivo reflectance measurement of optical properties, blood oxygenation and motexafin lutetium uptake in canine large bowels, kidneys and prostates. Phys Med Biol 47:857–873
- 123. Zhu TC, Dimofte A, Finlay JC et al (2005) Optical properties of human prostate at 732 nm measured in mediated photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 81:96–105
- 124. Zhu TC, Finlay JC, Hahn SM (2005) Determination of the distribution of light, optical properties, drug concentration, and tissue oxygenation in-vivo in human prostate during motexafin lutetium-mediated photodynamic therapy. J Photochem Photobiol B 79:231–241
- 125. Moore CM, Nathan TR, Lees WR et al (2006) Photodynamic therapy using meso tetra hydroxy phenyl chlorin (mTHPC) in early prostate cancer. Lasers Surg Med 38:356–363
- 126. Trachtenberg J, Weersink RA, Davidson SR et al (2008) Vascular-targeted photodynamic therapy (padoporfin, WST09) for recurrent prostate cancer after failure of external beam radiotherapy: a study of escalating light doses. BJU Int 102:556–562
- 127. Sessler JL, Miller RA (2000) Texaphyrins: new drugs with diverse clinical applications in radiation and photodynamic therapy. Biochem Pharmacol 59:733–739
- Young SW, Woodburn KW, Wright M et al (1996) Lutetium texaphyrin (PCI-0123): a nearinfrared, water-soluble photosensitizer. Photochem Photobiol 63:892–897
- Mody TD, Fu L, Sessler JL (2001) Texaphyrins: synthesis and development of a novel class of therapeutic agents. In: Karlin KD (ed) Progress in inorganic chemistry. Wiley, Chichester, pp 551–598
- Du KL, Mick R, Busch TM et al (2006) Preliminary results of interstitial motexafin lutetiummediated PDT for prostate cancer. Lasers Surg Med 38:427–434
- 131. Patel H, Mick R, Finlay J et al (2008) Motexafin lutetium-photodynamic therapy of prostate cancer: short- and long-term effects on prostate-specific antigen. Clin Cancer Res 14: 4869–4876
- 132. Nakai T, Nishimura G, Yamamoto K et al (1997) Expression of optical diffusion coefficient in high-absorption turbid media. Phys Med Biol 42:2541–2549
- 133. Davidson SR, Weersink RA, Haider MA et al (2009) Treatment planning and dose analysis for interstitial photodynamic therapy of prostate cancer. Phys Med Biol 54:2293–2313
- 134. Johansson A, Axelsson J, Andersson-Engels S et al (2007) Realtime light dosimetry software tools for interstitial photodynamic therapy of the human prostate. Med Phys 34:4309–4321
- 135. Jankun J, Keck RW, Skrzypczak-Jankun E et al (2005) Diverse optical characteristic of the prostate and light delivery system: implications for computer modelling of prostatic photodynamic therapy. BJU Int 95:1237–1244
- 136. Li J, Altschuler MD, Hahn SM et al (2008) Optimization of light source parameters in the photodynamic therapy of heterogeneous prostate. Phys Med Biol 53:4107–4121
- 137. Altschuler MD, Zhu TC, Hu Y, et al (2009) A heterogeneous optimization algorithm for PDT dose optimization for prostate. Proc SPIE, 7164:71640B
- 138. Finlay JC, Zhu TC, Dimofte A et al (2006) Interstitial fluorescence spectroscopy in the human prostate during motexafin lutetium-mediated photodynamic therapy. Photochem Photobiol 82:1270–1278

- 139. Wang HW, Putt ME, Emanuele MJ et al (2004) Treatment-induced changes in tumor oxygenation predict photodynamic therapy outcome. Cancer Res 64:7553–7561
- 140. Yu G, Durduran T, Zhou C et al (2005) Noninvasive monitoring of murine tumor blood flow during and after photodynamic therapy provides early assessment of therapeutic efficacy. Clin Cancer Res 11:3543–3552
- 141. Standish BA, Lee KK, Jin X et al (2008) Interstitial Doppler optical coherence tomography as a local tumor necrosis predictor in photodynamic therapy of prostatic carcinoma: an in vivo study. Cancer Res 68:9987–9995
- 142. Pham TH, Hornung R, Berns MW et al (2001) Monitoring tumor response during photodynamic therapy using near-infrared photon-migration spectroscopy. Photochem Photobiol 73:669–677
- 143. Cheung C, Culver JP, Takahashi K et al (2001) In vivo cerebrovascular measurement combining diffuse near-infrared absorption and correlation spectroscopies. Phys Med Biol 46:2053–2065
- 144. Culver JP, Durduran T, Cheung C et al (2003) Diffuse optical measurement of hemoglobin and cerebral blood flow in rat brain during hypercapnia, hypoxia and cardiac arrest. Adv Exp Med Biol 510:293–297
- 145. Durduran T, Yu G, Burnett MG et al (2004) Diffuse optical measurement of blood flow, blood oxygenation, and metabolism in a human brain during sensorimotor cortex activation. Opt Lett 29:1766–1768
- 146. Menon C, Polin GM, Prabakaran I et al (2003) An integrated approach to measuring tumor oxygen status using human melanoma xenografts as a model. Cancer Res 63:7232–7240
- 147. Yu G, Durduran T, Lech G et al (2005) Time-dependent blood flow and oxygenation in human skeletal muscles measured with noninvasive near-infrared diffuse optical spectroscopies. J Biomed Opt 10:024027
- 148. Friedberg JS, Mick R, Stevenson JP et al (2004) Phase II trial of pleural photodynamic therapy and surgery for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with pleural spread. J Clin Oncol 22:2192–2201
- Vulcan TG, Zhu TC, Rodriguez CE et al (2000) Comparison between isotropic and nonisotropic dosimetry systems during intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy. Lasers Surg Med 26:292–301
- 150. Tan IB, Oppelaar H, Ruevekamp MC et al (1999) The importance of in situ light dosimetry for photodynamic therapy of oral cavity tumors. Head Neck 21:434–441
- 151. Hahn SM, Putt ME, Metz J et al (2006) Photofrin uptake in the tumor and normal tissues of patients receiving intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy. Clin Cancer Res 12:5464–5470
- 152. Gill KR, Wolfsen HC, Preyer NW et al (2009) Pilot study on light dosimetry variables for photodynamic therapy of Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia. Clin Cancer Res 15:1830–1836
- 153. Eggener SE, Scardino PT, Carroll PR et al (2007) Focal therapy for localized prostate cancer: a critical appraisal of rationale and modalities. J Urol 178:2260–2267
- 154. Eggener SE, Coleman JA (2008) Focal treatment of prostate cancer with vascular-targeted photodynamic therapy. ScientificWorldJournal 8:963–973
- 155. Marberger M, Carroll PR, Zelefsky MJ et al (2008) New treatments for localized prostate cancer. Urology 72:S36–43

Chapter 15 Oxidative Stress in Prostate Cancer

Weihua Shan, Weixiong Zhong, Jamie Swanlund, and Terry D. Oberley

Abstract Prostate cancer primarily affects older men and is the second leading cause of cancer deaths in males in the USA. Known risk factors for prostate carcinogenesis include age, race, and family history, while possible risk factors include diet, lifestyle, androgens, and inflammation. At least three of these known or potential risk factors (androgens, inflammation, and age) are indirectly linked by the fact that each may result in and/or be derived from oxidative stress. Low levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) participate in many important physiological and pathological processes in the cell, including proliferation, cell cycle progression, migration,

W. Shan, PhD

W. Zhong, MD, PhD

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI USA

Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Service, William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital , Room A-35, 2500 Overlook Terrace, Madison, WI 53705, USA

J. Swanlund, BS Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Service, William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital, Room A-35, 2500 Overlook Terrace, Madison, WI 53705, USA

T.D. Oberley, MD, PhD (🖂)

Molecular and Environmental Toxicology Center, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI USA

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health , Madison, WI USA

Molecular and Environmental Toxicology Center, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, WI USA

Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Service, William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital Room A-35, 2500 Overlook Terrace, Madison, WI 53705, USA e-mail: toberley@wisc.edu

D.R. Spitz et al. (eds.), *Oxidative Stress in Cancer Biology and Therapy*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-61779-397-4_15, © Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2012

angiogenesis, invasion/metastasis, and inhibition of apoptosis, features that cancer cells might regulate to facilitate progression to a more aggressive phenotype. High levels of ROS/oxidative stress are capable of causing damage to various cellular constituents, including DNA, proteins, and lipids. Elevated levels of ROS, due to increased ROS production or impaired antioxidant defense systems, have been implicated in prostate carcinogenesis. Specific redox compartmental oxidation, which is believed to function as a mechanism for specificity in redox signaling and oxidative stress, is also manifested in prostate cancer. In this chapter, we present and analyze recent findings and ideas relating oxidative stress to prostate cancer and discuss their implications for future studies.

Abbreviations

ADAM	A disintegrin and metalloproteases
AE	Antioxidant enzyme
Anti-CTLA-4	Anticytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4
AP-1	Activator protein 1
AR	Androgen receptor
CAT	Catalase
CDCFDA	5-(and-6)-Carboxy-2',7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate
COX	Cyclooxygenase
CuZnSOD	Copper zinc SOD
DHE	Dihydroethidium
DPI	Diphenyliodonium
ECSOD	Extracellular superoxide dismutase
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ERK	Extracellular regulated kinase
GPx	Glutathione peroxidase
GR	Glutathione reductase
GSH/GSSG	Glutathione-glutathione disulfide couple
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
GSTP1	Glutathione S-transferase pi
H ₂ DCFDA	2',7'-Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HGPIN	High grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
4HNE	4-Hydroxy-nonenal
HO.	Hydroxyl radical
IL1RN	Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEK	Extracellular signal regulated kinase
MIC1	Macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MnSOD/SOD2	Manganese superoxide dismutase
MnTBAP	Mn 5, 10, 15, 10-tetrakis (4-benzoic acid) porphyrin

mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
NAC	N-acetyl-cysteine
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
'NO	Nitric oxide
NOX	NADPH oxidase
Nrf2	NF-E2-related factor 2
3NT	3-Nitro-L-tyrosine O_2^{-} Superoxide
ODP	Oxidative damage products
8OHdG	8-Hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine
ONO0-	Peroxynitrite
PIA	Proliferative inflammatory atrophy
Prdx	Peroxiredoxin
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homologue
R1881	Methyltrienolone
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TRAMP	Transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate
Trx	Thioredoxin
TrxR	Thioredoxin reductase
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VP	Ventral prostate

15.1 Introduction

Prostate cancer is a significant cause of death among males in the USA. Known risk factors for development of prostate cancer include age, race, and family history, while possible risk factors include diet, lifestyle, androgens, and inflammation; however, possible etiologies linking these factors are still uncertain. Oxidative stress has been proposed as an important factor in the pathogenesis of prostate cancer and several studies are consistent with this hypothesis. Additional studies are needed to mechanistically prove the role of ROS/oxidative stress in prostate cancer.

15.2 Prostate Cancer Incidence, Mortality, and Treatment

Prostate cancer is a major health problem in Western countries. This cancer is the most commonly diagnosed and second leading cause of cancer deaths in men in North America. The American Cancer Society estimated that there would be about 186,320 new cases of prostate cancer in the USA in 2008, with approximately 28,660 men potentially dying from this disease [1]. One in six men will get prostate cancer during his lifetime, and one in 35 men will die of this disease. Treatment for prostate cancer depends upon several factors including the stage and grade of the

cancer, the age of the patient, the presence of other health problems, the treatment preferred by the patient, and the doctors' recommendations [2]. Early confined prostate cancer can be treated by radical prostatectomy, transurethral resection of the prostate, radiation therapy, or in certain situations, watchful waiting. Androgen deprivation is the preferred treatment for more advanced prostate cancer, especially when initial findings signify a poor prognosis in which no other therapeutic modalities have proven to be successful. Despite the initial success of androgen deprivation therapy in controlling advanced prostate cancer, hormone refractory aggressive metastatic cancer will eventually evolve, which almost always results in patient death. Chemotherapy is occasionally used if prostate cancer has spread outside of the prostate gland and hormone-deprivation therapy has not been effective. However, to date chemotherapy has not been effective in curing the disease because of treatmentrelated toxicity and poor responses to drugs currently available [3]. Although the etiology and pathogenesis of prostate cancer are not well understood, certain risk factors have been implicated in the development and progression of prostate cancer. Known risk factors include age, race, and family history, while possible risk factors include lifestyle, androgens, infection and inflammation of the prostate, diet, and environmental factors [4]. Some of the risk factors (e.g., age, androgens, and inflammation) are possibly linked by the fact that each may result in and/or be derived from oxidative stress.

15.3 Redox States and Redox Systems

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated endogenously from normal metabolic processes and exogenously from the cellular microenvironment. Mitochondrial bioenergetics is the predominant source of ROS; other endogenous systems that can generate ROS include the NADPH oxidase (NOX) complex, cytochrome P-450, lipoxygenase, cyclooxygenase (COX), xanthine oxidase, and select enzymes present in peroxisomes [5]. To protect against elevated ROS levels and subsequent oxidative stress, cells are equipped with intricately regulated antioxidant defense systems [6, 7]. The major antioxidant systems within cells include low-molecularweight antioxidant compounds such as vitamins E and C, multiple antioxidant enzymes (AEs) including superoxide dismutases (SODs), catalase (CAT), glutathione peroxidases (GPxs), peroxiredoxins (Prdxs), thioredoxin reductases (TrxRs), and reducing buffer systems such as the glutathione, glutaredoxin, and thioredoxin (Trx) systems [6–9]. ROS can also be regulated by the interaction of nitric oxide ('NO) with ROS [10]. DNA repair enzymes may be considered to be a part of the antioxidant system because of their potential to decrease levels of oxidative DNA damage [6]. From an even broader standpoint of biological processes, proteins that participate in modulation of reduction-oxidation (redox) state in response to oxidative stress, such as the tumor suppressor protein p53, heat shock proteins, and hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF), should also be included as important components of the antioxidant defense system [11–14]. To prevent transition metal-mediated oxidative stress, cells

have also evolved elaborate systems for copper and iron storage and transport that deliver copper and iron to metalloenzymes and proteins (e.g., ceruloplasmin, Fet3 multicopper ferroxidase, and transferrin) [15, 16]. These proteins work together to help maintain the intracellular homeostasis of redox states, the balance of reducing and oxidizing equivalents within cells. More importantly, the specific subcellular distribution of each enzyme ensures the specificity of redox signaling [8].

15.4 The Role of ROS/Oxidative Stress in Cancer

ROS at low levels have physiological functions, while at high levels, ROS are toxic to cells. Physiological levels of ROS regulate many cellular functions such as proliferation, cell cycle progression, migration, and metastasis; these biological processes may modulate cancer progression and could possibly be the result of oxidative modifications of redox sensitive transcription factors and signal transduction molecules. Low doses of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) have been demonstrated to stimulate prostate cancer cell growth and migration by modulation of heparin affin regulatory peptide [17, 18]. Oxidative signals in the cytoplasm are essential to initiate signaling for transcriptional activation of activator protein 1 (AP-1), nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B), and NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) via phosphorylation of Jun or dissociation of NF- κ B or Nrf2 from inhibitory protein complexes [8]. Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-induced H₂O₂ in human ovarian cancer cells can stimulate hypoxia-inducible factor alpha (HIF-1 α) expression followed by subsequent transcriptional activation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) through activation of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (Akt) pathways, resulting in enhanced angiogenesis and vascular permeability [5]. In human prostate cancer, insulin-stimulated ROS can activate the extracellular signal regulated kinase/ extracellular regulated kinase (MEK/ERK) and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways and promote cancer progression and metastasis through HIF-1a-induced VEGF expression [5, 19]. ROS-mediated induction of cell adhesion molecules of the A disintegrin and metalloproteases (ADAMs) transmembrane protein family via p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) has been associated with prostate carcinogenesis and chemotherapeutic resistance [20, 21]. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), enzymes that facilitate degradation of the extracellular matrix and thus may enhance cancer cell invasion/metastasis, can be activated by ROS, and this effect is attenuated by blockage of ROS production through inhibition of NOX activity and overexpression of extracellular superoxide dismutase (ECSOD) in prostate cancer cells [22, 23].

When ROS exceed physiological levels, oxidative stress ensues. Oxidative stress is capable of causing damage to various cellular constituents, including DNA, proteins, and lipids [24]. Oxidative stress can produce oxidized DNA bases [e.g., 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8OHdG)], initiate mutations, result in the formation of DNA adducts, and produce DNA strand breaks [25, 26]. ROS can also cause lipid peroxidation [27]. Lipid peroxidation in cellular membranes generates a variety of aldehydes and alkenals such as malonaldehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4HNE).

4HNE can readily react with key proteins in signal transduction pathways to form secondary adducts, leading to cellular dysfunction or cell death [27–29]. Lipid peroxidation in cell membranes also results in the formation of prostaglandins, important mediators of inflammation [30].

Oxidative stress has been shown to be involved in the inactivation of several key proteins, including those involved in DNA repair, apoptosis, cell signaling, and essential enzymatic pathways [31]. Elevated ROS/reactive nitrogen species (RNS) can inactivate caspases, phosphatases, and phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN), and inhibit p53 binding to gene promoters, leading to decreased apoptosis, increased cell survival and gene damage [18, 32-36]. The accumulation of genetic and epigenetic instability and protein dysfunction as a result of sustained oxidative stress in prostate cells may be a factor in carcinogenesis [31]. Excessive oxidative stress, however, has been shown to cause cancer cell death. Indeed, a reduction of antioxidant defenses, elevation of ROS/RNS-generating enzymes, increased ROS/ RNS levels, and accumulation of oxidative damage products (ODPs) have all been observed with the progression of malignancy [24, 37]. Attenuation of intrinsically higher levels of oxidative stress with antioxidants or use of chemotherapeutic agents to further increase oxidative stress beyond the tolerance of cancer cells have been demonstrated in several studies to inhibit prostate cancer growth and invasion or induce apoptosis both in vitro and in vivo [38-40].

15.5 Detection of ROS/Oxidative Stress in Cancer

Historically, the detection of ROS has been difficult due to their relatively short life and high reactivity. Direct identification of free radicals can be achieved using electron spin resonance with spin traps or by detection of fluorescence or chemiluminescence signals using redox-sensitive dyes or lucigenin reagents. The major advantage of electron spin resonance is its high specificity, but it is limited in widespread use by the requirement for expensive equipment [6, 41]. Because of high sensitivity, wide availability of instruments, and the capability to detect ROS in living cells, detection of fluorescence signals using flow cytometry or confocal microscopy has become one of the most commonly utilized methods, despite the relative lack of specificity. The widely used cell-permeant redox-sensitive fluorescence dyes are 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H₂DCFDA) and its derivatives. H₂DCFDA fluoresces in the presence of hydroxyl radicals (HO'), H₂O₂ in the presence of peroxidases, and peroxynitrite [42]. Since the intensity of H_aDCFDA fluorescence is also affected by the rate of influx and efflux of the dye and activities of nonspecific esterases, the signal must be normalized with a redox-insensitive dye such as 5-(and-6)-carboxy-2',7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (CDCFDA). Dihydroethidium (DHE) is often used to detect superoxide (O_2^- levels with flow cytometry or confocal microscopy) [43], but since the spectrum of O_2^{-} and DNA overlap, it is not highly specific.

Another method used to measure levels of oxidative stress is to analyze ODP using biochemical, immunologic, or immunohistochemistry assays [6]. For example,

oxidized DNA (e.g., 8OHdG) can be measured using biochemical techniques (high performance liquid chromatography), immunologic techniques (ELISA assay), or in tissue sections with immunohistochemistry techniques using specific antibodies to 8OHdG [44]. Immunohistochemistry techniques allow for identification of ODP in specific subcellular compartments, and are especially useful in tissue sections where other methods normally used to detect ROS are not available or difficult to perform. Antibodies to oxidative or nitrative damage products such as 4HNEmodified protein adducts, 80HdG, and 3-nitro-L-tyrosine (3NT) are frequently used in these studies [6, 24, 27, 29, 37]. These antibodies have also been widely used in western blot analyses. Oxidative stress or ODP can also be measured with biochemical assays of whole cell lysates when localization of specific ROS/RNS markers to subcellular compartments is not necessary. These biochemical assays include glutathione assays and other AE assays. Levels of AEs, either increased or decreased, are often indicators of oxidative stress since such stress may result from the reduction or induction of antioxidant defenses. The glutathione-glutathione disulfide couple (GSH/GSSG) frequently serves as an important indicator of overall cell or tissue redox state. New emerging redox western analysis and redox-sensitive green fluorescence proteins have provided powerful new tools to quantify thiol/ disulfide redox changes in specific subcellular compartments [8].

15.6 Prostate Cancer Risk Factors and Their Links to Oxidative Stress

Important prostate cancer risk factors include age, race, and family history. Possible risk factors include lifestyle, androgens, infection and inflammation of the prostate, and diet. Some of these risk factors are linked by the fact that they may result in and/ or be derived from oxidative stress. In order to understand the relationship between oxidative stress and prostate cancer, we briefly review risk factors possibly related to oxidative stress and prostate cancer (aging, androgens, inflammation, and diet).

15.6.1 Androgens

The importance of androgens in prostate carcinogenesis is suggested by observations that prostate cancer rarely occurs in males castrated at a young age or in men with a deficiency in 5-alpha-reductase, an enzyme responsible for converting testosterone to its more active form, 5-alpha-dihydrotestosterone [45]. Most prostate cancers are androgen-dependent at initial diagnosis [45]. It is well known that androgens are capable of altering the expression of a number of genes involved in cell survival and cell growth by binding to specific receptors and inducing subsequent transcriptional activation. Some studies suggest that androgens might, at least in part, exert their effects via oxidative stress mechanisms. Ripple et al. [46] demonstrated that physiological levels of androgens can alter the prooxidant–antioxidant balance of the androgen-responsive LNCaP human prostate cancer cell line. Using the synthetic androgen methyltrienolone (R1881), this group found decreased ROS levels at a dose range (0.025–0.1 nM R1881) that stimulated cell growth while levels of oxidative stress dramatically increased at a higher dose range (1.0–5.0 nM R1881) that inhibited cell growth. Consistent with these results, Shigemura et al. [47] suggested that ROS are common downstream mediators of androgen-induced ADAM9 protein expression in prostate cancer cells because the addition of H_2O_2 or the introduction of CAT either enhanced or abolished ADAM9 protein expression, respectively. Some mechanistic studies indicated that the transcription factor JunD is an essential mediator of the androgen-induced increase in ROS levels [48], while others emphasized the involvement of mitochondrial redox regulation of p66Shc in LNCaP cells [49].

Different races have different incidences of prostate cancer (255.5, 161.4, and 96.5 per 100,000 population for African-Americans, white Americans, and Asian Americans, respectively, from the years 2000 to 2004) [1]. Differences in prostate cancer incidences between different races could possibly be explained by differences in testosterone levels and gene activities that regulate biosynthesis and metabolism of androgens [45]. For instance, testosterone levels are 19% higher in African American men in Los Angeles than their white counterparts [50]. Levels of 3α , 17 β androstanediol glucuronide and androsterone glucuronide, two indices of 5α -reductase activity, are higher in white and black men than that in Japanese men (31 and 25% higher for 3α , 17 β androstanediol glucuronide, and 50 and 41% higher for androsterone glucuronide, respectively) [51, 52].

The association of androgens with ROS/oxidative stress is further emphasized by other studies. Sharifi et al. [53] examined the possible role of downregulation of manganese SOD (MnSOD or SOD2) in the function of androgen receptor (AR) using SOD knockdown technology. They found that SOD2 knockdown resulted in the upregulation of androgen-regulated gene expression and induction of AR DNA binding and transcriptional activity in an N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC)-reversible manner. This group concluded that downregulation of SOD2 is responsible for AR reactivation in hormone-refractory AR positive prostate cancer, and thus AR reactivation is ROS dependent. Given that a large majority of human hormone refractory prostate cancers do express AR, and that androgen insensitive pathways still rely on active signaling through AR in most cases [54], such discoveries are very promising for prostate cancer treatment because they suggest a means to silence AR reactivation. However, it has not been demonstrated that AR reactivation is a specific consequence of SOD2 downregulation in human prostate cancers. Persistent oxidative stress caused by any number of other risk factors may instead be responsible for AR reactivation.

One study has addressed the role of ROS/oxidative stress in prostate tissues in vivo. Neville et al. [24] provided the first evidence of androgen regulation of redox status in normal rat ventral prostate (VP). In this study, castration clearly induced an elevated prooxidant state in the regressing VP, while testosterone replacement in castrated rats only partially reduced oxidative stress levels in the VP. Higher levels of oxidative damage were documented in the VP of testosterone-treated castrates than that present in intact rats; this mild state of oxidative stress was suggested to contribute to cell proliferation, differentiation, and tissue remodeling observed in the regeneration of the VP. Androgen-induced prooxidant shift observed in LNCaP cells in vitro is in contrast to the in vivo observation that androgen can partially reduce oxidative stress in castrated normal prostate. Determining the actual levels of androgens in normal and prostate cancer tissues is crucial in interpreting these seemingly contradictory data. Dose-response studies are required in which androgen and ROS levels are directly measured in prostate tissues in in vivo studies. Specifically, measurement of androgen concentrations in normal human and prostate cancer tissues, as well as levels of ROS/RNS changes and/or ODP in animal models of androgen-dependent prostate cancer following castration or androgen replacement would be useful to determine ROS/oxidative stress responses to androgens directly in prostate tissues. Methodological caution is also needed in such studies, since redox status is a prooxidant-antioxidant balance. For example, instead of measuring GSH concentrations alone, measurement of the GSH/GSSG ratio should be performed. However, the available data support the occurrence of androgen-induced prooxidant and antioxidant shifts in normal prostate and prostate cancer.

15.6.2 Inflammation

Chronic inflammation and proliferative inflammatory atrophy (PIA) are often found adjacent to high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (HGPIN), the most likely precancerous lesion of prostate in humans [55, 56]. Pathological observations suggested that HGPIN may stem from PIA and then progress to prostate cancer [55, 56]. Components of several key molecular pathways involved in prostate cancer such as NKX3.1, CDKN1B, and PTEN have been shown to be altered in PIA or HGPIN lesions [55, 57]. Epidemiologic studies found an increased relative risk of prostate cancer in men with a prior history of certain sexually transmitted infections or prostatitis, while the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs that inhibit COX enzymes was linked to reduced prostate cancer risk. The evidence linking clinical prostatitis and prostate cancer is often contradictory [30, 31]. Identification of several genes involved in inflammation-related pathways associated with prostate cancer risk, including macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 (MIC1), interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (IL1RN) and members of the Toll-like receptor (TLR) family, further suggests an association between inflammation-related processes and prostate cancer development [55, 58-64]. Immunotherapy consisting of irradiated tumor cell vaccine and anticytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (anti-CTLA-4) antibodies to attenuate T cell activity has been shown to markedly decrease the incidence of prostate tumors by 60% (15% vs. 75% in controls) in the transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP) model [65]. Gupta et al. [66] have

demonstrated a remarkable reduction in the rate of prostate tumorigenesis and metastasis in TRAMP mice fed with the COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib (100% vs. 25% tumorigenesis and 65% vs. 0% metastasis, respectively). These findings suggest a possible role of inflammation and the proinflammatory enzyme COX-2 in prostate cancer development and progression [66].

Primary mediators of the nonspecific host immune defense system include free radicals, predominantly ROS and RNS. Examples of ROS and RNS include H₂O₂, O_{2}^{-} , HO', peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), and 'NO, all of which cause deleterious effects associated with inflammation [31]. The proposed "injury and regeneration" hypothesis highlights the importance of inflammation-induced oxidative/nitrative stress in prostate cancer. In this model, oxidative stress secondary to ROS/RNS production by activated inflammatory cells and/or secreted inflammatory cytokines causes repeated cellular injury and accumulation of genomic damage, promoting cellular replacement and creating a tissue microenvironment rich in cytokines and growth factors capable of enhancing cell replication, angiogenesis, and tissue repair. Tissue regeneration may also hold potential for the generation of undifferentiated precursors, in which gene mutation may occur [31, 55]. Indeed, this hypothesis is, at least in part, supported by evidence that several inflammatory conditions in humans are accompanied by increased levels of oxidative (and sometimes nitrative) DNA damage [67]. Additional evidence linking chronic inflammation-induced ROS to carcinogenesis is provided by the fact that mice lacking phagocyte NOX showed less metastasis after injection of fibrosarcoma cells [18, 68]. The proinflammatory enzyme COX-2 has recently been recognized as a potential mediator for the development of human cancers in organs such as the colon and stomach [69–71]. COX-2 catalyzes the synthesis of prostaglandins, whose interactions with their receptors promote cell survival and stimulate angiogenesis, processes that have been proposed as primary molecular mechanisms underlying the procarcinogenic functions of COX-2 [69–71]. COX-2 can also function through ROS production, leading to cellular and genomic damage [72, 73]. However, a consensus has not been reached regarding the role of COX-2 in prostate cancer. Some investigators have reported elevated levels of COX-2 mRNA and protein levels in prostate cancer tissues [74, 75], while others failed to detect this upregulation [76, 77]. Other data suggest extensive silencing of COX-2 in prostate cancers via CpG island promoter hypermethylation [78]. Data from transgenic K14.COX2 mice suggest that COX-2 overexpression may actually inhibit carcinogenesis [79, 80].

Several suggestions have been made for future studies of inflammation and prostate cancer. For example, study of the role of inflammation in prostate carcinogenesis via inducible modulation (knockdown or overexpression) of chemokine/cytokine receptors in prostate tissues in genetically altered animal models, such as *Pten* or *Nkx3.1* mutant mouse models, may provide valuable insights [55]. Modulation of ROS/RNS using overexpression or knockdown of prooxidant or antioxidant enzymes could also be utilized to study the role of ROS/RNS in inflammation-induced prostate carcinogenesis.

15.6.3 Aging

Aging as a risk factor is shown by the direct relationship between development of prostate cancer and advancing age. The odds of developing prostate cancer is rare in men younger than 40, while it is common in men greater than 80 years old. Several studies suggest that 42–80% of men will develop prostate cancer in their eighth decade [45]. It has been proposed that age-related prostate cancer is largely due to a lifetime exposure to oxidative stress, which is generated endogenously as byproducts of normal metabolic processes and exogenously by environmental exposures to toxic substances. Indeed, progressive accumulation of DNA strand breaks, DNA adducts and oxidative modification of enzymes for DNA repair have been documented to be increased, while antioxidant defenses including ROS detoxification enzyme activities, declined with age [81].

ROS toxicity is a limiting factor for life span in mammals. Mice with genetically inactivated MnSOD died at a mean age of 8 days from dilated cardiomyopathy; however, they can be rescued from their cardiomyopathy by treatment with the SOD mimetic MnTBAP [Mn 5, 10, 15, 10-tetrakis(4-benzoic acid) porphyrin] [82]. Overexpression of human CAT in the mitochondria of transgenic mice protected against mitochondrial oxidation and mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) mutations and extended life span [81, 83, 84]. With respect to cancer, the association of increased levels of 80HdG and age-dependent cancer incidence has been observed in mouse models [85, 86]. Mice lacking MutT homolog protein 1 enzyme, an enzyme that hydrolyzes 80HdGTP, 8- and 2-OHdATPs, and 8-chlorodGTP, showed increased rates of spontaneous tumorigenesis with age, especially in the lung, stomach, and liver [18, 85, 86]. Although it is unclear why aging preferentially causes some types of tumors but not others, lack of appropriate animal models is clearly an obstacle to study age-related oxidative stress in prostate cancer. However, some insights may be obtained by comparing ODP in prostate tissues from men of different ages in relation to prostate cancer incidence.

15.6.4 Other Factors

In addition to androgens, inflammation, and aging, other factors such as diet and environmental exposure may also contribute to overall prostate cancer risk. A correlation to oxidative stress has been demonstrated in numerous studies. Examples include several antioxidants (e.g., vitamin E, selenium, lycopene, and epigallocatechin gallate) that reduce prostate cancer risk, while higher fat diets and exposure to ROS-producing carcinogens such as cadmium are correlated to increased prostate cancer risk [18, 45, 87–90]. However, there exists the possibility that some or even all of these risk factors could be interconnected to each other. For instance, excessive consumption of certain dietary fats may contribute to prostate carcinogenesis via oxidative stress with subsequent lipid peroxidation; high dietary fats may also be associated with chronically high levels of androgens [45]. Thus, the coupling of oxidative stress with one or multiple prostate cancer risk factors could provide a general mechanism for prostate carcinogenesis. Identification of these mechanisms may assist in the development of better strategies for the prevention of prostate cancer.

15.7 Causes of Redox Imbalance/Oxidative Stress in Prostate Cancer

Redox imbalance/oxidative stress could result from increased ROS/RNS production, a decrease in antioxidant defenses, or a combination of both [18].

15.7.1 Increased ROS Production

15.7.1.1 Altered Mitochondrial Bioenergetics

One of the major sources for increased ROS generation is believed to be altered mitochondrial bioenergetics. Metabolic transformation is a common feature of tumors, including prostate cancer [91]. Normal prostate glandular epithelial cells, as a result of high concentrations of accumulated zinc, have a truncated Krebs cycle, low rate of respiration, are energy inefficient, and presumably generate less ROS. By contrast, malignant prostate cells, which are virtually always associated with decreased concentrations of zinc, allow complete metabolism of citrate through the Krebs cycle and thus are bioenergetically more efficient cells. On the one hand, this metabolic transformation provides efficient energy and lipid biosynthesis from citrate to facilitate the malignant process; on the other hand, such a transformation might generate excess ROS and consequently increased mitogenic activity and mutation potential [92, 93].

Mutation rates in mtDNA are high in prostate cancer presumably because mtDNA is surrounded by high concentrations of ROS, lacks protection from histones, and has inadequate DNA proofreading and repair mechanisms [92]. Accelerated mtDNA mutations may further increase ROS production and oxidative stress within cells. Indeed, frequent mtDNA mutations have been identified in human prostate cancer, and these mutations, in most cases, involved patients with Gleason grades 5–7 by pathologic analysis, the most frequent clinical grade observed at clinical presentation [94]. More importantly, Petros et al. [95] studied the role of mtDNA mutation-induced oxidative stress in tumor growth. They prepared transmitochondrial cybrids by introducing cytoplasts from the same patients harboring the homoplasmic mtDNA mutation (T8993G) or homoplasmic mtDNA wild-type (T8993T) into rhodamine 6-G treated prostate cancer PC3 cells, and found that injection of cybrids into nude mice that harbored a homoplasmic mtDNA mutation (T8993G) known to cause increased mitochondrial ROS production resulted in more than seven times greater tumor growth, demonstrating the potential involvement of ROS in prostate tumorigenesis.

In addition to mtDNA mutations, alterations in mitochondrial enzymes have also been demonstrated in prostate carcinogenesis. For example, elevated ROS generation by increased expression of mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase was demonstrated to contribute to prostate cancer progression [96]. Important questions concerning the role of mtDNA mutations in prostate cancer remain: (1) Are there any specific mutations associated with prostate cancer? (2) Are there any specific mutations related to increased oxidative stress? and (3) Can inhibition of mitochondrial-generated oxidative stress prevent prostate carcinogenesis?

15.7.1.2 Upregvulation of NADPH Oxidases

Upregulation of plasma membrane-bound NOXs is another potential source of increased ROS production. NOX is an enzyme that catalyzes the production of Q_{2}^{-} utilizing oxygen as a substrate and NADPH as a cofactor. The catalytic subunits of NOX constitute a family of NOX enzymes (NOX1-5 and Duox) that are homologues of gp91phox of the phagocytic oxidase [97, 98]. Some studies have indicated the presence of NOX1 and NOX2 in human prostate [99], while others suggested the presence of additional NOX4 in the rat prostate [24]. Interestingly, all three NOX enzymes in the rat prostate were upregulated in response to castration, indicating the possible hormonal control of NOX expression [24]. Studies on the importance of the involvement of the NOX system in cancer have largely focused on NOX1, driven by the observation that NOX1 overexpression transformed NIH 3T3 cells and increased O₂⁻ production in oncogenic-ras transformed cells [100, 101]. In human prostate cancer, it has been demonstrated that NOX5 levels were elevated in DU145 human prostate cancer cells and downregulation using antisense oligonucleotides for NOX5 or inhibition of NOX with diphenyliodonium (DPI) inhibited ROS production, leading to decreased cell proliferation and increased apoptosis [102]. In human prostate cancer tissues and cancer cell lines, increased NOX1 protein and mRNA levels were correlated with elevated H₂O₂ [103]. Recent studies relating NOX levels in normal and prostate cancer cells of various degrees of aggressiveness showed very different NOX expression profiles [22]. Results showed that NOX2, NOX4, and NOX5 mRNA were present in prostate cancer cell lines, but not in normal prostate cells, while NOX1 and NOX3 were absent in both cancer and normal cells. This study used DPI to inhibit NOX and decrease ROS generation, resulting in inhibition of the malignant phenotype and leading the investigators to suggest a role of NOX in prostate carcinogenesis. However, studies such as these have failed to measure NOX enzyme activity, so whether or not the NOX family of enzymes is actually modulated in human prostate cancer remains unclear. Since NOX enzyme activities are usually regulated by cytosolic proteins such as p47phox and p67phox, increased protein or mRNA levels do not necessarily result in increased enzyme activity with resultant increased $O_2^$ production [18, 97]. In addition, many of these studies utilized the NOX inhibitor DPI. DPI is a nonspecific inhibitor of many different electron transporters and inhibits not only all of the NOX isoforms but also nitric oxide synthase, xanthine oxidase, mitochondrial complex I, and cytochrome P-450 reductase [97].

15.7.1.3 Hypoxia

Tumor hypoxia is considered to be a hallmark characteristic of locally advanced solid tumors including prostate cancer. Intracellular ROS increase under hypoxia conditions via the transfer of electrons from ubisemiquinone to molecular oxygen at the Q_0 site of complex III of the mitochondrial electron transport chain [104]. Hypoxia-induced ROS can activate numerous signaling components, and HIF-1 acts as a key mediator of hypoxia response. HIF-1 controls over 70 genes that are of pivotal importance in regulating cellular metabolism, survival, cell cycle progression, angiogenesis, and inhibition of apoptosis [5]. Hypoxia-induced ROS generation participates in the stabilization of HIF-1a through activation of PI3K and p38 MAPK [105–107]. Studies have shown that under hypoxia conditions, human prostate cancer cells have increased ROS levels and HIF-1 α upregulation. HIF-1 α stabilization is ROS dependent, as the ROS scavenger NAC prevented HIF-1α accumulation. Mechanistic studies demonstrated that p38 is activated by hypoxia-induced mitochondrial ROS and contributes to HIF-1a activation by inhibiting its hydroxylation by prolyl and asparaginyl hydroxylases [105]. ROS may also be involved in hypoxiainduced resistance to apoptotic agents by inhibiting mitochondria-induced apoptosis through downregulation of the mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization process [20, 108, 109].

15.7.2 Impaired Antioxidant Defenses

15.7.2.1 Altered Antioxidant Enzymes

Several lines of evidence implicate a relationship between changes in antioxidant defense systems and malignant transformation. First, transformation is usually accompanied by lower levels of MnSOD in the malignant tissue of primary cancers compared to corresponding nontumor tissue [37, 81]. Second, the relationship between altered protection against ROS and carcinogenesis is highlighted by deregulation of antioxidant defense systems in several kinds of cancers in animal models. It has been demonstrated that copper zinc SOD (CuZnSOD) knockout mice develop liver cancer later in life [18, 110]. Loss of function of GPx1 and GPx2 in mutant mice results in increased susceptibility to inflammation and cancer in the intestine [111, 112]. Mice lacking either Prdx1 or Prdx6 display increased levels of ROS, elevated oxidative damage, and increased propensity for tumor formation including hepatocellular carcinoma, fibrosarcoma, osteosarcoma, islet cell adenomas, and adenocarcinomas of the lung and breast [18, 112-114]. Finally, increased cellular ROS have been demonstrated in carcinogenesis, while antioxidants prevent malignant transformation in some systems both in vivo and in vitro [115, 116]. Elevation of various isoforms of SOD (MnSOD, CuZnSOD and ECSOD), GPx1 or CAT by overexpression or addition of exogenous liposomal SOD decreases ROS levels, followed by suppression of cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo [115, 116].

Altered antioxidant defenses have been observed in human prostate cancer. Studies on AEs in malignant prostate cell lines (LNCaP, DU145, and PC3) and in primary cultured prostate cells showed cancer cell lines have higher SOD, CAT, and glutathione reductase (GR), but lower glutathione S-transferase (GST) and GPx activities than in the primary cell cultures [117]. In LNCaP cells CAT and GR were significantly higher, while by contrast, GST was significantly lower than levels found in PC3 and DU145 cells [117]. High levels of GST activity in PC3 in comparison to LNCaP cells was observed by Chaiswing et al. [118] who compared redox states of two cancer cell lines (LNCaP and PC3) with different degrees of aggressiveness. In human prostate cancer tissues, Baker et al. [119] found lower levels of CAT, MnSOD, and CuZnSOD in most prostatic adenocarcinomas in comparison to corresponding nontumor tissues. Our laboratory has demonstrated low immunoreactive protein levels of MnSOD in human primary prostate cancer tissues, but a significantly greater level of MnSOD in metastatic tissues in comparison to normal tissues [37]. In addition, Bostwick et al. [81] showed lower expression of MnSOD, CuZnSOD, and CAT in human HGPIN and prostate adenocarcinomas compared to that observed in benign epithelium, indicating a shift in the balance of antioxidant defense systems in prostate cancer. However, there are only rare studies employing analyses of enzyme activities in the prostate tissue. Data from Bostwick et al. [81] suggest statistically unchanged but widely variable enzyme activities. The major concern in the latter study is the possible cross-contamination of cancer tissues by surrounding normal tissues of both stroma and epithelium.

Genetic analysis suggests that the Ala variant of *SOD2* is associated with a moderately increased risk of prostate cancer, particularly among men with lower intakes of dietary and supplemental vitamin E [120]. Future studies will be necessary to assess the role of polymorphisms of other AEs in prostate cancer risk.

Mechanisms resulting in alteration of AE activities may be complex, but two general explanations are usually involved: an increase in AEs may be a compensatory regulation in response to oxidative stress, while a decrease in AEs may lead to elevated levels of oxidative stress in cancers. However, variations in AEs levels during cancer progression may be caused by cancer cell heterogeneity, including the possible emergence of cancer stem cells.

Additional findings implicate ROS in prostatic carcinogenesis, possibly due to impairment of other antioxidant defense systems. Hypermethylation with resultant inactivation of the glutathione S-transferase pi (GSTP1) gene is a common feature found during prostate carcinogenesis. GSTP1 plays an important role in the detoxification of electrophilic compounds such as carcinogens and cytotoxic drugs by glutathione conjugation. Inactivation of GSTP1 may impair cellular processing of mutagens and allow ROS to damage DNA. GSTP1 gene methylation has been detected in 50–70% of PIN lesions, and in 70–95% of prostate cancers [121–124]. Patients with the highest percentage of GSTP1 immunoreactive protein in the cells of benign epithelium had a better overall survival [124].

Despite the frequent downregulation of antioxidants in most primary cancers, a few cancers have demonstrated an upregulated antioxidant defense system. One example, as demonstrated above, is higher levels of MnSOD in more advanced
human prostate cancer tissues in comparison to normal prostate tissues [37]. Prdxs were also increased in some malignant cells [125, 126]. One possible reason to explain these findings is that high levels of oxidative stress in primary cancer select for those cells with high antioxidant defense capability. Another possibility is that ROS production is also increased, and thus the overall oxidative stress is elevated. In addition, protein levels are not always equivalent to activity since AEs are often inactivated by ROS/RNS. Experiments to evaluate enzyme activity in the context of oxidative damage to biomolecules will help to clarify mechanisms responsible for AE changes. Indeed, our laboratory has already demonstrated higher levels of oxidative damage products (4HNE-modified protein adducts and 8OHdG) in metastatic human prostate cancer tissues in comparison to normal prostate tissue [37]. This signifies an overall imbalance of ROS production and detoxification in prostate cancer [18].

Another question that needs to be addressed is whether or not the overall antioxidant defense capacity is related to dose-dependent effects of antioxidants. At low concentrations and under physiological conditions, vitamin C is an antioxidant. However, it has been shown that vitamin C under conditions of stress can oxidize DNA [127]. MnSOD at physiological levels functions as a protective antioxidant, but at high levels of expression kills cells [128]. H₂O₂ at low concentrations causes cell proliferation, but at higher concentrations is cytotoxic [17]. In vivo, selenium and vitamin E, two low molecular antioxidants, show a negative association with prostate cancer in some experimental models, but these results are not reproducible to date in clinical studies [129]. Although the exact reason for the above effects is not clear thus far, one possibility is failure to reach sufficient antioxidant concentrations in target tissues at the doses administered, or perhaps lower doses of antioxidants are also protective for already transformed cancer cells by relieving oxidative stress. The uneven distribution or distinct ability of antioxidants to reduce oxidative stress in specific subcellular compartments may also account for these paradoxical effects. Further studies involving the dose-response effects of antioxidants on cancer, and even more detailed studies such as redox regulation in specific subcellular compartments during the progression of cancer, need to be conducted.

15.7.2.2 Transcriptional Factors Modulated by Redox

The most compelling argument for a role of redox regulation/dysregulation in cancer is that transcriptional factors modulated by redox have frequently been found to be altered in cancers, and these in turn could also regulate redox states. Such transcription factors include p53, Nrf2, AP-1, and NF- κ B [8, 12]. It has become clear that the tumor suppressor gene *p53* is especially important since it is mutated in many human cancers, and has been shown to regulate oxidative stress and oxidative metabolism [12, 130]. p53 is now known to have both prosurvival and proapoptotic effects related to prooxidant and antioxidant functions. *p53* mutations are uncommon in primary prostate cancers, but mutation or loss of expression has been associated with prostate cancer progression [131–133]. In collaboration with Dr. Daret St. Clair, our laboratories have shown that p53 binds directly to MnSOD (a prosurvival protein), with subsequent decrease in MnSOD activity [134]. Dr. St. Clair has also shown that *SOD2* transcription is directly regulated by *p53* [135]. Under conditions of severe oxidative stress, *p53* changes to proapoptotic function, and selected downstream genes (e.g., *puma* and *bax*) are upregulated. Products of such gene upregulation potentially generate ROS and presumably contribute to p53-mediated cell death [136]. Zhao et al. [137] have shown that selenite-induced superoxide can activate *p53* and cause p53 mitochondrial translocation. Activation of *p53* by selenite in turn synergistically enhances superoxide production and apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells. These combined results suggest an intimate relationship between redox-controlled transcriptional and posttranslational events in cancer.

Other examples of redox-sensitive transcription factors modulated during prostate cancer cell progression are Nrf2, AP-1, and NF- κ B. In turn, each of these transcription factors regulates downstream genes that affect cell or organelle redox state. Nrf2 is known to regulate several antioxidant and detoxification enzymes such as NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase, heme oxygenase, thioredoxin reductase 1, glutamate-cysteine ligase modifier subunit, glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic subunit, and specific GST family members [138–140]. A study by Frohlich et al. [141] found that Nrf2 was downregulated in human prostate cancer and that loss of Nrf2 function reduced both expression and activity of specific GST enzymes and increased ROS and DNA damage; such damage may promote prostate tumorigenesis. There is also increasing evidence that inflammation plays a role in prostate carcinogenesis with studies of several other tissue types indicating Nrf2 may play a role in the severity of inflammation. However, the role of Nrf2 in prostatic inflammation has yet to be specifically investigated. AP-1 and NF-KB are nuclear transcription factors that regulate the expression of genes involved in several processes including proliferation, apoptosis, and angiogenesis [142-144]. Both AP-1 and NF-kB have been shown to be constitutively activated in prostatic malignancies and increases in such activation are believed to contribute to malignant transformation and progression of the prostate cancer phenotype [142, 145]. Conversely, suppression of AP-1 and NF- κ B activities has been shown to reduce or inhibit the invasive and metastatic properties of several cancer cell types [146, 147]. There have also been recent studies that demonstrated that constitutive activation of NF-KB and members of the AP-1 family (e.g., c-Jun, JunD, and Fra-1) was associated with prostate cancer progression toward an hormone refractory phenotype [145, 148].

15.8 Recent Evidence of Redox Imbalance in Prostate Cancer

Over the past several years, a significant body of evidence, as discussed above, strongly implicated ROS or oxidative stress in prostate carcinogenesis. Owing to space limitations, we only examine and summarize major findings from the most important recent studies, as well as discuss issues relating to methodology and study design that may lead to discrepant results.

15.8.1 Evidence from In Vitro Cell Culture Models

In analyzing the redox profiles of two different human prostate carcinoma cell lines (LNCaP vs. PC3) with varying degrees of invasiveness, Chaiswing et al. [118] recently showed that in comparison to the hormone-dependent cancer cell line LNCaP, the more metastatic PC3 cells, in general, had a more reducing redox state, a conclusion obtained following analysis of AE levels and enzyme activities, ODP levels, and responses to ROS/RNS-generating compounds. High levels of ROS/ RNS in S and G₂/M phases of the cell cycle in LNCaP cells were observed; these levels were found to be constitutively lower in PC3 cells in all phases of the cell cycle. PC3 cells had higher immunoreactive protein levels of ECSOD, TrxR1, and several glutathione-related proteins such as glutamylcysteine synthase, glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase, and GSTP1, as well as higher GPx and GST enzyme activities than LNCaP cells; these results correlated with lower levels of both intracellular and extracellular ROS. The reducing state of PC3 cells was also supported by higher levels of both intra- and extracellular GSH/GSSG ratios and lower levels of lipid peroxidation, although DNA damage as indicated by 80HdG was found to be higher than that of LNCaP cells. It was hypothesized that LNCaP cells require a prooxidant state for cell proliferation, whereas PC3 cell growth may not depend on a prooxidant state. LNCaP cells had higher ATP levels as well as increased ROSgenerating NOX1 protein levels and a corresponding greater sensitivity to growth inhibition by the commonly used NOX inhibitor DPI. By contrast, PC3 cells were more sensitive to menadione, a compound that produces superoxide and depletes glutathione pools within cells, suggesting distinct redox profiles between these two cell lines. A major advantage of this study is extensive examination of redox profiles using three different methods (AE protein levels and activities, analysis of ODP, and response to ROS-generating compounds), but the study is limited by a lack of analysis of normal prostate epithelial cells as a control, which makes it difficult to evaluate redox state changes during prostate cancer tumorigenesis.

Kumar et al. [22] characterized oxidative stress in three different prostate cancer cell lines with various degrees of aggressiveness (LNCaP, DU145, and PC3) and normal and immortalized prostate cells in culture (WPMY1, RWPE1, and primary cultures of normal epithelial cells). This group observed higher levels of ROS in PC3 cells compared to DU145 and LNCaP cells. Expression of NOX2, NOX4, and NOX5 mRNA was higher in the cancer cell lines, but not detectable in normal prostate epithelial cells. Contrary to data from other studies, they also reported that NOX1 and NOX3 were absent in all cell lines tested. By using DPI as an inhibitor of NOX, Kumar et al. [22] suggested the essential role of ROS production by the extramitochondrial NOX system in prostate cancer. They also found that inhibition of NOX with DPI resulted in more effective reduction of malignant potential as demonstrated by inhibition of growth and proliferation, decrease in clonogenic activity, cell migration, cell invasion and cell cycle arrest in G_2 -M phase of the cell cycle as well as loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in comparison to effects of neutralization of ROS by NAC. They concluded that active ROS generation by

the NOX system rather than ROS accumulation might be more important in prostate cancer cell malignancy. Although the measurement of multiple changes in cell behavior and bio-functional markers, as well as the inclusion of normal cell controls were important in these studies, several methodological problems need to be carefully examined before final conclusions are warranted.

Discrepancies exist between the above two studies. Chaiswing et al. [118] showed a more reducing redox state in more aggressive PC3 cells than less aggressive LNCaP cells, while Kumar et al. [22] observed higher ROS levels in PC3 cells in comparison to both DU145 and LNCaP cells. Although such a difference may result from different experimental conditions or the sensitivity of the analytic methods, the lack of redox-insensitive fluorescence control dyes in the latter study may account for this major discrepancy. Indeed, our laboratory has demonstrated high levels of redoxinsensitive CDCFDA fluorescence in PC3 cells indicating that the results reported by Kumar et al. [22] were not related to ROS. H₂DCF fluorescence intensity is a function of ROS levels, DCF influx and efflux rates, and esterase cleavage of the fluorescence dyes. Thus, the use of the redox-sensitive fluorescence dye alone is not sufficient for analysis of ROS levels. It is noteworthy that the metabolic switch from aerobic to anaerobic pathways concurrent with the progression of cancer also points to the possibility of less ROS production from the mitochondrial respiration chain, which may result in a more reducing environment in more aggressive cancer cells. However, more studies are needed to clarify this issue simply because any comparison between cell lines of very different genetic backgrounds may introduce a great deal of complexity because of differing AE gene regulation. More importantly, measurements of redox state in animal models or in human tissues are essential due to the possible involvement of artificial ROS generation under conditions used in cell culture.

Another discrepancy between the two studies comes from the study of NOXs. Chaiswing et al. [118] showed expression of NOX1 protein in both PC3 and LNCaP cells, which is consistent with previous observations [103]. Conversely, Kumar et al. [22] reported the presence of other NOX mRNAs, but NOX1 and NOX3 mRNA were absent in these cells. Irrespective of which NOX isoforms are present in prostate cancer, both of these studies used DPI as an NOX inhibitor to postulate the possible role of NOX in ROS production and prostate cancer. DPI is not a specific inhibitor of NOX, and thus the above conclusions are questionable. Neither mRNA nor protein levels may accurately represent the actual enzyme activity of NOX. Downregulation of specific NOX using siRNA or shRNA and the correlation of protein or mRNA expression with NOX activity assay are necessary to more definitively determine the role of NOX in prostate cancer. It is also interesting to note the apparent ineffectiveness of NAC in the inhibition of prostate cancer malignancy in the studies of Kumar et al. [22], which is contradictory to many other cancer prevention studies [149–151]. Indeed, several instances of this antioxidant paradox have been observed (e.g., vitamin E and selenium studies). Again, studies of antioxidant dose-response, analysis of redox states in specific subcellular compartments, and documentation of redox changes during cancer progression may be more important in understanding the role of redox status in cancer than analysis of individual antioxidant molecules in cell lysates.

A subsequent study by Chaiswing et al. [23] demonstrated a higher extracellular GSH/GSSG ratio in prostate cancer cells in comparison with immortalized parental cells. By using adenovirus-mediated ECSOD gene transduction to modulate redox states in several prostate cancer cell lines (e.g., WPE1-NB26, DU145, and PC3 cells), they showed that overexpressed ECSOD was primarily localized in the extracellular space. Addition of heparin to the culture media, which resulted in overexpression of ECSOD in the media, significantly decreased membrane type 1-matrix metalloprotease and MMP2 activities, as well as cell invasion capability. Conversely, overexpression of ECSOD without the addition of heparin to the media, which resulted in intracellular overexpression of ECSOD, did not show significant changes in these biologic and biochemical parameters. This study suggested the importance of extracellular membrane-localized superoxide generation in the modulation of cancer cell behavior. Although this study postulates that NOX1 may play a role in prostate carcinogenesis because of its specific membrane localization as well as the high expression and activity of NOXs in WPE-NB26 cancer cells, the role of NOX1 is still not conclusive since specific NOX1 knockdown studies were not performed. Together, the data suggest changes in both intracellular and extracellular redox states in prostate cancer cell culture models.

15.8.2 Evidence from Animal Models

One animal model provides direct evidence for the role of oxidative stress in prostate cancer. Ouyang et al. [112] have provided evidence for loss of protection against oxidative stress in mice with a loss of function of *Nkx3.1*, a homeobox gene that is known to be required for prostate epithelial differentiation and suppression of prostate cancer. Using gene expression profiling, it was demonstrated that *Nkx3.1* mutant mice had altered expression of several antioxidant and prooxidant enzymes, including Gpx2 and Gpx3, Prdx6, and sulfhydryl oxidase Q6. Mice with a loss of *Nkx3.1* function developed HGPIN but not cancer, and HGPIN was associated with oxidative damage to DNA. However, compound mutant mice lacking both *Nkx3.1* and *Pten* tumor suppressor genes progressed to adenocarcinoma. These compound mutant mice displayed further decreases in antioxidants, especially lack of expression of the SODs (CuZnSOD, located in the mitochondrial matrix), with more profound oxidative damage to DNA and protein observed. Therefore, these studies are believed to directly link oxidative stress and prostate cancer development and progression.

Studies have shown that increased oxidative damage correlated with tumor progression in three different mouse models of prostate tumorigenesis [27, 112]. As described previously, Ouyang et al. [112] have shown that DNA and protein were increasingly damaged by oxidation during tumor progression in *Nkx3.1^{-/-}* and *Nkx3.1^{-/-}* mice. Additionally, Tam et al. [27] demonstrated similar results in the transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP) model of prostate carcinoma, where increased ROS and RNS damage was demonstrated

in the prostate gland during tumorigenesis. Tam et al. [29] have also shown that administration of testosterone plus 17β-estradiol for 16 weeks induced dysplasia and stromal inflammation in the lateral prostate, but not in the ventral prostate in Noble rats. This combined hormone regimen, which with additional time resulted in prostate cancer, increased the expression of mRNA of specific members of the NOX family (NOX1, NOX-2, and NOX-4), inducible NOS, endothelial NOS, and COX-2 in the lateral prostate epithelium and/or its adjacent inflammatory stroma. There was also accumulation of 80HdG, 4HNE protein adducts, and 3NT primarily in the lateral prostate epithelium, suggesting that NOX, NOS, and COX may mediate hormone-induced oxidative/nitrative stress in prostate epithelium. Damage resulting from oxidative/nitrative stress as a result of the combined hormone therapy was concluded as from stromal inflammatory lesions.

The major criticism of these studies to date is that no mechanistic studies were performed. In order to clarify the role of oxidative stress present in these animal models, it is necessary to study carcinogenesis by modulation of redox state using overexpression or knockdown of antioxidant or prooxidant enzymes in the prostates of these genetically altered animal models.

15.8.3 Evidence from Human Tissues

Using specific antibodies against ROS/RNS damage products, our laboratory demonstrated changes of redox state with progression of human prostate cancer [37]. Primary prostate cancer showed low levels of 4HNE-modified proteins, but high levels of 3NT and 8OHdG compared to normal prostate epithelium. By contrast, metastatic prostate cancer had higher levels of ROS (4HNE-modified proteins and 8OHdG) and RNS (3NT) damage products than either primary cancer or normal prostate epithelium. The shift of redox state seems to have a specific subcellular distribution; the oxidative damage product 4HNE-modified proteins was predominantly localized in the cytoplasm but also in the nucleus, the DNA oxidation product 8OHdG was present predominantly in a diffuse nuclear distribution, and the RNS damage product 3NT was found predominantly in the cell cytoplasm. A shift in AEs was also detected, with generally lower levels of AEs in prostatic adenocarcinoma tissues compared to normal epithelium, but higher levels of MnSOD in metastatic prostate cancer compared to primary tumors [37]. These results are consistent with studies by Bostwick et al. [81], who compared oxidative stress in benign prostate epithelium, HGPIN, and prostate cancer. This group found decreased expression of MnSOD, CuZnSOD, and CAT in HGPIN and prostate carcinoma compared with benign epithelium [81]. It is also noteworthy that Baker et al. [119] also found lower levels of CAT, MnSOD, and CuZnSOD in most prostatic adenocarcinomas in comparison to corresponding nontumor tissues. Although additional quantitative biochemical activity studies need to be performed, these results confirmed abnormalities in ROS and RNS metabolism in human prostate cancer.

15.9 Compartmental Oxidative Stress and Specificity in Redox Control and Signaling

ROS and oxidative stress are not evenly distributed within cells. ROS generation occurs in specific locations and antioxidant defenses are localized in specific subcellular compartments [6]. For example, mitochondria are the primary location for ROS production, while NADPH oxidase generates ROS primarily at the cell membrane. MnSOD is distributed exclusively in mitochondria; CuZnSOD is present in the cytoplasm, nucleus, and mitochondrial intermembrane space, and ECSOD is specifically localized in the extracellular space. Under physiological conditions, the relative redox states differ in different compartments. From more reducing to more oxidizing redox environment as ascertained by levels of biologic redox couples is mitochondria>nucleus>cytoplasm>endoplasmic reticulum>extracellular space [8]. It has been demonstrated that ROS can function as second messengers in signal transduction, and redox compartmentalization functions as a mechanism for specificity in redox signaling and oxidative stress [8]. Three major redox couples, namely GSH/GSSG, reduced thioredoxin [Trx-(SH)₂]/oxidized thioredoxin [Trx-SS] and cysteine/cystine, are not in redox equilibrium and therefore could function as control nodes for many different redox-sensitive processes [8]. Specific compartmental oxidation in controlling signaling transduction is illustrated by Halvey and Jones [152], who studied compartmental oxidation following EGF treatment. This group showed that ROS appeared to be a critical component for growth factor signal transduction, and ROS generation following EGF treatment resulted in specific cytopasmic oxidation of Trx1, but not nuclear Trx1, mitochondrial Trx2, and cellular GSH. Nuclear and cytoplasmic compartmentalization of redox processes has been demonstrated to regulate transcription factors [8, 153]. AP-1, NF- κ B, and Nrf2 require an oxidative signal in the cytoplasm to initiate signaling for activation. After activation and translocation into the nucleus, reduction of cysteine residues within the DNA binding domain by Trx1 and redox factor-1 (Ref-1) of each transcription factor is a prerequisite for transcription factor binding to DNA and subsequent gene activation [8, 153].

In most cancers, including prostate cancer, oxidative damage also showed specific subcellular distribution [37]. Alteration of extracellular redox state in prostate cancer by overexpression of ECSOD in the extracellular space decreased cell invasion, whereas overexpression of ECSOD intracellularly had no significant effect [23]. This latter study implicated the importance of membrane-localized superoxide generation in modulation of prostate cancer cell behavior. However, specific compartmental redox states in prostate cancer have not been precisely defined. It would be of great interest and importance to understand how redox states in specific compartments change during the progression of prostate cancer, how they change in response to various intracellular and extracellular stimuli, and how these changes are related to cancer cell behavior. Thus, selective manipulation of prostate cancer.

15.10 Summary and Conclusions

Current data support the role of ROS/oxidative stress in prostate carcinogenesis. ROS can be generated endogenously or exogenously. When more ROS are produced and/or antioxidant defenses impaired, redox imbalance/oxidative stress then occurs. Physiological levels of ROS participate in many cellular processes such as proliferation, migration, and metastasis, while high levels of oxidative stress are capable of causing damage to various subcellular constituents, including DNA, proteins, and lipids. The accumulation of genetic and epigenetic damage as well as protein dysfunction resulting from sustained oxidative stress in prostate cells may contribute to prostate carcinogenesis. Some prostate cancer risk factors including androgens, advancing age, and inflammation are associated with oxidative stress. However, current knowledge is not sufficient enough to ascertain the precise role of ROS/ oxidative stress in prostate carcinogenesis, specifically whether or not ROS/RNS are a significant cause or just a secondary effect of cancer. If ROS/oxidative stress is higher in prostate cancer, why have antioxidants thus far appeared to be ineffective in the treatment of prostate cancer? Since ROS and RNS are somehow interconnected to each other, how could we distinguish their role in prostate cancer initiation and progression? Numerous signaling pathways are affected by ROS, but we are still not certain as to which specific pathways are most important in prostate cancer.

15.11 Future Directions

In view of so many questions regarding the role of ROS/RNS in prostate cancer, we would like to make several suggestions for future studies of oxidative stress in prostate cancer. (1) When evaluating oxidative stress, it is important to measure ODP and perform a total antioxidant assay rather than detecting ROS and antioxidant defenses alone. (2) Enzymatic activity assays should be included in evaluating prooxidant or antioxidant protein levels. (3) To define whether ROS/oxidative stress is a cause and not a secondary effect of prostate cancer, overexpression or knockdown of specific enzymes or proteins should be performed in transgenic animal models. (4) Specific subcellular compartmental oxidation rather than whole cell lysates should be analyzed. This would help to design strategies to modify specific compartmental redox states for possible therapeutic intervention. (5) ROS and RNS are somehow interconnected to each other, and they are both implicated in prostate carcinogenesis; therefore, low-molecular-weight compounds or overexpression or knockdown technologies to specifically modulate ROS or RNS should be used to differentiate their effects. (6) Oxidative stress may potentiate carcinogenesis via oxidative modifications of redox sensitive transcriptional factors and signaling molecules; however, the precise modification profile is thus far poorly defined. Future studies on specific modifications to key proteins (such as 'NO- or glutathionylcysteine modifications) will open another avenue for understanding the role of ROS/RNS in prostate cancer.

References

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Murray T, Thun MJ (2008) Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin 58(2):71–96
- Heidenreich A, Aus G, Bolla M, Joniau S, Matveev VB, Schmid HP, Zattoni F (2008) EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. Eur Urol 53(1):68–80
- Mike S, Harrison C, Coles B, Staffurth J, Wilt TJ, Mason MD (2006) Chemotherapy for hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4:CD005247
- Bostwick DG, Burke HB, Djakiew D, Euling S, Ho SM, Landolph J, Morrison H, Sonawane B, Shifflett T, Waters DJ, Timms B (2004) Human prostate cancer risk factors. Cancer 101(10 Suppl):2371–2490
- 5. Galanis A, Pappa A, Giannakakis A, Lanitis E, Dangaj D, Sandaltzopoulos R (2008) Reactive oxygen species and HIF-1 signalling in cancer. Cancer Lett 266(1):12–20
- 6. Oberley TD (2002) Oxidative damage and cancer. Am J Pathol 160(2):403-408
- 7. Schafer FQ, Buettner GR (2001) Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of the glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple. Free Radic Biol Med 30(11):1191–1212
- Hansen JM, Go YM, Jones DP (2006) Nuclear and mitochondrial compartmentation of oxidative stress and redox signaling. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 46:215–234
- 9. McEligot AJ, Yang S, Meyskens FL Jr (2005) Redox regulation by intrinsic species and extrinsic nutrients in normal and cancer cells. Annu Rev Nutr 25:261–295
- 10. Mikkelsen RB, Wardman P (2003) Biological chemistry of reactive oxygen and nitrogen and radiation-induced signal transduction mechanisms. Oncogene 22(37):5734–5754
- Guo S, Wharton W, Moseley P, Shi H (2007) Heat shock protein 70 regulates cellular redox status by modulating glutathione-related enzyme activities. Cell Stress Chaperones 12(3):245–254
- Sablina AA, Budanov AV, Ilyinskaya GV, Agapova LS, Kravchenko JE, Chumakov PM (2005) The antioxidant function of the p53 tumor suppressor. Nat Med 11(12):1306–1313
- Graf PC, Jakob U (2002) Redox-regulated molecular chaperones. Cell Mol Life Sci 59(10): 1624–1631
- Kimbro KS, Simons JW (2006) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 in human breast and prostate cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 13(3):739–749
- Puig S, Thiele DJ (2002) Molecular mechanisms of copper uptake and distribution. Curr Opin Chem Biol 6(2):171–180
- Barnham KJ, McKinstry WJ, Multhaup G, Galatis D, Morton CJ, Curtain CC, Williamson NA, White AR, Hinds MG, Norton RS, Beyreuther K, Masters CL, Parker MW, Cappai R (2003) Structure of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid precursor protein copper binding domain. A regulator of neuronal copper homeostasis. J Biol Chem 278(19):17401–17407
- Polytarchou C, Hatziapostolou M, Papadimitriou E (2005) Hydrogen peroxide stimulates proliferation and migration of human prostate cancer cells through activation of activator protein-1 and up-regulation of the heparin affin regulatory peptide gene. J Biol Chem 280(49):40428–40435
- 18. Halliwell B (2007) Oxidative stress and cancer: have we moved forward? Biochem J 401(1):1-11
- Zhou Q, Liu LZ, Fu B, Hu X, Shi X, Fang J, Jiang BH (2007) Reactive oxygen species regulate insulin-induced VEGF and HIF-1alpha expression through the activation of p70S6K1 in human prostate cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 28(1):28–37
- Marignol L, Coffey M, Lawler M, Hollywood D (2008) Hypoxia in prostate cancer: a powerful shield against tumour destruction? Cancer Treat Rev 34(4):313–327
- Sung SY, Kubo H, Shigemura K, Arnold RS, Logani S, Wang R, Konaka H, Nakagawa M, Mousses S, Amin M, Anderson C, Johnstone P, Petros JA, Marshall FF, Zhau HE, Chung LW (2006) Oxidative stress induces ADAM9 protein expression in human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 66(19):9519–9526

- Kumar B, Koul S, Khandrika L, Meacham RB, Koul HK (2008) Oxidative stress is inherent in prostate cancer cells and is required for aggressive phenotype. Cancer Res 68(6): 1777–1785
- Chaiswing L, Zhong W, Cullen JJ, Oberley LW, Oberley TD (2008) Extracellular redox state regulates features associated with prostate cancer cell invasion. Cancer Res 68(14): 5820–5826
- 24. Neville NC, Tam NN, Gao Y, Leung YK, Ho SM (2003) Androgenic regulation of oxidative stress in the rat prostate: involvement of NAD(P)H oxidases and antioxidant defense machinery during prostatic involution and regrowth. Am J Pathol 163(6):2513–2522
- Nakamura J, Purvis ER, Swenberg JA (2003) Micromolar concentrations of hydrogen peroxide induce oxidative DNA lesions more efficiently than millimolar concentrations in mammalian cells. Nucleic Acids Res 31(6):1790–1795
- Kasai H (2002) Chemistry-based studies on oxidative DNA damage: formation, repair, and mutagenesis. Free Radic Biol Med 33(4):450–456
- Tam NN, Nyska A, Maronpot RR, Kissling G, Lomnitski L, Suttie A, Bakshi S, Bergman M, Grossman S, Ho SM (2006) Differential attenuation of oxidative/nitrosative injuries in early prostatic neoplastic lesions in TRAMP mice by dietary antioxidants. Prostate 66(1):57–69
- Nakashima I, Liu W, Akhand AA, Takeda K, Kawamoto Y, Kato M, Suzuki H (2003) 4-Hydroxynonenal triggers multistep signal transduction cascades for suppression of cellular functions. Mol Aspects Med 24(4–5):231–238
- Tam NN, Leav I, Ho SM (2007) Sex hormones induce direct epithelial and inflammationmediated oxidative/nitrosative stress that favors prostatic carcinogenesis in the noble rat. Am J Pathol 171(4):1334–1341
- Zha S, Yegnasubramanian V, Nelson WG, Isaacs WB, De Marzo AM (2004) Cyclooxygenases in cancer: progress and perspective. Cancer Lett 215(1):1–20
- Palapattu GS, Sutcliffe S, Bastian PJ, Platz EA, De Marzo AM, Isaacs WB, Nelson WG (2005) Prostate carcinogenesis and inflammation: emerging insights. Carcinogenesis 26(7): 1170–1181
- Toker A, Yoeli-Lerner M (2006) Akt signaling and cancer: surviving but not moving on. Cancer Res 66(8):3963–3966
- Cobbs CS, Samanta M, Harkins LE, Gillespie GY, Merrick BA, MacMillan-Crow LA (2001) Evidence for peroxynitrite-mediated modifications to p53 in human gliomas: possible functional consequences. Arch Biochem Biophys 394(2):167–172
- Brown GC, Borutaite V (2006) Interactions between nitric oxide, oxygen, reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species. Biochem Soc Trans 34(Pt 5):953–956
- 35. Du JQ, Wu J, Zhang HJ, Zhang YH, Qiu BY, Wu F, Chen YH, Li JY, Nan FJ, Ding JP, Li J (2008) Isoquinoline-1,3,4-trione derivatives inactivate caspase-3 by generation of reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem 283(44):30205–30215
- 36. Silva A, Yunes JA, Cardoso BA, Martins LR, Jotta PY, Abecasis M, Nowill AE, Leslie NR, Cardoso AA, Barata JT (2008) PTEN posttranslational inactivation and hyperactivation of the PI3K/Akt pathway sustain primary T cell leukemia viability. J Clin Invest 118(11): 3762–3774
- Oberley TD, Zhong W, Szweda LI, Oberley LW (2000) Localization of antioxidant enzymes and oxidative damage products in normal and malignant prostate epithelium. Prostate 44(2): 144–155
- Banerjee S, Li Y, Wang Z, Sarkar FH (2008) Multi-targeted therapy of cancer by genistein. Cancer Lett 269(2):226–242
- 39. Heber D (2008) Multitargeted therapy of cancer by ellagitannins. Cancer Lett 269(2): 262–268
- Meeran SM, Katiyar S, Katiyar SK (2008) Berberine-induced apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells is initiated by reactive oxygen species generation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 229(1):33–43
- Toyokuni S (1999) Reactive oxygen species-induced molecular damage and its application in pathology. Pathol Int 49(2):91–102

- 42. Halliwell B, Whiteman M (2004) Measuring reactive species and oxidative damage in vivo and in cell culture: how should you do it and what do the results mean? Br J Pharmacol 142(2):231–255
- 43. Zhao H, Kalivendi S, Zhang H, Joseph J, Nithipatikom K, Vasquez-Vivar J, Kalyanaraman B (2003) Superoxide reacts with hydroethidine but forms a fluorescent product that is distinctly different from ethidium: potential implications in intracellular fluorescence detection of superoxide. Free Radic Biol Med 34(11):1359–1368
- 44. Toyokuni S, Tanaka T, Hattori Y, Nishiyama Y, Yoshida A, Uchida K, Hiai H, Ochi H, Osawa T (1997) Quantitative immunohistochemical determination of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine by a monoclonal antibody N45.1: its application to ferric nitrilotriacetate-induced renal carcinogenesis model. Lab Invest 76(3):365–374
- Fleshner NE, Klotz LH (1998) Diet, androgens, oxidative stress and prostate cancer susceptibility. Cancer Metastasis Rev 17(4):325–330
- 46. Ripple MO, Henry WF, Rago RP, Wilding G (1997) Prooxidant–antioxidant shift induced by androgen treatment of human prostate carcinoma cells. J Natl Cancer Inst 89(1):40–48
- 47. Shigemura K, Sung SY, Kubo H, Arnold RS, Fujisawa M, Gotoh A, Zhau HE, Chung LW (2007) Reactive oxygen species mediate androgen receptor- and serum starvation-elicited downstream signaling of ADAM9 expression in human prostate cancer cells. Prostate 67(7):722–731
- Mehraein-Ghomi F, Lee E, Church DR, Thompson TA, Basu HS, Wilding G (2008) JunD mediates androgen-induced oxidative stress in androgen dependent LNCaP human prostate cancer cells. Prostate 68(9):924–934
- Veeramani S, Yuan TC, Lin FF, Lin MF (2008) Mitochondrial redox signaling by p66Shc is involved in regulating androgenic growth stimulation of human prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 27(37):5057–5068
- Ross RK, Pike MC, Coetzee GA, Reichardt JK, Yu MC, Feigelson H, Stanczyk FZ, Kolonel LN, Henderson BE (1998) Androgen metabolism and prostate cancer: establishing a model of genetic susceptibility. Cancer Res 58(20):4497–4504
- Ross RK, Bernstein L, Pike MC, Henderson BE, Lobo RA, Stanczyk FZ, Shimizu H (1992)
 5-Alpha-reductase activity and risk of prostate cancer among Japanese and US white and black males. Lancet 339(8798):887–889
- Coughlin SS, Hall IJ (2002) A review of genetic polymorphisms and prostate cancer risk. Ann Epidemiol 12(3):182–196
- 53. Sharifi N, Hurt EM, Thomas SB, Farrar WL (2008) Effects of manganese superoxide dismutase silencing on androgen receptor function and gene regulation: implications for castration-resistant prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14(19):6073–6080
- Nieto M, Finn S, Loda M, Hahn WC (2007) Prostate cancer: re-focusing on androgen receptor signaling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(9):1562–1568
- 55. De Marzo AM, Platz EA, Sutcliffe S, Xu J, Gronberg H, Drake CG, Nakai Y, Isaacs WB, Nelson WG (2007) Inflammation in prostate carcinogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 7(4): 256–269
- Woenckhaus J, Fenic I (2008) Proliferative inflammatory atrophy: a background lesion of prostate cancer? Andrologia 40(2):134–137
- 57. Bethel CR, Faith D, Li X, Guan B, Hicks JL, Lan F, Jenkins RB, Bieberich CJ, De Marzo AM (2006) Decreased NKX3.1 protein expression in focal prostatic atrophy, prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia, and adenocarcinoma: association with Gleason score and chromosome 8p deletion. Cancer Res 66(22):10683–10690
- Hayes VM, Severi G, Southey MC, Padilla EJ, English DR, Hopper JL, Giles GG, Sutherland RL (2006) Macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 H6D polymorphism, prostate cancer risk, and survival. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15(6):1223–1225
- Lindmark F, Zheng SL, Wiklund F, Bensen J, Balter KA, Chang B, Hedelin M, Clark J, Stattin P, Meyers DA, Adami HO, Isaacs W, Gronberg H, Xu J (2004) H6D polymorphism in macrophage-inhibitory cytokine-1 gene associated with prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 96(16):1248–1254

- 60. Lindmark F, Zheng SL, Wiklund F, Balter KA, Sun J, Chang B, Hedelin M, Clark J, Johansson JE, Meyers DA, Adami HO, Isaacs W, Gronberg H, Xu J (2005) Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist haplotype associated with prostate cancer risk. Br J Cancer 93(4):493–497
- Chen YC, Giovannucci E, Kraft P, Lazarus R, Hunter DJ (2007) Association between Tolllike receptor gene cluster (TLR6, TLR1, and TLR10) and prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 16(10):1982–1989
- 62. Sun J, Wiklund F, Hsu FC, Balter K, Zheng SL, Johansson JE, Chang B, Liu W, Li T, Turner AR, Li L, Li G, Adami HO, Isaacs WB, Xu J, Gronberg H (2006) Interactions of sequence variants in interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase4 and the toll-like receptor 6-1-10 gene cluster increase prostate cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15(3):480–485
- 63. Sun J, Wiklund F, Zheng SL, Chang B, Balter K, Li L, Johansson JE, Li G, Adami HO, Liu W, Tolin A, Turner AR, Meyers DA, Isaacs WB, Xu J, Gronberg H (2005) Sequence variants in Toll-like receptor gene cluster (TLR6-TLR1-TLR10) and prostate cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst 97(7):525–532
- 64. Zheng SL, Augustsson-Balter K, Chang B, Hedelin M, Li L, Adami HO, Bensen J, Li G, Johnasson JE, Turner AR, Adams TS, Meyers DA, Isaacs WB, Xu J, Gronberg H (2004) Sequence variants of toll-like receptor 4 are associated with prostate cancer risk: results from the CAncer Prostate in Sweden Study. Cancer Res 64(8):2918–2922
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP (1996) Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science 271(5256):1734–1736
- 66. Gupta S, Adhami VM, Subbarayan M, MacLennan GT, Lewin JS, Hafeli UO, Fu P, Mukhtar H (2004) Suppression of prostate carcinogenesis by dietary supplementation of celecoxib in transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate model. Cancer Res 64(9):3334–3343
- Shen Z, Wu W, Hazen SL (2000) Activated leukocytes oxidatively damage DNA, RNA, and the nucleotide pool through halide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radical. Biochemistry 39(18):5474–5482
- 68. Okada F, Kobayashi M, Tanaka H, Kobayashi T, Tazawa H, Iuchi Y, Onuma K, Hosokawa M, Dinauer MC, Hunt NH (2006) The role of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase-derived reactive oxygen species in the acquisition of metastatic ability of tumor cells. Am J Pathol 169(1):294–302
- 69. Sun JH, Das KK, Amenta PS, Yokota K, Watari J, Sato T, Kohgo Y, Das KM (2006) Preferential expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in colonic-phenotype of gastric intestinal metaplasia: association with helicobacter pylori and gastric carcinoma. J Clin Gastroenterol 40(2):122–128
- Konturek PC, Kania J, Burnat G, Hahn EG, Konturek SJ (2005) Prostaglandins as mediators of COX-2 derived carcinogenesis in gastrointestinal tract. J Physiol Pharmacol 56(Suppl 5): 57–73
- Harris RE, Beebe-Donk J, Doss H, Burr Doss D (2005) Aspirin, ibuprofen, and other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in cancer prevention: a critical review of non-selective COX-2 blockade (review). Oncol Rep 13(4):559–583
- Hussain SP, Hofseth LJ, Harris CC (2003) Radical causes of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 3(4):276–285
- Hussain T, Gupta S, Mukhtar H (2003) Cyclooxygenase-2 and prostate carcinogenesis. Cancer Lett 191(2):125–135
- Gupta S, Srivastava M, Ahmad N, Bostwick DG, Mukhtar H (2000) Over-expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human prostate adenocarcinoma. Prostate 42(1):73–78
- 75. Madaan S, Abel PD, Chaudhary KS, Hewitt R, Stott MA, Stamp GW, Lalani EN (2000) Cytoplasmic induction and over-expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human prostate cancer: implications for prevention and treatment. BJU Int 86(6):736–741
- 76. Tanji N, Kikugawa T, Yokoyama M (2000) Immunohistochemical study of cyclooxygenases in prostatic adenocarcinoma; relationship to apoptosis and Bcl-2 protein expression. Anticancer Res 20(4):2313–2319
- Yoshimura R, Sano H, Masuda C, Kawamura M, Tsubouchi Y, Chargui J, Yoshimura N, Hla T, Wada S (2000) Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in prostate carcinoma. Cancer 89(3):589–596

- Yegnasubramanian S, Kowalski J, Gonzalgo ML, Zahurak M, Piantadosi S, Walsh PC, Bova GS, De Marzo AM, Isaacs WB, Nelson WG (2004) Hypermethylation of CpG islands in primary and metastatic human prostate cancer. Cancer Res 64(6):1975–1986
- Bol DK, Rowley RB, Ho CP, Pilz B, Dell J, Swerdel M, Kiguchi K, Muga S, Klein R, Fischer SM (2002) Cyclooxygenase-2 overexpression in the skin of transgenic mice results in suppression of tumor development. Cancer Res 62(9):2516–2521
- Rundhaug JE, Pavone A, Kim E, Fischer SM (2007) The effect of cyclooxygenase-2 overexpression on skin carcinogenesis is context dependent. Mol Carcinog 46(12):981–992
- Bostwick DG, Alexander EE, Singh R, Shan A, Qian J, Santella RM, Oberley LW, Yan T, Zhong W, Jiang X, Oberley TD (2000) Antioxidant enzyme expression and reactive oxygen species damage in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and cancer. Cancer 89(1):123–134
- Melov S, Doctrow SR, Schneider JA, Haberson J, Patel M, Coskun PE, Huffman K, Wallace DC, Malfroy B (2001) Lifespan extension and rescue of spongiform encephalopathy in superoxide dismutase 2 nullizygous mice treated with superoxide dismutase-catalase mimetics. J Neurosci 21(21):8348–8353
- 83. Wallace DC (1999) Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse. Science 283(5407):1482-1488
- Schriner SE, Linford NJ, Martin GM, Treuting P, Ogburn CE, Emond M, Coskun PE, Ladiges W, Wolf N, Van Remmen H, Wallace DC, Rabinovitch PS (2005) Extension of murine life span by overexpression of catalase targeted to mitochondria. Science 308(5730):1909–1911
- Russo MT, De Luca G, Degan P, Bignami M (2007) Different DNA repair strategies to combat the threat from 8-oxoguanine. Mutat Res 614(1–2):69–76
- Nakabeppu Y, Sakumi K, Sakamoto K, Tsuchimoto D, Tsuzuki T, Nakatsu Y (2006) Mutagenesis and carcinogenesis caused by the oxidation of nucleic acids. Biol Chem 387(4):373–379
- Syed DN, Suh Y, Afaq F, Mukhtar H (2008) Dietary agents for chemoprevention of prostate cancer. Cancer Lett 265(2):167–176
- Fukushima S, Kinoshita A, Puatanachokchai R, Kushida M, Wanibuchi H, Morimura K (2005) Hormesis and dose–response-mediated mechanisms in carcinogenesis: evidence for a threshold in carcinogenicity of non-genotoxic carcinogens. Carcinogenesis 26(11):1835–1845
- 89. Waalkes MP (2003) Cadmium carcinogenesis. Mutat Res 533(1-2):107-120
- He X, Chen MG, Ma Q (2008) Activation of Nrf2 in defense against cadmium-induced oxidative stress. Chem Res Toxicol 21(7):1375–1383
- 91. Dong JT (2006) Prevalent mutations in prostate cancer. J Cell Biochem 97(3):433-447
- Dakubo GD, Parr RL, Costello LC, Franklin RB, Thayer RE (2006) Altered metabolism and mitochondrial genome in prostate cancer. J Clin Pathol 59(1):10–16
- Costello LC, Franklin RB, Feng P (2005) Mitochondrial function, zinc, and intermediary metabolism relationships in normal prostate and prostate cancer. Mitochondrion 5(3):143–153
- Khan MA, Partin AW, Mangold LA, Epstein JI, Walsh PC (2003) Probability of biochemical recurrence by analysis of pathologic stage, Gleason score, and margin status for localized prostate cancer. Urology 62(5):866–871
- Petros JA, Baumann AK, Ruiz-Pesini E, Amin MB, Sun CQ, Hall J, Lim S, Issa MM, Flanders WD, Hosseini SH, Marshall FF, Wallace DC (2005) mtDNA mutations increase tumorigenicity in prostate cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102(3):719–724
- Chowdhury SK, Raha S, Tarnopolsky MA, Singh G (2007) Increased expression of mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase and antioxidant enzymes in prostate cancer cell lines/cancer. Free Radic Res 41(10):1116–1124
- Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87(1):245–313
- Geiszt M, Leto TL (2004) The Nox family of NAD(P)H oxidases: host defense and beyond. J Biol Chem 279(50):51715–51718
- Harper RW, Xu C, Soucek K, Setiadi H, Eiserich JP (2005) A reappraisal of the genomic organization of human Nox1 and its splice variants. Arch Biochem Biophys 435(2): 323–330

- 100. Mitsushita J, Lambeth JD, Kamata T (2004) The superoxide-generating oxidase Nox1 is functionally required for Ras oncogene transformation. Cancer Res 64(10):3580–3585
- 101. Suh YA, Arnold RS, Lassegue B, Shi J, Xu X, Sorescu D, Chung AB, Griendling KK, Lambeth JD (1999) Cell transformation by the superoxide-generating oxidase Mox1. Nature 401(6748):79–82
- 102. Brar SS, Corbin Z, Kennedy TP, Hemendinger R, Thornton L, Bommarius B, Arnold RS, Whorton AR, Sturrock AB, Huecksteadt TP, Quinn MT, Krenitsky K, Ardie KG, Lambeth JD, Hoidal JR (2003) NOX5 NAD(P)H oxidase regulates growth and apoptosis in DU 145 prostate cancer cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 285(2):C353–C369
- 103. Lim SD, Sun C, Lambeth JD, Marshall F, Amin M, Chung L, Petros JA, Arnold RS (2005) Increased Nox1 and hydrogen peroxide in prostate cancer. Prostate 62(2):200–207
- 104. Bell EL, Klimova TA, Eisenbart J, Moraes CT, Murphy MP, Budinger GR, Chandel NS (2007) The Qo site of the mitochondrial complex III is required for the transduction of hypoxic signaling via reactive oxygen species production. J Cell Biol 177(6):1029–1036
- 105. Emerling BM, Platanias LC, Black E, Nebreda AR, Davis RJ, Chandel NS (2005) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is required for hypoxia signaling. Mol Cell Biol 25(12):4853–4862
- 106. Gao N, Ding M, Zheng JZ, Zhang Z, Leonard SS, Liu KJ, Shi X, Jiang BH (2002) Vanadateinduced expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha and vascular endothelial growth factor through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway and reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem 277(35):31963–31971
- 107. Gao N, Shen L, Zhang Z, Leonard SS, He H, Zhang XG, Shi X, Jiang BH (2004) Arsenite induces HIF-1alpha and VEGF through PI3K, Akt and reactive oxygen species in DU145 human prostate carcinoma cells. Mol Cell Biochem 255(1–2):33–45
- Moll UM, Marchenko N, Zhang XK (2006) p53 and Nur77/TR3 transcription factors that directly target mitochondria for cell death induction. Oncogene 25(34):4725–4743
- 109. Kroemer G (2006) Mitochondria in cancer. Oncogene 25(34):4630-4632
- 110. Elchuri S, Oberley TD, Qi W, Eisenstein RS, Jackson Roberts L, Van Remmen H, Epstein CJ, Huang TT (2005) CuZnSOD deficiency leads to persistent and widespread oxidative damage and hepatocarcinogenesis later in life. Oncogene 24(3):367–380
- 111. Chu FF, Esworthy RS, Chu PG, Longmate JA, Huycke MM, Wilczynski S, Doroshow JH (2004) Bacteria-induced intestinal cancer in mice with disrupted Gpx1 and Gpx2 genes. Cancer Res 64(3):962–968
- 112. Ouyang X, DeWeese TL, Nelson WG, Abate-Shen C (2005) Loss-of-function of Nkx3.1 promotes increased oxidative damage in prostate carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 65(15):6773–6779
- 113. Neumann CA, Krause DS, Carman CV, Das S, Dubey DP, Abraham JL, Bronson RT, Fujiwara Y, Orkin SH, Van Etten RA (2003) Essential role for the peroxiredoxin Prdx1 in erythrocyte antioxidant defence and tumour suppression. Nature 424(6948):561–565
- 114. Wang X, Phelan SA, Forsman-Semb K, Taylor EF, Petros C, Brown A, Lerner CP, Paigen B (2003) Mice with targeted mutation of peroxiredoxin 6 develop normally but are susceptible to oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 278(27):25179–25190
- Clerkin JS, Naughton R, Quiney C, Cotter TG (2008) Mechanisms of ROS modulated cell survival during carcinogenesis. Cancer Lett 266(1):30–36
- 116. Nishikawa M (2008) Reactive oxygen species in tumor metastasis. Cancer Lett 266(1):53–59
- 117. Jung K, Seidel B, Rudolph B, Lein M, Cronauer MV, Henke W, Hampel G, Schnorr D, Loening SA (1997) Antioxidant enzymes in malignant prostate cell lines and in primary cultured prostatic cells. Free Radic Biol Med 23(1):127–133
- 118. Chaiswing L, Bourdeau-Heller JM, Zhong W, Oberley TD (2007) Characterization of redox state of two human prostate carcinoma cell lines with different degrees of aggressiveness. Free Radic Biol Med 43(2):202–215
- 119. Baker AM, Oberley LW, Cohen MB (1997) Expression of antioxidant enzymes in human prostatic adenocarcinoma. Prostate 32(4):229–233

- 120. Kang D, Lee KM, Park SK, Berndt SI, Peters U, Reding D, Chatterjee N, Welch R, Chanock S, Huang WY, Hayes RB (2007) Functional variant of manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD2 V16A) polymorphism is associated with prostate cancer risk in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancer study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 16(8): 1581–1586
- 121. Jeronimo C, Varzim G, Henrique R, Oliveira J, Bento MJ, Silva C, Lopes C, Sidransky D (2002) 1105V polymorphism and promoter methylation of the GSTP1 gene in prostate adenocarcinoma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 11(5):445–450
- 122. Brooks JD, Weinstein M, Lin X, Sun Y, Pin SS, Bova GS, Epstein JI, Isaacs WB, Nelson WG (1998) CG island methylation changes near the GSTP1 gene in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 7(6):531–536
- 123. Schulz WA, Hatina J (2006) Epigenetics of prostate cancer: beyond DNA methylation. J Cell Mol Med 10(1):100–125
- 124. Li LC, Dahiya R (2007) Epigenetics of prostate cancer. Front Biosci 12:3377-3397
- Noh DY, Ahn SJ, Lee RA, Kim SW, Park IA, Chae HZ (2001) Overexpression of peroxiredoxin in human breast cancer. Anticancer Res 21(3B):2085–2090
- 126. Park JH, Kim YS, Lee HL, Shim JY, Lee KS, Oh YJ, Shin SS, Choi YH, Park KJ, Park RW, Hwang SC (2006) Expression of peroxiredoxin and thioredoxin in human lung cancer and paired normal lung. Respirology 11(3):269–275
- 127. Carr A, Frei B (1999) Does vitamin C act as a pro-oxidant under physiological conditions? FASEB J 13(9):1007–1024
- Oberley LW (2005) Mechanism of the tumor suppressive effect of MnSOD overexpression. Biomed Pharmacother 59(4):143–148
- 129. Lippman SM, Klein EA, Goodman PJ, Lucia MS, Thompson IM, Ford LG, Parnes HL, Minasian LM, Gaziano JM, Hartline JA, Parsons JK, Bearden JD III, Crawford ED, Goodman GE, Claudio J, Winquist E, Cook ED, Karp DD, Walther P, Lieber MM, Kristal AR, Darke AK, Arnold KB, Ganz PA, Santella RM, Albanes D, Taylor PR, Probstfield JL, Jagpal TJ, Crowley JJ, Meyskens FL Jr, Baker LH, Coltman CA Jr (2009) Effect of selenium and vitamin E on risk of prostate cancer and other cancers: the Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT). JAMA 301(1):39–51
- Cano CE, Gommeaux J, Pietri S, Culcasi M, Garcia S, Seux M, Barelier S, Vasseur S, Spoto RP, Pebusque MJ, Dusetti NJ, Iovanna JL, Carrier A (2009) Tumor protein 53-induced nuclear protein 1 is a major mediator of p53 antioxidant function. Cancer Res 69(1):219–226
- 131. Stapleton AM, Timme TL, Gousse AE, Li QF, Tobon AA, Kattan MW, Slawin KM, Wheeler TM, Scardino PT, Thompson TC (1997) Primary human prostate cancer cells harboring p53 mutations are clonally expanded in metastases. Clin Cancer Res 3(8):1389–1397
- 132. Eastham JA, Stapleton AM, Gousse AE, Timme TL, Yang G, Slawin KM, Wheeler TM, Scardino PT, Thompson TC (1995) Association of p53 mutations with metastatic prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 1(10):1111–1118
- 133. Griewe GL, Dean RC, Zhang W, Young D, Sesterhenn IA, Shanmugam N, McLeod DG, Moul JW, Srivastava S (2003) p53 Immunostaining guided laser capture microdissection (p53-LCM) defines the presence of p53 gene mutations in focal regions of primary prostate cancer positive for p53 protein. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 6(4):281–285
- 134. Zhao Y, Chaiswing L, Velez JM, Batinic-Haberle I, Colburn NH, Oberley TD, St Clair DK (2005) p53 Translocation to mitochondria precedes its nuclear translocation and targets mitochondrial oxidative defense protein-manganese superoxide dismutase. Cancer Res 65(9):3745–3750
- 135. Dhar SK, Xu Y, Chen Y, St Clair DK (2006) Specificity protein 1-dependent p53-mediated suppression of human manganese superoxide dismutase gene expression. J Biol Chem 281(31):21698–21709
- 136. Macip S, Igarashi M, Berggren P, Yu J, Lee SW, Aaronson SA (2003) Influence of induced reactive oxygen species in p53-mediated cell fate decisions. Mol Cell Biol 23(23): 8576–8585

- 137. Zhao R, Xiang N, Domann FE, Zhong W (2006) Expression of p53 enhances seleniteinduced superoxide production and apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 66(4):2296–2304
- 138. Kwak MK, Wakabayashi N, Itoh K, Motohashi H, Yamamoto M, Kensler TW (2003) Modulation of gene expression by cancer chemopreventive dithiolethiones through the Keap1-Nrf2 pathway. Identification of novel gene clusters for cell survival. J Biol Chem 278(10):8135–8145
- Lee Jm, Calkins MJ, Chan K, Kan YW, Johnson JA (2003) Identification of the NF-E2related factor-2-dependent genes conferring protection against oxidative stress in primary cortical astrocytes using oligonucleotide microarray analysis. J Biol Chem 278(14): 12029–12038
- 140. Chanas SA, Jiang Q, McMahon M, McWalter GK, McLellan LI, Elcombe CR, Henderson CJ, Wolf CR, Moffat GJ, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, Hayes JD (2002) Loss of the Nrf2 transcription factor causes a marked reduction in consecutive and inducible expression of the glutathione S-transferase Gsta1, Gsta2, Gstm1, Gstm2, Gstm3 and Gstm4 genes in the livers of male and female mice. Biochem J 365(Pt 2):405–416
- 141. Frohlich DA, McCabe MT, Arnold RS, Day ML (2008) The role of Nrf2 in increased reactive oxygen species and DNA damage in prostate tumorigenesis. Oncogene 27:4353–4362
- 142. Suh J, Payvandi F, Edelstein LC, Amenta PS, Zong WX, Gelinas C, Rabson AB (2002) Mechanisms of constitutive NF-kappaB activation in human prostate cancer cells. Prostate 52:183–200
- 143. Sweeney C, Li L, Shanmugam R, Bhat-Nakshatri P, Jayaprakasan V, Baldridge LA, Gardner T, Smith M, Nakshatri H, Cheng L (2004) Nuclear factor-kappaB is constitutively activated in prostate cancer in vitro and is overexpressed in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and ade-nocarcinoma of the prostate. Clin Cancer Res 10:5501–5507
- 144. Eferl R, Wagner EF (2003) AP-1: a double-edged sword in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 3:859–868
- 145. Zerbini LF, Wang Y, Cho JY, Libermann TA (2003) Constitutive activation of nuclear factor kappaB p50/p65 and Fra-1 and JunD is essential for deregulated interleukin 6 expression in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 63:2206–2215
- 146. Huang S, Pettaway CA, Uehara H, Bucana CD, Fidler IJ (2001) Blockade of NF-kappaB activity in human prostate cancer cells is associated with suppression of angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis. Oncogene 20:4188–4197
- 147. Ozanne BW, McGarry L, Spence HJ, Johnston I, Winniw J, Meagher L, Stapleton G (2000) Transcriptional regulation of cell invasion: AP-1 regulation of a multigenic invasion programme. Eur J Cancer 36:1640–1648
- Edwards J, Krishna NS, Mukherjee R, Bartlett JM (2004) The role of c-Jun and c-Fos expression in androgen-independent prostate cancer. J Pathol 204:153–158
- 149. Noonan DM, Benelli R, Albini A (2007) Angiogenesis and cancer prevention: a vision. Recent Results Cancer Res 174:219–224
- 150. Nyska A, Suttie A, Bakshi S, Lomnitski L, Grossman S, Bergman M, Ben-Shaul V, Crocket P, Haseman JK, Moser G, Goldsworthy TL, Maronpot RR (2003) Slowing tumorigenic progression in TRAMP mice and prostatic carcinoma cell lines using natural anti-oxidant from spinach, NAO a comparative study of three anti-oxidants. Toxicol Pathol 31(1):39–51
- 151. Tozawa K, Okamoto T, Hayashi Y, Sasaki S, Kawai N, Kohri K (2002) *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine enhances chemotherapeutic effect on prostate cancer cells. Urol Res 30(1):53–58
- 152. Halvey PJ, Watson WH, Hansen JM, Go YM, Samali A, Jones DP (2005) Compartmental oxidation of thiol-disulphide redox couples during epidermal growth factor signalling. Biochem J 386(Pt 2):215–219
- 153. Haddad JJ (2002) Antioxidant and prooxidant mechanisms in the regulation of redox(y)sensitive transcription factors. Cell Signal 14(11):879–897

Chapter 16 The Role of Vitamin E in Prostate Cancer

William L. Stone, Sharon E. Campbell, and Koyamangalath Krishnan

Abstract This chapter reviews the current literature linking vitamin E to prostate cancer with the overall goal of providing a rationale for the design of potential future large-scale clinical chemoprevention studies. Vitamin E is not a single organic compound and refers to at least four tocopherols (alpha, beta, gamma, and delta) and four corresponding tocotrienols. Much of the literature linking vitamin E with cancer does not distinguish between these various isoforms and has primarily focused on alpha-tocopherol which is the primary vitamin E isoform found in plasma from fasting individuals and in most dietary supplements. Considerable evidence now supports the view that the various isoforms of vitamin E (and their chemical derivatives) have distinct biochemical properties and distinct abilities to modulate oxidative stress, signal transduction pathways, and pathophysiological processes important in carcinogenesis (e.g., apoptosis and angiogenesis). This chapter reviews the recent clinical trials as well as the in vitro and in vivo evidence connecting the various isoforms of vitamin E with prostate cancer. Particular emphasis is placed on gamma-tocopherol, the primary dietary isoform of vitamin E. A major conclusion is that some non-alpha-tocopherol forms of vitamin E hold considerable promise for both the chemoprevention and chemotherapy of prostate cancer.

W.L. Stone, PhD Department of Pediatrics, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

S.E. Campbell, PhD Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN, USA

K. Krishnan, MD(⊠) Department of Internal Medicine, East Tennessee State University, Box 70622, Johnson City, TN 37614, USA e-mail: krishnak@etsu.edu

16.1 Introduction

The clinical rationale for attempting to identify and test potential antioxidant/ anti-inflammatory nutraceuticals with chemopreventive properties against prostate cancer is well justified despite the spate of recent conflicting or negative clinical trials that have primarily focused on alpha-tocopherol (RRR-alpha-tocopherol or all-racemic-alpha-tocopherol), the isomer almost universally present in vitamin E supplements. We review the results of those clinical trials in which prostate cancer was a primary or secondary endpoint. Given that hindsight is 20/20, composing a critical review of these previous clinical studies, without suggesting a viable alternative, is not particularly constructive. Nevertheless, it is valuable for the design of future studies to point out the importance of robust descriptive epidemiology, extensive in vitro and in vivo work in model systems, sound nutritional biochemistry and a firm mechanistic foundation. The review provided below explores these critical factors with specific emphasis on vitamin E and prostate cancer. A major conclusion is that future clinical trials should consider non-alpha-tocopherol forms, such as gamma-tocopherol or delta-tocotrienol, as potential chemopreventive agents for prostate cancer.

It is possible, however, that a prostate cancer chemopreventive dietary factor could only be effective when "delivered" in the form of a whole food or a natural diet (e.g., the Southern Mediterranean) rather than as a purified nutraceutical in the form of an oral supplement. It is also conceivable that an interaction between a natural diet and life style factors (e.g., daily exercise and nonsmoking) could be critical in slowing the progression of prostate cancer. Unesterified vitamin E contained in foods prevents in vitro oxidation during the cooking process and thereby potentially helps to reduce the in vitro production of carcinogens generated by high heat [1]. By contrast, an oral vitamin E supplement containing esterified alpha-tocopherol (e.g., all-racemic alpha-tocopheryl acetate) would have no such effect, since this form is inactive as an antioxidant until hydrolyzed during intestinal absorption. Finally, it is possible that advanced drug design, aided by bioinformatics technology, could produce xenobiotic chemoprevention agents that are nontoxic when taken over long time periods, inexpensive to manufacture, and more effective than any potential nutraceutical chemopreventive agent.

16.2 The Importance of Chemopreventive Antioxidants/ Anti-inflammatory Nutrients in Prostate Cancer

Prostate cancer is the most frequently diagnosed cancer in American men and the second leading cause of cancer: it is a multifactorial disease with age, family history, hormonal levels, race, and diet being important factors. Over one million American men over the age of 50 will eventually die of prostate cancer unless new treatments are developed. Prostate cancer is somewhat unique in having a long latency period during which cancer growth is slow and can cause few symptoms.

Prostate cancer is often preceded by prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) characterized by an increased proliferative ability of prostate gland cells and morphological alterations. Chemopreventive agents are particularly well suited for decreasing prostate cancer mortality by extending the time during which PIN progresses to prostate cancer.

While the incidence of latent prostate cancer (microfocal tumors) is similar throughout the world, the incidence of clinically evident prostate cancer has the greatest country-to-country variation (as much as 20-fold) of any cancer type [2, 3]. These data suggest the potential importance of both nutritional and environmental factors. This notion is supported by data showing that native Japanese have the lowest risk of clinical prostate cancer, whereas first-generation Japanese-American immigrants have an intermediate risk factor and subsequent generations have a risk similar to the general US population [4]. It should be noted, however, that not only do US immigrants adopt a Western diet, but also a Western lifestyle characterized by lack of exercise and a marked tendency toward obesity. There is now good evidence showing that obesity increases the risk of aggressive prostate cancer while reducing the risk of low-grade, nonaggressive cancer [5]. Similarly, there is evidence suggesting that regular vigorous activity can slow the progression of prostate cancer [6].

It has been estimated that 35% of cancer deaths in the USA are attributable to dietary factors [7]. Identifying the specific nutraceuticals that could act as potential chemoprevention factors for prostate cancer is clearly a well-justified goal: such agents are more likely to be inexpensive and nontoxic (over a long time span) compared with xenobiotics. Vitamin E, the major lipid-soluble antioxidant in human plasma and tissues, has long been considered a cancer chemopreventive agent with great potential. RRR-alpha-tocopherol and RRR-gamma-tocopherol are the primary isoforms (see below) of vitamin E found in human plasma and tissues.

Vitamin E is best know for inhibiting the process of lipid peroxidation which occurs in the biological membranes of subcellular organelles and other lipid–protein complexes such as lipoproteins. The process of lipid peroxidation yields peroxy radicals, lipid hydroperoxides and reactive aldehydes all of which are genotoxic. Malondialdehyde, for example, is a major aldehyde by-product of lipid peroxidation and it forms adducts with deoxyguanosine, deoxyadenosine, and deoxycytidine nucleosides that can be mutagenic [8]. By diminishing lipid peroxidation, vitamin E could potentially reduce endogenous DNA damage and thereby reduce cancer in general. A recent large-scale prospective study has shown that "dietary vitamin E" is associated with reduced risk of clinically relevant prostate cancer [9]. As discussed below, we carefully use the phrase "dietary vitamin E" to distinguish it from "supplemental vitamin E": a major goal of this review is to stress the importance of this distinction.

Cigarette smoking is perhaps the most well documented and potent source of oxidative stress and it markedly increases the risk of prostate cancer death [10]. Bruno et al. [11] have extensively reviewed the effects of cigarette smoking on oxidative stress and vitamin E biokinetics. In human subjects, smoking has been found to markedly increase the utilization of plasma RRR-alpha- and RRR-gamma-tocopherol

as well as increase the nitration of gamma-tocopherol resulting in the formation of 5-nitro-gamma-tocopherol [11].

There is a large body of literature linking prostate cancer with chronic inflammation and inflammation is always associated with an increased level of oxidative stress [12, 13]. De Marzo et al. [13] and Bardia et al. [12] have elegantly reviewed the data supporting the view that environmental factors (e.g., infectious agents, carcinogens in the diet or from cigarette smoke) cause prostate injury and an accompanying chronic inflammation referred to as proliferative inflammatory atrophy (PIA) which can then progress to prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) and prostate cancer. This etiological schema is significant to vitamin E since gamma-tocopherol has unique properties as an anti-inflammatory factor (as discussed below in more detail).

16.3 Intervention Trials

16.3.1 Prostate Cancer Chemoprevention Trials with Supplemental Vitamin E

The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention (ATBC) Study was a randomized, large-scale (29,133 men), double blind, placebo-controlled, primary prevention trial to determine if daily supplementation with 50 mg/day of all-racemic-alpha-tocopheryl acetate, all-trans-beta-carotene (20 mg/day), or both would reduce the incidence of lung cancer or other cancers among male smokers in Finland [14]. The ATBC study found that men taking beta-carotene or both vitamin E and beta-carotene had an increased incidence of lung cancers, while vitamin E alone had no effect on lung cancer [14]. Quite remarkably, men receiving vitamin E had a 31% decrease in the incidence of prostate cancer and a 41% lower prostate cancer mortality lower compared to men not receiving vitamin E [15]. For men receiving beta-carotene the incidence of prostate cancer incidence was 23% higher and mortality was 15% higher (95% CI=30–89%) compared with men not receiving beta-carotene [15]. It needs to be emphasized that the men in this study were smokers and, therefore, subjected to a very potent oxidative stress affecting a major alteration in vitamin E utilization [11].

The Beta-Carotene and Retinol Efficacy Trial (CARET) is also relevant here: this study tested the combination of 30 mg beta-carotene/day and 25,000 IU retinyl palmitate/day (vitamin A) taken daily against placebo in men and women at high risk of developing lung cancer, i.e., either smokers or asbestos workers. The CARET study found an increased incidence of lung cancer and mortality in the subjects taking beta-carotene and vitamin A: results consistent with the ATBC [16, 17]. Although prostate cancer was a secondary outcome in the CARET study, recent results suggest that men taking the high-dose beta-carotene plus and vitamin A supplement with at least one other dietary supplement could have an increased risk of aggressive prostate cancer [18]. The potential procarcinogenic effect of beta-carotene remains

uncertain but recent work by van Helden et al. [19] shows that beta-carotene inhibits myeloperoxidase, an H_2O_2 -utilizing enzyme released by neutrophils, and increases the formation of genotoxic hydroxyl radicals (OH) from H_2O_2 via the Fenton reaction.

The Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT) was undertaken based on the ATBC trial as well as another secondary trial providing evidence for a preventive role of selenium in preventing prostate cancer [20]. The SELECT study had an optimal study design: it was a large-scale (35,533 relatively healthy men), randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled trial conducted at 427 sites in the USA with a mean follow-up of 5.46 years. The results were unambiguous; supplementation with 400 IU/day of all racemic alpha-tocopheryl acetate or with selenium (200 μ g/day from L-selenomethionine) or both did not prevent prostate cancer in a population of healthy men and, moreover, did not protect against lung or colorectal cancer [20]. The primary conclusion of the SELECT trial was that "selenium or vitamin E, alone or in combination at the doses and formulations used, did not prevent prostate cancer in this population of relatively healthy men." Moreover, a subgroup analyses of the SELECT population did not show a selective protective effect in current and former smokers [20].

The Physicians' Health Study II was a randomized, double blind, placebocontrolled factorial trial of all-racemic-alpha-tocopherol (400 IU/day) and vitamin C. This large-scale study enrolled 14,641 US male physicians initially aged 50 years or older, with a very low incidence of smoking. The conclusion, after 8 years (mean) of treatment, was that "neither vitamin E nor C supplementation reduced the risk of prostate or total cancer" but that neither agent showed any discernable harm [21].

The HOPE-TOO trial extension was designed to test the hypothesis that longterm supplementation with RRR-alpha-tocopheryl acetate at 400 IU/day could decrease the risk of cancer, cancer deaths and major cardiovascular disease outcomes. As detailed below, RRR-alpha-tocopheryl acetate is an isoform of vitamin E with "natural" stereochemistry. This was a long-term (7 years) randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled, international study in subjects with vascular disease or diabetes mellitus. There was no evidence that RRR-alpha-tocopheryl acetate supplementation reduced the incidence of prostate, lung, oral and pharyngeal, colorectal, breast, or melanoma cancers. The study did, however, raise a concern about an increased risk of heart failure related to RRR-alpha-tocopheryl acetate supplementation. The conclusion from this study was that "In patients with vascular disease or diabetes mellitus, long-term vitamin E supplementation does not prevent cancer or major cardiovascular events and may increase the risk for heart failure."

Despite the predominantly negative results for the clinical interventions studies reviewed above, it may be premature to generalize a finding made with all racemic alpha-tocopheryl acetate or RRR-alpha-tocopherol (supplemental vitamin E) to "dietary vitamin E," which is at least eight different isoforms having unique chemistries and biological affects. Equating vitamin E only with alpha-tocopherol is not justified biochemically (see below) and is likely to create obstacles to exploring other useful "non-alpha-tocopherol" isoforms of vitamin E with potentially powerful chemopreventive effects.

16.4 Prospective Studies

The Vitamins and lifestyle (VITAL) study utilized a prospective design which recruited 35,242 men from western Washington State who completed a questionnaire, including detailed questions about vitamin E and selenium supplement intake during the past 10 years [22]. This study found no association between long-term supplemental intake of vitamin E and selenium and prostate cancer risk overall but did note that the risk of clinically relevant advanced prostate cancer (regionally invasive or distant metastatic) was reduced with greater long-term vitamin E supplementation [22].

The Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian (PLCO) Cancer Screening Trial was a large-scale clinical trial whose goal was to determine the efficacy of some cancer screening tests in reducing the number of deaths from cancer. This study also evaluated the potential association between intake of a variety of antioxidants from foods and supplements and the risk of prostate cancer [23]. No overall association was found between prostate cancer risk and dietary or supplemental intake of vitamin E, beta-carotene, or vitamin C but among current and recent smokers there was a decreased risk of advanced prostate cancer associated with increasing dose and duration of supplemental vitamin E [23]. Kirsh et al. [23] noted that the lack of association between the estimated levels of dietary beta-, gamma-, and deltatocopherols and prostate cancer could be due to limitations inherent in using food frequency questionnaires. In particular, the food frequency questionnaires used did not capture nut intake or the types of vegetable oils consumed, which are major sources of both alpha-tocopherol and non-alpha-tocopherols as discussed below [23]. This factor is a shortcoming in many studies and may play a role in masking the potential importance of dietary vitamin E in reducing the risk of prostate cancer.

A recent analysis of the very large scale (295,344 men) NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study showed that supplemental vitamin E (alpha-tocopherol) intake was not related to prostate cancer risk, whereas dietary gamma-tocopherol was associated with a reduced risk of advanced prostate cancer [9]. The men in this prospective study were 50–71 years old and cancer free at enrollment: there was a 5-year follow-up during which 10,241 cases of prostate cancer were identified [9]. Although prospective studies have limitations, this study had a robust number of prostate cancer cases and the database and methodology used to estimate the intake of individual vitamin E isoforms from a dietary questionnaire was quite comprehensive [9]. The conclusion from this study was that "The potential benefit of gamma-tocopherol for prostate cancer prevention deserves further attention".

Helzlsouer et al. [24], in a much smaller observational study (the CLUE II Study), looked at the association between alpha-tocopherol, gamma-tocopherol, selenium, and the subsequent development of prostate cancer. In this study, however, the plasma levels of tocopherols were measured at enrollment using a blood sample from apparently nonfasting men: the distinction between fasting and nonfasting blood samples is important with respect to gamma-tocopherol (see below). A protective effect for plasma alpha-tocopherol was only evident when plasma gamma-tocopherol levels were high [24]. Men in the highest quintile of plasma gamma-tocopherol had a remarkable fivefold reduction in the risk of developing prostate cancer compared to men in the lowest quintile suggesting that a combined supplement with both and alpha- and gamma-tocopherol would be optimal for reducing the risk of prostate cancer [24].

If an interaction (as yet to be defined) between alpha- and gamma-tocopherols were required to reduce prostate cancer risk, then a very high dose of only alpha-tocopherol would not be beneficial since it would (as detailed below) reduce both plasma and tissue levels of gamma-tocopherol. This could explain why 50 mg/day of all-racemic-alpha-tocopherol was effective in the ATBC study, whereas the 400 mg/day used in the SELECT study and the Physicians' Health Study II was not, i.e., 400 mg of all-rac-alpha-tocopherol would be very effective at reducing plasma and tissue levels of gamma-tocopherol compared to 50 mg/day. It could also be that high plasma levels of gamma-tocopherol are a biomarker for vegetable fat consumption, which could be much less procarcinogenic than the consumption of animal fat (see below).

16.5 Vitamin E Biochemistry and Nutrition

All of the studies reviewed above need to be placed in the context of vitamin E biochemistry and nutrition to be usefully evaluated. The term "Vitamin E" does not refer to a single unique organic compound but rather to all tocopherols and tocotrienols and their chemical derivatives [25]. Naturally occurring dietary vitamin E is primarily four tocopherols and four tocotrienols with specific chirality. As shown in Fig. 16.1, the number and positions of the methyl groups on the chromanol rings defines alpha-, beta-, gamma-, and delta-tocopherols as well as the corresponding four tocotrienols. Tocopherols have a saturated phytyl side chain at the 2-position of the chromanol ring, whereas tocotrienols have a farnesyl side chain with three double bonds at this position. Tocopherols have one asymmetric carbons (at the 2, 4' and 8' positions) and tocotrienols have one asymmetric center at the 2-position (see Fig. 16.1). Naturally occurring tocopherols and tocotrienols all have the R-configuration at the chiral carbons.

All forms of vitamin E are fat-soluble antioxidants that inhibit in vivo peroxidation. In addition to preventing lipid peroxidation, vitamin E can modulate signal transduction pathways [25–28]. Since redox inactive derivatives of vitamin E, such as alpha-tocopheryl succinate, can also modulate signal transduction pathways, not all biologically relevant actions of vitamin E can be explained solely on the basis of antioxidant activity [27, 29–32].

All-racemic-alpha-tocopherol is an equimolar mixture of eight stereoisomers (an R- or S-configuration at the three asymmetric carbons). Only one-eighth of all-racemic-alpha-tocopherol is the naturally occurring RRR-alpha-tocopherol. This is an important point since tocopherols could modulate signal transduction pathways by binding to proteins such as tocopherol associated proteins [33]. Most binding



Structure of Vitamin E

Fig. 16.1 Structure of vitamin E

sites on proteins exhibit stereoselectivity: proteins modulated by RRR-alphatocopherol may not be responsive to other alpha-tocopherol stereoisomers and, conversely, proteins normally not modulated by RRR-alpha-tocopherol could be modulated by the other alpha-tocopherol stereoisomers (with potentially deleterious effects).

16.6 The Unique Biochemistry and Anti-inflammatory Properties of Gamma-Tocopherol

The only structural difference between gamma-tocopherol and alpha-tocopherol is the lack of a methyl group at position 5 of the chromanol ring for gamma-tocopherol (see Fig. 16.1). Nevertheless, this subtle difference has profound biochemical and physiological consequences as detailed by the excellent review of Hensley et al. [34]. When oxidized, beta-, gamma-, or delta-tocopherol form partially substituted quinones that can function as an arylating species, whereas the fully substituted alpha-tocopheryl quinone is not an arylating species [35]. All quinones are highly reactive redox cycling agents that can generate ROS in vivo and the partially substituted quinones also function as arylating agents that can react with cellular nucleophiles such as thiols. This leads to profound differences in the biochemistry of alpha-tocopherol compared to beta-, gamma-, and delta-tocopherols [35].

Another major distinction in the biochemistries of gamma- versus alphatocopherol is illustrated in their reactions with reactive nitrogen oxide species (RNOS) such as peroxynitrite (ONOO–) and nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) [36–39]. Alpha-tocopheryl quinone is the major product formed by the reaction between alpha-tocopherol and peroxynitrite [40], whereas 5-NO₂-gamma-tocopherol is formed by the reaction of gamma-tocopherol and peroxynitrite [36, 37, 41]. The in vivo formation of peroxynitrite and protein nitration species is thought to occur during many inflammatory processes and may contribute to carcinogenesis [42].

Using an animal model, Jiang et al. [43] demonstrated that supplementation with gamma-tocopherol inhibits protein nitration (i.e., 3-nitro-tyrosine formation) and ascorbate oxidation in rats with inflammation. These data suggest that gamma-tocopherol could act in concert with alpha-tocopherol to protect macromolecules from oxidative damage by trapping reactive nitrogen oxide species [43]. Surprisingly, there is little information on 3-nitro-tyrosine as a biomarker for prostate cancer: recent data suggests, however, that increased prostate levels of 3-nitrotyrosine are associated with prostate cancer but not benign prostatic hyperplasia [44].

In contrast to alpha-tocopherol, gamma-tocopherol and its water-soluble catabolite gamma-CEHC are inhibitors of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) activity in macrophages and epithelial cells [45]. COX-2 catalyzes the synthesis of prostaglandin E_2 which is a well-characterized mediator of inflammation and regulates tumor angiogenesis in prostate cancer [46].

16.7 Vitamin E in Animal Fat Versus Vegetable Fat

Dietary fat has often been associated with an increased risk of prostate cancer. Giovannucci et al. [47] have provided evidence showing that total fat consumption is related to the risk of advanced prostate cancer and this association is primarily due to animal fat rather than vegetable fat. Animal fat contains primarily RRR-alpha-tocopherol (or more precisely 2R, 4'R, 8'R-alpha-tocopherol) and, in general, contains much less total vitamin E than vegetable fat, which often contains high levels of "non-alpha-tocopherol" isomers. Butter, for example, contains 2 mg of RRR-alpha-tocopherol per 100 g of fat with negligible amounts of other vitamin E isomers [25]. By contrast, dietary vegetable oils typically contain high levels of RRR-alpha-tocopherol and often contain even higher levels of non-alpha-tocopherols [25]. Corn oil, for example, contains 10 mg RRR-alpha-tocopherol per 100 g fat and 60 mg of RRR-gamma-tocopherol per 100 g fat [25]. The typical USA diet contains about 2–4 times more RRR-gamma-tocopherol than RRR-alpha-tocopherol [48, 49], i.e., a ratio of 2–4:1, but in Europe this ratio is about 1:2 [49].

16.8 Supplemental Vitamin E Generally Does Not Mimic Dietary Vitamin E

Despite the fact that the primary form of dietary vitamin E in the US diet is RRRgamma-tocopherol most clinical research (see above) has been done with supplementscontainingonlyall-racemic-alpha-tocopherol(or all-racemic-alpha-tocopheryl acetate) or RRR-alpha-tocopherol. The primary rationale for using alpha-tocopherol in clinical interventions studies lies in the fact that this isomer is present in plasma from fasting individuals at levels five- to tenfold higher than gamma-tocopherol. The fasting state, may not, however, be an accurate representation of circulating tocopherols in the nonfasting normal physiological state of most Westerners. All forms of dietary vitamin E isomers are absorbed equally well by the intestine, packaged into chylomicrons and secreted into circulation where they are acted upon by lipoprotein lipases and converted into smaller chylomicrons remnants which are rapidly taken up by the liver along with most of the dietary vitamin E [50]. These observations suggest that postprandial levels of gamma-tocopherol could be considerably higher than observed in the fasting state when triglyceriderich chylomicron levels are very low. Meydani et al. [51] have, indeed, found that the plasma levels of gamma-tocopherol and alpha-tocopherol were 13 and 21 μ M, respectively, 9 h after a fat-rich meal, whereas they were 6.7 and 21 µM, respectively, in the initial fasting state. The fat-rich meal contained gamma- to alphatocopherol in a 2.8:1 ratio [51]. These data indicate the level of gamma-tocopherol under normal nonfasting conditions is likely to be at least twice that observed in the fasting state. Similarly, tocotrienols, which are not normally detected in plasma from fasting individuals, can reach 10 µM in postprandial plasma 6 h after consuming a tocotrienol-rich palm oil supplement [52].

The molecular events resulting in the selective retention of RRR-alpha-tocopherol in plasma from fasting individuals have, for the most part, been well characterized. The liver contains an alpha-tocopherol transfer protein (alpha-TTP), which selectively transfers RRR-alpha-tocopherol into very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), which is then secreted into circulation [53–55]. The mechanism whereby alpha-TTP transfers alpha-tocopherol from a membrane to VLDL is thought to involve the formation of an alpha-TTP-bilayer complex [56].

It was initially suggested that the gamma-tocopherol not packaged into VLDL could be eliminated from the liver via excretion into bile [53–55]. Work by Yamashita et al. [57] has shown, however, that secretion into bile is not a major route for the elimination of either gamma- or alpha-tocopherol. Early work by Dr. John Bieri and his coworkers showed that radiolabeled alpha- and gamma-tocopherols (intraperitoneally injected) are taken up equally well by various rat tissues but that gamma-tocopherol is subsequently metabolized more rapidly [58]. As detailed below, the fate of gamma-tocopherol may be particularly relevant to prostate cancer. Gysin et al. [59], for example, have found that gamma-tocopherol is much more effective than alpha-tocopherol at inhibiting the growth of both androgen-dependent and androgen-independent prostate cancer cell lines by the downregulation of cyclins.

16.9 The Fate of Gamma-Tocopherol

Work by Swanson et al. [60] suggests that differences in the rate of catabolism between alpha- and gamma-tocopherol could contribute to the higher levels of alpha-tocopherol in human plasma. Both alpha- and gamma-tocopherols are catabolized via oxidation of their phytyl side chain resulting in water-soluble carboxyethyl-hydroxychroman (CEHC) metabolites. The Parker group has elegantly described the cytochrome P450-mediated omega-hydroxylation of the tocopherol phytyl side chain followed by stepwise removal of two- or three-carbon moieties [61, 62]. Gamma-tocopherol is, more specifically, catabolized into 2,7,8-trimethyl-2-(beta-carboxyethyl)-6-hydroxychroman (or gamma-CEHC as shown in Fig. 16.2) [63, 64]. Swanson et al. [60] found that urinary excretion of gamma-CEHC was a major route of elimination of gamma-tocopherol in humans. Human studies using deuterium labeled alpha- and gamma-tocopherol have clearly demonstrated that gamma-tocopherol disappears from plasma more rapidly and shows a much higher rate of conversion into the CEHC metabolite than does alpha-tocopherol [65]. As would be expected, plasma levels of gamma-CEHC are much higher than that of alpha-CEHC [66, 67]. Galli et al. [66] for example found that although plasma levels of alpha-tocopherol were 15-fold higher than gamma-tocopherol, the plasma levels of gamma-CEHC were 12-fold higher than that alpha-CEHC. The urine data are not as consistent: Galli et al. have found a threefold higher levels of alpha-CEHC than gamma-CEHC, whereas Devaraj et al. [67] found similar urinary levels of alpha- and gamma-CEHC. These differences could be due to analytical issues [68].

It is of great interest that alpha-CEHC and gamma-CEHC (water-soluble) have both antioxidant [34, 69, 70] and anti-inflammatory properties[71]. Galli et al. [72] compared the effects of alpha-tocopherol and gamma-tocopherol, and their

Water-Soluble Vitamin E Metabolites



Fig. 16.2 Water-soluble vitamin E metabolites

γ- CEHC

corresponding CEHC metabolites, on the proliferation and expression of cyclin D1 in the PC-3 prostate cancer cell line. These investigators found that gamma-tocopherol and gamma-CEHC were the most effective (even at 1 μ M) at inhibiting PC-3 cell growth and the expression of cyclin D1. Moreover, the inhibition of cyclin D1 expression by gamma-CEHC was competed for by alpha-CEHC [72]. These data clearly demonstrate that non-alpha-tocopherol forms of vitamin E may play important roles in preventing prostate cancer. The fact that water-soluble metabolites of vitamin E have anticancer activities also suggests that we must broaden our thinking with respect to vitamin E being relevant only to the lipid phase of cells and tissues.

16.10 The Cellular Uptake of Gamma-Tocopherol and Tocotrienols is Faster than that of Alpha-Tocopherol

For any vitamin E isoform to impact carcinogenesis it must be taken up by tissues where it could potentially protect DNA from oxidative stress induced damage and/or modulate signal transduction pathways relevant to carcinogenesis. Plasma vitamin E levels are, therefore, less relevant than intracellular vitamin E levels (and intracellular vitamin E metabolites). Surprisingly, there are only a few studies focusing on the uptake of vitamin E isoforms. Campbell et al. [73] determined that more than fivefold higher concentrations of gamma-tocopherol entered colon cancer cells compared to alpha-tocopherol at the same treatment concentration. Similarly, Gao et al. [74] studied the uptake of tocopherols by RAW 264.7 macrophages and found that gamma-tocopherol was taken up more rapidly than alpha-tocopherol with uptake being defined as the net difference between tocopherol transported into the cells and loss due to catabolism and/or in vitro oxidation. After 6 h, the cellular uptake of RRR-gamma-tocopherol was at least sixfold higher than that of RRR- alphatocopherol. Surprisingly, these investigators found that the presence of gammatocopherol promoted, by at least fivefold, the cellular uptake of alpha-tocopherol. If these results could be extrapolated to in vivo conditions they suggest that gammatocopherol is selectively taken up by cells and removed from plasma more rapidly than alpha-tocopherol and that dietary gamma-tocopherol could increase the tissue uptake of alpha-tocopherol. It is interesting, that in an animal model, graded levels of dietary gamma-tocopherol in a diet containing a constant level of alpha-tocopherol were found to increase the levels of alpha-tocopherol in serum and most tissues [75]. This remarkable result has yet to be reproduced in humans but certainly suggests an interaction between dietary gamma-tocopherol and alpha-tocopherol similar to that reported by Gao et al. [74] at the cellular level.

Zuo [76] has compared the uptake (after 4 h of incubation) of RRR-gammatocopherol and R-gamma-tocotrienol in the PC-3 prostate cancer cell line. The uptake of both gamma-tocopherol and gamma-tocotrienol by the PC-3 cells were dose-dependent (0–1.0 μ M), but R-gamma-tocotrienol was taken up at levels fourfold higher than that of RRR-gamma-tocopherol. Similarly, Zuo [76] compared the PC-3 uptake of R-alpha-, R-gamma-, and R-delta-tocotrienols and found that R-alpha- and R-gamma-tocotrienol were taken up at similar levels but the uptake of R-delta-tocotrienol was at least twofold higher. These data suggest that PC3 prostate cancer cells take up tocotrienols (particularly R-delta-tocotrienol) more rapidly than tocopherols.

16.11 Supplemental Vitamin E Decreases Plasma and Tissue Gamma-Tocopherol Levels

Handelman et al. [77] were the first to make the critical observation that supplemental alpha-tocopherol decreases plasma levels of gamma-tocopherol to about 30–50% of their initial values. Work by Traber et al. [78], using animal models, supports the view that dietary alpha-tocopherol supplementation increases the expression of hepatic cytochrome P450 Cyp3a and the tissue catabolism of gamma-tocopherol to gamma-CEHC. These results may also help explain some of the clinical data reported above. If gamma-tocopherol were a key anticancer chemopreventive nutraceutical, then supplemental alpha-tocopherol would decrease the plasma and tissue levels of gamma-tocopherol (by increasing its catabolism) and thereby negate its potential anticancer effect. As detailed below, the evidence supporting a key role for gamma-tocopherol in preventing prostate cancer is substantial.

16.12 Aging, Vitamin E, and Prostate Cancer

A primary risk factor for prostate cancer is aging with men over the age of 65 at highest risk. The dramatic increase in the incidence of prostate cancer with age is a hallmark of prostate cancer (http://seer.cancer.gov/). It is interesting, therefore, that plasma gamma-tocopherol levels appears to be the primary form of tocopherol depleted with age. Ford et al. [79] demonstrated that serum alpha-tocopherol concentrations increase with age in a population of more than 4,000 participants of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, while plasma gamma-tocopherol levels decrease with age. These studies suggest that additional gamma-tocopherol rather than alpha-tocopherol might be more appropriate in aging men.

16.13 In Vitro Mechanistic Evidence Suggests that Gamma-Tocopherol is more Effective than Alpha-Tocopherol in Preventing Prostate Cancer

Early work by Moyad et al. [80] found that RRR-gamma-tocopherol was superior to all-racemic-alpha-tocopherol at inhibiting the growth of the LNCaP prostate cancer cell line. While gamma-tocopherol was effective at reducing cell growth at 0.75 μ M,

alpha-tocopherol was not effective at levels lower than 250 μ M (not physiological). Gunawardena et al. [81] investigated the role of all-rac-alpha-tocopherol to inhibit cell growth and induce apoptosis in a variety of prostate cancer lines but only tested very high (nonphysiological) levels of all-rac-alpha-tocopherol, i.e., 180–581 μ M. They found that only a modest effect on cell growth inhibition and attributed this to apoptosis [81]. Many human prostate cancers arise because these cancerous cells have escaped apoptotic cell death. A key strategy in cancer prevention is, therefore, to promote apoptotic cell death in cancerous cells.

Gysin et al. [59] were among the first to provide some mechanistic insight into how gamma-tocopherol inhibits the growth of prostate cancer cells. These investigators found that gamma-tocopherol (24-h treatment) was more effective than alpha-tocopherol at inhibiting prostate cancer cell growth (LNCaP and DU-145 cell lines): a physiological level of 25 µM was used for both tocopherols. [59]. Flow cytometry data showed that the gamma-tocopherol treated DU-145 prostate cancer cells had a decreased progression into the S-phase associated with reduced DNA synthesis and decreased expression of cyclin D1 and cyclin E. Gysin et al. [59] reasonably assert that a nonantioxidant mechanism is likely, since gamma- and alpha-tocopherol have a similar antioxidant capacity. Gysin et al. [59] did not observe any increased apoptosis in prostate cancer cells treated with 25 µM gammatocopherol compared to untreated cells. However, cyclin D1, in addition to regulating cell proliferation, also plays a key role in mediating resistance to apoptosis by upregulating molecular chaperones and the subsequent redistribution of cell death regulators [82]. None of the researchers referred to in this paragraph compared the results observed with prostate cancer lines to normal or nontumorigenic cell prostate epithelial cells. This is an important control because it distinguishes a general affect of gamma-tocopherol on all prostate epithelial cells from a specific affect on prostate cancer cells.

Jiang et al. [83] made a major advance in further understanding the underlying molecular events giving rise to the inhibition of prostate cancer cell growth caused by gamma-tocopherol. These investigators found that gamma-tocopherol, but not alpha-tocopherol, inhibited the proliferation of PC3 and LNCaP prostate cancer cells but had no affect on normal prostate epithelial cells. Gamma-tocopherol (50 µM) but not alpha-tocopherol was found to induce apoptosis in the LNCaP cell line after 3 days of treatment. The higher concentration of gamma-tocopherol and longer duration of treatment used by Jiang et al. [83] most likely accounts for their positive apoptosis finding with LNCaP cells compared with the lack of apoptosis reported by Gysin et al. [59]. Jiang et al. [83] found that LNCaP cells treated with gamma-tocopherol released cytochrome c, activated caspase 9 and caspase 3, and cleaved poly-ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP): evidence was also presented for the involvement of caspase-independent pathways. A key observation was that LNCaP cells treated with gamma-tocopherol rapidly accumulated dihydroceramide and dihydrosphingosine, whereas ceramide and sphingosine levels did not increase until day 3, when substantial cell death took place [83]. The authors concluded that LNCaP prostate cancer cell death caused by gamma-tocopherol is linked to the de novo synthesis of sphingolipids [83].

Ceramides are neutral sphingolipids produced from either by the hydrolysis of sphingomyelin or by de novo synthesis from serine and palmitate. Considerable evidence supports the view that ceramide accumulation in biological membranes promotes the formation of specialized lipid domains called lipid rafts which, in turn, activate several downstream phosphorylation cascades important in promoting apoptosis [84–86]. It is increasingly apparent that some chemotherapeutic agents are proapoptotic by activating ceramide synthase and increasing membrane pools of ceramide [84, 85]. It is generally accepted that dihydroceramide, the precursor of ceramide, is not proapoptotic [87]. Stiban et al. [88] have suggested that dihydroceramides inhibit ceramide channel formation in the outer mitochondrial membrane thereby blocking the release of small proteins such as cytochrome c and preventing apoptosis. Jiang et al. [83] suggest, however, that long-chain dihydroceramides could play a role in apoptosis.

Jiang et al. [83] also addressed the possibility that cyclooxygenases and/or lipoxygenases could mediate the anticancer affects of gamma-tocopherol since these enzymes have abnormal levels or activities in many types of cancers. These enzymes utilize arachidonic acid and linoleic acid as their substrates. The addition of either arachidonic acid or linoleic acid to the cell culture media was found to partially block the inhibitory affect of gamma-tocopherol on the growth of PC3 or LNCaP prostate cancer cells Jiang et al. [83]. These authors could not, however, verify the presence of cyclooxygenases 2 or lipoxygenase in the prostate cancer cell lines by Western blots.

More recently, Campbell et al. [89] looked at the potential role of gammatocopherol in modulating lipoxygenases in prostate cancer cells. These authors noted that gamma-tocopherol has a strong structural similarity to troglitazone which is a ligand activating the γ -subtype of peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor (PPAR γ). Troglitazone belongs to the thiazolidinedione class of drugs used to treat type-2 diabetes but has also been shown to suppress tumor development by mechanisms involving apoptosis induction, cell cycle arrest, and differentiation. PPARs are ligand-activated nuclear proteins and members of the nuclear receptor superfamily that regulate gene expression by binding to DNA as heterodimers with the retinoic acid receptor (RXR).

In agreement with the in vitro data presented above, Campbell et al. [89] found that gamma-tocopherol at physiological levels selectively inhibited the growth of PC-3 compared to normal prostate epithelial cells. Moreover, gamma-tocopherol was found to upregulate the mRNA and protein expression of PPAR γ . By transfecting PC-3 cells with a dominant negative vector inhibiting PPAR γ activity, the growth arrest caused by gamma-tocopherol was almost fully blocked: a result that was confirmed by the use of a chemical inhibitor of PPAR γ . These results strongly suggest that gamma-tocopherol exerts its anticancer affect through a PPAR γ dependent mechanism. Nevertheless, Campbell et al. [89] found that gamma-tocopherol was not a direct PPAR γ ligand and reasoned that gamma-tocopherol might increase the production of an endogenous PPAR γ ligand such as 15-S-HETE, which is known to suppress prostate cancer cell growth [90]. Lipoxygenases can insert oxygen atoms at various carbons on arachidonate with 5-, 8-, 12-, 15-lipoxygenase (5-LOX, 8-LOX, 12-LOX, and 15-LOX) inserting oxygen at carbon 5, 8, 12, or 15 yielding 5S-, 12S-, or 15S-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (5-, 8-, 12-, or 15-HPETE) which can be reduced by glutathione peroxidase to the hydroxy forms, i.e., 5-, 8-, 12-, 15-HETE, respectively. Campbell et al. [89] found that gamma-tocopherol (40 μ M) did, indeed, increase the production of 15-S-HETE as well as 15-LOX-2 mRNA and protein levels. The gamma-tocopherol-induced increase in 15-LOX-2 levels is particularly significant since tissue expression of this lipoxygenase is limited to prostate, lung, skin and corneal tissues, and prostate cancer has a decreased protein expression and a decreased enzymatic activity of 15-LOX-2 [90, 91].

The downstream targets regulated by PPAR γ , relevant to cancer, include cyclin D1, cyclin D3, bcl-2, and NFkappaB. Campbell et al. [89] found that gammatocopherol treatment of PC-3 prostate cancer cells resulted in a downregulation of cyclin D1 and D3, which would stop the cell cycle and potentiate cell death. The phosphorylation of NFkappaB was also inhibited by gamma-tocopherol treatment and the constitutive activation of this nuclear transcription factor is thought to provide an antiapoptotic mechanism for many cancer cells [89]. The inhibition of NFkappaB would be predicted to result in the downregulation of bcl-2, a key antiapoptotic factor: Campbell et al. [89] did, in fact, find that gamma-tocopherol treatment downregulated bcl-2 levels.

The mechanistic results reviewed above suggest that gamma-tocopherol can inhibit prostate cancer growth by modulating ceramide metabolism [83] or indirectly by modulating the activity of PPAR γ via 15-LOX-2 [89]. It is interesting, therefore, that recent work by Wang et al. [92] shows that C2-ceramide can modulate PPAR γ expression level and its transcriptional activity resulting in apoptosis in cancer cells. The finding that C2-ceramide induces apoptosis via a PPAR γ -dependent pathway may be the "missing link" between the work of Jiang et al. [83] and Campbell et al. [89].

16.14 Gamma-Tocopherol in Animal Models of Prostate Cancer

A major challenge for testing any prostate cancer chemopreventive agent, under well-controlled laboratory conditions, is the lack of animal models that mimic all aspects of human prostate cancer [93]. Dogs are the only large nonhuman species in which prostate cancer occurs spontaneously and with a high frequency [93, 94]. Moreover, dogs have a single lobed prostate gland like humans, whereas mice and rats have four distinct lobes [93]. Bone metastasis occurs in both human and dog prostate cancer [93]. Given the superiority of the dog model, it is surprising that male pet dogs have not been extensively utilized in testing the efficacy of dietary chemopreventive agents to inhibit spontaneous prostate cancer. Transgenic mouse or rat models of prostate cancer are widely used to test chemopreventive agents but have intrinsic limitations [93].

The transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP) model is useful since these male mice develop progressive prostate cancer with a histology and pathology that resembles the human disease. Barve et al. [95] recently found that 0.1% (or 1.000 mg/kg diet) dietary mixed tocopherols, enriched with gamma-tocopherol, significantly suppressed PIN and tumor development and also upregulated the expression of Nrf2 compared to TRAMP mice fed a AIN-76A diet. Nrf2 is a redox-sensitive transcription factor that regulates the expression of a variety phase II detoxifying and antioxidant enzymes. No tocopherol analyses of mice tissues, plasma, or diets were provided in this study. Takahashi et al. [96] also studied the effects of gamma-tocopherol on prostate cancer suppression but used transgenic rat for adenocarcinoma of prostate (TRAP) model. These investigators found that dietary gamma-tocopherol significantly suppressed the sequential progression from PIN to adenocarcinoma in a dose-dependent manner as well as activating caspases 3 and 7 in the ventral lobe. In this study, dietary gamma-tocopherol was used at levels from 50 to 200 mg/kg diet, whereas alpha-tocopherol was used only at 50 mg/kg diet: this makes it difficult to compare the tumor suppressor effectiveness of the two isoforms.

16.15 Conclusions and Future Directions

The clinical intervention studies reviewed above provide the unambiguous conclusion that dietary supplementation with alpha-tocopherol alone is not effective for the chemoprevention of prostate cancer in nonsmokers. Nevertheless, a variety of prospective epidemiological studies strongly implicate gamma-tocopherol, but not alpha-tocopherol as a possible prostate cancer chemopreventive agent. Supporting studies in animal and cellular models further strengthen the unique role of gammatocopherol: detailed mechanistic studies have also identified important signal transduction pathways relevant to prostate cancer. It is a major mistake to equate vitamin E with only one of its isoforms, i.e., alpha-tocopherol. There is now sufficient evidence to warrant a large-scale clinical intervention trial looking at the potential role of gamma-tocopherol supplements as an effective chemoprevention agent for prostate cancer.

References

- 1. Lathia D, Blum A (1989) Role of vitamin E as nitrite scavenger and N-nitrosamine inhibitor: a review. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 59:430–438
- Fair WR, Fleshner NE, Heston W (1997) Cancer of the prostate: a nutritional disease? Urology 50:840–848
- Wynder EL, Mabuchi K, Whitmore WF Jr (1971) Epidemiology of cancer of the prostate. Cancer 28:344–360
- Shimizu H, Ross RK, Bernstein L, Yatani R, Henderson BE, Mack TM (1991) Cancers of the prostate and breast among Japanese and white immigrants in Los Angeles County. Br J Cancer 63:963–966

- 5. Kristal AR, Gong Z (2007) Obesity and prostate cancer mortality. Future Oncol 3:557-567
- Giovannucci EL, Liu Y, Leitzmann MF, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC (2005) A prospective study of physical activity and incident and fatal prostate cancer. Arch Intern Med 165:1005–1010
- 7. Doll R, Peto R (1981) The causes of cancer: quantitative estimates of avoidable risks of cancer in the United States today. J Natl Cancer Inst 66:1191–1308
- Marnett LJ (2002) Oxy radicals, lipid peroxidation and DNA damage. Toxicology 181–182:219–222
- Wright ME, Weinstein SJ, Lawson KA, Albanes D, Subar AF, Dixon LB et al (2007) Supplemental and dietary vitamin E intakes and risk of prostate cancer in a large prospective study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 16:1128–1135
- Gong Z, Agalliu I, Lin DW, Stanford JL, Kristal AR (2008) Cigarette smoking and prostate cancer-specific mortality following diagnosis in middle-aged men. Cancer Causes Control 19:25–31
- Bruno RS, Traber MG (2006) Vitamin E biokinetics, oxidative stress and cigarette smoking. Pathophysiology 13:143–149
- 12. Bardia A, Platz EA, Yegnasubramanian S, De Marzo AM, Nelson WG (2009) Antiinflammatory drugs, antioxidants, and prostate cancer prevention. Curr Opin Pharmacol 9:419–426
- De Marzo AM, Platz EA, Sutcliffe S, Xu J, Gronberg H, Drake CG et al (2007) Inflammation in prostate carcinogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 7:256–269
- 14. Harvard Medical School (1998) Antioxidants. Vitamin E may cut prostate cancer risk. Harv Health Lett 23:7
- 15. Heinonen OP, Albanes D, Virtamo J, Taylor PR, Huttunen JK, Hartman AM et al (1998) Prostate cancer and supplementation with alpha-tocopherol and beta-carotene: incidence and mortality in a controlled trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 90:440–446
- 16. Omenn GS (2007) Chemoprevention of lung cancers: lessons from CARET, the beta-carotene and retinol efficacy trial, and prospects for the future. Eur J Cancer Prev 16:184–191
- Omenn GS, Goodman GE, Thornquist MD, Balmes J, Cullen MR, Glass A et al (1996) Risk factors for lung cancer and for intervention effects in CARET, the beta-carotene and retinol efficacy trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 88:1550–1559
- Neuhouser ML, Barnett MJ, Kristal AR, Ambrosone CB, King IB, Thornquist M et al (2009) Dietary supplement use and prostate cancer risk in the Carotene and Retinol Efficacy Trial. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 18:2202–2206
- van Helden YG, Keijer J, Knaapen AM, Heil SG, Briede JJ, van Schooten FJ et al (2009) Betacarotene metabolites enhance inflammation-induced oxidative DNA damage in lung epithelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 46:299–304
- Lippman SM, Klein EA, Goodman PJ, Lucia MS, Thompson IM, Ford LG et al (2009) Effect of selenium and vitamin e on risk of prostate cancer and other cancers: the selenium and vitamin e cancer prevention trial (SELECT). JAMA 301(1):39–51
- 21. Gaziano JM, Glynn RJ, Christen WG, Kurth T, Belanger C, MacFadyen J et al (2009) Vitamins E and C in the prevention of prostate and total cancer in men: the Physicians' Health Study II randomized controlled trial. JAMA 301:52–62
- 22. Peters U, Littman AJ, Kristal AR, Patterson RE, Potter JD, White E (2008) Vitamin E and selenium supplementation and risk of prostate cancer in the Vitamins and lifestyle (VITAL) study cohort. Cancer Causes Control 19:75–87
- 23. Kirsh VA, Hayes RB, Mayne ST, Chatterjee N, Subar AF, Dixon LB et al (2006) Supplemental and dietary vitamin E, beta-carotene, and vitamin C intakes and prostate cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst 98:245–254
- Helzlsouer KJ, Huang HY, Alberg AJ, Hoffman S, Burke A, Norkus EP et al (2000) Association between alpha-tocopherol, gamma-tocopherol, selenium, and subsequent prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:2018–2023
- Stone WL, Papas A (2003) Tocopherols, tocotrienols and Vitamin E. In: Gunstone FD (ed) Lipids for functional foods and nutraceuticals. The Oily Press, Bridgewater, pp 53–72

- Rimbach G, Minihane AM, Majewicz J, Fischer A, Pallauf J, Virgli F et al (2002) Regulation of cell signalling by vitamin E. Proc Nutr Soc 61:415–425
- 27. Zingg JM, Azzi A (2004) Non-antioxidant activities of vitamin E. Curr Med Chem 11:1113-1133
- Azzi A, Gysin R, Kempna P, Munteanu A, Negis Y, Villacorta L et al (2004) Vitamin E mediates cell signaling and regulation of gene expression. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1031:86–95
- 29. Crispen PL, Uzzo RG, Golovine K, Makhov P, Pollack A, Horwitz EM et al (2007) Vitamin E succinate inhibits NF-kappaB and prevents the development of a metastatic phenotype in prostate cancer cells: implications for chemoprevention. Prostate 67:582–590
- Israel K, Yu W, Sanders BG, Kline K (2000) Vitamin E succinate induces apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells: role for Fas in vitamin E succinate-triggered apoptosis. Nutr Cancer 36:90–100
- 31. Ni J, Chen M, Zhang Y, Li R, Huang J, Yeh S (2003) Vitamin E succinate inhibits human prostate cancer cell growth via modulating cell cycle regulatory machinery. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 300:357–363
- 32. Zhang Y, Ni J, Messing EM, Chang E, Yang CR, Yeh S (2002) Vitamin E succinate inhibits the function of androgen receptor and the expression of prostate-specific antigen in prostate cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:7408–7413
- Yamauchi J, Iwamoto T, Kida S, Masushige S, Yamada K, Esashi T (2001) Tocopherolassociated protein is a ligand-dependent transcriptional activator. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 285:295–299
- 34. Hensley K, Benaksas EJ, Bolli R, Comp P, Grammas P, Hamdheydari L et al (2004) New perspectives on vitamin E: gamma-tocopherol and carboxyelthylhydroxychroman metabolites in biology and medicine. Free Radic Biol Med 36:1–15
- 35. Wang X, Thomas B, Sachdeva R, Arterburn L, Frye L, Hatcher PG et al (2006) Mechanism of arylating quinone toxicity involving Michael adduct formation and induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:3604–3609
- Cooney RV, Franke AA, Harwood PJ, Hatch-Pigott V, Custer LJ, Mordan LJ (1993) Gammatocopherol detoxification of nitrogen dioxide: superiority to alpha-tocopherol. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:1771–1775
- 37. Cooney RV, Harwood PJ, Franke AA, Narala K, Sundstrom AK, Berggren PO et al (1995) Products of gamma-tocopherol reaction with NO₂ and their formation in rat insulinoma (RINm5F) cells. Free Radic Biol Med 19:259–269
- Tanaka Y, Wood LA, Cooney RV (2007) Enhancement of intracellular gamma-tocopherol levels in cytokine-stimulated C3H 10T1/2 fibroblasts: relation to NO synthesis, isoprostane formation, and tocopherol oxidation. BMC Chem Biol 7:2
- Williamson KS, Gabbita SP, Mou S, West M, Pye QN, Markesbery WR et al (2002) The nitration product 5-nitro-gamma-tocopherol is increased in the Alzheimer brain. Nitric Oxide 6:221–227
- Goss SP, Hogg N, Kalyanaraman B (1999) The effect of alpha-tocopherol on the nitration of gamma-tocopherol by peroxynitrite. Arch Biochem Biophys 363:333–340
- 41. Christen S, Woodall AA, Shigenaga MK, Southwell-Keely PT, Duncan MW, Ames BN (1997) Gamma-tocopherol traps mutagenic electrophiles such as NO(X) and complements alphatocopherol: physiological implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:3217–3222
- 42. Szaleczky E, Pronai L, Nakazawa H, Tulassay Z (2000) Evidence of in vivo peroxynitrite formation in patients with colorectal carcinoma, higher plasma nitrate/nitrite levels, and lower protection against oxygen free radicals. J Clin Gastroenterol 30:47–51
- 43. Jiang Q, Lykkesfeldt J, Shigenaga MK, Shigeno ET, Christen S, Ames BN (2002) Gammatocopherol supplementation inhibits protein nitration and ascorbate oxidation in rats with inflammation. Free Radic Biol Med 33:1534–1542
- 44. Floriano-Sanchez E, Castro-Marin M, Cardenas-Rodriguez N (2009) Molecular markers associated with prostate cancer: 3-nitrotyrosine and genetic and proteic expression of Mn-superoxide dismutasa (Mn-Sod). Arch Esp Urol 62:702–711

- 45. Jiang Q, Elson-Schwab I, Courtemanche C, Ames BN (2000) Gamma-tocopherol and its major metabolite, in contrast to alpha-tocopherol, inhibit cyclooxygenase activity in macrophages and epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:11494–11499
- Jain S, Chakraborty G, Raja R, Kale S, Kundu GC (2008) Prostaglandin E2 regulates tumor angiogenesis in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 68:7750–7759
- 47. Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Ascherio A, Chute CC et al (1993) A prospective study of dietary fat and risk of prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 85:1571–1579
- Bieri JG, Evarts RP (1974) Gamma tocopherol: metabolism, biological activity and significance in human vitamin E nutrition. Am J Clin Nutr 27:980–986
- Wagner KH, Kamal-Eldin A, Elmadfa I (2004) Gamma-tocopherol an underestimated vitamin? Ann Nutr Metab 48:169–188
- 50. Gloor U, Wursch J, Schwieter U, Wiss O (1966) Resorption, retention, Verteilung und Stoffweihsel des d, l,-alpha-tocopheramines, d,l,N-methyl-gamma-tocopheramines und des gamma-tocopherols in vergleich zum d, l,-alpha-tocopherol bei dei ratte. Helv Chem Acta 49:2303
- 51. Meydani M, Cohn JS, Macauley JB, McNamara JR, Blumberg JB, Schaefer EJ (1989) Postprandial changes in the plasma concentration of alpha- and gamma-tocopherol in human subjects fed a fat-rich meal supplemented with fat-soluble vitamins. J Nutr 119:1252–1258
- 52. Fairus S, Nor RM, Cheng HM, Sundram K (2006) Postprandial metabolic fate of tocotrienolrich vitamin E differs significantly from that of alpha-tocopherol. Am J Clin Nutr 84:835–842
- Traber MG, Kayden HJ (1989) Preferential incorporation of alpha-tocopherol vs gammatocopherol in human lipoproteins. Am J Clin Nutr 49:517–526
- 54. Traber MG, Burton GW, Ingold KU, Kayden HJ (1990) RRR- and SRR-alpha-tocopherols are secreted without discrimination in human chylomicrons, but RRR-alpha-tocopherol is preferentially secreted in very low density lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 31:675–685
- 55. Kayden HJ, Traber MG (1993) Absorption, lipoprotein transport, and regulation of plasma concentrations of vitamin E in humans. J Lipid Res 34:343–358
- 56. Morley S, Cecchini M, Zhang W, Virgulti A, Noy N, Atkinson J et al (2008) Mechanisms of ligand transfer by the hepatic tocopherol transfer protein. J Biol Chem 283:17797–17804
- 57. Yamashita K, Takeda N, Ikeda S (2000) Effects of various tocopherol-containing diets on tocopherol secretion into bile. Lipids 35:163–170
- 58. Peake IR, Bieri JG (1971) Alpha- and gamma-tocopherol in the rat: in vitro and in vivo tissue uptake and metabolism. J Nutr 101:1615–1622
- Gysin R, Azzi A, Visarius T (2002) Gamma-tocopherol inhibits human cancer cell cycle progression and cell proliferation by down-regulation of cyclins. FASEB J 16:1952–1954
- 60. Swanson JE, Ben RN, Burton GW, Parker RS (1999) Urinary excretion of 2,7, 8-trimethyl-2-(beta-carboxyethyl)-6-hydroxychroman is a major route of elimination of gamma-tocopherol in humans. J Lipid Res 40:665–671
- Parker RS, Sontag TJ, Swanson JE, McCormick CC (2004) Discovery, characterization, and significance of the cytochrome P450 omega-hydroxylase pathway of vitamin E catabolism. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1031:13–21
- Sontag TJ, Parker RS (2002) Cytochrome P450 omega-hydroxylase pathway of tocopherol catabolism. Novel mechanism of regulation of vitamin E status. J Biol Chem 277: 25290–25296
- 63. Murray ED Jr, Wechter WJ, Kantoci D, Wang WH, Pham T, Quiggle DD et al (1997) Endogenous natriuretic factors 7: biospecificity of a natriuretic gamma-tocopherol metabolite LLU-alpha. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 282:657–662
- 64. Wechter WJ, Kantoci D, Murray ED Jr, D'Amico DC, Jung ME, Wang WH (1996) A new endogenous natriuretic factor: LLU-alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:6002–6007
- 65. Leonard SW, Paterson E, Atkinson JK, Ramakrishnan R, Cross CE, Traber MG (2005) Studies in humans using deuterium-labeled alpha- and gamma-tocopherols demonstrate faster plasma gamma-tocopherol disappearance and greater gamma-metabolite production. Free Radic Biol Med 38:857–866
- 66. Galli F, Lee R, Atkinson J, Floridi A, Kelly FJ (2003) Gamma-tocopherol biokinetics and transformation in humans. Free Radic Res 37:1225–1233
- 67. Devaraj S, Leonard S, Traber MG, Jialal I (2008) Gamma-tocopherol supplementation alone and in combination with alpha-tocopherol alters biomarkers of oxidative stress and inflammation in subjects with metabolic syndrome. Free Radic Biol Med 44:1203–1208
- Freiser H, Jiang Q (2009) Optimization of the enzymatic hydrolysis and analysis of plasma conjugated gamma-CEHC and sulfated long-chain carboxychromanols, metabolites of vitamin E. Anal Biochem 388(2):260–265
- Yoshida Y, Niki E (2002) Antioxidant effects of alpha- and gamma-carboxyethyl-6-hydroxychromans. Biofactors 16:93–103
- Mitarai A, Ouchi A, Mukai K, Tokunaga A, Mukai K, Abe K (2008) Kinetic studies of the free radical-scavenging actions of tocopherol metabolites (alpha-, gamma-, and deltacarboxyethyl-6-hydroxychroman) and Trolox in ethanol and micellar solutions. J Agric Food Chem 56:84–91
- Grammas P, Hamdheydari L, Benaksas EJ, Mou S, Pye QN, Wechter WJ et al (2004) Antiinflammatory effects of tocopherol metabolites. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 319:1047–1052
- 72. Galli F, Piroddi M, Lannone A, Pagliarani S, Tomasi A, Floridi A (2004) A comparison between the antioxidant and peroxynitrite-scavenging functions of the vitamin E metabolites alpha- and gamma-carboxyethyl-6-hydroxychromans. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 74:362–373
- 73. Campbell SE, Stone WL, Lee S, Whaley S, Yang H, Qui M et al (2006) Comparative effects of RRR-alpha- and RRR-gamma-tocopherol on proliferation and apoptosis in human colon cancer cell lines. BMC Cancer 6:13
- 74. Gao R, Stone WL, Huang T, Papas AM, Qui M (2002) The uptake of tocopherols by RAW 264.7 macrophages. Nutr J 1:2
- 75. Clement M, Bourre JM (1997) Graded dietary levels of RRR-gamma-tocopherol induce a marked increase in the concentrations of alpha- and gamma-tocopherol in nervous tissues, heart, liver and muscle of vitamin-E-deficient rats. Biochim Biophys Acta 1334:173–181
- 76. Zuo T (2003) The in vitro cellular uptake and physiological properties of tocotrienols. East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN
- Handelman GJ, Machlin LJ, Fitch K, Weiter JJ, Dratz EA (1985) Oral alpha-tocopherol supplements decrease plasma gamma-tocopherol levels in humans. J Nutr 115:807–813
- Traber MG, Siddens LK, Leonard SW, Schock B, Gohil K, Krueger SK et al (2005) Alphatocopherol modulates Cyp3a expression, increases gamma-CEHC production, and limits tissue gamma-tocopherol accumulation in mice fed high gamma-tocopherol diets. Free Radic Biol Med 38:773–785
- Ford ES, Schleicher RL, Mokdad AH, Ajani UA, Liu S (2006) Distribution of serum concentrations of alpha-tocopherol and gamma-tocopherol in the US population. Am J Clin Nutr 84:375–383
- Moyad MA, Brumfield SK, Pienta KJ (1999) Vitamin E, alpha- and gamma-tocopherol, and prostate cancer. Semin Urol Oncol 17:85–90
- Gunawardena K, Murray DK, Meikle AW (2000) Vitamin E and other antioxidants inhibit human prostate cancer cells through apoptosis. Prostate 44:287–295
- Roue G, Pichereau V, Lincet H, Colomer D, Sola B (2008) Cyclin D1 mediates resistance to apoptosis through upregulation of molecular chaperones and consequent redistribution of cell death regulators. Oncogene 27:4909–4920
- 83. Jiang Q, Wong J, Fyrst H, Saba JD, Ames BN (2004) Gamma-tocopherol or combinations of vitamin E forms induce cell death in human prostate cancer cells by interrupting sphingolipid synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:17825–17830
- Bezombes C, Laurent G, Jaffrezou JP (2003) Implication of raft microdomains in drug induced apoptosis. Curr Med Chem Anticancer Agents 3:263–270
- 85. Gulbins E, Kolesnick R (2003) Raft ceramide in molecular medicine. Oncogene 22: 7070–7077
- 86. van Blitterswijk WJ, van der Luit AH, Veldman RJ, Verheij M, Borst J (2003) Ceramide: second messenger or modulator of membrane structure and dynamics? Biochem J 369:199–211

- Geeraert L, Mannaerts GP, van Veldhoven PP (1997) Conversion of dihydroceramide into ceramide: involvement of a desaturase. Biochem J 327(Pt 1):125–132
- Stiban J, Fistere D, Colombini M (2006) Dihydroceramide hinders ceramide channel formation: implications on apoptosis. Apoptosis 11(5):773–780
- 89. Campbell SE, Musich PR, Whaley SG, Stimmel JB, Leesnitzer LM, Dessus-Babus S et al (2009) Gamma tocopherol upregulates the expression of 15-S-HETE and induces growth arrest through a PPAR gamma-dependent mechanism in PC-3 human prostate cancer cells. Nutr Cancer 61:649–662
- 90. Shappell SB, Gupta RA, Manning S, Whitehead R, Boeglin WE, Schneider C et al (2001) 15S-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid activates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and inhibits proliferation in PC3 prostate carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 61:497–503
- 91. Tang S, Bhatia B, Maldonado CJ, Yang P, Newman RA, Liu J et al (2002) Evidence that arachidonate 15-lipoxygenase 2 is a negative cell cycle regulator in normal prostate epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 277:16189–16201
- Wang J, Lv X, Shi J, Hu X (2006) Ceramide induces apoptosis via a peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma-dependent pathway. Apoptosis 11:2043–2052
- Lamb DJ, Zhang L (2005) Challenges in prostate cancer research: animal models for nutritional studies of chemoprevention and disease progression. J Nutr 135:3009S–3015S
- Waters DJ, Patronek GJ, Bostwick DG, Glickman LT (1996) Comparing the age at prostate cancer diagnosis in humans and dogs. J Natl Cancer Inst 88:1686–1687
- 95. Barve A, Khor TO, Nair S, Reuhl K, Suh N, Reddy B et al (2009) Gamma-tocopherol-enriched mixed tocopherol diet inhibits prostate carcinogenesis in TRAMP mice. Int J Cancer 124:1693–1699
- 96. Takahashi S, Takeshita K, Seeni A, Sugiura S, Tang M, Sato SY et al (2009) Suppression of prostate cancer in a transgenic rat model via gamma-tocopherol activation of caspase signaling. Prostate 69:644–651

Part V Oxidative Stress in Normal Tissue Response (Clinical)

Chapter 17 Pentoxifylline, Vitamin E, and Modification of Radiation-Induced Fibrosis

Geraldine Jacobson

Abstract Radiation-induced fibrosis (RIF) in the breast, skin, and head and neck sites can result in pain, poor cosmesis, and functional limitations. In addition, RIF in the lung, kidney, and bowel, can result in functional loss that can be extremely morbid or life threatening. Studies with pentoxifylline (PTX) have demonstrated the ability of PTX to prevent or improve chronic RIF. Endogenous tocopherol (vitamin E) protects cell membranes against lipid peroxidation. The majority of clinical studies involving PTX and/or vitamin E have investigated their potential role in reversing late radiation changes while only a few studies have focused on their possible role in prevention of delayed radiation effects. The extensive clinical trial experience from 1989 to the present suggests that PTX with or without vitamin E is effective at both preventing and reversing some manifestations of RIF. Mechanisms may include reversal of local hypoxia, inhibition of fibroblast proliferation, and reduction of oxidative stress via multiple pathways. The change in perception of RIF as fixed and irreversible to the realization that it represents a dynamic and continuous process invites us to continue to explore the mechanisms involved and to develop appropriate treatments.

17.1 Introduction

Our knowledge of normal tissue tolerance provides dose constraints for therapeutic radiation. The radiation dose that can be delivered to an anatomic site with an acceptable risk of late complications has been derived from clinical observations.

G. Jacobson, MD, MPH, MBA (🖂)

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, 200 Hawkins Drive, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA

e-mail: geraldine-jacobson@uiowa.edu

Tolerance is site specific, and is modified by volume, fraction size, total dose, and possibly by dose rate. The ideal radiation treatment would deliver the total dose within the tumor and no dose in healthy tissue. Despite technological progress in radiation therapy, internal organ motion and precise definition of tumor boundaries make this unlikely in the foreseeable future. In addition, our clinical experience of healthy tissue tolerance is based on the radiation practice of past decades. The last decade has seen a proliferation of treatment planning software and delivery, accompanied by new approaches and fractionation schedules. These may present as yet unforeseen late radiation toxicity in the future.

Most patients treated with radiation will develop some degree of fibrosis or atrophy in the irradiated normal tissue. This varies in clinical significance depending on site, dose, and individual tolerance. Fibrosis predominates in breast, skin, small bowel, lung, kidney, and liver. Atrophy and necrosis can occur following radiation and surgery, or radiation and local trauma to bone, nerve, and brain [1].

Radiation-induced fibrosis (RIF) in the breast, skin, and head and neck sites can result in pain, poor cosmesis, and functional limitations. In lung, kidney, and bowel, associated functional loss can be extremely morbid or life threatening.

Our conception of RIF has progressed from considering it as a static irreversible condition to thinking of radiation injury to normal tissues as a dynamic process, mediated by modifiable molecular pathways, and potentially reversible. Radiationinduced injury response and repair is a multicellular process driven by intercellular communications via cytokines and growth factors.

Early radiation damage in mammalian tissue is characterized by inflammatory changes and vascular permeability, both of which are characterized by acute oxidative stress [1-5]. Acute vascular changes within 24 h are characterized by radiationinduced apoptotic death of endothelial cells [6]. Late vascular changes include capillary collapse, basement membrane thickening, and loss of clonogenic capacity [7]. Capillary endothelium responds to radiation with edema, leukocyte attachment, and increased capillary permeability. These changes activate cytokines and growth factors. Within hours after radiation exposure, an increased expression of gene coding for growth factors occurs, including interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β). TGF- β promotes progenitor fibroblasts, which differentiate into myofibroblasts and promote deposition of extracellular matrix. In normal wound healing, myofibroblast activation is transient, but in radiation fibrosis, the chronic activation of these cells leads to long-term deposition and remodeling of scar tissue. The fibrotic process can continue for many years and appears to be a dynamic process involving acute and chronic oxidative stress. In this regard, RIF may be considered a chronic inflammatory condition. Hypoxia is known to generate reactive oxygen species (ROS), promote inflammation, vascular permeability, and activate profibrotic cytokines. Radiation injury differs from surgical or traumatic injury in that it is not a single event, but, in fractionated radiation, is caused by a series of radiation events. The process described above occurs multiple times in an environment that is already responding to injury. Another critical difference between normal wound healing and the fibrotic process following radiation injury may be the hypoxic environment created by radiationinduced vascular injury and self-perpetuating oxidative stress.

The biologic response to radiation begins with the generation of ROS. The effects of ROS are rapidly amplified by their interactions with lipids and oxygen. In addition, ROS probably mediate change in the microenvironment because many proteins have built-in sensors for oxidative stress [8]. In the extracellular compartment, ROS affect extracellular matrix degradation, leukocyte chemotaxis and phagocytosis, thrombomodulin, and fibroblast activation [9]. Within the cell, adaptive reactions to oxidative stress trigger DNA repair, cell cycle arrest, and the secretion of growth factors such as TNF- α and IL-1. In addition, ROS interferes with biologic membranes. There is evidence that increased ROS can persist for days in irradiated cells in culture [10]. Patients treated with total body irradiation (TBI) have shown evidence of increased markers for lipid peroxidation in blood that lasts for several days [11]. Robbins also found evidence of oxidative damage to DNA in irradiated kidneys that persisted for up to 24 weeks [12]. Evidence of oxidative damage to lipids in the lung has been observed months after irradiation in patients developing radiation pneumonitis [13]. Tofilon and Fike [14] found increased expression of Hmox-1, a marker of oxidative stress, in CNS 5-6 months following irradiation.

Postradiation hypoxia is thought to contribute to the persistence of oxidative stress following irradiation. Hypoxia is known to generate ROS, promote inflammation and vascular permeability, activate TGF- β , and promote collagen formation [15, 16]. A growing body of evidence supports the hypothesis that chronic oxidative stress contributes to radiation-induced late normal tissue effects and promotes progressive fibrosis and tissue injury [10–14, 17].

If chronic oxidative stress, local tissue hypoxia, and aberrant cytokine-mediated wound healing processes contribute to late radiation effects and RIF, therapy directed to these conditions can potentially improve or ameliorate this pathology.

Preclinical and clinical studies have demonstrated the ability of pentoxifylline (PTX), with or without vitamin E, to prevent or improve chronic RIF. Multiple mechanisms are probably involved, including the impact of PTX/vitamin E on improving tissue oxygenation and reducing the chronic oxidative stress contributing to RIF.

17.2 Preclinical Studies of PTX

PTX is a methylxanthine derivative that was developed and indicated for conditions involving impaired microcirculation [18]. PTX improves blood perfusion by multiple processes. It inhibits cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) phosphodiesterase, increasing cAMP and adenosine-5'-triphosphate in erythrocytes, and increasing RBC deformability. PTX minimizes leukocyte adherence to endothelial cells, increases prostacylin production, and inhibits platelet aggregation. These effects lead to capillary dilatation. Together, these effects decrease blood viscosity and improve peripheral blood flow [19, 20].

Studies in the late 1980s demonstrated that PTX inhibits the proliferation and biosynthetic activities of fibroblasts derived from normal skin. The addition of PTX to fibroblast cultures resulted in a dose-dependent reduction in collagen, fibronectin,

and glycosaminoglycan production [21]. More recent work showed that PTX inhibits human mesothelial cell growth and collagen synthesis and that PTX inhibited TFG- β induced nRNA expression in collagen I and III [22, 23]. Lin et al. demonstrated that PTX inhibits connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) expression by interfering with Smad 3/4-dependent CTGF transcription through protein kinase A and blocks the profibrogenic effects of CTGF on renal cells [24]. PTX has been shown to reduce fibrosis in multiple organ systems from stimuli other than radiation [22–25].

Thrombomodulin (TM) is an endothelial cell membrane glycoprotein that plays a major role in intravascular coagulation by preventing thrombus formation. PTX has been shown to increase thrombomodulin (TM) expression in endothelial cells and to prevent tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-induced suppression of TM expression. Seigneur et al. demonstrated that endothelial membrane TM levels are decreased during hypoxia and are restored by PTX, suggesting that PTX may protect endothelial cells against the prothrombotic tendency induced by hypoxia [26].

PTX has been shown to down-regulate the production of proinflammatory cytokines, particularly TNF- α . It reduces the synthesis of TNF- α by blocking transcription activation [27]. A study of radiation-induced lung injury in mice compared the effects of a single 12 Gy dose to the thorax in mice with and without PTX treatment. The study demonstrated a significant radiation-induced increase in TNF- α on the mRNA and protein level in lung tissue during the pneumonic phase, with predominant localization of TNF- α in inflammatory infiltrates. There was a marked reduction of TNF- α mRNA and protein production in the group that received PTX compared to the radiation-only group, demonstrating that PTX- α down-regulates the TNF- α and protein production in the lung induced by radiation [28].

Boerma et al. used a rat model of fractionated local heart irradiation to assess the effects of PTX/Vit E on cardiac radiation injury [29]. Rats were treated with sham radiation or 5×9 Gy to the heart. Both groups were divided to receive normal chow, PTX/Vit E enhanced chow starting 1 week prior to and continuing 6 months postradiation, or PTX/Vit E enhanced chow from 3 to 6 months postradiation.

Radiation induced significant increases in deposition of collagen type I and type II. PTX/Vit E significantly reduced both types of collagen in the irradiated animals. No differences were found between early and late treatment with PTX/Vit E. Both PTX/Vit E protocols induced a significant improvement in radiation-induced myocardial fibrosis and left ventricular diastolic dysfunction, but did not improve reduced heart/body weight ratio or myocardial degeneration.

Lefaix et al. studied the effects of postradiation treatment with PTX, and without α tocopherol (Vit E), in an experimental pig model of localized radiation overexposure [30]. Three groups of five pigs were irradiated using a collimated Iridium 192 source to deliver 160 Gy onto the skin surface of the outer thigh. The groups were divided into controls, PTX added to feed for 26 weeks, and PTX/Vit E added to feed for 26 weeks. Following radiation a well-defined volume of necrosis developed within a few weeks which healed at 26 weeks to leave a block of subcutaneous fibrosis involving skin and skeletal muscle. The limits of the fibrotic block were measured; the depth was determined by ultrasound. No changes in the fibrotic scar were observed in pigs treated with PTX alone. Significant softening and shrinking

of the fibrotic block was found in pigs treated with PTX/Vit E. Postautopsy histological examination showed normal muscle and subcutaneous tissue surrounding the residual scar tissue in the PTX/Vit E-treated pigs. Immunolocalization of TNF- α was similar in all three groups of pigs. Immunostaining of TGF- β diminished more in the residual scar tissue of the PTX/Vit E dosed pigs than in the two other groups. This was the first study to demonstrate that the PTX/Vit E combination, given in vivo following high-dose gamma radiation, could reverse measurable RIF. Previously, RIF was considered an irreversible condition.

17.3 Tocopherol and Fibrosis

ROS are generated during inflammatory reactions and induced by radiation injury. If these are not efficiently scavenged, the resulting oxidative stress can lead to cell necrosis or apoptosis. Endogenous tocopherol (vitamin E) scavenges ROS generated during oxidative stress and protects cell membranes against lipid peroxidation. It has been reported to have other critical functions, such as maintenance of energy metabolism and protection of cell membranes. The antioxidant properties of vitamin E have been demonstrated in vivo and in vitro [31].

Vitamin E has been shown to protect gastrointestinal mucosa against radiation injury in mice by its antioxidant properties [32]. Bese et al. demonstrated that vitamin E protected rats against radiation-induced pulmonary fibrosis immediately after irradiation [33].

A preliminary clinical study of vitamin E given to 53 patients with superficial RIF following breast cancer irradiation showed a mean linear regression of 20% after 4 months [34]. A more recent randomized trial showed identical response in patients treated with placebo or vitamin E [35]. Given prophylactically, a randomized trial of rinsing the oral cavity with a solution containing vitamin E was more effective than placebo in reducing radiation-induced mucositis in head and neck cancer patients [36].

The safety of high-dose vitamin E was raised by two studies showing that daily ingestion of vitamin E, greater than 400 IU, was associated with increases in all causes of mortality [37, 38]. A later meta-analysis showed that vitamin E is unlikely to affect mortality, regardless of dose [39].

17.4 Clinical Studies of Pentoxifylline in Irradiated Patients

Some of the early preclinical and clinical studies of PTX in irradiated tissue were conducted at the University of Iowa [40, 41].

Two theories regarding late normal tissue damage were predominant at that time. The first was that late radiation damage resulted from depletion of parenchymal and stromal cells [42]. The second theory attributed late changes to vascular injury and damage to endothelial cells [43, 44]. When PTX became available for the treatment

of vasculo-occlusive disorders; it seemed reasonable to investigate its action in treating or preventing normal tissue radiation damage. A study of the prophylactic effect of PTX in irradiated mice showed no effect on acute radiation reactions, but was shown to reduce the incidence and severity of late radiation injury [41].

Based on this research, a pilot study was conducted to evaluate the management of soft tissue radionecrosis [40]. Twelve patients with 15 sites of late radiation fibrosis were treated. These included four sites in oral mucosa, four sites in female genitalia, and seven skin sites. PTX 400 mg was given orally three times daily. One patient had the dose raised to 400 mg four times daily because of minimum response at 3 months. The protocol specified that the drug be continued for 6 months regardless of healing. Two patients discontinued the drug at 1 month, one because of diarrhea and the other because of surgical intervention. These patients were excluded from analysis. At the time of analyses, 13/15 of the necroses were completely healed and one was partially healed. The average time required for healing was 9 weeks, compared to an average duration of nonhealing of 30.5 weeks. All patients had pain relief. Eight patients who required narcotic pain relief prior to the study were able to discontinue this at completion. This study demonstrated that PTX contributed to a decrease in pain and healing of soft tissue necrosis associated with late radiation injury. Since PTX improved tissue perfusion, the authors concluded that this study supported the theory that late radiation damage is at least partly caused by vascular injury.

Following this report, other groups began to investigate the role of PTX or the combination PTX/Vit E in reducing late radiotherapy effects. Delanian et al. published results of 43 patients with chronic radiotherapy damage treated with 400 mg PTX and 500 IU vitamin E twice daily for at least 6 months and as long as continued regression occurred [45]. The combination of PTX and vitamin E was chosen because the investigators earlier work with induced radiation injury in pigs showed a benefit from PTX/Vit E but not from PTX alone [30]. Patients in this trial had been treated for head and neck cancer or breast cancer for a mean period of 8.5 ± 6.5 years earlier. Clinical regression of fibrosis and functional improvement was noted in all accessible areas. All fibrotic areas improved rapidly with regard to local pain.

These investigators continued their clinical exploration of this drug in combination with a randomized study of breast cancer patients with clinically measurable RIF [35]. Twenty-four eligible patients were randomized to one of four groups: PTX/Vit E, PTX/placebo, placebo/Vit E, and placebo/placebo. Treatment continued daily for 6 months. PTX dose was 400 mg twice daily. Vitamin E was taken 500 IU twice daily. The PTX/Vit E group showed significant reduction in measurable RIF. A limitation of the study was the small sample size, with only six patients in each treatment group.

A review of patients treated for RIF with PTX/Vit E over a 15-year period (1990–2005) demonstrated significant regression of RIF with a maximum response at 2 years. The study included 44 women with 55 RIF zones [46]. The original treatment protocol was for only 6 months, but with increasing experience, patients were treated for a more extended duration. In the earlier group of patients they noted a rebound effect of recurring fibrosis in patients that stopped treatment after 6–12 months. Thirty-seven patients were treated until fibrosis regression peaked,

a mean of 36 months. Acute tolerance was satisfactory and none of the patients discontinued the treatment because of an adverse event. Results were based on measurement of RIF area and symptom severity. The mean estimated maximal treatment effect was 68% RIF surface area regression.

In addition to RIF, these investigators tested the combination of PTX/Vit E, sometimes with other medications, to treat a variety of radiation-induced sequelae. An example is given of a patient who developed extensive fibrosis, skin ulceration and, a fistula track 30 years following postmastectomy radiation [47]. MRI showed osteoradionecrosis with bone destruction. The patient was started on 800 mg PTX and 1,000 IU vitamin E daily. Two months later clodronate 1,600 mg/day, 5 days a week was added. After 3 years, the clinical response was complete with total regression of clinical fibrosis, a closed fistula and the disappearance of localized inflammation. Brachial plexopathy persisted. Medication was continued for 1 year following this complete response.

A recent publication describes two case reports of patients with progressive lower limb polyradiculopathy following lumbar irradiation [48]. The treatment combined 800 mg PTX, 100 IU vitamin E, and 1,600 mg clodronate 5 days per week alternating with prednisone 20 mg 2 days per week. After 6 months of treatment, patients had clinical improvement of their neurological sensorimotor symptoms. The PTX/Vit E combination was also tested and found to be effective in increasing endometrial thickness and improving pregnancy rate in young women, some of whom had received prior radiation [49, 50].

Other investigators have studied the potential benefit of PTX in reducing symptoms of radiation late effects. A pilot study in the treatment of radiation-induced trismus enrolled 20 patients with symptomatic, measurable radiation-induced trismus. Sixteen completed an 8-week course of PTX 400 mg two to three times daily. This study showed a modest improvement in mean dental gap. The investigators noted the small sample size and the lack of a randomized trial. In light of the experience of Delanian et al. [46], 8 weeks was probably too short interval to assess the potential response to this medication.

Okunieff et al. studied the effects of oral PTX (400 mg orally for 8 weeks) in patients with measurable functional impairment due to radiation fibrosis [51]. Patients were 1-29 years posttherapy (mean, 10.1 years). The primary outcome was a change in physical impairment due to radiation including active and passive range of motion (AROM and PROM), muscle strength, limb edema, and pain. Plasma levels of TNF- α and fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) were measured. After 8 weeks, 20/23 patients with impaired AROM and 19/22 patients with impaired PROM improved; 11/19 patients with muscle weakness showed improved motor strength; 5/7 patients with edema had decreased limb girth; and 9/20 patients had decreased pain. Assessments were made at the completion of 8 weeks of therapy and at week 16 (8 weeks off drug). For some patients, initial improvements regressed during the 8 weeks off treatment. This is not surprising, considering the experience of other investigators [46]. The pretreatment circulating plasma levels of TNF- α were not elevated, so posttreatment changes were difficult to assess. Pretreatment FGF2 levels dropped significantly by 8 weeks of treatment, and were associated with reversal of the delayed radiation effects.

A group in Tehran treated 29 patients with 34 RIF superficial lesions with PTX/ Vit E for 3 months. The mean surface area decreased to almost half in 3 months. A subgroup of patients received the medication for 6 months with significant surface area regression of RIF [52].

A retrospective study of patients with radiation proctitis/enteritis reviewed the experience of 30 patients selected by their physicians for treatment with PTX/Vit E or supportive care [53]. The combination treatment appeared to improve symptoms. Patients who experienced symptom relief took the drug combination for an average of 9 months. Patients with no improvement took the medication for an average of 5 months.

The previously discussed clinical trials showed a beneficial effect of PTX in treating postradiotherapy fibrosis or fibrosis-related side effects. In contrast to these, a British placebo-controlled randomized trial of vitamin E and PTX showed no improvement in patients with arm edema and fibrosis following breast cancer surgery and radiation [54]. This trial treated patients with a minimum 20% increase in arm volume at a median of 15.5 years (range 2-41) with 500 IU vitamin E twice a day and PTX twice a day for 6 months versus placebo for 6 months. The primary endpoint was ipsilateral limb volume measured opto-electronically using a perometer and expressed as a percentage of the contra lateral limb volume. At 12 months there was no significant difference between the treatment and control groups in terms of arm volume. Nor was there a significant difference in secondary endpoints including tissue induration, patient self-assessment of function, or quality of life. The authors were confident about the measurements of arm volume. They expressed less confidence about the reliability of the physician assessments of RIF. Multiple physicians scored patients, and when a single observer scored a patient at different time intervals, significant variation was noted in the placebo scores.

A phase II study of patients treated with pelvic radiation with a minimum grade 3 or 4 disability (LENT-SOMA) assigned patients to be treated with 6 months of PTX/Vit E [55]. Late changes were evaluated by LENT-SOMA at baseline, 6 and 12 months. Twenty-three of 27 volunteers completed 6 months of therapy, follow-up assessments, and self-assessment questionnaires. Changes in LENT-SOMA scores suggested beneficial effects. Magnetic resonant imaging (MRI) was obtained at baseline and 6 months after therapy in 13/23 evaluable patients. No significant changes were reported on MRI images at 6 months from baseline. No significant changes were seen over the study period in quality of life.

The majority of clinical studies involving PTX have investigated its potential role in reversing late radiation changes while only a few studies have focused on its possible role in prevention of late radiation effects.

Ozturk et al. conducted a randomized double-blind trial of PTX versus placebo in patients receiving radiation for breast or lung cancer to determine if the drug could prevent early or late normal lung tissue damage [56]. Patients were randomized to take PTX 400 mg orally three times daily or a placebo during the entire period of radiotherapy. Analytic tests were obtained at baseline, and at 3 months, and 6 months follow-up. These included pulmonary function tests (PFTs), diffusing capacity of carbon dioxide (DLCO), chest X-ray, CT lung, and ventilation perfusion (V/Q) studies. Patients were also evaluated by LENT-SOMA scores and by common toxicity criteria [56–58]. A statistically significant difference was found between the LENT scores of the two groups, in favor of PTX. During the 6 months of follow up, clinically impaired lung function was observed in 30% of the placebo group versus 5% in the study group. This finding was borderline significant. A comparison of the DLCO between the two groups at 3 and 6 months showed a significant difference in favor of the PTX group. The use of PTX showed a noticeable reduction in the degree of lung injury detected radiologically. Side effects during treatment were not different in the two groups.

A study of patients referred for postoperative irradiation of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, randomized patients to PTX 400 mg three times daily or control [59]. The drug was given during 6 weeks of radiation until 2 weeks after treatment completion. The differences in acute skin reactions between the two groups were not significant. Late changes appeared later in the PTX group although late skin changes and soft tissue injury were more severe in the control patients. This study also showed a prophylactic effect of concurrent PTX on late radiation complications.

The studies just discussed evaluated the benefit of PTX in prevention of late effects by treatment during radiation therapy. PTX/Vit E can also be used in a prophylactic manner by treating patients following radiation, before the development of late fibrotic effects.

A randomized placebo-controlled, double blind parallel group trial was performed in breast cancer patients following radiation to investigate whether the PTX/Vit E drug combination could prevent late effects [60]. Inclusion criteria were segmental resection or mastectomy and axillary dissection followed by radiation to breast/ chest wall and adjacent nodal areas. Treatment was PTX 400 mg and vitamin E 100 IU mg thrice daily for 12 months starting 1-3 months following completion of radiation therapy. Controls received placebo and vitamin E over the same period. Study end points consisted of changes of passive abduction of the shoulder, changes in arm volume, LENT-SOMA, and pain measurement by the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) [61]. At inclusion both groups had impaired passive abduction of the shoulder. This improved in both groups during therapy and the difference between groups was not significant. Arm volumes increased over time in the placebo group but not in the treatment group. No difference in VAS for subjective pain was noted between the groups. The VAS score for pain described as stiffness in the skin significantly decreased in the PTX group during the treatment time. In this study, PTX/Vit E was effective in preventing arm edema when given prior to its development. This contrasts with the Gothard study [55], which showed no benefit to PTX/Vit E in reversing longstanding arm edema in breast cancer patients. This is consistent with other clinical observations that arm edema can be prevented, but rarely reversed.

At the University of Iowa we have completed accrual of a randomized study of postradiation PTX/Vit E in breast cancer patients. The study was originally designed to include both breast and head and neck cancer patients since both groups are at risk for visible RIF. However, accrual of this latter group was limited by lack of a liquid oral formulation of PTX and only breast cancer patients are evaluated. Subjects were randomized to receive oral PTX 400 mg three times daily

and vitamin E 400 IU daily for 6 months to be started within a week of completing radiation. Evaluation includes RTOG acute side effects at baseline, LENT-SOMA at 3, 9, 12, and 18 months; pain by VAS, and measure of tissue compliance in the treated and untreated side by tissue compliance meter at 12 and 18 months. An interim analysis [62] showed significant difference in tissue compliance between treated and untreated breast/chest walls in the controls compared to study subjects, demonstrating decreased fibrosis in the PTX/Vit E group. For the most part the drug combination was well tolerated. One of 57 patients developed a skin rash, which resolved when the drug was discontinued. One patient discontinued the drug because of side effects.

17.5 The Role of Pentoxifylline-Based Therapy in Radiation-Induced Fibrosis: Prevention and Treatment

The extensive clinical trial experience from 1989 to the present suggests that PTX with or without vitamin E is effective at both preventing and reversing some manifestations of RIF. The majority of studies that were directed to improvement of existing fibrosis were positive. The drug combination showed some protective effect against development of lymphedema [60], but was not shown to be effective in reversing lymphedema [54]. The benefit following pelvic radiation was ambiguous, with improvement in quality of life measures, but no measurable improvement on imaging studies. A randomized trial of PTX during radiation for lung or breast cancer showed a decrease in late lung toxicity [56]. The medication has not been shown to prevent acute effects, even if given prior to or during radiation [29, 56, 59].

A positive aspect of working with PTX is that the drug has been in widespread use for peripheral vascular disease for several decades with a well-known safety profile. Potential side effects include hot flushes, nausea, headache, and dizziness. These are usually transient and can sometimes be avoided by phasing in the dose from once daily to three times a day. In the studies described, long-term tolerance was excellent and no deaths were attributed to the drug. In addition, this drug is available in generic formulation and the cost of treatment is modest.

However, many questions about the role of PTX in treatment or modification of RIF remain.

The first is whether PTX alone or PTX with vitamin E is more effective. The data regarding this are conflicting. Some studies using PTX alone have shown a beneficial effect [40, 41, 56]. The majority of the studies cited, including the most robust randomized trials, have used PTX in conjunction with vitamin E [19, 29, 30, 35, 45, 47–50, 52, 54]. Since the addition of vitamin E adds minimal cost and minimal potential toxicity, it is reasonable to plan future studies with this combination.

A second issue is the effective duration of treatment when PTX/Vit E is used to reverse established radiation fibrosis. Based on the work of investigators with the longest experience using this combination [46], treatment should probably be given

until a maximal response has been obtained and reached a plateau. For patients with longstanding RIF this may be 2–3 years.

A third question is the timing of the intervention. Should PTX/Vit E be given during radiation or after radiation, but before development of RIF in high risk patients? Or should treatment only be indicated for patients who actually develop RIF or fibrosis-related complications?

A small group of trials suggests that treatment during radiation may prevent late effects in head and neck and lung, without reducing acute effects [59]. There may be additional therapeutic benefits to this strategy, since some preclinical and clinical studies have suggested that PTX, by improving tissue oxygenation and sensitizing p53 mutant tumors, may function as a radiation sensitizer [63–65].

When PTX is used prophylactically, either during radiation or started shortly after radiation completion, some caution is warranted. The effects that occur in normal tissue following radiation may have some benefit in tumor control. Residual cancer cells have been observed in irradiated tissues but do not always form tumors [66]. The therapeutic effects of radiation may be partially due to formation of a microenvironment that impedes tumor regrowth, as well as cell killing [67].

Despite this concern, the randomized studies discussed have not shown increased local or metastatic relapse in patients treated with PTX [35, 54, 56, 60].

Clinical studies have shown both a protective effect if given before RIF and a beneficial effect if used to treat established RIF.

While prevention of RIF seems preferable to patients developing late toxicity, there are drawbacks to treating patients who may not develop the condition, including cost and potential side effects. If patients could be identified as high risk for developing late effects based on site, total dose, known radiation sensitivity, or cytokine assay, preventive treatment could be initiated in those patients. In the case of patients receiving significant radiation to the lung, including lung cancer, esophageal cancer, and breast cancer with nodal irradiation, prophylactic PTX may prevent irreversible decrease in pulmonary function. Prevention of RIF in head and neck cancer patients, where associated morbidity is common and involves multiple functions, is a setting where prophylactic treatment with an antifibrosis regimen might be warranted. Postmastectomy radiation, with the risks of arm edema and pulmonary function impairment, is another candidate for preventative treatment.

Clinical experience has demonstrated that patients with similar indications and treatments may have widely variable late normal tissue reactions. Ideally, dependable predictive assays or markers would be clinically available to determine risk for individual patients.

The possibility of identifying serum markers has been studied by several groups. A multinational prospective trial sponsored by Radiation Therapy Oncology group (RTOG) showed that elevated levels of IL-6 after 10 Gy of lung irradiation appeared to predict lung toxicity [68]. Zhao et al. studied the predictive role of plasma TGF- β in radiation-induced lung toxicity (RILT) in nonsmall cell lung cancer patients [69]. They found that plasma TFG- β levels at 4 weeks of radiation was predictive of RILT. They noted that other studies of this marker had conflicting results, and described the numerous factors that could contribute to inaccurate values of plasma

TGF- β . Microarray assays, single nucleotide polymorphisms, and genome wide association studies have been conducted to identify predictive tests. But at this time, there are no tests available to routinely predict normal tissue reactions following therapeutic radiation [70].

In addition, the benefit gained from PTX/Vit E is quite variable. We have used PTX/Vit E at our institution since the 1990s to treat patients with severe late radiation effects with a wide variety of manifestations. The majority of patients receive some measurable benefit. In some cases the results are striking, but there are also cases with no discernible improvement.

17.6 Potential Mechanism of Fibrosis Reduction by Pentoxifylline

While hypoxia and tissue perfusion may be important factors in radiation repair, the reversal of fibrosis seen in many of these clinical studies is probably caused by a combination of improved tissue oxygenation and other mechanisms. A major aspect of chronic RIF is the abnormal proliferation of fibroblasts. PTX has been shown to inhibit proliferation and biosynthetic activities of fibroblasts. Current research indicates that cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor, TFG- β , and macrophage-derived growth factor may play important roles in RIF [21, 71–73]. PTX has been shown to down regulate TNF α [27, 32]. PTX has also been shown to inhibit TGF- β -induced mRNA expression in collagen I and III.

If one considers RIF as a dynamic biologic process involving injury, hypoxia, hypoxia-induced oxidative stress, and profibrogenic and proangiogenic cytokines; it is likely that PTX, with or without vitamin E, impacts multiple components of this cycle.

Just as cancer is not a single disease, RIF is probably not a single pathologic entity. Although there are common pathways involved, the specific form RIF takes may depend on the host genetics and the specific tissue microenvironment in which it occurs, with different interactions occurring in skin, heart, lung, bowel, and other organs [22, 29, 63, 74].

The change in perception of RIF as fixed and irreversible to the realization that it represents a dynamic and continuous process invites us to continue to explore the mechanisms involved and to develop appropriate treatments.

References

- Delanian S, Lefaix JL (2007) Current management for late normal tissue injury: radiationinduced fibrosis and necrosis. Semin Radiat Oncol 17:99–107
- Cerutti PA, Trump BF (1991) Inflammation and oxidative stress in carcinogenesis. Cancer Cells 3:1–7
- 3. Finkel T (1998) Oxygen radicals and signaling. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10:248-253

- 4. Mikkelsen RB, Wardman P (2003) Biological chemistry of reactive oxygen and nitrogen and radiation-induced signal transduction mechanisms. Oncogene 22:5734–5754
- 5. Riley PA (1994) Free radicals in biology: oxidative stress and the effects of ionizing radiation. Int J Radiat Biol 65:27–33
- Pena LA, Fuks Z, Kolesnick R (1997) Stress-induced apoptosis and the sphingomyelin pathway. Biochem Pharmacol 53:615–621
- Pena LA, Fuks Z, Kolesnick RN (2000) Radiation-induced apoptosis of endothelial cells in the murine central nervous system: protection by fibroblast growth factor and sphingomyelinase deficiency. Cancer Res 60:321–327
- Barcellos-Hoff MH, Park C, Wright EG (2005) Radiation and the microenvironment tumorigenesis and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 5:867–875
- 9. Denham JW, Hauer-Jensen M (2002) The radiotherapeutic injury–a complex 'wound'. Radiother Oncol 63:129–145
- Robbins ME, Zhao W (2004) Chronic oxidative stress and radiation-induced late normal tissue injury: a review. Int J Radiat Biol 80:251–259
- Clemens MR, Ladner C, Schmidt H, Ehninger G, Einsele H, Buhler E, Waller HD, Gey KF (1989) Decreased essential antioxidants and increased lipid hydroperoxides following highdose radiochemotherapy. Free Radic Res Commun 7:227–232
- 12. Robbins ME, Zhao W, Davis CS, Toyokuni S, Bonsib SM (2002) Radiation-induced kidney injury: a role for chronic oxidative stress? Micron 33:133–141
- Jack CI, Cottier B, Jackson MJ, Cassapi L, Fraser WD, Hind CR (1996) Indicators of free radical activity in patients developing radiation pneumonitis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 34: 149–154
- Tofilon PJ, Fike JR (2000) The radioresponse of the central nervous system: a dynamic process. Radiat Res 153:357–370
- Haroon ZA, Raleigh JA, Greenberg CS, Dewhirst MW (2000) Early wound healing exhibits cytokine surge without evidence of hypoxia. Ann Surg 231:137–147
- Shweiki D, Itin A, Soffer D, Keshet E (1992) Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. Nature 359:843–845
- 17. Poli G, Parola M (1997) Oxidative damage and fibrogenesis. Free Radic Biol Med 22: 287–305
- Ward A, Clissold SP (1987) Pentoxifylline. A review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and its therapeutic efficacy. Drugs 34:50–97
- Magnusson M, Gunnarsson M, Berntorp E, Bjorkman S, Hoglund P (2008) Effects of pentoxifylline and its metabolites on platelet aggregation in whole blood from healthy humans. Eur J Pharmacol 581:290–295
- 20. Stefanovich V (1973) Effect of 3,7-dimethyl-1-(5-oxo-hexyl)xanthine and 1-hexyl-3,7dimethyl xanthine on cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase of the human umbilical cord vessels. Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol 5:655–662
- Berman B, Duncan MR (1990) Pentoxifylline inhibits the proliferation of human fibroblasts derived from keloid, scleroderma and morphoea skin and their production of collagen, glycosaminoglycans and fibronectin. Br J Dermatol 123:339–346
- 22. Fang CC, Yen CJ, Chen YM, Shyu RS, Tsai TJ, Lee PH, Hsieh BS (2000) Pentoxifylline inhibits human peritoneal mesothelial cell growth and collagen synthesis: effects on TGF-beta. Kidney Int 57:2626–2633
- 23. Hung KY, Huang JW, Chen CT, Lee PH, Tsai TJ (2003) Pentoxifylline modulates intracellular signalling of TGF-beta in cultured human peritoneal mesothelial cells: implications for prevention of encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 18:670–676
- 24. Lin SL, Chen RH, Chen YM, Chiang WC, Lai CF, Wu KD, Tsai TJ (2005) Pentoxifylline attenuates tubulointerstitial fibrosis by blocking Smad3/4-activated transcription and profibrogenic effects of connective tissue growth factor. J Am Soc Nephrol 16:2702–2713
- Rajendran R, Rani V, Shaikh S (2006) Pentoxifylline therapy: a new adjunct in the treatment of oral submucous fibrosis. Indian J Dent Res 17:190–198

- Seigneur M, Dufourcq P, Belloc F, Lenoble M, Renard M, Boisseau MR (1995) Influence of pentoxifylline on membrane thrombomodulin levels in endothelial cells submitted to hypoxic conditions. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 25(Suppl 2):S85–87
- Neuner P, Klosner G, Schauer E, Pourmojib M, Macheiner W, Grunwald C, Knobler R, Schwarz A, Luger TA, Schwarz T (1994) Pentoxifylline in vivo down-regulates the release of IL-1 beta, IL-6, IL-8 and tumour necrosis factor-alpha by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Immunology 83:262–267
- Rube CE, Wilfert F, Uthe D, Schmid KW, Knoop R, Willich N, Schuck A, Rube C (2002) Modulation of radiation-induced tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) expression in the lung tissue by pentoxifylline. Radiother Oncol 64:177–187
- Boerma M, Roberto KA, Hauer-Jensen M (2008) Prevention and treatment of functional and structural radiation injury in the rat heart by pentoxifylline and alpha-tocopherol. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 72:170–177
- 30. Lefaix JL, Delanian S, Vozenin MC, Leplat JJ, Tricaud Y, Martin M (1999) Striking regression of subcutaneous fibrosis induced by high doses of gamma rays using a combination of pentoxifylline and alpha-tocopherol: an experimental study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 43: 839–847
- Packer L, Weber SU, Rimbach G (2001) Molecular aspects of alpha-tocotrienol antioxidant action and cell signalling. J Nutr 131:369S–373S
- 32. Empey LR, Papp JD, Jewell LD, Fedorak RN (1992) Mucosal protective effects of vitamin E and misoprostol during acute radiation-induced enteritis in rats. Dig Dis Sci 37:205–214
- 33. Bese NS, Munzuroglu F, Uslu B, Arbak S, Yesiladali G, Sut N, Altug T, Ober A (2007) Vitamin E protects against the development of radiation-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 19:260–264
- 34. Baillet F (1997) Alpha-tocopherol treatment of radiofibrosis post-brachytherapy for breast cancer. Radiother Oncol 43:S3
- Delanian S, Porcher R, Balla-Mekias S, Lefaix JL (2003) Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of combined pentoxifylline and tocopherol for regression of superficial radiation-induced fibrosis. J Clin Oncol 21:2545–2550
- 36. Ferreira PR, Fleck JF, Diehl A, Barletta D, Braga-Filho A, Barletta A, Ilha L (2004) Protective effect of alpha-tocopherol in head and neck cancer radiation-induced mucositis: a double-blind randomized trial. Head Neck 26:313–321
- 37. Lonn E, Bosch J, Yusuf S, Sheridan P, Pogue J, Arnold JM, Ross C, Arnold A, Sleight P, Probstfield J, Dagenais GR (2005) Effects of long-term vitamin E supplementation on cardiovascular events and cancer: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 293:1338–1347
- Miller ER 3rd, Pastor-Barriuso R, Dalal D, Riemersma RA, Appel LJ, Guallar E (2005) Metaanalysis: high-dosage vitamin E supplementation may increase all-cause mortality. Ann Intern Med 142:37–46
- 39. Berry D, Wathen JK, Newell M (2009) Bayesian model averaging in meta-analysis: vitamin E supplementation and mortality. Clin Trials 6:28–41
- 40. Dion MW, Hussey DH, Doornbos JF, Vigliotti AP, Wen BC, Anderson B (1990) Preliminary results of a pilot study of pentoxifylline in the treatment of late radiation soft tissue necrosis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 19:401–407
- 41. Dion MW, Hussey DH, Osborne JW (1989) The effect of pentoxifylline on early and late radiation injury following fractionated irradiation in C3H mice. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 17:101–107
- 42. Withers HR, Peters LJ, Kolenik LJ (1980) The pathobiology of late effects of irradiation. In: Meyn RE, Withers HR (eds) Radiation biology in cancer research. Raven, New York
- Fajardo LF, Stewart JR (1971) Capillary injury preceding radiation-induced myocardial fibrosis. Radiology 101:429–433
- 44. Reinhold HS, Buisman GH (1975) Repair of radiation damage to capillary endothelium. Br J Radiol 48:727–731
- 45. Delanian S, Balla-Mekias S, Lefaix JL (1999) Striking regression of chronic radiotherapy damage in a clinical trial of combined pentoxifylline and tocopherol. J Clin Oncol 17:3283–3290

- 46. Delanian S, Porcher R, Rudant J, Lefaix JL (2005) Kinetics of response to long-term treatment combining pentoxifylline and tocopherol in patients with superficial radiation-induced fibrosis. J Clin Oncol 23:8570–8579
- Delanian S, Lefaix JL (2002) Complete healing of severe osteoradionecrosis with treatment combining pentoxifylline, tocopherol and clodronate. Br J Radiol 75:467–469
- 48. Delanian S, Lefaix JL, Maisonobe T, Salachas F, Pradat PF (2008) Significant clinical improvement in radiation-induced lumbosacral polyradiculopathy by a treatment combining pentoxifylline, tocopherol, and clodronate (Pentoclo). J Neurol Sci 275:164–166
- 49. Ledee-Bataille N, Olivennes F, Lefaix JL, Chaouat G, Frydman R, Delanian S (2002) Combined treatment by pentoxifylline and tocopherol for recipient women with a thin endometrium enrolled in an oocyte donation programme. Hum Reprod 17:1249–1253
- Letur-Konirsch H, Guis F, Delanian S (2002) Uterine restoration by radiation sequelae regression with combined pentoxifylline-tocopherol: a phase II study. Fertil Steril 77:1219–1226
- 51. Okunieff P, Augustine E, Hicks JE, Cornelison TL, Altemus RM, Naydich BG, Ding I, Huser AK, Abraham EH, Smith JJ, Coleman N, Gerber LH (2004) Pentoxifylline in the treatment of radiation-induced fibrosis. J Clin Oncol 22:2207–2213
- Haddad P, Kalaghchi B, Amouzegar-Hashemi F (2005) Pentoxifylline and vitamin E combination for superficial radiation-induced fibrosis: a phase II clinical trial. Radiother Oncol 77: 324–326
- Hille A, Christiansen H, Pradier O, Hermann RM, Siekmeyer B, Weiss E, Hilgers R, Hess CF, Schmidberger H (2005) Effect of pentoxifylline and tocopherol on radiation proctitis/enteritis. Strahlenther Onkol 181:606–614
- 54. Gothard L, Cornes P, Earl J, Hall E, MacLaren J, Mortimer P, Peacock J, Peckitt C, Woods M, Yarnold J (2004) Double-blind placebo-controlled randomised trial of vitamin E and pentoxifylline in patients with chronic arm lymphoedema and fibrosis after surgery and radiotherapy for breast cancer. Radiother Oncol 73:133–139
- 55. Gothard L, Cornes P, Brooker S, Earl J, Glees J, Hall E, Peckitt C, Tait D, Yarnold J (2005) Phase II study of vitamin E and pentoxifylline in patients with late side effects of pelvic radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 75:334–341
- 56. Ozturk B, Egehan I, Atavci S, Kitapci M (2004) Pentoxifylline in prevention of radiationinduced lung toxicity in patients with breast and lung cancer: a double-blind randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 58:213–219
- 57. (1995) LENT SOMA scales for all anatomic sites. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 31: 1049–1091
- CTC (1998) Cancer therapy evaluation program. In: NCI (ed) Common toxicity criteria version 2. DCDT, DHHS, Bethesda
- Aygenc E, Celikkanat S, Kaymakci M, Aksaray F, Ozdem C (2004) Prophylactic effect of pentoxifylline on radiotherapy complications: a clinical study. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 130:351–356
- 60. Magnusson M, Hoglund P, Johansson K, Jonsson C, Killander F, Malmstrom P, Weddig A, Kjellen E (2009) Pentoxifylline and vitamin E treatment for prevention of radiation-induced side-effects in women with breast cancer: a phase two, double-blind, placebo-controlled randomised clinical trial (Ptx-5). Eur J Cancer 45:2488–2495
- 61. Scott J, Huskisson EC (1976) Graphic representation of pain. Pain 2:175-184
- 62. Jacobson G, Smith BJ, Bodeker K (2008) A randomized trial of pentoxifylline and vitamin E versus standard follow-up after breast irradiation to prevent breast fibrosis, evaluated by tissue compliance meter (TCM). J Clin Oncol 26
- 63. Kwon HC, Kim SK, Chung WK, Cho MJ, Kim JS, Moon SR, Park WY, Ahn SJ, Oh YK, Yun HG, Na BS (2000) Effect of pentoxifylline on radiation response of non-small cell lung cancer: a phase III randomized multicenter trial. Radiother Oncol 56:175–179
- 64. Theron T, Binder A, Verheye-Dua F, Bohm L (2000) The role of G2-block abrogation, DNA double-strand break repair and apoptosis in the radiosensitization of melanoma and squamous cell carcinoma cell lines by pentoxifylline. Int J Radiat Biol 76:1197–1208
- Vernimmen F, Verheye-Dua F, du Toit H, Bohm L (1994) Effect of pentoxifylline on radiation damage and tumor growth. Strahlenther Onkol 170:595–601

- 66. Friedman N (1988) The effects of irradiation on breast cancer and the breast. CA Cancer J Clin 38:368–371
- 67. Leith JT, Michelson S (1990) Tumor radiocurability: relationship to intrinsic tumor heterogeneity and to the tumor bed effect. Invasion Metastasis 10:329–351
- 68. Hartsell WF, Scott CB, Dundas GS, Mohiuddin M, Meredith RF, Rubin P, Weigensberg IJ (2007) Can serum markers be used to predict acute and late toxicity in patients with lung cancer? Analysis of RTOG 91–03. Am J Clin Oncol 30:368–376
- 69. Zhao L, Sheldon K, Chen M, Yin MS, Hayman JA, Kalemkerian GP, Arenberg D, Lyons SE, Curtis JL, Davis M, Cease KB, Brenner D, Anscher MS, Lawrence TS, Kong FM (2008) The predictive role of plasma TGF-beta1 during radiation therapy for radiation-induced lung toxicity deserves further study in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 59: 232–239
- Fernet M, Hall J (2008) Predictive markers for normal tissue reactions: fantasy or reality? Cancer Radiother 12:614–618
- Canney PA, Dean S (1990) Transforming growth factor beta: a promotor of late connective tissue injury following radiotherapy? Br J Radiol 63:620–623
- 72. Martin M, Lefaix JL, Pinton P, Crechet F, Daburon F (1993) Temporal modulation of TGFbeta 1 and beta-actin gene expression in pig skin and muscular fibrosis after ionizing radiation. Radiat Res 134:63–70
- 73. Rodemann HP, Binder A, Bamberg M (1995) Radiation induced fibrosis: experimental studies. In: Sauer R, Dunst J (eds) Late sequelae in oncology. Springer, Berlin
- 74. Sivan V, Vozenin-Brotons MC, Tricaud Y, Lefaix JL, Cosset JM, Dubray B, Martin MT (2002) Altered proliferation and differentiation of human epidermis in cases of skin fibrosis after radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 53:385–393

Chapter 18 Antioxidants, Anorexia/Cachexia, and Oxidative Stress in Patients with Advanced-Stage Cancer

Giovanni Mantovani, Clelia Madeddu, and Antonio Macciò

Abstract Cancer cachexia is increasingly becoming a critical component in the comprehensive approach to cancer patients influencing morbidity, mortality, and quality of life. Therefore, its pathophysiology and the main contributing factors have been investigated with the aim of developing effective therapies. Reported findings indicate that increased production of reactive oxygen species and reduced activity of antioxidant enzymes contribute to development of anorexia and cachexia in cancer. Oxidative stress, almost always accompanying cancer cachexia, may be counteracted by effective antioxidant treatments: in this review, the most relevant recent clinical approaches addressing this target are reported. Fairly advanced clinical data on efficacy of and antioxidants in advanced cancer patients are promising, but the best way to administer and combine them with other agents, the optimal dose, and timing remain uncertain. However, because cachexia is a multifactorial syndrome, therapeutic approaches targeting a single contributing factor may be inadequate: targeting oxidative stress only one determinant is addressed, thereby limiting clinical efficacy. Therefore, antioxidants should be included in developing a therapeutic approach for cachectic cancer patients, however, they cannot encompass all symptoms of cancer cachexia. Recent evidence seems to confirm that the treatment of cancer cachexia, a multifactorial syndrome, is more likely to yield success with a multitargeted approach.

G. Mantovani, MD (🖂) • C. Madeddu, MD • A. Macciò, MD

Department of Medical Oncology, University of Cagliari, SS 554, km 4.500, 09042, Monserrato, Cagliari, Italy e-mail: mantovan@medicina.unica.it

18.1 Introduction

The presence of oxygen is a fundamental component of cellular metabolism. Aerobic energy metabolism, or oxidative phosphorylation, is a critical metabolic pathway within cells to provide energy. Inside the mitochondria, electron transport chain activity is responsible for a series of redox reactions which result in the synthesis of ATP. As the demand and subsequent flux for this process increase so does the chance that redox uncoupling will occur and increase the accumulation of free radicals throughout the cell [1, 2].

Any situation which results in an acute or chronic overconsumption of oxygen can lead to the production of the free radicals, which are more appropriately termed reactive oxygen species (ROS). A free radical is a molecule that contains at least one unpaired electron in its outer spin orbits. Superoxide radicals, hydroxyl radicals, hydrogen peroxide, nitric oxide, lipid alkoxyl, and peroxyl radicals are the most common ROS in living, aerobic systems. Normal human cells produce small amounts of ROS, which are reduced by antioxidant enzymes and low molecular weight radical scavenger. It is widely accepted that ROS play both positive and negative roles in vivo. The positive roles are those related to ROS involvement in energy production, phagocytosis, regulation of cell growth, intercellular signaling, and synthesis of biologically active compounds [3].

To protect against the deleterious effect of ROS, our body is provided with a complex system of endogenous antioxidant protection in the form of enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase, as well as nonenzy-matic defenses, such as GSH, the iron-binding protein transferrin, dihydrolipoic acid, and reduced CoQ10 [4]. In situations in which the production of prooxidant molecules increase to a point where the antioxidant system cannot effectively remove them, oxidative stress is known to occur. Indeed, oxidative stress is defined as the imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants in favor of the oxidants.

ROS, if not detoxified by the antioxidant system, exert a toxic action on circulating proteins, cell surface protein, lipids, enzymes, and nucleic acids (DNA). One of the most frequent targets is the polyunsaturated fatty acids that largely comprise the cell membranes. The systematic oxidation of these polyunsaturated fatty acids called lipid peroxidation is one of the primary means by which oxidative stress leads to an overall decrease of cellular functions. Thus, an adequate presence and functioning of antioxidant systems is paramount for cell activity. Vice versa, oxidative stress is implicated in a number of diseases which include atherosclerosis, pulmonary fibrosis, cancer, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, and aging [5].

Humans have evolved antioxidant systems to protect against free radicals. These systems include endogenous antioxidants (i.e., produced by the body) and exogenous antioxidants that are supplied by the diet. Endogenous antioxidants include enzymatic defenses, such as Se-dependent glutathione peroxidases (GPx), catalase, and superoxide dismutases (SOD), which metabolize superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and lipid peroxides, thus preventing the formation of the toxic OH, as well as nonenzymatic defenses, such as glutathione, histidine peptides, the iron-binding proteins transferrin and ferritin, lipoic acid, reduced CoQ10, melatonin, urate, and plasma protein thiols. Urate and plasma protein thiols account for the major contribution to the radical-trapping capacity of plasma [6]. Nevertheless, oxidative stress may occur when the generation of ROS exceeds the system's ability to neutralize and eliminate them. The imbalance can result from an excessive production of ROS or from a lack of the system's antioxidant capacity.

18.2 Cachexia and Oxidative Stress

18.2.1 Cancer-Related Anorexia/Cachexia Syndrome

The progression of the neoplastic disease is characterized by specific alterations of energy metabolism and by symptoms such as fatigue, anorexia, nausea, anemia, and immunodepression, which finally result in a peculiar clinical picture known as cancer cachexia which, unless counteracted, can lead to patient's death.

Cachexia is a multifactorial syndrome characterized by tissue wasting, loss of body weight, particularly of lean body (muscle) mass (LBM) and, to a lesser extent, adipose tissue, metabolic alterations, fatigue, reduced performance status, very often accompanied by anorexia leading to a reduced food intake. Cachexia accompanies the end stage of many chronic diseases including cancer which is termed "cancer-related anorexia/cachexia syndrome" (CACS) [7–10]. Key features of CACS are increased resting energy expenditure (REE), increased levels of circulating factors produced by the host immune system in response to the tumor, such as proinflammatory cytokines, or by the tumor itself, such as proteolysis-inducing factor [11]. At the time of cancer diagnosis, 80% of patients with upper gastrointestinal cancers and 60% with lung cancer have already had substantial weight loss. The prevalence of cachexia increases from 50% to 80% before patients' death [12].

Proinflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) play a central role in the pathophysiology of CACS through a long-term inhibition of feeding by negatively acting on hypothalamic orexigenic peptides such as neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related protein (AGRP), and/or positively acting on anorexigenic peptides (proopiomelanocortin, POMC, and cocaine- and amphetamine-related transcripts, CART), respectively. There is evidence that a chronic, low-grade, tumor-induced activation of the host immune system, which shares several characteristics with the "acute-phase response" found after major traumatic events and septic shock, is involved in CACS [13].

18.2.2 Oxidative Stress and Cancer Cachexia/Anorexia

Although a widely accepted definition of cancer cachexia does not yet exist, muscle wasting is among the major features of this syndrome. Experimental and human

data consistently indicate that muscle wasting results both from increased protein degradation, mediated by the ubiquitin-proteasome system, and reduced protein synthesis.

Proinflammatory cytokines have been shown to upregulate the ubiquitin-proteasome system, but recent data suggest that oxidative stress may also contribute to protein degradation [14]. Consistent evidence indicates that increased oxidative stress is involved in experimental models of cancer cachexia [14]. It was demonstrated that mild oxidative stress increased protein degradation in skeletal muscle by causing greater expression of the major components of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway [15]. Barreiro et al. [16] showed that in the muscles of tumor-bearing animals, oxidative stress was increased and, moreover, protein levels of the antioxidant enzymes were similar in the muscles of tumor-bearing rats and control animals, suggesting that oxidative stress results from increased ROS production and inefficient antioxidant activity [16]. Also, oxidative stress promotes skeletal muscle apoptosis, as documented in several experimental models of cancer cachexia. In particular, it appears that nitric oxide formation and thus nitrosative stress-inducing DNA fragmentation and muscle apoptosis during tumor growth are related [17]. Increased oxidative and nitrosative stress influence muscle protein degradation via specific molecular effects. ROS upregulate the ubiquitin-proteasome system, via nuclear factor- κb (NF κB) activation, which accelerates wasting [15]. On the other hand, nitration of tyrosine residues triggers increased degradation by the proteasome of the modified proteins [18].

Recent experimental studies have shown that both proteolysis-inducing factor and angiotensin II induced a rapid and transient increase in ROS formation in murine myotubes, which appear to be important in muscle atrophy in cancer cachexia, because treatment of weight-losing mice bearing the MAC-16 tumor with D-alphatocopherol attenuated protein degradation and increased protein synthesis in skeletal muscle [19]. Moreover, both ROS and TNF- α activate many catabolic elements in skeletal muscle, including NF κ B and mitogen-activated kinase, p38 MAPK. In concert with increased degradation, ROS-regulated catabolic signals may reduce protein synthesis. ROS have been shown to reduce translational activity in Chinese hamster ovary cells as well as decrease phosphorylated p70S6k levels and protein synthesis [20].

18.2.3 Pathogenesis of Oxidative Stress in Cancer Cachexia

Several mechanisms may lead to oxidative stress in cancer patients [21]. First of all, altered energy metabolism, which may be secondary to symptoms such as anorexia/ cachexia, nausea and vomiting, which prevent a normal nutrition and thereby a normal supply of nutrients such as glucose, proteins, and vitamins, eventually leads to the accumulation of free radicals. Indeed, in advanced cancer patients, the altered energy metabolism in addition to symptoms such as anorexia, nausea, and vomiting, do not allow an adequate synthesis of reducing compounds and a normal intake of

carbohydrates and dietary antioxidants, thus favoring the accumulation of ROS. Therefore, in advanced cancer patients oxidative stress may be considered a manifestation of reduced food intake and impaired glucose utilization [22].

The second mechanism results from chronic inflammation associated with a nonspecific activation of the immune system with an excessive production of proinflammatory cytokines, which, in turn, may increase the ROS production [23]. The third mechanism, favoring the development of oxidative stress in cancer patients, may result from the use of antineoplastic drugs: many of them, particularly alkylating agents and cisplatin, are able to produce an excess of ROS and, therefore, lead to oxidative stress [24]. Thus, it could be speculated that the body redox systems, which include antioxidant enzymes and low molecular weight antioxidants, might be dysregulated in cancer patients, and this imbalance might enhance disease progression.

In a clinical setting, an increased oxidative stress has been detected in advanced cancer patients: Mantovani et al. [25] enrolled 120 cancer patients and 60 healthy individuals and found that ROS levels were significantly higher and the activities of antioxidant enzymes, namely superoxide dismutase and GPx, were significantly lower in patients than in control individuals.

Moreover, in a series of our published studies [26–28] we have demonstrated that oxidative stress was associated with high levels of proinflammatoy cytokines IL-6 and TNF- α , and CPR, and low levels of leptin. In particular, the inverse correlation between leptin levels and the parameters of oxidative stress (ROS) strongly suggests that leptin is a signal of negative energy balance and low energy reserves and that oxidative stress is the consequence of the metabolic derangement, particularly of glucose metabolism. Therefore oxidative stress, consequent in advanced cancer patients to the low energy reserves and the inability to utilize efficiently the energy substrates, particularly glucose, may be considered the direct evidence of the metabolic impairment of which leptin is the most important parameter. Accordingly, in a recent paper [22] we demonstrated that in advanced ovarian cancer patients the lowest leptin levels and the highest IL-6 levels correlated with the highest levels of ROS and the lowest levels of GPx.

Moreover, the impairment of energy metabolism, by inducing oxidative stress, is responsible for defective immune functions shown in advanced cancer patients. Immunodepression is a key feature of patients with CACS and its severity is related to the stage of disease and severity of cachexia. Several of our studies have shown that PBMCs isolated from cancer patients shows an impaired blastic response to mitogens (such as PHA, anti-CD3 antibody, and recombinant IL-2). These defective functions correlate with the severity of disease and poor survival, and are actually considered a consequence of the oxidative stress, which in turn is an effect of the cell's impaired glucose metabolism. In advanced cancer patients, the altered energy metabolism and particularly the defective glucose utilization are responsible for the reduced synthesis of reducing compounds by the pentose–phosphate pathways. However, the correct immune cell functioning requires adequate concentrations of intracellular reducing compounds and particularly GSH.

18.3 Antioxidants

To counteract ROS and oxidative stress, several approaches have been tried both in experimental studies and in humans. Reduced glutathione (GSH), ALA, cysteine-containing compounds, amifostine, and vitamins are among the most used antioxidant agents [21].

18.3.1 The Glutathione Cycle

Glutathione is the most important cellular antioxidant. It is endogenously synthesized throughout the body and it exerts several essential functions such as antioxidant defense, detoxification of xenobiotics, modulation of redox regulated signal transduction, storage and transport of cysteine, regulation of cell proliferation, synthesis of deoxyribonucleotides, and regulation of immune responses. As for glutathione availability, one of the most important issues is to maintain the blood availability of cysteine as that it is known to be the rate-limiting substrate for glutathione resynthesis. Therefore, identifying ways to achieve an optimal availability of cysteine is a primary approach to maintain an adequate cell biosynthesis of reduced glutathione. Glutathione is a tripeptide, c-L-glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine, found in all mammalian tissues and especially highly concentrated in the liver. Glutathione exists in a thiol-reduced (GSH) and a disulfide-oxidized (GSSG) form. GSH serves several vital functions [29–32] including

- 1. Detoxifying electrophiles
- 2. Scavenging free radicals
- 3. Maintaining the essential thiol status of proteins
- 4. Providing a reservoir for cysteine
- 5. Modulating critical cellular processes such as DNA synthesis, microtubularrelated processes, and immune function

In addition, GSH has been shown to regulate the nitric oxide homeostasis [33], modulate the activity of proteins by post-translational modification (protein *S*-glutathionylation) [34], increase the neurotransmitter receptors activity [35] and the blastic response and function of T lymphocytes.

GSH, which is the dominant nonprotein thiol in mammalian cells, undergoes thiol-disulfide exchange in a reaction catalyzed by thiol-transferase as follows:

Protein
$$-SSG + GSH \rightarrow Protein - SH + GSSG$$

Since this reaction is reversible, the equilibrium is determined by the cell redox state, which depends on the concentrations of GSH and GSSG [36].

Mitochondrial GSH is critical in defending against both physiologically and pathologically generated oxidative stress [37]. Severe oxidative stress can overcome the cell ability to reduce GSSG to GSH leading to the accumulation of GSSG.

To protect the cell from a shift in the redox equilibrium, GSSG can be actively exported out of the cell or react with a protein sulfhydryl group, such as cysteine, leading to the formation of a mixed disulfide. Thus, severe oxidative stress depletes cellular GSH.

GSH is a key molecule in the redox body homeostasis. Oxidative stress induces the transformation of GSH into oxidized glutathione (GSSG) by the action of the enzyme GPx. GSSG may in turn be transformed into glutathione protein mixed disulfide or reduced back to GSH by glutathione reductase. During cancer growth, the glutathione redox status (GSH/GSSG) decreases in the blood of tumor-bearing animals and humans. This effect is mainly due to an increase in GSSG levels [38].

18.3.2 Alpha Lipoic Acid

Alpha lipoic acid (ALA) has recently gained considerable attention as an antioxidant [39]. It is present in human cells in a bound lipoil-lysine form, and particularly in mitochondrial proteins, which play a central role in oxidative metabolism. It has been reported to have beneficial effects in disorders associated with oxidative stress, by inducing a significant increase in cellular GSH and restoring GSH-deficient cells [40]. Within drug-related antioxidant pharmacology, ALA is a model compound that improves the understanding of the mode of action of antioxidants in drug therapy.

18.3.3 Cysteine-Containing Compounds

Among the cysteine-containing compounds, the carbocysteine-lysine salt appears to be the most interesting one: cysteine is the precursor for GSH synthesis and has been shown to act on redox balance and significantly improve the antioxidant potential by elevating GSH levels [4]. Carbocysteine-lysine salt protects alpha-1-antitrypsin from inactivation by hypochlorous acid: indeed, its chemical structure, which is similar to that of methionine, competes with methionine against the oxidative activity of ROS. Amifostine, an analogue of cysteamine, is a phosphorylated aminothiol prodrug that is dephosphorylated at the tissue site by membrane-bound alkaline phosphatase to its active metabolite, the free thiol, WR-1065. WR-1065 is the form of the drug that is rapidly taken up into cells, and it is the major cytoprotective metabolite.

18.3.4 Antioxidant Vitamins

Antioxidant vitamins, which include vitamin A, vitamin C, and vitamin E, are thought to decrease cancer risk and prevent cancer progression by trapping organic free radicals or deactivating reactive oxygen molecules or both [41, 42]. Several

studies have been carried out in an attempt to demonstrate a preventive role for vitamins as antioxidant agents against cancer and other diseases. The discrepancies between the results of these studies may be explained by the type of population studied (general or high-risk patients), the different doses of supplementation (physiological or pharmacological levels), the number of antioxidants tested, and the type of administration (alone or in a balanced association). Thus, it appears that the preventive effect may be related to multiple nutrients consumed at physiological doses: the optimal effect may be expected when a combination of nutrients at levels similar to those found in a healthy diet is provided [43].

18.3.5 L-Carnitine

A potentially interesting compound is L-carnitine, which acts, at least in part, as an antioxidant by increasing the amount of acetyl-CoA and enhancing the citric acid cycle, inducing increased NADH/FADH₂ production, thus positively influencing cell redox status by decreasing ROS production and enhancing their scavenging effects. Reduced L-carnitine levels are associated with the development of cachexia [44].

18.4 Antioxidants and Cancer Cachexia: New Approach of Treatment

18.4.1 Preclinical Studies

Preliminary animal data suggest that antioxidant supplemented rat chow ameliorates the decrease in food intake in tumor-bearing rats only when this diet is given to the animals following tumor inoculation [45]. When antioxidant supplementation is started with the onset of anorexia, no improvement in food intake is observed.

Extremely interesting are preliminary data obtained in tumor-bearing rats receiving carnitine supplementation. When compared with rats receiving placebo, supplemented rats exhibited a marked improvement in anorexia, reduced LBM wasting and decreased systemic inflammation, as measured by circulating levels of proinflammatory cytokines [46].

Several studies have widely demonstrated that the supplementation of GSH to the medium of cultured T cells increases the IL-2 receptor expression as well as its internalization and degradation and ameliorates the blastic response of lymphocytes to PHA, anti-CD3, and recombinant IL-2. These hypotheses have been confirmed by several of our in vitro experiments [25, 47], which demonstrated that, by adding different thiol-containing antioxidants to the medium of cultured PBMCs isolated from advanced cancer patients significant functional defects of immune cells, such as response to mitogen (PHA) and antigens (anti CD3), the expression of surface activation markers (CD25 and CD95), and cell cycle progression (from G1 to S phase) are improved.

18.4.2 Clinical Trials

More human than animal data are available to assess the role of antioxidant therapy on anorexia and cachexia. In some studies on advanced-stage cancer patients, Mantovani et al. demonstrated that the antioxidant agents ALA and *N*-acetyl-cysteine (NAC) restore several important in vitro T-cell functions [25, 47]. Moreover, the same authors showed that different antioxidant agents, used alone or in combination, in a population of advanced cancer patients with tumor of different sites, were effective in reducing ROS and increasing GPx activity. The antioxidant treatment also reduced serum levels of IL-6 and TNF- α [48, 49].

Also clinical trials using L-carnitine have been consistently positive. In a study carried out on 50 cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy treatment with L-carnitine (4 g/ day for 7 days) induced in 45 patients showed improvement of mood and quality of sleep and a significant reduction of fatigue [50]. A more recent study by Gramignano et al. demonstrated that cancer patients receiving 6 g/day of L-carnitine for 4 weeks had significantly decreased fatigue and increased LBM and appetite [51].

In the context of combined approaches, the most recent and intriguing were our phase II and phase III studies testing an integrated treatment based on diet, pharmaconutritional support, and drugs including antioxidants, in a population of cachectic advanced cancer patients.

The phase II study carried out by us [52] aimed to test the efficacy of an integrated approach to cancer cachexia, consisting of antioxidants, pharmaconutritional support, progestogen, and anticyclo-oxygenase-2 in improving nutritional, functional, laboratory, and quality of life variables in cachectic cancer patients. The integrated treatment included diet with high polyphenols content (300 mg/day) obtained by alimentary sources or orally supplemented with tablets, oral antioxidant treatment [alpha lipoic acid (ALA), 300 mg/day; carbocysteine lysine salt, 2.7 g/day; vitamin E, 400 mg/day; vitamin A, 30,000 IU/day; vitamin C, 500 mg/day], pharmaconutritional support [energy and protein dense nutritional supplement enriched with n-3fatty acids, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 1.1 g per can) and docosahexaenoic acid (0.46 g per can), 2 cans/day], orally administered progestogen (MPA, 500 mg/day), and selective COX-2 inhibitor (celecoxib 200 mg/day). The duration of the integrated treatment was 4 months. Thirty-nine patients completed the treatment: 22 of them responded to treatment (17 "responders" and 5 "high responders"), achieving a significant improvement of the endpoint variables, that is, a significant increase of LBM, a decrease of REE, an increase of appetite, a significant decrease of IL-6, TNF-a, fatigue, and a significant improvement of quality of life (EORTC QLQ-C30v3). Therefore, the treatment proved to be effective. As regards to safety, the treatment was well tolerated without any significant adverse event.

Based on the results of the phase II study, Mantovani et al.'s [53], which was the most effective and safest treatment to improve the primary endpoints of cancer cachexia: LBM, REE, fatigue; and relevant secondary endpoints: appetite, quality of life, grip strength, Glasgow Prognostic Score (GPS), and proinflammatory cytokines. Three hundred and thirty-two assessable patients with CACS were included. All patients received a "basic" antioxidant treatment consisting of polyphenols (300 mg/day) obtained by alimentary sources or supplemented by tablets and antioxidant agents ALA 300 mg/day plus carbocysteine 2.7 g/day and vitamin E 400 mg/ day, vitamin A 30 000 IU/day, and vitamin C 500 mg/day. Patients were then randomized to one of five treatment arms. Arm 1: MPA 500 mg/day; Arm 2: oral supplementation with EPA 2.2 g/day; Arm 3: L-carnitine 4 g/day; Arm 4: thalidomide 200 mg/day; Arm 5: a combination of all the above agents. The planned treatment duration was 4 months. According to the original intention, i.e., the comparison between arms, the ANOVA test showed a significant difference. The post hoc analysis showed a superiority of arm 5 versus the others as for all primary endpoints. Additionally, analysis of changes from baseline showed that LBM (DEXA) significantly increased in arm 5. L3-computerized tomography (25 patients): the estimated LBM (kg) improved in arm 5. REE decreased significantly and fatigue improved significantly in arm 5. Appetite increased significantly in arm 5. IL-6 decreased significantly in arms 5 and 4. GPS significantly decreased in arms 5, 4, and 3. Total daily physical activity showed that total energy and active energy expenditure increased significantly in arm 5. ECOG-PS significantly decreased in arms 5, 4, and 3. Toxicity was substantially negligible, comparable between treatment arms. In conclusion, the most effective treatment for all three primary efficacy endpoints as well as secondary endpoints appetite, IL-6, TNF- α , GPS, and ECOG PS was the combination regimen which included all selected agents [54].

18.5 Conclusions

So far, attempts at drug therapies for cachexia with a variety of agents have yielded limited success. The most widely used agents, megestrol/MPA, have been successful to a certain extent in reversing weight loss, although this occurs as a result of an increase in the fat mass and water retention rather than because of the preservation of LBM [55]. It is to be taken into account that cancer cachexia is a multifactorial syndrome to which many factors contribute, to a differing extent, including progression of the tumor per se, anorexia/malnutrition/reduction of food intake, oxidative stress, chronic inflammation, hypermetabolism with significant derangements of energy metabolism and metabolism of the specific nutrients such as carbohydrate, lipid, and protein, impaired or poor quality of life, and fatigue. These contributing factors are reciprocally correlated and have a different impact in the different stages of disease. Therefore, the attempt to counteract and/or correct one or more of the key contributing factors, that is, oxidative stress may be rationale. Indeed, as described in this chapter oxidative stress plays a significant role in inducing and worsening cancer cachexia. Consistent experimental and clinical data indicate that oxidative stress is involved in the pathogenesis of cancer cachexia, although the extent of its contributory role remains to be established. Therefore, oxidative stress should be addressed in developing a therapeutic approach for cachectic cancer patients. However, antioxidants cannot encompass all symptoms of cancer cachexia. In fact, the results of our phase III study showing the efficacy of a combined

treatment approach, seem to confirm the basic assumption that the treatment of cancer cachexia, a multifactorial syndrome, is more likely to yield success with a multitargeted approach.

References

- 1. Kerksick C, Willoughby D (2000) The antioxidant role of glutathione and N-acetyl-cysteine supplements and exercise-induced oxidative stress. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 2:38–44
- Clarkson PM, Thompson HS (2000) Antioxidants: what role to they play in physical activity and health? Am J Clin Nutr 72(suppl):637S–646S
- Mantovani G, Macciò A, Madeddu C et al (2003) Reactive oxygen species, antioxidant mechanisms, and serum cytokine levels in cancer patients: impact of an antioxidant treatment. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 22:17–28
- Macciò A, Madeddu C, Panzone F, Mantovani G (2009) Carbocysteine: clinical experience and new perspectives in the treatment of chronic inflammatory diseases. Expert Opin Pharmacother 10:693–703
- Townsend DM, Tew KD, Tapiero H et al (2003) The importance of glutathione in human disease. Biomed Pharmacotherap 57:145–155
- Mantovani G, Madeddu C, Maccio A et al (2007) Antioxidant therapy for the treatment of oxidative stress associated to cancer and cancer-related anorexia/cachexia. Curr Nutr Food Sci 3:184–193
- Heber D, Byerley LO, Chi J et al (1986) Pathophysiology of malnutrition in the adult cancer patient. Cancer 58:1867–1873
- Bruera E (1992) Clinical management of anorexia and cachexia in patients with advanced cancer. Oncology 49:35–42
- 9. Brennan MF (1977) Uncomplicated starvation versus cancer cachexia. Cancer Res 37:2359-2364
- Nelson K, Walsh D (1991) Management of the anorexia/cachexia syndrome. Cancer Bull 43:403–406
- 11. Evans WJ, Morley JE, Argilés J et al (2008) Cachexia: a new definition. Clin Nutr 27:793-799
- 12. Bruera E, ABC of palliative care (1997) Anorexia, cachexia, and nutrition. BMJ 315:1219-1222
- Madeddu C, Macciò A, Panzone F, Tanca FM, Mantovani G (2009) Medroxyprogesterone acetate in the management of cancer cachexia. Expert Opin Pharmacother 10:1359–1366
- Laviano A, Meguid MM, Preziosa I et al (2007) Oxidative stress and wasting in cancer. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 10:449–456
- 15. Gomes-Marcondes MC, Tisdale MJ (2002) Induction of protein catabolism and the ubiquitin proteasome pathway by mild oxidative stress. Cancer Lett 180:69–74
- 16. Barreiro E, de la Puente B, Busquets S et al (2005) Both oxidative and nitrosative stress are associated with muscle wasting in tumour-bearing rats. FEBS Lett 579:1646–1652
- Figueras M, Busquets S, Carbo N et al (2004) Interleukin-15 is able to suppress the increased DNA fragmentation associated with muscle wasting in tumour-bearing rats. FEBS Lett 569:201–206
- Souza J, Choi I, Chen Q et al (2000) Proteolytic degradation of tyrosine nitrated proteins. Arch Biochem Biophys 380:360–366
- Russell ST, Eley H, Tisdale MJ (2007) Role of reactive oxygen species in protein degradation in murine myotubes induced by proteolysis-inducing factor and angiotensin II. Cell Signal 19:1797–1806
- Moylan JS, Reid MB (2007) Oxidative stress, chronic disease, and muscle wasting. Muscle Nerve 35:411–429
- 21. Mantovani G, Madeddu C (2008) Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors and antioxidants in the treatment of cachexia. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care 2:275–281

- 22. Macciò A, Madeddu C, Massa D et al (2008) Interleukin-6 and leptin as markers of energy metabolic changes in advanced ovarian cancer patients. J Cell Mol Med. doi:10.1111/j. 1582-4934.2008.00408.x
- Mantovani G, Maccio A, Lai P et al (1998) Cytokine activity in cancer-related anorexia/ cachexia: role of megestrol acetate and medroxyprogesterone acetate. Semin Oncol 25:45–52
- Weijl NI, Cleton FJ, Osanto S (1997) Free radicals and antioxidants in chemotherapy-induced toxicity. Cancer Treat Rev 23:209–240
- 25. Mantovani G, Maccio A, Madeddu C et al (2003) Antioxidant agents are effective in inducing lymphocyte progression through cell cycle in advanced cancer patients: assessment of the most important laboratory indexes of cachexia and oxidative stress. J Mol Med 81:664–673
- Mantovani G, Macciò A, Madeddu C et al (2002) Quantitative evaluation of oxidative stress, chronic inflammatory indices and leptin in cancer patients: correlation with stage and performance status. Int J Cancer 98:84–91
- Macciò A, Madeddu C, Massa D et al (2005) Hemoglobin levels correlate with interleukin-6 levels in patients with advanced untreated epithelial ovarian cancer: role of inflammation in cancer-related anemia. Blood 106:362–367
- Mantovani G, Macciò A, Madeddu C et al (2002) Reactive oxygen species, antioxidant mechanisms and serum cytokine levels in cancer patients: impact of an antioxidant treatment. J Cell Mol Med 6:570–582
- Kaplowitz N, Aw TY, Ookhtens M (1985) The regulation of hepatic GSH. Ann Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 25:715–744
- 30. Meister A, Anderson ME (1983) Glutathione. Ann Rev Biochem 52:711-760
- DeLeve L, Kaplowitz N (1990) Importance and regulation of hepatic GSH. Semin Liver Dis 90:251–256
- 32. Suthanthiran M, Anderson ME, Sharma VK et al (1990) Glutathione regulates activationdependent DNA synthesis in highly purified normal human T lymphocytes stimulated via the CD2 and CD3 antigens. Proc Natl Acadd Sci U S A 87:3343–3437
- Hogg N (2002) The biochemistry and physiology of S-nitrosothiols. Ann Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 42:585–600
- Pompella A, Visvikis A, Paolicchi A et al (2003) The changing faces of glutathione, a cellular protagonist. Biochem Pharmacol 66:1499–1503
- Oja SS, Janaky R, Varga V (2000) Modulation of glutamate receptor functions by glutathione. Neurochem Int 37:299–306
- Lu SC (1999) Regulation of hepatic glutathione synthesis: current concept and controversies. FASEB J 13:1169–1183
- Fernandez-Checa J, Kaplowitz N, Garzia-Ruiz C (1997) GSH transport in mitocondria:defense against TNF-induced oxidative stress and alcohol-induced defect. Am J Physiol 273:G7–G17
- 38. Navarro J, Obrador E, Carretero J et al (1999) Changes in glutathione status and the antioxidant system in blood and in cancer cells associate with tumour growth in vivo. Free Radic Biol Med 26:410–418
- Packer L, Witt EH, Tritschler HJ (1995) alpha-Lipoic acid as a biological antioxidant. Free Radic Biol Med 19:227–250
- 40. Behr J, Maier K, Degenkolb B et al (1997) Antioxidative and clinical effects of high-dose N-acetylcysteine in fibrosing alveolitis. Adjunctive therapy to maintenance immunosuppression. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156:1897–1901
- McCall MR, Frei B (1999) Can antioxidant vitamins materially reduce oxidative damage in humans? Free Radic Biol Med 26:1034–1053
- 42. Frei B, Stocker R, Ames BN (1998) Antioxidant defenses and lipid peroxidation in human blood plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:9748–9752
- 43. Hercberg S, Galan P, Preziosi P et al (1998) The potential role of antioxidant vitamins in preventing cardiovascular diseases and cancers. Nutrition 14:513–520
- 44. Vinci E, Rampello E, Zanoli L, Oreste G, Pistone G, Malaguarnera M (2005) Serum carnitine levels in patients with tumoral cachexia. Eur J Intern Med 16:419–423

- 45. FrascariaT LavianoA, Bertini G et al (2006) Antioxidant-enriched diet improves anorexia in tumor bearing rats (abstract). e-SPEN Euro e-J Clin Nutr Metab 1:61
- 46. Frascaria T, Laviano A, Bertini G et al (2006) Carnitine administration reduces cytokine levels, improves food intake and ameliorates body composition in tumor-bearing(TB) rats (abstract). e-SPEN Euro e-J Clin Nutr Metab 1:31–32
- 47. Mantovani G, Macciò A, Melis GB et al (2000) Restoration of functional defects in peripheral blood mononuclear cells isolated from cancer patients by thiol antioxidants alpha lipoic acid and N-acetyl cysteine. Int J Cancer 86:842–847
- 48. Mantovani G, Maccio A, Madeddu C et al (2003) The impact of different antioxidant agents alone or in combination on reactive oxygen species, antioxidant enzymes and cytokines in a series of advanced cancer patients at different sites: correlation with disease progression. Free Radic Res 37:213–223
- 49. Mantovani G, Maccio A, Madeddu C et al (2003) Reactive oxygen species, antioxidant mechanisms, and serum cytokine levels in cancer patients: impact of an antioxidant treatment. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 22:17–28
- 50. Graziano F, Bisonni R, Catalano V et al (2002) Potential role of levocarnitine supplementation for the treatment of chemotherapy-induced fatigue in non-anaemic cancer patients. Br J Cancer 86:1854–1857
- 51. Gramignano G, Lusso MR, Madeddu C et al (2006) Efficacy of L-carnitine administration on fatigue, nutritional status, oxidative stress, and related quality of life in 12 advanced cancer patients undergoing anticancer therapy. Nutrition 22:136–145
- 52. Mantovani G, MaccioA MC et al (2006) A phase II study with antioxidants, both in the diet and supplemented, pharmaconutritional support, progestagen, and anti cyclooxygenase-2 showing efficacy and safety in patients with cancer-related anorexia/cachexia and oxidative stress. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15:1030–1034
- 53. Mantovani G, Maccio A, Madeddu C et al (2008) Randomized phase III clinical trial of five different arms of treatment for patients with cancer cachexia: interim results. Nutrition 24:305–313
- 54. Mantovani G, Macciò A, Madeddu C, Serpe R, Massa E, Dessì M, Panzone F, Contu P (2010) Randomized phase III clinical trial of five different arms of treatment in 332 patients with cancer cachexia. Oncologist 15(2):200–211
- Mantovani G, Macciò A, Massa E, Madeddu C (2001) Managing cancer-related anorexia/ cachexia. Drugs 61:499–514

Chapter 19 Radiation Protection by MnSOD-Plasmid Liposome Gene Therapy

Joel S. Greenberger, Valerian E. Cagan, James Peterson, and Michael W. Epperly

Abstract Understanding the molecular mechanism of ionizing irradiation killing of normal tissues compared to tumor cells has uncovered potential therapeutic strategies for radiotherapeutic dose escalation in the treatment of solid tumors. One strategy exploits the difference in redox balance between normal tissues and solid tumors with organ-specific and systemic (intravenous) administration of plasmid liposomes containing the human manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) transgene. When delivered, this transgene product produced significant protection against single fraction and fractionated radiation in organ-specific radioprotective gene therapy by each of several routes of administration (inhalation, swallowed, intravesicle, intra-intestinal), and this strategy was shown to avoid tumor tissue. Furthermore, systemic administration of MnSOD-PL also provides radioprotection with selective normal tissue reduction of apoptosis compared to tumor. The complex mechanism of selective normal tissue protection involves specific differences in redox balance, constitutive MnSOD expression, and compensatory metabolic changes, many of which can enhance the therapeutic effect.

J.S. Greenberger, MD (🖂) • M.W. Epperly, PhD

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, 200 Lothrop Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA e-mail: greenbergerjs@UPMC.EDU

V.E. Cagan, PhD

J. Peterson, PhD Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Center for Free Radical and Antioxidant Health, Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

19.1 Introduction

Improvement in clinical radiotherapy over the past several decades has relied heavily upon treatment planning techniques and radiotherapy delivery techniques that enhance tumor-specific killing and minimize normal tissue dose [1–4]. These advances include development of three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy techniques, based upon sophisticated CAT, MRI, PET, and combined imaging techniques [5]; Intensity Modulated Radiotherapy Treatment (IMRT) beams in which moving multileaf collimator components are used during treatment delivery [6]; alternative fractionation techniques; alterations in dose rate and beam energy [7]; the development of the Gamma Knife as well as advanced frameless stereotactic treatment devices, and brachytherapy techniques including radioactive seed and radioactive mesh implantation; and high dose rate brachytherapy [8–12]. Despite tremendous improvements in radiotherapy treatment planning and beam delivery, normal tissue toxicity remains dose limiting to most tumor targets [2–4, 13].

The therapeutic ratio (ratio of tumor killing over normal tissue toxicity) remains a key factor limiting the development of radiotherapy treatment plans [1]. Combining ionizing irradiation with new chemotherapeutic agents, many of which are normal tissue radiosensitizers, further limits radiotherapy dose escalation [14]. The development of tumor-specific radiosensitizers has been one approach toward increasing the therapeutic ratio [1]. This approach has been limited by the incomplete targeting through intra-arterial or intra-tumor injection of specific radiosensitizing agents such as bromadeoxyuridine (BUDR) [1] or in the case of p53-deficient tumors, p53-transgene therapy [1]. One successful approach has been the development of hypoxic cell cytotoxins. Tirapazamine relies upon the hypoxic environment in large epithelial tumors to provide activation of the pro-drug into a cytotoxic moiety [14]. The use of hypoxic cell cytotoxins has been particularly attractive in head and neck cancer and lung cancer where large hypoxic areas exist in rapidly growing tumors [15].

We have developed an alternative approach for improving the therapeutic ratio by decreasing normal tissue irradiation damage through a technique of antioxidant gene therapy [16–19]. Tissue culture laboratory and animal preclinical trials demonstrated the importance of mitochondrial targeting of the antioxidant therapeutic agent in optimizing therapeutic effect [20–24]. This chapter will review molecular biologic, biochemical, cell biologic, and the tissue- and organ-specific mechanisms of radioprotection by MnSOD transgene therapy and highlights areas for potential additional improvement of this clinical therapeutic strategy.

19.1.1 Antioxidant Gene Therapy Compared to Direct Delivery of Antioxidants

Initial discoveries in the fields of radiation chemistry identified cellular oxygen and water as primary targets for the creation of free radicals also called radical oxygen species (ROS) [1, 25–30]. Hydroxyl radical and superoxide were identified as active

moieties that combine to purine and pyrimidine bases in nuclear DNA. Alkaline sucrose gradient biochemistry techniques analyzing removed nuclei from irradiated cells identified single- and double-strand breaks in DNA and first linked the irradiation chemistry events of ionizing irradiation with the molecular biologic changes in irradiated cells [1]. The kinetics of restoration of DNA integrity after these single- and double-strand breaks led the way toward identification of DNA repair enzymes [31–35] and repair enzyme deficient conditions that were associated with increased radiosensitivity of cells in culture [36–44]. These initial studies pointed the way toward development of radioprotective agents by suggesting the possibility that immediate capture, neutralization, or inactivation of irradiation-induced free radicals might result in significant radioprotection [1, 45]. The development of WR2721 (ethyol, Amifostine), a normal tissue radioprotector, and N-acetylcystine (a sulfhydryl compound) both of which act though reactive oxygen species (ROS) or free radical scavenging [46] serve as two examples of the applications of free radical scavenging [47].

During the development of radioprotective free radical scavengers, and identifying the mechanism of action of these compounds, it was quickly appreciated that levels of total cellular antioxidant capacity dropped rapidly after exposure of cells to ionizing irradiation [1, 48–50]. It was learned that preservation of the total antioxidant cellular levels could be radioprotective [49, 50]. Paramount in the list of early identified antioxidant compounds was glutathione itself, a free radical scavenger [1, 51]. Under conditions of lowered glutathione levels, cells were more radiosensitive [1, 51]. It followed that by adding new free radical scavengers, the consumption of glutathione from the antioxidant pool would be reduced and this would render cells more capable of neutralizing additional irradiation-produced free radicals [48].

Radiation biologists studied the kinetics of production of free radicals following irradiation of cells in culture and defined several parameters of cellular, tissue, and organ response, which further complicated the strategy of using antioxidant drugs as radioprotectors [1]. First, irradiation induction of free radicals was found to continue long after irradiation [1, 16–18, 52, 53], and secondly ROS production could be detected outside the irradiated target volume [52, 53]. These data uncovered the phenomena of irradiation-induced production of cytokines [54, 55], which contributed to the delayed toxicity in adjacent or distant sites. The data also defined the phenomenon of the "bystander effect," which included both cell contact and humoral transmission of irradiation damage and free radical induction (ROS) to other cells [56]. Finally, the mechanism of action of irradiation induced ROS was not limited to nuclear DNA strand breaks and included the oxidation of lipids in cell membranes, most prominently those in the mitochondria [49, 50].

Basic radiation chemistry also revealed other natural cellular antioxidant defense mechanisms separate from the antioxidant pool of free radical scavenging small molecules. These studies identified natural radioprotective enzymes including glutathione peroxidase, gamma glutamyltranspeptidase, catalase, and the three forms of superoxide dismutases (SODs) [26, 27]. One form of SOD (MnSOD or SOD2) contains a specific 23-amino acid leader sequence that facilitated mitochondrial localization [21, 49]. In radiation chemistry reactions, superoxide is dismutated by SOD to hydrogen peroxide [25], another potent oxidative chemical which itself is acted upon by catalase to produce benign substances oxygen and water [25]. The combination of superoxide with nitric oxide, another active free radical, induced in mammalian cells by each of three nitric oxide synthase isoforms, produces the potent free radical peroxynitrite [49, 50]. Peroxynitrite is one of the most potent inducers of lipid oxidation associated with the formation of the mitochondrial specific oxidized lipids [48]. Conclusions from these observations led to methods by which to reduce the production of peroxynitrite [49]. The consensus was that reducing levels of peroxynitrite might also decrease ionizing irradiation-induced normal tissue damage [48–50, 57].

Initial translational research experiments by which to adapt these radiation chemistry and cell biology experiments to normal tissue radioprotection in vivo, were largely ineffective. Attempts to deliver MnSOD protein or nitric oxide synthase inhibitor drugs systemically required administration of very high levels to achieve therapeutic effect at the level of the mitochondria [58]. The therapeutic antioxidant, Tempol, which counteracts both hydroxyl radical and superoxide was only marginally effective in experimental animal studies due to the very high drug dose requirements to gain therapeutic effect [59, 60]. This data led to development of techniques to mitochondrially target Tempol and such research not only overcame some of these drug dose problems but further substantiated the importance of the mitochondrial membrane as a key target in prevention of ionizing irradiation-induced apoptosis of normal cells [61, 62].

Mitochondrial targeting of MnSOD, through its naturally occurring 23-amino acid mitochondrial localization sequence, combined with the knowledge that very high levels of protein were required to obtain mitochondrial specific expression posed the question of whether transgene delivery of the MnSOD cDNA sequence directly to cell nuclei, with a strong promoter to facilitate gene transcription and translation, might be a way to provide adequate mitochondrial targeted levels of protein delivered as such from the "inside out" [58]. Initial experiments with MnSOD-plasmid liposomes, using a radiosensitive murine hematopoietic progenitor cell line, 32D cl 3, first demonstrated the effectiveness of this approach and also confirmed the importance of mitochondrial targeting [20, 21]. Attaching the 23AA mitochondrial localization signal to CU/ZnSOD, a cytoplasmic form of SOD, which itself is non-radioprotective [21], had the same effect as MnSOD in radioprotection in vitro [21]. Conversely, removing the mitochondrial localization sequence from MnSOD produced a non-radioprotective cytoplasmic moiety [21]. In these experiments, mitochondrial targeting of SOD provided significant radioprotection. These experiments were translated in vivo and showed organ-specific radioprotection against single fraction and fractionated irradiation [21, 63].

19.1.2 The Biochemistry of MnSOD-PL Radioprotective Gene Therapy

Basic biochemistry and radiation chemistry experiments carried out on cells in culture first revealed that 32D cl 3 murine, Interleukin-3 dependent hematopoietic progenitor cells, transfected with the MnSOD transgene were significantly
radioresistant [20, 21]. The mechanism of this radioresistance was linked to the stabilization of a high level of antioxidant capacity in the cells compared to non-transfected, non-MnSOD-overexpressing cells [48]. In particular, intracellular levels of glutathione and other radical scavenging antioxidants were shown to persist at higher levels and for longer duration after the cells were exposed to radiation compared to parent control cells [48].

Cell lines overexpressing MnSOD were compared to parent cell lines with respect to radiation-induced oxidized lipids [22, 23]. It was discovered that specific oxidized lipids, notably phosphatidyl serine and cardiolipin were localized to the mitochondrial membrane in irradiated cells [22, 23] and the magnitude of lipid oxidation was decreased by MnSOD overexpression of clonal cell lines [22, 23].

The data on oxidized lipids that demonstrated an increased antioxidant pool size, and decreased susceptibility to specific PS and CL lipid oxidation was also detected in experiments in irradiated mouse esophagus [64]. Esophagus was removed at serial time points after irradiation from mice that received intraesophageal administration of MnSOD-PL, control liposomes, or no gene therapy. Tissues from animals that received intraesophageal injection of MnSOD-PL showed higher levels of anti-oxidant pool size and decreased lipid oxidation [64].

A separate series of experiments demonstrated that treatments that decreased phospholipid peroxidation of the mitochondria also stabilized cytochrome C binding to cardiolipin [49, 50].

Cytochrome C, which is a natural and intrinsic component of the mitochondrial respiratory cascade, is nearly 70% bound to cardiolipin in the inner mitochondrial membrane [49]. Thirty percent of cytochrome C is free, but is maintained inside the mitochondria by an intact mitochondrial membrane. During ionizing irradiation exposure of cells, mitochondrial membrane depolarization is detected, and cytochrome C leaks from the mitochondria into the cytoplasm where it activates caspase-3 leading to cleavage of PARP and subsequent nuclear DNA fragmentation resulting in apoptosis [20, 21].

Initial experiments demonstrated that MnSOD-PL treatment prevented cytochrome C leakage out of the mitochondria, but the mechanism was unknown. A separate series of experiments demonstrated that maintaining the antioxidant pool within the mitochondria stabilized cardiolipin binding to cytochrome C and contributed significantly to a decrease in cytochrome C leakage [48]. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that consumption of antioxidants in the mitochondria led to deleterious effects on one of the most potent enzyme antioxidants, namely MnSOD [48]. Following ionizing irradiation, MnSOD was demonstrated to be both oxidized and nitrated [65]. Oxidized MnSOD still retained superoxide dismutation activity, while nitrated MnSOD became less capable of functioning as a superoxide dismutase. Rather, it became a peroxidase causing lipid damage in the mitochondria and leading to cytochrome C leakage and apoptosis [65].

In experiments, both in cell lines in vitro and in tissues in vivo including intestine [66–68], ionizing irradiation caused specific mitochondrial phospholipid oxidation that was a signature for the oxidative stress induced by ionizing irradiation. MnSOD-PL overexpression in cells and tissues prior to irradiation preserved the antioxidant pool and in some experiments led to a decreased apoptotic response [64].

19.2 The Cell Biology of MnSOD-Radioprotective Gene Therapy

Initial experiments were carried out in several preclinical rodent models of irradiationinduced toxicity: esophagitis [69], pneumonitis [70], cystitis [71], intestinal damage [72], oral cavity [73], and bone marrow failure [74]. In these models ionizing irradiation was observed to reduce cell numbers, produce apoptosis and ulceration in tissues (in the case of the esophagus), and lead to functional organ inactivation. Irradiation effects on tissues were both direct on cycling cell populations [75] and indirect via cytokine production [76, 77]. MnSOD-PL therapy reduced the magnitude of the direct effect by stabilizing the cycling cells. However, it also became evident that irradiation in vivo affected the microenvironment in which proliferating cell populations resided and cytokines were released.

Apoptosis induced by irradiation is known to be more dominant in rapidly cycling cells [1]. In experiments comparing 32D cl 3 hematopoietic progenitor cells in liquid culture with those in cell pellets, (simulating the hypoxic, contact-inhibited microenvironment in tissues), irradiation-induced apoptosis was decreased in pelleted cell populations [78]. Other studies demonstrated that hematopoietic cells in contact with cells of the hematopoietic microenvironment (bone marrow stromal cells) showed reduced ionizing irradiation-induced toxicity both when hematopoietic cells and stromal cells were irradiated together and in experiments in which unirradiated hematopoietic cells were engrafted onto irradiated bone marrow stromal cells [79]. In both the model of irradiation exposure of both populations and the model of co-cultivation of cell populations with only the stromal cells irradiated, there was decreased toxicity to cycling hematopoietic cell population if MnSOD-PL was added and the total antioxidant pool size was increased [48, 80]. Therefore, MnSOD-PL treatment of the microenvironment into which restorative and repopulating cells migrate facilitates engraftment [80, 81]. In recent experiments with chimeric mice having bone marrow replaced with specifically marked donor cell populations, it was demonstrated that MnSOD-PL treatment of an epithelial organ (esophagus or lung) facilitated better engraftment of cells of bone marrow origin coming in from outside the irradiation field compared to non-MnSOD-PL treated mice [80-82].

In vitro experiments demonstrated that production of ROS by plateau phase stromal cells increased with irradiation dose [79]. Antioxidant treatment of irradiated stromal cells decreases ROS production and facilitates improved attachment of engrafted cells in vivo [80, 81].

Apoptosis of cells exposed to ionizing irradiation has been shown to be similar to that which occurs in cells deprived of specific required growth factors such as IL-3 [83]. MnSOD-PL overexpression by transgene introduction into IL-3 dependent cell facilitated longer duration survival in the absence of IL-3 compared to non-MnSOD overexpressing cells [83]. These data provide evidence that growth supporting cytokine withdrawal as well as ionizing irradiation induce oxidative stress and depletion of the antioxidant pool in both non-cycling and cycling cells [48]. Among the non-cycling cells are those of the tissue-specific microenvironment.

The data also demonstrate that non-cycling cells, exposed to irradiation, produce increased levels of ROS and inflammatory cytokines, such that these cells can induce a toxic indirect effect on homing and engrafting cells. The overexpression of MnSOD in stromal cells prior to irradiation facilitates a reduced depletion of antioxidant stores and reduced toxicity of the microenvironment. The data suggest that MnSOD-PL therapy both in vitro and in vivo with respect to stromal cells reduces the irradiated cellular capacity to induce the bystander effect.

19.2.1 MnSOD Radioprotective Gene Therapy Tissue Effects

Initial studies in irradiated esophagus quantitated the number of apoptotic bodies and ulcerated areas in the esophagus at serial time points after exposure to single fraction 29 Gy [69]. In C57BL/6J mice, by 12–14 days after irradiation, significant esophagitis prevented adequate nutrition and animals were observed to be dehydrated and significantly losing weight. Histopathologic evaluation showed increased apoptotic bodies, microulceration, and significant tissue damage (Figs. 19.1 and 19.2). Mice given a single intraesophageal administration of MnSOD-PL, but not empty liposomes, or control LAC-Z transgene-PL showed significant reduction in irradiation-induced apoptosis, improved survival, and the animals showed less dehydration and better weight gain (Fig. 19.3; Photographs from [69] reproduced with permission from Wiley, Inc. *Radiation Oncology Investigations*). In addition, apoptotic bodies and microulcerations induced by irradiation were significantly decreased in MnSOD-PL pretreated versus control irradiated tissues [80, 81].

These studies in the esophagus demonstrated that MnSOD-PL administration in a single dose or multiple doses during fractionated irradiation resulted in stabilization of the esophageal tissue response, namely expression of cytokine mRNA and elaboration of humoral cytokines [77]. The secondary effects of ionizing irradiation on tissues (cytokine release) were also decreased by MnSOD-PL mediated overexpression of this antioxidant transgene [77].

Other tissue-specific experiments were carried out with animal models of oral cavity irradiation. In both single fraction and fractionated irradiation to the head and neck region, mice demonstrated significant tongue ulceration, apoptotic bodies in the oral cavity, significant dehydration, and weight loss [73]. Intraoral administration of MnSOD-PL was demonstrated to introduce transgene deep within the oral cavity tissues [73]. An epitope-tagged hemagglutinin-tagged MnSOD was utilized to facilitate histochemistry. Histochemical staining showed that cells deep in the tissue going down to the stem cell or basal cell layer were reached by intraoral MnSOD-PL gene therapy [75].

In a murine lung irradiation model, intratracheal injection of MnSOD-PL in single and multiple fraction irradiation experiments demonstrated reduction of irradiationinduced acute lung damage [70, 76]. Inhalation delivery of MnSOD-PL made it easier to facilitate multifraction irradiation experiments since the animals did not suffer trauma of multiple surgeries to the trachea for injection [84]. MnSOD-PL was



Fig. 19.1 Pathogenesis of irradiation-induced esophagitis. C3H/HeNsd mice were irradiated to 3,500 cGy and sacrificed at day 0, 5, or 7 after irradiation. The esophagus was excised, frozen in optimum cutting temperature (OCT) compound, sectioned, and hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained. Representative appearances of the esophagus from a mouse sacrificed on day 0 (before irradiation) (**a**), day 5 (**b**), and day 7 (**c**) are shown. Five days after irradiation, individual vesicles



Fig. 19.2 Vacuole formation reflects esophageal lining cell degeneration. At higher magnification, (a) ×400 and (b) ×1,000, the vacuoles observed were identified as pyknotic and karyorexic nuclei with expansion of the cells caused by fluid or fat accumulation

Fig. 19.1 (continued) in squamous cells were detected (see *arrow* in **b**). The vesicles appeared fused to form vacuoles, leading to a separation of the squamous epithelial layer and the submucosal layer accompanied by ulceration (**c**). The *arrow* in C shows an early ulceration. Closer examination of the ulcer also revealed a clear inflammatory response within the muscle layer, as evidenced by the small *dark blue* cells that were identified as neutrophils and other inflammatory cells (*arrow*, **c**) (×40). Figures 19.1–19.3 reproduced with permission from Wiley, Publishers. Reprinted from [69]



Fig. 19.3 Decreased vacuole formation in squamous lining cells of the irradiated esophagus from manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) plasmid/liposome-injected mice. Mice were intrae-sophageally injected with liposomes with no inserts, LacZ (bacterial β -galactosidase gene) plasmid/liposome complex, or MnSOD plasmid/liposome complex and received 3,000 cGy to the thorax 24 h later. The mice were sacrificed at 0 or 15 days after irradiation, the esophagus was removed, frozen in optimum cutting temperature (OCT) compound, sectioned, and hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained. The sections were examined for vacuole formation. Control mice (a) were sacrificed

demonstrated to reach deep into the lung past terminal bronchials and into alveolar spaces, and the inhalation gene therapy route was shown to successfully deliver adequate transgene [84]. The lung irradiation damage model was different from the esophagus model in that esophageal toxicity was expressed primarily as acute esophagitis. Surviving animals did have a higher incidence of esophageal stricture (late effect) in the animals that did not receive MnSOD-PL, compared to MnSOD-PL-treated animals [77]. These experiments were confirmed in other studies with photodynamic therapy delivered damage to the pig esophagus [85]. Animals treated with MnSOD-PL intraesophageally demonstrated decreased ulceration of the esophagus caused by the photodynamic therapy. Thus, in the esophagus both acute esophagitis and the late effect of stricture whether caused by ionizing irradiation or PDT were decreased by MnSOD-PL.

The lung irradiation damage model in the C57BL/6J mouse was different in that damage was detected at 120–150 days after irradiation and was prominently displayed as the histopathologic picture of organizing alveolitis or fibrosis [70]. In this model system, the administration of MnSOD-PL prior to irradiation gave the best results with respect to reducing radiation toxicity, lethality, and decreasing the magnitude of organizing alveolitis in quantitative examination of lung sections. However, delivery of MnSOD-PL at serial time points after irradiation including at 100 days (immediately before appearance of the late lesion) did produce a detectable reduction in the magnitude of radiation damage [86]. These data were supported by other experiments in which fractionated delivery of MnSOD-PL by inhalation, and fractionated delivery by intraoral or intraesophageal administration during fractionated radiotherapy was also radioprotective.

Experiments in a rat model of bladder radiation induced cystitis demonstrated that intra-vesicle administration of MnSOD-PL resulted in significant uptake in the bladder epithelium and reduced both acute cystitis and bladder stricture. In this model physiological functioning of the bladder was preserved by MnSOD-PL gene therapy prior to irradiation. Animals treated with MnSOD-PL showed less bladder permeability with decreased movement of water and urea across the bladder membrane [71].

Experiments in intestinal radiation protection by exposing a loop of mouse intestine, and then administering either MnSOD-PL or control liposomes, and then delivery irradiation showed that MnSOD-PL preserved intestinal villus length and volume suggesting protection of these structures [72]. Total abdominal irradiation models have not been carried out, but the results are suggestive of significant intestinal protection.

Fig. 19.3 (continued) on day 0 and mice injected with liposomes with no insert (**b**), LacZ plasmid/liposome complex (**c**), and or MnSOD plasmid/liposome complex (**d**), were sacrificed on day 15. Irradiated mice injected with liposomes only (**b**) or LacZ plasmid/liposome complexes (**c**) had extensive vacuole formation. Mice injected with the MnSOD plasmid/liposome complexes (**d**) and control nonirradiated mice (**a**) had few vacuoles (×40)

19.2.2 Systemic Radioprotection by MnSOD-PL

Intravenous administration of MnSOD-PL prior to total body irradiation provided protection against both the 9.5- and 10.0-Gy doses. Systemic radioprotection did not induce increased tumorogenesis, and no increase in late effects or new tumors was detected [74]. MnSOD-PL was detected in tissues for 48–72 h, and expression was documented by RTPCR studies in both the lung and esophagus [63, 70, 77].

19.2.3 Combining MnSOD-PL with Other Transgene Therapies or Other Drugs

The radiation chemistry experiment that defines the effects of MnSOD suggested that its action would be to enhance and preserve dismutation of superoxide to hydrogen peroxide [25–27]. However, hydrogen peroxide itself is a toxic moiety and can cause cell lethality [25, 87]. Therefore, experiments were carried out to determine whether addition of another transgene for neutralization of hydrogen peroxide might add to radioprotection [88, 89]. The first experiments involved adding a transgene for glutathione peroxidase [63]. One publication demonstrated that glutathione peroxidase itself was radioprotective [90]. Other experimental data failed to confirm this observation [63].

To determine whether overexpression of another enzyme that neutralizes H_2O_2 catalase increased protection of cells already overexpressing MnSOD-PL, a mitochondrial targeted catalase transgene was compared to non-mitochondrial targeted catalase for radioprotective capacity in vitro and in vivo. 32D cl 3 hematopoietic progenitor cell lines or a subclone overexpressing MnSOD (2C6) were transfected with the transgene for either catalase or mitochondrial targeted catalase [88, 89]. These experiments demonstrated that mitochondrial targeting of catalase in cells transfected with mt-CAT were radioprotected [88]. The significant additional radioprotection observed in 2C6 cells overexpressing mt-CAT as well as MnSOD in this in vitro experiment showed that combining two transgenes in a clonal cell line appeared to be advantageous.

A potential problem with using two different transgenes on separate plasmids delivered by plasmid liposome is that of not adequately facilitating expression of both transgenes in the same cell. Previous studies have demonstrated that under optimal conditions, 20-50% of cells are transduced in the esophagus or lung by MnSOD-PL administration [91]. Therefore, further experiments will depend upon the ability to construct a single plasmid containing both MnSOD and catalase transgenes. Experiments with both transgenes on a single plasmid are being carried out to confirm whether this is additive or potentially synergistic in vivo.

Adding other drugs to MnSOD-PL gene therapy has been a subject of intense interest particularly with respect to orthotopic tumor models and hopeful translation of such results into clinical radiotherapy protocols.

In previous studies with C57BL/6J mice bearing orthotopic tumors, MnSOD-PL protected normal tissues while not protecting tumors from radiation injury [92–94]. In a recent series of experiments, nude mice bearing human orthotopic oral cavity tumors from the CAL33 cell line were treated with intraoral MnSOD-PL prior to a single fraction irradiation [95]. In the nu/nu model, CAL-33 cells of human origin were treated with Cetuximab, an antibody to the human epidermal growth factor receptor. Mice receiving both Cetuximab and MnSOD-PL demonstrated improved radiation responsiveness. In these studies, animals were examined by micro-PET scanning using a hypoxia imaging technique with F-misonidazole imaging. F-miso targeted hypoxic areas in the CAL-33 tumors and confirmed the capacity of F-miso to image hypoxic areas. The hypoxic cell cytotoxin, Tirapazamine, was therapeutic when delivered to these mice [95]. Combining two agents MnSOD-PL plus Cetuximab, MnSOD-PL plus Tirapazamine, or all three agents resulted in significant improvement in local tumor control [95]. These experiments suggest that MnSOD-PL protection of normal tissues can be supplemented with other therapies to facilitate improved therapeutic ratio and improved outcome.

19.2.4 Tumor Cell Redox Status Differs from Normal Tissues and Facilitates the Use of MnSOD PL Gene Therapy

Studies by St. Clair et al. [96] and Oberley et al. [26–30] as well as others [25] first demonstrated that many epithelial tumor cell types including those in lung and head and neck cancers have intrinsic reduction of levels of MnSOD activity. These observations suggested that the hypoxic microenvironment in tumors and reversion to anaerobic metabolism may have facilitated down regulation of MnSOD [94], which in oxidative metabolism is naturally utilized to counteract ROS production during the electron transport cascade in oxidative metabolism in the mitochondria [94]. The mechanism of MnSOD reduction in tumors was found to be more complex. Tumor cell lines were demonstrated to have decreased production of MnSOD through point mutations in the promoter of the genes [26, 27]. Furthermore, some tumor cell systems showed compensatory reduction in glutathione peroxidase such that re-introduction of elevated levels of MnSOD by transgene transfecting into those cells with a transgene for glutathione peroxidase restored the capacity to catabolize hydrogen peroxide [90].

One of the prominent concerns in the use of MnSOD-Plasmid Liposome therapy for normal tissue protection was the possibility that transgene expression in tumor cells would also provide radioprotection thereby equalizing both sides of the therapeutic ratio at a higher level of protection and potentially compromising the effectiveness of radiotherapy [92–94]. While organ-specific gene therapy was designed to prevent this by physical means (for example, inhalation of MnSOD-PL resulted in normal bronchiolar and alveolar cell uptake of the transgene while not reaching tumor cells that were in a solid mass and not connected to the airway), the data showing differences in redox balance between normal tissue and tumors suggested that systemic administration might actually be therapeutic.

The first studies testing this hypothesis involved transfection of epithelial tumor cell lines with MnSOD-PL in vitro [93]. Epithelial tumor cell lines of both mouse and human origin and of both pulmonary and oral cavity origin demonstrated radiosensitization by MnSOD-PL [93]. Cell lines derived from normal tissues of these same tumor sites (normal lung, normal oral cavity) demonstrated MnSOD-PL radioprotection. It appeared that differences in redox balance between normal tissues and tumors might facilitate improvement in therapeutic ratio combining radiosensitization of tumor tissue with radioprotection of normal tissues [94]. Orthotopic lung tumors at the carina of mice demonstrated that intra-tracheal injection of MnSOD-PL radiosensitized tumor cells while providing radioprotection of the lung [92–94]. In situ histochemistry identification of an epitope-tagged MnSOD transgene failed to identify significant levels of MnSOD in the tumor tissue [94], and the radiosensitization of tumor was concluded to be that of indirect effect, of unknown origin. Similar experiments with oral cavity, orthotopic tumors in the cheek pouch showed the same result. Intra-oral administration of MnSOD-PL was more tumor radiosensitizing than was intravenous administration while both techniques did provide some tumor cell radiosensitization [94].

At the present time, it appears that there are both direct MnSOD transgenemediated tumor radiosensitizing effects and indirect effects through protection of normal tissue. Such indirect effects could include those of a physiological nature, such as normal tissue radioprotection of blood vessels including limitation of microvascular formation in the tumor, or even reduction of blood flow to tumor cells. Decrease in production of inflammatory cytokines by irradiated normal tissues through MnSOD-PL-mediated radioprotection might reduce the availability of such cytokines to growing tumor tissue. Tumor cells have been demonstrated to benefit from addition of growth factors including TGF β , IL-1, TNF α , and others which are deleterious to normal tissue by the second wave of apoptosis [93].

19.2.5 MnSOD-PL Gene Therapy Radioprotection Strategies Lead the Way to Small Molecule Mitochondrial Targeted Radioprotective Agents

Experiments with MnSOD-PL have demonstrated the importance of mitochondrial localization for normal tissue radioprotection. They also identified critical redox differences between normal and tumor tissue, which can facilitate improved radiation protection to normal tissue with acceleration of radiation injury in tumors. Long-lived MnSOD-PL radiotherapeutic effects in vivo have demonstrated that survivors of intravenous MnSOD-PL administration prior to total body irradiation are not at increased risk for secondary cancers or additional irradiation-induced life shortening [74]. All these data suggested that substitution of a small molecule that is mitochondrial targeted and has MnSOD radioprotective capacity might be a more

efficient, less expensive, and more feasible approach toward achieving normal tissue radioprotection. In addition, concerns for the long-term consequences of gene therapy in humans, not the least of which is a potential for germ line integration of transgene, induction of mutations, or other side effects, made the search for small molecules a top priority.

These studies led to the recent development of a series of hemigramacidin-targeted nitroxide compounds, GS-nitroxides, with identification of several that have significant radioprotective capacity both in organ-specific and in systemic administration experiments [61, 62]. Long-term studies with GS-nitroxides have yet to be carried out and the feasibility of adaptation of this small molecule approach in the clinical setting has yet to be facilitated. However, the original studies with MnSOD-PL led the way toward logical development of small molecule alternatives for radioprotection of normal tissues.

19.3 Conclusions

MnSOD-PL gene therapy has demonstrated organ-specific and systemic radioprotective capacity. Success relies upon the observation that mitochondrial targeting of MnSOD activity is critical for a therapeutic effect and that the biochemical consequences of irradiation at the level of the mitochondrial membrane appear to be those critical for interruption of the apoptotic pathway. Clinical translation of the observation of the success of MnSOD-PL as a therapeutic radioprotector gene therapy must be demonstrated before this technique is validated and successful for routine clinical use.

Acknowledgment Supported by NIAID/NIH Research Grant U19A1068021

References

- 1. Hall E, Giaccia A (2006) Radiobiology for the radiologist, 6th edn. Lippincott William & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA
- Hauer-Jensen M, Wang J, Denham JW (2003) Current and evolving management strategies. Semin Radiat Oncol 13:357–371
- 3. Gopal R et al (2003) The relationship between local dose and loss of function for irradiation lung. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 56(1):106–113
- Marks LB (2002) Dosimetric predictors of radiation-induced lung injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 54(2):313–316
- 5. Blodgett TM, Meltzer CC, Townsend DW (2007) PET/CT: form and function. Radiology 242(2):50–70
- Daly ME, Chen AM, Bucci MK, El-Sayed IE, Xia P, Kaplan MJ, Eisele DW (2007) Intensitymodulated radiation therapy for malignancies of the nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 67(1):151–157
- Selvaraj RN, Bhatnagar A, Beriwal S, Huq MS, Heron DE, Sonnik D, Brandner E, Surgent R, Mogus R, Deutsch M, Gerszten K, Wu A, Kalnicki S, Yue NJ, Saw CB (2007) Breast skin

doses from brachytherapy using MammoSite HDR, intensity modulated radiation therapy, and tangential fields techniques. Technol Cancer Res Treat 6(1):17–22

- Varlotto JM, Flickinger JC, Niranjan A, Bhatnagar A, Kondziolka D, Lunsford LD (2005) The impact of whole-brain radiation therapy on the long-term control and morbidity of patients surviving more than one year after gamma knife radiosurgery for brain metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 62(4):1125–1132
- Tsao MN, Mehta MP, Whelan TJ, Morris DE, Hayman JA, Flickinger JC, Mills M, Rogers CL, Souhami L (2005) The American society for therapeutic radiology and oncology (ASTRO) evidence-based review of the role of radiosurgery for malignant glioma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 63(1):47–55
- Heron DE, Smith RP, Andrade RS (2006) Advances in image-guided radiation therapy the role of PET-CT. Med Dosim 31(1):3–11
- Voynov G, Heron DE, Burton S, Grandis J, Quinn A, Ferris R, Ozhasoglu C, Vogel W, Johnson J (2006) Frameless stereotactic radiosurgery for recurrent head and neck carcinoma. Technol Cancer Res Treat 5(5):529–536
- Beriwal S, Bhatnagar A, Heron DE, Selvaraj R, Mogus R, Kim H, Gerszten K, Kelley J, Edwards RP (2006) High-dose-rate interstitial brachytherapy for gynecologic malignancies. Brachytherapy 5(4):218–222
- 13. Rubin P, Casarett GW (1968) Clinical radiation pathology. W. B, Saunders, Philadelphia, PA
- 14. Brown JM, Wilson WR (2004) Exploiting tumour hypoxia in cancer treatment. Nat Rev Cancer 4:437–447
- Le Q-T (2007) Identifying and targeting hypoxia in head and neck cancer: a brief overview of current approaches. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 69(2 Suppl):S56–S58
- Greenberger JS, Epperly MW, Gretton J, Jefferson M, Nie S, Bernarding M, Kagan V, Guo H-L (2003) Radioprotective gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther 3:183–195
- 17. Greenberger JS, Epperly MW (2004) Radioprotective antioxidant gene therapy: potential mechanisms of action. Gene Ther Mol Biol 8:31–44
- Greenberger JS, Epperly MW (2005) Pleiotraophic stem cell and tissue effects of ionizing irradiation protection by MnSOD-plasmid liposome gene therapy. In: Redberry GW (ed) Gene Therapy in Cancer, Chapter VI. Nova Science Publishers, Inc., Hauppage, NY, pp. 191–215
- 19. Greenberger JS, Epperly MW (2005) Radioprotective gene therapy: current status and future goals. In Vile RG (ed) Viral Therapy of Cancer. Wiley Publications, Hoboken, NJ
- 20. Epperly MW, Sikora C, Deilippi S, Gretton J, Zhan Q, Kufe DW, Greenberger JS (2002) MnSOD inhibits irradiation-induced apoptosis by stabilization of the mitochondrial membrane against the effects of SAP kinases p38 and Jnk1 translocation. Radiat Res 157:568–577
- Epperly MW, Gretton JE, Bernarding M, Nie S, Rasul B, Greenberger JS (2003) Mitochondrial localization of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase (Cu/ZnSOD) confers radioprotective functions in vitro and in vivo. Radiat Res 160:568–578
- 22. Belikova NA, Jiang J, Tyurina YY, Zhao Q, Epperly MW, Greenberger J, Kagan VE (2007) Cardiolipin specific peroxidase reactions of cytochrome c in mitochondria during irradiation induced apoptosis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 69(1):176–185
- 23. Jiang J, Kurnikov I, Belikova NA, Xiao J, Zhao Q, Vlasova IL, Amoscato AA, Braslau R, Studer A, Fink MP, Greenberger JS, Wipf P, Kagan VE (2007) Structural requirements for optimized delivery, inhibition of oxidative stress and anti-apoptotic activity of targeted nitroxides. J Pharmacol Exp Therapeut 320(5):1050–1060
- 24. Greenberger JS (2008) Gene therapy approaches for stem cell protection. Gene Ther 15:100-108
- Spitz DR et al (1990) Oxygen toxicity in control and H₂O₂-resistant Chinese hamster fibroblasts. Arch Biochem Biophys 279:249–260
- 26. Oberley LW, Buettner GR (1979) Role of superoxide dismutase in cancer: a review. Cancer Res 39:1141–1149
- 27. Oberley LW (1982) Superoxide dismutase and cancer. In: Oberley LW (ed) Superoxide dismutase. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, Vol. II, Chapter 6
- Zhong W, Oberley LW, Oberley TD, St. Clair DK (1997) Suppression of the malignant phenotype of human glioma cells by overexpression of manganese superoxide dismutase. Oncogene 14:481–490

- 29. Zhong W et al (1996) Inhibition of cell growth and sensitization to oxidative damage by overexpression of manganese superoxide dismutase in rat glioma cells. Cell Growth Differ 7:1175–1186
- Yan T, Oberley LW, Zhong W, St. Clair DK (1996) Manganese-containing superoxide dismutase overexpression causes phenotypic reversion in SV40-transformed human lung fibroblasts. Cancer Res 56:2864–2871
- 31. Bennett CB et al (2001) Genes required for ionizing radiation resistance in yeast. Nat Genet 29:426–434
- 32. Lin Z, Nei M, Ma H (2007) The origins and early evolution of DNA mismatch repair genesmultiple horizontal gene transfers and co-evolution. Nucleic Acids Res 35:7591–7603
- Cox MC, Battista JR (2005) Deinococcus radiodurans the consummate survivor. Nat Rev Microbiol 3:882–892
- Daly MJ et al (2004) Accumulation of Mn(II) in deinococcus radiodurans facilitates gammaradiation resistance. Science 306:1025–1030
- White O et al (1999) Genome sequence of the radioresistant bacterium deinococcus radiodurans R1. Science 286:1571–1576
- Morgan JL, Holcomb TM, Morrissey RW (1968) Radiation reaction in ataxia telangiectasia. Am J Dis Child 116:557–558
- Ho AY et al (2006) Genetic predictors of adverse radiotherapy effects: the gene-PARE project. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 65:646–655
- Shiloh Y (2003) ATM and related protein kinases: safeguarding genome integrity. Nat Rev Cancer 3:155–168
- Abraham RT (2001) Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases. Genes Dev 15:2177–2196
- 40. Casado JA, Nunez MI, Segovia JC, Ruiz de Almodovar JM, Bueren JA (2005) Non-homologous end-joining defect in fanconi anemia hematopoietic cells exposed to ionizing radiation. Radiat Res 164:635–641
- Taniguchi T et al (2002) Convergence of the fanconi anemia and ataxia telangiectasia signaling pathways. Cell 109:459–472
- 42. Marcou Y, D'Andrea A, Jeggo PA, Plowman PN (2001) Normal cellular radiosensitivity in an adult fanconi anemia patient with marked clinical radiosensitivity. Radiother Oncol 60:75–79
- Imamura O et al (2002) Werner and Bloom helicases are involved in DNA repair in a complimentary fashion. Oncogene 21:954–963
- 44. Imamura O, Campbell JL (2003) The human Bloom syndrome gene suppresses the DNA replication and repair defects of yeast dna2 mutants. PNAS 100:8193–8198
- 45. Stone HB et al (2004) Models for evaluating agents intended for the prophylaxis, mitigation, and treatment of radiation injuries. Report of an NCI Workshop, Dec. 3–4, 2003. Radiat Res 162:711–718
- Rix-Montel MA (1988) Biophysical aspects of radioprotectors by aminothiols. Eng Med Biol Soc 2:1032–1033
- 47. Herceg Z, Milosvic Z, Kljajic R, Radnic Z (1990) The effects of use of radioprotective compound WR-2721 on haematological parameters in lethally irradiated swines. YRPA, Proceedings of the 3rd Italian-Yugoslav Symposium on Radiation Protection, Plitvice, Yugoslavia pp. 30–35
- 48. Epperly MW et al (2004) Ascorbate as a "redox-sensor" and protector against irradiationinduced oxidative stress in 32D cl 3 hematopoietic cells and subclones overexpressing human manganese Superoxide Dismutase. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 58(3):851–861
- Bayir H et al (2006) Apoptotic interactions of cytochrome c: redox flirting with anionic phospholipids within and outside of mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta 1757(5–6):648–659
- 50. Kagan VE et al (2006) The "pro-apoptotic genies" get out of mitochondria: oxidative lipidomics and redox activity of cytochrome c/cardiolipin complexes. Chem Biol Interact 163:15–28
- Turella P et al (2005) Proapoptotic activity of new glutathione S-transferase inhibitors. Cancer Res 65:3751–3761
- Vujaskovic Z (2003) Overexpression of extracellular superoxide dismutase protects mice from radiation-induced lung injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 57(4):1056–1066

- 53. Kang SK et al (2003) Overexpression of extracellular superoxide dismutase protects mice from radiation-induced lung injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 57:1056–1066
- 54. Anscher MS et al (1998) Plasma TFG,1 as a predictor of radiation pneumonitis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 41:1029–1035
- Rubin P, Johnston CJ, Williams JP, McDonald S, Finkelstein JN (1995) A perpetual cascade of cytokines postirradiation leads to pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Radiat Oncol Bio Phys 33:99–109
- Mothersill C, Seymour C (2001) Review: radiation-induced bystander effects: past history and future directions. Radiat Res 155:759–767
- 57. Gorbunov NV et al (2000) Activation of the nitric oxide synthase 2 pathway in the response of bone marrow stromal cells to high doses of ionizing radiation. Radiat Res 154:73–86
- Greenberger JS, Epperly MW (2007) Antioxidant gene therapeutic approaches to normal tissue radioprotection and tumor radiosensitization. In Vivo 21:141–146
- Mitchell JB, Russo A, Kuppusamy P, Krishna MC (2000) Radiation, radicals, and images. Ann NY Acad Sci 899:28–43
- Krishna MC, Grahame DA, Samuni A, Mitchell JB, Russo A (1992) Oxoammonium cation intermediate in the nitroxide-catalyzed dismutation of superoxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:5537–5541
- Fink M et al (2007) Hemigramicidin-TEMPO conjugates: novel mitochondria-targeted antioxidants. Crit Care Med 35:5461–5470
- 62. Jiang J et al (2008) A mitochondria-targeted nitroxide/hemi-gramicidin S conjugate protects Mouse embryonic cells against γ-irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 70:816–825
- 63. Epperly MW, Kagan VE, Sikora CA, Gretton JE, Defilippi SJ, Bar-Sagi D, Greenberger JS (2001) Manganese superoxide dismutase-plasmid/liposome (MnSOD-PL) administration protects mice from esophagitis associated with fractionated irradiation. Int J Cancer 96(4):221–233
- 64. Epperly MW, Zhang X, Nie S, Cao S, Kagan V, Tyurin V, Greenberger JS (2005) MnSODplasmid liposome gene therapy effects on ionizing irradiation induced lipid peroxidation of the esophagus. In Vivo 19:997–1004
- 65. Han F, Drabek T, Stezoski J, Janesko-Feldman K, Stezoski SW, Clark RSB, Bayir H, Tisherman SA, Kochanek PM (2008) Protein nitration and poly-ADP-ribosylation in brain after rapid exsanguination cardiac arrest in a rat model of emergency preservation and resuscitation. Resuscitation 79(2):301–310
- 66. Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Epperly MW, Greenberger JS, Kagan VE (2008) Oxidative lipidomics of γ-irradiation induced intestinal injury. Free Radic Biol Med 44(3):299–314
- 67. Tyurin VA, Tyurina YY, Ritov VB, Lystsya A, Amoscato AA, Kochanek PM, Hamilton R, DeKosky ST, Greenberger JS, Bayir H, Kagan VE (2010) Oxidative lipidomics of apoptosis: Quantitative assessment of phospholipid hydroperoxides in cells and tissues. Methods Mol Biol 610:353–374
- Tyurin VA, Tyurina YY, Kochanek PM, Hamilton R, DeKosky ST, Greenberger JS, Bayir H, Kagan VE (2008) Oxidative lipidomics of programmed cell death. Methods Enzymol 442:375–393
- 69. Stickle RL, Epperly MW, Klein E, Bray JA, Greenberger JS (1999) Prevention of irradiationinduced esophagitis by plasmid/liposome delivery of the human manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) transgene. Radiat Oncol Investig 7(6):204–217
- 70. Epperly MW, Bray JA, Kraeger S, Zwacka R, Engelhardt J, Travis E, Greenberger JS (1998) Prevention of late effects of irradiation lung damage by manganese superoxide dismutase gene therapy. Gene Ther 5:196–208
- 71. Kanai AJ, Zeidel ML, Lavelle JP, Greenberger JS, Birder LA, deGroat WC, Apodaca GL, Meyers SA, Ramage R, VanBibber MM, Epperly MW (2002) Manganese superoxide dismutase gene therapy protects against irradiation-induced cystitis. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 44:1152–1160
- 72. Guo HL, Wolfe D, Epperly MW, Huang S, Liu K, Glorioso JC, Greenberger J, Blumberg D (2003) Gene transfer of human manganese superoxide dismutase protects small intestinal villi from radiation injury. J Gastrointest Surg 7:229–236
- 73. Guo HL, Seixas-Silva JA, Epperly MW, Gretton JE, Shin DM, Greenberger JS (2003) Prevention of irradiation-induced oral cavity mucositis by plasmid/liposome delivery of the human manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) transgene. Radiat Res 159:361–370

- 74. Epperly MW, Smith T, Wang H, Schlesselman J, Franicola D, Greenberger JS (2008) Modulation of total body irradiation induced life shortening by systemic intravenous MnSODplasmid liposome gene therapy. Radiat Res 170(4):437–443
- 75. Epperly MW, Carpenter M, Agarwal A, Mitra P, Nie S, Greenberger JS (2004) Intra-oral manganese superoxide dismutase plasmid/liposome radioprotective gene therapy decreases ionizing irradiation-induced murine mucosal cell cycling and apoptosis. In Vivo 18:401–410
- 76. Epperly MW, Travis EL, Sikora C, Greenberger JS (1999) Magnesium superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) plasmid/liposome pulmonary radioprotective gene therapy: Modulation of irradiationinduced mRNA for IL-1, TNF-α, and TGF-β correlates with delay of organizing alveolitis/ fibrosis. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 5:204–214
- 77. Epperly MW, Gretton JA, Defilippi SJ, Sikora CA, Liggitt D, Koe G, Greenberger JS (2001) Modulation of radiation-induced cytokine elevation associated with esophagitis and esophageal stricture by manganese superoxide dismutase-plasmid/liposome (SOD-PL) gene therapy. Radiat Res 155:2–14
- Rajagopalan MS, Gupta K, Epperly MW, Franicola D, Zhang X, Kagan VE, Wipf P, Greenberger JS (2009) The mitochondrial targeted nitroxide JP4-039 augments potentially lethal irradiation damage repair. Vivo 23(5):717–726
- 79. Gorbunov NV, Pogue-Geile KL, Epperly MW, Bigbee WL, Draviam R, Day BW, Wald N, Watkins SC, Greenberger JS (2000) Activation of the nitric oxide synthase 2 pathway in the response of bone marrow stromal cells to high doses of ionizing radiation. Radiat Res 154:73–86
- Niu Y, Epperly MW, Shen H, Smith T, Lewis D, Gollin S, Greenberger JS (2008) Intraesophageal MnSOD-plasmid liposome administration enhances engraftment and self-renewal capacity of bone marrow derived progenitors of esophageal squamous epithelium. Gene Ther 15:347–356
- Epperly MW, Goff JP, Sikora CA, Shields DS, Greenberger JS (2004) Bone marrow origin of cells with capacity for homing and differentiation to esophageal squamous epithelium. Radiat Res 162:233–240
- Epperly MW, Sikora CA, Defilippi S, Gretton JE, Greenberger JS (2003) Bone marrow origin of myofibroblasts in irradiation pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29:213–224
- 83. Epperly MW, Bernarding M, Gretton J, Jefferson M, Nie S, Greenberger JS (2003) Overexpression of the transgene for manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) in 32D cl 3 cells prevents apoptosis induction by TNF-α, IL-3 withdrawal and ionizing irradiation. Exp Hematol 31(6):465–474
- 84. Carpenter M, Epperly MW, Agarwal A, Nie S, Hricisak L, Niu Y, Greenberger JS (2005) Inhalation delivery of manganese superoxide dismutase-plasmid/liposomes (MnSOD-PL) protects the murine lung from irradiation damage. Gene Ther 12:685–690
- Yaron P, Epperly MW, Fernando HC, Klein E, Finkelstein S, Greenberger JS, Luketich JD (2005) Photodynamic therapy induced esophageal-stricture-An animal model: from mouse to pig. J Surg Res 123:67–74
- 86. Epperly MW, Guo HL, Bernarding M, Gretton J, Jefferson M, Greenberger JS (2003) Delayed intratracheal injection of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD)-plasmid/liposomes provides suboptimal protection against irradiation-induced pulmonary injury compared to treatment before irradiation. Gene Ther Mol Biol 7:61–68
- 87. Giorgio M, Trinei M, Migliaccio E, Pelicci PG (2007) Hydrogen peroxide: a metabolic by product or a common mediator of ageing signals? Nat RevMol Cell Biol 8:722–730
- Epperly MW, Melendez JA, Zhang X, Nie S, Pearce L, Peterson J, Franicola D, Dixon T, Greenberger BA, Komanduri P, Greenberger JS (2009) Mitochondrial targeting of a catalase transgene product by plasmid liposomes increases radioresistance in vitro and in vivo. Radiat Res 171(5):588–595
- Bai J, Rodriguez AM, Melendez JA, Cederbai AI (1999) Overexpression of catalase in cytosolic or mitochondrial compartment protects HepG2 cells against oxidative injury. J Biol Chem 274:26217–26224
- 90. Epperly MW, Melendez A, Zhang X, Franicola D, Smith T, Greenberger BA, Komanduri P, Greenberger JS (2009) Mitochondrial targeting of a catalase transgene product by plasmid liposomes increases radioresistance in vitro and in vivo. Radiat Res 171(5):588–595

- 91. Epperly MW, Guo HL, Jefferson M, Wong S, Gretton J, Bernarding M, Bar-Sagi D, Greenberger JS (2003) Cell phenotype specific duration of expression of epitope-tagged HA-MnSOD in cells of the murine lung following intratracheal plasmid liposome gene therapy. Gene Ther 10:163–171
- 92. Epperly MW, Defilippi S, Sikora C, Gretton J, Kalend K, Greenberger JS (2000) Intratracheal injection of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) plasmid/liposomes protects normal lung but not orthotopic tumors from irradiation. Gene Ther 7(12):1011–1018
- 93. Guo H, Epperly MW, Bernarding M, Nie S, Gretton J, Jefferson M, Greenberger JS (2003) Manganese superoxide dismutase-plasmid/liposome (MnSOD-PL) intratracheal gene therapy reduction of irradiation-induced inflammatory cytokines does not protect orthotopic lewis lung carcinomas. In Vivo 17:13–22
- 94. Epperly MW, Wegner R, Kanai AJ, Kagan V, Greenberger EE, Nie S, Greenberger JS (2007) Irradiated murine oral cavity orthotopic tumor antioxidant pool destabilization by MnSODplasmid liposome gene therapy mediates tumor radiosensitization. Radiat Res 267:289–297
- 95. Greenberger JS, Dixon T, Franicola D, Niu Y, Zhang X, Epperly MW (2008) Manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD)-plasmid liposomes, C225, and Tirapazamine combination enhances radiotherapy of human orthotopic oral cavity squamous tumors. ASTRO, 2008. Int J Rad Oncol Biol Physics 72(1 (suppl 28), #1119):56
- St. Clair DK, Wan XS, Oberley TD, Muse KE, St. Clair WH (1992) Suppression of radiationinduced neoplastic transformation by overexpression of mitochondrial superoxide dismutase. Mol Carcinog 6:238–242

Chapter 20 Antioxidants and Inhibition of Cisplatin-Induced Kidney Injury: Role of Mitochondria

Neife Ap. Guinaim dos Santos and Antonio Cardozo dos Santos

Abstract Since its approval by the FDA in 1979, cisplatin (CP) has been widely employed in the treatment of several malignancies, including both solid and hematological tumors. Kidneys are particularly susceptible to the action of cisplatin, and despite the preventive measures currently applied, nephrotoxicity remains the most important dose-limiting factor in cisplatin chemotherapy. It has been suggested that mitochondrial oxidative stress and unbalance of the redox status play a key role in the mechanism of CP-induced nephrotoxicity. Therefore, as an attempt to counteract the renal damage associated with cisplatin chemotherapy, many antioxidants, both synthetic and natural, endogenous and exogenous, with distinct mechanisms of action, including free-radical scavengers, sulfhydryl donors and iron chelators, have had their potential as protective agents evaluated. Results are encouraging in the great majority of the studies and many different antioxidants have been presented as potential candidates to the adjuvant protective therapy. The most promising compounds, the conflicting findings and the remaining concerns are thoroughly discussed in this chapter.

20.1 Cisplatin Use and Limitations

Cisplatin (cis-diamminedichloroplatinum II) is one of the most effective chemotherapeutic agents, which has been used, alone or in combination with other agents, in the treatment of a wide range of tumors, including testicular cancer, metastatic ovarian cancer, head and neck cancer, bladder cancer, cervical cancer, small cell and non-small cell lung cancer, osteosarcoma, metastatic melanoma, penile cancer, adrenocorticol

N.A.G. dos Santos, PhD • A.C. dos Santos, PhD (🖂)

Departamento de Análises Clínicas, Toxicológicas e Bromatológicas,

USP, Avenida do Café s/n, Ribeirão Preto, SP 14040-903, Brazil e-mail: acsantos@fcfrp.usp.br

carcinoma, and pancreatic cancer [1, 2]. Its effectiveness increases at higher doses, but dose escalation and, consequently, the achievement of its maximum antitumor effect are limited by its toxicity on healthy tissues, mainly on kidneys [3, 4].

20.2 The Susceptibility of Kidneys to Cisplatin

Some physiological and biochemical characteristics contribute to the vulnerability of kidneys to the toxicity induced by many xenobiotics. In the case of CP, two main factors contribute to nephrotoxicity: (1) kidneys constitute the main route of CP elimination and (2) CP is selectively accumulated in the renal epithelial cells. For these reasons, kidneys are exposed to higher levels of CP as compared to other organs such as liver, intestine, testicles, or spleen. The concentration of CP in the epithelial tubular cells reaches a level approximately five times higher as compared to the concentration in the plasma [5–9].

The renal clearance is responsible for more than 90% of CP elimination. Approximately 25% of the dose is excreted in urine within 24 h after the administration. The elimination is performed mainly via glomerular filtration; however, secretion and reabsorption of CP and its metabolites in the proximal tubules have also been suggested. Conversely, the intestinal or biliary excretion of CP seems to be minimal [5, 8, 10, 11].

The segments of the nephron are differently affected by CP. The most sensitive segment is the proximal tubule, mainly the S1 cells in the early portion and the S3 cells in the late portion, both with large concentration of renal mitochondria. Although less intensely, the cells of the distal convoluted tubule (DCT) seem to be also affected, as well the epithelial cells of the ascending limb of loop Henle, the epithelial glomerular cells, and the vascular endothelial cells [12–16, 144].

The transport mechanisms of renal cells probably contribute to CP accumulation in the proximal tubular segment. Besides the passive diffusion of CP initially proposed, carrier-mediated transport has also been suggested and some mechanisms have been recently described. The uptake of CP by the renal proximal tubular cells has been proposed to be mediated by organic cation transporters (OCTs), more precisely by the OCT2 isoform, mainly expressed in the basolateral membrane of proximal tubules. The copper transporter Ctr1 has also been suggested as a mediator in the cellular influx of CP. Since Ctr1 is abundant in renal tubular cells, it is possible that this transporter plays a role in CP nephrotoxicity [3, 5, 17–23, 145, 146].

The concentration of CP in the renal filtrate prior to elimination and the selective accumulation of CP in the epithelial cells of the proximal tubule, which in turn is favored by the transport systems of these cells, are all factors that probably account for the major role nephrotoxicity plays in CP chemotherapy.

In general, patients who have been treated with CP present a permanent decrease in their renal filtration capability and it is estimated that 28–36% of those patients treated with an initial dose of 50–100 mg/m² develop acute renal failure [24, 25]. Clinical findings include a reduction of 20–40% in the glomerular filtration rate, increased blood urea nitrogen (BUN), increased serum creatinine levels as well as electrolyte abnormalities including hypomagnesemia, hypocalciuria, and hypokalemia [3, 26, 27].

20.3 The Nephrotoxicity Induced by Cisplatin

The toxic effects of CP have been associated with the metabolites produced by the intracellular hydrolysis of the drug. This hydrolysis occurs because of the high concentration of water and the low concentration of chloride in the interior of the cells, contrary to the exterior side; the concentration of chloride ions is approximately 145 mM outside and 3 mM inside the cells. Such differences lead to the replacement of one or two chloride ions of the molecule resulting in positively charged and highly reactive electrophilic products: (1) mono-aquo-cisplatin ($[Pt(NH_2)_2Cl(OH_2)]^+$) and (2) diaquo-cisplatin ($[Pt(NH_{\lambda})_{2}(OH_{\lambda})_{2}]^{+2}$). These electrophilic species can (1) affect subcellular organelles, mainly mitochondria, (2) react with glutathione (GSH) in the cytoplasm, and (3) react with DNA in the cellular nucleus. The platinum atom of the aquated CP metabolites covalently binds to nuclear DNA through inter-strand or intra-strand crosslinks, forming adducts CP- DNA. The formation of these adducts distorts the DNA double helix structure, leading to the inhibition of the (1) transcription and (2) replication; (3) arrest of cell cycle and (4) inhibition of cell proliferation. The S phase of the cell cycle seems to be the most affected; however, this may vary among cells from different tissues. These effects on DNA are more intense in tumor and other diving cells and have been associated with the antitumor effect of CP [28-35].

The renal damage caused by CP has been associated with different mechanisms and events: (1) cytotoxicity, (2) vasoconstriction of the renal microvasculature, and (3) pro-inflammatory effects [4, 17, 36, 147]. The cytotoxic effects of CP, on their turn, has been postulated to occur via several mechanisms, including mitochondrial injury and nuclear DNA damage, both leading eventually to the activation of the apoptotic cell death pathways [148]. In this chapter the discussion will be focused on the mitochondrial alterations, such as the mitochondrial dysfunction and the mitochondrial oxidative stress, both proposed as very early events in the nephrotoxicity induced by CP. Kidneys are particularly susceptible to mitochondrial toxicity, an event frequently involved in renal cells injury mechanism. Renal functions demand a lot of energy, which is almost entirely provided by the mitochondrial impairs (1) proximal tubular sodium/water absorption; (2) proximal tubular reabsorption (S3 portion); (3) glomerular filtration; (4) secretion; (5) active transport; (6) biosynthesis; and (7) metabolism processes [14, 37–39].

20.4 Preventive Measures in Clinical Practice

Intensive hydration; osmotic diuresis; pharmacological diuresis; and administration of chelating agents, sulfhydryl donors, and antioxidants are some approaches that have been suggested as possible strategies to reduce CP nephrotoxicity [3, 40]. Despite these prophylactic measures, irreversible renal damage still occurs in approximately 30% of the patients under CP treatment [41–44].

The currently most employed measures in clinical practice include vigorous hydration with saline, diuresis with mannitol or furosemide, and administration of the FDA-approved agent amifostine, an organic thiol-phosphate, whose action mechanism is discussed later in this chapter.

20.5 The Oxidative Stress Induced by Cisplatin: Role of Mitochondria

The mitochondrial respiratory chain is the main source of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which are physiologically and continuously generated. Approximately 2% of the electrons which flow along the respiratory chain escape from it and react with molecular oxygen, which is partially reduced originating superoxide anion $(O_2^{-\bullet})$, the precursor of most of the ROS generated in mitochondria [45, 46]. The balance between ROS generation and detoxification is guaranteed by an efficient mitochondrial antioxidant defense system. This mitochondrial system is constituted by (1) enzymatic compounds such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and glutathione redutase (GRd) and (2) non-enzymatic compounds such as the reduced form of GSH and the reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH). Under normal conditions the O₂^{-•} produced is converted by the action of SOD into H₂O₂, which in turn is fully reduced to water by the action of GPx, at the expenses of the oxidation of GSH to its disulfide form (GSSG). GSH is maintained in its reduced form by the action of the enzyme GRd, at the expenses of NADPH, which is then oxidized to NADP+ [47-49]. Xenobiotics might unbalance the oxidant-antioxidant ratio, condition known as oxidative stress, by augmenting ROS generation and/or depleting the antioxidant defense system.

Oxidative stress and unbalance of the redox status play a key role in CP-induced nephrotoxicity [50, 51]. One possible explanation for the oxidative stress induced by CP is the direct inhibition of the individual complexes I, II, III, and IV embedded in the inner mitochondrial membrane, leading to the inhibition of electron transport along the respiratory chain [52, 53]. This electron flow blockade favors the leak of electrons mainly from Complexes I, II, and III of the respiratory chain, and therefore, the formation of ROS via the partial reduction of oxygen to superoxide anion $(O_2^{-\bullet})$, which originates hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) in a reaction catalyzed by SOD. The hydrogen peroxide can be fully reduced to water or instead originate the highly reactive and most toxic oxidant species, hydroxyl radical (OH⁺), which damages

macromolecules such as lipids, proteins, and DNA. The formation of OH' from H₂O₂ is catalyzed by transition metals, mainly iron salts, via Fenton/Haber-Weiss reaction [47, 54, 55, 149]. The formation of OH[•] and its involvement in the toxic effects of CP have been indirectly demonstrated in rat kidney mitochondria via the administration of dimethylthiourea (DMTU), a scavenger of OH[•]. The oxidative damage to macromolecules induced by CP in kidney has also been demonstrated. There is evidence of CP-induced lipid peroxidation, an important marker of oxidative damage and moreover, oxidation of cardiolipin, an anionic phospholipid present almost exclusively in the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM), to which it confers stability and fluidity [50]. Cardiolipin plays important structural functions in the IMM such as (1) holding together the components of the respiratory chain, especially Complexes III and IV; (2) interacting with adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT); and (3) anchoring cytochrome c, a pro-apoptotic factor. Therefore, the oxidation of cardiolipin has been associated (1) with mitochondrial dysfunction as a result of impaired oxidative phosphorylation, increased rigidity of the IMM and decreased ANT activity as well as (2) with apoptotic cell death as a consequence of permeability transition pores (PTP) opening and cytochrome c release to cytosol [51, 56–61, 150]. Mitochondrial ROS induced by CP has also been demonstrated to oxidize the sulfhydryl groups of mitochondrial proteins and enzymes as well as the [4Fe-4S]⁺² cluster of the enzyme aconitase, which participates in the citric acid cycle and therefore, is essential for ATP production and renal cell viability [51]. The oxidation of aconitase leads to Fe⁺² release and favors the Fenton/Waber-Heiss reation, leading to OH' formation and amplification of the oxidative damage [146]. The oxidation of sulfhydryl proteins has been associated with Ca⁺²-induced PTP opening and apoptosis [62–64]. Cisplatin-induced apoptosis has been demonstrated in renal tissue of rats by the increased activity of the final executioner caspase-3 [51].

Besides favoring electrons leak and ROS formation, CP also depletes the mitochondrial antioxidant defense system, both as a consequence of the increased ROS formation itself and by a direct inhibition of the mitochondrial antioxidant enzymes, including SOD, glutathione peroxidase, and glutathione reductase, as well as the renal glucose-6-phosphatase (non-mitochondrial) responsible for the conversion of NADP⁺ back to NADPH [32, 44, 65–67]. The formation of a conjugate CP-GSH [2], could also account for the mitochondrial GSH depletion and eventually for the alteration of the redox status in kidney mitochondria. The main effects of CP on the mitochondrial antioxidant defense system are depicted in Fig. 20.1.

20.6 Antioxidants as Protective Agents During Cisplatin Chemotherapy

The denomination "antioxidants" refers to a large variety of natural and synthetic compounds, which, by means of distinct mechanisms, are able to detoxify or inhibit the formation of ROS and therefore, prevent the oxidative damage to cell constituents.



Fig. 20.1 Mitochondrial targets of cisplatin and antioxidants. Cisplatin (CIS) undergoes intracellular hydrolysis, with the formation of electrophilic aquated compounds (CIS aq), which probably cause the following sequential events: direct inhibition of electron transport through complexes I, II, III, and IV; electrons leak (mainly from Complexes I, II, and III); partial reduction of oxygen to superoxide anion radical (O_2^{--}), which is converted by SOD to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), which, in turn, might originate the most toxic oxidant species, hydroxyl radicals (OH), via iron catalyzed reaction (Fenton/Haber-Weiss reaction). The oxidative damage caused by these oxygen species leads to structural damage to the inner membrane, PTP opening, and cytochrome c release. On the other hand, antioxidants are able to counteract most of these alterations acting on distinct targets: *thiols*: prevent the absorption of CP by the renal cells, form inactive compounds with aquated CP, replenish the stores of sulfhydryl groups, scavenge free radicals; *iron chelators*: prevent the formation of OH by sequestering iron; *hydroxyl radical scavengers*: sequester the OH formed, preventing the oxidative damage

Antioxidants have been proposed as adjuvant agents in chemotherapy in order to increase the therapeutic index of anticancer agents. Ideally, the antioxidant should (1) be able to selectively counteract the toxic effects on healthy tissues; (2) not to decrease the antitumor effect and (3) not presenting themselves any pro-oxidative effect or other serious side effects. As a consequence, the adjuvant therapy with antioxidants would increase the efficacy of the chemotherapeutic agent by minimizing its toxicity on normal cells and therefore enabling dose escalation. Additionally, tumor resistance and unresponsiveness related to small cell lung cancer, ovarian cancer, colon, and bladder cancer [34, 68] might be overcome if higher doses could be applied safely.

In general, the mechanism of action of the chemotherapeutic agent is a factor that determines whether or not the antioxidant therapy will interfere in the antitumor effect. When generation of ROS is involved in the antineoplastic action, the antioxidant therapy might impair the antitumor efficiency. On the other hand, if the anticancer activity does not depend or depends in very low proportion on the formation of ROS and if this event is crucial for the adverse effects on healthy tissues, then the antioxidant therapy might be useful [45, 69]. In the specific case of CP, antioxidants are not expected to decrease its effectiveness, since distinct mechanisms seem to be involved. The anticancer activity of CP has been attributed mainly to the formation of ciplatin-DNA adducts, which occurs after the uptake of the drug into the nucleus of cells, and which can cause various cellular responses, culminating in apoptosis [34]. The rapidly dividing cells of tumors are supposedly more susceptible than the normal cells to the distortion of DNA duplex and all of its implications on cell cycle. Such differences in susceptibility might confer to this mechanism certain level of selectivity towards tumor cells. On the other hand, several lines of evidence suggest that ROS, mainly generated in mitochondria, play a central role in CP-induced renal injury [37, 44, 70]. If each mechanism really determines each event, namely the anticancer activity and the nephrotoxicity, then the antioxidant therapy might be a promising strategy to counteract this adverse effect of CP. Many natural and synthetic antioxidants have been studied as possible candidates to protect against CP-induced nephrotoxicity. Some of the most common ones are discussed in this chapter, grouped according to their origin or mechanism of action. The mitochondrial targets of these antioxidants are depicted in Fig. 20.1.

20.6.1 Dietary Antioxidants

The protective effects of compounds such as selenium, some vitamins, and some flavonoids have been studied (Table 20.1).

Vitamin C and vitamin E have antioxidant properties and their protective role against the renal damage caused by CP in animal models, mainly rats and mice, have been reported [71, 74, 90]. Vitamin E scavenges peroxyl radicals and interrupts the chain reactions involved in lipid peroxidation; while vitamin C scavenges superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radical, hypochlorous acid, aqueous peroxyl radicals, and singlet oxygen [91, 93]. Experimental studies suggest that the combination of both vitamins, C and E, leads to a better protection against the renal damage than the isolated administration of each one [71, 75]. It seems to happen because of a regeneration process in which the tocopherol radical, formed during the trap of peroxyl radicals by vitamin E, is scavenged by vitamin C, resulting in the regeneration of vitamin E [91]. The protective role of vitamin A against CP-induced oxidative damage in rat kidney has also been demonstrated [76].

Besides the antioxidant effect, vitamins may also be pro-oxidants, which could exacerbate the oxidative stress induced by CP on healthy tissues. Vitamin C induces free radical production when coupled with a transition metal and some in vitro studies

Antioxidants	Experimental model	Effect	References
Vit C/Vit E			
	Rats	Protection	[65, 71–73]
	Mice	Protection	[74]
	Guinea pig	Protection	[75]
	Rats	Pro-oxidant	[<mark>66</mark>]
Vitamin A	Rats	Protection	[76]
Selenium			
(+ vit C+vit E)	Humans	No protection	[77]
	Rats	Partial protection	[78]
(+ vit E)	Rats	Protection	[79]
	Rats	Partial protection	[80]
	Rats	No protection	[81]
	Human	Protection	[82]
	Rats/mice	Protection	[83]
Flavonoids			
Licochalcone A	Mice	Protection	[84]
Quercetin	Rats	Protection	[85, 86]
Quercetin	Mice	Increased toxicity	[87]
Silibinin	Rats	Protection	[88, 89]

 Table 20.1 Dietary antioxidants evaluated as possible protector agents against

 CP-induced nephrotoxicity

Protection refers to cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity; vit vitamin

have shown that vitamin C increases the cytotoxic effects of CP [92–95]. Vitamin E might also exert pro-oxidant effects, depending on the concentration, the time of administration, reaction conditions, and available substrates; it has been shown that vitamin E-mediated pro-oxidation can be interrupted by vitamin C [91, 93]. It has also been shown that vitamin A [96] increases CP cytotoxicity.

Supplementation with selenium (Se) is supposed to increase the activity of the Se-dependent glutathione peroxidase enzyme and, therefore, to protect against oxidative stress. Partial protection against CP-induced nephrotoxicity has been observed in rats [78–80] and it seems that the association of Se with vitamin E enhances the protection [82]. Studies in humans are less frequent and the effectiveness of dietary antioxidants against CP toxicities, including nephrotoxicity, remains unclear. A study performed with 41 patients demonstrated the protective role of selenium against nephrotoxicity [82]. On the other hand, another study in humans demonstrated that supplementation with combined antioxidant micronutrients (vitamin C, vitamin E, and selenium) was ineffective [77]. Such unsuccessful outcomes related to dietary supplementation in humans have been mainly attributed to inadequate dosage and patients' noncompliance [77, 93].

Flavonoids are a group of naturally occurring phenolic compounds, which have antioxidant properties, being able to chelate iron and scavenge free-radicals such as hydroxyl, superoxide, peroxyl, and alkoxyl [97]. Additionally, in vitro studies have shown that dietary phytochemicals have antiproliferative activity against several types of cancer [98, 99]. The flavonoid quercetin, for instance, has been shown to

Antioxidants	Experimental model	Effect on kidney	References
DMTU	NRK52E cells, rats	Protection	[100]
	Rabbits, *RTE cells	Protection	[101]
	Rats	Protection	[50]
DMSO	Rats	Protection	[102]
Edaravone	Rats	Partial protection	[103]
	Rats, murine proximal tubular cell (PTC)	Protection	[104]
	Rats	Protection	[105]

 Table 20.2
 Free radical scavengers evaluated as possible protector agents against CP-induced nephrotoxicity

*RTE cells, renal tubular epithelial cells

(1) protect against the nephrotoxicity induced by CP, by preventing the oxidative stress in rat kidneys [85, 86], and to (2) enhance the chemoresponse to CP in human lung cancer [99] and in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma [151]. This synergistic action of quercetin (or other phytochemicals) and CP might potentiate the anticancer activity of lower doses of CP and therefore indirectly contribute to reduce the toxicities induced by CP chemotherapy. However, data are conflicting. Although confirming the augmentation of the antiproliferative activity of CP by quercetin, a study also reports the higher toxicity in animals treated with both CP and quercetin, as compared to those treated with CP alone [87]. Another flavonoid, silibinin, has been demonstrated to protect against CP-induced nephrotoxicity in rats, without interfering with the antitumor activity in human testicular cancer cell lines [88, 89].

20.6.2 Free Radical Scavengers

DMTU, DMSO, and edaravone are free radical scavengers, which have been studied as possible renal cytoprotectors during CP chemotherapy (Table 20.2). Dimethylthiourea (DMTU) is a classical hydroxyl radical scavenger whose beneficial effect against CP-induced nephrotoxicity has been demonstrated both in vivo and in vitro. [50, 100, 101]. Besides scavenging hydroxyl radicals, DMTU is also a potent sulfhydryl donor and it has been reported to enhance renal GSH metabolism, which might contribute to its cytoprotective activity [106]. It has been suggested that DMTU does not interact with CP to form an adducted compound [100], which could limit the access of the drug to the tumor cells and consequently decrease its anticancer activity. Despite that, studies on tumor-bearing animals are necessary to determine whether or not DMTU affects the antineoplastic efficacy of CP. Although DMTU is the least toxic compound among the alkylthioureas [107], its use in humans should be carefully investigated, since there are reports of toxicity in rats; however, these effects, namely fetotoxicity and lung damage, seem only to occur at high doses [108, 152, 153]. Another aspect to consider is that the metabolism of DMTU in vivo has not been characterized and studies in vitro have shown that thioureas are oxidized to their corresponding S-oxides, which seem to be more toxic than the parent compounds [108, 109, 152]. Therefore, further investigations on DMTU metabolism and on the effects of the derived metabolites should be conducted in order to safely propose its clinical application. However, considering the effectiveness of DMTU in inhibiting renal mitochondrial damage and protecting against CP-induced nephrotoxicity, it has been proposed as a model for the development of novel antioxidants for clinical application [50]. Similar to DMTU, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) is a sulfur-containing compound with hydroxyl radical scavenging activity whose protective effect against CP-induced nephrotoxicity has also been reported [102]. The same study also reported that DMSO did not decrease the antitumor activity of CP against the Walker 256 carcinosarcoma in rats. Different from DMTU, DMSO has been suggested to be a cell differentiating agent with some antitumor activity, and because of that a synergistic action with CP has been proposed [110]. A recent study has demonstrated that, if combined before administration, CP and DMSO react rapidly forming an adducted compound that differs significantly from CP in terms of therapeutic and biological characteristics [111]. Therefore, even though the formation of CP-DMSO adduct might not occur in vivo it should be further investigated.

Edaravone (3-methyl-1-phenyl-pyrazolin-5-one; MCI 186) is a free radical scavenger, which has been used for neuroprotection in the treatment of acute cerebral infarction in Japan [112]. It has been demonstrated to be a potent scavenger of hydroxyl and peroxyl radicals, being also able to react with alkoxyl radicals [113–115]. The protection of edaravone against CP-induced nephrotoxicity has been demonstrated in vivo (rats) and in vitro [103-105]. The pointed advantages of edaravone are (1) the fact that it has already been used in clinical practice mostly without serious side effects at the currently applied doses [103]; (2) it is lipophilic and, therefore, readily accessible to tissues [104]; and (3) it preferentially accumulates in the kidneys [116]. This accumulation in the kidneys is desirable because it presumably confers some selectivity towards the healthy tissue and favors the nephroprotection; however, it also seems to be related to some cases of renal disorders in patients treated with edaravone, reported by Hishida [117]. Another problem related to edaravone is that the protection against CP-induced renal damage seems to be incomplete [113] and to occur only at higher doses as compared to those clinically tolerable (1.5 mg/kg) [103]. In fact, the three cited studies [103–105] report significant effects of edaravone only at doses above 3.0 mg/kg. Concerning the anticancer activity of CP, a study performed in AH-130 cells inoculated in the peritoneal cavity of rats showed that administration of edaravone did not cause any interference [105].

20.6.3 Thiol-Containing Compounds

Several experimental studies [118–122, 154] have demonstrated the protective effects of thiols against CP-induced nephrotoxicity (Table 20.3). The proposed mechanisms of their protective effects include the following: (1) reloading of the intracellular

Antioxidants	Experimental model	Effect on nephrotoxicity	References		
NAC	Rats	Protection	[118, 121, 123]		
NAC	Humans	Reversal	[124, 125]		
NAC+cysteine+ STS+methionine	Renal epithelial cell lines $(S_1, S_3 \text{ and } DCT)$	Protection	[120]		
STS	Guinea pigs	Protection	[154]		
STS	Rat	Protection	[122]		
STS	Humans (Phase II trial)	Protection	[126]		
Lipoic acid	Rats	Protection	[44]		
Amifostine	Humans	Protection	[127, 128]		
Amifostine	Mice	Protection	[129]		
Amifostine	Humans	No-protection	[130–132]		

 Table 20.3
 Thiol-containing compounds evaluated as possible protector agents against CP-induced nephrotoxicity

NAC N-acetylcysteine, STS sodium thiosulphate

stores of sulfhydryl groups, with consequent restoration of thiol-containing enzymes function; (2) free radical scavenging activity; (3) formation of non-toxic compounds; (4) reduction of CP uptake by renal tubular cells; and (5) increase of the urinary excretion of CP [118, 120, 121, 123-125]. N-acetylcysteine (NAC) is a precursor of GSH, which has been used in clinical practice to treat acetaminophen overdose patients and for the prevention of contrast-induced nephropathy. The route of NAC administration seems to affect its renal protective effect; it has been suggested that, because NAC is highly metabolized in liver, both intravenous and intra-arterial routes are more effective as compared to intraperitoneal and oral routes [118]. Besides the preventive effect, it has also been suggested that NAC might be able to reverse CP-induced renal damage, and such beneficial effect might be related to the establishment of a reduced intracellular environment, which favors the processes of repair [124, 125]. On the other hand, a study reports that post-treatment with sodium thiosulphate (STS) showed no protection against CP-induced renal damage in rats [119]. Some strategies such as two-route administration have been proposed in order to administer CP and thiols simultaneously without compromising the antitumor effect of CP. A Phase II clinical trial in which STS was administered intravenously and CP was administered by the intra peritoneal route has been reported and results indicated the protection against renal toxicity [126].

The FDA-approved thiol amifostine is a prodrug that is dephosphorylated by a membrane-bound alkaline phosphatase to the active metabolite WR-1065, which is a free sulfhydryl compound. Because of the higher expression of alkaline phosphatase in normal cells, the decreased vascularity of tumors, and the pH dependence of WR-1065 uptake (pH is neutral in normal tissues and slightly acidic in tumors), amifostine is supposed to selectively protect normal tissues against CP toxicities, without affecting the antitumor effect. The suggested mechanisms of protection include (1) hydrogen donation by the thiol group and (2) nucleophilic attack to the charged molecule of CP with consequent inactivation [14, 24, 41, 133–135]. However, reports on amifostine efficacy are somewhat conflicting; while most studies indicate it reduces

CP renal toxicity [127–129], some indicate it does not [130–132]. Besides that, amifostine-induced side effects, especially transient hypotension, might be severe, and there is a reported case of death, which was attributed to amifostine [69].

20.6.4 Iron Chelators

Iron plays a crucial role in the generation of the highly reactive species, hydroxyl radicals, which are probably involved in CP-induced renal toxicity [50], therefore chelating of iron has been suggested as a protection mechanism [136]. Deferrioxamine (DFO) is an iron chelating agent already used in clinical practice for iron poisoning and iron-loading anemias, such as thalassemia, which has been reported to prevent CP-induced nephrotoxicity [32, 137, 138] however, an experimental study suggests that DFO aggravates cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity [139]. Additionally, an important limitation factor of DFO therapy is that it has been associated with ototoxicity and high-frequency hearing loss. It has been suggested that the ototoxicity induced by DFO is dose dependent and might be related to individual susceptibility; therefore, audiometric monitoring and low dosages of DFO (below 50 mg/kg/day) have been recommended [140, 141]. The effect of DFO on CP antitumor activity was investigated in rats inoculated subcutaneously with squamous carcinoma cells (SCC-131) and in LLC-WRC 256 tumor cells line. According to both studies, DFO did not affect the antitumor activity of CP [142, 143].

20.7 Conclusions

The nephrotoxicity induced by cisplatin has been challenging physicians for decades. An extensive number of different antioxidants have been shown to be effective against CP-induced nephrotoxicity; however, there are still some concerns about the impairment of the antitumor activity of CP. Studies on the interference of antioxidants in the antitumor effect of CP are still a few, but results are encouraging. As soon as research advances and the remaining doubts fade out, the gap between the promising results from the experimental studies and the clinical application of the antioxidant protective therapy might be overcome.

References

- Cvitkovic E (1998) Cumulative toxicities from cisplatin therapy and current cytoprotective measures. Cancer Treat Rev 24:265–281
- Hanigan MH, Devarajan P (2003) Cisplatin nephrotoxicity: molecular mechanisms. Cancer Ther 1:47–61
- 3. Kintzel PE (2001) Anticancer drug-induced kidney disorders. Drug Saf 24:19-38
- Taguchi T, Nazneen A, Abid MR, Razzaque MS (2005) Cisplatin-associated nephrotoxicity and pathological events. Contrib Nephrol 148:107–121

- Bajorin DF, Bosl GJ, Alcock NW, Niedzwiecki D, Gallina E, Shurgot B (1986) Pharmacokinetics of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) after administration in hypertonic saline. Cancer Res 46:5969–5972
- Kuhlmann MK, Burkhardt G, Kohler H (1997) Insights into potential cellular mechanisms of cisplatin nephrotoxicity and their clinical application. Nephrol Dial Transplant 12:2478–2480
- Litterst CL, Torres IJ, Guarino AM (1977) Plasma levels and organ distribution of platinum in the rat, dog, and dog fish following intravenous administration of cis-DDP (II). J Clin Hematol Oncol 7:169
- 8. Rosenberg B (1985) Fundamental studies with cisplatin. Cancer 55:2303-2316
- 9. Safirstein R, Miller P, Guttenplan JB (1984) Uptake and metabolism of cisplatin by rat kidney. Kidney Int 25:753
- Go RS, Adjei AA (1999) Review of the comparative pharmacology and clinical activity of cisplatin and carboplatin. J Clin Oncol 17:409–422
- Reece PA, Stafford I, Russell J, Khan M, Gill PG (1987) Creatinine clearance as a predictor of ultrafilterable platinum disposition in cancer patients treated with cisplatin: relationship between peak ultrafilterable platinum plasma levels and nephrotoxicity. J Clin Oncol 5:304–309
- 12. Goldstein RS (1993) Biochemical heterogeneity and site-specific tubular injury. In: Hook JB, Goldstein RS (eds) Toxicology of the kidney. Raven, New York, NY
- 13. Kröning R, Katz D, Lichtenstein AK, Nagami GT (1999) Differential effects of cisplatin in proximal and distal renal tubule epithelial cell lines. Br J Cancer 79:293–299
- Santoso JT, Lucci JA 3rd, Coleman RL, Schafer I, Hannigan EV (2003) Saline, mannitol, and furosemide hydration in acute cisplatin nephrotoxicity: a randomized trial. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 52:13–18
- Servais H, Ortiz A, Devuyst O, Denamur S, Tulkens PM, Mingeot-Leclercq MP (2008) Renal cell apoptosis induced by nephrotoxic drugs: cellular and molecular mechanisms and potential approaches to modulation. Apoptosis 13:11–32
- 16. Tisher CA (1981) Anatomy of the kidney. In: Rectors B (ed) The kidney. Saunders, Philadelphia, PA
- 17. Arany I, Safirstein RL (2003) Cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Semin Nephrol 23:460-464
- Ciarimboli G, Ludwig T, Lang D, Pavenstadt H, Koepsell H, Piechota HJ, Haier J, Jaehde U, Zisowsky J, Schlatter E (2005) Cisplatin nephrotoxicity is critically mediated via the human organic cation transporter 2. Am J Pathol 167:1477–1478
- Cornelison TL, Reed E (1993) Nephrotoxicity and hydration management for cisplatin, carboplatin, and ormaplatin. Gynecol Oncol 50:147–158
- Filipski KK, Loos WJ, Verweij J, Sparreboom A (2008) Interaction of Cisplatin with the human organic cation transporter 2. Clin Cancer Res 14:3875–3880
- Ishida S, Lee J, Thiele DJ, Herskowitz I (2002) Uptake of the anticancer drug cisplatin mediated by the copper transporter Ctr1 in yeast and mammals. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:14298–14302
- 22. Kuo YM, Gybina AA, Pyatskowit JW, Gitschier J, Prohaska JR (2006) Copper transport protein (Ctr1) levels in mice are tissue specific and dependent on copper status. J Nutr 136:21–26
- 23. Pinto AL, Lippard SL (1985) Binding of the antitumour drug cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) (cisplatin) to DNA. Biochim Biophys Acta 780:167–180
- 24. Barabas K, Milner R, Lurie D, Adin C (2008) Cisplatin: a review of toxicities and therapeutic applications. Vet Comp Oncol 6:1–18
- 25. Bonegio R, Lieberthal W (2005) Cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. In: Tarloff JB, Lash LH (eds) Toxicology of the kidney, 3rd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- 26. Jiang M, Dong Z (2008) Regulation and pathological role of p53 in cisplatin nephrotoxicity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 327:300–307
- 27. Meyer KB, Madias NE (1994) Cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Miner Electrolyte Metab 20:201-213
- Boulikas T, Vougiouka M (2003) Cisplatin and platinum drugs at the molecular level. Oncol Rep 10:1663
- Cohen SM, Lippard SJ (2001) Cisplatin: from DNA damage to cancer chemotherapy prog. Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 67:93–130

- 30. Eastman A (1999) The mechanism of action of cisplatin: from adducts to apoptosis. In: Lippert B (ed) Cisplatin: chemistry and biochemistry of a leading anticancer drug, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York, NY
- Galea AM, Murray V (2002) The interaction of cisplatin and analogues with DNA in reconstituted chromatin. Biochim Biophys Acta 1579:142
- 32. Kadikoylu G, Bolaman Z, Demir S, Balkaya M, Akalin N, Enli Y (2004) The effects of desferrioxamine on cisplatin-induced lipid peroxidation and the activities of antioxidant enzymes in rat kidneys. Hum Exp Toxicol 23:29–34
- Sherman SE, Lippard SJ (1987) Structural aspects of platinum anticancer drug interactions with DNA. Chem Rev 87:1153–1181
- Wang D, Lippard SJ (2005) Cellular processing of platinum anticancer drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:307–320
- Zwelling LA, Kohn LW (1979) Mechanism of action of cisdiammineplatinium-II. Cancer Treat Rep 63:1439
- Winston JA, Safirstein R (1985) Reduced renal blood flow in early cisplatin-induced acute renal failure in the rat. Am J Physiol 249:F490–F496
- Chang B, Nishikawa M, Sato E, Utsumi K, Inoue M (2002) L-Carnitine inhibits cisplatininduced injury of the kidney and small intestine. Arch Biochem Biophys 405:55–64
- Lash LH, Jones DP (1996) Mitochondrial toxicity in renal injury. In: Zalups RK, Lash LH (eds) Methods in renal toxicology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- Li-Ping X, Skrezek C, Wand H, Reibe F (2000) Mitochondrial dysfunction at the early estage of cisplatin-induced acute renal failure in rats. J Zhejiang Univ Sci 1:91–96
- Walker EM Jr, Gale GR (1981) Methods of reduction of cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Ann Clin Lab Sci 11(5):397–410
- 41. Ali BH, Al Moundhri MS (2006) Agents ameliorating or augmenting the nephrotoxicity of cisplatin and other platinum compounds: a review of some recent research. Food Chem Toxicol 44:1173–1183
- 42. Hartmann JT, Kollmannsberger C, Kanz L, Bokemeyer C (1999) Platinum organ toxicity and possible prevention in patients with testicular cancer. Int J Cancer 83:866–869
- 43. Razzaque MS (2007) Cisplatin nephropathy: is cytotoxicity avoidable? Nephrol Dial Transplant 22:2112–2116
- 44. Somani SM, Husain K, Whitworth C, Trammell GL, Malafa M, Rybak LP (2000) Dosedependent protection by lipoic acid against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats: antioxidant defense system. Pharmacol Toxicol 86:234–241
- 45. Conklin KA (2004) Chemotherapy-associated oxidative stress: impact on chemotherapeutic effectiveness. Integr Cancer Ther 3:294–300
- Fariss MW, Chan CB, Patel M, Van Houten B, Orrenius S (2005) Role of mitochondria in toxic oxidative stress. Mol Interv 5:94–111
- 47. Droge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 82:47-95
- 48. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (2007) Free radicals in biology and medicine, 4th edn. Clarendon, Oxford
- Kowaltowski AJ, Vercesi AE (1999) Mitochondrial damage induced by conditions of oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 26:463–471
- 50. Santos NA, Bezerra CS, Martins NM, Curti C, Bianchi ML, Santos AC (2008) Hydroxyl radical scavenger ameliorates cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity by preventing oxidative stress, redox state unbalance, impairment of energetic metabolism and apoptosis in rat kidney mitochondria. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 61:145–155
- 51. Santos NA, Catao CS, Martins NM, Curti C, Bianchi ML, Santos AC (2007) Cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity is associated with oxidative stress, redox state unbalance, impairment of energetic metabolism and apoptosis in rat kidney mitochondria. Arch Toxicol 81:495–504
- Gerschenson M, Paik CY, Gaukler EL, Diwan BA, Poirier MC (2001) Cisplatin exposure induces mitochondrial toxicity in pregnant rats and their fetuses. Reprod Toxicol 15:525–531
- 53. Kruidering M, De Water BV, De Heer E, Mulder GJ, Nagelkerke JF (1997) Cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in porcine proximal tubular cells: mitochondrial dysfunction by inhibition of complexes I to IV of the respiratory chain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 280:638–649

- Baliga R, Ueda N, Walker PD, Shah SV (1999) Oxidant mechanisms in toxic acute renal failure. Drug Metab Rev 31:971–997
- 55. Koyner JL, Sher Ali R, Murray PT (2008) Antioxidants. Do they have a place in the prevention or therapy of acute kidney injury? Nephron Exp Nephrol 109:e109–e117
- 56. Brustovetsky N, Klingenberg M (1996) Mitochondrial ADP/ATP carrier can be reversibly converted into a large channel by Ca²⁺. Biochemistry 35:8483–8488
- Hauff KD, Hatch GM (2006) Cardiolipin metabolism and Barth syndrome. Prog Lipid Res 45:91–101
- 58. Kagan VE, Tyurina YY, Bayir H, Chu CT, Kapralov AA, Vlasova II, Belikova NA, Tyurin VA, Amoscato A, Epperly M, Greenberger J, Dekosky S, Shvedova AA, Jiang J (2006) The "pro-apoptotic genies" get out of mitochondria: Oxidative lipidomics and redox activity of cytochrome c/cardiolipin complexes. Chem Biol Interact 163:15–28
- Petrosillo G, Ruggiero FM, Paradies G (2003) Role of reactive oxygen species and cardiolipin in the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria. FASEB J 17:2202–2208
- 60. Shidoji Y, Hayashi K, Komura S, Ohishi N, Yagi K (1999) Loss of molecular interaction between cytochrome c and cardiolipin due to lipid peroxidation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 264:343–347
- 61. Zhang M, Mileykovskaya E, Dowhan W (2002) Gluing the respiratory chain together. Cardiolipin is required for supercomplex formation in the inner mitochondrial membrane. J Biol Chem 277:43553–43556
- 62. Bowser DN, Petrou S, Panchal RG, Smart ML, Williams DA (2002) Release of mitochondrial Ca⁺² via the permeability transition activates endoplasmic reticulum Ca⁺² uptake. FASEB J 16:1105–1107
- Loeffler M, Kroemer G (2000) The mitochondrion in cell death control: certainties and incognita. Exp Cell Res 256:19–26
- Zhang JG, Lindup WE (1996) Role of calcium in cisplatin-induced cell toxicity in rat renal cortical slices. Toxicol In Vitro 10:205–209
- 65. Greggi Antunes LM, Darin JD, Bianchi MD (2000) Protective effects of vitamin C against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity and lipid peroxidation in adult rats: a dose-dependent study. Pharmacol Res 41:405–411
- 66. Hannemann J, Duwe J, Baumann K (1991) Iron and ascorbic acid-induced lipid peroxidation in renal microsomes isolated from rats treated with platinum compounds. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 28:427–433
- Sadzuka Y, Shoji T, Takino Y (1992) Mechanism of the increase in lipid peroxide induced by cisplatin in the kidneys of rats. Toxicol Lett 62:293–300
- 68. de Graaf TW, de Jong S, de Vries EG, Mulder NH (1997) Expression of proteins correlated with the unique cisplatin-sensitivity of testicular cancer. Anticancer Res 17:369–375
- Weijl NI, Cleton FJ, Osanto S (1997) Free radicals and antioxidants in chemotherapy-induced toxicity. Cancer Treat Rev 23:209–240
- Matsushima H, Yonemura K, Ohishi K, Hishida A (1998) The role of oxygen free radicals in cisplatin-induced acute renal failure in rats. J Lab Clin Med 131:518–526
- Appenroth D, Fröb S, Kersten L, Splinter FK, Winnefeld K (1997) Protective effects of vitamin E and C on cisplatin nephrotoxicity in developing rats. Arch Toxicol 71:677–683
- 72. Fatima S, Arivarasu NA, Mahmood R (2007) Vitamin C attenuates cisplatin-induced alterations in renal brush border membrane enzymes and phosphate transport. Hum Exp Toxicol 26:419–426
- Tarladacalisir YT, Kanter M, Uygun M (2008) Protective effects of vitamin C on cisplatininduced renal damage: a light and electron microscopic study. Ren Fail 30:1–8
- 74. Ajith TA, Usha S, Nivitha V (2007) Ascorbic acid and alpha-tocopherol protect anticancer drug cisplatin induced nephrotoxicity in mice: a comparative study. Clin Chim Acta 375:82–86
- 75. Durak I, Ozbek H, Karaayvaz M, Oztürk HS (2002) Cisplatin induces acute renal failure by impairing antioxidant system in guinea pigs: effects of antioxidant supplementation on the cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Drug Chem Toxicol 25:1–8
- 76. Dillioglugil MO, Maral Kir H, Gulkac MD, Ozon Kanli A, Ozdogan HK, Acar O, Dillioglugil O (2005) Protective effects of increasing vitamin E and A doses on cisplatin-induced oxidative damage to kidney tissue in rats. Urol Int 75:340–344

- 77. Weijl NI, Elsendoorn TJ, Lentjes EG, Hopman GD, Wipkink-Bakker A, Zwinderman AH, Cleton FJ, Osanto S (2004) Supplementation with antioxidant micronutrients and chemotherapyinduced toxicity in cancer patients treated with cisplatin-based chemotherapy: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Eur J Cancer 40:1713–1723
- Fujieda M, Naruse K, Hamauzu T, Miyazaki E, Hayashi Y, Enomoto R, Lee E, Ohta K, Wakiguchi H, Enzan H (2006) Effect of selenium on Cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Nephron Exp Nephrol 104:112–122
- Naziroglu M, Karaoğlu A, Aksoy AO (2004) Selenium and high dose vitamin E administration protects cisplatin-induced oxidative damage to renal, liver and lens tissues in rats. Toxicology 195:221–230
- Camargo SM, Francescato HD, Lavrador MA, Bianchi ML (2001) Oral administration of sodium selenite minimizes cisplatin toxicity on proximal tubules of rats. Biol Trace Elem Res 83:251–262
- Antunes LM, Darin JD, Bianchi NL (2001) Effects of the antioxidants curcumin or selenium on cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity and lipid peroxidation in rats. Pharmacol Res 43:145–150
- 82. Hu YJ, Chen Y, Zhang YQ, Zhou MZ, Song XM, Zhang BZ, Luo L, Xu PM, Zhao YN, Zhao YB, Cheng G (1997) The protective role of selenium on the toxicity of cisplatin-contained chemotherapy regimen in cancer patients. Biol Trace Elem Res 56:331–341
- Vermeulen NP, Baldew GS, Los G, McVie JG, De Goeij JJ (1993) Reduction of cisplatin nephrotoxicity by sodium selenite. Lack of interaction at the pharmacokinetic level of both compounds. Drug Metab Dispos 21:30–36
- 84. Lee CK, Son SH, Park KK, Park JH, Lim SS, Kim SH, Chung WY (2008) Licochalcone A inhibits the growth of colon carcinoma and attenuates cisplatin-induced toxicity without a loss of chemotherapeutic efficacy in mice. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 103:48–54
- 85. Behling EB, Sendão MC, Francescato HD, Antunes LM, Costa RS, Bianchi ML (2006) Comparative study of multiple dosage of quercetin against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity and oxidative stress in rat kidneys. Pharmacol Rep 58:526–532
- Francescato HD, Coimbra TM, Costa RS, Bianchi ML (2004) Protective effect of quercetin on the evolution of cisplatin-induced acute tubular necrosis. Kidney Blood Press Res 27:148–158
- Hofmann J, Fiebig HH, Winterhalter BR, Berger DP, Grunicke H (1990) Enhancement of the antiproliferative activity of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) by quercetin. Int J Cancer 45:536–539
- Bokemeyer C, Fels LM, Dunn T, Voigt W, Gaedeke J, Schmoll HJ, Stolte H, Lentzen H (1996) Silibinin protects against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity without compromising cisplatin or ifosfamide anti-tumour activity. Br J Cancer 74:2036–2041
- Gaedeke J, Fels LM, Bokemeyer C, Mengs U, Stolte H, Lentzen H (1996) Cisplatin nephrotoxicity and protection by silibinin. Nephrol Dial Transplant 11:55–62
- Antunes LMG, Darin JD, Bianchi MLP (2000) Protective effects of vitamin c against cisplatininduced nephrotoxicity and lipid peroxidation in adult rats: a dose-dependent study. Pharmacol Res 41:405–411
- Heinecke JW (2001) Is the emperor wearing clothes? Clinical trials of vitamin E and the LDL oxidation hypothesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:1261–1264
- 92. Ahn DU, Kim SM (1998) Effect of superoxide and superoxide-generating systems on the prooxidant effect of iron in oil emulsion and raw turkey homogenates. Poult Sci 77:1428–1435
- 93. Atasayar S, Gürer-Orhan H, Orhan H, Gürel B, Girgin G, Ozgüneş H (2009) Preventive effect of aminoguanidine compared to vitamin E and C on cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Exp Toxicol Pathol 61:23–32
- 94. De Martinis BS, Bianchi MD (2001) Effect of vitamin C supplementation against cisplatininduced toxicity and oxidative DNA damage in rats. Pharmacol Res 44:317–320
- 95. Kurbacher CM, Wagner U, Kolster B, Andreotti PE, Krebs D, Bruckner HW (1996) Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) improves the antineoplastic activity of doxorubicin, cisplatin, and paclitaxel in human breast carcinoma cells in vitro. Cancer Lett 103:183–189

- 96. Adwankar M, Banerji A, Ghosh S (1991) Differential response of retinoic acid pretreated human synovial sarcoma cell line to anticancer drugs. Tumori 77:391–394
- 97. Saija A, Scalese M, Lanza M, Marzullo D, Bonina F, Castelli F (1995) Flavonoids as antioxidant agents: importance of their interaction with biomembranes. Free Radic Biol Med 19:481–486
- 98. Ferry DR, Smith A, Malkhandi J, Fyfe DW, deTakats PG, Anderson D, Baker J, Kerr DJ (1996) Phase I clinical trial of the flavonoid quercetin: pharmacokinetics and evidence for in vivo tyrosine kinase inhibition. Clin Cancer Res 2:659–668
- Kuhar M, Sen S, Singh N (2006) Role of mitochondria in quercetin-enhanced chemotherapeutic response in human non-small cell lung carcinoma H-520 cells. Anticancer Res 26:1297–1303
- 100. Tsuruya K, Tokumoto M, Ninomiya T, Hirakawa M, Masutani K, Taniguchi M, Fukuda K, Kanai H, Hirakata H, Iida K (2003) Antioxidant ameliorates cisplatin-induced renal tubular cell death through inhibition of death receptor-mediated pathways. Am J Renal Physiol 285:F208–F218
- 101. Baek SM, Kwon CH, Kim JH, Jung JS, Kim YK (2003) Differencial roles of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radical in cisplatin-induced cell death in renal proximal tubular epithelial cells. J Lab Clin Med 142:178–186
- 102. Jones MM, Basinger MA, Field L, Holscher MA (1991) Coadministration of dimethyl sulfoxide reduces cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Anticancer Res 11:1939–1942
- 103. Sueishi K, Mishima K, Makino K, Itoh Y, Tsuruya K, Hirakata H, Oishi R (2002) Protection by a radical scavenger edaravone against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 451:203–208
- 104. Satoh M, Kashihara N, Fujimoto S, Horike H, Tokura T, Namikoshi T, Sasaki T, Makino H (2003) A novel free radical scavenger, edarabone, protects against cisplatin-induced acute renal damage in vitro and in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 305:1183–1190
- 105. Iguchi T, Nishikawa M, Chang B, Muroya O, Sato EF, Nakatani T, Inoue M (2004) Edaravone inhibits acute renal injury and cyst formation in cisplatin-treated rat kidney. Free Radic Res 38:333–341
- Milner LS, Wei SH, Houser MT (1993) Enhancement of renal and hepatic glutathione metabolism by dimethylthiourea. Toxicol Lett 66:117–123
- 107. Kim SG, Kim HJ, Yang CH (1999) Thioureas differentially induce rat hepatic microsomal epoxide hydrolase and rGSTA2 irrespective of their oxygen radical scavenging effect: effects on toxicant-induced liver injury. Chem Biol Interact 117:117–134
- 108. Beehler CJ, Ely ME, Rutledge KS, Simchuk ML, Reiss OK, Shanley PF, Repine JE (1994) Toxic effects of dimethylthiourea in rats. J Lab Clin Med 123:73–80
- Otoikhian A, Simoyi RH, Petersen JL (2005) Oxidation of a dimethylthiourea metabolite by iodine and acidified iodate: N, N'-dimethylaminoiminomethanesulfinic acid (1). Chem Res Toxicol 18:1167–1177
- Mickey DD, Carvalho L, Foulkes K (1989) Conventional chemotherapeutic agents combined with DMSO or DFMO in treatment of rat prostate carcinoma. Prostate 15:221–232
- 111. Fischer SJ, Benson LM, Fauq A, Naylor S, Windebank AJ (2008) Cisplatin and dimethyl sulfoxide react to form an adducted compound with reduced cytotoxicity and neurotoxicity. Neurotoxicology 29:444–452
- 112. Rao P, Maeda H, Yutong X, Yamamoto M, Hirose N, Sasaguri S (2005) Protective effect of a radical scavenger, MCI-186 on islet cell damages induced by oxidative stress. Transplant Proc 37:3457–3458
- 113. Dohi K, Satoh K, Mihara Y, Nakamura S, Miyake Y, Ohtaki H, Nakamachi T, Yoshikawa T, Shioda S, Aruga T (2006) Alkoxyl radical-scavenging activity of edaravone in patients with traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 23:1591–1599
- 114. Watanabe T, Yuki S, Egawa M, Nishi H (1994) Protective effects of MCI-186 on cerebral ischemia: possible involvement of free radical scavenging and antioxidant actions. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 268:15971604
- 115. Wu TW, Zeng LH, Wu J, Fung KP (2000) MCI-186: further histochemical and biochemical evidence of neuroprotection. Life Sci 67:2387–2392

- 116. Mizuno N, Takahashi T, Kusuhara H, Schuetz JD, Niwa T, Sugiyama Y (2007) Evaluation of the role of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) and multidrug resistance-associated protein 4 (MRP4/ABCC4) in the urinary excretion of sulfate and glucuronide metabolites of edaravone (MCI-186; 3-methyl-1-phenyl-2-pyrazolin-5-one). Drug Metab Dispos 35:2045–2052
- 117. Hishida A (2007) Clinical analysis of 207 patients who developed renal disorders during or after treatment with edaravone reported during post-marketing surveillance. Clin Exp Nephrol 11:292–296
- 118. Dickey DT, Muldoon LL, Doolittle ND, Peterson DR, Kraemer DF, Neuwelt EA (2008) Effect of *N*-acetylcysteine route of administration on chemoprotection against cisplatininduced toxicity in rat models. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 62:235–241
- 119. Dickey DT, Wu YJ, Muldoon LL, Neuwelt EA (2005) Protection against cisplatin-induced toxicities by *N*-acetylcysteine and sodium thiosulfate as assessed at the molecular, cellular, and in vivo levels. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 314:1052–1058
- 120. Kroning R, Lichtenstein AK, Nagami GT (2000) Sulfur-containing amino acids decrease cisplatin cytotoxicity and uptake in renal tubule epithelial cell lines. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 45:43–49
- 121. Luo J, Tsuji T, Yasuda H, Sun Y, Fujigaki Y, Hishida A (2008) The molecular mechanisms of the attenuation of cisplatin-induced acute renal failure by *N*-acetylcysteine in rats. Nephrol Dial Transplant 23:2198–2205
- 122. Nagai N, Hotta K, Yamamura H, Ogata H (1995) Effects of sodium thiosulfate on the pharmacokinetics of unchanged cisplatin and on the distribution of platinum species in rat kidney: protective mechanism against cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 36:404–410
- 123. Appenroth D, Winnefeld K, Schroter H, Rost M (1993) Beneficial effect of acetylcysteine on cisplatin nephrotoxicity in rats. J Appl Toxicol 13:189–192
- 124. Nisar S, Feinfeld DA (2002) *N*-acetylcysteine as salvage therapy in cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Ren Fail 24:529–533
- 125. Sheikh-Hamad D, Timmins K, Jalali Z (1997) Cisplatin-induced renal toxicity: possible reversal by *N*-acetylcysteine treatment. J Am Soc Nephrol 8:1640–1644
- 126. Guastalla JP, Vermorken JB, Wils JA, George M, Scotto V, Nooij M, ten Bokkel Huinnink WW, Dalesio O, Renard J (1994) Phase II trial for intraperitoneal cisplatin plus intravenous sodium thiosulphate in advanced ovarian carcinoma patients with minimal residual disease after cisplatin-based chemotherapy–a phase II study of the EORTC Gynaecological Cancer Cooperative Group. Eur J Cancer 30A:45–49
- 127. Kemp G, Rose P, Lurain J et al (1996) Amifostine pretreatment for protection against cyclophosphamide-induced and cisplatin-induced toxicities: results of a randomized control trial in patients with advanced ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol 14:2101–2112
- 128. Schiller JH, Storer B, Berlin J et al (1996) Amifostine, cisplatin, and vinblastine in metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: a report of high response rates and prolonged survival. J Clin Oncol 14:1913–1921
- 129. Asna N, Lewy H, Ashkenazi IE, Deutsch V, Peretz H, Inbar M, Ron IG (2005) Time dependent protection of amifostine from renal and hematopoietic cisplatin induced toxicity. Life Sci 76:1825–1834
- 130. Gradishar WJ, Stephenson P, Glover DJ, Neuberg DS, Moore MR, Windschitl HE, Piel I, Abeloff MD (2001) A Phase II trial of cisplatin plus WR-2721 (amifostine) for metastatic breast carcinoma: an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study (E8188). Cancer 92:2517–2522
- 131. Planting AS, Catimel G, de Mulder PH, de Graeff A, Hoppener F, Verweij J, Oster W, Vermorken JB (1999) Randomized study of a short course of weekly cisplatin with or without amifostine in advanced head and neck cancer. EORTC Head and Neck Cooperative Group. Ann Oncol 10:693–700
- 132. Sastry J, Kellie SJ (2005) Severe neurotoxicity, ototoxicity and nephrotoxicity following high-dose cisplatin and amifostine. Pediatr Hematol Oncol 22:441–445
- 133. Foster-Nora JA, Siden R (1997) Amifostine for protection from antineoplastic drug toxicity. Am J Health-Syst Pharm 54:787–800

- 134. Zhang J, Wang X, Lu H (2008) Amifostine increases cure rate of cisplatin on ascites hepatoma 22 via selectively protecting renal thioredoxin reductase. Cancer Lett 260:127–136
- 135. van der Vijgh WJ, Peters GJ (1994) Protection of normal tissues from the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapy and radiation by amifostine (Ethyol): preclinical aspects. Semin Oncol 21:2–7
- 136. Baliga R, Zhang Z, Baliga M, Ueda N, Shah SV (1998) In vitro and in vivo evidence suggesting a role for iron in cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. Kidney Int 53:394–401
- 137. Kameyama Y, Gemba M (1991) The iron chelator deferoxamine prevents cisplatin-induced lipid peroxidation in rat kidney cortical slices. Jpn J Pharmacol 57:259–262
- Ozdemir E, Dokucu AI, Uzunlar AK, Ece A, Yaldiz M, Ozturk H (2002) Experimental study on effects of deferoxamine mesilate in ameliorating cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. Int Urol Nephrol 33:127–131
- 139. al-Harbi MM, Osman AM, al-Gharably NM, al-Bekairi AM, al-Shabanah OA, Sabah DM, Raza M (1995) Effect of desferrioxamine on cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in normal rats. Chemotherapy 41:448–454
- 140. Chen SH, Liang DC, Lin HC, Cheng SY, Chen LJ, Liu HC (2005) Auditory and visual toxicity during deferoxamine therapy in transfusion-dependent patients. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 27:651–653
- 141. Karimi M, Asadi-Pooya AA, Khademi B, Asadi-Pooya K, Yarmohammadi H (2002) Evaluation of the incidence of sensorineural hearing loss in beta-thalassemia major patients under regular chelation therapy with desferrioxamine. Acta Haematol 108:79–83
- 142. Liu H, Baliga R (2000) Effect of iron chelator, hydroxyl radical scavenger and cytochrome P450 inhibitors on the cytotoxicity of cisplatin to tumor cells. Anticancer Res 20:4547–4550
- 143. Watanabe H, Kanno H (1998) Experimental studies of the protective effect of deferoxamine mesilate on cisplatin induced toxicity. Nippon Jibiinkoka Gakkai Kaiho 101:967–978
- 144. Werner M, Costa MJ, Mitchell LG, Nayar R (1995) Nephrotoxicity of xenobiotics. Clin Chim Acta 237:107–154
- 145. Schnellmann RG (2008) Toxic responses of the Kidney. In: Casarett and Doull's Toxicology. The basic science of poisons, Klaassen CD, (ed) 7th edn, pp 583–608. McGraw-Hill, New York, NY
- Pabla N, Dong Z (2008) Cisplatin nephrotoxicity: mechanisms and renoprotective strategies. Kedney Int 73:994–1007
- 147. Miyazaki J, Kawai k, Hayashi H, Onozawa M, Tsukamoto S, Miyanaga N, Hinotsu S, Shimazui T, Akaza H (2003) The limited efficacy of methotrexate, actinomycin D and cisplatin (MAP) for patients with advanced testicular cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol 33:391–395
- 148. Park SA, Park HJ, Lee BL, Ahn YH, Kim SU, Choi KS (2001) Bcl-2 blocks cisplatin-induced apoptosis by suppression of ERK-mediated p53 accumulation in B104 cells. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 93:18–26
- 149. Turrens JF (2003) Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J physiol 552: 335–344
- 150. Hoffmann B, Stockl A, Schlame M, Beyer K, Klingenberg M (1994) The reconstituted ADP/ ATP carrier activity has an absolute requirement for cardiolipin as shown in cysteine mutants. J Biol Chen 269:1940–1944
- 151. Sharma H, Sen S, Singh N (2005) Molecular pathways in the chemosensitization of cisplatin by quercetin in human head and neck cancer. Cancer Biol Ther 4:949–955
- 152. Saillenfait AM, Sabate JP, Langonne I, de Ceaurriz J (1991) Difference in the developmental toxicity of ethylenethiourea and three N. *N'*-substituted thiourea derivatives in rats. Fundam Appl Toxicol 17:399–408
- 153. Cameron NE, Tuck Z, McCabe L, Cotter MA (2001) Effect of the hydroxyl radical scavenger, dimethylthiourea, on peripheral nerve tissue perfusion, conduction velocity and nociception in experimental diabetes. Diabetologia 44:1161–1169
- 154. Leitao DJ, Blakley BW (2003) Quantification of sodium thiosulphate protection on cisplatininduced toxicities. J Otolaryngol 32:146–150

Chapter 21 Carrier-Mediated and Targeted Cancer Drug Delivery

William C. Zamboni and Ninh M. La-Beck

Abstract Major advances in the use of carrier vehicles delivering pharmacologic agents and enzymes to sites of disease have occurred in the past 10 years. This chapter focuses on the concepts and preclinical as well as clinical evaluation of carrier-mediated anticancer agents that are administered intravenously or orally. The primary types of carrier-mediated anticancer agents are nanoparticles, nanosomes, which are nanoparticle sized liposomes, and conjugated agents. Nanosomes are then subdivided into stabilized and nonstabilized or conventional nanosomes. The theoretical advantages of carrier-mediated drugs are increased solubility, prolonged duration of exposure, selective delivery of entrapped drug to the site of action, improved therapeutic index, and potential to overcome resistance to anticancer agents. The disposition of carrier-mediated agents depends on the physiochemical characteristics of the carrier, such as size, surface charge, membrane lipid packing, steric stabilization, dose, and route of administration. The primary sites of accumulation of carrier-mediated agents are the tumor, liver, and spleen compared to nonnanosomal formulations. The factors affecting the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variability of

W.C. Zamboni, Pharm D, PhD ()

UNC Institute for Pharmacogenomics and Individualized Therapy, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Carolina Center of Cancer Nanotechnology Excellence, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

e-mail: zamboni@unc.edu

N.M. La-Beck, Pharm D Division of Pharmacotherapy and Experimental Therapeutics, School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina, Genetic Medicine Building, Room 1013, CB# 7361, Chapel Hill, NC, 27599, USA

Division of Pharmacotherapy and Experimental Therapeutics, School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina, Genetic Medicine Building, Room 1013, CB# 7361, Chapel Hill, NC, 27599, USA

Molecular Therapeutics Program, UNC Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, USA
these agents remain unclear, but most likely include the reticuloendothelial system (RES), which has also been called the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS). As existing anticancer agents go off patent, these agents will most likely be evaluated in some type of carrier-mediated formulation. Future studies need to evaluate clearance mechanisms of carrier-mediated agents to identify the factors associated with pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variability in patients and specifically in tumors. However, carrier-mediated anticancer agents represent a promising platform for the targeted delivery of antitumor therapy.

21.1 Cancer Problem and Potential: Issues Related to Drug Delivery in Solid Tumors

Major advances have been made in the use of cancer chemotherapy [53]. However, most patients, especially patients diagnosed with solid tumors, fail to respond to initial treatment or relapse after an initial response [53]. Thus, there is a need to identify factors associated with lack of response and to develop new treatment strategies that address those factors. The development of effective chemotherapeutic agents for the treatment of solid tumors depends, in part, on the ability of those agents to achieve cytotoxic drug concentrations or exposure within the tumor [65, 147].

It is currently unclear why within a patient with solid tumors there can be a reduction in the size of some tumors while other tumors can progress during or after treatment, even though the genetic composition of the tumors is similar [11]. Such variable antitumor responses within a single patient may be associated with inherent differences in tumor vascularity, capillary permeability, and/or tumor interstitial pressure that result in variable delivery of anticancer agents to different tumor sites [65, 147]. However, studies evaluating the intratumoral concentration of anticancer agents and factors affecting tumor exposure in preclinical models and patients are rare [14, 101, 147]. In addition, preclinical models evaluating tumor exposure of anticancer agents and factors affecting tumor exposure may not reflect the disposition of chemotherapeutic agents in patients with solid tumors due to differences in vascularity and lymphatic drainage [65, 147]. Moreover, it is logistically difficult to perform the extensive studies required to evaluate the tumor disposition of anticancer agents and factors that determine the disposition in patients with solid tumors, especially in tumors which are not easily accessible. Thus, there is impending need to develop and implement techniques and methodologies to evaluate the disposition and exposure of anticancer agents within the tumor matrix.

21.2 Carrier-Mediated and Artificial-Cell Formulations of Anticancer Agents for Targeted Cancer Drug Delivery

Major advances in the use of carrier vehicles delivering pharmacologic agents and enzymes to sites of disease have occurred in the past 10 years [1, 27, 35, 108, 111]. The primary types of carrier-mediated anticancer agents are liposomes, nanoparticles and conjugated agents (Table 21.1, Fig. 21.1). Liposomes that are nano-sized are

Carrier-mediated chemotherape	utic agents			
Nanosomes				
Conventional (nonstabilized)	Stabilized nonpegylated pegy	lated	Nanoparticles	Conjugates and polymers
LE-SN38	Optisomal topotecan, TLI	Doxil (Caelyx) ^a	Abraxane (ABI-007) ABI-008 (docetaxel) ABI-009 (rapamycin)	Opaxio (Xyotax; PPX; CT-2103; paclitaxel)
Lurtotecan/OSI-211	Marqibo (Optisomal Vincristine)	S-CKD602 (AP-30) ^a	Paclimer (paclitaxel)	XMT-1001 (MER-1001; CPT)
9NC	Alocrest (Optisomal Vinorelbine)	IHL-305 (irinotecan)	TOCOSOL-Paclitaxel	IT-101 (CPT)
Irinophore-C Irinotecan	ATI-1123 (PSN-docetaxel)	Nanoliposomal CPT-11	APA-Thalidomide	Taxoprexin (DHA-paclitaxel)
LEP-ETU (paclitaxel)	ThermoDox (LTSL doxorubicin)	SPI-77	PX-NP (paclitaxel)	PEG-doxorubicin
Docetaxel	LTSL docetaxel	Dihydrotanshinone I	NK-012 (SN38)	PEG-methotrexate
Doxorubicin		Honokiol	NK-105 (paclitaxel)	PEG-interferon
Daunorubicin		SU1498	ANX-514 (docetaxel)	Pegamotecan (EZ-246, PEG-camptothecin)
Cytarabine		Vincristine	CNF1010 (17-AAG)	EZN-2208 (SN38) PEG-SN38
Topotecan		Vinorelbine	SN2310 (SN38)	NKTR-102 (irinotecan) NKTR-105 (docetaxel) PEG-irinotecan
FRL-Doxorubicin-vincristine		Vinblastine	MTX-HAS (methotrexate)	20-carbonate-CPT
CPX-351 (FRL- Daunorubicin-cytarabin)		Camptothecin	ABI-010 (tanespimycin; 17-AAG)	PL-ara-C
FRL-Floxuridine-irinotecan		Curcumin	CPT-HGC	PL-gemcitabine
FRL-Cisplatin-irinotecan		Doxorubicin/Verapamil	CDDP-HGC	CT-2106 (camptothecin)
Aroplatin (DACH-L-NDDP, AR-726, (oxaliplatin analogue)			Docetacel-HGC	AP-5346 DACH-HPMA (oxaliplatin analogue)

 Table 21.1
 Summary of carrier-mediated chemotherapeutic agents

429

Carrier-mediated chemotherapeutic agents		
Nanosomes		
Conventional (nonstabilized) Stabilized nonpegylated pegylated	Nanoparticles	Conjugates and polymers
MBP-426 (oxaliplatin)	Methotrexate PEPE drendrimer	ProLindac (AP-5280, cisnlatin-analogue HPMA)
LEM (mitoxantrone)	Paclitaxel PEO-PbAE	PK1 (doxorubicin)
Annamycin	5-Fluorouracil Bola noisome	PNU-166148 (MAG-CPT)
Atragen (tretinoin)	Adriamycin PAMAM dendrimer	9-aminocamptothecin
GMC-5-193 (quinazolinone analogue)	Doxorubicin/Wortmaninn	aclarubicin (CBSA-NP-ACL)
	ABI-011 (microtubule + topoi-	auristatin E (MMAE)
	somerase I inhibitor)	auristatin F (MMAF)
	Paclitaxel/MDR-1 SiRNA	Paclitaxel-HA
	NC-6004 (cisplatin)	
	SN38-PNDS	
AP -5346 DACH-HPMA = an oxaliplatin analogue, bound to copolymer HPM poly-lysine-alginate microcapsules, Ara - C cytosine arabinoside, $Bola \alpha$, ω -h camptothecin, $DACH$ - L - $NDDP$ liposomal of DACH platinum, AR-726, an ω	A. AP-5280 cisplatin-like analogue bound to cc xadecyl-bis-(1-aza-18-crown-6), CPT camptot diplatin analogue, DHA docosahexaenoic acid.	poolymer HPMA, APA alginate- hecin, CT-2106 polyglutamated , FRL fixed ratio liposomes, HA

hyaluronic acid, HGC hydrophobically modified glycol chitosan nanoparticle, NK-012 micellar SN38, PAMAM poly(amidoamine), PEG polyethylene glycol, PEO-PbAE Poly(ethylene oxide)-modified poly(beta-amino ester), PEPE polyether-copolyester, PL phospholipids, PSN Protein Stabilized Nanoparticle for liposomes, PX-NP paclitaxel entrapped in cetyl alcohol/polysorbate nanoparticles ^aDoxil (Caelyx) and S-CKD602 (AP-30) are pegylated liposomal agents

Table 21.1 (continued)



Fig. 21.1 Primary types of carrier-mediated anticancer agents: (a) conventional liposome; (b) stabilized liposome with polyethylene glycol coating; (c) XMT-1001, a polymer conjugated prodrug with dual phase release of camptothecin; (d) NK102, a micelle nanoparticle composed of SN-38 conjugated to polymer units

also referred to as nanosomes and can be subdivided into stabilized and nonstabilized (conventional) liposomes. Stabilized liposomes can also be subdivided into those that are stabilized by polyethylene glycol (PEG) or a non-PEG substitute such as sphingomyelin. Nanoparticles are subdivided into microspheres, which include polymer micelles, and dendrimers. Conjugate formulations consist of the drug linked to nano-sized PEG or non-PEG polymers [1, 27, 35, 108, 111]. The theoretical advantages of liposomal and nanoparticle encapsulated and carrier-mediated drugs are increased solubility, prolonged duration of exposure, selective delivery of entrapped drug to the site of action, improved therapeutic index, and potentially overcoming resistance associated with the noncarrier-mediated anticancer agent [35, 111]. The process by which these agents preferentially accumulate in tumor and tissues is called the enhanced permeation and retention effect [91]. Pegylatedliposomal doxorubicin (Doxil[®], Caelyx[®]), liposomal daunorubicin (DaunoXome[®]), liposomal cytarabine (DepoCyt®), and paclitaxel albumin-bound particles (ABI007, Abraxane®) are the only members of this relatively new class of agents that are FDA approved [3, 28, 50, 80, 92, 34]. Myocet[®], a nonpegylated liposomal formulation of doxorubicin, is approved in Europe for the treatment of breast cancer [8]. Doxil is FDA-approved for the treatment of refractory ovarian cancer and Kaposi's sarcoma [80, 92, 124]. DaunoXome is also approved for the treatment of advanced Kaposi's

Sum total drug		
Encapsulated or conjugated drug	Released drug	
	(Warhead)	
	(Naked drug)	
	(Legacy drug)	
	Protein bound	Protein unbound (Free)

 Table 21.2
 Nomenclature describing the pharmacologic forms of carrier-mediated drugs

sarcoma [28], Abraxane is approved for the treatment of refractory breast cancer [3] and DepoCyt is approved for the intrathecal treatment of lymphomatous meningitis. Although these are the only FDA-approved carrier-mediated chemotherapeutic agents, there are greater than 100 other agents that are in preclinical and clinical development. Newer generations of liposomes containing two anticancer agents within a single liposome and antibody-targeted liposomes which may improve selective toxicity are in preclinical development [2, 81, 115]. In addition, nanoparticle formulations such as microspheres, dendrimers, and conjugates provide a unique method to provide tumor-selective delivery of anticancer agents to tumors [121]. As more existing anticancer agents go off patent these agents will most likely be evaluated in some type of liposome or carrier-mediated formulation. In addition, antiangiogenesis agents, antisense oligonucleotides, and enzymes represent rational candidates for liposomal and nanoparticle formulations [115].

The pharmacokinetic disposition of these agents is dependent upon the carrier and not the parent-drug until the drug is released from the carrier [81]. Thus, the pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of these agents is complex, and detailed studies must be performed to evaluate the disposition of the encapsulated or conjugated form of the drug and the released active drug (Table 21.2) [150]. The factors affecting the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variability of these agents remain unclear, but most likely include the reticuloendothelial system (RES), which has also been called the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS) [83, 89, 141].

21.3 Methods for Evaluation of Carrier Agents

The need to develop and readily gain information on the tumor disposition of agents may become more important with the increasing number of tumor targeting approaches, such as gene and antisense therapy, polyethylene glycol (PEG)-conjugated agents, and liposomal delivery [18, 148]. In addition, methodology and study designs used to develop classic cytotoxic anticancer agents, such as platinum, taxane, and camptothecin analogues, may not be appropriate for the new generations of anticancer therapy, such as angiogenesis inhibitors, antiproliferative agents, and signal transduction

inhibitors [18, 47]. Since these agents may not induce classic toxicities or any toxicity, it may be difficult to recommend a dose for future trials using the standard Phase I dose escalation methods and endpoints (i.e., maximum tolerable dose and dose limiting toxicities). As an alternative, defining the dose for Phase II studies could be based on the dose that achieves exposures associated with pharmacologic modulation, optimal biological exposure, or cytotoxicity results from in vitro studies [145, 147]. Historically, investigators have compared in vitro IC_{50} values with plasma concentrations in patients as a means to determine if sufficient exposure has been reached in clinical studies. However, the inherent tumor characteristics that influence tumor penetration and high intra- and intertumoral variability in tumor exposure make this comparison highly unreliable [16, 65, 147], especially when the ratio of tumor exposure to plasma exposure may be approximately 0.2-0.5 [37, 39, 102, 147, 149]. Thus, comparing the in vitro exposures and plasma exposures in patients result in an overestimation of drug exposure in the tumor extracellular fluid (ECF), and the estimated exposure for effect may in fact be insufficient. The use of methodologies, such as microdialysis, that measure the exposure of anticancer agents within the tumor may improve the level of information available to make informed decisions during the drug development process [150].

21.4 Liposomal Formulations of Anticancer Agents

Liposomes are microscopic vesicles composed of a phospholipid bilayer that are capable of encapsulating the active drug. However, conventional liposomes are opsonized by plasma proteins, quickly recognized as foreign bodies, and rapidly removed by the RES [7, 9, 35]. Depending on the size and composition of the liposome, RES uptake can occur within minutes after administration and remove the liposomes from the circulation. Studies evaluating the disposition and tumor penetration of liposomal and nonliposomal anticancer agents suggest liposomal agents have an extended systemic half-life (t/2) and extravasate selectively into solid tumors through the capillaries of tumor neovasculature [7, 35]. The exact mechanism of liposomal clearance is currently unclear. The mechanisms by which liposomes enter tissue and tumors, and release drug are also not completely understood. In addition, liposomes can be engineered to produce a complete spectrum of drug release rates that need to be evaluated in in vivo systems [12, 82].

The development of pegylated liposomes, which contain lipids conjugated to polyethylene glycol (PEG), was based on the theory that incorporation of PEG-lipids into liposomes would allow the liposome to evade the immune system and prolong the duration of exposure (Fig. 21.2) [7, 111, 141]). pegylated liposomes have a lipid bilayer membrane like conventional liposomes, but the surface contains surface-grafted linear segments of PEG extending 5 nm from the surface [111, 141]. pegylated liposomes are relatively small, with an average diameter of approximately 100 nm. The size optimally balances drug-carrying capacity with circulation time, and allows extravasation through the endothelial gaps in the



Fig. 21.2 Clearance of stabilized and nonstabilized nanosomes via the reticuloendothelial system (RES) in the liver and spleen

capillary bed of target tumors. Whether the drug is encapsulated in the core or in the bilayer of the liposome is dependent upon the characteristics of the drug and the encapsulation process. In general, water-soluble drugs are encapsulated within the central aqueous core, whereas lipid-soluble drugs are incorporated directly into the lipid membrane.

21.5 Systemic and Tissue Disposition of Liposomes

Liposomes can alter both the tissue distribution and the rate of clearance of the drug by making the drug take on the pharmacokinetic characteristics of the carrier [35, 111, 141]. Pharmacokinetic parameters of the liposomes depend on the physiochemical characteristics of the liposomes, such as size, surface charge, membrane lipid packing, steric stabilization, dose, and route of administration [35]. The primary sites of accumulation of conventional liposomes are the tumor, liver, and spleen compared to nonliposomal formulations [7, 35, 83, 89, 106, 142]. The development of pegylated liposomes was based on the discovery that incorporation of PEG-lipids into liposomes yields preparations with superior tumor delivery compared to conventional liposome to remain in the blood circulation for extended periods of time (i.e., $t/_2 > 40$ h) and distribute throughout an organism relatively evenly with most of the dose remaining in the central compartment (i.e., the blood) and only 10–15% of the dose being delivered to the liver [7, 106, 142]. This is a significant improvement over conventional liposomes where typically 80–90% of the liposomes deposit in the liver.

The clearance of conventional liposomes has been proposed to occur by uptake of the liposomes by the RES (Fig. 21.2) [7, 35]. The RES uptake of liposomes results in their rapid removal from the blood and accumulation in tissues involved in the RES, such as the liver and spleen. Uptake by the RES usually results in irreversible sequestering of the encapsulated drug in the RES, where it can be degraded. In addition, the uptake of the liposomes by the RES may result in acute impairment of the RES and toxicity. Sterically stabilized liposomes, such as pegylated liposomes, prolong the duration of exposure of the encapsulated drug in the systemic circulation [111, 141]. The presence of the PEG coating on the outside of the liposome does not prevent uptake by the RES, but simply reduces the rate of uptake (Fig. 21.2) [7]. The exact mechanism by which steric stabilization of liposomes decreases the rate of uptake by the RES is unclear [35, 97, 111, 141].

21.6 Tumor Delivery of Liposomal Agents

The development of effective chemotherapeutic agents for the treatment of solid tumors depends, in part, on the ability of those agents to achieve cytotoxic drug exposure within the tumor extracellular fluid [65, 147]. Solid tumors have several potential barriers to drug delivery that may limit drug penetration and provide inherent mechanisms of resistance [65]. Moreover, factors affecting drug exposure in tissue, such as alteration in the distribution of blood vessels, blood flow, capillary permeability, interstitial pressure, and lymphatic drainage, may be different in tumors as compared to the surrounding normal tissue [65].

The accumulation of liposomes or large macromolecules in tumors is a result of the extended duration of exposure in the systemic circulation as well as the leaky microvasculature and impaired lymphatics supporting the tumor area [35, 65, 106, 142]. Once in the tumor, the nontargeted pegylated liposomes are localized in the extracellular fluid (ECF) surrounding the tumor cell, but do not enter the cell [60, 61]. Thus, for the liposomes to deliver the active form of the anticancer agent, such as doxorubicin, the drug must be released from the liposome into the ECF and then diffuse into the cell [150]. As a result, the ability of the liposome to carry the anticancer agent to the tumor and release it into the ECF are equally important factors in determining the antitumor effect of liposomal encapsulated anticancer agents. In general, the kinetics of this local release is unknown, as it is difficult to differentiate between the liposomal-encapsulated and released forms of the drug in solid tissue, although with the development of microdialysis, this is becoming easier [150].

21.7 Modification of Toxicity with Liposomal Agents

Liposomal formulations can also modify the toxicity profile of a drug (e.g., Ambisome® [137]. This effect may be due to the alteration in tissue distribution associated with liposomal formulations [7, 106, 142, 150]. Anthracyclines, such as doxorubicin, are active against many tumor types, but cardiotoxicity related to the cumulative dose may limit their use [43]. Preclinical studies determined that liposomal anthracyclines reduced the incidence and severity of cumulative dose-related cardiomyopathy while preserving antitumor activity [43]. There is also clinical evidence suggesting that Doxil is less cardiotoxic than conventional doxorubicin [43, 107]. Direct comparisons between Doxil or Caelyx and conventional doxorubicin showed comparable efficacy but significantly lower risk of cardiotoxicity with the STEALH liposomal formulations of doxorubicin [43]. In addition, histologic examination of cardiac biopsies from patients who received cumulative doses of Doxil from 440 to 840 mg/m², and had no prior exposure to anthracyclines, revealed significantly less cardiac toxicity than in matched doxorubicin controls (p < 0.001) [13]. Administration of a drug in a liposome may also result in new toxicities [22, 124, 135]. The most common adverse event associated with Doxil is hand-foot syndrome (HFS, also known as palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia) and stomatitis, which have not been reported with conventional doxorubicin [124]. The exact mechanisms associated with these toxicities are unknown, but are schedule and dose dependent. In general, Doxil is well tolerated and its side-effect profile compares favorably with other chemotherapy used in the treatment of refractory ovarian cancer. Proper dosing and monitoring may further enhance tolerability while preserving efficacy; however, there is still a need to identify factors associated with HFS, which can be dose limiting in some patients [124].

21.8 Current Preclinical and Clinical Evidence for Liposomal Agents

Pegylated (Doxil/Caelyx) and conventional liposomal formulations of doxorubicin (Myocet), daunorubicin (DaunoXome), and cytarabine (DepoCyt) are approved in the United States and Europe [80, 92, 124]). Some of the other liposomal anticancer agents that are currently in development include SN-38 (LE-SN38) [79, 87, 109, 155], lurtotecan (OSI-211) [30, 48, 49, 72], 9NC [74, 77, 138], irintotecan [36, 95], topotecan [154], pegylated liposomal CKD-602 (S-CKD602) [151], paclitaxel (LEP-ETU) [29], cisplatin [69], doxorubicin [94], vincristine [128], vinblastine [54], vinorelbine [63], and gemcitabine [23]. Liposomal encapsulation of camptothecins is an attractive formulation due to the solubility issues associated with most camptothecin analogues and the potential for prolonged exposure after administration of a single dose [30, 79, 151]. As compared to pegylated- or coated-liposomes, conventional liposomal formulations of camptothecin analogues, such as LE-SN38 and

OSI-211, may result in the rapid release of the drug from the liposome in blood and thus act more as an IV formulation as compared to a tumor targeting agent [30, 49, 79, 87, 109, 155]. However, studies evaluating encapsulated and released drug in plasma and tumor have not been reported [150].

A randomized phase II trial of OSI-211 in patients with relapsed ovarian cancer compared OSI-11 IV on days 1, 2, and 3 repeated every 3 weeks and OSI-11 IV on days 1 and 8 repeated every 3 weeks was performed [30]. OSI-211 daily for 3 days was declared the winner in terms of objective response. A phase I study of LE-SN38 was performed in which patients were prospectively assigned to cohorts based on UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 1A1 (UGT1A1) genotype [79]. The maximum tolerated dose (MTD) was not reached in the *28/*28 patients. The MTD of LE-SN38 in the WT/WT cohort was 35 mg/m² IV over 90 min every weeks. The pharmacokinetic disposition of SN-38 was similar in the WT/WT and WT/*28 cohorts. Interestingly, there were no reports of acute or delayed diarrhea even though the exposures of SN-38 were several fold higher after administration of LE-SN38 compared to irinotecan. Results of a phase I study of S-CKD602 administered IV over 1 h every 21 days reported that the $t_{1/2}$ was increased four- to eightfold and plasma exposure was increased approximately 50-fold higher after administration S-CKD602 compared to nonliposomal CKD602 [151]. The results of this study suggest that S-CKD602 exhibits the characteristics that are consistent with other pegylated liposomes and thus may have pharmacologic advantages over other liposomal formulations of camptothecin analogues [151]. In addition, S-CKD602 has produced responses in patients with platinum-refractory ovarian cancer [153]. Aerosolized administration of liposomal 9NC was found to be feasible and safe in patients with advanced pulmonary malignancies and 9NC was detected in plasma shortly after the start of treatment [74, 77, 138]. Liposomal formulations of irinotecan (nanosomal CPT-11, IHL-305) are currently in preclinical development and theoretically may provide targeted delivery of irinotecan to the tumor with subsequent conversion to SN-38 via tumor carboxyl esterase [36, 95]. IHL-305 is a peglyated liposomal formulation of irinotecan (CPT-11) that is currently in phase I studies. Preclinical studies of IHL-305 have reported greater tumor delivery and improved antitumor efficacy as compared with nonliposomal CPT-11 [144]. Liposomes can also be stabilized by non-PEG molecules. For example, TLI is a sphingomyelin-stabilized liposomal formulation of topotecan that is currently in phase I studies [154].

In a phase I study, the pharmacokinetic profile of paclitaxel was similar after administration of LEP-ETU and nonliposomal paclitaxel, suggesting that paclitaxel is immediately released from the liposome after LEP-ETU administration [29]. In addition, it is unclear if LEP-ETU has pharmacologic or cytotoxic advantages over paclitaxel albumin-bound particles [3, 29]. Conventional liposomal formulations of doxorubicin do not appear to have a pharmacologic or cytotoxic advantage over Doxil [43, 94, 107]. Liposomal vincristine (Onco-TSC) has been evaluated in relapsed non-Hodgkins lymphoma (NHL) as a way to overcome the toxicity limitations and required dose reductions associated with the use of vincristine in this setting [113]. Liposomal vincristine has a prolonged half-life and achieves higher exposures in tumors and lymph nodes compared with nerves. When administered at full doses liposomal vincristine appears to be less neurotoxic and more active compared with nonliposomal vincristine in preclinical models and in patients. These data suggest a potential role for liposomal vincristine in the combination therapy for NHL.

In addition to improving the therapeutic index of traditional chemotherapeutics, the liposomal platform has enabled the development of novel anticancer agents that may otherwise have been abandoned due to physicochemical problems such as limited in vivo solubility or rapid inactivation. Examples include annamycin, a highly lipophilic doxorubicin analogue [15], and honokiol, a biphenolic compound isolated from the magnolia plant that has promising antitumor activity but has extremely poor water solubility [90].

The future generations of liposomes will include active targeting liposomes (e.g., immunoliposomes), triggered release liposomes (e.g., thermosensitive liposomes), single liposomes that contain multiple anticancer agents, and multimodality liposomes [2, 81, 94].

Active targeting can be achieved by surface modifying liposomes with antibodies or antibody fragments which target tumor surface antigens. These immunoliposomes combine antibody-mediated tumor recognition with liposomal delivery, which are designed for target cell internalization and intracellular drug release [115]. In addition to enabling targeted delivery of the liposome encapsulated drug, the antibody component may also have inherent antitumor effects. An example currently in preclinical development is anti-human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) immunoliposomal doxorubicin [75, 114]. Anti-HER2 immunoliposomal doxorubicin was studied in various murine xenograft models of HER2 overexpressing tumors and found to have significantly increased antitumor effects as compared to free doxorubicin and Doxil either with or without trastuzumab, a well-established therapeutic monoclonal antibody targeting HER2. In addition, cure rates for anti-HER2 immunoliposomal doxorubicin in these studies ranged from 16 to 50% as compared to 0% for free doxorubicin and liposomal doxorubicin (p < 0.0001 for both comparisons). Furthermore, the immunoliposome was found to have equivalent efficacy as the nontargeting doxorubicin liposome in non-HER2 overexpressing tumors, thus supporting the active targeting mechanism of the immunoliposome [114]. Immunoliposomes are also being studied which target epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) [116] and the B-lymphocyte antigen CD19 [24] among others [40].

Active tumor targeting can also be achieved by surface modifying the liposome with small molecules whose receptors are known to be overexpressed in tumor cells. This would also facilitate target cell internalization of the liposome and intracellular release of the encapsulated drug. Examples of this include surface modification with folic acid [96], mutant soluble B-cell activating factor [156], and many others.

Triggered release liposomes would utilize a stimulus to trigger release of the active drug form the liposome thus enabling controlled tumor specific release of the anticancer agent. The trigger can be applied via local hyperthermia (radiofrequency, microwave or ultrasound ablation), ultrasonic or photonic disruption of liposome membranes, changes in the pH, enzymatic cleavage, or even redox reactions that are intrinsic to the tumor tissue [119].

Thermosensitive liposomes may provide a means of improving the tumor-specific delivery of anticancer agents by rapidly releasing drug from the liposome when hyperthermia is applied to the tumor area [94]. An example is lysolipid thermally sensitive liposomal (LTSL) doxorubicin (ThermoDox) which is doxorubicin encapsulated within a thermosensitive liposome enabling release of the drug at temperatures greater than 39.5°C [98, 122]. LTSL doxorubicin liposomes contain lysolipids such as monostearoyl phosphatidylcholine in the lipid bilayer. At temperatures close to the liposome melting phase transition temperature, these lysolipids form stable pores in the lipid bilayer, which allow the rapid release of liposomal contents [119]. LTSL doxorubicin in combination with radiofrequency ablation is currently being studied for the treatment of unresectable primary and secondary liver tumors, prostate cancer and breast cancer with chest wall recurrence [119, 122, 140]. Early clinical trial results support the efficacy and tolerability of LTSL doxorubicin in patients with unresectable liver tumors and phase III trials are underway. In addition to triggering the release of drug from the liposome, local hyperthermia itself has antitumor effects and can increase drug penetration by altering tumor perfusion. One disadvantage of LTSL liposomes is an increased tendency for the drug to leak out of the liposome over time, as compared to stabilized nonthermosensitive liposomes [119].

Liposomes that are sensitive to pH have been studied for tumor specific triggered release. These liposomes are stable at physiologic pH but become leaky in more acidic environments. Tumor specific release is possible by targeting the slightly acidic tumor microenvironment or by targeting release via tumor endosomes [85]. These liposomes often incorporate poly(L-histidine) or poly sulfonamide in the lipid bilayer as these molecules are pH sensitive. Examples include pH sensitive cisplatin liposomes [68] and pH sensitive doxorubicin liposomes [85].

There are several liposomal formulations that contain fixed ratios of two anticancer agents, such as doxorubicin–vincristine, daunorubicin–cytarabine, cisplatin– irinotecan, and 5-fluorouracil–irinotecan that are currently in preclinical development [2, 67]. In addition to encapsulating multiple anticancer drugs, liposomes can encapsulate agents with different functions thus yielding multimodality liposomes. For example, stabilized liposomes containing both vinorelbine and indium-111 have been studied in mice with colorectal cancer xenografts. This approach combines chemotherapy with an antitumor and imaging radionuclide [25].

21.9 Nanoparticle Formulations: Characteristics, Development, and Current Evidence

Abraxane is the first protein-stabilized nanoparticle approved by the FDA [1, 3, 62]. Abraxane is an albumin-stabilized nanoparticle formulation of paclitaxel designed to overcome the solubility issues associated with paclitaxel that require the need for solvents such as cremophor, which have been associated with infusion related reactions and requires the need for premedication and other incompatibilities with



Albumin binds to caveolin-1 receptors and causes the formation of caveolae, to transport albumin across the endothelial membrane Transcytosis is the transport of albumin across the endothelial barrier from within the blood vessel to the tumor's interstitium SPARC is then secreted by the tumor to attract and retain albumin-bound nutrients within the tumor cell

Fig. 21.3 Mechanism of albumin-bound paclitaxel transcytosis across blood vessels and accumulation of paclitaxel in tumor tissue via interactions with SPARC after administration of Abraxane

certain IV bags or tubing [1, 62]. The albumin-stabilized nanoparticle results in a more rapid distribution out of the vascular compartment and provides a tumor targeting mechanism. The albumin receptor-mediated transport on the endothelial cell wall within blood vessels facilitates the passage of Abraxane from the blood stream into the underlying tumor tissue [1, 62] (Fig. 21.3).

Similar to liposomal agents, the dosage of Abraxane is determined by the paclitaxel content of the formulation [1, 62]. The approved regimen for Abraxane is 260 mg/m² IV over 30 min every 3 weeks which is higher than the usual dose range for paclitaxel (i.e., 135–200 mg/m²) [1, 3]. In addition there was a lower incidence of myelosuppression after administration of Abraxane than previously seen with similar doses of paclitaxel [62]. The other toxicities associated with Abraxane were similar to high-dose, short-infusion paclitaxel including sensory neuropathy and mucositis. Keratopathy, a relatively unique toxicity also associated with Abraxane, was reported [62]. Thus, as with liposomal formulations, administration of a drug in a nanoparticle formulation can alter the pharmacokinetic, tissue and tumor distribution, and toxicity pattern. Also similar to liposomal agents, the mechanism by which the albumin-stabilized nanoparticle is catabolized and paclitaxel is released is unclear.

Microencapsulation is an emerging technology in the development of bioartificial organs for drug, protein, and delivery systems [57]. Bioencapsulation technology offers several advantages and has shown promising results for the treatment of diseases. For all of these applications, appropriate performance of the microcapsules is critically dependent on the properties of the capsular membrane. Several studies have encapsulated bacterial cells for potential therapeutic applications using oral administration, such as in kidney failure uremia, cancer therapy, diarrhea, cholesterolemia, and other diseases [108]. These microcapsule carriers may also be used for the oral administration of drugs and enzymes for cancer therapy. However, the success of microcapsule oral delivery depends on the suitability of the microcapsule membrane for oral delivery. The microcapsule can be disrupted by many different means during its intestinal passage and may be fractured by enzymatic action, chemical reactions, heat, pH, diffusion, mechanical pressure, and other related physiological and biochemical stresses. Microcapsule encapsulation of thalidomide allowed for the successful delivery of thalidomide in the gut and could prove beneficial in the treatment of Crohn's disease [96]. In addition, the use of microcapsules may be used for the delivery of anticancer agents in the treatment of gastric and colon cancer.

Patients with primary brain tumors or brain metastases have a very poor prognosis that is primarily attributed to the impermeability of the blood–brain barrier (BBB) to cytotoxic agents [78]. Paclitaxel has been shown to have activity against gliomas and other brain metastases; however, its use in the treatment of brain tumor is limited due to low BBB penetration and side effects associated with IV administration. The lack of BBB penetration is believed to be associated with the P-glycoprotein (P-gp) efflux transporter. To overcome these issues, a formulation of paclitaxel entrapped in novel cetyl alcohol/polysorbate nanoparticles (PX-NP) was developed [78]. PX-NP had reduced efflux by P-gp, increased brain exposure, and reduced toxicity compared with paclitaxel and thus may have potential in the treatment of brain tumors.

A dendrimer is a nanoparticle with a hydrophobic interior and hydrophilic exterior that act as a drug carrier [27]. Dendrimers are a class of different fractal polymers prepared by a set of iterative reactions attached to a central core. Each pair of iterations defines a generation, and while the diameter grows linearly, the number of surface functional groups grows geometrically. The interior host sites can shield the drug from the exterior biologic milieu and stabilize the drug. The exterior of the dendrimer can also be labeled with tumor specific-ligands, such as folate to provide tumor-selective delivery of anticancer agents to the tumor [133].

Several types of interactions between dendrimers and drugs have been evaluated, which can be broadly subdivided into the entrapment of drugs within the dendritic architecture (involving electrostatic, hydrophobic, and hydrogen bond interactions) and the interaction between a drug and surface of a dendrimer (electrostatic and covalent interactions) [27]. In addition, PEG has been added to dendrimers as a way to modify biocompatibility and biodistribution [55, 104, 110]. The applications of these systems have been used to enhance drug solubility and bioavailability, prolong circulation time, act as release modifiers, and drug targeting. For example, an indomethacin-loaded dendrimer has provided sustained release of drug over 30 h. Dendrimer carriers of anticancer agents are currently in preclinical development. Examples of these include methotrexate-loaded polyether-copolyester dendrimers, which are also surface modified with D-glucosamine to target the BBB [35], and adriamycin-loaded pegylated polyamidoamine dendrimers, which are also pH sensitive [76].

Drug-polymer conjugates that form nano-sized micelles appear to be effective carriers for anticancer therapy. This approach to conjugation would entail synthesis of amphipathic block copolymers with the capacity for self assembly via hydrophobic interactions, analogous to the self assembly of liposomes (Fig. 21.1). The resulting structure is a polymer micelle composed of individual units of drug-polymer conjugates which can be used as a drug carrier in a manner also similar to liposomes but with the drug conjugated to the micelle units rather than encapsulated freely within the micelle core or membrane [93]. An example is PEG-poly(glutamic acid) SN-38 (NK012) which is an SN38-releasing polymeric micelle [20, 70]. Preclinical studies have shown superior antitumor activity and less toxicity than CPT-11. In addition, it may be able to selectively accumulate in both hypervascular and hypovascular tumors with high interstitial pressure, with subsequent sustained release of SN-38, followed by SN-38 distribution throughout the tumor tissue [75, 103, 126]. Other examples of polymeric micellar nanoparticle agents include polyethylene glycol (PEG)-polyaspartate paclitaxel (NK105) [56, 64], PEG-poly(glutamic acid) cisplatin (NC-6004) [134], and SN38-PNDS [88]. SN38-PNDS is distinct in that it is an active camptothecin analogue that is orally administered via a pH sensitive polymer nano-delivery system (PNDS). Preclinical studies have demonstrated comparable efficacy and favorable toxicity and PK disposition compared with historical data for intravenously administered irinotecan (CPT-11) [88]. If successful in clinical trials, this would represent the first orally administered nanoparticle formulation of an anticancer agent.

Until recently, the synthesis of nanoparticles relied on "bottom up" techniques which are based on self assembly of the nanoparticles. Examples of these techniques include electrospray, inverse emulsions, ultrasonication, and supercritical solvent processes. Although there have been advances in these techniques, there remains several major disadvantages. The primary limitations are the lack of control over the shape and size of the particles as well as a tendency for the nanoparticles to aggregate [42, 73]. These limitations can be overcome by a technique called particle replication in nonwetting templates (PRINT) which relies on a "top down" approach to nanoparticle fabrication. PRINT is based on imprint lithography techniques adapted from the field of microelectronics. It enables the rapid and large scale production of organic nanoparticles with precise control over particle size, shape, and composition with little or no tendency for aggregation. PRINT particles can potentially be tailored to meet specific pharmacokinetic parameters such as bioavailability and circulation time by altering the particle matrix and surface composition. In addition, they can also be surface modified with functional moieties such as antibodies for targeting and polyethylene glycol for stabilization [51]. PRINT doxorubicin containing a reductively labile disulfide linker N,N'-cystaminebisacrylamide has been studied in vitro. The disulfide linker is destabilized in a reducing environment, such as within the cell cytosol, thus enabling triggered release of doxorubicin from the PRINT matrix intracellularly [117].

21.10 Conjugates and Polymers: Characteristics, Development, and Current Evidence

During the past 10 years there has been a renaissance in the field of PEG-conjugated anticancer agents [52]. This new development has been attributed to the use of higher molecular weight PEGs (>20,000) and especially with the use of PEG 40,000, which has an extended $t\frac{1}{2}$ in plasma and potential selective distribution to solid tumors [52]. Various PEG-conjugates of anticancer agents, such as doxorubicin [10], methotrexate [123], interferon [21, 33], and camptothecin analogues [113, 125], are currently in development [10, 21, 33, 113, 125]. PEG- and 20-carbonateconjugates of camptothecin analogues, are especially interesting as the conjugatedprodrug forms highly water-soluble agents and significantly extends the duration of exposure after a single dose [31, 113, 125]. EZN-2208 is a multi-PEG conjugate of SN-38. SN-38 in the lactone form is the active metabolite of camptothecin-11 (CPT-11). However, SN-38 itself has extremely poor bioavailability largely due to poor solubility and rapid in vivo hydrolysis of the lactone ring into the inactive carboxylate form of SN-38. Conjugation of SN-38 to multiple PEG molecules resulted in significantly increased solubility, longer half-life, higher exposure, and improved therapeutic index in xenograft models as compared with CPT-11 [127].

Hyaluronic acid conjugates of anticancer agents are also in development. Paclitaxel-hyaluronic acid conjugates in in vitro studies have been found to have a more pronounced cytotoxic effect on hyaluronic acid receptor overexpressing cells, suggesting a targeting mechanism [85]. Carrier-mediated conjugates of anticancer agents also have the same pharmacologic issues (the need to evaluate the pharmacokinetics of the prodrug conjugate and released drug) as liposomal and nanoparticle formulations and the overall clinical benefit of these agents remain unclear.

Additional conjugates-formulations of paclitaxel are in clinical and preclinical development. Paclitaxel poliglumex (PPX, Xyotax®), a macromolecular drug conjugate that links paclitaxel with a biodegradable polymer, poly-L-glutamic acid, has completed phase I studies [131]. PPX is a water-soluble formulation that also eliminates the need for cremophor in the formulation. Paclimer®, a microsphere formulation of paclitaxel is currently in preclinical development [34]. Paclimer microspheres contain paclitaxel in a polilactofate polymer microsphere and are designed to continuously deliver low dose paclitaxel. Previous conjugates of paclitaxel have been stopped in clinical development and have been associated with potential pharmacologic and pharmacokinetic problems [17, 139]. Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA)-paclitaxel, a novel conjugate formed by covalently linking the natural fatty acid DHA to paclitaxel, was designed as a prodrug targeting intratumoral activation [17]. At the MTD of DHA-paclitaxel (1,100 mg/m²), paclitaxel represented only 0.06% of the DHApaclitaxel plasma exposure [139]. However, the paclitaxel concentrations remained $>0.01 \ \mu\text{M}$ for an average of 6–7 days and the paclitaxel AUC was correlated with neutropenia. The results of this study suggest that most of the drug remained in the inactive-prodrug-conjugated form and that significant toxicity only occurred when released paclitaxel reached clinically relevant exposures. This depicts the need to perform detailed pharmacokinetic studies of conjugated and released drug in plasma and tumor.

Another example of a drug-conjugate nanoparticle is XMT-1001, which is a dual phase release prodrug conjugate of camptothecin. It consists of camptothecin (CPT) conjugated to a poly(L-hydroxymethylethylene hydroxyl-methyl formal) (PHF) backbone via a succinamido ester linker. This conjugate form of camptothecin has multiple advantages over free camptothecin and over camptothecin analogues such as irinotecan and topotecan including improved solubility, bioavailability, and decreased toxicity. The PHF backbone also increases circulation time thus enhancing tumor tissue accumulation presumably via the EPR effect. The PHF-CPT conjugate undergoes nonspecific hydrolysis and PHF is released while the succinamido linker undergoes cyclization forming a second prodrug, CPT-(O20)-succinimidoglycinate This second prodrug is then internalized and active CPT is released intracellularly [143]. XMT-1001 dosed at 45 mg/kg (5×q3d) was studied in athymic mice bearing HT-29 tumor xenografts and was found to have more antitumor effects and fewer toxicities as compared to free camptothecin at 22.5 mg/kg $(5 \times q3d)$ [143]. A phase I study is currently underway in patients with solid tumors. Thus far, seven patients have been treated at three dose levels (highest dose level 3.1 mg CPT equivalents/m² once every 21 days) without any serious adverse events and the maximum tolerated dose has yet to be reached [130]. This supports the improved bioavailability and decreased toxicity associated with XMT-1001 and study accrual is ongoing.

Conjugates have also been developed to improve the oral bioavailability of drugs [5]. Phospholipid nucleoside conjugates and nucleosides with chemical additions to the amino moieties have been used since the 1970s to increase the biological activity of the parent compound. Synthetic phospholipid conjugates of cytosine arabinoside (ara-C) and gemcitabine have been developed [4, 6]. The novel ara-C conjugate has different systemic and cellular pharmacologic characteristics compared with the parent drug, such as decreased catabolism by cytidine deaminase, increased plasma half-life, penetrate the blood-brain barrier, and release of nucleoside monophosphate, a reaction that bypasses the rate limiting initial nucleoside phosphorylation [6]. In contrast to gemcitabine, the gemcitabine conjugate did not enter the cell via the human equilibrative nucleoside transporter (hENT1) and was not a substrate for the multidrug resistance efflux pump, MDR-1 [4]. These results suggest that the gemcitabine conjugate may be superior to gemcitabine due to the conjugate's ability to bypass three resistance mechanisms and can be administered orally. These phospholipid nucleoside conjugates posses the potential to have superior antineoplastic cytotoxicity profiles with less toxicity than the parent compound.

21.11 Summary, Conclusions, and Future Directions

Liposomes and nanoparticles may be effective carriers to deliver anticancer agents to tumors [7, 27, 35, 108, 111, 150]. However, for anticancer agents encapsulated or conjugated in liposomes or nanoparticles to be an effective treatment in patients with solid tumors, the active form of the anticancer agent must be released from the liposome into the tumor ECF or inside the cell [150]. As a result of this delivery process, new liposomal anticancer agents should be evaluated in preclinical models and early clinical trials to insure that adequate release of drug occurs at its site of action. It is unclear if drug conjugated to PEG or other carriers, or drugs encapsulated in microspheres or protein-stabilized nanoparticles must be released from the carrier to achieve cytotoxic effects. In addition, ligand labeled nanoparticles, such as dendrimers, may provide even greater tumor-selective delivery.

Future studies need to evaluate the mechanism of clearance of liposomes and nanoparticles and evaluate the factors associated with pharmacokinetic variability of these agents [30, 49, 79, 112, 142, 151]. The elimination of these agents may be similar to antibodies and proteins and most likely associated with the RES [7, 35]. In addition, it is currently unclear what is the most appropriate preclinical model for toxicity, efficacy, and pharmacokinetic studies [151, 152].

As more existing anticancer agents go off patent these agents will most likely be evaluated in some type of carrier-mediated formulation. Antiangiogenesis agents, antisense oligonucleotides, siRNA, and enzymes represent rational candidates for nanosomal and nanoparticle formulations. Anticancer agents that require continuous oral administration, such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors (e.g., imatinib, dasatinib, lapatinib, and sunitinib), may be candidates for nanoparticle carrier-formulations, which would provide prolonged drug exposure after administration of a single dose. Carrier-mediated anticancer agents represent a promising platform for the targeted delivery of antitumor therapy. This approach has the potential for improving therapeutic index and overcoming tumor resistance to traditional chemotherapy. However, further research is needed to optimize the formulation and clinical use of these agents.

References

- 1. "ABI 007" (2004) Drugs R D 5:155-159
- Abraham SA, McKenzie C, Masin D et al (2004) In vitro and in vivo characterization of doxorubicin and vincristine coencapsulated within liposomes through use of transition metal ion complexation and pH gradient loading. Clin Cancer Res 10:728–738
- 3. Abraxane (nab-paclitaxel) injection [package insert] Abraxis Schaumburg, Ill: Oncology 2005
- 4. Alexander RL, Greene BT, Torti SV et al (2005) A novel phospholipid gemcitabine conjugate is able to bypass three drug-resistance mechanisms. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 56:15–21

- Alexander RL, Kucera GL (2005) Lipid nucleoside conjugates for the treatment of cancer. Curr Pharm Des 11:1079–1089
- Alexander RL, Morris-Natschke SL, Ishaq KS et al (2003) Synthesis and cytotoxic activity of two novel 1-dodecylthio-2-decyloxypropyl-3-phosphatidic acid conjugates with gemcitabine and cytosine arabinoside. J Med Chem 46:4205–4208
- 7. Allen TM, Hansen C (1991) Pharmacokinetics of stealth versus conventional liposomes: effect of dose. Biochim Biophys Acta 1068:133–141
- Allen TM, Martin FJ (2004) Advantages of liposomal delivery systems for anthracyclines. Semin Oncol 31:5–15
- Allen TM, Stuart DD (2005) Liposomal pharmacokinetics. Classical, sterically-stabilized, cationic liposomes and immunoliposomes. In: Janoff AS (ed) Liposomes: rational design. Dekker, New York, NY
- 10. Andersson L, Davies J, Duncan RF et al (2005) Poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(ester-carbonate) block copolymers carrying PEG-peptidyl-doxorubicin pendant side chains: synthesis and evaluation as anticancer conjugates. Biomacromolecules 6:914–926
- Balch CM, Reintgen DS, Kirkwood JM et al (2006) Cutaneous melanoma. In: Devita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds) Cancer: principles and practice in oncology, 5th edn. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, PA
- 12. Barenholz Y, Haran G (1993) Method of amphophilic drug loading into liposomes by pH gradient. 5,192,549 (patent)
- Berry G, Billingham M, Alderman E et al (1998) The use of cardiac biopsy to demonstrate reduced cardiotoxicity in AIDS kaposi's sarcoma patients treated with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin. Ann Oncol 9:711–716
- 14. Blochl-Daum B, Muller M, Meisinger V et al (1996) Measurement of extracellular fluid carboplatin kinetics in melanoma metastases with microdialysis. Br J Cancer 73:920–924
- 15. Booser DJ, Esteva FJ, Rivera E et al (2002) Phase II study of liposomal annamycin in the treatment of doxorubicin-resistant breast cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 50:6–8
- Boucher Y, Jain RK (1992) Microvascular pressure is the principal driving force for interstitial hypertension in solid tumors: implications for vascular collapse. Cancer Res 52: 5110–5114
- Bradley MO, Swindell CS, Anthony FH et al (2001) Tumor targeting by conjugation of DHA to paclitaxel. J Control Release 74:233–236
- Brunner M, Muller M (2002) Microdialysis: an in vivo approach for measuring drug delivery in oncology. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 58:227–234
- Burris HA, Infante JR, Spigel DR et al (2008) A phase I dose escalation study of NK012. 2008. J Clin Oncol 26:2538
- Castells L, Vargas V, Allende H et al (2005) Combined treatment with pegylated interferon (alpha-2b) and ribavirin in the acute phase of hepatitis C virus recurrence after liver transplantation. J Hepatol 43:53–59
- Cattel L, Ceruti M, Dosio F (2004) From conventional to stealth liposomes: a new frontier in cancer chemotherapy. J Chemother 16:94–97
- 22. Celia C, Grazia Calvagno M, Paolino D et al (2008) Improved in vitro anti-tumoral activity, intracellular uptake and apoptotic induction of gemcitabine-loaded pegylated unilamellar liposomes. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 8:2101–2113
- Cheng WWK, Allen TM (2008) Targeted delivery of anti-CD19 liposomal doxorubicin in B-cell lymphoma: a comparison of whole monoclonal antibody, fab¢ fragments and single chain Fv. J Control Release 126:50–58
- Chow T, Lin Y, Hwang J et al (2008) Diagnostic and therapeutic evaluation of 1111n-vinorelbineliposomes in a human colorectal carcinoma HT-29/luc-bearing animal model. Nucl Med Biol 35:623–634
- D'Emanuele A, Attwood D (2005) Dendrimer-drug interactions. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 57:2147–2162
- 26. DaunoXome (daunorubicin) [package insert] San Dimas, CA: NexStar Pharmaceuticals1996

- Damajanov N, Fishman MN, Steinberg JL et al (2005) Final results of a phase I study of liposome entrapped paclitaxel (LEP-ETU) in patients with advanced cancer. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 23:147s
- Dark GG, Calvert AH, Grimshaw R et al (2005) Randomized trial of two intravenous schedules of the topoisomerase I inhibitor liposomal lurtotecan in women with relapsed epithelial ovarian cancer: a trial of the national cancer institute of Canada clinical trials group. J Clin Oncol 23:1859–1866
- 29. de Groot FM, Busscher GF, Aben RW et al (2002) Novel 20-carbonate linked prodrugs of camptothecin and 9-aminocamptothecin designed for activation by tumour-associated plasmin. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 12:2371–2376
- Derbala M, Amer A, Bener A et al (2005) Pegylated interferon-alpha 2b-ribavirin combination in egyptian patients with genotype 4 chronic hepatitis. J Viral Hepat 12:380–385
- Depocyt (cytarabine liposome injection)[package insect]ENZON Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Bridgewater, NJ (2010)
- 32. Dordunoo SK, Vineck W, Hoover R et al (2005) Sustained release of paclitaxel from PACLIMER® Microspheres. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res 46:985
- 33. Drummond DC, Meyer O, Hong K et al (1999) Optimizing liposomes for delivery of chemotherapeutic agents to solid tumors. Pharmacol Rev 51:691–743
- 34. Drummond DC, Noble CO, Guo Z et al (2005) Development of a highly stable liposomal irininotecan with low toxicity and potent antitumor efficacy. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res 46:330
- 35. Dhanikula RS, Argaw A, Bouchard JF, et al. Methotrexate loaded polyether-copolyester dendrimers for the treatment of gliomas: enhanced efficacy and intratumoral transport capability. Mol Pharm. 2008 Jan-Feb;5(1):105–16
- 36. Ekstrom PO, Andersen A, Warren DJ et al (1996) Determination of extracellular methotrexate tissue levels by microdialysis in a rat model. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 37:394–400
- Ekstrom PO, Giercksky KE, Andersen A et al (1997) Intratumoral differences in methotrexate levels within human osteosarcoma xenografts studied by microdialysis. Life Sci 61:L275–L280
- Elbayoumi TA, Torchilin VP (2008) Tumor-specific antibody-mediated targeted delivery of doxil reduces the manifestation of auricular erythema side effect in mice. Int J Pharmaceutics 357:272–279
- Euliss LE, DuPont JA, Gratton S et al (2006) Imparting size, shape, and composition control of materials for nanomedicine. Chem Soc Rev 35:1095–1104
- Ewer MS, Martin FJ, Henderson C et al (2004) Cardiac safety of liposomal anthracyclines. Semin Oncol 31:161–181
- 41. Gelmon KA, Eisenhauer EA, Harris AL et al (1999) Anticancer agents targeting signaling molecules and cancer cell environment: challenges for drug development? J Natl Cancer Inst 91:1281–1287
- 42. Gelmon K, Hirte H, Fisher B (2004) A phase 1 study of OSI-211 given as an intravenous infusion days 1, 2, and 3 every three weeks in patients with solid cancers. Invest New Drugs 22:263–275
- 43. Giles FJ, Tallman MS, Garcia-Manero G et al (2004) Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of a low-clearance, unilamellar liposomal formulation of lurtotecan, a topoisomerase 1 inhibitor, in patients with advanced leukemia. Cancer 100:1449–1458
- 44. Girard PM, Bouchaud O, Goetschel A et al (1996) Phase II study of liposomal encapsulated daunorubicin in the treatment of AIDS-associated mucocutaneous Kaposi's sarcoma. AIDS 10:753–757
- 45. Gratton EA, Pohlhaus PD, Lee J et al (2007) Nanofabricated particles for engineered drug therapies: a preliminary biodistribution study of PRINT[™] nanoparticles. J Control Release 121:10–18
- 46. Greenwald RB (2001) PEG drugs: an overview. J Control Release 74:159-171
- Grever MR, Chabner BA (2006) Cancer drug development. In: Devita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds) Cancer: principles and practice in oncology, 5th edn. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, PA

- 48. Guo R, Liu Y, Lu W et al (2008) A recombinant peptide, hirudin, potentiates the inhibitory effects of stealthy liposomal vinblastine on the growth and metastasis of melanoma. Biol Pharm Bull 31:696–702
- 49. Haba Y, Harada A, Takagishi T et al (2005) Synthesis of biocompatible dendrimers with a peripheral network formed by linking of polymerizable groups. Polymer 46:1813–1820
- Hamaguchi T, Kato K, Yasui H (2007) A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of NK105, a paclitaxelincorporating micellar nanoparticle formulation. Br J Cancer 97:170–176
- Haque T, Chen H, Ouyang W et al (2005) Superior cell delivery features of poly(ethylene glycol) incorporated alginate, chitosan, and poly-L-lysine microcapsules. Mol Pharm 2:29–36
- 52. Harrington KJ, Lewanski CR, Northcote AD (2001) Phase I-II study of pegylated liposomal cisplatin (SPI-077) in patients with inoperable head and neck cancer. Ann Oncol 12:493–496
- 53. Harrington KJ, Mohammadtaghi S, Uster PS et al (2001) Effective targeting of solid tumors in patients with locally advanced cancers by radiolabeled pegylated liposomes. Clin Cancer Res 7:243–254
- 54. Ibrahim NK, Desai N, Legha S et al (2002) Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of ABI-007, a cremophor-free, protein-stabilized, nanoparticle formulation of paclitaxel. Clin Cancer Res 8:1038–1044
- 55. Imperiale SM, Tolcher AW, Sarantopoulos J et al (2008) Phase I study of the sphingomylein/ cholesterol liposome formulation of vinorelbine in subjects with advanced solid tumors or non-hodgkin's lymphoma. Ann Oncol 19:v145–v146
- 56. Hamaguchi T, Kato K, Yasui H et al (2007) Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of NK105, a paclitaxel-incorporating micellar nanoparticle formulation. Br J Cancer 97:170–176
- 57. Jain RK (1996) Delivery of molecular medicine to solid tumors. Science 271:1079-1080
- 58. Johnstone S, Harvie P, Shew C et al (2005) Synergistic antitumor activity observed for a fixed ratio liposome formulation of cytarabine (Cyt):daunorubicin (Daun) against preclinical leukemia models. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res 46:9
- Junior ÁDC, Mota LG, Nunan EA et al (2008) Tissue distribution evaluation of stealth pH-sensitive liposomal cisplatin versus free cisplatin in Ehrlich tumor-bearing mice. Life Sci 80:659–664
- 60. Karita M, Tsuchiya H, Kawahara M et al (2008) The antitumor effect of liposome-encapsulated cisplatin on rat osteosarcoma and its enhancement by caffeine. Anticancer Res 28:1449–1457
- Kato K, Hamaguchi T, Shirao K et al (2008) Interim analysis of phase I study of NK012, polymer micelle SN-38, in patients with advanced cancer. Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium, Abstract, 485
- Kehrer DF, Bos AM, Verweij J (2002) Phase I and pharmacologic study of liposomal lurtotecan, NX 211: urinary excretion predicts hematologic toxicity. J Clin Oncol 20:1222–1231
- Kelly JY, DeSimone JM (2008) Shape-specific, monodisperse nano-molding of protein particles. J Am Chem Soc 23:5438–5439
- 64. Knight V, Koshkina NV, Waldrep JC et al (1999) Anticancer effect of 9-nitrocamptothecin liposome aerosol on human cancer xenografts in nude mice. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 44:77–186
- 65. Koizumi F, Kitagawa M, Negishi T et al (2006) Novel SN-38-incorporating polymeric micelles, NK012, eradicate vascular endothelial growth factor-secreting bulky tumors. Cancer Res 66:10048–10056
- 66. Kono K, Kojima C, Hayashi N et al (2008) Preparation and cytotoxic activity of poly(ethylene glycol)-modified poly(amidoamine) dendrimers bearing adriamycin. Biomaterials 29: 1664–1675
- 67. Koshkina N, Gilbert BE, Waldrep JC et al (1999) Distribution of camptothecin after delivery as a liposome aerosol or following intramuscular injection in mice. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 44:187–192
- Koziara JM, Lockman PR, Allen DD et al (2004) Paclitaxel nanoparticles for the potential treatment of brain tumors. J Control Release 99:259–269
- 69. Kraut EH, Fishman MN, LoRusso PM et al (2005) Final results of a phase I study of liposome encapsulated SN-38 (LE-SN38): safety, pharmacogenomics, pharmacokinetics, and tumor response. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 23:139s

- Krown SE, Northfelt DW, Osoba D et al (2004) Use of liposomal anthracyclines in Kaposi's sarcoma. Semin Oncol 31:36–52
- Laginha K, Mumbengegwi D, Allen T (2005) Liposomes targeted via two different antibodies: assay, B-cell binding and cytotoxicity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1711:25–32
- Lasic DD, Frederik PM, Stuart MC et al (1992) Gelation of liposome interior. A novel method for drug encapsulation. FEBS Lett 312:255–258
- Laverman P, Carstens MG, Boerman OC (2001) Factors affecting the accelerated blood clearance of polyethylene glycol-liposomes upon repeated injection. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 298:607–612
- 74. Lee ES, Gao Z, Bae YH (2008) Recent progress in tumor pH targeting nanotechnology. J Control Release 132:164
- Laginha KM, Moase EH, Yu N, et al. Bioavailability and therapeutic efficacy of HER2 scFv-targeted liposomal doxorubicin in a murine model of HER2-overexpressing breast cancer. J Drug Target. 2008;16(7):605–610
- Lei S, Chien PY, Sheikh S et al (2004) Enhanced therapeutic efficacy of a novel liposomebased formulation of SN-38 against human tumor models in SCID mice. Anticancer Drugs 15:773–778
- Leggas M, Zhuang Y, Welden J, et al. Microbore HPLC method with online microdialysis for measurement of topotecan lactone and carboxylate in murine CSF. J Pharm Sci. 2004;93(9):2284–2295
- 78. Lessard D, Gori S, Palusova D et al (2008) Antitumor response and pharmacokinetic studies of an orally administered pH-sensitive micellar formulation of SN38 using a polymeric nanodelivery system (SN38-PNDS) in preclinical models. Proceedings of AACR 2008 #510
- Litzinger DC, Buiting AM, van Rooijen N et al (1994) Effect of liposome size on the circulation time and intraorgan distribution of amphipathic poly(ethylene glycol)-containing liposomes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1190:99–107
- Liu Y, Chen L, He X et al (2008) Enhancement of therapeutic effectiveness by combining liposomal honokiol with cisplatin in ovarian carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Cancer 18:652–659
- Maeda H, Wu J, Sawa T et al (2000) Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review. J Control Release 65:271–284
- Markman M, Gordon AN, McGuire WP et al (2004) Liposomal anthracycline treatment for ovarian cancer. Semin Oncol 31:91–105
- Matsumara Y (2008) Poly (amino acid) micelle nanocarriers in preclinical and clinical studies. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:899–914
- 84. Mendelson DS, Brewer M, Janiceck M (2005) Phase I study of OSI-211 (liposomal lurtotecan) in combination with liposomal doxorubicin (LD) every 3 weeks in patients (pts) with advanced solid tumors; final analysis suggests benefit in refractory ovarian cancer. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 23:153s
- Messerer CL, Ramsay EC, Waterhouse D et al (2004) Liposomal irinotecan: formulation development and therapeutic assessment in murine xenograft models of colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 10:6638–6649
- Metz T, Jones ML, Chen H (2005) A new method for targeted drug delivery using polymeric microcapsules: implications for treatment of Crohn's disease. Cell Biochem Biophys 43:77–85
- 87. Mori A, Klibanov AL, Torchilin VP et al (1991) Influence of the steric barrier activity of amphipathic poly(ethyleneglycol) and ganglioside GM1 on the circulation time of liposomes and on the target binding of immunoliposomes in vivo. FEBS Lett 284:263–266
- Morita K, Zywietz F, Kakinuma K (2008) Efficacy of doxorubicin thermosensitive liposomes (40°C) and local hyperthermia on rat rhabdomyosarcoma. Oncol Rep 20:365–372
- Muller M, Mader M, Steiner B et al (1997) 5-fluorouracil kinetics in the interstitial tumor space: clinical response in breast cancer patients. Cancer Res 57:598–2601
- Muller M, Brunner M, Schmid R et al (1998) Interstitial methotrexate kinetics in primary breast cancer lesions. Cancer Res 58:2982–2985
- Nakajima TE, Yasunaga M, Kano Y et al (2008) Synergistic antitumor activity of the novel SN-38-incorporating polymeric micelles, NK012, combined with 5-fluorouracil in a mouse

model of colorectal cancer, as compared with that of irinotecan plus 5-fluorouracil. Int J Cancer 122:2148–2153

- Namazi H, Adeli M (2005) Dendrimers of citric acid and poly (ethylene glycol) as the new drug-delivery agents. Biomaterials 26:1175–1183
- 93. Newman MS, Colbern GT, Working PK et al (1999) Comparative pharmacokinetics, tissue distribution, and therapeutic effectiveness of cisplatin encapsulated in long-circulating, pegylated liposomes (SPI-077) in tumor-bearing mice. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 43:1–7
- 94. Ouyang W, Chen H, Jones ML et al (2004) Artificial cell microcapsule for oral delivery of live bacterial cells for therapy: design, preparation, and in-vitro characterization. J Pharm Pharm Sci 7:315–324
- 95. Pal A, Khan S, Wang YF et al (2005) Preclinical safety, pharmacokinetics and antitumor efficacy profile of liposome-entrapped SN-38 formulation. Anticancer Res 25:331–341
- 96. Pan D, Turner JL, Wooley KL (2003) Folic acid-conjugated nanostructured materials designed for cancer cell targeting. Chem Commun (Camb). 7(19):2400–1
- 97. Pan GF, Lemmouchi Y, Akala EO et al (2005) Studies on PEGylated and drug-loaded PAMAM dendrimers. J Bioact Compat Polym 20:113–128
- Papahadjopoulos D, Allen TM, Gabizon A (1991) Sterically stabilized liposomes: improvements in pharmacokinetics and antitumor therapeutic efficacy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:11460–11464
- Papahadjopoulos D, Kirpotin DB, Park JW (1999) Targetting of drugs to solid tumors using anti-HER2 immunoliposomes. J Liposomes Res 8:425–442
- 100. Paranjpe PV, Chen Y, Kholodovych V et al (2004) Tumor-targeted bioconjugate based delivery of camptothecin: design, synthesis and in vitro evaluation. J Control Release 100:275–292
- 101. Park JW, Hong K, Kirpotin DB et al (2002) Anti-HER2 immunoliposomes: enhanced efficacy attributable to targeted delivery. Clin Cancer Res 8:1172–1181
- Park JW, Benz CC, Martin FJ (2004) Future directions of liposome- and immunoliposome-based cancer therapeutics. Semin Oncol 31:196–205
- 103. Patra CR, Bhattacharya R, Wang E et al (2008) Targeted delivery of gemcitabine to pancreatic adenocarcinoma using cetuximab as a targeting agent. Cancer Res 68:1970–1978
- Petros RA, Ropp PA, DeSimone JM (2008) Reductively labile PRINT particles for the delivery of doxorubicin to heLa cells. J Am Chem Soc 130:5008–5009
- 105. Ponce AM, Wright A, Dewhirst MW (2006) Targeted bioavailability of drugs by triggered release from liposomes. Future Lipidol 1:25–34
- Pridgen EM (2007) Biodegradable, polymeric nanoparticle delivery systems for cancer therapy. Nanomedicine 2:669–680
- 107. Ravikumar TS, Fehn KJ, Prabhakar R et al (2008) Phase I dose escalation study of thermally senstive liposomal doxorubicin (ThermoDox[®]) in combination with radiofrequency ablation of primary and metastatic tumors to the liver: interim report. International Liver Cancer Association 2nd Annual Conference. Abstract P-126
- 108. Riebeseel K, Biedermann E, Loser R et al (2002) Polyethylene glycol conjugates of methotrexate varying in their molecular weight from MW 750 to MW 40000: synthesis, characterization, and structure-activity relationships in vitro and in vivo. Bioconjug Chem 13:773–785
- Rose PG (2005) Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin: optimizing the dosing schedule in ovarian cancer. Oncologist 10:205–214
- 110. Rowinsky EK, Rizzo J, Ochoa L (2003) A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of pegylated camptothecin as a 1-hour infusion every 3 weeks in patients with advanced solid malignancies. J Clin Oncol 21:148–157
- 111. Saito Y, Yasunaga M, Kuroda J (2008) Enhanced distribution of NK012, a polymeric micelleencapsulated SN-38, and sustained release of SN-38 within tumors can beat a hypovascular tumor. Cancer Sci 99:1258–1264
- 112. Sapra P, Zhao H, Mehlig M (2008) Delivery of SN38 markedly inhibits tumor growth in xenografts, including a camptothecin-11 refractorymodel. Clin Cancer Res 14:1888–1896

21 Carrier-Mediated and Targeted Cancer Drug Delivery

- 113. Sarris AH, Hagemeister F, Romaguera J et al (2000) Liposomal vincristine in relapsed non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: early results of an ongoing phase II trial. Ann Oncol 11(1):69–72
- 114. Sausville EA, Anthony SP, Garbo LE (2007) A phase I study of the safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of intravenous XMT-1001 in patients with advanced solid tumors. AACR-NCI-EORTC International Conference on Molecular Targets and Therapeutics. abstract A146
- 115. Takimoto CH, Schwartz G, Romero O et al (2005) Phase I evaluation of paclitaxel poliglumex (PPX) administered weekly for patients with advanced cancer. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 23:145s
- Toffoli G, Cernigoi C, Russo A et al (1997) Overexpression of folate binding protein in ovarian cancers. Int J Cancer 74:193–198
- 117. Uchino H, Matsumura Y, Negishi T et al (2005) Cisplatin-incorporating polymeric micelles (NC-6004) can reduce nephrotoxicity and neurotoxicity of cisplatin in rats. Br J Cancer 93:678–687
- 118. Vail DM, Amantea MA, Colbern GT et al (2004) Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin: proof of principle using preclinical animal models and pharmacokinetic studies. Semin Oncol 31:16–35
- Veerareddy PR, Vobalaboina V (2004) Lipid-based formulations of amphotericin B. Drugs Today (Barc) 40:133–145
- 120. Verschraegen CF, Gilbert BE, Loyer E et al (2004) Clinical evaluation of the delivery and safety of aerosolized liposomal 9-nitro-20(s)-camptothecin in patients with advanced pulmonary malignancies. Clin Cancer Res 10:2319–2326
- 121. Wolff AC, Donehower RC, Carducci MK et al (2003) Phase I study of docosahexaenoic acidpaclitaxel: a taxane-fatty acid conjugate with a unique pharmacology and toxicity profile. Clin Cancer Res 9:3589–3597
- 122. Wood B, Poon RT, Neeman Z et al (2007) Phase I study of thermally sensitive liposomes contianing doxorubicin (ThermoDox) given during radiofrequency ablation in patients with unresectable hepatic malignancies. American Society of Clinical Oncology 2007 Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium. Abstract 188
- 123. Woodle MC, Lasic DD (1992) Sterically stabilized liposomes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1113:171-199
- 124. Working PK, Newman MS, Stuart Y et al (1994) Pharmacokinetics, biodistribution and therapeutic efficacy of doxorubicin encapsulated in STEALTH liposomes. Liposome Res 46:667–687
- 125. Yurkovetskiy AV, Hiller A, Syed S et al (2004) Mol Pharm 1:375-382
- Zamboni WC (2008) Concept and clinical evaluation of carrier-mediated anticancer agents. Oncologist 13:248–260
- 127. Zamboni WC, Gajjar AJ, Mandrell TD et al (1998) A four-hour topotecan infusion achieves cytotoxic exposure throughout the neuraxis in the nonhuman primate model: implications for treatment of children with metastatic medulloblastoma. Clin Cancer Res 4:2537–2544
- 128. Zamboni WC, Houghton PJ, Hulstein JL et al (1999) Relationship between tumor extracellular fluid exposure to topotecan and tumor response in human neuroblastoma xenograft and cell lines. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 43:269–276
- 129. Zamboni WC, Gervais AC, Schellen JH et al (2000) Disposition of platinum (Pt) in B16 murine melanoma tumors after administration of cisplatin & pegylated liposomal-cisplatin formulations (SPI-077 & SPI-077 B103) Proceedings of 11th NCI-EORTC-AACR Symposium on New Drugs in Cancer Therapy
- 130. Zamboni WC, Gervais AC, Egorin MJ et al (2002) Inter- and intratumoral disposition of platinum in solid tumors after administration of cisplatin. Clin Cancer Res 8:2992–2999
- 131. Zamboni WC, Gervais AC, Egorin MJ et al (2004) Systemic and tumor disposition of platinum after administration of cisplatin or STEALTH liposomal-cisplatin formulations (SPI-077 and SPI-077 B103) in a preclinical tumor model of melanoma. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 53:329–336
- 132. Zamboni WC, Whitner H, Potter DM et al (2005) Allometric scaling of STEALTH® liposomal anticancer agents. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res 46:326

- 133. Zamboni WC, Ramalingam S, Friedland DM et al (2005) Phase I and pharmacokinetic (PK) study of STEALTH liposomal CKD-602 (S-CKD602) in patients with advanced solid tumors. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 23:152
- 134. Zamboni WC, Friedland DM, Ramalingam S et al (2006) Final results of a phase I and pharmacokinetic study of STEALTH liposomal CKD-602 (S-CKD602) in patients with advanced solid tumors. Proc Am Soc Clin Onc 24:2013
- 135. Zamboni WC, Strychor S, Sidone BJ et al (2007) Pharmacokinetic study of optisomal topotecan (topotecan liposomal injection, TLI, OPTISOME) and non-liposomal topotecan in male sprague-dawley rats. Proceedings of AACR-NCI-EORTC: #C113
- 136. Zhang JA, Xuan T, Parmar M et al (2004) Development and characterization of a novel liposome-based formulation of SN-38. Int J Pharm 270:93–107
- 137. Zhang L, Gao H, Chen L et al (2008) Tumor targeting of vincristine by mBAFF-modified PEG liposomes in B lymphoma cells. Cancer Lett. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2008.04.024

Index

A

Abraxane®, 439–440 Acute toxicity, 103 AdantisenseGPx, 263 Akt pathway signaling 2-deoxyglucos-LY5 effect, 37-38 2DG-induced sensitization, 30-31 EGFR/PI3K on glucose metabolism, 34-35 tumorigenesis, 33-34 FOXO proteins, 36–37 glycolysis, 24 hypothetical biochemical rationale, 38-40 inhibitor effect on glucose metabolism, 27-28 on oxidative stress parameters, 28 - 29on survival, 29-30 PER-induced cytotoxicity, 30-31 phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), 23 - 24redox regulation, 35-36 glucose metabolism and oxidative stress cells and culture conditions, 25 clonogenic cell survival experiments, 26 drug treatment, 25-26 glutathione assay and glucose consumption, 26 NADPH measurements, 27 statistical analysis, 27 Alkaline sucrose gradient biochemistry techniques, 389 Alpha lipoic acid (ALA), 379 Alpha-tocopherol, beta-carotene cancer prevention (ATBC), 336

Amifostine delayed/adaptive radioprotective effect effector molecule-SOD2, 160-161 NF κB, role of, 157-158 SOD2, role of, 158-159 mechanisms of action free radical scavenging, 150-151 hydrogen atom donation, 151 intracellular hypoxia via autooxidation, 151 nuclear transcription factor kB (NFkB) kinetics of, SOD2 protein levels, 154-155 reactive and proactive processes, model. 155-156 thiol activation, 153-154 radiation response elevated SOD2 levels, 161-162 SA-NH tumor system, 162-164 polyamine structure, role of DNA binding, 152-153 drug delivery, 152 Aminoglutethimide, 100 Androgens, 307–309 deprivation, 304 Angiotensin II type I receptor blockers, 141 Anthracyclines, 436 Antioxidants alpha lipoic acid (ALA), 379 antioxidant vitamins, 379-380 and cancer cachexia antioxidant supplementation, 380 clinical trials, 381-382 cysteine-containing compounds, 379 defenses antioxidant enzymes, 314-316 transcriptional factors, 316-317

Antioxidants (*cont.*) dietary antioxidants, 413–415 free radical scavengers, 415–416 glutathione, 378–379 iron chelators, 418 L-carnitine, 380 thiol-containing compounds, 416–418 Arachidonic acid, 265–267 Ascorbic acid, 140 Attenuation coefficient, 288 Autophagy, PDT, 281

B

Beta-carotene and retinol efficacy trial (CARET), 336–337 Bisdemethyoxy curcumin, 236, 237 Bleomycin, 99–100 Busulfan, 99 Bystander effect, 389

С

Cachexia characterization, 375 and oxidative stress, 375-376 pathogenesis of, 376–377 Caelyx[®]. See Doxil[®] cAMP. See Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) phosphodiesterase Cancer drug delivery carrier-mediated and artificial-cell formulations, 428-432 in solid tumors, 428 Cancer-related anorexia/cachexia syndrome (CACS), 375 Capillary endothelium, 358 Cardiac toxicity diastolic dysfunction, 104 iron-chelator and free-radical scavenger, 106 prooxidant regulation, 106-107 proteomic analysis, 105 redox cycling, doxorubicin, 105 Carmustine, 99 Carrier-mediated anticancer agents, 428-430 conjugates and polymers, 443-444 evaluation methods, 432-433 liposomes formulations of, 433-434 preclinical and clinical evidence, 436-439 systemic and tissue disposition of, 434-435 toxicity, modification of, 436 tumor delivery of, 435

nanoparticle formulations, 439-442 pharmacologic forms, 432 types of, 431 Celecoxib, 282 Ceramides, 347 Chemo-and radio-protector, 70-71 Chemotherapeutic agents classification alkylating agents, 99 antibiotics, 99-100 antimetabolites, 99 hormonal agents, 100 mechanism of action, 98 miscellaneous antineoplastic agents, 102 signaling targeted agents, 100-101 spindle poisons, 102 topoisomerase inhibitors, 101 normal tissue targets, 104 cardiac toxicity, 104-107 nephrotoxicity, 107 neurotoxicity, 107-110 prooxidants, 104 ROS/RNS detoxification mechanisms efflux transporters, 117-121 oxidative stress protecting systems, 111-115 phase II biotransformation, 115-117 toxicity, 103 Chlorambucil, 99 Cisplatin antioxidants dietary antioxidants, 413-415 free radical scavengers, 415-416 iron chelators, 418 thiol-containing compounds, 416-418 chemotherapeutic agents, 99 kidneys, susceptibility of, 408 mitochondrial targets of, 410-412 nephrotoxicity, 409 preventive measures, 410 use and limitations, 407-408 Conjugates and polymers, 443-444 Copper zinc superoxide dismutase (CuZnSOD), 65-66, 260-261 Curcuma longa Linn, 235, 236 Curcumin cellular redox status, modulation of Akt/mTOR, 241 nuclear factor-erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), 241-242 nuclear transcription factor kB, 240 - 241clinical trials of, 243-247 oxidant stress and anticancer activity of, 242-243

Index

reactive oxygen species (ROS), inhibition of. 243 redox activity in cell-free systems, 235–238 in cellular systems and and animal models, 238-240 detrimental effects, 247-248 Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) phosphodiesterase, 359 Cyclophosphamide, 99 Cyproterone, 100 Cysteine-containing compounds, 379 Cytarabine, 99 Cytochrome C, MnSOD-plasmid liposome gene therapy, 391 Cytotoxicity, 103

D

Dactinomycin, 99–100 Deferrioxamine (DFO), 418 Delayed toxicity, 103 Demethoxycurcumin, 236, 237 Dendrimers, 441 2',7'-Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, 306 Dicumarol, 268–270 Diffuse transmission spectroscopy, 289 Dihydrofolate reductase, 138 Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), 416 Dimethylthiourea (DMTU), 415–416 Diphenyliodonium (DPI), 313 Docetaxel, 102 Doxil®, 436 Doxorubicin, 99–100

Е

Edaravone, 416 EGFR/PI3K/Akt pathway on glucose metabolism, 34–35 tumorigenesis, 33–34 Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) function, 135–136 Enhanced permeation effect, 431 Enhanced retention effect, 431 Erlotinib, 100–101 Etoposide, 101 Extracellular superoxide dismutase (EcSOD), 66

F

18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) diet, type of, 203 18F-fluorothymidine (FLT), 207–209

intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), 196 myocardial injury, 206 pneumonitis, 204-205 salivary gland function, 196 speech-related quality of life, 198-199 standardized uptake value (SUV) vs. functional outcomes, 203-204 glottic larynx, 201-202 irradiated tissues, 200 supraglottic larynx, 201, 203 swallow function, 197 upper aerodigestive tract, CT scan, 197-198 uptake after radiotherapy, 206-207 18F-fluorothymidine (FLT), 207-209 Flavonoids, 414 5-Fluorouracil, 99 Flutamide, 100 Free radical scavengers, 415-416 Functional imaging techniques FDG-PET (see 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET)) MIBI (see Tc-99m Sestamibi (MIBI)) MRS (see Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS))

G

y-tocotrienol, 141 Gamma-tocopherol in animal models, 348-349 biochemistry and anti-inflammatory properties of, 340-341 cellular uptake of, 344-345 fate of. 343 plasma and tissue levels, 345 in vitro mechanistic evidence, prostate cancer prevention, 345-348 Gefitinib, 100-101 Gleevec, 100-101 Glucose deprivation induced cytotoxicity 2-deoxy-D-glucose, biological effects, 11 - 12manipulating cellular antioxidants, 10 - 11and oxidative stress, 8-9 Rho(0) cells, 10 induced oxidative stress and cancer imaging, 14-15 and cancer therapy, 12-14and metabolic oxidative stress, 6-7 normal vs. cancer cells, 7-8 and signal transduction pathways, 6

Glucose metabolism cells and culture conditions, 25 clonogenic cell survival experiments, 26 and detoxification, hydroperoxides, 22-23 drug treatment, 25-26 glucose consumption, 26 glutathione assay, 26 mitochondrial respiration, 6 NADPH measurements, 27 pathways, 5 statistical analysis, 27 thioredoxin reductase activity assay, 27 upregulation, 22 Glutathione (GSH), 110, 378-379 cellular antioxidant defenses, 114 de novo synthesis, 114 reactive oxygen species (ROS), 115 transport of, 114-115 Glutathione peroxidase (GPx) description, 112 pancreatic cancer, 262-263 Glutathione S-transferase (GST), 115-117 prostate cancer, 315 Glycolysis role of Akt signaling, 24 role of EGFR signaling, 24

H

Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi) classifications, 220 FK228, 227 induced oxidative stress intracellular generation, ROS, 222-223 KD5170, mitochondrial membrane potential loss, 224-225 MAPK activation and DNA damage, 222-224 N-acetyl-cysteine, 221 LBH589, 227 multiple myeloma (MM) cell death, 221 oxidative stress regulation, gene expression, 225-226 suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA), 220 Hydroxyurea, 102 Hypoxia, prostate cancer, 314

I

Imatinib, 100–101 Immunohistochemistry techniques, 307 Immunotherapy, 282 Intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), 196 Interferons, 100–101 In vitro cell culture models, 318–320 Irinotecan, 101

K

Ketogenic diets characteristics, 49 FaDu human head and neck cancer, 53–55 *KetoCal®*, 50–51 metabolic oxidative stress and cancer, 48–49 mouse tumor model, 52–53 nude mice, 50–51 and oxidative stress, 49 systemic oxidative stress, 52 treatment-CIS, IR, 53 use in cancer, 50 *K-ras* mutations, 258–259

L

L-Asparaginase, 102 L-carnitine, 380 Leuprolide, 100 Lipid peroxidation, 374 in cellular membranes, 305–306 4-hydroxy–2-nonenal, 109 vitamin E, 335 Liposomes formulations of, 433–434 preclinical and clinical evidence, 436–439 systemic and tissue disposition of, 434–435 toxicity, modification of, 436 tumor delivery of, 435

М

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), 209–210 Manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), 64–65 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), 305 Melphalan, 99 Metabolic oxidative stress glucose deprivation, 6–7 ketogenic diets, 48–49 Methotrexate, 99 Mitochondrial bioenergetics, 312–313 Mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) proteins and cancer, 5

induced cytotoxicity 2-deoxy-D-glucose, normal vs. transformed cells, 11-12 manipulating cellular antioxidants. 10 - 11and oxidative stress, 8-9 Rho(0) cells, 10 and ROS. 4 Mitotane, 102 Mitoxantrone, 99–100 MnSOD-plasmid liposome gene therapy antioxidant gene therapy bystander effect, 389 peroxynitrite, 390 radical oxygen species, 388 tempol. 390 biochemistry of, 390-391 cell biology of apoptosis, 392 irradiation effects, 392 irradiation-induced esophagitis, pathogenesis of, 393, 394 lung irradiation damage model, 397 mitochondrial localization, 400-401 systemic radioprotection, 398 transgene therapies, 398–399 uses, 399-400 vacuole formation, 393, 395-396 Motexafin Lutetium, 286 fluorescence profiles of, 289, 290 Mouse tumor model, ketogenic diets, 52-53 Multicellular tumor spheroids (MTS) bioenergetics, 86 characteristics, 88 chemosensitization, 90-92 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG), 87 phloretin, 87 radiosensitization, 88-90 Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1), 119-120 Multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 (MRP2), 120-121 Myocet®, 431 Myogenic precursor cells, radiosensitivity, 181

N

Nanoparticle formulations, 439–442 for targeted cancer drug delivery, 428–430 Nanosomes, 429–431, 434 Necrosis, 281 Neurotoxicity chemobrain, 109

cognitive function, 108 mechanism of, 109-110 mtDNA oxidative damage, 110 seizures and neurotubular dissociation, 107 Normal tissue effects magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), 209-210 99-mTc sestamibi SPECT imaging, 210-211 Normal tissue radiation injury, 132 Nuclear factor-ervthroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), 241-242 Nuclear transcription factor kB (NFkB), 240-241 kinetics of, SOD2 protein levels, 154-155 reactive and proactive processes, model, 155-156 thiol activation, 153-154

0

Osteoblast and osteoclast, radiosensitivity, 182-185

Р

Paclitaxel, 102 Pancreatic cancer features of, 258-259 ROS with antioxidants, 259-267 cytotoxicity, 267-271 Panobinostat, 227 Particle replication in nonwetting templates (PRINT), 442 PDT. See Photodynamic therapy (PDT) Pegylated liposomes, 433 Pentoxifylline (PTX) cAMP, 359 fibrosis reduction, potential mechanism of, 368 in irradiated patients active and passive range of motion, 363 clodronate, 363 pelvic radiation, 364 prophylactic effect, 362 squamous cell carcinoma, 365 postradiation treatment, 360-361 in radiation-induced fibrosis, 366-368 thrombomodulin, 360 tocopherol and fibrosis, 361 Peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor (PPARy), 347–348 PhGPx protein, 264 Phloretin, 87

Photodynamic therapy (PDT)

cytotoxicity apoptosis, 279-280 autophagy, 281 local microenvironment effects, 278-279 necrosis, 281 immune response, 282-283 oxidative stress in, 277-278 for prostate cancer clinical trials, 285-287 optical properties, 288-289 photosensitizer biodistribution, 289 principles, 284-285 prostate oxygenation and blood flow, 289-291 tumor vascular targeting, 281-282 PI3K/Akt signaling pathway, 23-24 Plicamycin, 99-100 Pneumonitis, 204-205 Prednisolone, 100 Procarbazine, 99, 102 Proliferative inflammatory atrophy (PIA), 309 Prostate cancer incidence and mortality, 303-304 PDT clinical trials, 285-287 optical properties, 288-289 photosensitizer biodistribution, 289 principles, 284-285 prostate oxygenation and blood flow, 289-291 treatment, 292-293 redox control and signaling, 322 redox imbalance/oxidative stress animal model, 320-321 human tissues, 321 impaired antioxidant defenses, 314-317 increased ROS production, 312-314 in vitro cell culture models, 318-320 redox states and redox systems, 304-305 risk factors aging, 311 androgens, 307-309 antioxidants, 311 inflammation, 309-310 **ROS/oxidative stress** detection of, 306-307 role of, 305-306 treatment, 303-304 vitamin E and aging, 345 animal fat vs. vegetable fat, 341 biochemistry and nutrition, 339-340

chemopreventive antioxidants/antiinflammatory nutrients, 334-336 gamma-tocopherol (see Gammatocopherol) intervention trials, 336-337 supplemental vitamin E, 342 tocotrienol, 344-345 vitamins and lifestyle (VITAL) study, 338 Prostate hemodynamic properties, PDT, 291 Prostate, lung, colorectal and ovarian (PLCO) cancer screening trial, 338 Protein phosphorylation, 137 Pulse radiolysis, 236

R

Radiation-induced fibrosis (RIF). See also Pentoxifylline (PTX) description, 358 pentoxifylline-based therapy, 366-368 Radiation-induced lung toxicity (RILT), 367 Radiation-induced NO-dependent endothelial dysfunction, 133-135 Radiation-induced oxidative stress, 172-173 Radioprotective drug. See Amifostine Radiosensitivity myogenic precursor cells, 181 osteoblast and osteoclast, 182-185 Radiosensitization, spheroids extrinsic and intrinsic signals, 89 vs. monolayers, 90 tumor necrosis factor, 88 Reactive nitrogen species (RNS) efflux transporters ABC structure and function, 117-119 MRP1. 119-120 MRP2, 120-121 P-glycoproteins, 119 glutathione (GSH)-dependent enzymes, 111 oxidative stress protecting systems enzymatic antioxidants, 111-113 nonenzymatic antioxidants, 113-115 phase II biotransformation, 115-117 Tyr 34, 112 Reactive oxygen species (ROS). See also Reactive nitrogen species (RNS) as anticancer agents, 62 with antioxidants arachidonic acid, 265-267 CuZnSOD, 260-261 GPx. 262-263 lipid hydroperoxides, 265 polyphenolic compounds, 267

Index

in biological system, 60-61 as carcinogens, 61 curcumin, 243 cvtotoxicity ascorbate, 269-272 2-deoxy-D-glucose, 268-269 immunohistochemistry, 267 streptonigrin, 267–268 definition, 374 mitochondrial electron transport chain proteins, 4-5 prostate cancer hypoxia, 314 mitochondrial bioenergetics, 312-313 NADPH oxidases, upregvulation of, 313 Romidepsin, 227 ROS. See Reactive oxygen species (ROS)

S

S-2-[3-aminopropylamino] ethylphosphorothioic acid. See Amifostine Selenium and vitamin E cancer prevention trial (SELECT), 337 SOD. See Superoxide dismutase (SOD) Stabilized liposomes, 431 Statins, 139-140 Stem cell compartments osteoblast and osteoclast, 182-185 oxidative stress as biochemical mechanism, 175-176 functional consequences, 173-175 *vs.* ionizing radiation, 171–172 radiation-induced, 172-173 role of SOD, 178-182 in skeletal radioresponse, 185-186 radioadaptation and cellular antioxidant capacity, 176-178 Stilbestrol, 100 Streptonigrin, 267-268 Streptozotocin, 99-100 Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA), 220 Superoxide dismutase (SOD) as chemo-and radio-protector, 70-71 as clinical drug, cancer treatment, 67-69 compartmentalization, ROS signaling, 63 CuZn, 65-66, 260-261 cytosolic, 63 differential distribution, cells and tissues, 62 extracellular, 66 mimetics, 71-72 Mn, 64–65

oxidative stress astrocytes, 180 γ -irradiation effect, nitric oxide levels, 182 myogenic precursor cells, radiosensitivity, 181 neurogenesis, 179-180 ROS, 178 ROS, 60-62 targeting 1,6-bis[4-(4-amino-3-hydroxyphenoxy) phenyl] diamantane (DPD), 74 choline salt of tetrathiomolybdate, 73 complete inhibition, 74 negative modulator, cellular apoptosis, 72 p53-dependent cell death prevention, 73 Systemic oxidative stress by cancer, 53 by ketogenic diets, 52

Т

Tamoxifen, 100 Tc-99m Sestamibi (MIBI), 210-211 Tempol, 390 Tenoposide, 101 5,6,7,8-Tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) biosynthesis, 136-138 and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) function, 135-136 metabolism angiotensin II type I receptor blockers, 141 ascorbic acid, 140 folates, 140-141 γ -tocotrienol, 141 HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, 139 - 140sepiapterin, 138-139 model, postirradiation endothelial dysfunction, 133, 134 nitric oxide synthase (NOS) uncoupling, 133 normal tissue radiation injury, 132 radiation-induced NO-dependent endothelial dysfunction, 133-135 meso-Tetrahydroxyphenylchlorin (mTHPC), 285 Thermosensitive liposomes, 439 Thioguanine, 99 Thiol-containing compounds, 416-418 Thioredoxin, 225 Thioredoxin reductase activity assay, 27 Thiotepa, 99

Thrombomodulin (TM), 360 Tookad, 281, 285 Transgenic adenocarcinoma of mouse prostate (TRAMP), 349 Trastuzumab, 100–101 Treosulfan, 99

V

Verteporfin. See Visudyne Vinblastine, 102 Vincristine, 102 Visual Analog Scale (VAS), 365 Visudyne, 281–282 Vitamin E prostate cancer and aging, 345 animal fat vs. vegetable fat, 341 biochemistry and nutrition, 339–340 chemopreventive antioxidants/ anti-inflammatory nutrients, 334–336 gamma-tocopherol (*see* Gammatocopherol) intervention trials, 336–337 supplemental vitamin E, 342 tocotrienol, 344–345 vitamins and lifestyle (VITAL) study, 338 radiation-induced fibrosis (*see* Pentoxifylline (PTX)) Vitamins and lifestyle (VITAL) study, 338

W

Water-soluble vitamin E metabolites, 343